"An intelligent guide through the maze of natural approaches to women's health." —SUSAN LOVE, M.D., AUTHOR OF *DR. SUSAN LOVE'S BREAST BOOK*

WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA of NATURAL MEDICINE

Alternative Therapies and Integrative Medicine for Total Health and Wellness

REVISED AND UPDATED



TORI HUDSON, N.D. Foreword by CHRISTIANE NORTHRUP, M.D., Author of WOMEN'S BODIES, WOMEN'S WISDOM WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA of NATURAL MEDICINE

WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA of NATURAL MEDICINE

Alternative Therapies and Integrative Medicine for Total Health and Wellness

.

TORI HUDSON, N.D.



New York Chicago San Francisco Lisbon London Madrid Mexico City Milan New Delhi San Juan Seoul Singapore Sydney Toronto Copyright © 2008 by Tori Hudson. All rights reserved. Manufactured in the United States of America. Except as permitted under the United States Copyright Act of 1976, no part of this publication may be reproduced or distributed in any form or by any means, or stored in a database or retrieval system, without the prior written permission of the publisher.

0-07-159339-X

The material in this eBook also appears in the print version of this title: 0-07-146473-5.

All trademarks are trademarks of their respective owners. Rather than put a trademark symbol after every occurrence of a trademarked name, we use names in an editorial fashion only, and to the benefit of the trademark owner, with no intention of infringement of the trademark. Where such designations appear in this book, they have been printed with initial caps.

McGraw-Hill eBooks are available at special quantity discounts to use as premiums and sales promotions, or for use in corporate training programs. For more information, please contact George Hoare, Special Sales, at george_hoare@mcgraw-hill.com or (212) 904-4069.

TERMS OF USE

This is a copyrighted work and The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. ("McGraw-Hill") and its licensors reserve all rights in and to the work. Use of this work is subject to these terms. Except as permitted under the Copyright Act of 1976 and the right to store and retrieve one copy of the work, you may not decompile, disassemble, reverse engineer, reproduce, modify, create derivative works based upon, transmit, distribute, disseminate, sell, publish or sublicense the work or any part of it without McGraw-Hill's prior consent. You may use the work for your own noncommercial and personal use; any other use of the work is strictly prohibited. Your right to use the work may be terminated if you fail to comply with these terms.

THE WORK IS PROVIDED "AS IS." McGRAW-HILL AND ITS LICENSORS MAKE NO GUARANTEES OR WARRANTIES AS TO THE ACCURACY, ADEQUACY OR COMPLETENESS OF OR RESULTS TO BE OBTAINED FROM USING THE WORK, INCLUDING ANY INFORMATION THAT CAN BE ACCESSED THROUGH THE WORK VIA HYPERLINK OR OTHERWISE, AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIM ANY WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. McGraw-Hill and its licensors do not warrant or guarantee that the functions contained in the work will meet your requirements or that its operation will be uninterrupted or error free. Neither McGraw-Hill nor its licensors shall be liable to you or anyone else for any inaccuracy, error or omission, regardless of cause, in the work or for any damages resulting therefrom. McGraw-Hill has no responsibility for the content of any information accessed through the work. Under no circumstances shall McGraw-Hill and/or its licensors be liable for any indirect, incidental, special, punitive, consequential or similar damages that result from the use of or inability to use the work, even if any of them has been advised of the possibility of such damages. This limitation of liability shall apply to any claim or cause whatsoever whether such claim or cause arises in contract, tort or otherwise.

DOI: 10.1036/0071464735

The women who have sought my advice as a naturopathic physician and lent me their trust and confidence The women in medicine The women who have made a difference in my life

To:

This page intentionally left blank

CONTENTS

Foreword				
Acknowledgments				
Contributors				
Introduction				
1 Abnormal Uterine Bleeding				
2 Amenorrhea				
3 Cervical Dysplasia				
4 Contraception				
5 Cystitis				
6 Endometriosis				
7 Fibrocystic Breasts				
8 Genital Herpes				
9 Heart Disease				
10 Infertililty				
11 Interstitial Cystitis				
12 Menopause				
13 Menstrual Cramps				
14 Osteoporosis				
15 Pelvic Inflammatory Disease				
16 Pregnancy				
17 Premenstrual Syndrome				
18 Sexually Transmitted Infections				
19 Uterine Fibroids				
20 Vaginitis				
Appendix A: General Exercise Program				
Appendix B: Body Mass Index				
Appendix C: Hormone Replacement Therapy Prescriptions 367				
Appendix D: Procedures and Practices				
Appendix E: Recommended Screening Tests and Immunizations 375				
Resources 381				
References				
Index				

This page intentionally left blank

FOREWORD

've long been a fan of the work of Dr. Tori Hudson, the foremost national leader in naturopathic and botanical medicine specifically for women. And unbeknownst to her, Dr. Hudson has been a guiding light for me in using botanical and naturopathic approaches to women's health problems for many years. Long before herbal medicine enjoyed its current mainstream acceptance, my patients who were interested in natural approaches to their gynecologic problems brought me copies of Dr. Hudson's articles and even the text that she wrote for her students to fill in the information gap about gynecology and natural medicines that existed in the naturopathic training program where she teaches. In this text, entitled Gynecology and Naturopathic Medicine: A Treatment Manual, Dr. Hudson set down natural treatment protocols that she had used effectively for years to treat the kind of women's health problems that I was seeing every day, ranging from irregular periods and menstrual cramps to hot flashes. As a conventionally trained allopathic gynecologist, I was gratified to learn about and help my patients apply some of Dr. Hudson's gentle, natural, and plant-based approaches. They were an excellent complement to the standard gynecologic care I was already practicing.

So when Dr. Hudson called and told me about her new book, I was delighted. Here in one volume is everything a woman needs to know to begin applying gentle, natural, naturopathic solutions to her health problems on her own, along with guidance about when she needs to seek professional help. Many of these solutions are available at your local natural food store. Some are even available in your own kitchen. Many naturopathic approaches stand alone as a viable, safe, and effective treatment option. Others can be used in an integrative approach along with conventional medicine. Some women and situations will require the most conventional of medical treatments. Dr. Hudson's book helps to sort through these options. In general, the naturopathic treatments outlined in this book offer safer and gentler solutions to many women's health problems that can be applied to help rebalance the body and restore it to health long before more serious conditions develop.

Women have used the healing power of plants since the beginning of time. Now Dr. Hudson brings her years of scientific and clinical expertise to the field of natural, plant-based healing and helps make it safer and more effective for women than ever before. This is a book that should be in every woman's health library and every alternative practitioner's library, and it is a resource for the new breed of conventional practitioners open to a more integrative health-care system.

-CHRISTIANE NORTHRUP, M.D., author of Women's Bodies, Women's Wisdom and The Wisdom of Menopause This page intentionally left blank

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Throughout the course of writing the original book, and now the second edition, I have had overwhelming moments of gratitude for all the people that have helped.

I have reflected on those who helped me with the first edition: Norman Goldfind, the original publisher. Dr. Susanna Reid, who worked with me from almost the very beginning when she was still a student at the National College of Naturopathic Medicine. If it were not for her, I would not have learned to use a computer. Thanks to her weekly tutoring, I finally achieved at least a functional level of competence. Susanna was critically involved in the research of information for the first edition of the book and in planning its organization and format. I also want to thank Dr. Sandoval Melin for his expertise in the area of exercise. Sandoval has elevated the role of exercise therapeutics in the first edition of the book and is responsible for its inclusion.

I would also like to thank my editor of the second edition, Deborah Brody. She graciously accommodated my need for additional time and distinctly improved the feel and readability of each chapter.

Dr. Elizabeth Newhall generously gave of her time and expertise as an obstetrician and gynecologist for the first edition. If it were not for her generous sharing of her conventional medical knowledge over the last 14 years, my expertise in women's health would not have been complete.

I am fortunate to have a very talented and supportive sister, Karen Hudson. Not many women have the good fortune to have a sister that knows everything they do not know. Being in business together at our clinic, A Woman's Time, is the perfect blend of what we each do best. Our joint commitment of delivering healthcare options to women is our work and our play.

My family has been very supportive throughout my entire career. My mother, Pat Lawrence, has provided me with lifelong love, support, and trust and has always made it clear that I am worthy and special. She's also the one that keeps me in touch with what the media are communicating about alternative medicine. Not everyone has her own clipping service from all the popular magazines and regular updates on what's happening on "Oprah," "20/20," and the rest. Her husband, Dick, who has now passed on, was my special project man. All the things I haven't had time forhanging the Christmas lights, cleaning the gutters, staining the deck-what a guy! My real father, Ken Guenther, made it possible for me to go back to school and receive an education in naturopathic medicine, and I thank him for providing the support and resources that allowed me to pursue a career as a naturopathic physician. My stepdad, Jack Hudson, who passed away at too young an age, gave me the gift of learning and doing all the things normally reserved for boys. My niece, Jana, delights me with her spirit and resilience.

Sometimes I cannot believe my good fortune to have Doug Stapf in my life—trusted business partner at Vitanica, easygoing Texan friend, fellow basketball fan, the most excellent of men one could hope to know and work with.

Having become a naturopathic physician in 1984, I am honored to be an alumna and faculty member of the National College of Naturopathic Medicine (NCNM) these last 24 years. The National College of Naturopathic Medicine is the oldest college of naturopathic medicine in the United States, and the expertise and experience of its faculty in the field of natural medicine are exceeded by no other college in the country. I honor the faculty, administration, and employees of NCNM for their commitment and vision. My naturopathic colleagues as a whole, and particularly the members of the American Association of Naturopathic Physicians, are an incredible community of individuals with an extraordinary commitment to living on this planet in a respectful, mindful way and healing the humans of this planet in gentle ways that utilize the medicines of Mother Nature.

I could not have succeeded in the generation and manifestation of two important projects (the Institute of Women's Health and Integrative Medicine and the Naturopathic Education and Residency Consortium) without the years of support, trust, and guidance from three individuals and companies: Wally Simons, R.Ph., of Women's International Pharmacy; David Shefrin, N.D., of Bezwecken; and Sharon McFarland of Transitions for Health/Emerita.

Several other people have lent their professional, business, academic, and personal support and extended themselves in various ways: Michael Murray, N.D., of Natural Factors; Don West, R.Ph., of Lloyd Center Pharmacy; Rick Liva, N.D., and Jackie Germain, N.D., of Vital Nutrients; Ronnie Boyer, M.D., of The Center for Education and Development in Homeopathy; Riley Livingston; David Hanning of Biogenesis; Jon Thoreson and Nigel Plummer, Ph.D., of Pharmax; Kyle Bliffert of Nordic Naturals; Ken Koenig, D.C., of Wise Woman Herbals; Michael Schaeffer of Wellness Naturals; Steve Wickham of Metametrix; Brehan Griswold of Emerson Ecologics; and Shane McCamey of Boiron.

I have a special place in my heart for the daily privilege I have in working with my associates at A Woman's Time. This group of women practitioners are extraordinary in their work and truly an incredible pleasure to work with. I am grateful for their camaraderie and collaboration in all that we do together: Barbara McDonald, N.D., L.Ac.; Stephanie Kaplan, N.D.; Leigh Kochan, N.D., L.Ac.; Wendy Vannoy, N.D.; Moira Fitzpatrick, Ph.D., N.D.; Michelle Rogers, N.D.; Karen Hudson, M.P., H.C.; Theresa Baisley, LMT; and Mari Greenly, L.Ac.

I would also like to thank our clinic staff, a formidable group of fine women who extend their skill, compassion, ethics, and care of patients and coworkers on a daily basis: Tamara, Kim, Whitney, Susan, Renee, and Audra.

In order to practice an integrative medicine approach, I have had the guidance and support of many conventional practitioners in the Portland community. I can't possibly list them all, but here is an important beginning list: Mike McClung, M.D.; Trish Burford, M.D.; Nathalie Johnson, M.D.; Jane Harrison-Hohner, N.P.; Katherine Hill, N.P.; Nina Davis, M.D.; Renee Edwards, M.D.; Kim Surianno, M.D.; Sandra Emmons, M.D.; Lisa McCluskey, M.D.; Michael Lewis, M.D.; Kim Suriano, M.D.; Brenda Kehoe, M.D.; Sally Holtzman, M.D.; Pillippa Ribbink, M.D.; Liz Newhall, M.D.; Randi Ledbetter, M.D.; Tom Johnson, M.D.; Paul Kucera, M.D.; Rodney Pommier, M.D.; Jeff Jensen, M.D.; Laura Greenberg, M.D.; Dan Gruenberg, M.D.; Kasra Karamlov, M.D.; Maureen Goldring, M.D.; Cynthia Ferrier, M.D.; Kip Kemple, M.D.; Wesley Lewis, M.D.; and many more. I thank them for their open-mindedness and fierce commitment to their patients and medicine.

When things are up and things are down, or even just content, my trusted friend, playmate, and confident Dee Packard is one of those special beings the universe has brought into my life. I consider myself fortunate to have the loving friendship and committed support of Eileen Stretch, Cindy Phillips, Holly Lucille, Nirala Jacobi, Kate Krider, Patti Kohler, Tracy Waters, Laurel Haroon, Steve Austin, Kathy Hitchcock, and Sidney Henry. I also thank my special friends Lupita and Jon McClanahan who teach and share with me the "beauty way" of the Navajo people. To K. C. Snellgrove, D.C., I thank you for keeping my body going, despite long hours at my desk, and I thank her able coworker, Lucille Gouge, who always seems to fit me into the schedule for a treatment.

To Bette Joram, Ph.D., I thank you for your intellect and remarkable insights, your containment, your support, and your trustworthiness.

And to Ann Kafoury, L.P.C., I thank you for your skill, your grace and compassion, your trust in me and trustworthy ways, and your commitment to me and my own healing.

I also want to thank all the women I have treated over these last 24-plus years. I am a better

teacher, better physician, and better person because of you.

For those with whom I've played, worked, nourished, and loved, you have brought about my evolution as a human being.

Finally, we all owe our gratitude to the women who seek safe, effective, respectful medicine and choices in their health care. You have changed history on more than one occasion and protected our humanness. This page intentionally left blank

CONTRIBUTORS

he second edition of *Women's Encyclopedia* of Natural Medicine would not have been possible without the studious help of two colleagues in particular: Leigh Kochan, N.D., L.Ac., and Randi Ledbetter, M.D. Dr. Kochan is a former resident and now an associate at our clinic. A Woman's Time, in Portland, Oregon. She has spent countless weeks and months assisting me in compiling the scientific literature of the last seven years, particularly for updated research in herbal and nutritional therapies. Her efforts have kept me from feeling overwhelmed and made this daunting project of updating the book a real possibility. Dr. Randi Ledbetter is a gynecologist practicing in Portland, Oregon, at The Menopause Clinic. She has generously offered her gynecological expertise to me and other alternative practitioners these past many years and now has extended that to helping me to rewrite and update the sections on conventional medicine. I consider these sections of the book vital in the education of patients and fellow practitioners.

My gratitude and appreciation for the contributions of Dr. Leigh Kochan and Dr. Randi Ledbetter are immense and will extend long into the future. Without their knowledge and assistance, this would have been a much longer and more arduous process.

The following additional practitioners have made selected contributions in different sections of the book, reviewing, editing, and contributing their expertise:

Sandoval Melin, N.D., Ph.D.	Exercise
	therapeutics
Elizabeth Newhall, M.D.	Obstetrics,
	gynecology
Nina Davis, M.D.	Urology
Katherine Hill, N.P.	Infertility
Susanna Reid, Ph.D., N.D.	First edition
	research assistant
Judy Fulop, N.D.	First edition
	research assistant,
	endometriosis

This page intentionally left blank

Ye spent the last 28 years studying, practicing, teaching, and evolving as a naturopathic physician. Two themes have been consistent: natural medicine and the health care of women.

Alternative medicine has come to be the popular term used to distinguish natural, noninvasive therapies from conventional medicine. Whether the terms *alternative medicine*, *complementary medicine*, *natural medicine*, or *holistic medicine* are used, they all reflect the transformation that is occurring in health care: a focus on disease prevention, the promotion of healthy lifestyle habits, and the treatment of disease with natural, nontoxic, and less invasive therapies. At the center of this transformation is a distinct system called naturopathic medicine.

The roots of naturopathic medicine are seen in the healing traditions of Egypt, India, China, Greece, Germany, South and Central America, Africa, and native North America. The European hydrotherapy tradition had a strong influence on the development of naturopathy, and by the end of the nineteenth century, Benedict Lust, a physician trained in the water-cure methods of Europe, came to America and began using the term *naturopathy* to describe an eclectic combination of natural healing principles and methods.

The first college of naturopathic medicine in the United States opened in New York City in 1902. It taught a system of medicine that included nutritional therapy, natural dietetics, herbal medicine, homeopathy, manipulation, exercise therapy, hydrotherapy, electrotherapy, and stress reduction techniques.

Naturopathic medicine grew and flourished from the early 1900s until the mid-1930s. At that point in history, the conventional medical profession began to influence the health-care system in several ways. It abandoned some of its barbaric bloodletting therapies and toxic mercury dosing and replaced them with more effective and less toxic treatments. With therapies more acceptable to the public, subsidies from wealthy foundations, the support of the developing pharmaceutical industry, and political savvy and legislation in its favor, conventional medicine was able to restrict the use of unorthodox doctors, midwives, herbalists, and others and gain a virtual monopoly on the health-care system.

Fortunately, alternative medicine and naturopathic medicine have seen a rebirth in the last 15 to 20 years, and especially in the last 5. A public hungry for choices in their health care, an increased awareness about the role of diet and lifestyle in cancer and chronic disease, the aging of the baby boomer generation, and the failures of certain aspects of modern conventional medicine and the health insurance industry to deal with people and their health problems respectfully, carefully, fairly, and effectively have been responsible for this resurgence. Conventional medicine has brought great insights, successes, and miracles of what human intelligence can accomplish. Natural medicine has matured, particularly in the areas of scientific research, educational institutions, number of licensed practitioners, and professionalism and is now poised to serve those who seek its gentle ways.

Naturopathic medicine is its own distinct healing art and is best defined by its principles and therapies. Simply put in modern terms, naturopathic physicians are primary health-care providers, family physicians who specialize in natural medicine. The following seven principles are the foundation for naturopathic medicine:

1. The healing power of nature (*vis medica-trix naturae*). The body has the inherent ability

XVIII INTRODUCTION

to establish, maintain, and restore health. The physician's role is to facilitate and augment this process with the aid of natural, nontoxic therapies; to act to identify and remove obstacles to health and recovery; and to support the creation of a healthy internal and external environment.

2. First, do no harm (*primum no nocere***).** Naturopathic physicians seek to do no harm with medical treatment by employing safe, effective, less invasive, and natural therapies.

3. Identify and treat the cause (*tolle causam***).** Naturopathic physicians are not only trained to investigate and diagnose diseases, they are also trained to view things more holistically and look for an underlying cause, be it physical, mental, or emotional. Symptoms are viewed as expressions of the body's attempt to heal but are not the cause of disease. The physician must evaluate fundamental underlying causes on all levels, using treatment that includes addressing the root cause rather than just suppressing symptoms.

4. Treat the whole person. Health and disease are conditions of the whole organism, involving a complex interaction of physical, spiritual, mental, emotional, genetic, environmental, and social/cultural/economic factors. The physician must treat the whole person by taking all of these factors into account. Homeostasis and harmony of functions of all aspects of the individual are essential to recovery from disease, prevention of future health problems, and maintenance of wellness.

5. Physician as teacher (*docere*). The naturopathic physician's major role is to educate, empower, and motivate the patient to take responsibility for his or her own health. The physician educates about risk factors, hereditary susceptibility, lifestyle habits, and preventive measures and makes recommendations on how to avoid or minimize future chronic health problems. A healthy attitude, diet, exercise, and other lifestyle habits serve as the cornerstone of our recommendations.

6. Prevention is the best cure. The ultimate goal of naturopathic medicine is prevention. This is accomplished through education and promotion of lifestyle habits and through natural therapeutic recommendations. The emphasis is on building health rather than on fighting disease.

7. Establish health and wellness. The primary goals of naturopathic physicians are to establish and maintain optimum health and to promote wellness. They strive to increase the patient's level of wellness, characterized by a positive emotional state, regardless of the level of health or disease.

In addition to these seven principles, there are two principles that I believe are fundamental not only to natural medicine, but to good medicine in general: the principle of resonance and the principle of choice. Let me explain. Resonance is basically an issue of compatibility. What approach, what therapy, what herb, or what of any substance is compatible with this particular patient in this particular moment and set of life circumstances? The selection of the therapeutic approach that is resonant with the individual is the therapy that will create the most healing momentum. Picture a child on a swing. You stand behind the child pushing her forward so she can achieve the most momentum, and her swinging becomes effortless. If you push her at the right moment, your force is perfectly timed with her body motion and the rhythm of the swing. The perfect timing sends her smoothly and easily higher, and with the slightest effort she can keep swinging forever. If you push her at the wrong moment, the swinging becomes jerky, she loses speed and height, and the rhythm is disrupted. It then takes a great deal of effort to regain momentum. The perfect effortless swing comes from the perfect timing and perfect forcefulness of the "push." This is resonance. The person with the health problem is the child on the swing. The person who pushes the swing is

the physician and the therapy she uses. Any medicine, natural or pharmaceutical, can be resonant. The art of medicine is to know when to use what, for whom, and for how long. I believe the most profound healing principle in the practice of medicine is the principle of resonance, not whether the medicine is natural or synthetic, alternative or conventional, or a naturopathic philosophy versus conventional allopathic philosophy. The healing method is the medicine that is right for that person. The true goal of a physician is to perceive what is resonant with that individual.

Dr. John Bastyr was considered by most naturopathic physicians to be the modern patriarch of naturopathic medicine. A whole new generation of naturopaths looked to him for their wisdom as the holder of true naturopathic medicine. The story goes, a young naturopathic medical student asked Dr. Bastyr, "How are we supposed to know what therapy to choose when there are so many different medicines and systems to choose from?" Dr. Bastyr calmly and quickly responded, "Choose what works." Another question was posed to Dr. Bastyr: "How can you tell an excellent physician from a good physician?" Dr. Bastyr's answer: "The results."

My second guiding principle is that of choice. Each patient chooses what is right for her. The doctor's role is to educate about the health problem, about the options, including their pros and cons, and to share resources. The goal is to provide the context in which the patient can make an informed decision. The physician must be perceptive and must listen, investigate, evaluate, educate, offer recommendations, and then create an environment where the individual can make a decision for herself. The individual seeking my help gets to choose. It may be black cohosh, or it may be estrogen. It may be a rigorous naturopathic health regimen, or it may be surgery. It may be an integrated combination, a "complementary" approach using the best of two worlds. Choice is a powerful force-the force of individual responsibility, empowerment, and self-direction. Choice fosters

will, desire, discipline, and motivation. Freedom of choice occurs in an environment of equality and respect between physician and patient.

These two principles, resonance and choice, are what motivates me toward the vision of an integrative health-care model. I no longer believe in a fractionated approach to health and healing where alternative medicine is on one side and conventional medicine is on the other. There is a spectrum of options that go from simple to complex, from the least intervention to the most aggressive intervention, and from the most natural therapy to the most synthetic or technological. We need all of it. Human intelligence has created incredible tools and techniques. The physician who is educated and aware of all the options and learns to understand how and when to best use all these choices on behalf of someone who is ill and suffering is the true physician in my book. An integrative model incorporates the natural/naturopathic perspective and the conventional perspective and knows the strengths and weaknesses of each in different circumstances. When we can do something effectively and safely with nontoxic, natural medicines with far fewer side effects, then what would stop us? If we can't, or it's too risky to wait and find out, then let's move up the ladder to more invasive, riskier medicines with more side effects that may work better or be a more appropriate choice because the risk of the disease is greater than the risks of the treatment.

Naturopathic and other alternative medicine disciplines have their strengths and their weaknesses. Conventional medicine has its strengths and its weaknesses. I encourage consumer and practitioner alike to advocate for practitioners of all disciplines to integrate their intelligence, experience, and energies to build cooperative working relationships with each other so that they can truly help people to choose what works best for them.

In addition to recommendations on lifestyle, diet, and exercise, naturopathic physicians utilize a vast array of therapeutic tools to promote health and treat illnesses. Naturopathic physicians are trained in what is called the eclectic tradition. They have a broad range of therapies and tend to use a selected mixture of these therapies when treating their patients. Naturopathic therapies include dietary and lifestyle changes, clinical nutrition (nutritional supplementation), botanical medicine (herbs), homeopathy, Chinese medicine and acupuncture, hydrotherapy, manipulation, physical therapies, psychotherapy, and minor surgery. We also recognize the judicious use of prescription medications when the benefits exceed the risks, integrated into a comprehensive naturopathic health-care plan. Some naturopathic physicians receive extra training and licensure to practice obstetrics and natural childbirth.

And now for the second consistent theme in my life: the delivery of health care to women. Modern women are the first women in history to enjoy the luxury of anticipating that their lives will be healthy, long, and self-directed. This awareness of opportunities and choices is leading them today to seek the benefits of natural medicine in everincreasing numbers. More dominant and discriminating consumers of health care than men or children, and quicker to grasp the advantages of a vitalistic, holistic healing art, their innate wisdom has already led to many significant changes in conventional medicine in recent years. Women insisted on natural childbirth, and now it is the goal of most pregnant women and available everywhere. They have too long felt the restrictions of paternalistic conventional medicine with its uniformity and lack of individualization of healing approaches and are therefore more than ready to embrace the natural principle of treating the individual. Moreover, the success of natural treatments in relieving disease and suffering has done much to promote their popularity. The now well-recognized neglect of women in allopathic conventional research and the failure to prioritize women's health in general have left a profound gap in health care that alternative medicine is well poised to fill.

Women want safe, effective, affordable medicine. Women want to be educated about their bodies and their health. Women want to make choices in their health care that they have determined are right for them. By philosophy, by design, and by commitment, alternative healing systems have the package to offer women what they want.

Beginning with the AMA's exclusion of women in the late 1800s, orthodox medicine's lack of respect for women both as healers and patients has been all too obvious. Today, significantly more empowered women have come to reject the dictums of orthodox medicine in greater numbers. Women intuit the limitations of the biomechanical model to completely explain physiological processes. Despite the orthodox physician's uniform advocacy for menopausal hormone replacement therapy (HRT) for all, only a fraction, less than 20 percent of women, comply; 90 percent of the women who begin HRT stop within the first year of use. Partially a failure of access, it is also a profound testimonial to their lack of trust in conventional medicine's safety, efficacy, and commitment to their well-being.

The creation of synthetic hormones in the 1950s and 1960s was unquestionably revolutionary for women in that it suddenly allowed personal life autonomy through successful fertility control and the elimination of the hot flashes and mood swings of menopause. Women's lives were changed forever. However, with hormones coming as they did on the heels of the "miracle medicine era" in which antibiotics and vaccines led the general public to believe medicine could do no wrong, the consequences of hormone excess and side effects were not anticipated or quickly recognized and dealt with. Up until 2002, most conventional practitioners recommended a postmenopausal lifetime on HRT. This has recently changed, and the data have begun to show that the risk of breast cancer increases after five years of use. Consequently, many women distrust and fear hormonal medicine and their conventional physicians. Unfortunately, this fear and mistrust may lead to the refusal of a medicine that in some cases may achieve more benefit than risk. Here's where the integrated wisdom and approach come in. While clearly not a panacea, hormones are not all bad and have important uses for selected individuals. We can also use hormones in a form that may enhance their benefits and minimize their risks, or use a combination of a reduced dose of hormones along with soy and herbal medicines to bring about the most benefit with the least risk.

Women today are insisting on participating in their health-care decisions in a way conventional medicine is just beginning to recognize. I believe that the baby boomer menopausal woman is having and will continue to have a more significant impact on our health-care model than any other previous group of healthcare consumers. Menopausal women today reject the notion of a single therapeutic modality being essential for all women undergoing a natural process. They reject the notion of taking a drug for the rest of their lives, especially if they have other options, especially if they can do other things to help prevent osteoporosis and heart disease, and especially if that drug increases their risk of a life-threatening disease.

Women are the biggest consumers of health care in America. A menopause supplement to OB-GYN, the journal of the American College of Ob-Gyn, states, "Focus groups, involving women age 40 to 60, reveal that women know more about herbal medicines than about estrogen." That seems an impressive testimonial to the power of alternative medicine in its alliance with the natural wisdom of women to define their own health-care standards. It is an invitation to alternative medicine to continue to provide women with the wider, healthier options they seek. Fifty percent of American women will be menopausal by the year 2015, and they will provide alternative medicine the greatest opportunity yet to serve our communities.

In addition to practitioner-delivered natural health care, natural medicine offers safe and effective self-care options for many common conditions such as vaginitis, PMS, fibrocystic breasts, menstrual cramps, menopause symptoms, bladder infections, and more, further expanding women's health-care autonomy.

I support the self-care approach to healing. Much of the practice of medicine is not particularly difficult or complex. Education and resources can provide a lot of very practical information. One of the things I've tried to do in this book is not only to provide some self-care treatments for common female disorders but also to provide guidelines about when self-care is not appropriate. Health care is a team approach: the patient, the practitioner, the therapies. The team can include both the alternative and the conventional practitioner—and, better still, those that talk to each other on behalf of the patient.

Choice in doctors and medical approaches, involvement in the health-care process, healthy lifestyles, and safer, nontoxic natural therapies are recognized by today's women as essential to health and well-being. Women highly value the longer time spent in discussion with their alternative provider as well as the careful, complete, and respectful collection of their history. They value processing their options thoroughly and individually. This unique quality of alternative health-care systems is rare in conventional medicine and is one of the chief reasons women seek alternative care.

Naturopathic physicians and other providers of alternative medicine must seek to verify the "scientific" truth of their medicines whenever possible—by research and by modifying the mechanistic model when necessary to suit their vitalistic philosophy. They must continue to stand by their tradition of resonance between patient and therapy, ever seeking the resonance for a particular woman with a particular problem at a particular time in her life.

Last, alternative medicine must recognize that conventional medicine, while inadequate alone, is

here to stay and offers important options and lifesaving measures. Likewise, conventional medicine must recognize that natural therapies are a fundamental healing tradition of all cultures and that modern alternative medicine is also here to stay. The more practitioners make themselves aware of these options, the better they can guide women in selecting from all options, both naturopathic and conventional. A combined, well-thought-out cooperative and integrative approach is often the best that medicine has to offer. Our open-mindedness will be rewarded manyfold by the improved health of women and their increased satisfaction and trust in their health-care providers.

WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA of NATURAL MEDICINE

ABNORMAL UTERINE BLEEDING

OVERVIEW

Changes in the amount of menstrual blood flow, duration, and pattern are among the most common health concerns that women face. Although these changes cause a lot of anxiety for women and do warrant a medical evaluation, most cases of abnormal bleeding are due to benign and easily addressed conditions. Whether alternative or conventional treatments are used for intervention, prompt evaluation is highly recommended.

There are many causes of abnormal bleeding, but our main purpose in this chapter is to discuss a benign hormonal cause of bleeding called dysfunctional uterine bleeding (DUB), abnormal uterine bleeding without any demonstrable organic cause. First, we need a little background and overview on abnormal bleeding in general.

A wide variety of clinical disorders can manifest as abnormal bleeding from the vagina. What is considered abnormal bleeding depends on the age of the patient. The bleeding can take many forms, including heavy and/or prolonged menses (menorrhagia), intermenstrual bleeding (metrorrhagia), frequent menses (polymenorrhea), infrequent menses (oligomenorrhea), heavy and irregular intermenstrual bleeding (menometrorrhagia), or postmenopausal bleeding. Normal menses are defined as vaginal bleeding that occurs approximately every 28 days (with a range of 21 to 35 days) and lasts for 4 to 7 days. Abnormal bleeding is bleeding that occurs more frequently than every 21 days, less frequently than every 35 days, lasts more than 7 days, is unusually heavy or light, or occurs after menopause. In addition, vaginal bleeding is considered heavy if a woman loses more than 80 ml of blood per cycle (normal is 30 to 35 ml).

Benign Abnormal Bleeding

The causes of abnormal bleeding can be benign, premalignant, or malignant. Benign causes can be further subdivided as either organic or hormonal. Organic disorders are all benign causes of bleeding that are not hormonal. This may include systemic health problems, abnormal pregnancy, foreign bodies, trauma, infections, and growths.

CHAPTER

Systemic diseases that are associated with problems in how the blood clots are called coagulopathies and can cause heavy vaginal bleeding. Heavy bleeding in a teenage girl may be caused by a coagulopathy called von Willebrand's disease. In fact, 20 percent of teenage girls with severe menorrhagia have a significant coagulation problem. A decrease in the number of blood platelets (thrombocytopenia) can also cause abnormal bleeding. Other systemic diseases, such as hypothyroidism and severe liver diseases, can also cause prolonged menses, heavy menses, or intermenstrual bleeding.

An abnormal pregnancy is the most common cause of abnormal vaginal bleeding in women who are of reproductive age. Any type of miscarriage can present with abnormal bleeding that is also often associated with cramping pains. Women with an ectopic pregnancy (a pregnancy in the fallopian tubes rather than the uterus) can present with abnormal bleeding, as can those with a molar pregnancy (an abnormality of the placenta caused by a problem when the egg and sperm join together at fertilization).

Abnormal bleeding in children can be caused by foreign bodies that they may have placed in their vaginas while playing. The most common foreign body in women of reproductive age is an IUD, or intrauterine birth control device. Women with IUDs will tend to have heavier menses and sometimes intermenstrual bleeding.

Trauma during intercourse can cause vaginal bleeding, for example in postmenopausal women who may have a dry vagina with thinning vaginal tissue. Just the friction of normal vaginal penetration during sex may be traumatic to this sensitive tissue. Trauma may also be experienced in a violent situation such as sexual abuse and rape. In children or adolescents, sexual abuse must be considered in cases of traumatic vaginal bleeding. Traumatic bleeding may also occur after gynecological procedures such as biopsies and instrumentation.

Occasionally, a uterine infection called chronic endometritis can present with abnormal vaginal bleeding or spotting. Other symptoms often associated with this infection include a vaginal discharge, fever, abdominal/pelvic pain, or lower back pain.

Of the most common causes of abnormal bleeding are growths known as myomas, more commonly referred to as uterine fibroids. These tend to be more common in women over the age of 30, particularly women in their 40s. Different kinds of fibroids are discussed in Chapter 19, but submucous fibroids tend to be the most troublesome in terms of heavy bleeding. Fortunately, they represent only about 5 to 10 percent of all fibroids.

Endometrial polyps can also cause abnormal bleeding, but the bleeding is usually not heavy. Adenomyosis, a variant of endometriosis, may result in very heavy bleeding associated with menstrual cramping. Endometriosis itself can cause irregular changes in the menstrual cycle, but not typically heavy menses. Finally, bleeding may result from cervical polyps or a simple inflammation of the cervix called cervicitis. Cervical polyps and cervicitis tend to present with intermenstrual bleeding or spotting after intercourse.

Malignant Abnormal Bleeding

Now let us look at the premalignant and malignant causes of uterine bleeding. Vaginal cancer accounts for only 2 percent of malignancies of the female genital tract. Eighty-five percent of the primary vaginal cancers are squamous cell (a particular cell type) carcinoma. The most common symptoms of invasive squamous cell cancer include vaginal bleeding or foul-smelling discharge. Pain is usually a late symptom.

The tragedy of another cancer, cervical cancer, is that it is a preventable disease. It is preceded by a prolonged precancerous state in almost all cases and can be detected at its early precancerous states by annual Pap smears. These earlier states of abnormal cells and cervical dysplasias are easily treatable conditions. Cervical cancer accounts for approximately 18 percent of female genital cancer in the United States. The peak incidence of cervical cancer is from 35 to 39 and 60 to 64 years of age. Vaginal bleeding after vaginal sexual activity is the most common symptom occurring in cancer of the cervix. In women with advanced disease, a foul-smelling discharge may be present.

Endometrial hyperplasia is an increased growth of the lining of the uterus (endometrium) and a subsequent thickening. Most cases of endometrial hyperplasia revert to normal, either spontaneously or with hormonal treatment. Some may persist, and others can progress to endometrial cancer. Endometrial hyperplasia may occur in any age group but is most commonly seen in older women. Chronic lack of ovulation, as seen in the teenage years, after menopause, and as a result of polycystic ovary disease, is a condition where we may see endometrial hyperplasia. Endometrial hyperplasia can be simple or complex, and either atypical, which is precancerous, or without atypia. These distinctions are very important when it comes to treatment and management and can best be made with a procedure called an endometrial biopsy. Pelvic ultrasound has improved to the point where it can detect thickening of the endometrium. Once thickening is observed, a biopsy will probably be recommended to further evaluate the situation.

Some endometrial hyperplasias will progress to cancer of the endometrium, i.e., uterine

3

cancer. As in cervical dysplasia and cervical cancer, endometrial hyperplasia is the precancerous state; its adequate treatment will prevent the development of endometrial cancer. Endometrial cancer is the most common malignancy of the female genital tract and accounts for approximately 7 percent of all cancers in women. The average age of patients with endometrial cancer is 59 years; the highest range for the incidence is age 50 to 59 years in postmenopausal women. The most common symptom associated with endometrial cancer is abnormal uterine bleeding. Typically, the bleeding is in the form of spotting, especially in postmenopausal women.

Dysfunctional Uterine Bleeding (DUB)

DUB can occur at any age but is most common at either end of the reproductive age span. One uses the term DUB when other causes for abnormal bleeding have been excluded (fibroids, polyps, and endocrine or other disorders). Adolescents account for about 20 percent of DUB cases after the first menstrual cycle. These cases are due to the immature endocrine system, particularly the immature function of the hypothalamus. Perimenopausal women account for approximately 50 percent of DUB cases due to waning ovarian function. As the ovary ages, it becomes less efficient in completing the ovulatory process. Initially there is a decrease in progesterone production, which causes shorter cycles. As the aging process progresses, ovulation becomes less frequent, resulting in a variable length of the menstrual cycle and a variation in the duration of the flow. Eventually, the lack of ovulation puts women in an estrogen-dominant state in the presence of too little progesterone because ovulation must occur in order to produce progesterone. Women who are in a state of chronic anovulation tend to have an excess of estrogen in the body. This excess estrogen is what disrupts the normal pattern of menstruation.

The remaining 30 percent of cases of DUB occur among women age 20 to 40, generally as a

result of polycystic ovarian syndrome, elevated prolactin levels, emotional stress, obesity, weight loss due to anorexia, or athletic training.

The actual cause of DUB is not completely clear. One theory is that the fluctuating estrogen levels seen in chronic lack of ovulation can cause intermittent estrogen withdrawal bleeding. Another theory is that the continuous estrogen stimulation leads to a thickening of the endometrium, which needs more estrogen in order to maintain itself. Eventually, the need for estrogen surpasses the production and breakthrough bleeding results. Another theory is that some areas of the endometrium outgrow their blood supply, and subsequent bleeding occurs because of the lack of progesterone.

There are also cases of DUB that are not due to anovulation but rather occur even though there is regular monthly ovulation. Ovulatory DUB is defined as heavy menses in women who ovulate and who do not have a coagulopathy or any uterine abnormality. The cause of this form of DUB is not clear.

DIAGNOSIS

The key to accurate diagnosis of abnormal bleeding is the woman's medical history. Several pertinent pieces of information will facilitate diagnosis:

- Previous menstrual patterns for the last three months
- The presence or absence of pain along with the bleeding
- Heaviness of the flow (number of pads or tampons per day and how often they are changed when saturated)
- Contraceptive methods, if any
- Symptoms of pregnancy
- Dates and histories of past pregnancies
- Premenstrual symptoms
- Recent abdominal, pelvic, or vaginal trauma
- Clotting problems
- Easy bruising or bleeding
- Symptoms of systemic diseases

- History of taking estrogens without adequate progesterone/progestins
- History of sexually transmitted diseases
- Past gynecologic history

A physical exam will involve visualizing the cervix, feeling the contour and size of the uterus, and general palpation of the pelvic area. Laboratory testing may include:

- Pap smear
- Thyroid function tests
- Pregnancy test
- Complete blood count to rule out anemia
- Follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH)/luteinizing hormone (LH)
- Liver function tests
- Prolactin levels
- Adrenal function studies
- Pelvic ultrasound to identify uterine fibroids or measure endometrial thickness
- Pelvic saline infusion sonohystogram
- · Testing for sexually transmitted diseases
- Endometrial biopsy

An endometrial biopsy may be recommended to test the tissue itself. This is a simple procedure done in the practitioner's office in which the clinician inserts a small narrow plastic instrument called a pipelle into the uterine cavity to extract a small sample of tissue. It only takes about 30 to 60 seconds, but women can experience mild to significant cramping during that time. A local anesthetic is usually not required, and the cramping generally subsides very quickly once the procedure is over. Endometrial pipelle biopsies can determine the presence of endometrial hyperplasia, uterine cancer, infection (endometritis), a disrupted hormonal effect, a lack of estrogen as is seen in postmenopausal women, or a uterine polyp.

If an endometrial biopsy is done at the right time, it can also be used to verify ovulation. If the biopsy shows that the endometrium has proliferated, when the woman's next bleeding episode occurs within 10 to 12 days, it generally indicates a lack of ovulation. Tests such as saline infusion sonohysterography (SIS—an ultrasound procedure that gives a three-dimensional view so as not to miss any portion of the uterine cavity), hysteroscopy (a procedure that involves dilating the cervix so that a small lighted scope can be inserted to visualize the intrauterine cavity), or a dilation and curettage (D&C) may be recommended in addition to or instead of the pelvic ultrasound and the pipelle biopsy in selected cases to improve accuracy of the results.

KEY CONCEPTS

- Seek and utilize a health-care practitioner who will distinguish DUB from benign, premalignant, and malignant causes. If benign, is the cause organic or hormonal?
- Workup will include a medical history and may include a physical exam and further laboratory tests, pelvic imaging, and/or endometrial biopsy.
- Do not self-treat unless assured that the cause is DUB.
- Practitioners can often presume a diagnosis of DUB temporarily and recommend a further workup depending on response to the treatment.

PREVENTION

- Reduce stress.
- Avoid taking any form of estrogen without adequate progesterone or progestins.
- Engage in healthy lifestyle habits.
- Protect yourself against sexually transmitted diseases.
- Use well-tolerated forms of contraception.
- Have regular medical visits, including an annual physical exam.
- Maintain optimal body weight.

OVERVIEW OF Alternative treatments

The goals of alternative treatment for DUB are the same as the goals of conventional treatment: con-

5

trol the bleeding, prevent and treat anemia, restore an acceptable menstrual pattern, and prevent endometrial hyperplasia/endometrial cancer.

Repeated episodes of heavier and prolonged bleeding should be distinguished from acute hemorrhage. My general guidelines are as follows: If a woman is saturating a super tampon or heavy pad every hour for six to eight hours or more she will often need some form of prescription hormone intervention. Herbal/nutritional interventions can be tried, but if there is no change within two to four hours, then hormonal therapies should be utilized. Even heavier bleeding (i.e., saturating pads every half hour or less) will most likely require surgical intervention. Monitoring physical symptoms, blood pressure, pulse, and hemoglobin and hematocrit levels will help to determine management of these more semiurgent and urgent cases. Use of high-dose oral bioidentical estrogens (estradiol) and bio-identical progesterone (oral micronized progesterone) may be substituted in some cases of heavier semi-acute bleeding, although the net effect is the same as when using conventional hormones. In most states, licensed naturopathic physicians can prescribe bio-identical hormones and conventional hormones. They would approach these dramatic situations with the same high degree of concern and astuteness as would a conventional practitioner and may integrate acute antihemorrhagic botanicals or nutrients in combination with the hormonal therapies.

Less dramatic cases that still involve heavy menstrual flow will be best managed with both an immediate plan for the semi-acute bleeding episode, which should slow down within a few hours to 48 hours, and a comprehensive plan that should bring results with no further episodes in one to four months. A comprehensive plan may include the use of soy and flax products to regulate the menstrual cycle, herbal extracts to address immediate bleeding episodes, nutrients such as bioflavonoids and bromelain for their natural anti-inflammatory effect, herbal extracts for their ability to bring about ovulation and orderly stimulation of ovarian function, and herbs for their tonifying and astringent effects.

The concept of tissue tonification is a key feature of the philosophy of herbal medicine. It is thought that gynecological conditions associated with bleeding may occur as a result of poor tissue tone of the mucous membranes, poor uterine tone, and a constitutional weakness of the tissues that presents as generalized lack of tissue integrity, in this case the uterus. The astringents (herbs that slow the loss of body fluids, i.e., menstrual bleeding) are the herbs most likely to affect tissue tone, while the uterine tonics and the emmenagogues (herbs to promote menses) are most likely to affect uterine tone. Traditionally, the ability of an astringent herb to stop bleeding has been attributed to the tannin content of the plants. Uterine tone is related to the ability of the uterus to function as a smooth muscle. When the uterine tone is normal, there is a normalization of menstrual flow. A hypertonic uterus can be associated with a delayed menses and cramping uterine pains. A hypotonic uterus is frequently accompanied by heavy bleeding and a feeling of pelvic congestion.

Stress reduction has an underappreciated but significant influence on irregular menses and DUB. A disruption in the messages between the hypothalamus (which produces gonadotropinreleasing hormones) and the anterior pituitary (which releases FSH and LH, follicle-stimulating and luteinizing hormones) brings about a mistiming of the release of these hormones and a subsequent lack of ovulation and/or estrogen and progesterone production by the ovaries. The timing of the release of these pituitary hormones, as well as of estrogen and progesterone, is what determines a normal, regular menstrual cycle. This timing can be adversely affected by stress, and by the same token, the timing can be improved by stress reduction. A third hormone produced by the pituitary, prolactin, also plays an important role in the menstrual cycle. Increased

production of prolactin can inhibit the maturation of ovarian follicles and induce menstrual abnormalities and sterility. Prolactin release is often stress related.

Nutrition

Consume a whole foods diet rich in whole grains, fruits, vegetables, legumes, quality cooking oils (canola and olive), nuts, and seeds. Emphasize fish high in omega-3 oils (salmon, tuna, sardines, halibut, mackerel, herring) and reduce saturated animal fats (beef, chicken, butter, cheese) to promote the preferred prostaglandin pathways that are discussed in Chapters 9 and 13 (in the discussions of heart disease and menstrual cramps). These preferred prostaglandins will reduce inflammation and may thereby help to reduce heavy and profuse menstrual flows.

Foods high in iron in particular should be incorporated into the general diet when heavy blood loss persists on a monthly basis. Refined breads and cereals are the single greatest nutritional contributor to iron-deficiency anemia. Although we do have iron "enriched" flour, it has only about one-third the iron content of whole wheat flour. Brewer's yeast and wheat germ are both excellent sources of iron, supplying about 18 and 8 mg respectively per half cup. Blackstrap molasses is not only one of the richest sources of iron but also of many other minerals. It supplies about 9 mg of iron per tablespoon; dark unrefined molasses contains 1.5 mg of iron per tablespoon, and sugar, none. Single foods high in iron probably cannot surpass the amount found in liver and kidneys. However, I do not recommend these because it is very difficult to get organic products, and these organs accumulate many metabolic wastes. Apricots and eggs are also rather high in iron. We often think of dark green leafy vegetables as high in iron, but iron is difficult to absorb in this form. Foods such as yogurt that contain Lactobacillus acidophilus and sour fruits and citrus juices aid in the absorption of iron because of their high vitamin C content.

Two foods stand out in their ability to regulate the menstrual cycle: flaxseed and soy protein. Flaxseed contains a group of phytoestrogens called lignans that have been shown to have weakly estrogenic and antiestrogenic properties. Two specific lignans, enterodiol and enterolactone, are absorbed after formation in the intestinal tract from plant precursors particularly abundant in flaxseed.

The ingestion of flaxseed powder and its effect on the menstrual cycle was studied in 18 normally cycling women.1 Each woman consumed her usual omnivorous, low-fiber diet for three cycles and her usual diet supplemented with 10 grams per day of flaxseed for another three cycles. All women were instructed to avoid soy foods. The second and third flax cycles were compared to the second and third control diet cycles. Three nonovulatory cycles occurred among the 18 women during the control diet (36 total cycles) compared to none during the 36 flaxseed cycles. The ovulatory flax cycles were consistently associated with about one more day in the luteal phase (second half of the cycle) when compared to the ovulatory non-flax cycles. Only one day longer before you bleed and a slight increase in the number of ovulations may not seem like much. However, over a period of months and years, the cumulative effect not only has implications for regulating the menstrual cycle but may also play a positive role in reducing the risk of breast and other hormonally dependent cancers.

The influence of a diet containing soy protein on the length of the menstrual cycle in premenopausal women has also been studied.² Sixty grams of soy protein containing 45 mg of isoflavones (a phytoestrogen compound found in high amounts in soy; see Table 1.1) was given daily for one month in a study lasting nine months. A significant increase in the length of the follicular phase (first half of the menstrual cycle) by an average of 2.5 days and/or delayed menstruation was observed in the six women who consumed the soy protein. Again, as with

Table 1.1 Isoflavone Content of Soybe	eans
---------------------------------------	------

l	Food	Serving Size	Isoflavones (mg)
	Textured soy protein granules	¹∕4 cup	62
I	Nutlettes breakfast cereal	¹∕₄ cup	61
I	Roasted soy nuts	¹⁄₄ cup	60
-	Tempeh	1⁄2 cup	35
-	Tofu, low-fat and regular	1⁄2 cup	35
	Soy beverage powders (varies with manufacture	er) 1–2 scoop	s 20–50
I	Regular soy milk	1 cup	30
I	Low-fat soy milk	1 cup	20
1	Roasted soy butter	2 tbsp	17

flaxseed, soy protein has a role not only in contributing to the regularity and lengthening of the menstrual cycle, but adding 2.5 days per month and lengthening the number of days from one menses to another may in part contribute to a lower incidence of breast cancer.³

Nutritional Supplements

Vitamin A. A deficiency of vitamin A may contribute to menorrhagia in adult women. Vitamin A deficiency impairs enzyme activity and hormone production in the ovaries of animals,⁴ and serum levels of vitamin A have been found to be lower in women with menorrhagia than in healthy women.5 In the latter study, vitamin A was used as a treatment in 40 women who had diagnosed menorrhagia as a result of a diverse array of causes. In the group who received 60,000 IU of vitamin A for 35 days, menstruation returned to normal in 23 women (57.5 percent) for a period of at least three months. A significant decrease in the amount of blood or a reduction in the duration of the menses or both was obtained in 14 women (35 percent). The vitamin A was ineffective in 3 of the 40 women (7.5 percent). The overall result with vitamin A 7

therapy showed that 92.5 percent of the 40 cases of menorrhagia were cured or alleviated.

It is important to understand that 60,000 IU of vitamin A given for long periods of time could lead to vitamin A toxicity, but generally this would only occur if doses in excess of 50,000 IU were used for several years. Smaller doses may produce toxicity symptoms if there are problems in storage and transport of vitamin A. These problems are generally found only in people with cirrhosis of the liver, hepatitis, or malnutrition and in children and adolescents. However, for a period of only one month, as in this study, vitamin A toxicity is of virtually no concern, and I would not hesitate to use it for this amount of time, or up to three months. Using lower doses of 25,000 IU for longer periods of time should be considered in those cases where ongoing treatment is necessary to control menorrhagia.

Vitamin A

60,000 IU per day for 1–3 months 10,000–25,000 IU ongoing, if necessary, but be aware of potential increase in urinary calcium loss

Note: Vitamin E improves vitamin A storage and utilization, and zinc is required to mobilize vitamin A. A deficiency of zinc, vitamin C, protein, or thyroid hormone may impair the conversion of carotenes to vitamin A. Provitamin A carotenes such as beta-carotene require these nutrients for their conversion to vitamin A.

B Complex. There may be a correlation between a nutritional deficiency of vitamin B complex and menorrhagia and metrorrhagia. It has been shown that the liver loses its ability to inactivate estrogen in vitamin B-complex deficiency. We know that some cases of heavy menses and intermenstrual bleeding are due to an excess of estrogen. Therefore, supplementing with a complex of B vitamins may restore the proper metabolism of estrogen and thus have a role in treating DUB. A study done over 50 years ago

WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

was undertaken to determine if the B-complex vitamins were effective in the treatment of these menstrual conditions. Although the study, done in the 1940s, was not up to today's scientific standards, a series of consecutive cases showed that a B-complex preparation was effective in "prompt" improvement in both menorrhagia and metrorrhagia.⁶ The B-complex preparations used orally in the study were usually given in daily doses providing 3 to 9 mg of thiamin, 4.5 to 9 mg of riboflavin, and up to 60 mg of niacin.

Vitamin B-100 Complex

1-2 capsules daily of a B-100 combination

Vitamin K. Vitamin K deficiency is pretty rare, but its role in the manufacture of clotting factors like prothrombin and clotting factors VII, IX, and X has obvious implications for women with heavy or prolonged menses.⁷ Even when the cause of the excessive bleeding is not a clotting disorder, it may be prudent to use vitamin K as part of a comprehensive treatment plan. Fat-soluble chlorophyll is a good source of vitamin K and is found in fresh green juices. Consider increasing the intake of green leafy vegetables and/or supplementing with 150 to 500 mcg per day of vitamin K.

Vitamin K

150-500 mcg per day

Vitamin C. Vitamin C helps to reduce heavy bleeding by strengthening the capillaries. In at least one study, vitamin C was able to reduce heavy bleeding in 87 percent of the women.⁸ Vitamin C also is an important supplement for women who have acquired iron-deficiency anemia from menstrual blood loss. It helps to increase iron absorption and can be used to prevent anemia as well as to treat it.

Vitamin C

2,000-4,000 mg per day

Bioflavonoids. Like vitamin C, bioflavonoids have demonstrated a significant ability to reduce heavy menstrual bleeding by strengthening the vessel walls of the capillaries in women with menorrhagia.8 Bioflavonoids also can have an antiestrogen effect on the uterus by occupying the estrogen receptor sites and thus limiting the estrogen-stimulating effect on the endometrium. This can help to reduce bleeding. Just as conventional medicine prescribes nonsteroidal antiinflammatories to reduce heavy bleeding, alternative medicine has natural anti-inflammatories such as bioflavonoids that can be used for the same purpose. Foods high in bioflavonoids (and vitamin C) include grape skins, cherries, blackberries, blueberries, and the pulp and white rind of citrus fruits.

Bioflavonoids

1,000-2,000 mg per day

Botanicals

Chaste Tree (Vitex Agnus Castus). Chaste tree is probably the best-known herb in all of Europe for hormonal imbalances in women. Since at least the time of the Greeks, chaste tree has been used for the full scope of menstrual disorders: heavy menses, lack of ovulation, frequent and infrequent menses, irregular menses, and a complete lack of menses. Chaste tree has been repeatedly studied in Germany. Although the fruit was used traditionally, it is the seeds that are mainly used for medicine in Europe and in this country. Consequently, most of the testing has been done on the seeds. Chaste tree acts on the hypothalamus and pituitary glands. It increases LH production and mildly inhibits the release of FSH. The result is a shift in the ratio of estrogen to progesterone and consequently a "progesteronelike" effect.9 The ability of chaste tree to raise progesterone levels is an indirect effect and not a direct hormonal action.¹⁰ Chaste tree has also been shown to inhibit prolactin release by the pituitary gland, particularly under stress.¹¹

8

9

The first major study on chaste tree was published in 1954,¹² proving the herb's effectiveness for patients with cystic hyperplasia (excessive proliferation of the endometrium). Although this condition is not technically DUB, it is impressive that chaste tree was able to bring about enough of a progesterone effect to reduce the hyperplasia. In a separate study, 126 women with menstrual disorders took 15 drops of a chaste tree liquid extract three times daily over several menstrual cycles.¹³ In 33 women who had frequent menses (polymenorrhea), the duration between periods lengthened from an average of 20.1 days to 26.3 days. In 58 patients with excessive bleeding (menorrhagia), the number of heavy bleeding days was decreased.

As mentioned earlier, chaste tree has an ability to inhibit prolactin production. A double-blind, placebo-controlled study done in 2005 was able to examine the effect of a chaste tree preparation on 52 women with luteal phase defects due to elevated prolactin levels.14 The dose given was 20 mg chaste tree extract daily for three months. After three months of treatment, prolactin release was significantly reduced in those taking chaste tree. The shortened luteal phase was normalized as was the decrease in progesterone production. In another study examining the pharmacology of vitex (another term for chaste tree), serum prolactin levels were reduced via vitex's natural prolactin-suppressive compounds, namely diterpenes. These diterpenes have dopaminergic properties and bind to the DA2-receptor protein, which, in turn, suppressed prolactin release.¹⁵

Chaste tree is the most important herb to normalize and regulate the menstrual cycle. Chaste tree is not a fast-acting herb; do not hesitate to use it over a long period of time. In fact, results may not be achieved until after four to six months. It is not an herb to be relied on for immediate relief, and it will not be effective in reducing semi-acute bleeding episodes. Human and animal studies have determined chaste tree to be safe for most menstruating women. It is not recommended during pregnancy, although this is not an absolute contraindication, and women should not worry if they become pregnant while taking chaste tree for the first trimester. Chaste tree is completely safe during lactation, and there are no known interactions with other drugs, but theoretically, it might interfere with dopaminergic antagonists. Minimal, reversible side effects have included itching, occasional rash, nausea, headache, gastrointestinal disturbance, menstrual disorders, acne, and possibly a lowered libido.¹⁶

Note: Aucubin and agnuside are different marker compounds found in chaste tree, used to standardize the product to assure an effective dose.

Chaste Tree

30–60 drops liquid extract or 215 mg .6% aucubin standardized extract or 175 mg .75% agnuside standardized extract per day

Ginger (*Zingiber Officinale*). Ginger has been shown to inhibit prostaglandin synthetase¹⁷ and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2)¹⁸ enzymes believed to be related to the altered prostaglandin-2 ratio associated with excessive menstrual loss.¹⁹ Prostaglandins are hormone-like substances, and an excess of prostaglandin 2s can cause increased pain and inflammation. The most potent constituent appears to be gingerol, the pungent ingredient in the ginger. Inhibition of prostaglandin and leukotriene formation could explain ginger's traditional use as an anti-inflammatory agent, and antiinflammatories are effective in reducing the flow from heavy and protracted menses.

Ginger

1-4 g dry powder per day for semi-acute blood loss or ginger root extract (5%) gingerols 100 mg per day

Dietary Kelp or Bladderwrack (*Fucus Vesiculosus*). A very small study of three women demonstrated that dietary kelp may be effective in normalizing DUB by decreasing 17 beta-estradiol (one of the estrogens the body naturally produces) and increasing progesterone. These pilot data suggest that dietary bladderwrack may prolong the length of the menstrual cycle and exert antiestrogenic effects in premenopausal women.²⁰

Traditional Astringent Herbs. Astringent herbs form a large category of tannin-containing plants that are used to reduce blood loss from the reproductive tract as well as from the bowel, stomach, respiratory tract, and skin. In the reproductive tract, the astringent herbs are used to correct uterine or cervical bleeding. The astringents most effective in uterine blood loss are often high in tannins, but other constituents also explain their mechanism of action. The following herbs are the major astringent and hemostatic herbs used in gynecological problems:

With Tannins

- Yarrow (Achillea millefolium)
- Ladies' mantle (Alchemilla vulgaris)
- Cranesbill (Geranium maculatum)
- Beth root (*Trillium erectum*)
- Greater periwinkle (Vinca major)

Cranesbill. This astringent herb, high in tannic acid, was relied on by early American Indians to treat diarrhea, dysentery, leukorrhea, and chronic menorrhagia, especially cases of prolonged bleeding. Cranesbill was used by early practitioners of natural medicine (the eclectic physicians) to achieve prompt and predictable results in cases of menorrhagia without any unpleasant side effects.

Without Tannins

- Horsetail (Equisetum arvense)
- Goldenseal (Hydrastis canadensis)
- Shepherd's purse (Capsella bursa-pastoris)

Shepherd's Purse. Shepherd's purse is a mild astringent that contains saponins, choline, acetylcholine, and tyramine, all likely to be helpful in female reproductive health.²¹ Chemical analysis shows that it can coagulate blood.²² Its best use is in combination with other astringent and hemostatic herbs for uterine bleeding, particularly when there is extremely heavy flow. Shepherd's purse is a good choice for both semi-acute situations and chronic recurring episodes of DUB.

Uterine Tonics. In traditional herbal medicine, uterine tone determines the ease of menstrual flow. If the uterus is hypertonic, then it may be difficult to initiate menses in a timely manner. If the uterus is hypotonic, there may be heavy bleeding. In either case, improving uterine tone will tend to normalize and regulate menstrual bleeding. Two categories of herbs are said to have the most effect on uterine tone and therefore bleeding.

Tonics That Regulate Uterine Tone. The following are uterine tonics or amphoterics that regulate tone (both reduce excess tone and increase tone in states of laxity):

- Dong quai (Angelica sinensis): potent anticoagulant and hemostatic effects via platelet aggregation²³
- Blue cohosh (Caulophyllum thalictroides)
- Helonias (Chamaelirium luteum)
- Squaw vine (Mitchella repens)
- Raspberry leaves (Rubus idaeus)
- Life root (Senecio aureus)

Life root, also known as ragwort, is a timehonored "female regulator" that has been used consistently in traditional herbal medicine for menstrual cramps, menorrhagia, suppressed menstruation, and other disturbances of the reproductive tract. It is a classic uterine tonic that has been used to tonify a soft, less-than-firm uterus, including laxity of the uterine ligaments. It adds tone and structure to the nervous and muscular structures of the reproductive female organs and regulates the quantity of the monthly flow.

Tonics That Stimulate Menstrual Flow. The following are uterine stimulants or emmenagogues (agents that stimulate menstrual flow) that increase tone or muscular activity and serve to initiate the onset of menses:

- Squaw vine (Mitchella repens)
- Yarrow (Achillea millefolium)

- Chaste tree (Vitex agnus castus)
- Pennyroyal* (Mentha pulegium)
- Mugwort (Artemisia vulgaris)
- Blue cohosh (Caulophyllum thalictroides)

Blue cohosh is a perennial herb that grows all over the United States, and it is the root or rhizome that is used medicinally. The chemical constituents include alkaloids, saponins, phytosterols, and many minerals. As an emmenagogue that promotes the onset of menstrual flow, it would seem odd to use it as a treatment for menorrhagia. Yet, traditionally, blue cohosh, when used with other astringent herbs, acts as a uterine tonic and in fact helps to regulate the menses and the amount of flow.

Astringent and uterine tonic herbs can be used in combination formulations and used for weeks to several months. Use as a tea, liquid extract, or powdered capsule.

Traditional Herbs for Semi-Acute and Acute Blood Loss

- Cinnamon* (*Cinnamomum verum*)
- Life root (Senecio aureus)
- Canadian fleabane* (Erigeron canadensis)
- Greater periwinkle (Vinca major)
- Shepherd's purse (Capsella bursa-pastoris)
- Yarrow (Achillea millefolium)
- Savin (Sabina officinalis)

Bio-Identical Hormones

Bio-identical hormones are made in a manufacturing laboratory and are derived from a compound found in either Mexican wild yam root or soybeans. The diosgenin plant compound from Mexican wild yam or beta-sitosterol from soybeans is extracted from the plant and then used to make a hormone, in this case progesterone, that is biochemically identical to the progesterone in a woman's body. Sometimes these are called natural hormones, and other times they are called bioidentical hormones.

Dosage for Botanicals

The herbs listed in the text with an asterisk (*) may be toxic if given in inappropriate doses, so correct dosing is very important. Use a botanical reference to assure safe dosage.

Essential oil of cinnamon: 1–5 drops every 3–4 hours

Other herbs: Do not exceed 20 drops every 2 hours or 1 capsule every 4 hours if using a single herb. Several herbs may be used in combination, and in these cases it is important to consult a reference book or an herbal practitioner to know the dose limitations.

Natural Progesterone. Cyclic bio-identical or natural progesterone that is given 12 days out of the month (usually day 15 of the cycle to day 26) can be used to correct infrequent menses, heavy menses, and sometimes intermenstrual bleeding. This therapy substitutes for what the body is not producing due to the lack of ovulation. A woman must ovulate in order to produce adequate levels of progesterone. Because natural progesterone is biochemically identical to human

Natural Bio-Identical Progesterone

A dose of 200 mg is thought to be adequate to regulate abnormal bleeding. Natural progesterone is several times less potent than a progestin (a synthetic substance). Even 400 mg per day of oral micronized progesterone may not work as well as 10 mg of medroxyprogesterone acetate (Provera).

- **Oral dosage:** 100–200 mg twice daily, given 7 to 12 days per month for infrequent menses, menorrhagia, and, occasionally, intermenstrual bleeding
- **Cream dosage:** (product that contains at least 400 mg progesterone per ounce) $\frac{1}{4}-\frac{1}{2}$ tsp twice daily for 12 to 21 days per month for cases of mild menorrhagia, infrequent menses, and, occasionally, intermenstrual bleeding
- **Sublingual tablets:** 50–75 mg twice daily for 12 to 21 days per month for cases of mild menorrhagia

^{*}May be toxic if given in inappropriate doses. See the dosage guidelines in this section.

Sample Treatment Plans for Abnormal Uterine Bleeding

See the Resources section for formulation sources.

Chronic Recurring Menorrhagia

- Bioflavonoids: 1,000 mg twice per day
- Vitamin A: 60,000 IU per day up to 3 months
- Chaste tree (standardized extract): 175 mg per day, or 1 tsp daily
- Combination herbal product using astringents and uterine tonics; sample herbal tincture:

Yarrow: 2 oz Helonias: 2 oz Squaw vine: 2 oz Life root: 2 oz 1 tsp twice daily

 Consider natural progesterone cream, 1/4-1/2 tsp twice daily, days 15-26 (day 1 is the first day of your menses)

Semi-Acute Menorrhagia

- Bioflavonoids: 1,000 mg 2-3 times daily
- Combination herbal products using astringents and uterine tonics; sample herbal tincture:

Yarrow: 2 oz Greater periwinkle: 2 oz Shepherd's purse: 2 oz Life root: 2 oz 20–30 drops every 2–3 hours

If you choose to use one of the more toxic herbs, such as cinnamon or beth root, be sure not to exceed recommended doses.

 Essential oil of cinnamon: 1–5 drops every 3–4 hours

- Oral micronized progesterone: 200-400 mg per day for 7-12 days, followed by a cyclic hormone product for 21 days on and 7 days off
- If there is no change in 24 to 48 hours, highdose estrogens may be needed to stop the immediate bleeding, followed by a progesterone regimen.

Oligomenorrhea (Infrequent Menses)

- Chaste tree: .6-.75% standardized extract, one 175-215 mg capsule daily; or liquid extract, 1 tsp daily
- Combination herbal emmenagogue:

Squaw vine: 1½ oz Yarrow: 1 oz Blue cohosh: 1 oz Pennyroyal: ½ oz 20 drops every 2–3 hours

Natural progesterone cream

Apply $\frac{1}{4}$ tsp 1–2 times daily, days 7–14 of cycle Apply $\frac{1}{2}$ tsp 1–2 times daily, days 15–26

Polymenorrhea (Frequent Menses)

- Chaste tree: .6-.75% standardized extract, one 175-215 mg capsule daily; or liquid extract, 1 tsp daily
- Natural progesterone cream: ¹/₄-¹/₂ tsp twice daily, 21 days on, 7 days off (during menstrual flow)
- Some cases may require higher doses of oral micronized progesterone.
- Some cases may require a natural estrogen/natural progesterone formulation that requires more individualized dosing.

progesterone, it is generally very well tolerated by women. One study found that while traditional progestin treatments such as norethindrone can decrease estradiol, follicle-stimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone, sex-hormone-binding globulin, and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, bio-identical progesterone offers the hormonal benefits without these side effects and is a viable alternative therapy in premenopausal bleeding disorders.²⁴ You may want to read much more on bio-identical hormones in Chapter 12.

The disadvantages to the natural hormone include a short half-life (three to six hours) that requires giving it two to three times a day. Natural progesterone can be delivered by injection, sublingual tablets, rectal or vaginal suppositories, oral
capsules or tablets, and topical creams. Dosing is dependent on the delivery system and the characteristic bleeding problems. When treating women with DUB, the amount of progesterone given must be adequate to convert the endometrium for complete sloughing to avoid endometrial hyperplasia. Continuous progesterone can be effective in controlling menorrhagia.

Natural Estradiol. To control an acute bleeding episode, the use of natural estradiol should be just as effective as one of the dosing regimens of conjugated estrogens. These hormones are prescription items and should be administered by a practitioner qualified to use them. One high-dose regimen would be 2 mg of estradiol every four hours for 24 hours, a single daily dose for 7 to 10 days, followed by oral micronized progesterone, 200 mg per day for 7 to 12 days.

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

The goals of conventional treatment for abnormal uterine bleeding are to control bleeding, prevent endometrial hyperplasia or cancer, prevent or treat anemia, and restore quality of life. When the diagnosis is definitely DUB, it is preferable to use medical, not surgical, treatments.

To control an acute bleeding episode, 10 mg of oral conjugated estrogens (or the equivalent) administered daily as 2.5 mg four times per day are usually effective. If bleeding is not controlled within the first 24 hours, higher doses (20 mg) may be effective. Once the bleeding has stopped, oral estrogen therapy is continued at the same dosage for a total of 21 days; the addition of a progestin, such as medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA), 10 mg daily, should be added for the last 7 to 10 days of those 21 days. Alternatively, 200 to 400 mg daily of progesterone may be substituted for the MPA. At the end of 21 days, both hormones are stopped, at which time the patient should expect a light "withdrawal" bleed. At this time, a strategy for long-term management should be developed.

Oral contraceptives containing estrogen and progestin are also used to stop acute bleeding, although they may not be as effective as the high doses of estrogen alone. Three tablets of an oral contraceptive containing a progestin plus 35 mcg of estrogen taken every 24 hours (one tablet every eight hours) will usually provide sufficient estrogen to stop acute bleeding while simultaneously providing progestin. Treatment is continued for at least one week after the bleeding stops. The practitioner can choose from a variety of equally effective treatment regimens.

The treatment of choice for chronic, stable anovulatory bleeding is a progestogen medication. Use either MPA or norethindrone (NE) in doses of 5 to 10 mg daily or oral micronized progesterone (either compounded or Prometrium) 200 to 400 mg daily for 14 days starting on day 14 of the menstrual cycle. The patient can stop the medications if she has begun menstruating before the end of her progestogen.

Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are also used to reduce blood loss, especially in women who have DUB but still have normal ovulation. When NSAIDs are taken during the episode of menorrhagia, the effect is a 20 to 50 percent reduction in blood loss. The following anti-inflammatories are usually given for the first three days of menses, or throughout the menstrual flow, and seem to have similar effects:

- 1. Ibuprofen: 600 mg every 6-8 hours
- 2. Naproxen sodium: 550 mg every 6-8 hours
- 3. Mefenamic acid: 500 mg first dose, then 250 mg every 8 hours
- 4. Meclofenamate sodium: 100 mg every 8 hours
- 5. Naproxen: 500 mg every 12 hours

NSAIDs may be used alone in some cases or combined with an oral contraceptive or progestogen. Other, more sophisticated medical regimens may be used to intervene, including GnRH agonists (Lupron), androgenic steroids (danazol),

14 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

or an antifibrinolytic agent. However, these options have significant side effects, and their use is limited to women who fail to respond to other methods of drug management and who do not want surgery.

Progesterone-releasing IUDs (Mirena) are gaining interest because of their lack of systemic side effects, duration of action of five years, and 60 to 80 percent reduction in menstrual blood flow. They also can suppress the growth of the endometrium in oligo-ovulatory patients, thereby preventing hyperplasia or uterine cancer.

There are basically three surgical options that may be considered in individual cases: dilation and curettage (D&C), endometrial ablation, or hysterectomy.

1. Dilation and curettage (D&C) can be both diagnostic and therapeutic. A D&C is the quickest way to stop bleeding; therefore, it is a treatment of choice in women with DUB who suffer from anemia due to heavy menstrual blood loss or who are acutely unstable. The problem with a D&C is that it is only temporary in most cases and does not cure the problem the majority of the time. One advantage, though, is that it can give the doctor tissue for diagnosis.

2. Endometrial ablation is a procedure to destroy the endometrial tissue. It is highly popular because of the ease of treatment, the success, and the low incidence of complications. There are several types of ablations now: the original roller ball or loop unipolar resection, a bipolar electrical vaporization method, a bipolar electrical mesh, a balloon filled with dextrose water that is heated to 200 degrees Fahrenheit, free-flowing hot water, and a microwave and cryo probe technology as well. The method used depends on practitioner preference and select uterine characteristics. All ablations require IV sedation or general anesthesia and may not be well tolerated in an office setting

because of the pain of the procedure. Ablation technology continues to advance with the hopes of developing a procedure that can be done in the office.

3. Hysterectomy, surgical removal of the uterus, should be reserved for the woman with other indications for hysterectomy such as uterine fibroids, uterine prolapse, or atypical hyperplasia. When a hysterectomy is done for bleeding problems there is usually no need to remove the ovaries.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

Changes in the pattern or amount of menstrual blood flow is one of the most common health concerns of women. Even though many of these cases are of no serious concern, a woman with abnormal bleeding distinctly different from her familiar history should do the cautious thing and be seen by a licensed health-care practitioner such as a naturopathic doctor (N.D.), medical doctor (M.D.), osteopathic doctor (D.O.), nurse-practitioner (N.P.), or physician's assistant (P.A.). After a thorough medical history is taken, a physical exam and further laboratory testing and imaging may be requested not only to adequately diagnose the cause of the problem but also to determine if excessive blood loss has caused an anemic state.

The most worrisome situation is an acute bleeding episode. As stated earlier, bleeding that meets or exceeds saturation of a super tampon or heavy pad every hour for six to eight hours or more requires medical intervention. Bleeding that is even more severe will require immediate medical attention to assess the need for a surgical intervention and management of the dangers of acute blood loss.

A licensed naturopathic physician may work in tandem with conventional medical colleagues to cooperate on an integrated approach to optimize the patient outcome.

AMENORRHEA

OVERVIEW

Traditionally, amenorrhea (absence of menstrual bleeding) has been classified as either primary or secondary. Primary amenorrhea means that no vaginal bleeding has ever occurred by the time of expected initial onset (usually age 16). Secondary amenorrhea means that vaginal bleeding has previously occurred but has now ceased-for three months in a woman with a history of regular cyclic bleeding or for six months in a woman with a history of irregular periods. In the United States, females normally experience the onset of their first menstrual period between the ages of 9 and 18. It has been estimated that the prevalence of amenorrhea in the general U.S. female population during the reproductive years is 1.8 to 3 percent, the prevalence in college-aged women is 2.6 to 5 percent, and amenorrhea may be seen in 20 percent of women reporting infertility.

Determining the cause of amenorrhea is one of the most challenging tasks in gynecology. Causes of amenorrhea can be organized into four classifications: disorders of the vagina or uterus, disorders of the ovary, disorders of the anterior pituitary gland, and disorders of the central nervous system. The causes of primary amenorrhea are often very complex, and approximately 40 percent of all cases are due to a chromosomal defect. Absence of a vagina is the second-most-common cause, followed by testicular feminization syndrome. Other causes of primary and secondary amenorrhea are often overlapping.

The majority of amenorrheic young women have very low levels of estrogen, and a minority will have subnormal, noncyclic estrogen levels without progesterone due to a lack of ovulation. This distinction is important in considering the long-term implications of amenorrhea. Amenorrhea caused by low levels of estrogen, or hypoestrogenic amenorrhea, is associated with loss of bone mineral density and an increased risk later in life of osteoporosis and fractures. Lipid levels in the bloodstream are also negatively affected by prolonged hypoestrogenic states, and this is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease. Amenorrhea without ovulation is associated with an increased risk of endometrial hyperplasia and uterine cancer because of the lack of progesterone and the presence of what is called an "unopposed" estrogen state. Polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) is an example of this type of amenorrhea. Characteristics of PCOS include obesity, hirsutism (abnormal hair growth), acne, infertility, hypertension, and diabetes.

Evaluating and managing amenorrhea is best addressed with the medical knowledge of a qualified primary care practitioner. Sometimes a specialist in endocrinology is necessary, to rule out or consider an array of potential diseases and disorders of the hypothalamus, pituitary gland, ovaries, thyroid, and/or uterus.

THE NORMAL MENSTRUAL CYCLE

Normal menstruation results from a complex chain of events initiated in the central nervous system:

- 1. The hypothalamus secretes gonadotropinreleasing hormone (GnRH) that regulates pituitary function.
- 2. The anterior pituitary produces luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) that govern ovarian function. The main action of LH is to stimulate synthesis of androgens by the theca cells in the ovary and progesterone synthesis by the corpus luteum. LH also induces ovulation,

16 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

which leaves behind the corpus luteum. The primary action of FSH is to stimulate the granulosa cells in the ovary to produce estrogen. Both the theca cells and the granulosa cells are sources of androgens (such as testosterone) and estrogen.

- The ovaries respond to these gonadotropins by synthesizing the steroid hormones estradiol and progesterone that affect uterine function.
- 4. The uterus has a cavity capable of endometrial thickening and shedding according to the levels of ovarian hormones in the blood (estrogen and progesterone), and an outflow tract (vagina) to allow the emptying of menstrual flow.

Phases of the Menstrual Cycle

The menstrual cycle can best be broken into three phases.

1. Menstrual phase (menstruation): days 1-5

- Estrogen and progesterone withdrawn before onset of menstrual flow
- Shedding of endometrial lining

2. Proliferative (follicular) phase: days 6-14

- Regrowth of endometrial tissue
- Secretion of FSH by the pituitary gland
- Development in ovary of a mature graafian follicle containing a mature egg
- Secretion of increasing amounts of estrogen by graafian follicle
- Suppression of FSH when estrogen level becomes high, leading to secretion of LH by pituitary gland
- 3. Secretory (luteal) phase: days 15-28
 - Rupture of graafian follicle releasing egg (ovulation) starts the secretory phase
 - Movement of egg through fallopian tube to uterus
 - Formation of corpus luteum at site of ruptured follicle
 - Production of progesterone by corpus luteum
 - Stimulation by progesterone of endometrial cell growth
 - Significant decrease in progesterone level if implantation does not occur; menstrual phase then begins again



DIAGNOSING AND Evaluating Amenorrhea

A good history is the most important part of the medical evaluation to diagnose amenorrhea. The history will include evaluating for pregnancy, menstrual history, emotional stress, weight gain or loss, alcohol use or abuse, dietary habits, exercise habits, medications, narcotics, drug abuse, acute or chronic illnesses, accidents or injuries, infertility, metabolic disease, immune system abnormalities, tuberculosis, hot flashes, breast discharge, headaches, and family history.

A physical and pelvic exam will confirm the most likely causes as suggested by the history. During the pelvic exam, the practitioner will attempt to determine if there is an adequate estrogen effect on the cervix and vagina, check for the size of the ovaries, assure the normalcy of the uterus and vagina, and observe for the presence or absence of secondary sex characteristics (such as breasts and pubic hair). The thyroid gland will also be checked, and laboratory tests will be chosen selectively to document the suspected diagnosis.

Due to the complexity of amenorrhea and the diverse array of causes, it is impossible to address

KEY CONCEPTS

- Successful management of amenorrhea depends on an accurate diagnosis.
- Amenorrhea is a symptom, not a diagnosis.
- The absence of menses in itself has no deleterious effect on health, but it may be a presenting symptom of an underlying disorder that requires treatment.
- A licensed primary health-care practitioner is needed to conduct a careful history, examination, and indicated tests.
- The most common cause of secondary amenorrhea is pregnancy.
- Prolonged amenorrhea that is hypoestrogenic (hypergonadotropic hypogonadism or hypogonadotropic hypogonadism) prior to menopause is a risk factor for osteoporosis.

PREVENTION

- Have adequate calories in the diet.
- Include adequate levels of dietary fat.
- Keep regular daily eating habits.
- Avoid being underweight.
- Avoid obesity.
- Avoid excessive exercise.
- Practice stress reduction and management.
- Women with hypoestrogenic amenorrhea must be vigilant about prevention of osteoporosis and coronary artery disease.
- Women with anovulatory amenorrhea must be monitored for endometrial thickening and the development of endometrial hyperplasia, a precancerous state, and endometrial cancer.
- Women who have been diagnosed with polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS), the normogonadotropic anovulation state, must not only be treated for current problems related to the PCOS, but they need assertive prevention for diseases for which they are at higher risk, including type 2 diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, endometrial cancer, and possibly breast cancer.

each potential cause in this chapter. The guiding rule in the management of amenorrhea is to diagnose before treating. The appropriate management depends not only on the diagnosis but also on the presenting problem. Each woman must then be treated according to the specific causative factors involved. Consequently, in the discussion of alternative treatment, we will largely focus on four of the most common causes of amenorrhea:

1. Hypergonadotropic hypogonadism. The pituitary secretes elevated amounts of its hormones, but the ovary does not respond. Example: premature ovarian failure.

2. Hyperprolactinemia. The pituitary secretes too much prolactin. Examples: certain drugs, pituitary tumors, hypothyroid disease.

3. Hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. Reduced secretion of FSH and LH that results in failure of the ovarian follicle to develop and, hence, a lack of secretion of estradiol by the ovaries. Examples: psychological stress, weight loss, genetic diseases.

4. Normogonadotropic anovulation. Normal FSH and LH, but the cyclic nature of the pulsed secretions is disrupted. The ovarian follicles develop and estrogen is produced, but at some stage the follicles do not fully mature. Thus, there is no ovulation but there is no sign of estrogen deficiency; rather, there is a progesterone deficiency. Example: polycystic ovary syndrome.

OVERVIEW OF Alternative treatments

A licensed alternative primary care practitioner such as a naturopathic physician must first make an accurate diagnosis as to the cause of the amenorrhea, utilizing a medical history, physical exam, and possible laboratory testing. Naturopathic physicians often see patients who are on extreme diets due to some other health concern; sometimes these diets are inappropriate for that individual and are the cause of the amenorrhea. Insufficient calories and insufficient dietary fat and cholesterol may be the culprit in some of these cases. Other health-conscious individuals may have become too thin with a combination of diet and exercise. and they may have acquired amenorrhea because they have too little body fat. It is unlikely that overexercise alone will cause amenorrhea; it usually takes a combination of low body fat and heavy exercise to induce amenorrhea.

In other cases such as polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS), about 50 to 60 percent of women will be overweight. In these cases, a 10 percent weight loss can lead to ovulation and also decrease insulin resistance. A diet lower in starchy carbs and higher in healthy protein is an important strategy for women with PCOS, whether they are overweight or not.

A holistic approach to treatment requires exploring the mental, spiritual, emotional, and physical aspects of the patient integrated with a meticulous medical approach employing mindbody-oriented perspectives. Specific dietary counseling may be warranted, and practitioners may find themselves in the unusual position of advocating an increase in cholesterol and other fats in the diet and counseling patients to gain weight or exercise less. Because stress disrupts the menstrual cycle, it is also important to provide guidance about stress reduction.

The goal of a natural therapeutic treatment plan for amenorrhea is to address the specific underlying cause as would conventional medicine, while also taking a more constitutional and holistic approach to treatment. Even in cases where something specific such as an elevated prolactin level may be the cause, the practitioner would want to address the mental and emotional component, support the digestion, provide tonifying and nutritive support to the reproductive system in general, and more. This organ-specific as well as constitutional approach is a common theme in many alternative medicine disciplines, and especially naturopathic medicine.

The natural therapies presented in this chapter deal with these four general states:

- 1. Premature ovarian failure (See Chapter 12 for more in-depth information and treatment.)
- 2. Hyperprolactinemia
- 3. Inadequate estrogen production
- 4. Chronic lack of ovulation, including polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS)

Keep in mind that causes such as thyroid disorders, tumors, systemic diseases, genetic disorders, and others will require therapies to specifically address those underlying problems, which are beyond the scope of this book.

Nutrition

Both weight loss and obesity can be associated with amenorrhea. A range of weight-loss problems are associated with amenorrhea, including crash diets, malnutrition, and life-threatening anorexia nervosa. Anorexia nervosa occurs primarily in young white middle- to upper-class women under age 25, yet has also been known to occur in young men and middle-aged women. The family situation of a young woman with anorexia is very often success-achievementappearance oriented. The pattern usually starts with a diet to control weight and a fear of excess weight when in fact the weight being gained is due to normal maturing. There is often a preoccupation with food that may manifest itself by large intakes of lettuce, raw vegetables, and other low-calorie foods. Other manifestations may be chaotic eating habits and eating times, radical diets, missed meals, and bingeing episodes.

Bulimia is a syndrome of episodic and secretive binge eating followed by self-induced vomiting, fasting, or the use of laxatives and diuretics. Bulimic behavior is frequently seen in about half of women with anorexia nervosa. Body weight in "pure" bulimics fluctuates but does not fall to the low levels seen in anorexics.

Teenagers with low body weight, amenorrhea, and overachievement (excellent grades and many extracurricular activities) need astute evaluation for an eating disorder. Psychological counseling, consistent support, and monitoring for calorie intake will be needed to break the established patterns. The earlier the recognition of the problem, the more successful the intervention. Family members, friends, and health-care practitioners should pay particular attention to weight and diet in young women with amenorrhea.

Obese women exhibit several abnormalities in their hormone profile. Elevated serum concentrations of androstenedione, testosterone, and DHEA-sulfate are associated more closely with the pattern of fat distribution (abdominal vs. hips, in particular) than to the body fat mass.¹ High levels of these hormones, called androgens, are known to be a cause of menstrual irregularities including amenorrhea, hirsutism (abnormal body hair growth), and other metabolic disturbances. In addition, type 2 diabetes, elevated insulin, and glucose intolerance, conditions that often co-occur with obesity and polycystic ovarian syndrome, are associated with amenorrhea and oligomenorrhea (infrequent menses).^{2, 3} Usually, oligomenorrhea and chronic anovulation caused by hormonal abnormalities is the cause of the menstrual irregularity in women with significant amounts of excess body fat.² A reduction in body weight by reducing calories, increasing physical exercise, and possibly other weight-management interventions will result in beneficial changes in the hormonal profile, including a marked reduction of androgenic hormones and their effects.1 A reduction of weight by even as little as 5 to 10 percent can not only restore regular menses, but also improve fertility.⁴

Some women may have low body weight but do not have an eating disorder or exerciseinduced amenorrhea. This may be a metabolism issue, a hereditary factor, or a diet that is extremely low in fat although not low in calories. Women who take in insufficient calories, such as strict vegetarians who eat no animal products or others with extreme diets, may have insufficient dietary fat and low cholesterol. Adequate cholesterol is needed to manufacture hormones. If no cholesterol is found in the diet and the liver is not manufacturing adequate cholesterol, these women may have amenorrhea due to insufficient hormone levels. Measuring the cholesterol level can be telling in such cases. If cholesterol is low (below 120), a change in vegetarian philosophy will probably be necessary so that some animal products can be included in the diet in order to raise the cholesterol levels.

Sometimes it is difficult to find the best nutritional program for one's body type and lifestyle. In these cases, nutritional counseling and nutritional analysis with a qualified practitioner can be very helpful. No one diet plan is right for everyone. Not everyone needs to eat from all the food groups, not everyone can be a vegetarian, and not everyone responds well to a high-protein or high-complex carbohydrate diet. In addition to proper food choices, another basic general principle for good nutrition is regularity. Just as going to bed and rising at regular times with a certain amount of sleep assures adequate energy and vitality, regular mealtimes and consistency in eating habits lead to good digestion and absorption of nutrients necessary for normal physiology.

Not all advice on nutritional habits for women with amenorrhea is related to dietary fat, calories, body weight, or eating disorders. Some nutritional guidance is relevant to the prevention of osteoporosis, a potential consequence of amenorrhea. Please see Chapter 14 for more information on preventing osteoporosis.

Supplements

Vitamin A and the Carotenes. Carotenemia, an abnormal elevation of plasma carotene levels, may result from an excessive ingestion of carotenerich vegetables, anorexia, and impaired ability of the body to metabolize carotenes.5-7 Carotenemia has been linked with menstrual dysfunction and amenorrhea in some women, generally in association with weight loss. In 1968, elevated carotene levels were observed in 9 of 12 women with anorexia nervosa who did not ingest excessive amounts of carotenes.8 An additional study also found that patients with amenorrhea and weight loss had carotenemia.9 Another group of researchers found elevated serum carotene levels in women with anorexia nervosa, but not in women with normal or abnormal menstrual function.7 It is thought that mobilization of fat stores secondary to weight loss might be responsible for hypercarotenemia in women with anorexia nervosa.

In 1971, a small study examined six women with elevated serum carotene levels who had excessive intake of carrots or pumpkins.¹⁰ The researcher described what he called "golden ovaries" and noted that amenorrhea developed in the two younger patients and irregular menstrual bleeding in the four older patients. For some time it was thought that exercise-induced amenorrhea in long-distance runners was associated with hypercarotenemia, but that association was disproved, and no difference in carotene levels was observed.¹¹

I found no reference to amenorrhea or menstrual irregularities associated with taking carotene supplements, and, as of this writing, I don't believe amenorrhea has been reported as a side effect of beta-carotene ingestion. However, I will probably encourage women who are experiencing significant weight loss and amenorrhea to eat lesser amounts of carotene foods for the time being. I would also be inclined to reduce their vitamin A and carotene supplementation if they were on high doses for some other medical reason.

Calcium. One of the serious long-term consequences of amenorrhea due to premature ovarian failure or lower production of estrogen (hypothalamic amenorrhea) is a lower bone density and an increased risk for osteoporosis and fractures later in life. Even when calcium intake is the same between amenorrheic women and women who menstruate normally, there is a decrease in calcium absorption and an increase in calcium excretion in estrogen-deficient women. There is ample evidence that a lack of estrogen increases the daily calcium requirement.¹² As a result, I recommend a higher-than-normal daily intake (1,200 to 1,500 mg per day) of either calcium carbonate or calcium citrate to maintain calcium balance in low-estrogen states in women of reproductive age. (For more information on osteoporosis, please see Chapter 14.)

Calcium Carbonate or Calcium Citrate or Combination

1,200-1,500 mg per day

Additional Vitamins and Minerals. Many other minerals and nutrients affect bone density and are relevant to the prevention of osteoporosis in amenorrheic women. Magnesium, manganese, zinc, copper, boron, vitamin K, vitamin D, and other nutrients determine bone health, each in their own way. In Chapter 14, I discuss this in detail.

Botanicals

Chaste Tree (*Vitex Agnus Castus*). Chaste tree is probably the best-known herb in all of Europe for hormonal imbalances in women. Since at least the time of the Greeks, chaste tree has been used for the full scope of menstrual disorders, including amenorrhea. Chaste tree acts on the hypothalamus and pituitary glands by increasing LH production and mildly inhibiting the release of FSH. The result is a shift in the ratio of estrogen to progesterone, in favor of progesterone.¹³ Chaste tree stimulates ovulation, which in turn produces progesterone. Thus, chaste tree indirectly raises progesterone levels,¹⁴ an effective treatment for some cases of amenorrhea.

If we were to give progesterone hormone for several days, stop, and then a menses occurs, this indicates an intact reproductive system that lacks cyclicity and ovulation, or at least regular cyclic ovulation. It suggests that the body is producing enough FSH to stimulate the ovaries and that the ovaries can develop follicles. Furthermore, it indicates that follicular production of estrogen is sufficient to cause the lining of the uterus (endometrium) to grow and that the sloughed endometrium is able to pass through the cervical opening and the vagina. This tells us that the problem most likely is a dysfunction in the hypothalamus or pituitary. The ability of chaste tree to modulate the hypothalamus or pituitary then makes this herb an obvious choice.

The first major study on chaste tree was published in 1954.¹⁵ Subsequent studies have continued to prove its effectiveness. In a study published in 1990, 20 women with secondary amenorrhea were admitted to a six-month study using chaste tree liquid extract at 40 drops daily.¹⁶ At the end of the six-month study, 10 out of the 15 women had menstrual cycles. Testing showed that values for progesterone and LH increased, and FSH values either did not change or decreased slightly.

Chaste tree also inhibits prolactin release by the pituitary gland, particularly when elevated prolactin is caused by stress, by binding dopamine receptors and then inhibiting prolactin release in the pituitary.^{17, 18} Since elevated prolactin levels cause some cases of amenorrhea, chaste tree is also indicated for these cases. A double-blind, placebo-controlled study examined the effect of a chaste tree (vitex) preparation on 52 women with luteal phase defects due to hyperprolactinemia (elevated prolactin levels).¹⁹ The daily dose of the extract was 20 mg, and the study lasted for three months. Prolactin release was significantly reduced in the vitex group. The short luteal phase (second half of the cycle) was normalized, and the decreased progesterone production was normalized. No side effects were noted, and two women became pregnant.

When using chaste tree, don't expect immediate results. It's not the same as giving progesterone, even natural progesterone. Chaste tree is more of a medium-range plan; usually it begins to take effect after three or four months when given daily.

Chaste Tree

40 drops tincture or 175 mg .6% aucubin standardized extract per day

Black Cohosh (*Cimifuga Racemosa***).** Black cohosh has become one of the most significant women's herbs in all of botanical medicine. Also known as snakeroot or rattleroot, this plant belongs to the buttercup family and is indigenous to the eastern part of North America. The native peoples of Canada and America used black cohosh for many different indications, such as uterine pains during menses and childbirth, rheumatism, rattlesnake bites, and general malaise. Black cohosh was introduced to Western gynecology in the middle of the eighteenth century in the treatment of menopausal symptoms.²⁰

The exact mechanism of how black cohosh works has yet to be elucidated. We attribute most of its gynecological effects to its "estrogen-like" action, yet recent research has shown that black cohosh does not contain phytoestrogens, nor does it change hormone levels such as estradiol, LH, FSH or prolactin.^{21–23} The primary constituents in black cohosh extract are glycosides, particularly the triterpene glycosides, mainly cimicifugoside and actein, which are assumed to interfere with pituitary gland receptors and the hypothalamus. Other characteristic constituents are the flavonoids, resins, volatile oils, fatty acids, tannins, alkaloids, cimicifugin, and salicylic acid. Although the constituents in black cohosh may be able to bind to receptors in the pituitary or hypothalamus, these constituents do not seem to be able to bind to receptors in target organs. Older research showed the effects of a black cohosh preparation on LH and FSH secretion in menopausal women. After a treatment of two months, LH (but not FSH) levels were significantly reduced in the black cohosh-treated group.24

There have been many studies using black cohosh preparations in menopausal women. These studies and the further use of this plant in menopausal women will be discussed in much detail in Chapter 12. For women who have amenorrhea due to hypoestrogenic states, a state similar to menopause, black cohosh will be important in relieving some symptoms. Recent studies even indicate that black cohosh may decrease risk factors associated with menopause such as osteoporosis and cardiovascular disease and may even be effective in preventing bone loss.^{25–27}

Black Cohosh

40-80 mg standardized extract twice daily

Rhodiola. Rhodiola, also called golden root, has enjoyed centuries of use in Eastern Europe, Scandinavia, and Asia. Traditionally, this herb was used in folk medicine to increase physical endurance, work productivity, longevity, resistance to high altitude sickness, fatigue, depression, anemia, impotence, gastrointestinal ailments, infections, and disorders of the nervous system. The folklore surrounding rhodiola led to the first investigations in its phytochemistry in the early 1960s, when scientists identified adaptogenic compounds in its roots. These adaptogens, believed to help the body adapt to stress by supporting the adrenal glands and endocrine system, as well as the antioxidant and stimulating compounds that were later discovered in rhodiola, are responsible for its medicinal properties.

Animal studies looking at the effect of rhodiola on thyroid function, adrenal function, and ovarian egg maturation have raised interest in rhodiola for endocrine problems in humans. Forty women suffering from amenorrhea (loss of menstrual cycles) were given 100 mg of rhodiola twice daily for two weeks or an injection for 10 days. Remarkably, normal menses were restored in 25 women, 11 of whom became pregnant.²⁸ Physicians have reported cases of women who had failed to conceive with standard fertility drugs, who then became pregnant within several months of beginning *Rhodiola rosea* extract. For treatment, look for extracts that are standardized to contain 3 percent rosavin.

Rhodiola (3% Rosavin)

200 mg per day (or 100 mg twice daily)

Maca (*Lepidium Peruvianum*). Maca is a root vegetable, in the same family as turnips and broccoli, which grows at high elevations, native to the high Andean plateaus of Peru. It has been used traditionally by native Peruvians as both a food and medicine. It has historically been used for a variety of purposes, including hormone balancing, thyroid function, sexual function, PMS, menopause, and as a tonic for healthy aging.

A recent study proved maca's effectiveness in treating women with amenorrhea due to hypoestrogenic states, and especially premature ovarian failure. In a study of 20 healthy menopausal women in the early phase of their menopause, maca (2,000 mg per day) was given for up to eight months and was shown to lower folliclestimulating hormone (FSH) (higher levels of FSH are a measure of low estrogen production from the ovaries) and increase luteinizing hormone (LH) (elevated LH is necessary to stimulate ovulation), resulting in increases in both estrogen levels and progesterone levels.²⁹ These results would seem to suggest that maca, depending on the length of use, could act as a hormonal toner and stimulate the production of estrogen and progesterone.

Maca

Four 500-mg capsules (2,000 mg) per day

Traditional Herbs

Uterine Stimulants. Uterine stimulants or emmenagogues increase tone or muscular activity and serve to initiate the onset of menses and stimulate reproductive function. Most important are the herbs that cause shedding of the endometrium and stimulate normal menstrual cycles in the absence of pregnancy.

- Squaw vine/partridgeberry (Mitchella repens)
- Yarrow (Achillea millefolium)
- Chaste tree (Vitex agnus castus)
- Pennyroyal* (Mentha pulegium)
- Mugwort (Artemisia vulgaris)
- Water pepper (Polygonum hydropiper)

Water Pepper.³⁰ In a medical journal of 1846, Dr. Thomas Ogier, a surgeon and obstetrician, published an herbal approach for amenorrhea.³¹ He maintained that administering a tincture of water pepper successfully treated a case of obstinate amenorrhea. Exactly how the water pepper works is not known. **Phytoestrogens.** Phytoestrogens are by and large nonsteroidal hormone-like constituents found in over 300 medicinal and edible plants. With the currently available evidence, soybeans are probably the richest edible source of phytoestrogens. Some plant compounds, such as lignans, found in flaxseed, are not phytoestrogens but are converted to estrogens in the intestines. There are many herbs that contain phytoestrogen compounds and have a role in amenorrhea. They support the reproductive cycle and relieve menopausal symptoms in women who are appropriately menopausal (see Chapter 12) as well as women who are amenorrheic and prematurely menopausal. These herbs include:

- Alfalfa (Medicago sativa)
- Dong quai (Angelica sinensis)
- Flaxseed (Linum usitatissimum)
- Ginseng (Panax ginseng)
- Hops (Humulus lupulus)
- Licorice (Glycyrrhiza glabra)
- Red clover (Trifolium pratense)

Progesterone Precursors. Diosgenin and sarsasapogenin can be converted in the laboratory to various hormones, including progesterone, which in turn can be converted to adrenal steroids and then to testosterone or estrogens. Even though diosgenin from plants is used by pharmaceutical companies to synthesize various hormones, there is very little scientific information on diosgenin-containing plants and their relationship to human metabolism. A number of herbs contain diosgenin or sarsasapogenin:

- Bloodroot (Sanguinaria canadensis)
- Blue cohosh (Caulophyllum thalictroides)
- Fenugreek (Trigonella foenumgraecum)
- Sarsaparilla (Smilax officinalis)
- Wild yam (*Dioscorea spp*)
- Yucca (Yucca spp)

Special Herbal and Supplemental Considerations for Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome. For PCOS, include herbs that will increase

^{*}Important caution: Do not use essential oil of pennyroyal internally in any situation.

sex-hormone-binding globulin. This will bind up some of the excess androgens secreted by the ovarian follicles.

- Nettle root
- Green tea
- Soy
- Flaxseed

Other herbs and nutrients can improve insulin sensitivity and PCOS:

- Chromium
- Fenugreek powder
- Vitamin C
- Bitter melon

Licorice can lower serum testosterone in women and saw palmetto can inhibit the conversion of testosterone to dihydrotestosterone (a stronger form of testosterone). By inhibiting this conversion, we can maybe modestly decrease testosteroneinduced hair loss and acne.

- Licorice
- Saw palmetto

Bio-Identical Hormones

Bio-identical, also known as natural, progesterone can be used for both diagnosis and treatment of amenorrhea. Progesterone-induced menses indicates that there are adequate estrogen levels and that anatomical problems causing obstruction of the outflow of blood are not present. In these instances, the progesterone challenge is an effective means of diagnosis.

The progesterone challenge test is considered positive if uterine bleeding (even a few days of spotting) occurs and correlates with a serum estradiol level of 40 g/mL or higher. Onset of menstruation after intramuscular injection of 150 mg of progesterone in oil suggests that anovulation is the most likely explanation of the amenorrhea. Oral micronized progesterone (OMP) (also called oral natural progesterone) administered for seven days at 400 mg per day will induce complete secretory changes in the endometrium and induce a menses in a woman whose uterus has been adequately stimulated by estrogen. Lack of vaginal bleeding after the progesterone challenge suggests either inadequate priming of the endometrial lining, absence of an endometrial cavity, or some kind of obstruction.

If no withdrawal bleeding occurs after the progesterone challenge, then it is important to use a birth control pill-generally one that contains at least 30 mcg of ethinyl estradiol, for 21 days. At the end of these 21 days, withdrawal bleeding should occur within 14 days; even spotting is sufficient to count as withdrawal bleeding. Absence of uterine bleeding under these circumstances indicates uterine end-organ failure that may result from congenital malformation of the uterus and vagina or from distortion of the endometrial cavity by intrauterine adhesions due to tuberculous endometritis, also called Asherman's syndrome. If bleeding does occur after the oral contraceptive pill, then the likely diagnosis is hypothalamic amenorrhea, after excluding a pituitary tumor.

The woman who is hypoestrogenic and is not a candidate for induction of ovulation requires hormone replacement therapy. In young women, especially those in their 20s and 30s, the best approach is most likely to take oral contraceptives (OCs). Hormone replacement therapy, whether bio-identical hormones or conventional hormone replacement, could potentially be used in the usual doses for normal-aged menopausal women. However, these doses are considerably lower than the body's normal level in a young reproductive-aged woman and considerably lower than the dose of hormones in oral contraceptives. As these lower doses may not be adequate for bone protection at this young age, my recommendation is to use a 20 to 30 mcg oral contraceptive pill for women in their 20s and 30s who have hypothalamic amenorrhea or premature ovarian failure. (Smokers older than 35 will need to consider other options, most preferably to stop smoking.)

Younger women who insist on using alternative medicine need to fully understand their risks in premature states of insufficient hormone production. If the herbal, nutritional, and lifestyle interventions are not sufficient to stimulate the menstrual cycle, they must understand that bone loss in amenorrheic women shows the same pattern over time as that seen in postmenopausal women.³² The loss is most rapid in the first few years, emphasizing the need for early treatment.

If bio-identical hormones are your choice as an alternative to OCs, then the following prescription, called bi-est (for bi-estrogen), would be considered a higher-than-average hormone replacement dose for menopausal women: estriol 2 mg/estradiol 0.5mg/progesterone 100 mg; one pill twice daily, for three weeks on and one week off. Beginning medication on the first of every month establishes an easily remembered routine. Some practitioners use a tri-estrogen formulation instead of the bi-estrogen formulation. In this case, the formula would be estriol 2 mg/estradiol 0.250 mg/estrone 0.250 mg/progesterone 100 mg; one pill twice daily, for three weeks on and one week off.

Menstruation generally occurs within three days after the last pills, the 28th day of each month. Bleeding that occurs at any other time may indicate that the body's own function has returned. The natural hormone replacement program should then be discontinued and the patient monitored for the return of ovulation.

Natural progesterone creams may be used in selected cases to help maintain a monthly cycle in women with anovulatory amenorrhea. Some women only need this monthly lower-dose hormone support during the second half of a monthly cycle. The typical dosing recommendations are from one-quarter to one-half teaspoon applied to the palms, inner forearms, and chest twice daily from day 15 to day 26. This cycle can be repeated. In the event that menstruation does not occur, it may be necessary to return to the estrogen/progesterone plan and/or herbal/nutritional therapies that induce ovulation such as chaste tree extract.

Exercise

Amenorrhea in the female athlete is associated with reduced caloric intake and strenuous exercise, which leads to low estrogen and is associated with stress fractures, osteoporosis, and a potential increase in the risk of premature cardiovascular disease.³³

Most cross-sectional studies suggest that female competitive athletes, whether runners^{34–39} or bodybuilders,^{40, 41} have increased incidence of menstrual cycle disturbance, shorter luteal phases, and amenorrhea than do sedentary controls. Because of subject self-selection and consequent oversampling, results of these studies must be interpreted with caution.⁴² Prospective studies have found no hormonal changes in women following one year of endurance training⁴³ and, up to 1994, had not detected induction of secondary amenorrhea by exercise alone.⁴²

In her excellent review, Bonen states that secondary amenorrhea "is difficult to induce by exercise alone."⁴² She concludes that some of the factors thought to be associated with exercise-induced amenorrhea—type, duration, intensity of exercise, age of menarche, training before menarche, and training history—remain speculative and that, in fact, little is known about the true incidence of secondary amenorrhea in athletic populations.

The higher incidence of secondary amenorrhea detected in competitive athletes appears related to metabolic factors. In weight lifters and bodybuilders, the appearance of luteal-phase disturbances and oligo- or amenorrhea is directly related to drastic reduction in caloric intake prior to competition combined with increases in strenuous exercise. For example, Sandoval found that female bodybuilders, examined for a period of 48 hours before competition, achieved a degree of leanness similar to their male counterparts.⁴⁴ Kleiner found in female bodybuilders, competing at the 1988 National Physique Committee's Junior USA Bodybuilding Championships, a 9.8 percent body fat (males, 6.0 percent).⁴⁵ In a group of female bodybuilders studied for one month pre- and postcompetition, Walberg-Rankin detected a twofold increase in caloric intake and a tenfold increase in fat intake postevent as compared to pre-event.⁴¹ Furthermore, these unhealthy practices are followed by college-age women who compete in bodybuilding events.⁴⁶ In this context, it is not surprising that in Walberg's study, 86 percent of female competitive bodybuilders not on birth control pills reported menstrual dysfunction, and in Kleiner's, 81 percent of female elite bodybuilders had contest-related amenorrhea for one or two months precontest.

The picture is similar for competitive female runners whose caloric intake is inadequate or falls below the constant energy demanded by their sports. Time and again, menstrual cycle disturbances in these populations have been shown to be related to inadequate caloric intake combined with strenuous, abrupt increases in running distances.^{34, 42, 47–49} Amenorrhea usually is not seen in athletes with a high percentage of body fat.⁴⁹ Since the cause of amenorrhea and other menstrual disturbances is linked to energy deficiency, there is no justification for fears that exercise itself is unhealthy for women.⁵⁰

As mentioned earlier, amenorrheic athletes show dangerous reductions in mean trabecular bone density as compared to eumenorrheic counterparts (42 percent).⁵¹ Exercise may intensify these effects⁴⁸ as well as low calorie intake itself. The effects of insufficient caloric intake on bone mineral density likely represents an estrogenindependent mechanism for bone loss; exerciseassociated amenorrhea alters additional hormones that play an important role in modulating bone turnover and bone mineral density in these women.52 A study of amenorrheic ballet dancers treated with estrogen plus progesterone replacement demonstrated that there was no significant improvement in bone mineral density even in those that resumed menses.53

The hypoestrogenic state that predisposes postmenopausal women to cardiovascular disease is similar to that of the amenorrheic athlete and, therefore, so is the cardiovascular risk. Specifically, amenorrheic athletes have been shown to have elevated LDL and total cholesterol, impaired endothelial function, and increased lipid peroxidation.^{54, 55} Though this phenomenon warrants further study, present data suggests that the risk of premature cardiovascular disease deserves attention in monitoring and treatment of these women.

Finally, as shown by Bonen, menstrual disturbances are quite common in the general population of sedentary women. Different factors weight change, starvation, crowding, travel, communal living, exercise, and severe stress of any kind—have been implicated in altered menstrual cyclicity.⁴² Ronkainen and colleagues found increased abnormalities in the menstrual cycles of women during the short sunlight days of fall.⁵⁶ Thus, amenorrhea appears to have multiple etiologic relationships. Inappropriate exercise is only one of them.

Exercise Recommendations. If a woman has documented secondary amenorrhea not due to pregnancy, a careful history of eating and exercising habits is critical. In addition, her body weight and percentage body fat should be ascertained and compared to the normal ranges for her body build and age. For those women with amenorrhea due to hypoestrogenic states, a bone densitometry test, called a DEXA scan, particularly of the lumbar spine and proximal femur, is highly desirable.

In cases where the history and tests recommended indicate inadequate calorie consumption, a bone mass density below normal range, and body fat less than 15 percent, the recommended course is as follows:

• Adapt diet to individual needs; particularly emphasize protein, calcium, magnesium, vitamin D, zinc, copper, and chromium.⁵⁷

- Reduce or stop intensive training, particularly running, until cycling resumes.
- Modify type of exercise. Instead of running, do moderate walking (30 minutes per day) and add a regular program of moderate weight lifting for 30 minutes, three times per week.
- Avoid competition in sports, on the job, and elsewhere.

For those women who have PCOS and are overweight, regular and preferably almost daily aerobic exercise in the range of two and a half to

Sample Treatment Plans for Amenorrhea

See the Resources section for formulation sources.

Premature Ovarian Failure

- **Diet:** A whole foods diet using plenty of grains, beans (especially soybeans), fruits, vegetables (especially dark leafy greens), nuts and seeds (especially flaxseed), and fish (salmon, tuna, halibut, sardines)
- **Exercise:** Regular aerobic and weight-bearing exercise 30 to 60 minutes, 4 to 7 days per week; weight/strength training 2 days per week
- Mineral supplementation: Calcium/magnesium/ boron/vitamin D/other trace minerals and nutrients (see Chapter 14)
- Consider oral contraceptives with 30 mcg of ethinyl estradiol: Estriol 2 mg/estradiol 0.5 mg/ OMP 200 mg; 1 pill twice daily, 3 weeks on and 1 week off
- **Consider bio-identical hormones:** Estriol 2 mg/ estradiol 0.5 mg/progesterone 100 mg; 1 pill twice daily, 3 weeks on and 1 week off

Consider short-term trial (less than 6 months):

Black cohosh extract: standardized extract, 40–80 mg twice daily Maca: 2,000 mg per day Rhodiola: 3% rosavin, 200 mg per day

Polyglandular products: To stimulate the hypothalamus/pituitary/ovarian feedback mechanisms, use bovine extracts of combinations of pituitary, thyfive hours per week is necessary to improve insulin resistance and lose weight.

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

Successful management of amenorrhea depends on an accurate diagnosis. A careful history and examination and simple laboratory investigations will most likely yield a diagnosis that allows one to offer appropriate treatment in the majority of cases. A physical exam should assess the signs of secondary sexual characteristics (such as breast development and the presence or absence of normal or abnormal

roid, adrenal, and ovarian tissue. (Each woman is unique and requires an individualized approach.)

Hyperprolactinemia

- **Diet:** A whole foods diet using plenty of grains, beans (especially soybeans), fruits, vegetables (especially dark leafy greens), nuts and seeds (especially flaxseed), and fish (salmon, tuna, halibut, sardines)
- **Exercise:** Moderate exercise 150 minutes per week **Chaste tree extract:** 40 drops or 175 mg .6% aucubin standardized extract per day

Hypoestrogenic States (Hypothalamic Amenorrhea)

These states are often associated with weight loss, psychological states, and anorexia nervosa.

Diet:

Increase calories, dietary protein, fat, and carbohydrates.

Consume regular meals using whole foods. Avoid extreme dieting.

Increase soy foods and flaxseed.

Lifestyle:

Counseling (for eating disorders) Stress management counseling and practices Reduce exercise from excessive to moderate

Sample Treatment Plans for Amenorrhea (continued)

40-80 mg twice daily **Maca:** 2,000 mg per day **Rhodiola:** 3% rosavin, 200 mg per day

Polyglandular products: To stimulate the hypothalamus/pituitary/ovarian feedback mechanisms, use bovine extracts of combinations of pituitary, thyroid, adrenal, and ovarian tissue. (Each woman is unique and requires an individualized approach.)

Chronic Anovulation Due to PCOS

Diet: Reduce carbohydrates (80 g per day) and increase protein in the diet (60 mg or more per day). Diets such as the Zone Diet can be very help-

ful in this situation to reduce the hyperinsulinemia and provide better weight management. Increase soy foods and flaxseed. Emphasize whole grains, fruits, vegetables, nuts, seeds, fish (salmon, tuna, sardines, halibut), organic low-fat meats (chicken, turkey, beef, buffalo, elk, deer), low-fat dairy products, eggs, and beans. Chaste tree extract: 40 drops or 175 mg .6% aucubin standardized extract per day Rhodiola: 3% rosavin, 200 mg per day Green tea extract: 500 mg per day Nettles root: 600 mg per day Saw palmetto extract: 400 mg per day Soy isoflavones: 50-100 mg per day Flaxseed: 1-2 tbsp per day Chromium: 500-1,000 mcg per day Fenugreek powder: 24 g per day Oral micronized natural progesterone: 200-400 mg per day for 12 days per month Natural progesterone cream (20 mg per 1/4 tsp): $\frac{1}{4}-\frac{1}{2}$ tsp twice daily, days 16-25. Or $\frac{1}{4}$ tsp 1 or 2 times daily, days 7-14; $\frac{1}{4}-\frac{1}{2}$ tsp twice daily, days 15-26

body hair). Pelvic ultrasound might be helpful in determining whether the ovaries are enlarged with small, peripherally located follicular cysts indicative of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). Blood tests to measure FSH, LH, prolactin, estradiol, testosterone, and thyroid function may be used to help determine the diagnosis.

On the basis of this information, women with amenorrhea can be classified into the four groups mentioned earlier in this chapter, with treatments as follows:

1. Hypergonadotropic hypogonadism. Hormone therapy with estrogen will induce secondary sexual characteristics in girls with primary amenorrhea. Estrogen in combination with cyclic progestins will prevent osteoporosis, endometrial hyperplasia, or cancer. The hormone therapy medications and regimens are discussed earlier in this chapter and also in Chapter 12. Oral contraceptives may also be used and may even be an optimal choice because of the higher dose of estrogen for relieving symptoms, ease and cost, or coverage for contraception in case the amenorrhea is temporary and the women wants pregnancy protection.

2. Hyperprolactinemia. Treatment with dopamine agonists (bromocriptine, cabergoline, quinagolide) leads to reduction in prolactin secretion by the pituitary gland. When prolactin is elevated, a CT or MRI should be done to distinguish between overactive pituitary production by a microadenoma versus an actual tumor (macroadenoma). The large tumor can be associated with headaches or vision changes and requires surgical resection, but it is very rare. Once a tumor is excluded, medical therapy to decrease prolactin is mainly used to achieve pregnancy, and it is not required in an asymptomatic patient who is not seeking fertility.

3. Hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. In the majority of women with this classification, no organic disease can be identified in the hypothalamus, anterior pituitary, or ovary. Management of hypothalamic amenorrhea associated with weight loss must focus primarily on trying to correct the underlying cause of the weight loss. Amenorrhea from anorexia, bulimia, and exercise-induced weight loss requires prompt diagnosis and treatment. Some women will require hospitalization in a controlled environment for their malnutrition. Dietary counseling, psychological counseling, and advice about exercise could all help to correct the problem and restore ovarian function.

If amenorrhea persists for more than 12 months, then osteoporosis should be excluded with bone density testing, or some form of estrogen therapy should be considered to prevent bone loss. Women with hypothalamic amenorrhea who wish to become pregnant are treated by administering GnRH medications in a pulsatile manner via a portable programmable pump that releases the medication every one to two hours, simulating the body's pulsatile secretions. Women with rare disorders such as the pituitary disease Sheehan's syndrome are given hormones FSH and LH.

4. Chronic anovulation and polycystic ovary syndrome. About 30 percent of women with secondary amenorrhea have concentrations of FSH, LH, and estrogen within the normal range. Polycystic ovarian syndrome is a common cause of this type of amenorrhea. Many women with this type of amenorrhea actually present with irregular menstrual patterns more often than amenorrhea. These women do not have estrogen deficiency, but rather experience problems related to continued exposure to estrogen unopposed by progesterone. The buildup of the uterine lining caused

by the continuous estrogen can cause endometrial hyperplasia or cancer.

Polycystic ovary syndrome is associated with clinical symptoms such as obesity, hirsutism, anovulation, and irregular bleeding. The range of problems that women with polycystic ovary syndrome have varies greatly from woman to woman. There are significant differences in terms of the amount of acne, hair growth, menstrual irregularity, infertility, hypertension, and diabetes. There is no current known treatment for the disease, so treatment by conventional medicine is aimed at individual patient goals and symptom relief. Obviously, the health concerns of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes need to be addressed in terms of lifestyle changes and periodic monitoring of blood pressure, lipids, and blood sugar. For the woman who has very infrequent menses, the prevention of uterine hyperplasia or cancer is most important. However, most women with PCOS have uncomfortable side effects that can be improved.

If a woman has very infrequent menstruation, she should either use birth control pills for regular menstrual withdrawal or at least quarterly progestogens that cause withdrawal bleeding. The progestogens that have been used include Provera or Cycrin (medroxyprogesterone), 10 mg daily for seven days; Prometrium (oral micronized progesterone) or compounded oral micronized progesterone, 400 mg daily for seven days; Aygestin (norethindrone acetate), 5 mg daily for seven days; and Megace (megestrol), 20 mg daily for seven days. Most of the progestogens have similar symptoms of nausea, bloating, moodiness, and oily skin in varying degrees, but they are usually tolerable for a few days or a week.

Hirsutism can be with treated topically with Vaniqa, which reduces the transformation of testosterone to dihydrotesterone at the hair follicle, reducing the growth, or at least the size and color, of the hair. This product needs to be applied once to twice daily in the areas of hair growth and works while it is being used. There is no permanent effect, so it has to be used daily. Also, electrolysis and laser hair removal are very effective permanent hair removal treatment.

Spironolactone, an antiandrogen medication with minimal side effects, can reduce acne and hair growth. The recommended does is 50 to 200 mg once daily. There has been some concern of very rare cases of hyperkalemia (abnormally high potassium levels) with this product, so patients need to be warned of cardiac arrhythmias and muscle cramping.

Metformin, an insulin-receptor-improving medication used for diabetes, has been touted to decrease weight gain and stimulate ovulation in women with PCOS. However, many studies have shown minimal effect on weight gain, and it has significant side effects of nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea, as well as uncommon but serious liver enzyme problems. Most practitioners use only it for treatment of diabetes or as an adjunct in infertility. Metformin usage, along with clomiphene and/or Pergonal, seems to improve ovary receptiveness and ovulation. Encouraging weight loss can help the situation tremendously, but women with polycystic ovary syndrome and obesity seem to be very resistant to standard weightloss programs. It is possible to lose weight, but they need to be persistent and have a good support system, possibly even some help from bariatric medicine (obesity doctors).

The treatment that achieves the best symptom control is oral contraceptives. Oral contraceptives can reduce hair growth, reduce acne, cause regular menstrual sloughing, suppress luteinizing hormone (LH) and ovarian cyst production, and are very widely prescribed for women who also need contraception.

Antiestrogens such as clomiphene are sometimes given to induce ovulation and may restore fertility in women seeking pregnancy. However, PCOS can be resistant to normal ovulation induction and often requires the help of an infertility specialist. Sometimes metformin is added to help aid clomiphene in induction of ovulation, or the patient is given more intense ovulation induction medications such as Pergonal.

Probably the most important treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome is recognition of the problem. When counseling the patient, the focus should be on the management of her lifelong symptoms. We need to inform women that this disease comes in all shades and that there will be different treatment regimens for different women rather than one treatment for all.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

All women with amenorrhea should be evaluated by a licensed primary care practitioner (naturopathic doctor, medical doctor, osteopathic doctor, nurse-practitioner, or physician's assistant) because of the diverse array of potential diseases and disorders. Some of these conditions are rare, such as Asherman's syndrome, Cushing's disease, Sheehan's syndrome, and pituitary-secreting tumors. Other causes are more common but can be complex, such as malnutrition, anorexia nervosa, hyperthyroidism, polycystic ovary syndrome, and pituitary disorders. Other causes are rather straightforward; for example, hypothyroidism, strenuous exercise, pregnancy, and stress-related amenorrhea.

Fortunately, most women with amenorrhea have relatively simple problems that can be managed easily by primary care physicians, whether they are alternative medicine practitioners, conventional practitioners, or a team approach using the best choices of each. After an evaluation has been done and a cause diagnosed, natural therapies can be administered as the primary therapy or integrated with the conventional treatment. Conventional treatments may be necessary in many cases of amenorrhea, but dosing regimens may be lower when natural therapies are used as part of an integrated plan.

CERVICAL DYSPLASIA

OVERVIEW

Over the past four decades, cervical cancer rates have dropped dramatically in most developed countries. This improvement in our health is attributable to the commonly available Pap smear, whereby early premalignant lesions can be found and treated, most often with fairly simple office techniques. Cervical cancer presently ranks third in cancer deaths of American women, although it remains the leading cause of death from cancer among women in developing countries who do not enjoy the same access to diagnosis and early treatment.1 In the United States, approximately 9,710 cases of cervical cancer were diagnosed in 2006 and about 3,700 women died from it. Worldwide, human papilloma infection causes almost 500,000 cases of cervical cancer and 280,000 deaths each year.

Squamous cell cervical cancer is virtually always preceded by cervical dysplasia, which is 100 percent treatable in its noninvasive stage. (Cervical cancer of the glandular cells, adenocarcinoma, is more problematic and requires more aggressive treatment.) Human papillomavirus (HPV) is the most common sexually transmitted infection in the United States,² and about 75 percent of the U.S. adult population has been exposed to HPV.³ Fortunately, the majority of genital HPV infections don't cause any symptoms and go away on their own. The others go on to cause abnormal cells, including cervical dysplasia and/or cervical cancer.

Cervical cancer and dysplasia, genital warts, and condyloma are caused by the human papillomavirus, which is sexually transmitted. Virtually 100 percent of cervical dysplasias and cervical cancer is caused by HPV. This association is reflected in a simple rating system, in use since 1988, of low- and high-grade (precancerous) lesions or, more specifically, low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (SIL) and high-grade SIL, also referred to as LSIL and HSIL, respectively. In the new terminology, *low-grade SIL* replaces the former terms *mild dysplasia* and *CIN 1* (cervical intraepithelial neoplasia) and includes changes of simple infection with the human papillomavirus. *High-grade SIL* includes moderate and severe dysplasia, formerly classified as *CIN 2* and *CIN 3*. Both the newer and traditional terms are used in this chapter and in the medical literature.

What exactly is dysplasia? The mucous membrane that covers the cervix changes in adolescence from more bumpy columnar cells, like those that also line the uterus, to squamous cells, like those that line the mouth, through a normal process called metaplasia. Squamous cells make up all of our external body surfaces that are characteristically smooth, like our skin, for example. Where these two types of cells meet is called the squamocolumnar junction—and it is here that our cells are most susceptible to premalignant transformation. The Pap smear samples cells from this area to examine microscopically.

The very bottom layer of squamous cells are called basal cells. They are the largest and roundest with the biggest nuclei. As the cells progress toward the surface, they become smaller, flatter, and ultimately lose their nuclei before they get to the top. In mild dysplasia, the basal cell layer is thicker, up to one-third the total thickness of the tissue; in moderate dysplasia, they occupy the bottom and into the middle third; in severe dysplasia, they extend to the top third. Carcinoma "in situ" is not an invasive malignancy, but rather the extension of the immature basal cells to the very top of the tissue thickness. While it does carry a higher risk of conversion to true cancer, it too is completely treatable.

The possibility of progression to cervical cancer increases with the severity of the dysplasia. Mostly, though, it is a slow process, occurring over about 10 to 15 years in most women who are untreated. Currently, more than 100 HPV subtypes have been identified, numbered, and categorized. More than 30 types can infect the genital area. The progression of dysplasia to cancer varies according to which HPV subtype one is infected with. The low-risk types (6 and 11) are generally associated with external genital warts but do not cause cervical cancer. The most aggressive or high-risk types are HPV 16, 18, 26, 31, 33, 35, 39, 45, 51, 51, 56, 58, 59, 66, 68, 73, and 82. These can transform susceptible tissue into cancer in about 18 months, but this is the exception rather than the norm, and dysplasia typically takes more than 10 years to progress to cervical cancer. In the United States, HPV 16 accounts for more than 50 to 60 percent of cervical cancer cases, followed by HPV 18 (10 to 12 percent) and HPV 31 and 45 (4 to 5 percent each).

A recent study confirmed that lesions of the cervix persist longer and progress more quickly in women with the aforementioned oncogenic HPV types, known as the higher risk types, than in women with nononcogenic types or without HPV.4 However, it is important to remember that most women with the human papillomavirus never get dysplasia at all. On the other hand, some women with normal Pap smears, but showing inflammation, may indeed harbor the oncogenic HPV types 16 and 18,5 suggesting women with chronic inflammation may benefit from high-risk HPV screening. Some estimate that as many as 70 percent of women are or have been infected in their lifetime. On the other hand, only about 10 women per 100,000 get cervical cancer.

In addition to eliminating dysplasia through treatment, there can be a significant amount of spontaneous regression of even the most severe forms, thanks to our well-functioning immune systems. Spontaneous regression of CIN 1 and CIN 2 has been documented to be as high as 50 percent to 40 percent respectively, with numbers improving the longer women are followed (usually one to three years). Almost 70 percent resolution of HPV alone was observed.⁶

Other studies confirm this, and the majority of untreated mild dysplasias were shown to regress to normal within two years. A critical review of the literature on the natural history of CIN was done over a span of over 40 years.⁷ The author concluded that approximately 60 percent of CIN 1 regressed to normal, 30 percent persisted, 10 percent progressed to CIN 3 (a high-grade lesion), and only about 1 percent progressed to cervical cancer. CIN 2 regressed in 40 percent of the cases, persisted in 40 percent, progressed to CIN 3 in 20 percent, and progressed to cervical cancer in less than 5 percent of cases. CIN 3 regressed in 33 percent of the cases and progressed to cervical cancer in more than 12 percent.

A recent study demonstrates that the risk of progression from mild to severe dysplasia or frank cervical cancer was only 1 percent per year, but the risk of progression from moderate dysplasia was 16 percent within two years and 25 percent within five years.⁸

Mild dysplasia is detected in about 1 percent of women visiting their private gynecologist and about 14 percent of women who visited designated sexually transmitted disease clinics.6 Besides HPV, other risks include early age at first intercourse, giving birth before age 22, cigarette smoking, low socioeconomic status, number of lifetime partners, and possibly, although not conclusively, oral contraceptive use. Women with five or fewer lifetime heterosexual partners had higher rates of regression of untreated CIN 1 and CIN 2 than did women with more than five partners, independent of barrier contraception method use (condoms or diaphragms).9 It is difficult to separate out the effects of sexual activity without barrier protection from that conferred

by ingesting hormonal contraception. For whatever reason, women who used these barrier methods had less dysplasia. In fact, condom use was associated with higher rates of CIN regression and clearance of cervical HPV infection in women as well as protection from genital warts and invasive cervical cancer.^{10–12}

Evaluation of an abnormal Pap smear result is done by a method called colposcopy, which is a lot like using binoculars to view the cervix. The colposcope magnifies the cervix, and white vinegar is applied to make the abnormal areas show up. Tiny biopsies are taken of these areas, a few millimeters at most. These are examined by the pathologist and graded into mild, moderate, or severe as described previously.

One of the most important points I am sure to explain to my clients is that cervical cancer is a sexually transmitted disease, greatly promoted by smoking, but one that usually grows slowly over years from its precursor, dysplasia, and is treatable in all of its earliest forms.

Atypia

Another possible Pap smear result is atypia—which is really a kind of fence-sitting cell. The cells are not changed enough to warrant being labeled as abnormal, but they are not quite normal either. Usually atypia is either an early abnormal change or evidence of tissue repairing itself, for example following a birth or vaginal infection. These Pap tests are usually just repeated, but if atypia persists, the woman should be evaluated.

Atypical Glandular Cells of Undetermined Significance (AGUS). AGUS may be the most difficult diagnostic challenge of all the Pap smear abnormalities. AGUS represents a significantly greater risk of cervical cancer than atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance (ASC-US, discussed later in this chapter) or low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions. The good news is that AGUS is not a common diagnosis and only represents 0.13 to 0.8 percent of all Pap smears. Fortunately, there are benign changes that result in an AGUS Pap smear. These include chronic endocervicitis, microglandular hyperplasia of the endocervix, or ciliated cell metaplasia of the endocervix, which is often seen in women who have IUDs. Some women with AGUS have high-grade (precancerous) squamous cells. The complicating problem is that AGUS cells may also come from the upper genital tract, such as tubal or ovarian cells, or even metastasis from the pelvis.

Risk Factors for Cervical Dysplasia and Cervical Cancer

- **Smoking.** Women who smoke are about twice as likely to develop cervical cancer.
- Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection. Immunocompromise results in increased risk for HPV infections.
- **Chlamydia infection.** Recent or past positive test results for chlamydia may lead to greater risk for cervical cancer.
- **Poor nutrition.** Diets low in fruits and vegetables may increase the risk for cervical cancer.
- Multiple heterosexual partners. Having three or more partners in a lifetime increases risk of cervical cancer.
- **Obesity.** Overweight women are more likely to develop cervical cancer.
- **Oral contraceptives.** Although the research is mixed, long-term use of oral contraceptives may increase the risk of cervical cancer.
- Low socioeconomic status. Poor access to adequate health care, including Pap tests and treatment of precancerous lesions, leads to higher risk for cervical cancer.
- Family history of cervical cancer. Recent studies suggest that women with a mother or sister with cervical cancer are at higher risk for developing cervical cancer.
- First intercourse. Women at highest risk of testing positive for HPV are those in the first few years after first intercourse.
- Age. HPV risk prevalence declines with age.

When the report says AGUS "favor neoplasia," this is of great concern, because 50 to 100 percent of patients with this test result have a significant cervical lesion. These could include a high-grade CIN, adenoma carcinoma in situ, or adenocarcinoma. Even though more than 50 percent of women with AGUS will be found to be normal, we cannot predict this, and a normal follow-up Pap smear may be falsely normal, or what is called a false negative. Therefore, a practitioner must carefully evaluate AGUS.

Evaluation may include colposcopy, biopsy, endocervical curettage and endometrial biopsy, in some cases dilation and curettage or hysteroscopy, and in some cases a conization. If there is adenomacarcinoma in situ on biopsy, a cervical conization is recommended. Cervical conization for any woman with AGUS "favor neoplasia," adenocarcinoma in situ, or adenocarcinoma is recommended for most women. If there is frank invasion detected by biopsy, more extensive surgery is recommended.

A Note About New Technologies

Most women are familiar with the Pap smear. Cells are scraped from the cervix and placed on a slide for examination in a laboratory. There is now a new liquid-based technique in which the cervical cells collected by scraping the cervix are placed in liquid. In the laboratory much of the mucus, blood, and inflammatory cells are removed from the cell sample. Liquid-based methods are more expensive than conventional Pap tests but have a higher sensitivity for detection of lower-grade squamous cell lesions and can be used to test for HPV types in women with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance (ASC-US) Pap results. The FDA has approved two liquid-based cytology methods: the Sure-Path system and the ThinPrep Pap test.

Reporting of Abnormal Pap Results

About 5 to 10 percent of Pap tests performed in the United States each year are abnormal. Abnormal cells include the following:

- ASC-US: atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance. This is considered a mild abnormality. ASC-US is often then tested for HPV types.
- ASC-H: atypical squamous cells, cannot rule out high-grade (precancerous) lesions. Women with ASC-H are at greater risk for CIN 2 or CIN 3. For this reason, and because detection of high-risk types of HPV is much more common with ASC-H, the recommendation is that these women get colposcopy and biopsies.
- LSIL: low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion—early changes in the size, shape, and number of abnormal cells. Lesion refers to an area of abnormal tissue, and intraepithelial means that the abnormal cells are present in the surface layer of cells, not the deeper glandular layer. This is considered a mild abnormality. Colposcopy and biopsies are recommended.
- HSIL: high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions. There may be a few, or there may be many. This is obviously more severe and serious and has a higher likelihood of progressing to cervical cancer. Colposcopy and biopsies are recommended.
- ASC-US and ASC-H: HPV testing is recommended.
- LSIL and HSIL: These are generally not tested for HPV typing, as it does not alter the course of treatment.

If the results of the Pap smear are ASC-H, LSIL, or HSIL, the clinician should perform or recommend a colposcopy and biopsies. This is the only certain way to evaluate the abnormal cells and determine the appropriate course of treatment.

OVERVIEW OF ALTERNATIVE TREATMENTS

Cervical dysplasia is an excellent example of what preventive medicine can accomplish because, in almost all cases, it is a preventable disease. Through

Recommendations for Pap Smear Testing

- For women up to age 29: annual Pap with conventional smear, or every two years using liquid-based smear
- For women 30 years and older: if three consecutive normal Paps, may go to every two to three years unless history of DES or HIV or immunocompromised

Note: Despite these recommendations, consider that all women should have annual Paps; this is to ensure that they also get an annual exam. Begin Pap smear testing approximately three years after onset of vaginal intercourse, no later than 21 years of age.

- Stop screening: for women 70 years or older who have had three or more consecutive normal Paps after age 60
- Women with ASC-US and ASC-H can receive HPV testing to determine low-risk or high-risk HPV subtypes
- Women with ASC-H, LSIL, and HSIL should get a colposcopy and biopsies

KEY CONCEPTS

- Cervical dysplasia is a sexually transmitted disease transmitted through skin-to-skin contact. Condoms do not fully protect because HPV extends onto skin beyond the condom, but they may impart some protection and may enhance possibility of regression of low-grade lesions to normal.
- The human papillomavirus (HPV) causes virtually all cases of cervical dysplasia, although most women exposed to HPV actually never get dysplasia.
- Cervical dysplasia is classified as either low-grade or high-grade and, if left untreated or if the body is not able to reverse it on its own, can progress to cervical cancer, especially if a person is infected with the oncogenic strains of HPV.
- Cervical cancer of squamous cells is a preventable disease.
- Pap smears are screening tests, not diagnostic tests.

PREVENTION

- Annual Pap smears are the single most important factor in preventing cervical cancer and in detecting earlier grades of cervical dysplasia.
- The use of condoms during intercourse is a significant tool in preventing exposure to HPV, reducing the risk of chlamydia and HIV, and reducing the risk of cervical dysplasia.
- Reduce sexual risk factors: multiple partners, sexual exposure to men who have genital warts, sexual exposure to men sexually exposed to women with genital warts or cervical dysplasia, and intercourse prior to age 18.
- Avoid smoking.
- Eat a healthy whole foods diet rich in green, yellow, orange vegetables and lignans.
- Use folic acid supplementation if using oral contraceptives.
- HIV-positive women and women who are immunosuppressed because of kidney dialysis or immunosuppressive medications are at higher risk for cervical dysplasia and cervical cancer and need more frequent screening.
- Consider contraceptive options other than oral contraceptives.

lifestyle habits, dietary factors, nutritional supplementation, and regular Pap smears, most cases of cervical dysplasia and its consequence, cervical cancer, could be avoided.

Natural medicine perspectives on cervical dysplasia are consistent with conventional medicine's understanding that the human papillomavirus causes virtually all cases and that this virus is sexually transmitted. Many cofactors serve as cocarcinogens in the development of cervical dysplasia, including smoking, nutrient deficiencies, immune deficiency, and possibly oral contraceptives. Where natural medicine diverges in its approach is in advising patients what they can do about these cofactors. In addition, there are nutrients that can be used in supplement form both to prevent the progression of cervical dysplasia to cervical cancer and to reverse some cases of dysplasia. Cervical dysplasia is both a local problem involving the cervical tissue immunity and health and a systemic problem involving general immune health and resistance to viral exposure. The overriding goals of natural treatments are to reduce exposure to the human papillomavirus, reduce cofactors, correct nutrient insufficiencies, improve local immune response, strengthen general immune health, and prevent the progression to cervical cancer.

NUTRITION

Cervical cancer has been studied in relationship to many dietary factors. In general, diets high in vitamin C, carotenoids, vitamin E, selenium, and other substances found in fruits and vegetables have been found to be protective in at least some studies.13-17 A recent study found that higher levels of vegetable consumption were associated with a 54 percent decrease in risk of HPV persistence. Also, a 56 percent reduction in the persistence of the virus was observed in women with the highest plasma cis-lycopene concentrations compared with women with the lowest plasma cis-lycopene concentrations. These results suggest that vegetable consumption and circulating cis-lycopene may be protective against HPV persistence.18 Another report revealed that the risk of chronic HPV infection was lower among women reporting higher intake of the following foods: carotenes such as beta-cryptoxanthin (found in eggs, yellow and orange fruits and vegetables), lutein and zeaxanthin (eggs, dark green vegetables), vitamin C, and, specifically, papaya.19

In the treatment sections of this chapter, I emphasize a vegetarian diet, one that is high in fruits and vegetables, especially yellow-orange ones like carrots, yellow squash, cantaloupe, peaches, and corn. In China, consumption of both animal foods (including meat, eggs, and fish) and green vegetables was significantly correlated with a lower death rate from cervical cancer.²⁰ One study among white women showed that risk of cervical dysplasia and cervical cancer was not affected by

increased consumption of vegetables, yelloworange vegetables, fruits, or legumes.²¹ Nonetheless, there is enough evidence to support a diet rich in beneficial vegetables.

Phytoestrogens may also play a role in lowering premalignancies of the cervix. A recent study demonstrated that plasma levels of equol and enterodiol, two isoflavonoids, were positively associated with a lower cervical dysplasia risk, and in addition found a nonsignificant positive association with enterolactone, a lignan. Consistent with these results, dietary sources of lignans, including garlic, onions, grapefruit, seeds, seaweed, and taro, were positively associated with lowered CIN risk.²²

Indole-3-carbinol, found in cruciferous vegetables such as broccoli, cabbage, brussels sprouts, cauliflower, and kale, has the potential to prevent and treat several cancers. Eating these foods alters estrogen metabolism in such a way as to reduce the carcinogenic metabolites of estrogen metabolism. Women with CIN 1 or 2 have altered estrogen metabolism and have higher 16-alpha hydroxyestrone, a potent carcinogen, and fewer 2hydroxyestrogen metabolites than women with no abnormal cells of the cervix.²³

Nutritional Supplements

Carotenes. Carotenes include beta-carotene, alpha-carotene, cryptoxanthin, gamma-carotene, zeaxanthin, lutein, and lycopene. Studies have shown that beta-carotene deficiency in the cervical cells plays an etiologic role in the development of cervical dysplasia.²⁴ In addition, a significant decrease in plasma beta-carotene levels is found in women with either cervical dysplasia or cancer of the cervix.²⁵

It has been suspected that carotenes like lycopene, found in tomatoes, are more responsible for an improvement in dysplasia than is betacarotene or the other carotenes.²⁶ In fact, recent studies have found that high serum levels of lycopene and alpha-carotene are associated with a decreased risk of cervical dysplasia,²⁷ and increasing serum levels of lycopene alone was found to increase clearance of oncogenic HPV infections by over 50 percent.^{28, 29}

My own research study investigating natural treatment methods for cervical atypia, cervical dysplasias, and carcinoma in situ of the cervix used beta-carotene supplementation as one part of a multifactorial supplementation and local treatment protocol. I found a high success rate using this combination protocol. Most of the women were given supplements of 150,000 units of mixed natural carotenes daily for a minimum of three months. Of 43 women studied, 38 patients returned to normal, 3 patients had partial improvement, 2 stayed the same, and none of the patients progressed to a worse state of dysplasia during the course of the natural treatment protocol.^{30, 31}

The full treatment protocols for each degree of dysplasia are described in the treatment plans in this chapter. Overall, my approach has been to recommend increased sources of carotenes in the diet as well as supplementation. There are potential concerns about using beta-carotene by itself, especially in women who are at higher risk for lung cancer. As a precaution, I avoid beta-carotene supplementation in women at high risk for lung cancer (smokers), and for everyone else, I only recommend products that have mixed carotenes and natural carotenes. Careful label reading is essential. If the label doesn't say "natural," then the product has synthetic beta-carotene.

Do not be alarmed if your skin turns an orange tint when supplementing with high amounts of carotenes. It is merely a pigment and is not a sign of liver toxicity. Carotenes are not toxic.

Carotenes

Mixed, natural carotenes, 75,000 IU twice daily 25,000–50,000 IU for prevention (see treatment plans)

Vitamin A. Studies have shown that dietary vitamin A protects against cervical cancer. Women with lower serum levels and dietary intakes of total vitamin A are significantly more likely to have dysplasia or carcinoma in situ than women with a

higher intake of these nutrients.^{32–34} Another study showed that the rate of progression from dysplasia to cervical cancer was nearly five times higher in women with lower serum retinol levels than those with higher serum retinol levels³⁵ and that diets rich in vitamin A and high-retinol foods may reduce risk of in-situ and invasive cervical cancer.³⁶ In addition, in vitro studies confirm that vitamin A and its analogues inhibit the proliferation of HPV infection through apoptosis (cell death) and inhibition of cell growth rates. Such therapy is promising in decreasing the progression of early cervical lesions to cancer.^{37–39}

Topical vitamin A is an important form of treatment as well. In one study of 301 women, topical vitamin A (retinoic acid) increased the complete regression rate of moderate dysplasia from 27 percent in the placebo group to 43 percent in the treatment group. Women with severe dysplasia failed to respond.⁴⁰ An earlier, well-known study on topical vitamin A and dysplasia on the exocervix (external surface of the cervix) at the University of Arizona had comparable results, eliminating the disease in 10 of the 20 women. Five of the 10 had mild dysplasia, and 5 had moderate dysplasia.41 Too few patients had severe dysplasia to evaluate. This finding was replicated recently in a study of three different doses of topical retinoic acid in women with CIN 1 and 2.42 In my own research, vitamin A suppositories were applied topically as part of a multifactorial systemic and local treatment plan. (The protocol is described later in this chapter.)

Vitamin E. Low levels of serum vitamin E have been associated with an increased risk of all stages of CIN and cervical cancer and high levels associated with a decreased risk.^{43–46} Low levels of vitamin E combined with deficient levels of vitamin A have been associated with an increased risk of oncogenic HPV infection.⁴⁷ One study demonstrated a greater than 50 percent inhibition of proliferation of HPV-infected cells in vitro.⁴⁸ In addition, vitamin E is a potent antioxidant and, therefore, may mitigate the oxidative damage asso-

ciated with cervical dysplasia and cancer.⁴⁹ In a recent study, women with CIN or cervical cancer were found to have low levels of vitamin E and other antioxidants—like glutathione, vitamin C, and CoQ10—were found to be low, while markers of lipid peroxidation were found to be high, both corresponding to severity of disease stage.^{50–52}

Vitamin E can help in the treatment of cervical cancer as well by improving the efficacy of radiation therapy and enhancing tumor response and chromosomal damage of cancer cells while concurrently protecting normal cells.⁵³

Vitamin C. The possible role of vitamin C in preventing cervical dysplasia is of special interest because vitamin C is involved in collagen synthesis, detoxifies chemical carcinogens, interferes with the formation of chemical carcinogens, and modulates the immune system. It has been demonstrated in more than one study that there is a significant decrease in vitamin C intake as well as plasma levels of vitamin C in patients with cervical dysplasia.^{54, 55} Vitamin C supplementation has not been studied by itself as a treatment for cervical dysplasia. It was a part of the comprehensive treatment protocol in my research study.

Vitamin C

2,000-6,000 mg per day 1,000-2,000 mg per day for prevention (see treatment plans)

Folic Acid. There have been several studies using folic acid supplementation in women with mild and moderate cervical dysplasia, with conflicting results. In one study, women with mild or moderate dysplasia received 10 mg daily of folic acid supplementation or placebo for three months. All of these women had used oral contraceptives for at least six months and continued to do so. The results showed significant improvement or normalization of Pap smears and biopsies at the end of the treatment period.⁵⁶

In patients with folic acid deficiency, changes in the cells of the cervix (called megaloblastic abnormalities) and low blood levels of folic acid have been associated with a moderately increased risk of invasive cervical cancer.^{57, 58} Deficiency has been observed more often in women who are taking oral contraceptives. In another study, women taking 10 mg of folic acid daily for three weeks (while continuing oral contraceptives) showed a striking reversion of the megaloblastic changes toward the normal,59 with a regression-tonormal rate of 20 percent in this study and 100 percent in another.⁶⁰ Folic acid supplementation may be effective in preventing dysplasia from progressing as well. Theoretically, folic acid may act by decreasing homocysteine, which, when elevated, has been associated with an increased risk of cervical cancer.^{61, 62} It should be noted that a recent study demonstrated the difficulty of getting adequate folate via diet and, therefore, additional supplementation is warranted.63

When doses as high as 10 mg of folic acid per day are given, two points must be kept in mind. The first is that most retail natural foods stores have folic acid available only in capsules up to 800 mcg (less than 1 mg, which is equal to 1,000 mcg). Higher doses of folic acid are available only by prescription from your medical doctor or licensed alternative practitioner. A prescription liquid form is available for which one drop is equal to 5 mg, which is very cost effective. The second issue is that high doses of folic acid can mask a vitamin B_{12} anemia. To avoid this, take either a multiple vitamin-mineral, B-complex, or B_{12} supplement along with the daily folic acid.

Folic Acid

2.5-10 mg per day

800-2,400 mcg per day for prevention (see treatment plans)

B Vitamins. B vitamins, specifically riboflavin, thiamine, and B_{12} , have an inverse correlation with risk for CIN, leading some researchers to promote the protective role they may play in cervical cancer, reducing the risk by as much as 50 to 90 percent for the upper limits of intake.⁶⁴ Women with the highest levels of serum B_{12} were less likely to have a persistent infection.⁶⁵ Serum B_{12} levels should be evaluated and deficiency corrected. As with folic acid, B_{12} may act by decreasing homocysteine, which, when elevated, has been associated with an increased risk of cervical cancer.^{66, 67}

Vitamin B₁₂

1,000 mcg per day

Botanicals

Green Tea. One of the most exciting advances in the treatment of cervical dysplasia is the research that has been published on green tea. In both laboratory and clinical studies, constituents of green tea, namely polyphenol E (poly E) and epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG), have been effective against HPV-infected cervical cells and lesions. The mechanisms involved appear to be apoptosis, cell cycle arrest, modification of gene expression, and antitumor effects.68, 69 A clinical study confirms these findings in patients through the use of either topical application via a poly E ointment and/or oral ingestion via a poly E or an EGCG capsule. All treatment groups improved compared to placebo (50 to 75 percent versus 10 percent), but the topical treatment groups improved the most significantly compared to oral alone (75 percent versus 50 to 60 percent).70

Green Tea

Green tea extract (95% polyphenols, 80% catechins, 55% EGCG, 10% caffeine): 300 mg per day orally Green tea suppositories: insert one twice weekly (see treatment plans)

Indole-3-Carbinol/Diindolylmethane (DIM). Indole-3-carbinol (I3C) is a phytochemical found in cruciferous vegetables, including cabbage, broccoli, Brussels sprouts, cauliflower, and kale. I3C is converted in the stomach to a variety of compounds including diindolylmethane (DIM). It has been suggested that I3C can act in several ways to prevent abnormal cell growth and prevent tumor progression. Recent studies indicate that I3C has the ability to prevent and maybe even treat some common cancers, especially those that are estrogen related,⁷¹ by altering the pathway of estrogen metabolism.^{72–74}

Women with CIN 2 and 3 have altered estrogen metabolism; higher 16-alpha hydroxyestrone, a potent carcinogen; and fewer 2-hydroxyestrogen metabolites than normal.⁷⁵ One therapeutic goal of treatment, then, is to increase the 2-hydroxylation of estrogen and decrease the 16 alpha-hydroxylation. In one double-blind, placebocontrolled study of 30 women with CIN 2 or CIN 3,76 4 of 8 patients in the 200 mg group and 4 of 9 in the 400 mg group had complete regression of their CIN compared to none of the placebo group. A laboratory study of human cervical cancer cells determined that I3C and DIM could induce apoptosis (cell death) of human cervical cancer cells and HPV-16-infected cervical cells of mice.77 It appears DIM is preferred over I3C due to increased bioavailability and the fact that it increases the protective 2-hydroxyestrogen without increasing another harmful metabolite, the 4-hydroxyestrogens.

Diindolylmethane (DIM)

200-400 mg per day

Additional Botanicals. Traditional herbal medicine includes the use of many plants for systemic immune support. No plants (except green tea) have been studied by themselves in relationship to the human papillomavirus and cervical dysplasia that I am aware of, although many plants are known both to act as immune modulators and to be antiviral in their activity.

This concept of immune support is an important part of preventive medicine as well as in reversing and preventing the progression of cervical dysplasia. Since up to 80 percent of the

40 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

U.S. sexually active adult population carries the human papillomavirus and less than 5 percent have a visible lesion or abnormal Pap smears, it is common sense that most people's bodies have the ability to prevent the virus from causing an actual diseased state. Specifically, their immune systems are doing a better job at keeping them healthy. This is true for women both systemically and in the vagina. There is local immune tissue in the cervical epithelium, and the immune status of this tissue is in part responsible for resistance to the virus.

This is the background logic for both systemic immune support and local immune support. As part of the research protocol, you will see the use of a systemic botanical formula including thuja, echinacea, ligusticum, and goldenseal. You will also notice herbal suppositories containing many traditional herbs for immune support, antiviral activity, and squamous cell repair. These include myrrh, echinacea, usnea, goldenseal, marshmallow root, geranium, and yarrow.

Recent evidence supports the use of curcumin in the prevention of cervical cancer due to its ability to inhibit lipid peroxidation and downregulate HPV virus.^{78–80}

Curcumin

350-500 mg once to twice daily

Criteria and Guidelines for Treatment Selection

Note: Not all of the treatments described in this chapter are appropriate for self-care. Some, such as the escharotic treatment, need to be administered by a licensed health-care practitioner trained in women's health. In addition, not all cases of cervical dysplasia are appropriate for the natural treatment protocols. Licensed practitioners familiar with diagnosing and treating cervical dysplasias should be consulted to assist in making appropriate and safe decisions. For practitioners reading this book, the following criteria may be helpful in determining the appropriate treatment:

Criteria for Naturopathic Protocol

- 1. ASC-US.
- 2. ASC-US with documented HPV.
- 3. ASC-H: endocervical curettage is negative or positive with a satisfactory colposcopy.
- Low-grade squamous intraepithelial neoplasia: endocervical curettage is negative with a satisfactory colposcopy.
- 5. High-grade squamous intraepithelial neoplasia: endocervical curettage is negative with a satisfactory colposcopy.
- ASC-H: endocervical curettage is positive with a satisfactory colposcopy, but the patient is at low risk for more serious disease or has low-risk HPV typing, or at the discretion of the practitioner.

- 7. Low-grade squamous intraepithelial neoplasia: endocervical curettage is positive with a satisfactory colposcopy, but the patient is at low risk for more serious disease or has low-risk HPV typing, or at the discretion of the practitioner.
- 8. High-grade squamous intraepithelial neoplasia: endocervical curettage is positive with a satisfactory colposcopy, but the patient is at low risk, or at the discretion of the practitioner and considered carefully after colposcopy, biopsies, and careful follow-up.
- 9. It is possible to treat carcinoma in situ in selected cases, but this is definitely a judgment call and should be considered very carefully after colposcopy, biopsies, and careful follow-up.

Referrals for Colposcopy with Biopsies

- 1. ASC-US if HPV DNA testing is positive for highrisk HPV; if no HPV testing is done, then repeat the Pap twice at 4 to 6 month intervals. If HPV typing is negative for high-risk types, then repeat Pap in 12 months.
- 2. ASC-H.
- 3. Low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions.
- 4. High-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions.
- 5. AGUS (atypical glandular cells of undetermined significance); need endometrial biopsy as well.
- 6. Adenocarcinoma in situ (AIS): need endometrial biopsy as well.

(continued)

Criteria and Guidelines for Treatment Selection (continued)

- 7. Pap smear diagnosis of microinvasion or frank invasion.
- Endometrial cells present in a postmenopausal woman even if the cells are benign; also needs an endometrial biopsy.
- A patient that may not follow through with the recommended follow-up Pap smear after an abnormal Pap result.
- 10. Visible unknown cervical lesion, regardless of the Pap smear test result.
- 11. Initial exam of a DES daughter.
- 12. Unexplained or persistent cervical bleeding.
- 13. Vulvar condyloma with abnormal Pap smear test result.
- 14. To be used for follow-up after treatment plan is completed, especially in high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions.

Referrals for Conization or LEEP

- Pap smear results that are more than one grade of dysplasia different than that seen on colposcopy or reported on in the biopsy.
- 2. Biopsy squamous intraepithelial lesions with three to four quadrants involved.
- 3. Unsatisfactory colposcopy with any degree of squamous intraepithelial lesions on biopsy.

Toxicity studies prove its safety up to 8,000 mg per day by mouth for up to three months as well as its efficacy in chemoprevention in cancer, including cervical cancer.

The Escharotic Treatment. The escharotic treatment is a topical caustic treatment of the cervix used to remove abnormal cells. It involves the use of zinc chloride mixed with a botanical, Sanguinaria canadensis (bloodroot). I have used the escharotic treatment for more than 24 years, and at one time I conducted a small study using it as a treatment along with suppositories and herbal/nutritional supplementation in seven women with carcinoma in situ of the cervix.³⁰ After one year, four of the women remained disease free, one woman improved to atypia and then reverted to mild dysplasia, and two women had partial improvement. In a follow-up study,

- The patient may not be a good candidate for more ongoing treatments and the closer follow-up required by alternative treatments.
- 5. No improvement in pathology using the initial naturopathic plan or repeated alternate plan.
- 6. If AGUS on Pap smear and no detection of disease on colposcopy, biopsies, and endocervical curettage.
- 7. If AIS on Pap smear and no detection of disease on colposcopy, biopsies, and endocervical curettage

Practitioner and patient discretions:

- 8. Positive endocervical curettage with any degree of squamous intraepithelial lesions. A more assertive approach is recommended.
- 9. High-risk patients: the last Pap test was more than one year previous, a history of genital warts, a history of cervical dysplasia, smokers, multiple sexual partners with lack of safe sex practices. In these cases, a more proactive and assertive approach is recommended.

Referrals for Probable Hysterectomy

- 1. Microinvasive cervical cancer.
- 2. Frank invasive cervical cancer.
- 3. Adenocarcinoma.

similar protocols were used including the escharotic treatment with some of the more severe cases. I discussed this in more detail in the section of this chapter on carotenes. Indications and directions for use of the escharotic treatment are given later in this chapter.

Botanical Formula I

Red clover: 1 oz Dandelion root: 1½ oz Licorice root: 1 oz Goldenseal: ½ oz

Botanical Formula II

Thuja: 1 oz Echinacea: 1½ oz Goldenseal root: ½ oz Ligusticum: 1 oz

Sample Treatment Plan for ASC-US

See the Resources section for information on the contents of and resources for the suppositories and other products included in these treatment plans.

Initial Naturopathic Plan

Topical

Week 1: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 2: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights

Week 3: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights

Week 4: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights

Week 5-12: green tea suppository 2 nights per week

Systemic

Folic acid: 10 mg daily Vitamin C: 6 g daily Beta-carotene: 150,000 IU daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily Botanical Formula I: ½ tsp, twice daily

Use systemic treatment for 3 months until follow-up.

Constitutional

Vegetarian diet for 3 months until follow-up

Alternative Naturopathic Plan

Topical

Week 1: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights, Vag Pack suppository 1 night per week

Week 2: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights, Vag Pack suppository 1 night per weekWeek 3: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights, Vag Pack suppository 1 night per week

LIFESTYLE HABITS

Sexuality

Early age at first intercourse (before age 18) with unprotected sex and/or multiple heterosexual partners with unprotected sex are associated with an increased risk of cervical dysplasia and cervical cancer. As nearly all cases of cervical dysplasia Week 4: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights, Vag Pack suppository 1 night per week Weeks 5–12: green tea suppository twice per week

Systemic

Vitamin C: 6 g daily Beta-carotene: 150,000 IU daily Folic acid: 10 mg daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily Botanical Formula I: ½ tsp twice daily

Use systemic treatment for 3 months until follow-up.

Constitutional

Vegetarian diet for 3 months until follow-up

Additional Therapies to Consider

Zinc: 30 mg daily Vitamin E: 400 IU daily Selenium: 400 mcg daily Green tea suppository: twice per week DIM: 200 mg daily

Comments: A follow-up Pap smear in 3 to 6 months that is still abnormal warrants colposcopy and biopsies.

Maintenance Plan for 3 Months (After Normal Pap Smear)

Vitamin C: 2 g daily Beta-carotene: 150,000 IU daily Folic acid: 2.5 mg daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily Vegetarian diet

involve HPV, women can best protect themselves by using condoms during intercourse. Even if a male partner does not have visible genital warts, he can have nonvisible genital warts and can also carry the virus.

If the partner is female, it is more difficult to contract the virus and cervical dysplasia, but not impossible. Avoiding genital-to-genital contact

Sample Treatment for Mild Dysplasia (CIN 1, Low-Grade SIL)

See the Resources section for information on the contents of and resources for the suppositories and other products included in these treatment plans.

Initial Naturopathic Plan

Topical

Week 1: vitamin A (Vital-A) suppository nightly for 6 nights, Vag Pack suppository for 1 night

Week 2: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights, Vag Pack suppository for 1 night

Week 3: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights, Vag Pack suppository for 1 night

Week 4: herbal vaginal suppository (Herbal-C) nightly for 6 nights, Vag Pack suppository for 1 night Weeks 5–12: green tea suppository twice per week

Systemic

Vitamin C: 6 g daily Beta-carotene: 150,000 IU daily Folic acid: 10 mg daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily Botanical Formula I: ½ tsp twice daily

Use systemic treatment for 3 months until follow-up.

Constitutional

Vegetarian diet for 3 months until follow-up

Alternate Naturopathic Plan

Topical

Escharotic treatment (described later in this chapter) twice per week for 3 weeks

After the last escharotic treatment:

Week 1: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 2: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights

Week 3: vitamin A suppository (Vital-A) nightly for 6 nights

Week 4: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights

Weeks 5-12: green tea suppository twice per week

Systemic

Vitamin C: 6 g daily Beta-carotene: 200,000 IU daily Folic acid: 10 mg daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily Botanical Formula I: ½ tsp twice daily Selenium: 400 mcg daily

Use systemic treatment for 3 months until follow-up.

Constitutional

Vegetarian diet for 3 months until follow-up

Additional Therapies to Consider

Zinc: 30 mg daily Vitamin E: 800 IU daily Selenium: 400 mcg daily DIM: 200–400 mg daily

Maintenance Plan for 6-12 Months

Vitamin C: 2 g daily Beta-carotene: 150,000 IU daily Folic acid: 2.5 mg daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily Vegetarian diet

or practicing safer sex if the partner has known genital warts may be advisable. It is considered very low risk for the virus alone to be transmitted between women, although it is theoretically possible. Both heterosexual and homosexual women ask about the risk of transmitting or contracting the virus through oral sex. Again, this is theoretically possible, and there are conditions when the HPV virus may lodge in the larynx and oral cavity. However, these cases are extremely rare, and so it is left to each person to make that judgment on her own. If one of the partners is immunocompromised (HIV-positive, a transplant patient, or has chronic hepatitis), then she

Sample Treatment for Moderate Dysplasia (CIN 2, High-Grade SIL)

See the Resources section for information on the contents of and resources for the suppositories and other products included in these treatment plans.

Initial Naturopathic Plan

Topical

Week 1: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights, 2 Vag Pack suppositories for 1 night
Week 2: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights, 2 Vag Pack suppositories for 1 night
Week 3: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights, 2 Vag Pack suppositories for 1 night
Week 4: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights, 2 Vag Pack suppositories for 1 night
Week 4: herbal vaginal suppositories for 1 night
Week 5: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights, 2 Vag Pack suppositories for 1 night
Week 5: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights, 2 Vag Pack suppositories for 1 night
Week 6: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights, 2 Vag Pack suppositories for 1 night
Week 7-12: green tea suppository twice per week

Systemic

Vitamin C: 6 g daily Beta-carotene: 200,000 IU daily Folic acid: 10 mg daily for 3 months Selenium: 400 mcg daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily Carotene: 150,000 IU daily Botanical Formula II: ½ tsp twice daily

Use systemic treatment for 3 months until follow-up.

Constitutional

Vegetarian diet for 3 months until follow-up

Alternate Naturopathic Plan

Topical

Escharotic treatment twice per week for 4 weeks

After the last escharotic treatment:

Week 1: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 2: papilloma suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 3: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 4: papilloma suppository nightly for 6 nights Weeks 5–12: green tea suppository twice per week

Systemic

Folic acid: 10 mg daily Vitamin C: 6 g daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Beta-carotene: 150,000 IU daily Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily Botanical Formula I: ½ tsp twice daily

Use systemic treatment for 3 months until follow-up.

Constitutional

Vegetarian diet for 3 months until follow-up

Additional Therapies to Consider

Zinc: 30 mg daily Vitamin E: 800 IU daily Selenium: 400 mcg daily DIM: 200–400 mg daily

Maintenance Plan for 1 Year

Vitamin C: 3 g daily Beta-carotene: 150,000 IU daily Folic acid: 2.5 mg daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily Vegetarian diet

is more vulnerable to contracting HPV, and precautions are definitely warranted.

Smoking

Probably the single most important cofactor in the development of cervical dysplasia and cervical cancer is smoking. Smokers have a two- to threefold increase in the incidence of cervical dysplasia.⁸¹ Some studies indicate that the incidence compared to nonsmokers is even greater than that. Nicotine is actually concentrated in the glands of the cervix, where it then acts as a carcinogenic compound.

Sample Treatment for Severe Dysplasia (CIN 3, High-Grade SIL)

See the Resources section for information on the contents of and resources for the suppositories and other products included in these treatment plans.

Initial Naturopathic Plan

Topical

Escharotic treatment twice per week for 5 weeks

After the last escharotic treatment:

Week 1: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 2: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6

nights Week 3: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights

Week 4: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights

Weeks 5-12: green tea suppository twice per week

Systemic

Folic acid: 10 mg daily Vitamin C: 6 g daily Beta-carotene: 150,000 IU daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily Botanical Formula II: ½ tsp twice daily

Use systemic treatment for 3 months until follow-up.

Constitutional

Vegetarian diet for 3 months until follow-up

Alternate Naturopathic Plan

Topical

Escharotic treatment twice per week for 8 weeks

After the last escharotic treatment:

Week 1: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 2: papilloma suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 3: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 4: papilloma suppository nightly for 6 nights Weeks 5–12: green tea suppository twice per week

Systemic

Vitamin C: 6 g daily Beta-carotene: 200,000 IU daily Folic acid: 10 mg daily Selenium: 400 mcg daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily DIM: 200–400 mg daily Botanical Formula II: ½ tsp twice daily

Use systemic treatment for 3 months until follow-up.

Constitutional

Vegetarian diet for 3 months until follow-up

Additional Therapies to Consider

Zinc: 30 mg daily Vitamin E: 800 IU daily Selenium: 400 mcg daily Pyridoxine: 50 mg 3 times daily

Maintenance Plan for 1 Year

Vitamin C: 3 g daily Beta-carotene: 150,000 IU daily Folic acid: 2.5 mg daily Vitamin E: 400 IU daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily Botanical Formula II: alternate 1 month on, 1 month off Vegetarian diet

Smoking may also alter immune function and affects the levels and distribution of ascorbic acid. Ascorbic acid in the cells of the cervix and the vagina and plasma levels of ascorbic acid are reduced in smokers.⁸²

Oral Contraceptives

Earlier studies suggested that oral contraceptive (OC) use increased the risk of cervical neoplasia, both invasive and precancerous cervical dysplasias.⁸³ Recently, however, studies that are controlled for

Sample Treatment for Carcinoma In Situ (CIN 3, High-Grade SIL)

See the Resources section for information on the contents of and resources for the suppositories and other products included in these treatment plans.

Initial Naturopathic Plan

Topical

Escharotic treatment twice per week for 5 weeks

After the last escharotic treatment:

Week 1: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 2: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights

Week 3: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 4: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights

Weeks 5-12: green tea suppository twice per week

Systemic

Folic acid: 10 mg daily Vitamin C: 6 g daily Beta-carotene: 180,000 IU daily Selenium: 400 mcg daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily Botanical Formula II: 1/2 tsp twice daily

Use systemic treatment for 3 months until follow-up.

Constitutional

Vegetarian diet for 3 months until follow-up

Alternate Naturopathic Plan

Topical

Escharotic treatment twice per week for 8 weeks

After the last escharotic treatment:

Week 1: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 2: papilloma suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 3: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 4: papilloma suppository nightly for 6 nights Weeks 5–12: green tea suppository twice per week

Systemic

Vitamin C: 10 g daily Beta-carotene: 200,000 IU daily Folic acid: 10 mg daily Selenium: 400 mcg daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Green tea capsules: 1 capsule daily DIM: 200–400 mg daily Botanical Formula II: ½ tsp 3–4 times a day

Use systemic treatment for 3 months until follow-up.

Constitutional

Vegetarian diet for 3 months until follow-up

Additional Therapies to Consider

Zinc: 30 mg daily Vitamin E: 800 IU daily Selenium: 400 mcg daily Pyridoxine: 50 mg 3 times a day Lomatium isolate: 5 drops twice daily Alternating sitz baths twice weekly for 4 weeks during suppository routine

Maintenance Plan for 1 Year

Vitamin C: 3 g daily Beta-carotene: 150,000 IU daily Folic acid: 2.5 mg daily Multiple vitamin/mineral: follow label directions Vitamin E: 400 IU daily Botanical Formula I: alternate 1 month on, 1 month off Vegetarian diet

sexual history have been reassuring. In addition, no form of hormonal contraception, be it oral or injection, was found to be associated with an increased risk for developing dysplasia.⁸⁴ While hormonal contraception is not implicated in HPV-related dysplasia, condoms should still be used concurrently. Three large, well-controlled studies looked at invasive cervical cancer and OC use and did not find statistically significant associations compared with women who never used OCs.^{85–87} There was no overall change in risk of invasive cervical cancer. However, one of the three studies did find

Sample Treatment Plan After LEEP, Conization, or Cryotherapy

Wait for 3 weeks after the procedure (described later in this chapter), and then begin the following plan. See the Resources section for information on the contents of and resources for the suppositories and other products used.

Week 1: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 2: herbal suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 3: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights Week 4: herbal suppository nightly for 6 nights

Systemic and constitutional treatment plans are the same as is described for the degree of lesion in the other corresponding treatment plans.

a modestly increased risk in long-term OC users.⁸⁵ The other two studies failed to find a significantly increased risk of invasive cervical cancer even with long-term OC use. The definition of long-term use is not always consistent, but some define it as more than five years of use. Two other recent studies assessed OC use and risk of cervical dysplasia, and neither of these found any statistically significant associations.^{88, 89}

One disturbing finding with OC use is an association with an increase in the incidence of a rare cancer of the cervix called adenocarcinoma, a variant of squamous cervical cancer. The incidence of this disease has increased over the past several decades, while the incidence of invasive squamous cervical cancer has decreased since the pill was introduced. Two recent studies^{86, 90} found a modest but statistically significant increased risk of invasive cervical adenocarcinoma in OC users with over 12 years of use. However, it is important to remember that the cause of cervical cancer is the sexually transmitted human papillomavirus.

PSYCHOLOGICAL FACTORS

The association between psychosocial factors and cervical dysplasia has been the subject of several investigations. Significant life stressors were found to be correlated, including low coping style, pessimism, a high degree of social alienation, high anxiety states, and feeling threatened.^{91, 92} Life stressors with negative impact over the previous six months showed a direct, positive association with level of dysplasia, while coping style showed a less prominent effect.

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

The degree of aggression used to combat simple human papillomavirus waxes and wanes through the years and from provider to provider. While HPV can be dormant for decades, recurrence is always possible. Some practitioners recommend observation alone through the acute viral phase of cervical infection in low-risk patients. We have seen this work at least as often as not. Many doctors give patients the option, considering their lifestyle, other risk factors, prior history, and immune system status.

Most everyone in the conventional medical community agrees on how to manage moderate and severe dysplasia: remove it. There is some ongoing controversy about the treatment of mild dysplasia. Since recent studies have shown that 70 to 80 percent of mild dysplasia will revert to normal tissue before one year, there is an equally compelling recommendation to just repeat the Pap smear in one year and avoid further treatment unless the condition progresses. If it is still mild dysplasia at 12 months, then repeat the colposcopy and biopsies to exclude more significant lesions. In other words, mild dysplasia can be observed even longer, as long as close follow-up occurs.

When treatment is needed, the procedures generally used are cryotherapy; a conization with a scalpel or laser; laser ablation; or loop electrosurgical excision procedure, referred to as LEEP. All of them remove the dysplastic cells and allow new cells to replace the old. They all work upward of 90 percent of the time when used correctly. Cryotherapy is reserved for mild dysplasia (CIN 1), because of the lesser depth of penetration. The other procedures are recommended for

Cervical Escharotic Treatment

The escharotic treatment is especially indicated for moderate dysplasia and severe dysplasia, both highgrade lesions, but only when there is a satisfactory colposcopy performed by a clinician. In addition, the use of the escharotic treatment, rather than a LEEP or conization, needs to fall within the guidelines as outlined in the criteria for naturopathic protocol. Please also read the section in this chapter clarifying when a conization or LEEP is a more appropriate treatment.

The escharotic treatment is best done twice a week with two full days between treatments. The zinc chloride (ZnCl) solution will have to be made by a compounding pharmacist, by prescription.

Instructions for the Practitioner

Before beginning the treatment, you will need the following items:

- 1 cup distilled water
- A cup containing 2 powdered bromelain capsules or tablets. Remove the powder from the capsules or crush the tablets to powder.
- ¼ tsp ZnCl₂ solution (90 g ZnCl/60 ml sterlized water) mixed in a bottle with ¾ tsp sanguinaria tincture
- ¹/₃ cup calendula succus
- 1. Insert speculum and visualize the cervix.
- Blot the cervix dry with large cotton swab or cotton ball on the end of a ring forceps.
- 3. Dip a large cotton swab into the distilled water and then squeeze out the water. Place the damp swab into the bromelain and thickly cover the face of the cervix with the powder, repeating as needed to cover the cervix completely. Apply the powder in the endocervical canal using small, dampened cotton tip applicators (use a new applicator each time).

- 4. Leave the bromelain on the cervix and in the endocervical canal for 15 minutes. Place a GYN lamp facing the vagina to provide gentle heat during this portion of the treatment.
- 5. Now remove the bromelain by placing a large cotton swab in the calendula succus and then applying it to the cervix, thus washing off the bromelain. Repeat with a small cotton tip applicator to the endocervical canal. Be liberal; repeat washing two to four times. Take a dry large swab and absorb the washings that have pooled in the vagina.
- 6. Now soak a large swab in the ZnCl₂/sanguinaria mixture that you prepared earlier. Apply this to the cervix once. Repeat this procedure with a small cotton tip applicator inserted in the endocervical canal. Leave on for one minute. If this causes pain, wash the cervix with a small amount of distilled water. Avoid contact of the ZnCl₂/sanguinaria mixture with the vaginal wall.
- Wash off the ZnCl₂/sanguinaria mixture with swabs of calendula succus. Wash the endocervical canal as well with a cotton tip applicator. Absorb the liquid that has pooled in the vagina with a dry cotton swab.
- Insert two Vag Pack suppositories. Instruct the patient to leave the suppositories in place for 24 hours, using a sanitary napkin as needed for leakage.
- 9. After the last escharotic treatment, use the following treatment plan:

Week 1: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights

- Week 2: herbal vaginal suppository nightly for 6 nights, or in cases with HPV, use condyloma suppository
- Week 3: vitamin A suppository nightly for 6 nights
- Week 4: herbal vaginal or papilloma suppository nightly for 6 nights

moderate and severe dysplasias (CIN 2, CIN 3). Tissue destruction beyond the dysplastic lesions occurs in all of these procedures to varying degrees to help prevent recurrences. Recurrences are usually due to new infection, reactivation of the virus because of immune system changes, or inadequate prior treatment with residual cells that then persist and regrow.

Cryotherapy is the oldest and cheapest of these procedures and is a simple office procedure performed with a blunt probe applied to the cervix and tubing that supplies concentrated nitrous
oxide to cause the probe to get very cold. Tissue penetration is several millimeters. This procedure takes approximately two to three minutes and is associated with cramping at the time, which resolves quickly and is rarely present for more than a day. The devitalized tissue is sloughed as a watery discharge over the next 10 to 14 days. The cervix is usually well healed within a month.

Conization is employed primarily for endocervical dysplasia. A cold-knife procedure is performed in the operating room under anesthesia and employs a scalpel to remove a cone-shaped piece of cervix and cervical canal. Conization has the advantage of more clearly evaluating the margins, because there is no thermal artifact. Laser ablation of the transformation zone can be performed in the operating room or the office and allows for precise management of lesions but does not provide tissue for pathology. Laser conization obtains tissue similar to the cold-knife cone procedure, with some thermal destruction at the margins, and is significantly more expensive than LEEP.

The most common current treatment of endocervical or cervical dysplasia of moderateto-severe degree is a LEEP procedure, which is generally performed in the office with cervical anesthetic and is usually well tolerated and very cost effective. LEEP can be used to remove the endocervical canal and/or the transformation zone. It also has thermal degradation at the margins. When LEEP or laser is used, the tissue beyond the cut margin is heated and destroyed for another 1 to 2 mm of penetration. Even when the dysplasia is seen all the way to the margin of the biopsy, there is still usually complete treatment of the lesion because the heat destruction penetrates into the tissue beyond the surgical site.

Women treated by LEEP are more likely to convert to HPV-negative status within one to two years after the procedure and do so significantly sooner than those who are merely watched without treatment. The LEEP can reduce cervical mucus and can occasionally cause a stenosis of the opening to the cervix. The advantage of LEEP is that it can be done in the office, is well tolerated, and is minimally expensive.

These techniques are all relatively safe and effective for preventing future cervical cancer. However, their effects on future fertility and pregnancy outcomes are unclear. Some say that done properly, none of these procedures affects fertility, sexuality, or pregnancy. There is no adequate data from randomized controlled trials to evaluate these potential effects. In one analysis of 27 observational trials comparing the fertility and pregnancy of women who underwent ablation or excision of CIN lesions to women who were not treated with these therapies, LEEP and cold-knife conizations were both associated with significantly increased risk for preterm delivery. LEEP was associated with an increased risk for preterm rupture of membranes, and the cold-knife cone was associated with an increased risk for cesarean section. The laser cone and the laser ablation had no association with any significant change for any of the outcomes. None of the treatments had any significant association with perinatal mortality, complication for the infant, or fertility.

Follow-up recommendations may vary depending on your overall case history and your practitioner's perspective. Some patients treated with any of these conventional treatments are advised to have three-month Pap smears for the first year and six-month Pap smears for the next year. Others will have the recommendation of annual Pap smears following the conventional treatment.

Prevention: The HPV Vaccine

The newest approach to conventional medical treatment of dysplasia is prevention. After a clinical trial done in 2002 initially showed that an HPV-16 vaccine reduced the incidence of both HPV-16 infection and HPV-16 cervical dysplasia,⁹³ continued research has lead to the reality of an HPV vaccine to reduce the incidence of cervical cancer. The FDA approved a quadrivalent vaccine in June 2006. It vaccinates women against

strains 6 and 11, which cause venereal warts, and 16 and 18, which are the most common strains found in cervical cancer. The intended recipients of this vaccine will be pubertal girls who have not yet had intercourse. However, the vaccine has been recommended up to age 26, because it will also help prevent venereal warts in women who are currently sexually active.

In one study young women without histories of HPV infection or abnormal Pap smears who were given the type 16 and 18 vaccine were significantly less likely to develop HPV type 16 or 18 infections or abnormal cervical cells during the two-plus years of follow-up.⁹⁴ In another study, the 6, 11, 16, and 18 vaccine decreased the incidence of infection by 90 percent in young women compared to placebo.⁹⁵

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

Accurate and adequate diagnosis and evaluation is the key to knowing which is the most appropriate treatment for your case. Colposcopy (magnification) and cervical biopsies are the specific diagnostic methods for evaluation. Pap smears are not diagnostic; they are screening tests. When your licensed practitioner (naturopathic doctor, medical doctor, osteopathic doctor, nursepractitioner, or physician's assistant) recommends that you need a colposcopy and biopsy, this is good advice. They are not recommending treatment; they are recommending accurate diagnosis.

Decisions regarding treatments such as a LEEP, cone biopsy, or cryotherapy versus one of the natural treatment protocols require a medical history, Pap smear report, colposcopy report, biopsy/pathology report, and a working knowledge of the advantages and disadvantages of each of the treatments. If your conventional practitioner is not aware of the research on the natural treatment protocols or is biased without knowledge, then he or she may not be the most appropriate person to help you make the right decision. Likewise, if your alternative practitioner is not aware of the clinical indications for the conventional treatments as distinguished from the clinical indications for the safety and efficacy of the alternative treatment plan or is biased without knowledge, then he or she too may not be the most appropriate person to help you make the right decision.

CONTRACEPTION

OVERVIEW

Around the same time suffragettes were securing the right to vote, other women, most notably Margaret Sanger, desperately sought to provide women a means of "family limitation,"1 later called birth control. The political struggle to legitimize contraception and bring it into the medical arena was long and fierce. Sanger was jailed on obscenity charges more than once and finally fled the country rather than face a trial she ultimately won years later. Any public discussion of reproduction was judged obscene under the prevailing Comstock Law. Although women frequently died in childbirth or struggled to feed families of six to ten or more, they were forbidden information concerning fertility regulation that was literally lifesaving. Although diaphragms and condoms gradually became more readily available (the first diaphragms in use in America were smuggled from Europe through Canada by Sanger and her husband), it was not until the Supreme Court decision Griswald v. Connecticut in 1966 that married women's rights to access birth control became assured.

While we modern women lament the absence of a perfect fertility control option, the mere fact that the birthrate has fallen so drastically these past 50 years illustrates both women's desire to have fewer children and the efficacy of the combined methods in achieving that goal. Nevertheless, even with the current availability of contraception, fully 57 percent of American pregnancies today are unintended.² Perhaps our difficulty with the issue relates to our prudish roots. Safe, effective birth control does exist, although failures, whether human or methodological, occur with each. The best we can do is choose wisely and minimize human error. In addition to natural family planning or fertility awareness methods (often described as the rhythm method), there are three general categories—hormonal contraception, barrier contraception and the intrauterine devices, and abortion—that complete the list of birth control methods. Sterilization, the most common method of fertility control, is a safe surgical procedure for either men or women. This method is used by about 20 percent³ of couples; yet it, too, has a failure rate of about 1 in 400.

KEY CONCEPTS

- Consult your health-care practitioner to determine the effectiveness, health benefits, and health risks of each contraceptive method.
- Consult your health-care practitioner about cautions and contraindications for each method.
- Smokers older than 35 should not use hormonal contraceptive methods.
- The choice of contraception method is based on benefits, risks, effectiveness, cost, side effects, ease of use, and personal choice.
- The key to the contraceptive benefit is proper use and compliance with the chosen method.
- Pregnancy itself carries considerable health risks. These must also be considered when choosing a method of contraception.
- Regular annual health exams are required for users of hormonal contraception.
- Report any side effects that you think are related to your method of contraception to your health-care practitioner.

FERTILITY AWARENESS

Many couples successfully rely on this drug-free and device-free method that depends on identifying a woman's fertile periods and abstaining from intercourse during those times. However, to achieve the lowest failure rates of 1 to 10 percent requires relatively long periods of abstinence each month-at least 10 and up to 20 days-depending on cycle length and predictability. The average pregnancy rate with most who use this method is 20 percent, clearly less than the 85 percent rate experienced with no method at all. More pregnancies result from taking chances during fertile times than from difficulty deciphering the methods.⁴ These methods work best when women have a predictable cycle length. Ovulation is then predicted most accurately, and intercourse is restricted for the least amount of time. Barrier methods can be combined with the calendar method pretty effectively during the restricted time, but spermicide can obscure the cervical mucus method. All variations of this method assume that an ovulated egg can be fertilized for up to 24 hours and that sperm can survive in the female reproductive tract for about three but possibly up to seven days.⁴ Amazingly, one might become pregnant up to a week after the last intercourse! So much for romantically planning conception location or dating a pregnancy simply from the timing of sex.

Combining all the methods somewhat probably works the best; for example, many women are quite good at predicting when they ovulate from a variety of symptoms (such as pelvic pain or *mittelschmerz*), but this is only something you notice after the fact. To successfully avoid pregnancy, you have to be able to predict ovulation about five to seven days in advance or else avoid exposure completely during the first half of the cycle. Obviously noncoital activities are permissible at all times; this method does not require actual abstinence, just avoidance of intercourse.

Calendar Methods

Rhythm, the oldest of birth control schemes, relies on a woman having a regular 28-day cycle, with ovulation occurring on day 14—exactly midcycle. Intercourse must be avoided for at least three days before and three days after ovulation-days 11 through 17 at least, and optimally seven days before and at least four days after. If a woman's cycle is not this regular, another calendar method is useful that takes into account cycle variance. First gather information about cycle length over enough time to figure out how wide the range is. You must know the longest and the shortest cycle length you experience-day 1 being the first day of menses and the last day being the one just before menses resumes. Subtract 20 from the shortest cycle to get the first fertile day (day 4 in a 24-day cycle). Subtract 10 from the longest cycle (day 22 in a 32-day cycle) to get the last fertile day. Thus, a woman with cycles ranging from 25 to 30 days avoids intercourse days 5 through 20 (25 - 20 = 5 and)30 - 10 = 20). (Read through this paragraph two or three times to make sure you understand it.)

Cervical Mucus

This method uses the recognition of "fertile mucus" to predict ovulation. It depends on the physiological fact of the presence of slippery thin mucus at the cervical orifice around ovulation. You can easily learn to discern fertile mucus by experimenting with egg white, which resembles fertile mucus. Use your index finger to gather mucus from as close to the uterine opening as possible. Fertile mucus stretches between thumb and index fingers as they are separated, just like raw egg white, without breaking in the middle. Nonfertile mucus is tackier and breaks apart easily at short distances between the fingers. Experiment with an egg white, then try roomtemperature butter-you will see the difference. Imagine the sperm swimming easily between long slippery parallel strands of mucus around ovulation, which is thought to ease transport into the uterus and may also modify the sperm so that it is capable of fertilizing the egg. Ovulation usually occurs in the middle or toward the end of the fertile mucus time; thus it is best to determine your length of fertility in advance a few cycles before relying on this method. Obviously semen,

spermicides, vaginal creams, or lubricants can adulterate the mucus and make this assessment unreliable. Experiment.

Basal Body Temperature

Basal body temperature is measured by taking one's temperature the very first thing in the morning before getting out of bed and before any activity at all. Wake up, reach over, take the temperature, record. Plotting these numbers daily over a few months will show a nice pattern of ovulation. The temperature may drop a bit (usually around half a degree) just before ovulation, and then goes up about a degree from there (now half a degree over baseline) just after ovulation. Release of the egg probably occurs the day before the elevation,3 which persists until menses. Elevation longer than the expected 12 to 14 days usually indicates pregnancy. A digital thermometer will help you demonstrate this rise more accurately, but you can use any thermometer if you are willing to precisely plot the points.

BARRIER METHODS

Barrier methods include anything that imposes a barrier between egg and sperm and include condoms, diaphragm, cervical cap, and any of the spermicides. Only the condom physically prevents sperm from reaching the egg. The diaphragm and the previously available cervical cap are both methods of holding spermicide against the cervix; they don't really keep the egg from meeting sperm. The new FemCap does cover the cervix but doesn't hold the spermicide against the cervix. Rather, it contains a groove facing the vaginal opening to store and deliver spermicide or any microbicide. Without spermicide, these methods are not highly effective. Most condoms are impregnated with spermicide these days, because of the presumed protection nonoxynol-9 provides against sexually transmitted diseases. Nonoxynol-9 kills gonorrhea, herpes, trichomonas, syphilis, and HIV in vitro,⁴ which may or may not translate into reduced

transmission of these diseases between humans. Because some organisms, such as HIV, are intracellular, they may not get exposed to the spermicide during sexual intercourse, and therefore protection may be compromised. In fact, nonoxynol-9 is rather irritating to some, and the irritation may result in vaginal mucosa (the lining of the vagina) that is more susceptible to the AIDS virus. It is safe to use nonoxynol-9 unless it irritates you; in that case, don't.

Condoms should obviously be used with any new sexual partner to protect against many, but not all, sexually transmitted diseases. Alone as a method of birth control, they can be reasonably effective. If used consistently and properly, failure rates are reputed to be as low as 3 percent, although actual use failure rates are closer to 10 to 14 percent. Using condoms with an intravaginal spermicide provides about 96 percent safety from pregnancy with typical use. This combination is the best over-the-counter method.

Healthy noninfected couples that choose condoms may prefer the comfort of lambskin condoms; the pores of these condoms are too big to protect well against viral-size organisms, but they do just fine in keeping out sperm. Condoms, a very old tried-and-true method, are enjoying a surge in popularity.

Caps and diaphragms work similarly; both cover the cervix and hold spermicide either against the cervix or facing the entrance to the vagina. The suction-based cervical cap is currently not available in the United States due to a business decision by the European manufacturer. This had nothing to do with safety or effectiveness. What is now available, perhaps the newest method of birth control, is the FemCap. The FemCap is made of nonallergenic, latex-free material and is designed to cover the cervix. It has a groove facing the vaginal opening that stores and delivers spermicide. It is available by prescription only but does not require a technical fitting session and measurement by the healthcare provider. A FemCap must be applied before

arousal and should be kept in place for at least six hours after the last intercourse. A backup method is recommended while you are learning to use it. FemCaps have the advantage of being able to be left in with ongoing efficacy for as long as 48 hours. A FemCap comes with an instructional video. (Information is available at www.femcap.com.)

A diaphragm is a latex shield that covers the cervix. Diaphragms come in several sizes, and the correct size must be determined as part of a pelvic exam by a health-care practitioner. Spermicide must be placed in the diaphragm, which is then placed up against the cervix. The diaphragm must be left in for at least six hours after intercourse, and any additional intercourse during that six hours must be preceded by the addition of an applicator of spermicide. Diaphragms with spermicide have an effectiveness rate of approximately 94 percent.

The contraceptive sponge was originally introduced in 1983 and remained on the market until January 1995. It was taken off the market because the manufacturer chose not to modernize the manufacturing and hygiene standards. In 2005, the Today sponge returned to the marketplace with a new manufacturer. The sponge is a convenient, disposable, one-size-fits-all vaginal contraceptive that can be purchased over the counter at most drugstores. It is used with a spermicide and offers an 82 to 92 percent effectiveness rate.

INTRAUTERINE DEVICES

Intrauterine devices are in a contraceptive class all by themselves, and they may arguably be the least invasive and highest efficacy form of birth control. Rumors persist that Cleopatra had a gold ring in her uterus that prevented pregnancy and allowed a healthy, active love life. And the camel drivers in the same era are said to have put small rocks in their camels' uteruses to prevent pregnancy on the long roads they traveled. These may just be good stories, but for those women who are good candidates, IUDs are simple, cheap, highly effective, reversible, and have a minimal impact on underlying physiological processes.

Modern IUDs became popular with the introduction of the Lippes Loop in the early 1960s, when as many as 10 percent of women who used contraceptives chose this method. The failure rate was about 2 percent, although the expulsion rate (coming out with the menstrual flow) was reported to be as high as 12 to 20 percent.³ Lippes Loops are still available and in use around the world, although not available in the United States.

IUDs are used much more commonly in Europe than in the United States, largely because of the persistent fear American women and providers still harbor from the Dalkon Shield debacle during the 1970s. Unfortunately, this device traumatized the cervix on insertion, and the string was made of a material that was a perfect conduit for bacteria to ascend into the uterus. An infection called pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) increased dramatically in Dalkon Shield users, essentially due to the prevalence of sexually transmitted diseases that ascended into the uterus and/or fallopian tubes; many women acquired serious infections and in many, infertility resulted. Yet the company did not recall the device for 10 years-at least 5 years after the problems were known. The reputation of the IUD was tarnished forever, and a good contraceptive method is all but lost to women who might well benefit from it today.

There are presently very few IUDs in the United States because manufacturers don't want to take a chance on a device that has become so unpopular. Copper was added to IUDs to increase effectiveness in the 1980s, which allowed smaller and better-tolerated devices to be used. The Paragard copper T fails less than 1 percent of the time⁴ and lasts for at least 10 years. Fertility is unchanged over baseline in women who do not contract sexually transmitted diseases. The device comes in only one size, and so is better tolerated in a uterus that has carried a pregnancy. It can be put in during nursing for excellent carefree contraception that will not interfere with lactation. The mechanism of action is now fairly well documented as a inflammatory response in the uterine cavity. It is not felt to be an abortifacient (a substance that induces abortion).

IUDS can make menstrual flow heavier and with more cramping. For those women with moderate or light menses, however, it is a method that requires no mess or loss of spontaneity, and IUDs can be used for years without loss of efficacy. Even at a cost of \$600 to \$700, this is a minimal expense if used over a 10-year period.

Women who are in monogamous relationships, have given birth, and are not at risk for sexually transmitted infections are perfect candidates for IUD use, if their periods are normal. Again, though, IUDs can increase the amount of the menstrual flow and increase cramping. The exception is the newer IUD called Mirena. It contains a progestin (Levonorgestrel) on the stem, which shrinks the endometrium and decreases menstrual flow and cramping. It can reduce the normal flow by 80 percent and causes a lack of menses in 15 percent of patients. The Mirena lasts 5 years, and the progestin stays active inside the uterus. It is thought that in the majority of women and in the majority of the time, the progestin is confined to the uterus without systemic absorption. However, clinicians will report cases of patients who appear to have had systemic progestin side effects from the Mirena. The Mirena is an important option in contraception-a method that provides 99 percent protection and decreases menstrual pain and heavy flows.

Insertion of an IUD must be done in a practitioner's office. Most women report nothing more than light cramping. STI testing for chlamydia and gonorrhea should precede insertion. Infections caused by the insertion itself are rare and may occur approximately 1 percent of the time, within 30 days of insertion. An antibiotic can be utilized to prevent infection. If you do become pregnant, the IUD should be removed. Pregnancies will be interrupted by the IUD, and a miscarriage can occur about half the time. If desired, ultrasound can be used to identify the IUD before removal to minimize disruption of a wanted pregnancy.

BIRTH CONTROL PILLS (BCPS)

Never has there been a more perfect love/hate relationship than that between women and hormonal contraception or birth control pills (BCPs), also called oral contraceptives (OCs). In 1951, Margaret Sanger is credited with convincing Gregory Pincus (who ultimately synthesized the first oral contraceptive) that his research in fertilization could be used to create an oral contraceptive. Available for the first time in the 1960s, oral contraceptives were truly a revolutionary medical option for women. Women readily embraced the option of having fewer children, and the dramatically lower birthrate that resulted has persisted, undoubtedly due to the pill's continued widespread use. Women's maternal burden was lifted for the first time in history. That's the good news.

Unfortunately, the hormonal content of early birth control pills-estrogen and progesteronewas much higher than today's pills, and more women smoked then. Both factors affected what is always the course of any new medicine-the downside became obvious only with mass use. It soon became apparent that cardiovascular disease, including heart attacks, strokes, blood clots, and pulmonary emboli, was more frequent in women who used birth control pills. But even though "more frequent," these diseases are still exceedingly rare in the healthy population of young women who are the usual pill takers. It is also true that these risks are dose related and have fallen measurably as the estrogen and progestin content of pills has fallen 4 and 10 times respectively since their initial use. The FDA-approved package insert states the following:

The information contained in this package insert is principally based on studies carried out in patients who used oral contraceptives with formulations containing 0.05 mg [50 mcg] or higher of estrogen. The effects of long-term use with lower-dose formulations of both estrogens and progestogens remain to be determined.

The birth control pills in common use today have 20 to 35 mcg of estrogen, and only one or two formulations containing 50 mcg are even available. Moreover, the studies documenting these higher risks in the earlier days did not control for other risk factors such as smoking, high blood pressure, obesity, and so forth—all known to independently increase a woman's risk of cardiovascular disease. I like the way the late Dr. Felicia Stewart, who dedicated much of her life and career to designing research and policies that make safe, effective contraception and abortion accessible to women, describes pill risk:⁴

If you were to draw a line 215 meters high (the height of a 70-story building) to represent 100,000 young nonsmoking pill users, and then draw a line beside it to represent the number of pill users in the United States who die each year from complications related to higher-dose pills, that second line would be about 0.5 centimeters high [about one-fifth of an inch]. In comparison, the line representing the number of U.S. women who would die of pregnancy-related problems would be just under 2.5 centimeters high [about an inch]. A line representing maternal mortality in developing countries would be 25 centimeters to 1.5 meters tall [10 inches to just under five feet].

Risks attendant to birth control use must be measured against the risk of the pregnancies they prevent. We are fortunate to live in the time of the lowest maternal mortality ever—and still the risk of oral contraception we all worry about is one-fifth that of pregnancy. If we can manage to avoid pregnancy in other ways, presumably they are safer than the pills.

There are some significant health benefits attributable to the pill—for example, an 80 percent reduction in ovarian cancer and a 50 percent reduction in uterine cancer with about a decade of use.³ Assessing an individual's risk/benefit ratio requires individualization based on health status, family history, and so forth. If one's risk of cardiovascular disease doubles with use (it does), that sounds worrisome. But if doubling one's risk means going from a risk of 1 in 10,000 to 2 in 10,000, that doesn't sound so bad. This is just another way of looking at the same fact. Incidentally, this risk is not even close to the risk we take driving our car to work or school.

Smokers older than 35, however, should not use the birth control pill. Most other women at higher risk of heart disease, like those with diabetes, hypertension, or elevated cholesterol, should consider other options as well—but even in these conditions, pills are usually safer than an undesired pregnancy. Blood pressure needs to be followed in all pill takers, and, if elevated significantly by use, another birth control method must be chosen.

Breast Cancer and the Pill

Much attention has been given to the relationship between the pill and breast cancer, and slowly some answers emerge. The Centers for Disease Control (CDC) conducted a study in the 1980s called the "Cancer and Steroid Hormone Study" that looked at nearly 5,000 cases of breast cancer and 5,000 healthy control women and concluded that there was no increased risk of breast cancer in women who had used the pill.³ Another significant study evaluated a pooled analysis from 54 studies involving 53,297 women with breast cancer and over 100,000 controls and concluded that there is a slight but measurable increase in the relative risk of breast cancer for current BCP users that declines shortly after stopping the pill and disappears within 10 years.⁵ By age 50, there is no difference in the risk of breast cancer in women who have ever used oral contraceptives versus those who have never used them. Also, the increase in risk during use (1.24 relative risk) translates differently in a 20-year-old woman versus a 40-yearold woman. If the risk of breast cancer at 20 is 1 in 5,000 (or less), then a relative risk of 1.24 increases it to 1 in 4,000. However, if a woman is 40 and the risk of breast cancer is about 1 in 250, a relative risk of 1.24 increases her risk to 1 in 200. Thus, the increase is clearly more significant in an older woman. In this age group, of 1,000 40-year-old women who take the pill, one will contract breast cancer as a consequence. Only about 15 percent of breast cancers occur in women younger than age 45,6 which is when most of us take oral contraceptives.

A very recent meta-analysis that revisited oral contraceptives and the risk of breast cancer, published in October 2006, concluded that oral contraceptives do increase the risk of premenopausal breast cancer.7 Thirty-four case-control studies of oral contraceptives and premenopausal breast cancer during or after 1980 were identified. Analysis of the data from these studies showed that the risk of breast cancer was slightly increased for both nulliparous (having never given birth) and parous (having birthed one or more times) women. In nulliparous women, the longer duration of use of the pill did not significantly affect risk. In parous women, the increased risk was more substantial when the oral contraceptives were used before the first-full term pregnancy. The risk was highest in parous women who had used the pill for four or more years before their first full-term pregnancy. There are many limitations of this kind of review because there are so many variables, including race, possible recall bias, difference in the age of first using the pill, and poor information on when the pills were last used. Taking oral contraceptives must be decided based ultimately on the benefits compared to the risks for each woman.

The cancers in former users are generally of a less advanced stage than the cancers of nonusers, and benign breast disease (cysts, fibrosis, breast pain, swelling) is generally improved by BCP use. Overall, there appears to be no evidence of any significant increase in the lifetime risk of getting breast cancer among women who have used oral contraceptives.

Before deciding for or against BCPs, consider your risk for breast cancer (although most women who get breast cancer are not at risk, and most at risk don't get it),⁶ whether pregnancy poses a risk, and any other health risks and benefits related to BCP use.

Other Health Benefits of Birth Control Pills

Several years ago, the FDA began to require that, in addition to risks, pill manufacturers list benefits, because they are so significant. Some women actually take birth control pills for the health benefits they offer. Oral contraceptives protect from uterine and ovarian cancers in the general population, but we aren't sure yet about those in families with a higher incidence. They protect from pregnancy nearly 100 percent of the time, although even with perfect use, there is still about 1 pregnancy in 1,000 women per year, and with common human error, a 2 percent failure rate is more accurate. As a bonus, they reduce heavy, painful periods in everyone.

About 80 to 90 percent of functional ovarian cysts (those related to ovulation, the most common type) are eliminated in women who take birth control pills.⁴ Those who suffer from endometriosis can frequently reduce their ongoing pain by suppressing the disease with oral contraceptives. Women with polycystic ovary syndrome and abnormal male pattern hair growth can decrease hair growth with oral contraceptives because they measurably reduce the male hormones known as androgens in these women. Interestingly, because of the thickening in cervical mucus that birth control pills induce, it is less likely that women who take them will get pelvic inflammatory disease if they are unlucky enough to get gonorrhea or chlamydia in the cervix. Fertility is spared in this way.

Several recent studies have shown that a sevenday hormone-free interval causes more of a rise in follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), which causes ovulation. Continuous daily regimens or shorter drug-free intervals (three or four days only) prevent ovulation. Suppression of ovulation reduces the cyclic symptoms some women have on the typical 21 days on and 7 days off pill regimens. There is also less breakthrough bleeding and a decrease in pregnancy rates with these shorter time-off regimens. More and more women are using their birth control daily, or for three months at a time. Many oral contraceptives are being repackaged with only three or four days of hormone-free pills, and we will likely see more of this in the future.

Nutritional Supplements for Pill Users

Apart from their hormonal effect, the hormones in birth control pills have been shown to affect metabolic and nutritional factors. Women on oral contraceptives may want to take nutritional supplementation to adjust for some of the biochemical alterations caused by the pill. Women on BCPs have a higher requirement for folate,⁸ and this may be especially true for women who have had cervical dysplasia (precancerous abnormal cells of the cervix). The frequent ingestion of the steroids found in BCPs have been shown to depress levels of riboflavin, pyridoxine, vitamin B₁₂, ascorbic acid, and zinc.9 Hormones can also affect breast tenderness, increase risk of blood clots, and induce an array of side effects in some women, and they are metabolized in the liver. Providing selective nutritional support, supporting breast health, and enhancing hormonal metabolism and detoxification pathways may optimize the experience of using hormonal contraception.

Riboflavin deficiency may occur with long periods of oral contraceptive (OC) use.⁹ It may

be that OCs interfere with gastrointestinal absorption or with metabolism or binding. There seems to be general consensus in the literature that consumption of oral contraceptives contributes to pyridoxine (vitamin B₆ deficiency).⁹ It has been estimated that the majority of women on OCs for longer than six months manifest abnormal tryptophan metabolism. Vitamin B₆ can normalize tryptophan metabolism.

Although not consistent, some research has shown that OCs disturb folate metabolism. Anemia, the gastrointestinal and genital tracts, bone and heart health, and mental function are all affected by folic acid deficiencies. For this reason, folate is an important nutrient to supplement for women taking the pill. Oral contraception users have also been reported to have reduced levels of vitamin B12.9 This may be related to malabsorption, increased renal excretion, and enhanced tissue acidity. A woman may or may not acquire an anemia associated with a B₁₂ deficiency, but long-term use of the pill may lead to this, or at least may compromise nerve function, mood, mental function, and the health of the digestive system. Carotenoids are also included in this formula to protect the cervix. Oral contraceptives have shown mixed results in increasing abnormal changes in the cervix that can lead to cervical cancer. Beta-carotene deficiency in the cervical cells may be a cofactor in the development of cervical dysplasia,10 and decreases in plasma beta-carotene levels is found in women with either cervical dysplasia or cancer of the cervix.11

Reduced levels of ascorbic acid have also been observed in those who take oral contraceptives.⁹ It is possible that the steroids of oral contraceptives increase the breakdown of ascorbic acid, decrease absorption, and/or change tissue distribution. Limited research in animals has shown that oral contraceptives lower blood levels of vitamin E.⁹ Vitamin E is the premier antioxidant for lipids, protects structures against toxic compounds, and is important in immune function. Most investigations have shown a reduction in plasma zinc levels following the administration of OCs.⁹ Decreased absorption, increased urinary excretion, and a decrease in albumin, an important carrier of zinc, may account for this. Zinc is essential to good health and is involved in many enzyme and body functions. Immune function; wound healing; the nervous system; maintenance of vision, taste, and smell; and skin health are dependent on adequate levels of zinc. Zinc competes with copper for absorption, therefore adding a small amount of copper is also suggested to avoid any problems.

Borage seed oil is high in gamma linolenic acid (GLA), which is important in maintaining pain-free breasts. GLA decreases abnormal sensitivity of breast tissue to normal hormone levels. The proposed mechanism of GLA's action is that it normalizes the balance of fatty acids contained within the cell membranes. The steroid receptors in the breasts then have a reduced affinity for estrogen, dramatically reducing breast sensitivity.

Oral contraceptives can increase the risk of blood clots, although this risk has been considerably reduced since the lower-dose pills have become the norm. However, these concerns still deserve our attention. Bromelain has a very favorable effect on inflammation of a vein. In research, bromelain has been shown to reduce all the symptoms of inflammation in those who had developed acute thrombophlebitis.¹² Garlic preparations have been shown to promote fibrinolysis, which can offer benefit in prevention of strokes and other clotting events.^{13, 14} Excessive clumping together of platelets is linked to heart disease and strokes. Garlic and its volatile oils can inhibit platelet aggregation and thereby improve circulation.¹⁵

Finally, women taking hormonal contraceptives can experience changes in vaginal pH, which can lead to changes in the balance of organisms in the vagina. Lactobacillus species are fundamental to maintaining a healthy ecological vaginal environment, which helps to prevent yeast and vaginal infections. It may be possible to favorably alter this vaginal ecology by taking lactobacillus in the form of a nutritional supplement.

Additional considerations may include liver support to aid in the metabolism of the steroids. There are many options here, including a lipotropic supplement and herbs such as dandelion root, burdock root, and milk thistle.

Little information is available about any interactions between botanicals and birth control pills. For now, my only real caution is with Saint-John's-wort. A few case reports, as well as two controlled clinical trials, indicate that Saint-John's-wort can cause breakthrough bleeding and interferes with the metabolism of the hormones in the pill. These observations lead me to think that the effectiveness of oral contraceptives may be reduced when taken in conjunction with Saint-John's-wort.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ Other speculations have been made about the possibility of other herbs and nutrients interfering with the effectiveness of birth control pills. However, hypotheses about chaste tree, indole-3-carbinole, soy, dong quai, and others have no documentation to support these concerns.

Side Effects

Many women prefer not to take birth control pills because they see them as an unnatural form of birth control. Others are concerned, rightly so, about some of the issues that have been raised here, but some women just plain don't feel good on them. Some women have bloating, breast tenderness or pain, headaches, mood swings, depression, weight gain, nausea, lowered libido, and breakthrough bleeding. Other women may experience significant, more serious side effects such as complete hair loss, blood clots, high blood pressure, heart attack, and elevated liver enzymes.

There are many kinds of birth control pills today, and fortunately they are significantly lower in dose and cause far fewer side effects than in the past. The pills vary in their estrogen and progestin dosages and contain different kinds of estrogens and progestins. A woman may tolerate one pill poorly and another very well. If you struggle with feeling good on "the pill," you should work with a health-care provider who knows the products well. Many side effects come from the progestin, and there are currently six different progestins found in various birth control pills. Merely switching to a pill with a different progestin can result in feeling normal while on the pill. There are pills with different estrogen doses as well.

Overall, women need to assess how they feel on oral hormonal contraceptives. Some women are moody, some are less so. Some women love the regularity of their periods and their reduced pain; others feel nauseous and bloated. Some love that their acne improves; others fret about breast cancer. Some women feel great and have low risks for most diseases; for them, the hormones can fit into a healthy life.

The pill is not a natural form of birth control, but for some women the benefits outweigh the downside. If you do choose to use birth control pills, remember that one of the advantages to barrier methods of contraception (diaphragm, FemCap, condoms) is the reduced incidence of sexually transmitted infections (STIs), especially pelvic inflammatory disease. Oral contraceptives do not significantly protect against most STIs. Condoms are the best method of contraception that also offers a "safer sex" method. Diaphragms and caps do not provide for safer sex, but they may help stop sexually transmitted infections from ascending into the uterus and pelvic region. These are important considerations when choosing your method of contraception.

Emergency Contraception

Emergency contraception refers to using birth control pill hormones to prevent pregnancy after intercourse has occurred. The only emergency contraceptive pill (ECP) that is currently available is a progestin-only pill called Plan B. Two pills, taken 12 hours apart, reduce the risk of pregnancy by 75 percent if initiated within 72 hours after unprotected intercourse. The effect

Emergency Contraception

Take 4 of one of the following pills within 72 hours after unprotected sex, and take 4 more pills 12 hours later:

Cryselle Levlen Levora Lo/Ovral

Another option: take 5 of one of the following pills within 72 hours after unprotected sex and take 5 more pills 12 hours later:

Alesse	
Aviane	
Lessina	
Levlite	
Low-Ogestrel	
Nordette	
Portia	
Seasonale	

appears to result primarily from an inhibition or delay of ovulation and does not disrupt an already established pregnancy.

It is also possible to use more pills of a birth control pill that you might already have on hand for emergency contraception.

OTHER FORMS OF HORMONAL CONTRACEPTION

There are other hormonal contraceptive options available, in addition to the familiar estrogen/ progestin pills. There are progestin-only hormone preparations—pills, injections, and implants. These options can have many of the same nuisance side effects of combination pills—weight gain, irritability, and depression. Progestin-only birth control pills are used by women who are breast-feeding or who have a contraindication to estrogen, such as hypertension. The injection (Depo-Provera) and the new implant (Implanon) have a lower failure rate because compliance is not required on a daily basis—only once every three months for the Depo-Provera shot and every three years for the Implanon. Both work by suppressing ovulation to an extent, neither as completely as the combination birth control pill, but this mechanism is augmented by even thicker cervical mucus that impedes the sperm at the cervix. They aren't as good for cyst suppression because of the incomplete suppression of ovulation. Implanon boasts the lowest systemic hormone dose of any hormonal method because it is released at such a steady low dose by the implant. As a consequence, menses are irregular in up to 40 percent of women. This tends to improve over time and is tolerated better by some than others.

Depo-Provera, on the other hand, suppresses menses entirely by one year of use, and it can take 5 to 18 months for fertility to return. There is concern that inadequate estrogen will be available for bone density protection as a consequence of the estrogen suppression. There is reversible bone loss over time on Depo-Provera, and the FDA has required the company to do a prospective study of bone density in users. Because both the shot and the implant cannot be immediately reversed once they start, I encourage women to try the pill first, unless they can't remember to take a daily pill or can't tolerate the estrogen. There is also a vaginal ring, Nuvaring, that contains both estrogen and progestin and lasts three weeks, which is popular with women who forget their daily pill.

Transdermal combined estrogen/progestin can be delivered in a contraceptive patch and is available as Ortho Evra. It was approved by the FDA in 2002 and delivers 20 mcg of ethinyl estradiol and 150 mcg of norelgestromin, an active metabolite of norgestimate. The regimen is to apply a patch once weekly for three consecutive weeks, followed by a patch-free week. It has a side effect profile similar to the oral contraceptives, although recent concerns have been raised about higher blood levels of estrogen in women on the patch than on the birth control pill. The newer estrogen patch is associated with about 60 percent higher blood levels of estrogen than the equivalent version in an oral pill. This increase in estrogen levels can expose women to a higher risk of clotting. Clearly, this issue needs to be discussed with your health-care practitioner.

STERILIZATION

Sterilization for men and women is still a widely used form of birth control. For men, this is a vasectomy. For women, there is now an alternative to a tubal ligation, called Essure. Tiny springs are inserted into the openings of the fallopian tubes from the cavity of the uterus, so no surgery is done. It can be provided in an outpatient setting. A doctor uses a speculum, dilates the cervix, inserts a flexible fiber optic scope to see inside the uterus, then threads the springs into the tubes.

You must have a tubal dye x-ray test three months after insertion to check that tissue grew into the springs and blocked the tubes, indicating a successful sterilization.

ABORTION

Unfortunately, all methods of birth control can fail. Humans make mistakes. Women have sex against their wills. For all these reasons and more, abortion will always be with us, and it bears a mention in a discussion of fertility control. Women practiced abortion long before they practiced birth control, because that's what was available to them. The last measurable drop in maternal mortality in the United States occurred with the legalization of abortion in 1973. Abortion has never been safer, with mortality at 0.25 deaths per 100,000 women-about 20 times safer than childbirth.¹⁹ Unfortunately, the political fracas around abortion-and the real risk to workers and patients of clinic violence-has made access to abortion more rather than less difficult in recent times. We must recall that the battle for birth control was nearly as emotional; perhaps someday we will see this struggle resolved as well.

In the interim, if you choose an abortion, consult your regular provider first. Gynecologists and family doctors need to realize how many women (1.5 million per year) in all walks of life need this

62 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

service and how judged they feel—most obviously by "pro-life" practitioners, but also by their prochoice doctors who send them across town to a clinic just because it's easier for that doctor. If your gynecologist won't help, go to one of the wonderful women-run and supported clinics that provide the service out of love and respect for women. Their doctors are very experienced, with extremely low complication rates. Emergency contraception can be obtained at most clinics as well, although emergency contraception is now available over the counter for women over the age of 18. Rather than a surgical abortion, medical abortion with a drug called mifepristone (Ru-486) is a good option for early pregnancies, and it offers a method of abortion that aligns much more naturally with our bodies. The medical abortion is just like a miscarriage. There is more bleeding and cramping than a period, but it occurs within a 4to 24-hour period, and 98 percent of the time avoids surgery altogether. The infection rate is lower, and the chance of significant uterine injury, already miniscule, is further lowered. Many women are quite pleased with this method.

Summary of Contraceptive Choices Side effects such as weight change, irregular **Birth Control Pills** bleeding Advantages Effectiveness Continuous contraceptive protection when taken 99 percent or greater correctly Reversible **Tubal Ligation** Other possible health benefits Advantages Disadvantages Continuous contraceptive protection Has to be taken daily Increases the risk of blood clots, heart attack, and Disadvantages stroke, especially in smokers over age 35 Permanent Side effects such as nausea, weight gain, headaches A surgical procedure Effectiveness Effectiveness 99 percent or greater 99 percent or greater **Depo-Provera Injections** Essure Advantages **Advantages** Continuous contraceptive protection for up to 5 Continuous contraceptive protection vears Insertion through vagina and uterus; no surgery is Reversible needed Don't need to remember to take a daily pill or use a device Disadvantages Disadvantages Permanent Requires a visit to a practitioner for quarterly Effectiveness iniections 99 percent or greater Delayed fertility after stopping the injections (continued)

Summary of Contraceptive Choices (continued)

Intrauterine Device (Copper IUD)

Advantages

Continuous contraceptive protection for up to 10 years Don't need to remember to take a daily pill or use a device Reversible

Disadvantages

May be expelled by the uterus; may perforate the uterus Increases the risk for PID

May cause heavier bleeding and menstrual cramps

Effectiveness

97 to 99 percent

Intrauterine Device (Progestin IUD)

Advantages

Continuous contraceptive protection for at least 5 vears

Don't need to remember to take a daily pill or use a device

May decrease menstrual cramps and heavy bleeding Reversible

Disadvantages

May be expelled by the uterus; may perforate the uterus Increases the risk for PID

Effectiveness

97 to 99 percent

Condom (Alone)

Advantages

Easily obtained Inexpensive Best method for protection against STIs Better results when used with a spermicide

Disadvantages

May reduce sexual sensation Less sexual spontaneity Condoms may break Male partner must agree

Effectiveness

88 to 98 percent

Diaphragm (with Spermicide)

Advantages

Insert up to 6 hours before intercourse Noninvasive method Inexpensive

Disadvantages

Must leave in for at least 8 hours after intercourse Must reapply spermicide for repeat intercourse Discomfort Must be able to insert by oneself Increases the risk of urinary tract infections

Effectiveness

82 to 94 percent

FemCap

Advantages

Insertion before sexual arousal Easy fittings Inexpensive

Disadvantages

Must leave in for 6 to 8 hours after intercourse Vaginal odor and discharge May be uncomfortable to insert

Effectiveness

82 to 94 percent

Spermicide (Alone)

Advantages

Easy to obtain and use Good results when used with cervical caps, condoms, or diaphragms Inexpensive

(continued)

Summary of Contraceptive Choices (continued)

Disadvantages

Must be inserted within half hour prior to intercourse Reapplication necessary for repeated intercourse May be messy Allergies in some people May increase the risk of urinary tract infections, especially with diaphragms

Effectiveness

79 to 97 percent

CYSTITIS

OVERVIEW

Ten to twenty percent of all women have some kind of urinary discomfort or infection at least once a year. Acute uncomplicated cystitis (infection of the bladder) and recurrent cystitis are two important categories of urinary tract infections in adults. Distinguishing between uncomplicated and complicated urinary tract infections (UTIs) is important because they may require different evaluation tests and procedures, as well as different types and duration of treatment plans. A complicated infection is associated with a condition that increases the risk of urinary tract infections or is associated with an increased likelihood of treatment failure such as HIV, diabetes, or having a catheter. An uncomplicated infection is one that lasts less than one week, is unaccompanied by a fever, and presents itself in low-risk individuals, such as nonpregnant, otherwise healthy women.

Symptoms of uncomplicated cystitis include painful and frequent urination, the urge to urinate even though the bladder may be nearly empty, and pressure and pain in the pelvic area. Acute cystitis is generally uncomplicated but may be complicated if the individual has a catheter or also has a stone in the bladder. It is not always possibly to classify someone as having a complicated or uncomplicated UTI based on urinary tract symptoms alone. However, there are factors that suggest the presence of a complicated UTI in women. These include:

- · Being elderly or young
- · Having a hospital-acquired infection
- Pregnancy
- Having a urinary catheter
- Having had a recent procedure involving urinary tract instrumentation

- Recent use of antibiotics
- Symptoms that have lasted longer than seven days
- Diabetes
- Immunosuppression (HIV, immunosuppressive medications)

Simple, short-duration therapies may not be appropriate for these situations.

It is reassuring that most of the acute UTIs that occur are uncomplicated. Health-care practitioners can generally assume that a premenopausal, sexually active woman who is not pregnant, has not been recently treated with antibiotics, and does not have a history of a genitourinary tract abnormality has uncomplicated cystitis if she presents with dysuria (painful or difficult urination), frequent urination, or urgency. It is even likely that most postmenopausal women who do not have a genitourinary tract abnormality have uncomplicated UTIs.

A narrow spectrum of microbes are responsible for the infections in young women with acute uncomplicated cystitis: Escherichia coli (80 percent), Staphylococcus saprophyticus (5 to 15 percent), and occasionally Klebsiella species, Proteus mirabilis, or other microorganisms. Bacteriuria (bacteria in the urine) is more common in women who are sexually active, and certain forms of contraception are associated with urinary tract infections. Sexual intercourse, diaphragm use with spermicide, spermicides used alone, oral contraceptives, delayed postcoital urination, and a history of a recent urinary tract infection all increase the risk of initial and recurrent infection. Sexual intercourse is the strongest risk factor for UTIs, independent of contraception influences. As many as 30 percent of women with cystitis symptoms may have subclinical upper urinary tract involvement.

Young women who present with acute pain with urination or difficult urination usually have either acute cystitis or acute urethritis due to *Chlamydia trachomatis*, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, or herpes simplex virus. Vaginitis due to candida or trichomonas can also involve dysuria. These problems can usually be differentiated on the basis of symptoms, physical exam, and urinalysis. A urine culture and vaginal cultures may also be needed.

Pregnancy is also a risk factor for UTI. The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) recommends that all pregnant women be screened for bacteriuria, even without symptoms. However, not all major authorities recommend this. Screening involves an initial urine culture in all women who are pregnant. If a pregnant woman has classic symptoms of an acute and uncomplicated cystitis and no previous history of bacteria in the urine without symptoms, some clinicians would go ahead and treat for cystitis, while others would do a urine culture before treating.

Recurrent infections, defined as more than three infections in six months or six to seven infections in a year, occur in about 20 percent of young women that have experienced a previous episode of cystitis. Over 90 percent of recurrences in young women are episodes of reinfection from exogenous sources that typically occur months apart. Recurrences due to a persistent focus of infection in the urinary tract or to anatomical or functional abnormalities are less common. Cases of recurrent cystitis should be cultured and documented at least once. Some women may need not only treatment but also continuous prophylaxis (preventive measures) or postcoital prophylaxis.

Postmenopausal women may also have frequent reinfections, which are often due to residual urine retention after voiding or to a lack of estrogen, which can cause marked changes in the vaginal and bladder microflora, including loss of lactobacilli and increased colonization by *E. coli*. Vaginal estrogen treatments are a key in restoring normal vaginal and bladder flora.

Diagnosis of a bladder infection can be based on symptoms and physical exam alone, a urine dipstick, urinalysis, and/or a urine culture. Basing the diagnosis on symptoms alone is considered reliable when the episodes are infrequent or occur less than three times per year. The urine dipstick test is a simple test performed in the practitioner's office that uses a dipstick of the urine to test for leukocyte esterase with or without urinary nitrite and pyuria (the presence of pus in the urine). There are problems with the sensitivity and specificity of the test, and it may be incorrectly negative if bladder bacteria have not had enough time to produce a sufficient amount of nitrite to be detectable. The accuracy of the test is also altered if the individual is eating a vegetable-free diet or is using a diuretic. The nitrite tests on the urine dip are frequently negative, even in the presence of two bacteria, S. saprophyticus and Enterococcus species. The leukocyte esterase test is more accurate than the nitrite test.

The urinalysis is a macroscopic and microscopic analysis of urine performed at the practitioner's office or the lab. The urine is examined for color and cloudiness, then examined under the microscope for white blood cells, red blood cells, epithelial cells (looking especially for an increased number or some sloughing down from the kidneys), bacteria, yeast, and crystals. The urine dipstick test is also done in a complete urinalysis.

A urine culture is often done after a history and physical exam suggests something other than an acute, uncomplicated UTI. If a recent UTI has just been treated and now the symptoms are recurring, a culture would identify the possibility of a resistant pathogen. Worrisome symptoms such as fever, malaise, and back pain over the kidney region suggest that the infection may have ascended the urinary tract and warrant a urine culture.

Other diagnostic evaluations of UTI such as a cystourethroscopy, ultrasound, or intravenous pyelogram should be considered in women who have recurrent UTIs. Even though these more sophisticated studies should be considered, it is also

KEY CONCEPTS

- UTIs are most commonly caused by the organism *E. coli*.
- UTIs are most common in young heterosexually active women.
- Sexual intercourse is the strongest risk factor for a UTI.
- Spermicides, diaphragms, and hormonal contraception all increase the risk for UTIs.
- Pregnant women and postmenopausal women are also at risk for UTIs due to the effect of hormones on the flora of the vagina, urethra, and bladder.
- Common diagnostic tests include the urine dipstick and the urine culture.

important to realize that some women may report symptoms that may sound like an infection, but are actually symptoms from an overactive bladder, interstitial cystitis, or a pelvic-floor problem such as a cystocele or uterine prolapse. Keep in mind that some recurrent UTIs are caused by anatomic factors such as a shorter urethra-to-anus length or birth defects in the urinary tract.

OVERVIEW OF Alternative treatments

For most bladder infections, a natural approach is usually very effective and the infection resolves quickly without recurrence or complications. The primary goals of a natural therapeutics approach are to:

- Enhance the individual's internal defenses against the infection by providing immune support
- Restore vaginal and bladder microflora, enhancing the flow of urine
- Promote a proper pH by acidifying the urine
- Prevent bacteria from adhering to the bladder lining

Simple goals, such as increasing the urinary flow, are easily accomplished by increasing the

PREVENTION

- Increase fluid intake.
- Urinate when you have the urge.
- Maintain bathroom hygiene.
- Wear cotton undergarments.
- Urinate after intercourse.
- Consider a different contraceptive method if you are getting recurring UTIs.
- Drink fresh juices, especially berry juices including cranberry and blueberry.
- Eat fermented milk products containing probiotic bacteria.
- Reduce dietary bladder irritants such as alcohol, chocolate, citrus fruits, coffee, black tea, tomatoes, vinegar, and sugar.

quantity of liquids. Water and herbal teas related to the treatment goals are the most logical choices. Sixty-four ounces of liquids per day is the common recommendation. Urinating after intercourse is also an important bladder hygiene practice that can prevent recurring UTIs.

The lactobacilli species are an especially effective means of alternative treatment for a couple of reasons. For one, they defend against E. coli, which causes the majority of urinary infections. A healthy vaginal ecology is dominated by lactobacilli species,1 bacteria that defend against both UTIs and infectious vaginitis. Studies have shown that women who have recurrent UTIs have a preponderance of uropathogens on the introitus and in the vagina.² Lactobacilli adhere to the uroepithelial cells and inhibit the adherence of pathogenic organisms such as E. coli to the cells, thereby preventing proliferation. In addition, the H2O2producing lactobacilli that are most commonly found in the normal bladder flora (Lactobacillus crispatus and Lactobacillus jensenii) can help to keep the bladder in its preferred acidic state.³

Nutrition

Since most UTIs are caused by *E. coli*, and this resides predominantly in the gastrointestinal tract,

it seems reasonable that the risk for infection might be altered by dietary influences and digestive health. In fact, the risk for infection changes with dietary modifications.⁴ The dietary and lifestyle habits of 139 women university students with a diagnosis of an acute UTI were compared with those of 185 age-matched women with no UTIs in the last five years. It was found that frequent consumption of fresh juices, especially berry juices, and fermented milk products containing probiotics was associated with a decreased risk of recurring UTIs. Consuming fermented milk products three or more times per week was better than less than one time per week. In this same study, frequency of intercourse was associated with increased risk of UTI as well.

Common probiotic-containing fermented milk products include *lactobacillus acidophilus* and kefir. Increasing garlic and onions in the diet may also be helpful due to their antimicrobial activity. They have been shown to inhibit the growth of *E. coli, Proteus, Klebsiella pneumonia, Staphylococcus*, and *Streptococcus*.^{5–7}

Other logical dietary considerations for women with recurring infections are to avoid excess sugar consumption, assess and avoid food allergens, and eat a diet that promotes healthy digestive function, including complex carbohydrates, high fiber, fermented dairy products, and healthy oils such as olive oil, nuts, and seeds.

Large amounts of fluids are highly recommended for preventing UTIs, as they literally flush out the urinary tract and dilute the concentration of disease-causing bacteria. Drink approximately 64 ounces (two liters) per day, including 16 ounces (500 ml) of unsweetened cranberry juice (see section on cranberry) and 8 ounces of blueberry juice (250 ml) daily.

Nutritional Supplements

Cranberry. No natural approach to cystitis would be complete without mention of cranberry. Women have used cranberry juice as a home remedy for decades. Several studies have shown that cranberries and cranberry juice are effective in women with active urinary tract infections.^{8–9} In a large randomized, controlled study, 300 ml (10 ounces) of cranberry juice was given to 153 elderly women with confirmed bacteruria.¹⁰ The level of bacteria in the urine and the frequency of recurring infections was dramatically decreased. In another study, 500 ml per day (17 ounces) of cranberry juice was shown to be helpful in 73 percent of the individuals with active UTIs.¹¹ In an older study, 16 ounces of cranberry juice daily was effective in 73 percent of individuals with an active infection.

This effectiveness is commonly attributed to cranberry juice's hippuric acid content, antibacterial effect, and acidity. However, studies have shown that components in cranberry juice reduce the ability of *E. coli* to adhere to the lining of the bladder and urethra.^{12–15}

Often, women prefer cranberry extracts instead of cranberry juice as unsweetened cranberry juice is unpalatable and sweetened cranberry is more challenging to the immune system. Cranberry extracts are available in capsule form and have been studied for prevention of UTIs. Cranberry extracts were compared with cranberry juice in a one-year randomized, controlled trial in 150 sexually active women of diverse ages.¹⁶ One tablet was given twice daily to women in one group, and 250 ml of cranberry juice was given three times per day to the other group. Both decreased the number of individuals who had at least one infection per year. Antibiotics were also used less in both the extract and the juice group, compared with the placebo group.

Cranberry extracts are less expensive than cranberry juice. Another advantage of the extracts is the concern that the oxalates in cranberry juice could contribute to kidney stone formation. While logical, no studies have yet demonstrated an increase in kidney stones after drinking cranberry juice.

Cranberry extracts can also be found in numerous combination herbal/nutritional for-

mulations along with uva-ursi, pipsissewa, Oregon grape root, marshmallow root, buchu, vitamin C, and others. Cranberry is safe for pregnant and lactating women.

Cranberry Extract

Acute infections: 400 mg 3 times daily or more Chronic, recurring infections: 400 mg 1–2 times daily

Lactobacilli. Probiotics, especially lactobacilli, are commonly used by alternative providers to prevent UTIs. Lactobacilli species predominate the vaginal and urinary tracts of healthy premenopausal women. Women who have recurring UTIs have an imbalance of their flora, and if we restored the flora, we could go a long way to prevent the infection-causing organisms from dominating.

A recent review was done of all studies on the role of lactobacilli and UTIs in 2006.¹⁷ From the studies that are available, probiotics appear to be beneficial for preventing recurrent UTIs in women. The *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* and *reuteri* (previously called *L. fermentum*) strains were found to be the most effective.

The hydrogen peroxide–producing lactobacilli are critical in maintaining acidity and inhibiting pathogenic bacteria from adhering to both the vaginal and bladder walls. In addition to consuming fermented dairy products with lactobacilli, vaginal suppositories and oral supplementation are good means of administering lactobacilli. In a small study, women with recurrent urinary tract infections were treated with *Lactobacillus casei* species topically and via suppository twice

Lactobacilli Species

Acute infections: 24 billion organisms or more per day for active treatment

Chronic, recurring infections: 8–16 billion organisms per day

Prevention: 2-8 billion organisms daily

weekly.¹⁸ Each patient had infection-free periods ranging from four weeks to six months.

Lactobacilli species are safe for pregnant and lactating women.

Vitamin C. The beneficial effects and functions of vitamin C are numerous and critical to optimal health. Vitamin C is involved in the manufacture of collagen, the main protein substance in the body, which results in its role in wound repair, connective tissue structures, vascular wall integrity, skin elasticity, healthy gums, and more. It is also critical to immune function, the absorption and utilization of other nutrients, and the manufacture of numerous hormones and nerve conduction substances, and it is an antioxidant. As early as the 1960s, ascorbic acid (vitamin C) was shown to be an effective urinary acidifying agent,¹⁹ a successful means of treating urethra and bladder infections.

While some of these functions help maintain normal tissue health of the bladder and urethra, vitamin C has some additional effects when it comes to treating UTIs. During a UTI, nitrates are often generated by bacteria in the urine. Acidifying nitrite forms nitric oxide along with other reactive nitrogen oxides that are toxic to a host of organisms, including cystitis-causing bacteria. A study examining the effects of ascorbic acid on nitrite in the urine and bacterial growth found that acidifying the urine, even mildly, generated large amounts of nitrous oxide, which was increased by larger amounts of ascorbic acid. As a result, the growth of three common bladder pathogens, E. coli, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Staphylococcus saprophyticus were significantly inhibited.20 These results provide a good ration-

Vitamin C

Acute infections: 500–2,000 mg every 2 hours for 2 days, then 500–2,000 mg 3 times daily for 5–10 days

Chronic, recurring infections: 1,000–3,000 mg daily Prevention: 500–1,000 mg daily ale for the beneficial effects of vitamin C for both prevention and treatment of UTIs.

Vitamin C is likely safe for pregnant and lactating women in controlled amounts: up to 2,000 mg per day in women over age 19 and up to 1,800 mg per day for women 14 to 18.

D-Mannose. D-mannose is a naturally occurring simple sugar contained in cranberry juice that is helpful in treatment of UTIs. D-mannose adheres to the bladder epithelium, interfering with the ability of the *E. coli* to adhere²¹ and cause infection. It is likely safe for pregnant and lactating women.

Mannose Powder

Acute infections: $\frac{1}{2}-1$ tsp 3 times daily Chronic, recurring infections: 1 tsp or more daily Prevention: $\frac{1}{2}-1$ tsp daily

Botanicals

Uva-Ursi (*Arctostaphylos Uva-Ursi*). One of the most useful herbs for bladder infection is uva-ursi (*Arctostaphylos uva-ursi*), also known as bearberry or upland cranberry. Uva-ursi has antiseptic, antibacterial, and astringent properties, largely due to its arbutin content. Uva-ursi is especially active against *E. coli* and has diuretic properties. Uva-ursi has also been used with recurrent bladder infections and was proven effective in a double-blind study of 57 women.²² After one year, 5 out of 27 women in the placebo group had a recurrence of cystitis, while none of 30 women had a recurrence in the uva-ursi group.

Historically, many herbalists have taught that herbs with arbutin work best in an alkaline environment. That would appear to present a problem given that acidifying the urine is a fundamental concept in the successful treatment of UTIs. This potential issue has not been a factor in the great success I've witnessed in treating UTIs by acidifying the urine with vitamin C while simultaneously using uva-ursi and other botanicals.

Because of its potential irritating and inflammatory effects on the urinary tract mucous membranes, uva-ursi is best used in combination with other botanicals. It is not safe for use by pregnant women and unknown whether or not it is safe for lactating women.

Uva-Ursi

Acute infections: $1-1\frac{1}{2}$ tsp tincture or 300 mg dried herb capsule every 3 hours for 2 days, then $1-1\frac{1}{2}$ tsp 3 times daily for 7 days

Chronic, recurring infections: best not to use more than 5 or 6 times per year; use in combination with soothing botanicals such as marshmallow Prevention: best not to use daily for long term

Pipsissewa (*Chimaphila umbellata*). Pipsissewa, a native plant of the Pacific Northwest and also known as chimaphila, bitter wintergreen, or ground holly, is a traditional remedy for urinary infections. As with uva-ursi, its antiseptic/mildly antimicrobial effects are attributed to its arbutin content. It has mildly diuretic, astringent, and antispasmodic properties as well, all important mechanisms in treating UTIs. Due to its arbutin content, this herb is best used for shorter-term use, or occasional use (up to four or five times per year), as for uva-ursi. It is unknown whether or not pipsissewa is safe for pregnant and lactating women.

Pipsissewa

Dried root: 1-2 g per day **Tincture:** $1-1\frac{1}{2}$ tsp per day

Best used in combination with other botanicals, for both acute and chronic recurring infections

Goldenseal (*Hydrastis Canadensis*) and Oregon Grape Root (*Berberis Aquifolium*). Goldenseal and Oregon grape root are two of the most important herbs for bladder infections due to their antimicrobial properties. Berberine, an alkaloid constituent found in the rhizome and root of these plants, has demonstrated antibacterial activity against *E. coli* species, *Klebsiella* species, *Staphylococcus*, and *Pseudomonas* species.^{23, 24} Berberine is effective against many bacteria and is also able to fight infections by inhibiting the bacteria from adhering to the host cell.²⁵ It is unsafe for pregnant women and best not used by lactating women.

Goldenseal

Freeze-dried root: 500-1,000 mg Dried root: 1-2 g per day Tincture: $1-1\frac{1}{2}$ tsp per day

Additional Botanicals. Other botanicals have been traditionally used for bladder infections with positive effect. The water-soluble mucilage herbs are known to be soothing to the irritated uroepithelium and reduce inflammation. These include corn silk for its soothing and

Sample Treatment Plans

See the Resources section for sources of herbal products.

Acute UTI

- Cranberry juice: 16 oz daily
- Increase water: 8 or more 8-oz glasses daily
- Vitamin C: 2,000 mg every 2 hours for 2 days, then 2 q 3 times daily for 7-10 days
- Combination herbal product such as cranberry, Oregon grape root, bucchu, uva-ursi, pipsissewa, marshmallow root: 2 capsules every 2 hours for 2 days, then 2 capsules 3 times daily for 5–10 days
- D-mannose: 1/2-1 tsp 3 times daily for 5-10 days

Chronic, Recurring UTI (3- to 6-Month Plan)

Premenopausal Women

- Urinate upon urge and after intercourse.
- Use condoms for intercourse.
- Increase fluids.
- Take the following supplements:

Combination herbal product: 1–2 capsules daily Cranberry extract: 400 mg twice daily Cranberry juice: 8–16 oz daily cooling effect on the urinary tract; marshmallow root due to its content of mucilage, which can form a protective layer on the lining of the bladder; and even plantain leaf with its high percentage of mucilage and allantoin.

Additional antimicrobial herbs for the bladder include bucchu, myrrh, propolis, and juniper berry. Numerous immune stimulants may be helpful, including echinacea, osha, and wild indigo root. Bladder tonics stimulate the flow of blood and nutrients to the urinary tract and may be useful adjunct herbs. These herbs include nettle leaves, goldenrod, kava, and horsetail. Dandelion leaf, bucchu, and parsley root have diuretic effects and increase the flow of urine to help flush the bacteria.

> Oral probiotics: 8–16 billion organisms daily Mannose: ¹/2–1 tsp daily; more if needed

Postmenopausal Women

- Urinate upon urge and after intercourse.
- Use condoms for intercourse.
- Increase fluids.
- Take the following supplements: Combination herbal product: 1-2 capsules

daily Cranberry extract: 400 mg twice daily Cranberry juice: 8–16 oz daily Oral probiotics: 8–16 billion organisms per day Mannose: ½–1 tsp daily; more if needed Intravaginal estriol (1 mg/g): insert 1 g twice daily for 2 weeks, then twice weekly as maintenance dose; or estriol suppositories (1 mg): insert 1 daily for 2 weeks, then twice weekly as maintenance dose

• Consider oral hormone therapy.

With these prevention and treatment strategies, it will rarely be necessary to use antibiotics for acute, chronic, or recurring UTIs. Please consult with your practitioners about use of these products in pregnancy and lactation or if you are taking medications. **Intravaginal Estriol.** In postmenopausal women, other influences are important to consider for chronic recurring UTIs. Lower estrogen states result in fewer lactobacilli in the vagina and bladder. Fortunately, vaginal estrogens are a very safe and effective solution. Intravaginal estriol effectively treats recurring UTIs in postmenopausal women²⁶ by restoring the normal vaginal flora and reducing the risk of vaginal *E. coli* colonization. Other, more commercially available vaginal estrogens are also used for this same purpose.

Intravaginal Estriol

For chronic, recurring infections and for prevention: intravaginal compounded estriol: 1 mg/g, insert

1 g twice daily, long term

This is a prescription item. Discuss the issue of using a progestational agent with your licensed primary care practitioner, although most women will not need such an agent when using this low dose of vaginal estriol.

CONVENTIONAL MEDICAL APPROACH

The diagnosis of UTI in conventional practice is the same as that for alternative medicine. Conventional treatment, however, relies primarily on antibiotic therapy. For uncomplicated urinary tract infections, especially those following sexual intercourse, culture and sensitivity testing are not mandatory, and any antibiotic except penicillin will likely be effective. (Most gram-negative bacterial isolates are resistant to penicillin.) The most commonly used agents are nitrofurantoin macrocrystals (100 mg twice a day), trimepthoprim-sulfamethoxazole doublestrength (twice a day), or a fluoroquinolone such as ciprofloxacin (500 mg twice a day).

Cephalexin (500 mg three or four times a day) is another reasonable choice, but the dosing schedule may be onerous for most patients. The current recommendation is for three days of oral therapy. If three days of therapy does not result in resolution of symptoms, a culture is recommended and the antibiotic changed pending sensitivities. Most practitioners, in such a circumstance, will treat for a longer period, usually seven days.

Recurrent uncomplicated urinary tract infections, particularly in young, sexually active women, may require what is called prophylactic (prevention) therapy to allow the bladder's depleted defenses to regenerate. This involves either a single dose of antibiotic daily, a single dose of antibiotic following intercourse, or one or two doses of antibiotic at the onset of early symptoms prior to a full-blown UTI.

Women who have structural or functional urinary tract abnormalities or who are immunocompromised develop complicated UTIs and require more aggressive evaluation and treatment. The workup will depend on the nature of the symptoms and the clinical situation.

Generally, complicated infections are treated for 7 to 21 days. A "test-of-cure" culture should be done approximately 5 to 7 days after completing therapy. In rare cases, when the response to the antibiotic does not occur, surgery may be required to drain or remove the focus of infection.

Conventional medicine has also borrowed freely from the naturopathic community, commonly employing prophylactic regimens of cranberry preparations and acidophilus. Blueberries also have abundant proanthocyanidins and are, therefore, recommended as well. Current literature discourages the use of vitamin C, as it has not proven to be of benefit. In the postmenopausal population, topical estrogen therapy has also been shown to prevent infection.

Due to the prevalence of UTI among women, there is a great impetus to develop new, non-antimicrobial preventative therapies. The most promising current work involves vaccines delivered transvaginally. Multiple applications of the vaccine are required to confer resistance to infection. In the recent past, bacteriophages, viruses that invade bacteria, were developed by the Russians to treat resistant pathogens. This technology was brought to the United States and tested briefly, but further development was tabled because the bacteria rapidly became resistant to the treatment. Scientists therefore continue to seek more ideal means of preventing and eradicating infection. In the meantime, we are barely able to keep one step ahead of the bacteria.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

There are some definite situations as to when a licensed practitioner should be consulted. Certainly, this list includes women with urinary symptoms who are pregnant, have catheters, have had symptoms for longer than seven days, are immunocompromised (immunosuppressive drugs, HIV), or have chronic kidney disease or diabetes. Women who have recurring infections should probably be evaluated for underlying causes as well as more sophisticated treatments. In addition, if you have symptoms of a bladder infection, plus a fever, this warrants a practitioner visit right away, as it may indicate that the infection has traveled to the kidneys. Blood in the urine is another sign when one should see a practitioner.

It is important to keep in mind that sexually transmitted infections due to chlamydia, gonorrhea, or herpes simplex cause similar symptoms to bladder infections, as do yeast or bacterial vaginal infections. Making an accurate diagnosis is a key to successful treatment. A thorough history, physical, and laboratory test are the main ways a practitioner can diagnose UTIs. Whether it's alternative or conventional treatment, selfcare should be limited to simple, uncomplicated, acute bladder infections that occur only once or twice per year. This page intentionally left blank

ENDOMETRIOSIS

OVERVIEW

Endometriosis, one of the most common yet misunderstood diseases, affects 10 to 15 percent of menstruating women between the ages of 24 and 40 years. In some cases, symptoms begin with the onset of menstruation. In others, symptoms begin later and progressively become worse until menopause. The triad of symptoms includes dysmenorrhea (pain with menses), dyspareunia (pain with vaginal intercourse), and infertility. Acute pain occurs before menses and can last for a day or two during menses or throughout the month. This pain can be a lifedisrupting experience, affecting a woman's social relationships, work, school, and well-being. For some women, vomiting, diarrhea, and fainting can occur along with intense labor-like pains. Other pain is described as chronic bearing-down pain and pressure on the lower back and pelvis, sometimes radiating down the legs. Other less common complaints include pain with urination and bowel movements and bleeding from the nose, bladder, and/or bowels. Endometriomas, enlarged areas of ectopic endometrial involvement on the ovaries, are found in two out of three patients with endometriosis.1

Early research as to the source of infertility initially led to the concept that endometriosis was a "working woman's disease." Women who delayed pregnancy until later in life and were found to have endometriosis were told to "just get pregnant." Current research does not support this concept. However, research as to altered immune action within the pelvic cavity and the possibility of antibody reactions to sperm has prompted recognition of an immunological basis for endometriosis. Other studies suggest that infertility is a cause of endometriosis, due to the unruptured follicle, rather than a result.² Whether endometriosis causes infertility or infertility causes endometriosis, tubal scarring, adhesions, and unruptured follicles are common with women having endometriosis and infertility problems.

The main risk factor for endometriosis is heredity. The likelihood for a woman who has a first-degree relative with severe endometriosis having endometriosis is six times higher than that for relatives of women without the disease.³ Women with menstrual cycles that are shorter in time between cycles and longer in length have been found to be at higher risk for endometriosis.⁴ Increased or altered estrogen levels, lack of exercise from early age, a high-fat diet, and use of intrauterine devices have also been found to be risk factors. Even natural red hair color was found in one study to be a factor in the development of endometriosis.⁵

Baboons who developed endometriosis in captivity were found to have higher stress levels and a decreased ability to react to stress compared to those in the wild, suggesting a stress factor.⁶ Individuals who exercised consistently from an early age reported a decreased risk for endometriosis, while those who began an exercise program later on experienced less painful periods. Although not all women with endometriosis have a childhood history of abuse, a greater number of individuals with adhesions and/or endometriosis have reported abuse in their history.7 Additional possible risk factors include prenatal exposure to high levels of estrogen and pelvic contamination with menstrual products, although these issues are largely theory and research is needed.

Physical examination reveals one or more of the following: tenderness of the pelvic area and/or cul-de-sac (a deep pouch anterior to the rectum, separating the uterus from the large intestine); enlarged or tender ovaries; a uterus that tips backward and lacks mobility; fixed pelvic structures; and adhesions. Endometrial tissue can be found on surgical scar tissue, in the vagina, and on the cervix. Physical examination during the first or second day of menses highlights tender areas in the septum between the rectum and vagina, most likely correlated with deeply infiltrating endometriosis.⁸

An ultrasound study can determine the consistency of the endometriomas (areas of cystic endometriosis within the ovary). Evidence of endometriosis other than on the ovaries cannot be seen on the ultrasound. Although magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can detect endometriomas, cost prevents widespread use. A blood test called a CA-125 can have positive results in endometriosis. The problem is that a high CA-125 cannot completely differentiate endometriosis from uterine fibroids, cancerous growths, and normal tissue. High levels of CA-125 have been found in stages III and IV of endometriosis, which are the diagnoses for more advanced endometriosis.9 The CA-125 test may, however, help in monitoring treatment and progression once endometriosis has been confirmed. However, this test is not used by many practitioners.

Definitive diagnosis of endometriosis can only be accomplished with a biopsy using either of the following two surgical procedures. A laparoscopy is a surgical procedure in which the surgeon inserts a scope through one of two very small pelvic incisions. More invasive, a laparotomy consists of major pelvic and/or abdominal surgery.

Endometrial implants or lesions are known to have similarities to uterine tissue—featuring endometrial glands, endometrial stroma, and hemorrhage into adjacent tissue. Growth of this tissue may be stimulated by estrogen. Therapeutic treatment aimed at manipulating the body's own level of hormones as in menopause or pregnancy has had a positive effect. In some individuals, the implants have their own cycle, with an ebb and flow that differ from the estrogen binding during the menstrual cycle.¹⁰

Although the most commonly accepted theories of origin today vary and sometimes seem contradictory, they all have their place in holistic approaches to the treatment of endometriosis. The predominant theory first proposed by Dr. John Albertson Sampson in 1927 is the theory of retrograde flow-that during menses, blood flows backward and becomes seeds of implants in the pelvic cavity.11 This theory and research showing that over 90 percent of menstruating women without endometriosis have retrograde flow have raised questions as to the biochemical and immunological differences causing implantation within the pelvic environment.¹² Endometrial implants from women with endometriosis compared with normal women have been found to be biochemically different.13 Other studies suggest that cells may only implant in women with altered cell immunity.14 As implants are found in the nose, lungs, and other organs far from the uterus, transportation through lymphatic channels and blood vessels has been suggested. Still other researchers believe the implants to be of embryological origin, pieces of the uterus left behind during development, which, when activated, secrete a chemical causing the nearby capillaries to bleed.15 Research on baboons with endometriosis suggests activation by environmental toxins that mimic estrogens.16

Whether implants are caused by retrograde flow, decreased immune function, genetic factors, environmental influences, or embryological development or are stimulated by high estrogen levels from the environment or within the body, the worsening of symptoms prompts individuals to seek medical help. There is not necessarily a correlation between pain and the extent of the disease. Women with fixed ovaries and large endometriomas may only report mild discomfort, while those with visibly smaller lesions may report severe and chronic pain. Upon surgery, these lesions are found to extend more deeply; they are possibly more influenced by circulating estrogens.¹⁷ Research has found that the severity of symptoms is correlated with the depth of the lesions rather than the number of lesions.¹⁸

The abnormalities found in women with endometriosis and the conditions that may predispose them to it are complex. Some discussion, however, will help guide us toward more effective management and a better understanding of treatment options.

Genetic Factors

Groupings of endometriosis within families has been found in clinical studies,3, 19 populationsbased studies,20 and even studies of twins.21-23 Several analyses of the locations on the genes that are shared by siblings indicate abnormalities in detoxification enzymes. This would lead to susceptibilities to environmental exposures to substances that could then lead to the increase in the disease. Other insights have included that the genes involved are associated with tumor suppressor genes. If these tumor suppressor genes are affected, there is susceptibility to abnormal tissue growth, such as the endometriosis. Aberrantly expressed genes can also occur during the time of implantation, which may be an explanation for some of the cases of endometriosis-associated infertility. Other genetic errors may occur in multistep fashion involving both the development and the progression of the disease.²⁴

Environmental Factors

Information about environmental influences on endometriosis in humans has been gleaned by observing the negative effects of environmental exposures to rhesus monkeys. Radiation exposure and dioxin exposure have lead to higher frequency of developing endometriosis in monkeys.^{25, 26} It would seem plausible to extend this consideration to environmental effects on women, especially when it was reported that the highest dioxin pollution in the world was in Belgium, which also has the highest incidence of severe endometriosis.²⁷ In two studies since, however, one in Belgium found no significantly increased risk with dioxins or polychlorinated biphenyls,²⁸ and in Italy, no significantly increased risk of endometriosis was seen in women who had high levels of dioxin in their blood.²⁹

Currently, there is no epidemiological study definitively linking any one class of chemicals to the risk of endometriosis, although there appears to be some suggestion of a link with estrogen-like compounds in the environment³⁰ called xenoestrogens, which can disrupt estrogen and estrogen metabolism. Substances that have been shown to have estrogenic effects in the body include polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), weed killers, substances that line cans, plastics, detergents, and household cleaners.³¹

Despite this lack of identification of a definitive link between chemical exposures and endometriosis, we do know that women are exposed to a multitude of chemicals in utero, in childhood, peripubertally (the time around the appearance of secondary sex characteristics such as pubic hair), and as adults. We can identify chemicals in cosmetics, nail polish, plastics, household cleaners, dry cleaning, and foods. A survey by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (the National Report on Human Exposure to Environmental Chemicals) is currently underway, which monitors 145 chemicals in 2,500 people in the United States.³²

I would assert that the roles of toxic chemicals in reproductive health should not be underestimated, and that scientific investigations that "suggest a correlation" should be motivation enough to reduce the toxic exposure to chemical estrogen-like compounds that disrupt our own bodies' hormone-receptive tissues.

The Immune Connection

Increasingly, we are finding evidence that a lack of proper surveillance by the immune system in the pelvic area is the cause of endometriosis, and alterations in other aspects of the immune system are involved in the progression of the disease.³³

In studies on the immunological functions of baboons with spontaneous (noninduced) endometriosis, researchers have found a correlation between suppressed immunity and a higher number and greater area of lesions.³⁴ Both types of immunity, cell mediated and humoral, have been implicated in endometriosis, with immunological defects present even in the mildest forms of the disease.35 Macrophages (a kind of white blood cell) that scavenge other microbes, debris, and aberrant tissue are found in greater numbers in the early stages of endometriosis.³⁶ This increase in macrophage activity may correlate with decreased fertility and possible reaction to sperm perceived by the woman's body as foreign.³⁷ In the peritoneal fluid (fluid aspirated from the area behind the membrane lining the abdominopelvic wall) of women with severe endometriosis, natural killer cell activity has been found to be suppressed.^{38, 39} Natural killer cells release cell toxins and thus help keep tumor and other abnormal cells in check. By a decrease in natural killer cells, the immune defense against the growth of tissue is decreased. Interestingly, studies suggest a correlation between high estradiol levels and decreased killer cell activity.40

Humoral immunity is the component of the immune system that produces antibodies, more specifically immunoglobulins, which are produced by B lymphocytes. These immunoglobulins provide protection to the body by their attachment to foreign substances called antigens. Patients with endometriosis have been found to have high levels of immunoglobulins IgG and IgM when compared with normal controls.41 Higher than normal amounts of immunoglobulins cause destruction of the body's own tissue, as seen in autoimmune conditions. Evidence of high levels of autoantibodies against ovarian and endometrial cells is consistent with the finding of individuals who have both endometriosis and autoimmune diseases.42,43

Numerous changes in the makeup of the peritoneal fluid are also evident in women with endometriosis. Immune cells that mediate the inflammatory reaction such as cytokines, macrophages, T lymphocytes, and tumor necrosis factors have all been found to be increased in concentration in the peritoneal fluid in women with endometriosis,44-46 and their increase correlates with the severity of the disease. Growth factors, angiogenic factors (increasing blood supply to areas of endometriosis tissue), and lipid peroxidation in the peritoneal fluid may stimulate the endometrial cell growth. Targeting these proinflammatory compounds and blocking their action with antioxidants and other compounds provide a good rationale for new treatment strategies, both conventional and with natural compounds.

As mentioned earlier, irregular cycles are common among women with endometriosis. Anovulatory cycles (lack of ovulation), premenstrual spotting (very light bleeding before the onset of the menstrual flow), luteal phase defects (abnormal length of the second half of the menstrual cycle), and salivary progesterone secretion are altered in women with endometriosis.⁴⁷ Since higher estrogen levels are implicated in endometriosis, it is not surprising that heavy smokers have a decreased risk for endometriosis if they began smoking earlier in life, as smoking is known to decrease estrogen levels.48 In addition, an increased body fat placement indicative of increased estrogen levels was also found to be correlated with a higher incidence of endometriosis.49 Since estrogens are known to stimulate endometrial implants, women on hormone replacement therapy have been known to experience a recurrence of endometriosis.⁵⁰

The Role of the Liver and the Gut in Hormone Metabolism

The liver has the enormous task of breaking down estrogen and secreting metabolites through the bile into the large intestine. Whether hormones are produced naturally within the body, are provided through medication, or enter the body as substances from the environment that mimic estrogen, optimal functioning of the liver is imperative in maintaining a healthy balance.⁵¹ Inappropriate breakdown of estrogen can result in local liver damage, continual recycling of estrogens, and alterations in immune function. Since the liver is involved in breaking down 80 to 90 percent of the hormones in the body, it follows that optimal liver function can be of benefit in treatment.

The large intestine, which contains different types of microflora or gut organisms, has a unique role in the excretion and recycling of estrogen. The liver inactivates estrogen by attaching a bond between glucuronic acid and the estrogen molecule and excreting this substance with the bile. Some "unfriendly" bacteria in the large intestine, however, secrete an enzyme called beta-glucaronidase that breaks down these bonds, releasing a strong estrogen that is then recycled back through the body. In order to produce this enzyme, these bacteria feed on fat taken in by the body. However, the balance can be restored by greater numbers of the "friendly" bacteria that feed on fiber and crowd out the "unfriendly" bacteria. With a balance of the "friendly" bacteria in the large intestine, a higher amount of inactivated estrogen metabolites leave the body through the large intestine, preventing their reactivation and movement back through the body.⁵²

Endometriosis is a complex disease with a variety of interconnecting influences. Enhancing the immune system, the endocrine system, and the liver's detoxification of hormones; reducing and blocking proinflammatory chemicals produced by the body; and providing optimal health in the large intestine represent innovative and effective approaches to the treatment of endometriosis. Considering the long-term consequences of endometriosis—pain, disability, and disruption in personal, family, and work activities innovative approaches that treat the whole body and remove the cause promise a light at the end of the tunnel.

OVERVIEW OF Alternative treatments

While analgesics, anti-inflammatories and estrogenblockers temporarily relieve symptoms, the need for a long-term definitive treatment that involves removal of the cause is imperative. A systemic approach to treatment that takes into consideration a multifaceted cause with long-term and acute symptomatic relief is the goal of alternative therapy. While late-stage endometriosis may only be addressed by radical surgery, early treatment, in the form of stimulation of the body's inherent ability to heal through enhancing the immune system, restoring proper inflammatory responses, balancing hormones, and aiding in the

KEY CONCEPTS

- A gynecological checkup is imperative with any type of pelvic pain to rule out any pelvic or abdominal abnormality.
- Provide symptom relief for acute pain.
- Provide removal of cause (endocrine, immune, environmental, liver).
- Create a plan for treatment of the chronic problem.
- Optimize nutritional intake and avoid environmental toxins.

PREVENTION

- Eat nutritious whole foods. Include foods known to reduce inflammation such as fish, curries, and garlic and high amounts of fruits and vegetables, whole grains, and legumes. Reduce red meat, especially grain-fed meat.
- Get regular exercise.
- Avoid pesticides, chemicals, solvents, and heavy metals.
- Eat organic foods.
- Drink purified water.
- Maintain good digestion and regular bowel habits.
- Avoid alcohol.

liver's ability to break down environmental and naturally occurring estrogen, is worthy of consideration.

Certain foods and supplements aid in enhancing the body's ability to mount a natural immune response. Optimal liver function involves enhancing the liver's ability to detoxify hormones, excess medicines, and toxins through two main phases, called phase I and phase II detoxification. Individuals who have decreased function of the first pathway continue to recycle hormones, toxins, and other products harmful to the body. If the second detoxification pathway is dysfunctional, the metabolic products of the first pathway build up and can become even more toxic, decreasing immune response and accumulating as oxygen free radicals. These metabolites can cause tissue injury and formation of adhesions.53 Healthy elimination of these metabolites assures that the body doesn't get a chance to reabsorb them.

Nutrition, exercise, and healthy lifestyle practices play a preventive role in providing immune support and a healthy body's response to added stressors and imbalances of hormones. Women who exercise and eat less fat and sugar produce less estrogen. Vegetarian women excrete two to three times more estrogen in their feces and have half as much estrogen in their blood as meat-eaters.⁵⁴ Additional approaches in the area of mind-body medicine recognize that belief systems and emotional health affect optimal physical health.

Nutrition

The goods news is that there are numerous nutritional influences related to endometriosis. This means we can take an active part in prevention and management of the condition.

A recent retrospective study of over 500 women with endometriosis concluded that there was a significant decrease in risk of developing endometriosis with a greater consumption of green vegetables and fresh fruit, and an increase in risk was associated with high intake of beef and other red meat.⁵⁵

Foods high in fiber are associated with optimal transit time in the intestines and an optimal balance of friendly microorganisms within the large intestine.56 These microorganisms, better known as gut flora, crowd out the other types of flora that play a role in metabolizing estrogen. Studies suggest that an intake of less protein and high fiber or a vegetarian diet lead to a decrease of biologically active estrogens in blood plasma.54 While higher protein diets are found to provide enzymes for the detoxification pathways of estradiol,57 vegetarian diets are of greater value due to their lower fat content. Animal protein diets, especially egg yolks, poultry, and red meat, contain large amounts of arachidonic acid, which promotes inflammatory prostaglandins and thus inflammation and pain. By enhancing your diet with vegetable protein, soy, almond and other nut butters, and salmon, you tip the inflammatory pathway toward anti-inflammatory prostaglandins that inhibit tumor growth-and possibly endometrial growth. Interestingly, a recent study in Japan demonstrated that moderate isoflavone intake from soy was significantly associated with a decreased risk of premenopausal hysterectomy. This data led the authors to conclude that moderate soy intake may decrease the risk for diseases like endometriosis, which commonly precipitate premenopausal hysterectomies.58 Another study of 50 women with endometriosis examined the effect of dietary changes, specifically the reduction of glycemic carbohydrates, the addition of omega-3 and omega-9 fatty acids, and the elimination of foods with caffeine and tyramine, and found a significant reduction in symptoms after eight weeks.59

By increasing intake of vegetables, specifically those that enhance liver function, the buildup of toxins and metabolites that produce cell damage is prevented. Liver-friendly foods to increase are carrots, kale, and the cabbage family vegetables due to their known help in phase II of the liver's detoxification pathway. Indole-3-carbinol (I3C), found in broccoli, brussels sprouts, cabbage, and cauliflower, favors the less active form of estrogen.⁶⁰ Other liver-cleansing foods include beets, carrots, artichokes, lemons, dandelion greens, watercress, and burdock root. Onions, garlic, and leeks contain organosulfur compounds that enhance the immune system and induce enzymes that detoxify the liver. In addition, they contain the bioflavonoid quercitin, which is known to stimulate the immune response, protect against oxidation, block the inflammatory response, and inhibit tumor growth.⁶¹ By eating as many of your vegetables as possible in an organic form, you cut down on your intake of pesticides that may also mimic estrogen.

Use seasonings such as turmeric (curcumin) that protect against environmental carcinogens, decrease inflammation, and increase bile secretion. Ginger is helpful with many types of inflammation—and helps with liver detoxification. Adding a tablespoon of soaked and ground milk thistle seeds each day can also help with liver function. Grind a tablespoon of fresh flaxseeds and place on cereals or salads. The increase in lignans from these seeds aids in providing fiber as well as an oil that helps in the anti-inflammatory pathway. Seasoning with fucus (a seaweed) helps stimulate T cell production and absorb toxins.⁶²

Foods to omit or decrease include sugar, caffeine, egg yolks, poultry, red meat, and alcohol. Sugar is known to increase estrogen levels in men; presumably the effect is similar in women.⁶³ Endometriosis is found to be correlated with caffeine consumption. Women consuming 5,000 to 7,000 mg of caffeine per month had a 1.2 times greater incidence of endometriosis, while those consuming over 7,000 mg per month had a 1.6 times increase.⁶⁴ One cup of coffee contains 120 mg of caffeine; one cup of black tea contains 60 mg; one cup of decaffeinated contains about 2 mg of caffeine.

The Environmental Protection Agency estimates that 90 percent of human dioxin exposure is through food, primarily meat and dairy products.⁶⁵ Egg yolks, meat, and poultry cause the lipid

Dietary Recommendations

- Eat a high-fiber diet.
- Eat a high-protein vegetarian diet.
- Increase intake of vegetables, nuts, and seeds.
- Use turmeric, ginger, milk thistle, and flaxseeds.
- Omit or decrease alcohol, dairy, red meat, sugar, and caffeine.
- Eat cold water fish (salmon, tuna, sardines, mackerel, herring) 2 or 3 times per week.
- Eat organic foods.

pathway to be tipped toward prostaglandins and leukotrienes that cause inflammation, smooth muscle contraction, and vascular constriction. Alcohol use depletes stores of B vitamins in the liver and also has estrogenic effects on the body.

Nutritional Supplements

Before beginning the discussion on nutritional supplements, it is important to explain the concepts of free radicals, antioxidants, and free radical scavengers. There are several ways to define a free radical, but a definition I like is, "an atom or group of atoms that has at least one unpaired electron and is therefore unstable and highly reactive." Antioxidants such as vitamins C and E, selenium, carotenes, and others are molecules that defend the body from cellular damage by ending the free radical chain reaction before vital molecules are harmed. These are often referred to as "free radical scavengers."

Vitamin C. Studies using vitamin C show increase in cellular immunity and decreases in

Vitamin C

Take 6–10 g in divided doses daily, starting with 1,000 mg a day, then add 1,000 mg every 4 or 5 days until the stools become loose. At this point, back down to the previous dose of vitamin C so that the stools are normal in consistency.

autoimmune progression and fatigue.⁶⁶ In addition, vitamin C enhances immunity and decreases capillary fragility and tumor growth, all of which are involved at various levels in endometriosis. Studies on autoimmune progression indicate the effectiveness of high levels of vitamin C.⁶⁷

Beta-Carotene. Beta-carotene helps enhance immunity. Recent research shows that retinoids can help decrease IL-6, an inflammatory mediator, which has been implicated in endometriosis.68 In addition, studies show that use of beta-carotene increased T cell levels after seven days.⁶⁹ Beta-carotene was also shown to be protective against early stages of tumor growth.70 Impairment of phagocytosis (the engulfing of microorganisms, other cells, and foreign particles by white blood cells) is seen in vitamin Adeficient states.71 Although vitamin A was used in this study, one-third of beta-carotene is converted to the active form of vitamin A, retinol. Additional studies suggest that immune function is due to carotenoids rather than vitamin A.72

Beta-Carotene

50,000-150,000 IU daily

Vitamin E. Recent research demonstrates that free radicals may contribute to the inflammation and excessive growth of endometrial tissue seen in endometriosis, and in these circumstances, antioxidants such as vitamin E and N-acetyl cysteine can act to inhibit this abnormal proliferation.^{73, 74}

Vitamin E also helps to correct abnormal progesterone/estradiol ratios in patients with mammary dysplasia (increased growth of cells).⁷⁵ Since parallels have been found between abnormal tumor growth in cancer and abnormal growth of lesions in endometriosis, vitamin E supplementation may be advantageous. While secondary dysmenorrhea is usually involved with endometriosis, studies on the use of vitamin E with primary dysmenorrhea⁷⁶ show benefit perhaps through the inhibition of the arachidonic lipid pathway. Inhibiting the arachidonic pathway helps prevent the release of chemicals that would normally cause edema, inflammation, and smooth muscle contraction.

Vitamin E

400-800 IU daily

Essential Fatty Acids. Gamma-linolenic acid (borage, black currant, and evening primrose oils) and alpha-linolenic acid (flaxseed, canola, pumpkin seed, soy, and walnut oils) help decrease the inflammatory response on the tissue level through pathways that produce prostaglandins in the body. Depending on one of three main pathways of prostaglandin production, the effects can be helpful or harmful to the body. Animal fats produce a pathway of prostaglandin products that increase inflammation, muscle constriction, and edema. However, gamma-linolenic acid and alphalinolenic acid produce the opposite effects. These fatty acids taken in supplemental form can produce the prostaglandins that are involved in inhibiting tumor growth, dilating smooth muscle, and decreasing inflammation.77 Since endometriosis tissue, called implants, are thought to secrete chemicals that cause leakage from nearby capillary beds, decreasing the permeability of these vessels could help control the tissue destruction and adhesions, decreasing irritation in the pelvis. Recent research demonstrates that having a higher omega-3 to omega-6 fatty acid ratio may have a suppressive effect on the in vitro survival of endometrial cells, leading the authors to conclude that omega-3 fatty acids may be useful in the management of endometriosis by decreasing inflam-

Essential Fatty Acids

Eicosapentaenoic acid: 1,080 mg daily Docahexaenoic acid: 720 mg daily Alpha-linolenic or gamma-linolenic acid: 300 mg daily mation.⁷⁸ In an animal model, fish oils were found to decrease prostaglandin production and inhibit the growth of endometrial implants.⁷⁹

B Vitamins. B vitamins help the liver to inactivate estrogen. Studies suggest that supplementation of B vitamins may cause the liver to become more efficient in processing estrogen.⁸⁰

B Vitamins

50–100 mg B-vitamin complex; ${\rm B}_{\rm 6}$ should not exceed 200 mg daily

Selenium. Selenium aids in the synthesis of antioxidant enzymes responsible for detoxification reactions within the liver. In addition, selenium stimulates white blood cells and thymus function.⁸¹ Individuals with decreased selenium levels have suboptimal cell-mediated immunity, decreased numbers of T cells, and associated inflammation.⁸²

Selenium

200-400 mcg daily

Lipotropics. Lipotropics aid in promoting liver function and detoxification reactions. Supplements that contain choline (a B vitamin), betaine, and methionine promote the flow of fat and bile (containing estrogen metabolites) from the liver out through the large intestine.⁸³

Lipotropics

1,000 mg choline and 1,000 mg methionine or cysteine 3 times a day

Botanicals

Herbal Medicines for Pain Relief. The herbs appropriate for acute pain relief in endometriosis are the same herbs used for menstrual cramps. Valerian, crampbark, black cohosh, and other helpful herbs are discussed in Chapter 13. A recent study of a cyclic administration of two Japanese herbal formulas of peony and licorice (Shakuyaku-kanzo-to) and peony and dong quai (Toki-shakuyaku-san) was found to decrease endometrial pain in all patients studied and was even reported to promote ovulation.⁸⁴ Another study reported both hormonal and inflammatory modulation that led to decreased volume of endometrial implants in an animal model of endometriosis through the use of *Tripterygium wilfordii*, another Chinese herb.⁸⁵

Traditional Herbal Therapies

Chaste Tree (Vitex Agnus Castus). Chaste tree has traditionally been used as a treatment for hormone imbalances in women. Through action on the pituitary gland, chaste tree has a progesterone effect by increasing luteinizing hormone (LH). Useful for fibroids, premenstrual syndrome, perimenopause, and various menstrual cycle disorders, it also has an indication in endometriosis, perhaps because less estrogen is available to stimulate endometrial tissue.⁸⁶

Dandelion Root (Taraxacum Officinale). Dandelion root is one of nature's most detoxifying herbs. It works principally on the liver and gallbladder to help remove waste products. By supporting the liver, excessive estrogens and toxins can be deactivated. Researchers in Japan have found a link between dandelion and antitumor activity.⁸⁷ In addition, dandelion leaf contains vitamins A, C, and K and calcium, as well as choline, a lipotropic substance.

Prickly Ash (Xanthoxylum Americanum). Prickly ash is known for its specific action on capillary engorgement and sluggish circulation. Through its stimulation of blood flow throughout the body, prickly ash helps enhance the transport of oxygen and nutrients and the removal of cellular waste products. For women with pelvic congestion, this herb enhances circulation throughout the pelvis.

Motherwort (Leonurus Cardiaca). Motherwort is antispasmodic and gently soothes the nerves. As women with endometriosis generally experience uterine cramps and pain, motherwort is useful in promoting relaxation during times of extreme "bearing-down" pain in the uterus and other regions.⁸⁸ As a mild sedative, motherwort helps with the needed rest during menstrual cramps.

Herbal Tincture for Chronic Treatment

Chaste tree, dandelion, prickly ash, motherwort combination: 1/2 tsp 3 times daily for 3 months

Turska's Formula. Turska's formula is a favorite old naturopathic treatment for decreasing aberrant cancer cell growth. A tincture of this formula is useful in treating endometriosis due to the

Sample Treatment Plan for Endometriosis

Nutrition

- Increase the following in your diet:
 - Vegetables (especially cauliflower, brussels sprouts, and carrots)
 - Protein (tofu, beans, salmon, soy nuts, and small amounts of turkey and chicken)
 - Fiber (whole-grain breads, rice, raw vegetables, and flaxseed)
 - Omega-3 oils (especially cold water fish: salmon, tuna, sardines, mackerel, and herring)
- Decrease or eliminate the following:

All saturated animal fats

- All foods containing sugar, caffeine, chocolate, or alcohol
- Avoid pesticides and heating food in plastic containers.
- Drink purified water.

Daily Supplements

- Vitamin C: 6-10 g
- Vitamin E: 400-800 IU
- Fish oils: 1,080 mg EPA and 720 mg DHA
- Beta-carotene: 50,000–150,000 IU
- Selenium: 200–400 mcg

similarities of cancer to cell growth found in the pelvis. This formula contains monkshood (Aconite napellus), yellow jessamine (Gelsemium sempervirens), bryony (Bryonia alba), and poke root (Phytolacca americana). Monkshood and yellow jessamine contain alkaloids that have been known to disrupt the assembly of microtubules that eventually help in the formation of cells that differentiate and give rise to connective tissues, blood, lymphatics, bone, and cartilage. Quite possibly, these herbal alkaloids interfere with the induction of abnormal ectopic lesions within the pelvis (consistent with the theory of cells left behind in embryonic development). Bryonia is also known to provide antitumor effects. Poke root contains glycoproteins known to stimulate lymphocyte

- Lipotropics: 2-4 capsules
- Flax oil, evening primrose oil, or borage oil:
 2 to 4 capsules per day

Botanicals

- Acute tincture:
 - Black cohosh: 1 oz Wild yam: 1 oz Cramp bark: 1 oz Valerian: 1 oz ¹/2-1 tsp every 2-4 hours for acute pelvic pain
- Chronic tincture:

Chaste tree: 1 oz Dandelion: 1 oz Prickly ash: 1 oz Motherwort: 1 oz ¹/₂ tsp 3 times a day

- Turska's formula: 5 drops 3 times daily
- Progesterone cream:

Option 1: days 1–6, no cream; days 7–26, $\frac{1}{4}-\frac{1}{2}$ tsp twice a day Option 2: days 1–14, no cream; days 15–26,

 $\frac{1}{4}$ - $\frac{1}{2}$ tsp twice a day Option 3: days 1–20, no cream; days 21–27,

 $\frac{1}{4}-\frac{1}{2}$ tsp twice a day
transformation for immune enhancement. Poke root also has anti-inflammatory properties. Due to its potential toxicity, however, this tincture can be provided only by a licensed health professional.

Turska's Formula

5 drops 3 times daily See Resources section for sources.

Natural Progesterone

Progesterone has been known to modify the action of estradiol by decreasing the retention of receptors, causing a fall in serum estradiol levels. Women without enough progesterone are unable to balance out estrogen, leading to problems that result from a relative excess of estrogen. In addition, progesterone has the effect of sedating painful uterine contractions. Chapter 13 discusses in more detail how progesterone inhibits uterine contractions and reduces pain. It is possible that this uterine sedative effect extends to pain relief in the pelvic region in general. I have not used natural progesterone alone as a treatment for endometriosis, but it has been my observation that progesterone is an important part of a comprehensive treatment plan.

Natural progesterone creams can be applied in various regimens. For some women I recommend ¹/₄ teaspoon two times a day for three weeks on and the week of menses off, or apply twice daily from day 15 of the cycle to day 26. Other women just need to use it the week before their menses is due. Still other cases require higher doses of natural oral micronized progesterone in a cyclic dosing pattern.

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

Conventional medical treatment for endometriosis usually involves diagnosis plus medical or surgical treatment. Because one cannot feel endometriosis most of the time or detect it by ultrasound or CAT scan, laparoscopy (a surgical procedure to view the interior of the abdomen and pelvis) remains the standard for diagnosis. Studies have repeatedly shown that 78 to 82 percent of women with chronic pelvic pain of more than six months' duration that does not respond to nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories or oral contraceptives have endometriosis. A recent development in the treatment of endometriosis is treatment of presumptive disease without laparoscopic proof. Some physicians now offer this option, and if no response is seen in six months, they then proceed with laparoscopy.

Often, women with chronic painful periods or pelvic pain are initially treated with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medication such as ibuprofen, naproxen, or meclofenamate. As symptoms progress, patients usually resort to prescription analgesics and/or hormones. Since estrogen is known to stimulate the growth of endometriosis, treatment is aimed at suppression of estrogen synthesis. By achieving states of pseudopregnancy (through birth control pills) or pseudomenopause (through cessation of the body's own production of estrogen and progesterone), women have found significant symptom relief. Benefit from birth control pills is thought to be due to reduced menstrual bleeding, anovulation, and lesion regression. However, stimulation of a lesion does occur, possibly due to a decrease in concentration of progesterone receptor sites and lesions.

In the past, danazol was regarded as a highly effective drug because of its suppression of the pituitary and inhibition of estrogen and adrenal hormone production. Relief quite possibly is due to reduction of endometriosis associated with autoimmune abnormalities. However, male pattern hair growth, irreversible low voice, hot flashes, depression, weight gain, acne, reduced breast size, muscle cramps, fatigue, and other symptoms related to the medication have caused danazol to become a less popular alternative, and it has mostly fallen out of use.

Prescription drugs called gonadotropinreleasing hormone agonists (GnRH agonists), such as Lupron, Synarel, and goserelin, are used to produce a menopausal state. Upon stimulation of the receptors of the brain by these hormones, a decrease in production of LH (luteinizing hormone) and FSH (follicle-stimulating hormone) is achieved and causes the individual to have a low estrogen state. This causes dramatic relief of symptoms within two to three months. Side effects due to low estrogen, similar to those accompanying natural menopause (insomnia, hot flashes, vaginal dryness, and osteoporosis) do occur. Current add-back therapy with low-dose estrogen or a progestin reduces symptoms without reducing effectiveness. Higher doses of hormone therapy such as oral contraceptives may make the lesions grow, so very low doses of hormones are recommended. After the GnRH agonist is discontinued, recurrence of endometriosis frequently occurs, so ovarian suppression regimens like oral contraceptives or Depo-Provera injections are commonly used following GnRH therapy.

Treatment with progestins helps endometrial tissue to atrophy. However, side effects include nausea, weight gain, fluid retention, breakthrough bleeding, and sometimes depression.

Combinations of estrogen and progestin such as those found in low-dose birth control pills suppress FSH and LH. Mild-to-moderate pain relief is achieved because the body's own estrogen production is decreased. In addition, since the volume of menstrual flow is also decreased, less blood is theoretically available for reflux into the pelvic cavity.

Current research shows promising results in the use of the antiprogesterone Ru-486 due to the regression of endometriosis and possible minimal side effects. Clinical trials are underway. Use of medications that enhance the immune system are also being studied.

Laparoscopic surgery has the advantage of extensive use of microscopic imaging so that surgeons can view lesions in greater detail. In addition, laparoscopy allows for a shorter recuperation time when compared to a laparotomy. During a laparotomy, the surgeon makes a larger incision in the abdomen, allowing for larger endometriomas or adhesions to be excised.

Surgery has produced cure for some individuals, while it has proved to be disappointing to others. Whether laparotomy or laparoscopy, surgical treatment varies as to type of surgery, technique, and surgeon experience. Conservative surgery removes superficial endometriosis lesions and/or endometriomas while leaving the uterus and ovaries intact. Recurrence rates vary from 5 to 20 percent per year, with a rate of 40 percent after five years. Differences in recurrence rates with surgery may be due to the method of endometriosis implant removal and the skill of the surgeon. Laser surgery is able to penetrate deeply, but without the possibility of biopsy (proving endometriosis), while excision by electrocautery, which allows for meticulous biopsy, takes time and additional effort. The knowledge and experience of the surgeon are important in the identification of the implants, since color, consistency, appearance, and location of the implants can be variable. In addition, some surgeons remove the clear peritoneal covering, as they believe that endometrial implants reside in this tissue.

The disease frequently recurs unless a woman has had a hysterectomy with bilateral salpingooophorectomy (removal of uterus and both ovaries and fallopian tubes). Aggressive surgery consists of removing implants, ovaries, and uterus, and sometimes, even more aggressive surgery involves removing the peritoneum as well. While surgery removes implants that adhere to the ovaries, uterus, and other pelvic organs, the effects of ovary removal and the resulting abrupt cessation of hormone production have to be taken into consideration. While beneficial for some individuals, medical or surgical management is not effective in all circumstances.

Physicians have seen an increase in endometrioid cancer in endometriosis implants. And endometriosis can grow into bowels or cause bowel obstruction or fistulas. Therefore, finding a health-care provider who is very experienced with endometriosis treatment is very important.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

As with any pain of unknown origin, a licensed primary health-care practitioner should be consulted to rule out other causes of pain before extensive use of analgesic medications, botanical formulas, or supplements. The cultural bias that menstrual periods are supposed to be painful—as well as a reluctance to seek help due to past abuse, trauma, or fear—can be a detriment to healing. Although the norm is changing, in the past many women with endometriosis were told that the pain was "in their head" or psychosomatic. An increased understanding of the pain, pattern of symptoms, and loss of quality of life for those who experience endometriosis has drawn attention and research to this disruptive problem.

Abnormal bleeding, pain that increases in intensity, continued pain with or without menses;

lower back pain; or pain with urination, bowel movements, and vaginal intercourse should be brought to the attention of your health-care practitioner, who will listen to your symptoms, take a medical history, and do a pelvic exam. This physical exam is valuable in determining whether there are masses, areas of sensitivity, or abnormal findings suggestive of endometriosis. Depending on the exam, an ultrasound, MRI, and/or blood work may be recommended. In addition, depending on these results, further recommendations may be made (such as a laparoscopy that can diagnose and potentially treat the endometriosis at the same time).

If you are reluctant to seek out help due to past trauma or just a feeling of discomfort, it is essential that you find a health-care practitioner you can trust. Have a friend (or even therapist) come with you to the office and even to the exam room to hold your hand, ask questions, and be there for you. Since the key to prevention of further pain is early diagnosis, prompt medical intervention can lead to more effective assistance in supporting your body's own ability to heal itself. This page intentionally left blank

OVERVIEW

Virtually all knowledgeable health-care providers agree that the terms fibrocystic breast disease or fibrocystic breast condition should be abandoned in favor of a more accurate, physiologically based description. First of all, the benign breast conditions that are present in almost all of us to some degree should never have been given the "disease" label in the first place.1 Moreover, the widespread misconception that women with painful or lumpy breasts are at increased risk of breast cancer borders on the tragic. Unfortunately, our health-care system requires a diagnostic code to reimburse services, and "fibrocystic breast disease" has one, even though the medical literature is replete with reasons why it shouldn't. This reinforces misinformation and fear and obscures the safe and simple means that exist for obtaining relief and reassurance.

Tender or lumpy breasts are one of the most common reasons why women consult their gynecologists for assessment and treatment. Since painful breasts are not always lumpy, and lumpy breasts are not always painful (and neither situation is usually abnormal), it is useful to create descriptive categories of symptoms and conditions to replace the generic term *fibrocystic*.

Physiological, Cyclical Pain and Swelling

Many women notice painful or sensitive breasts just prior to menstruation. This has been attributed to a more prominent estrogen than progesterone effect on breast tissue at this time. Sometimes less progesterone is made late in the cycle, as in irregular ovulation (inadequate luteal phase). Other women may have average amounts of progesterone but increased tissue sensitivity to estrogen with related fluid retention. Most of us tolerate this well enough once reassured it is normal, and the symptoms always resolve with menses. Women who take exogenous estrogen, such as oral contraceptives or estrogen replacement therapy during menopause, may be similarly affected.

Mastalgia

Mastalgia refers to any breast pain severe enough to interfere with the quality of a woman's life, causing her to seek treatment. Physiological, cyclical mastalgia is this severe about 15 percent of the time and comprises the bulk of this group. Women who suffer from noncyclical pain are more rare, and the pain is less likely to be hormonal in cause. Pain may be due to old trauma, acute infection, or sometimes something related to the chest wall. In contrast, breast cancer occurs as a unilateral painful firm lump only about 5 percent of the time. Painful swellings that flux with the cycle and do not change over time are not worrisome as cancer signals.

Breast Nodularity or Diffuse Lumpiness

Breast lumpiness—the most worrisome category in most women's minds—may be either cyclic or noncyclic, and might or might not include pain. The distinction between these and normal breasts is often simply a matter of degree. Normal breasts are irregularly textured because the tissue they are made of is not homogeneous. It is a mix of glands, fat, and connective tissue. Glands can be more or less prominent and more or less obscured by fat or fluid, so all breasts feel different. Symmetry is important; finding a mirror-image thickening in the opposite breast indicates a normal condition.

Nondominant Masses

Even densities that are not symmetrical are largely due to benign nonprogressive causes, but they do require careful distinction from dominant masses. When careful palpation around the edges of a nonsymmetrical lump reveals that the density merges in one or more places with the surrounding breast tissue, it is considered nondominant and may be comfortably observed for change over time. When these lesions are biopsied or, preferably, a sample of cells is taken in the office using a needle to be looked at microscopically (fine-needle aspiration), some 70 percent will show nonproliferative changes (adenosis, fibrosis, microcysts, mild hyperplasia, and more); some 20 percent will show proliferative changes without atypia-mostly epithelial hyperplasia. None of these conditions places one at increased risk for cancer, and all are self-limited. Only a fraction, roughly the 5 percent that show atypical hyperplasia, carry a significantly increased risk of breast cancer (relative risk at 4 percent), especially when coupled with a positive family history (relative risk at 9 percent).² It was this tiny subgroup that led to the original cancer scare attached to fibrocystic breasts.

The most useful tool a woman can bring to her own breast health is her knowledge of and familiarity with the architecture of her own breasts, particularly as it varies over time. Nothing is more helpful in avoiding an unnecessary biopsy than a self-knowledgeable woman who has observed the monthly variation in her own breasts and knows which tissue thickens cyclically. Think of the self-exam as a familiarization process, not a diagnostic one. The majority of breast cancer occurs in women over age 60, and most women don't get breast cancer at all. We all have plenty of time to learn our textures so that our own hands are the most sensitive to any changes that may occur. This will occur effortlessly over time with regular self-exams.

Dominant Masses

These outright noncyclical unilateral lesions are clearly distinct on all sides from the surrounding breast tissue. They persist over time, and except in the very young demand some kind of assessment. Most commonly they are either fibroadenomas or gross (obvious) cysts. A fibroadenoma is a rubbery, smooth, benign fibrous tumor common in younger women. In women under age 25, it can be observed over time. Fibroadenomas generally do not grow bigger. Large cysts are more common in women aged 25 to 50-an age group when cancer just begins to appear. They are softer, usually squishier, and can be made to disappear by draining them through a needle in the office; unless they recur frequently, no further treatment is necessary. Recurrent large cysts have been shown to slightly increase cancer risk in some studies but not in others;^{3, 4} fibroadenomas do not. Unfortunately, noncyclical unilateral dominant masses can sometimes be cancerous.

OVERVIEW OF ALTERNATIVE TREATMENTS

Women with fibrocystic tissue causing breast pain, discomfort, and lumpiness will find comfort in an alternative perspective on their situation. Given that this condition is not really a disease, a woman can direct her energies toward relieving symptoms and optimizing breast health, as well as increasing her motivation toward general health practices and self-care.

KEY CONCEPTS

- Practice monthly breast self-exams; know your breasts; be able to detect new and unusual changes, thickenings, and lumps.
- Have a yearly breast exam by a licensed physician.
- Relieve symptoms of pain and tenderness.
- Have changes, if any, evaluated by a physician.

The liver is the primary site for estrogen clearance or estrogen metabolism. Compromised liver function can lead to a state of estrogen dominance, contributing to texture and density changes in the breast. To assure that estrogens are being metabolized properly, it may be necessary to provide nutritional and herbal support for the liver.

Digestion and elimination are fundamental factors involved in hormone-related health problems. Women having fewer than three bowel movements per week have a risk of fibrocystic breasts four to five times greater than women having at least one movement per day.⁵ The longer it takes food to move through the colon, the more waste products pass into the bloodstream, creating a potentially toxic physiological environment. Bacterial flora in the large intestine, such as *Lactobacillus acidophilus*, improve the transit time of bowel toxins, as well as improving the excretion and detoxification of estrogens. Women on a vegetarian diet excrete two to three times more detoxified estrogens than women on an omnivorous diet.

Nutrition

Epidemiological evidence supports a diet rich in whole fruits and vegetables in the prevention of fibrocystic breast conditions. A recent study demonstrated that a reduced risk of proliferative and atypical breast lesions was associated with consumption of fresh fruits and vegetables, whereas a small but significant reduction of risk was associated with soy consumption, possibly by decreasing cellular proliferation in the breast tissue.6 Another study examined the effect soy consumption has on breast tissue via direct imaging using breast enhanced scintigraphy (a nuclear medicine diagnostic imaging test). After one year of daily soy consumption, the researchers reported a number of promising subjective and objective results: patients and their physicians reported a reduction in both breast tenderness and fibrocystic changes; a small but statistically nonsignificant decrease in both the average and maximal count

PREVENTION

- Avoid caffeine (black tea, coffee, decaffeinated coffee, cola, chocolate, and medications with caffeine). Even decaffeinated coffee has other methylxanthines, caffeine-like chemical compounds.
- Assure regular, daily bowel movements.
- Eat a diet high in fruits, vegetables, soy foods, and whole grains.
- Decrease dietary fats, especially saturated fats.

breast activity on scintigraphy; and a significant reduction in the variability of tissue activity.⁷ Maybe somewhat surprisingly, another study showed a decrease in benign breast changes with alcohol consumption.⁸ Since alcohol slows down the metabolism of estrogen, it is not clear why this study demonstrated these results.

Avoid Methylxanthines (Caffeine). Removal of caffeine from the diet, an idea that originated with Ohio surgeon Dr. John Minton, is probably the most well-known alternative treatment for fibrocystic breasts. Of the 20 uncomfortable women who followed his advice to stop all caffeine intake, 13 said their breasts felt better as a result.⁹

Dr. Virginia Ernster conducted the first randomized study of a larger number of women, in which for four months 158 women eliminated caffeine (coffee, tea, cola, and chocolate) from their diets as well as caffeinated medications (theophylline and theobromine). She found a significant reduction in clinically palpable breast findings in the abstaining group compared with the control group, although the absolute change in the breast lumps was quite minor and considered to be of little clinical significance.¹⁰

Several other studies have been done, leaving us with mixed reports: three studies show no association between caffeine or other methylxanthines and benign breast disease,^{11–13} and two studies show a correlation with caffeine consumption.^{14, 15} Such is the way of science.

Caffeine Content of Common Items

Beverage	Caffeine (mg)	
Coffee, drip (8 oz)	150	
Coffee, perk (8 oz)	60–120	
Coffee, instant (8 oz)	70	
Coffee, decaffeinated (8 oz)	2–5	
Tea, black, 5-minute steep (8 oz)	60-100	
Tea, green (8 oz)	20	
Hot cocoa (5 oz)	2–10	
Coca-Cola (12 oz)	34	
Food	Caffeine (mg)	
Milk chocolate (1 oz)	1–15	
Bittersweet chocolate (1 oz)	5-35	
Chocolate cake (1 slice)	20-30	
Over-the-Counter Drugs	Caffeine (mg)	
Anacin, Empirin, or Midol (2)	64	
Excedrin (2)	130	
NoDoz (2)	200	
Aqua-Ban (2)	200	
Dexatrim (1)	200	

In clinical practice, I always recommend avoiding caffeine for women with painful/lumpy breasts. Many women gain mild to dramatic results with this simple approach, and some women receive no benefit. A fair experiment would be to completely abstain for three months and observe any changes in the pain, swelling, and discomfort. A decrease in the nodularity will generally take longer, as long as eight months of complete abstention.

Dietary Fat. How dietary fat affects the human breast is still controversial, although some research has looked at low-fat diets in women with fibrocystic breasts and at how low-fat diets affect the hormone levels in these women. Reducing the fat content of the diet to 16 percent of total calories (in contrast to the average American diet of 40 percent fat), while increasing complex carbohydrate consumption, has been shown to reduce the severity of premenstrual breast tenderness and swelling, as well as reduc-

Dietary Recommendations

- Avoid caffeine.
- Decrease dietary fat to 20 percent of calories.
- Increase dietary fiber (whole grains, legumes, fruits, and vegetables).
- Increase seafood and seaweed.
- Increase soy foods.

ing the actual breast swelling and nodularity in some women.¹⁶ Reducing the dietary fat intake to 20 percent of total calories results in significant decreases in circulating estrogens in women with benign breast disease.¹⁷

Since fibrocystic breasts are a result of estrogen dominance, it is logical that decreasing estrogen in the body or its influence on breast tissue would improve the symptoms of breast pain and swelling. However, a slight reduction in fat intake has repeatedly showed very little, if any, effect on breast problems, including breast cancer. A more rigorous approach to lowering the amount of fat in the diet is clearly needed.

The simplest way to accomplish the necessary levels of fat reduction is to avoid animal fats in all forms; a vegan diet (vegetarian, without any animal products at all, including dairy or eggs) is naturally a very low-fat diet. Of course, vegetarians, and even strict vegans, can succumb to fat in other forms like french fries, potato chips, and other greasy fried foods. A vegan diet rich in whole grains, legumes, fruits, vegetables, seeds, nuts, olives, and seaweed that is enriched with oils for stir-frying and in salad dressings results in a diet that derives about 15 to 20 percent of its calories from fat.

Nutritional Supplements

Vitamin E. For more than 35 years, clinicians have used vitamin E in the medical management of benign breast disease. This practice was initially based on positive reports from small numbers of patients as far back as 1965 and from subsequent studies in 1971, 1978, and 1982.^{18–21} When larger numbers of women were studied, vitamin E did not fare so well, showing no significant effects either subjectively or objectively,^{22, 23} and the earlier results have never been duplicated.

However, this is not to say that some women don't find symptom relief from taking vitamin E. Two studies demonstrated that vitamin E is clinically useful in relieving pain and tenderness, whether cyclical or noncyclical.^{21, 24} The studies have been done with varying dosages: 150, 300, or 600 IU daily. In clinical practice, practitioners generally recommend from 400 to 800 IU of Dalpha tocopherol with a minimum trial period of two months. Since vitamin E in these dosages is completely safe to use, this is a simple and appropriate self-treatment method for a benign breast condition.

Vitamin E (Natural)

400-800 IU daily

Omega-6 Fatty Acids. The pain and tenderness of benign breast disease associated with cyclic mastalgia have been alleviated with evening primrose (*Oenothera biennis*) oil, the only one of the many essential fatty acids to be scientifically studied in relation to fibrocystic breasts.

The evening primrose plant has been commonly known as tree primrose and sun drop. Evening primrose can be found in many parts of North American and is native in the North Temperate Zone, especially at high altitudes. The native peoples of North America, as well as the English and Pilgrims, were well aware of the healing properties of the leaves and bark as an astringent, nervine (an herb that affects the nerves and includes relaxants, tonics, and even stimulants), and sedative. It was often used for stomach and liver complaints, coughs, and female reproductive problems. Even the roots were eaten as a vegetable. The seeds were recommended as a coffee substitute in wartime and have a strong flavor similar to poppy seed oil. The therapeutic value of the seed oil is a more recent discovery. It is this

seed oil and its essential fatty acid content that holds the most interest today in maintaining health and preventing disease.

Evening primrose oil is rich in essential fatty acids—polyunsaturated fats that are as essential as vitamins and minerals for the maintenance of good health. The oil contains 74 percent linoleic acid (LA) and 9 percent gamma linolenic acid (GLA). Although other oils such as borage oil and black currant oil contain higher amounts of GLA, evening primrose oil is by far the most popular and familiar source of this fatty acid. Evening primrose oil also contains 11 percent oleic acid, 6 percent palmitic acid, and 2 percent stearic acid.

Under ideal conditions, the body uses LA to produce GLA. In turn, GLA is used to produce beneficial hormone-like compounds called prostaglandins. Specifically, GLA is used to produce series one prostaglandins such as prostaglandin E1 (PGE1).

Prostaglandins affect the function of virtually every system in the body. These molecules are used in the regulation of inflammation, pain, blood pressure, fluid balance, and blood clotting. Prostaglandins also affect hormone production and function.

The key to understanding the important need for supplementing with oils rich in GLA, such as evening primrose oil, is that many of us cannot convert LA to GLA efficiently. Dietary deficiencies, disease conditions, processed oils, trans-fatty acids, heated oils, alcohol, aging, viral infections, and sugar consumption block, slow down, or interfere with the enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of LA to GLA. The result is that virtually all North Americans are deficient in GLA. Supplementing with evening primrose oil can enrich the body's GLA supply and restore the production of beneficial prostaglandins derived from GLA. Research completed over the last 20 years has confirmed that supplementation with evening primrose oil has beneficial effects in numerous diseases and conditions. Benefits for

health problems supported and/or suggested by scientific trials using evening primrose oil include premenstrual syndrome, fibrocystic breast pain, eczema, rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, heart disease, osteoporosis, and ulcerative colitis. Other conditions for which it may provide benefit include menopause and pregnancy.

The pain and tenderness of benign breast disease associated with premenstrual breast pain and fibrocystic breasts has been alleviated with evening primrose oil in more than one scientific study. In 1985, when 291 women took three grams per day of evening primrose oil for three to six months, almost half of the 92 women with cyclic breast pain experienced improvement compared with one-fifth of the patients who received the placebo. For those women who experienced breast pain throughout the month, 27 percent (just over one-fourth of the 33 women) responded positively to the evening primrose oil, compared to 9 percent on the placebo.²⁵ Another 73 women with breast pain with or without lumpiness randomly received three grams per day of evening primrose oil or placebo. After three months, pain and tenderness were significantly reduced in both cyclical and noncyclical groups, while the women who took the placebo did not significantly improve.26 In the course of treatment, it has been detected that women with breast pain have unusually low concentrations of GLA and metabolites from GLA. When patients receive supplements of evening primrose oil, the concentration of GLA metabolites increases and the concentration of saturated fats in the breast decreases. This may also have long-term implications for prevention of breast diseases such as breast cancer.

Although symptom relief can be achieved through the use of evening primrose oil, it should not be relied on to actually reduce the number of developing cysts.

Other omega-6 fatty acids that may have beneficial effects but have not been studied in relation to fibrocystic breasts are flaxseed oil, black currant oil, and borage oil. Borage oil and black currant oil contain higher amounts of GLA, so potentially, one could take fewer capsules to achieve the same benefit. For example, borage oil contains 23 percent GLA versus only 9 percent in the evening primrose oil. That would mean instead of the 6 capules of evening primrose oil it would take to achieve the 3,000 mg of evening primrose oil that was used in the study, you could conceivably use at half as many capsules of borage oil.

Evening Primrose Oil (Omega-6 Fatty Acids)

1,500 mg twice daily

Vitamin A. Basic science research supports the use of vitamin A by demonstrating the presence of specific retinoid receptors in breast tissue that can modulate our genetic predisposition, thereby decreasing the risk for both benign and malignant breast changes.²⁷

In a study of patients with fibrocystic breast disease, 12 women were treated with 150,000 IU of vitamin A daily for three months, and 5 of the 9 women who completed the study showed complete or partial response.²⁸ Some of the patients experienced mild side effects of vitamin A toxicity, including dryness of the skin and mouth.

Although the potential toxicity of vitamin A in doses this high makes it an impractical approach to fibrocystic breast disease, it is possible that betacarotene could be substituted, since it has a similar activity without the side effects of vitamin A, or a diet high in yellow and orange fruits and vegetables.

Beta-Carotene

50,000-150,000 IU daily

Iodine/Thyroid Hormone. It has been known for a long time that for the thyroid gland to secrete thyroxine (its hormone), it requires iodine. Prescription thyroid hormone replacement with low or even normal thyroid function may result in improvement of fibrocystic breasts.^{29, 30} These results suggest that iodine deficiency may be a causative factor in fibrocystic breasts. Although the exact mechanisms of action on breast tissue are not known, the breast has an affinity for both thyroid hormone and iodine. The only areas of the breast in which iodine can be found are in the terminal and interlobular duct cells, which are also the areas primarily involved in cystic changes. Without iodine, the breast tissue becomes more sensitive to estrogenic stimulation, which in turn produces microcysts high in potassium. The potassium is believed to be an irritant that produces fibrosis and eventually cyst isolation.

Four types of iodine have been studied in the treatment of fibrocystic breasts, only one of which has been truly effective and free of side effects on the thyroid gland. According to research by Dr. William Ghent, although all forms of iodine relieve subjective clinical symptoms, the fibrocystic breast reacts differently to these different forms of iodine: sodium iodide (Lugol's solution), potassium iodide, caseinated iodine (protein-bound), and aqueous (diatomic) iodine. Symptom relief varied a great deal with the different iodines, but only the aqueous or diatomic iodine achieved both symptom relief in 74 percent of the women and also objective reduction in nodules and resolution of fibrosis in 65 percent of the patients, without adverse effects on the thyroid gland.31

Women get different amounts of iodine in their diet, depending on the iodine content of the soil and water, as well as the types of food they prefer to eat. Plant foods grown in the socalled goiter belt areas of the country (the Great Lakes region, the Midwest, and the Intermountain states) lack iodine because the soil and water are iodine deficient. Today, iodine deficiency is considered rare in the United States due to the widespread distribution of foods from areas of the country sufficient in iodine and due to the availability of iodized salt. Certain foods, such as seafood and seaweeds, are naturally high in iodine and might be used to supplement a diet low in iodine.

Aqueous Iodine

3-6 mg daily (prescription item)

Additional Supplements

- **B-complex:** 10 times the recommended daily dietary allowance
- Methionine: 1 g per day
- Choline: 1 g per day
- *Lactobacillus acidophilus*: 1 tsp 3 times per day
- Flaxseed oil: 1 tbs per day

Botanicals

Herbal therapies for addressing the symptoms of breast pain, swelling, and cystic nodules in the breast are largely arrived at from traditional uses of herbal medicines and from observational experience in clinical practice. Herbal diuretics are useful in decreasing breast swelling and the discomfort associated with it. The most effective of these is dandelion leaf (Taraxacum officinale). Unlike synthetic diuretics, dandelion leaf does not deplete potassium; instead, it actually contains a high percentage of potassium. However, since potassium is possibly implicated in fibrosis and potential cyst isolation, dandelion may not be the ideal diuretic to use. Diuretics considered to be effective for fibrocystic breasts include cleavers (Galium aparine), yarrow (Achillea millefolium), and uva ursi (Arctostaphylos uva-ursi).

Additionally, poke root (*Phytolacca americana*), an herb used in traditional naturopathic medical practices, can be applied as an oil to the breasts and rubbed in like a lotion, reducing painful lumpiness and nodularity.

Herbal support for the liver improves how the liver metabolizes hormones. In this case, our goal is to encourage the normal pathways for the metabolism, excretion, and recirculation of estrogens. Traditional herbs that support the liver include burdock root, dandelion root (not leaf), milk thistle, celandine, fringe tree, and beet root.

Herbal Recommendation

- Yarrow leaf capsules: 2–6 per day; or yarrow leaf liquid tincture or extract: ¹/₄–1 tsp per day
- Phytolacca oil: apply to breasts nightly for 2 weeks, then reduce to 3 times per week

Additional Natural Therapies

Natural Progesterone. Once we agree that fibrocystic breasts are, at least in part, due to a high-estrogen/low-progesterone problem, then it is logical to use progesterone therapy as a treatment. Specifically, many practitioners and women patients have experienced that the application of natural progesterone in a cream or gel form routinely resolves the problem. Dr. John Lee, the leader in the use of natural progesterone, states that he cannot recall a single case in his own practice in which the results were not positive.32 Lee suggests using the natural progesterone cream or gel as prescribed by a health-care practitioner until the cysts are gone and then reducing the dose to the smallest amount that is still effective, to be continued monthly as needed through menopause.

Sample Treatment Plan for Fibrocystic Breasts

Three-Month Period

- Avoid caffeine and other sources of methylxanthines.
- Lower dietary fat to 20 percent and increase dietary fiber (whole grains, legumes, fruits, vegetables, and soy foods); increase seafood and seaweed (for the natural iodine).
- Vitamin E: 400 IU twice per day
- Evening primrose oil: 1,500 mg twice per day

If there is no change after three menstrual cycles, then incorporate a more assertive approach utilizing some of the other therapies listed, or see a naturopathic physician for individualized recommendations and, especially, prescription aqueous iodine. I cannot confirm the effectiveness or safety of this practice, and the research is not yet clear on the safety of long-term natural progesterone and breast health. There is more information about this in Chapter 12.

Natural Progesterone Cream

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

Conventional medical literature has tended to focus more on pathologic descriptions of disease and on verifying or disproving related cancer risk rather than on exploring therapeutic options for symptom relief. In spite of conflicting data in the 1980s, many women added vitamin E and eliminated coffee from their diets with noticeable subjective improvement and no side effects other than those imparted by caffeine withdrawal. Low-fat, high complex carbohydrate diets can reduce cyclical pain, and the results of studies with evening primrose oil have been mixed.

Cyclic breast pain and swelling are felt to be hormonal, so treatment is aimed at hormonal manipulation, usually by suppression. More often than not, oral contraceptives help to relieve mild or severe premenstrual pain, although for smaller numbers of women the pain is worsened by this treatment. This paradox is explained by the fact that oral contraceptives suppress ovarian production of hormones and replace this with an average synthetic dose of both estrogens and progesterone. If the replacement level is higher than the natural one, sore breasts may result; usually, the replaced level is lower, and then the pain is relieved. Continuous oral contraceptives (no placebo break) seem to help better than cyclic regimens.

Many so-called effective conventional treatments cause such serious side effects that it is hard to imagine any cases that would warrant their use. Danazol, which interrupts LH and FSH secretion

 $[\]frac{1}{4}-\frac{1}{2}$ tsp applied to breasts and palms twice a day from ovulation to menses

from the pituitary gland, was once touted as the most effective breast pain reliever. However, it is a male hormone and can cause facial hair, voice deepening, and other androgenic changes, quite unacceptable side effects for most women, and it can cost more than \$200 per month. It is no longer used to treat fibrocystic breasts.

Similarly, GnRH agonists work at the hypothalamic level to eradicate estrogen via a temporarily induced menopausal condition. This class of drugs may make danazol obsolete, but they again do not present a good long-term solution due to the side effects, including reversible bone loss, and they cost even more money.

Tamoxifen, an antiestrogen, has been used to treat breast cancer and can help cyclic breast pain, up to a 90 percent reduction in pain. However, it causes menopausal side effects, its longterm effects are unknown, and it increases the incidence of endometrial cancer. On the other hand, it has been shown to reduce breast cancer risk in women who are at higher risk, including those women who have atypical hyperplasia of the breast, which is determined only by a biopsy. For benign breast disease, it is difficult to imagine a situation where the benefits of tamoxifen would outweigh the risks and side effects.

Bromocriptine is a nonhormonal drug therapy that lessens the levels of prolactin, the hormone that manages lactation changes, and seems to work well, although it is often not tolerated because of nausea or dizziness. The side effects of most of the expensive drugs used to eliminate breast pain and lumpiness are probably too extreme to warrant their use for most women until the simpler remedies have proven inadequate. If elimination of caffeine, adding vitamin E, and switching to a lowfat, high complex carbohydrate diet do not bring results, the next logical step for a conventional practitioner would most likely be a trial of oral contraceptives.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

A woman might decide to see a licensed healthcare practitioner because she needs a breast exam or wants to determine the exact nature of her breast pain/tenderness or lumps. The practitioner will ask about her symptoms as well as other pertinent factors in her medical history and will perform a physical examination.

If the practitioner considers it necessary, she or he might recommend a mammogram and/or ultrasound to determine the nature of a specific lump and may encourage aspiration of a mass to determine whether it is cystic or solid. The practitioner will no doubt recommend that highly suspicious lumps be surgically biopsied.

A lump that is new or one that is increasing in size, or a lump that does not change over the course of the menstrual cycle, are all causes for concern and might lead to a professional evaluation. This page intentionally left blank

OVERVIEW

Genital herpes is the most prevalent sexually transmitted infection (STI) in the United States.¹⁻³ Data about the prevalence of genital herpes in the United States has been collected from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys between 1976 and 1980 (NHANES II) and from 1988 to 1994 (NHANES III). According to NHANES III, 45 million Americans over the age of 12 are infected with Herpes simplex 2 (HSV-2 or genital herpes). The prevalence increased 30 percent between 1988 and 1994, with the greatest increase among teenagers, and quintupled among white teenagers and doubled among whites in their twenties. Some 25.6 percent of women and 17.8 percent of men test positive for the virus in their blood, and blacks have a higher prevalence (45.9 percent) than do whites (17.6 percent).⁴ Testing positive in the blood is different than having a genital herpes eruption history. In fact, only 10 to 20 percent of seropositive individuals have had a genital herpes lesion, showing us that the majority of cases are subclinical or undetected.

There are six members of the herpesvirus family that are known to infect humans: HSV type 1 (HSV-1) and HSV type 2 (HSV-2), varicella zoster virus, human cytomegalovirus, Epstein-Barr virus, and herpesvirus type 6. Today, HSV-2 is the leading cause of genital ulcer disease in the United States. As many as one in five Americans is believed to be infected with HSV-2—the virus type more closely associated with genital herpes. Another virus type, HSV-1 the type more closely associated with infections of the mouth, lips, pharynx, and eyes earlier in life through oral/genital contact—is believed to be responsible for 10 to 50 percent of new cases of genital herpes.⁵ About 80 percent of people with their first episodes of genital herpes are 18 to 36 years of age. The highest annual incidence of genital herpes among women occurs at 20 to 24 years of age and is estimated to be 210 per 100,000 women.

The diagnosis of typical genital herpes is fairly straightforward most of the time but involves local and systemic signs. There are three distinct syndromes: primary herpes, first-episode nonprimary herpes, and recurrent herpes. There are, however, atypical manifestations, and these are the ones that are not so straightforward.

The severity of symptoms varies in extent and duration according to whether the episode is the patient's first infection with either HSV-2 or HSV-1, called primary herpes; initial genital infection in a woman who has already had an infection with the other HSV type (initial, or first-episode nonprimary herpes); or a recurrence of a genital infection with either type. A woman's first episode of genital herpes (primary herpes) is usually the most severe form of the disease. Symptoms usually start appearing within a week after infection, if they are going to appear at all. However, symptoms can start one day and up to 26 days after exposure to the virus. Typically, infection is characterized by extensive, multiple clusters of painful lesions involving the genitals, anus, perineum, or surrounding areas. Symptoms and lesions of primary genital herpes vary in severity, extent, and duration. Initial symptomatic episodes of HSV not only tend to be more severe but are followed within the first year of a greater likelihood of clinical recurrences as well as shedding of the virus without any symptoms (also known as subclinical shedding, when the outer layer of the skin or tissue harbors the virus without symptoms and then sheds, transmitting the virus). These subsequent episodes of HSV-2 are usually associated with more symptoms and more frequent outbreaks than HSV-1 of the genital area and occur about four to five times a year in about one-third of women who have symptomatic outbreaks.

Both HSV-1 and HSV-2 infect the skin and/or mucosal tissue of the genital area and the mouth, and once this occurs, the virus infects the sensory and autonomic nerves and then ascends to the nerve ganglia in the spinal cord where it establishes a lifelong home where it can be periodically reactivated. With this episodic reactivation, the virus migrates from the ganglia along the sensory nerves to the target site, which results in either an actual outbreak or a shedding without an outbreak or with atypical symptoms, called subclinical shedding.^{1, 3} In fact, the majority of primary infections with HSV-1 and HSV-2 are subclinical. This presents a great difficulty in sexual transmission, because the virus can be transmitted to another, even when you do not know you are infected or have ever been infected. Men are more likely to have asymptomatic HSV-2 infections than women.6

The classic herpes lesion begins as a red papule, evolving within two to three days to a vesicle containing clear fluid, and then progressing to a pustule. When the surface breaks open, a tender ulceration occurs that may explain the symptomatic burning pain. Lesions ulcerate more rapidly in moist areas than on dry skin, so that painful genital ulcerations are more apt to occur on the external vulva area. Several successive lesions may appear in the first three to four weeks of primary herpes. The lesions of primary herpes may heal in one to six weeks.

In more than two-thirds of women, primary herpes is accompanied by systemic symptoms that may include fever, malaise, body aches, headaches, and nausea. Meningitis-like symptoms, such as stiffness of the neck and sensitivity to light, are also common. Nearly three-quarters of women will also suffer from herpetic cervicitis, with vaginal discharge and intermenstrual spotting. Swollen lymph nodes in the groin area are also common. Discomfort with urination is also common, sometimes as a result of herpes in the urethra and in other cases because the urine comes into contact with lesions on the labia.

Diagnosis

A practitioner can best make a diagnosis of herpes based on the medical history, inspection of the area, and a laboratory test to provide confirmation. The focus of the history is the onset and clinical course of the genital lesions. Even though very personal, it is important that the practitioner know the following details of the woman's sexual history:

- 1. Pregnancy history
- 2. Currently sexually active or not
- 3. Sexually active with men, women, or both
- 4. If birth control is used, what kind
- 5. Knowledge about partner or partners' sexual history
- 6. Condom use for protection from sexually transmitted infections
- 7. Types of sexual activity: oral sex with partner, mutual oral sex, penile/vaginal sex, penile/anal sex

The practitioner also needs to know whether the lesions started as blisters or pimples and whether or not they were painful. Knowledge about any systemic symptoms of both partners is important as well.

The physical examination involves inspecting the lesions, examining the genital area thoroughly, including the anal area and the inguinal lymph nodes (those in the groin). Inspecting the vaginal area with a speculum requires careful exam of the vaginal wall and the cervix. If systemic symptoms such as fever, headache, or neurologia symptoms are present, a more thorough neurological examination needs to be performed.

The information gleaned from a good history and physical help to distinguish a genital HSV infection from other possible problems, including vaginal candida, herpes zoster, syphilis, chancroid, allergic contact dermatitis, trauma, Behçet's syndrome, a heat rash, a rash from shaving the pubic area, a drug reaction, or a secondary infection from something like scabies.

Laboratory testing to confirm the diagnosis is indicated for most people who are having their initial genital eruption, even in women with a typical clinical symptom picture. Some lesions are classic in appearance, and perhaps a clinician will make a judgment that a laboratory test is not necessary. However, viral cultures are the most sensitive test for confirming the diagnosis of genital herpes. Determining the virus type has value for future considerations. For example, individuals with genital HSV-1 (as many as 30 percent of women with primary herpes) have a much lower risk of symptomatic recurring outbreaks. In addition, women with primary genital herpes are at increased risk for other STIs and should possibly be tested for chlamydia, gonorrhea, syphilis, and HIV infection.

The 2002 STD guidelines from the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) state that isolation of HSV in a cell culture and then immunofluorescent staining can differentiate HSV-1 from HSV-2 and is the preferred viral test in women who have an active genital lesion. There are a few problems with these tests: transporting a cell culture can be difficult, the sensitivity of the tests declines as lesions heal, and the test is far more accurate for initial episodes than for recurring lesions. If the cell culture is used, then testing the blood is used to confirm the results.^{1–3}

Other testing methods include direct immunofluorescent antibody (DFA) test, direct enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), and antigen detection tests. Only the DFA antigen test can distinguish HSV-1 infection from HSV-2. The most useful tests for HSV genital infection detection are type-specific serologic assays for the HSV antibodies.

The most serious and feared complication of genital herpes is the transmission from an infected

pregnant mother to her newborn child. Consultation with a health-care practitioner during the pregnancy is advisable both in women with recurrent genital herpes and in women who may uncommonly acquire their primary infection during pregnancy. Viral cultures late in the pregnancy may be advised, and consultations about a delivery by cesarean section may be justified. Other complications for the infant include menin-

KEY CONCEPTS

- Genital herpes is most commonly associated with HSV-2.
- Risk factors for HSV-2: female, African-American, Mexican-American, older, low education level, poverty, cocaine use, a history of two to four or more lifetime sexual partners, unprotected sex, having a sexual partner with genital herpes, living in the southeastern United States (higher rate of seropositive individuals).
- The majority of primary genital herpes infections are asymptomatic or unnoticed.
- All HSV infections establish latency and are considered incurable. The present infection may actually be a recurrence of an asymptomatic infection acquired some time in the past.
- Systemic symptoms are more common with primary infections, and symptoms are generally more severe in women than in men.
- Seek the advice of a health-care practitioner in diagnosing an initial genital lesion; differentiate herpes from other causes of genital ulceration.
- Recurring eruptions are common and are generally less severe than initial episodes.
- Treating acute episodes can reduce symptoms and shorten the duration of the eruption.
- Immune supportive therapy and antiviral therapy can reduce the frequency of recurrences and can reduce symptoms in acute episodes.
- The individual with herpes, the sexual partner, and the health-care practitioner all need to realize that genital herpes is a sensitive issue. Open communication, trust, and respect are essential for an informative dialogue and effective management of genital herpes.

PREVENTION

- Genital herpes is a sexually transmitted disease. Education about recognizing the disease and its prodromal symptoms of itching, numbness, and tingling and protection during sexual contact or abstaining during outbreaks are important in preventing transmission.
- The virus can shed; thus, transmission of the disease to another individual is possible even without symptoms. The use of barrier methods is recommended for any person who has evidence of prior infection with HSV-2.
- The safest method of protecting yourself and a sexual partner is to use some sort of barrier method to prevent contact. The use of male condoms, female condoms, dental dams, or household plastic wrap are all recommended options.
- Informing one's sexual partner of a history of herpes is the responsible thing to do. Before having sexual contact with a new partner, ask questions about his or her past sexual history, history of sexually transmitted infections, and past habits and lifestyle that may have exposed the partner to the virus and other sexually transmitted infections.
- A willingness to practice "safer sex" techniques is an important health issue to discuss with a sexual partner. One should understand that HSV infection can be spread by oral-genital contact as well as genital-genital sexual contact.
- Transmission from one body site to another is possible, and infected areas should be patted, rather than wiped, dry. Be especially careful about transmitting the infection from another part of the body to the eye.
- Enhance the immune system.
- Some individuals may need to consider prophylactic suppressive antiviral medication.

gitis, urinary or rectal dysfunction, infection in the eye, and erythema multiforme (a skin disease).

The impact of genital herpes on a person's psychological and sexual health can be quite intrusive and profound. Many people withdraw from interpersonal relationships because of stress related to their infection or because of fear of spreading the disease to others. Disruption of one's sexual life can also manifest as significantly reduced sexual pleasure and a strong sense of sexual inhibition. Many people also worry that they will be rejected by future partners and are pessimistic about the possibility of establishing normal sexual relationships. Since many people become emotionally upset upon learning of the diagnosis, a health-care provider can be extremely valuable in helping to deal with anger, guilt, or anxiety. Education and counseling include information about the nature of HSV infection, most importantly prevention of its transmission. It is important that patients also understand that the primary infection may have been asymptomatic and that even an initial outbreak may be a reactivation of an infection acquired months or even years previously.

OVERVIEW OF Alternative treatments

A susceptible host plus exposure to the herpes simplex virus add up to acquiring the disease. Improving the health of the host and enhancement of the immune system is essential in preventing and controlling herpes. There is some evidence that a defect in the immune system is present even in otherwise healthy individuals who have recurrent HSV infection. Support of the immune system, dietary factors, stressors, skin health, and preventing and treating other non-herpes infections are all avenues for using natural therapies in reducing the likelihood of contracting herpes and in reducing the frequency and intensity of recurrent herpes infections.

Nutrition

A health-supportive diet is fundamental to good health and an optimal immune system. Although biochemical differences may require that some of us eat more of some foods and less of others, health-supportive diets are based on the guidelines listed below.

A dietary approach for preventing recurring herpes outbreaks that reduces high-arginine foods

Dietary Recommendations

- Maximize your intake of vegetables, whole grains, legumes, and fruit.
- Drink 4 to 8 glasses of water daily.
- Reduce fat intake.
- Eliminate refined sugar and chocolate.
- Avoid food additives, coloring agents, pesticides, and herbicides.
- Reduce salt and alcohol intake.
- Reduce or avoid almonds, cashews, sunflower seeds, and peanuts.

and increases high-lysine foods has become quite popular. This concept arose out of two findings. First, we know that the replication of the herpes simplex virus requires the manufacture of proteins rich in arginine, and arginine itself may be a stimulator of HSV replication. Second, laboratory research has shown that lysine has antiviral activity that blocks arginine⁷ and that an arginine-deficient environment suppresses HSV replication.⁸

Thus, theoretically, reducing one's intake of arginine and increasing one's intake of lysine should be effective in reducing HSV replication. In fact, many people do observe an increased susceptibility to outbreaks if they eat chocolate or peanuts, foods that are high in arginine. Other high-arginine foods include almonds, cashews, and sunflower seeds. Foods high in lysine include most vegetables, beans, fish, turkey, and chicken.

Nutritional Supplements

L-Lysine. Scientific studies on the effectiveness of lysine supplementation have not shown consistent results, and a least one study cites dietary variability of lysine and arginine intake as a possible confounding factor that is often difficult to control and is not often assessed in studies.⁹ One study that did show positive results was done in 52 patients with recurrent infections (oral, genital, or both). Test subjects received L-lysine (one gram three times daily) or a placebo. They also avoided nuts, chocolate, and gelatin. After six months, the treatment was rated as effective or very effective by 74 percent of those receiving the lysine, compared to 28 percent of those receiving placebo. The mean number of herpes outbreaks was 3.1 in the lysine group compared to 4.2 in the placebo group, and lysine-treated patients reported milder symptoms. No significant side effects were reported in either group.¹⁰ Another experimental study was done with 41 patients who took a daily dose of 1,248 mg of lysine. This demonstrated a decreased recurrence rate and a decreased severity of symptoms during recurrences, but not a reduced healing time.¹¹

For people who want to rely on lysine supplementation alone, my recommendation is to take one gram daily for maintenance and one gram three times daily during acute outbreaks. Lysine can also be found in topical ointments to be applied directly to herpes eruptions. These may be helpful in reducing symptoms but have not been adequately studied to prove their effectiveness.

Lysine

Acute: 1 g 3 times daily Maintenance: 1 g daily

Vitamin C and Bioflavonoids. Supplementation with vitamin C may have therapeutic value in the treatment of recurrent external genital herpes eruptions. Using 600 mg of vitamin C and 600 mg of bioflavonoids three times daily for three days after the initial onset of symptoms (in the prodromal phase) was found to be the optimal dosage for the most rapid disappearance of symptoms.¹² In addition, in vitro evidence supports the use of ascorbate in combination with copper to inactivate HSV-2.13 In women with active lesions, a randomized double-bind, placebo-controlled clinical trial was done on the topical use of a water-based solution of Ascoxal, an ascorbic acid-containing formulation, in the treatment of recurrent mucocutaneous herpes. A solutionsoaked cotton pad was applied to the lesion three times for two minutes with 30-minute intervals

on the first day only. Both subjective and objective accounts demonstrated decreased symptoms and healing time. In addition, viral culture after the first day yielded HSV significantly less frequently when compared to placebo.¹⁴

Vitamin C and Bioflavonoids

Prodromal period: 600 mg vitamin C with 600 mg bioflavonoids 3 times daily for 3 days

Vitamin E. Applying topical vitamin E to a lesion may provide pain relief.¹⁵ Although clinical observations have been made of only four published cases (in oral primary herpes, not genital), it would seem logical that vitamin E applied to genital eruptions may provide a similar benefit. Dry the area around the lesion with warm air and apply vitamin E oil with a cotton swab. Leave in place for 15 minutes. After the 15 minutes, pain relief should be evident. Repeat as needed.

Further evidence for the use of vitamin E was found in an animal study that employed a patented combination antioxidant cream including vitamin E, sodium pyruvate, and membrane-stabilizing fatty acids. It demonstrated that the ingredients worked synergistically to reduce genital HSV lesion development, duration, and severity significantly when compared to placebo or acyclovir.¹⁶

Vitamin E

Apply vitamin E oil to dry area around lesion; leave in place for 15 minutes. Repeat as needed.

Zinc. A number of zinc salts have been shown to have antiviral activity against HSV. In vitro¹⁷ and animal studies have supported use of zinc topically with genital infection.^{18–20} Supplementation with zinc has been observed to reduce the frequency, duration, and severity of genital herpes eruptions. A compound of zinc (25 mg) and vitamin C (250 mg) was given twice daily for six weeks. In some cases, the eruption was completely suppressed, and in others the eruptions disappeared within 24 hours of their onset.²¹

Zinc and Vitamin C

25 mg zinc with 250 mg vitamin C twice daily for 6 weeks

Botanicals

Lemon Balm (Melissa Officinalis). Lemon balm ointments have been used topically in Germany for oral cold sores, and products are now available in the United States. Laboratory evidence demonstrates the anti-HSV-2 activity of Melissa at nontoxic concentrations in vitro.^{22, 23} The German cream Lomaherpan is a concentrate of 70:1 lemon balm extract. Several clinical studies have shown impressive results. One study demonstrated that when the lemon balm cream was used on patients with an initial oral herpes infection, or cold sore, not a single recurrence occurred. Not one patient using the cream developed another cold sore. The cream was also shown to be effective in reducing the healing time in cases of genital herpes.24

Another study, a double-blind, placebocontrolled, randomized trial, used a standardized topical cream (active ingredient: 1 percent Lo-701—dried extract from *Melissa officinalis L*. leaves) in 66 patients with a history of recurrent herpes labialis of at least four episodes per year. With applications four or five times a day, subjects noted shortening of the healing period, prevention of infection spreading, and rapid relief of the typical symptoms of herpes. The authors also concluded that the intervals between the periods with herpes might be prolonged with this treatment.²⁵

The cream should be applied two to four times a day during an active eruption. No side effects have been observed.

Lemon Balm

Apply topically 2 to 4 times a day.

Licorice (*Glycyrrhiza Glabra*). Licorice has traditionally been used by naturopathic physi-

cians, herbalists, and other health-care practitioners to support the body's immune system and to defend against the effects of disease-causing viral infections. Laboratory studies demonstrate a component of Glycyrrhiza glabra root, glycyrrhetinic acid, is active against viruses, specifically in HSV where it inhibits the growth, activity, and ability to replicate, irreversibly inactivating the herpes simplex virus.26 In clinical practice, I have observed that topical preparations of licorice containing glycyrrhetinic acid have helped to reduce both healing time and uncomfortable symptoms associated with genital herpes. Apply the ointment or gel several times daily. If used daily over several weeks or months, licorice may cause fluid retention and thereby raise blood pressure in certain individuals.

Licorice

Apply ointment or gel several times daily.

Siberian Ginseng (*Eleutherococcus Senticosus***).** A randomized double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of a standardized extract of eleutherococcus showed a decrease in severity, duration, and frequency of outbreaks when used for at least three consecutive months. Although not commonly used by alternative practitioners for the treatment of herpes, this study supports eleuthero's role in suppression of herpes outbreaks.²⁷

Siberian Ginseng

- Dried root: 500-3,000 mg dried root capsules
- Tincture (herb and alcohol or herb, alcohol, and water): 1 tsp 3 times per day
- Fluid extract: ¹/₂-1 tsp 2-3 times per day
- Extract (33% alcohol extract): 40–120 drops 1–3 times per day
- Solid extracts made from dried, powdered root (at least 1% eleutheroside F): 100–200 mg 3 times per day

Bee Propolis. Propolis is a resinous substance that bees make by combining substances from

plants with waxes and glandular secretions. They use this resin for the construction and repair of their hives. It is also placed at the entrance to the hive where the worker bees brush up against it as they enter the hive. This sterilizes the bees from infection. The composition of propolis varies depending on the plants in the area that the bees visit. Some propolis may be higher in flavonoids, other propolis may be higher in diterpene compounds. Historically, propolis has been used for its antibacterial, antifungal, antiviral, antiprotozoan, antitumor, anti-inflammatory, immunomodulatory, and antioxidant activities. In vitro data suggests propolis has both antibacterial and antiviral properties against a variety of microorganisms, including HSV.28-30

Two of my favorite natural topical therapies for herpes lesions are honey and bee propolis. A small study comparing topical application of honey versus acyclovir cream found a statistically significant shorter duration of episodes and faster healing time when using honey compared to acyclovir.³¹ Another larger, randomized, single-blind study showed that more subjects' lesions healed after 10 days of treatment with a 3 percent propolis ointment than with placebo or acyclovir.³²

Bee Propolis

Apply 3% bee propolis ointment several times per day.

Aloe Vera. Aloe vera is a cactus, and the gelatinous substance inside the leaf is known to have many beneficial properties. It's not surprising that some research shows some effects for the herpes virus, and mucosal epithelial tissue appears to be a good site for the medicinal effects of aloe. In vitro data suggests that chemical constituents of aloe vera inactivate HSV-2 both alone and synergistically with acyclovir.^{33, 34} Human clinical trials on men support its use topically as a 0.5 percent

Aloe Vera

0.5% cream, apply 2-4 times daily

106 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

hydrophilic cream, but not as a gel, to shorten healing time and decrease symptoms.^{35, 36}

Myrrh (Commiphora Myrrha) and Goldenseal (Hydrastis Canadensis). I am not aware of any research studies using myrrh and goldenseal for genital herpes eruptions, but the traditional use of both of these herbs is longstanding. As an antiseptic and as an anti-inflammatory for inflammations and sores of the mucous membranes, these two herbs have been very reliable and may go a long way not only toward improving the health of the epithelial tissue of the mouth and genital region but also stimulating an immune response locally in that tissue.

Myrrh

Oral tincture: 10-30 drops 3 times per day

Goldenseal

Oral tincture: 10-30 drops 3 times per day

Additional Botanicals. Many botanicals have the ability to provide immune support through various mechanisms. Other plants have very specific antiviral properties as well.

The antiviral activity of Saint-John's-wort (*Hypericum perforatum*) has been demonstrated. Laboratory studies have shown that two constituents in Saint-John's-wort, hypericin and pseudohypericin, exhibit strong antiviral activity against herpes simplex virus 1 and 2 as well as influenza types A and B, in addition to a virus in the mouth that causes vesicular stomatitis.³⁷ *Momordica charantia*, or bitter melon, has been shown to have antiviral activity against both HSV 1 and 2 such that its effectiveness in vitro is not only greater than acyclovir, but it is also effective against acyclovir-resistant strains.³⁸

Medicinal mushrooms are known for their antimicrobial activity against a number of microorganisms. Recent in vitro evidence suggests that fungal beta-glucans extracted from *Pleurotus tuber-regium* exerts its antiviral effect by binding to the virus, thereby preventing the infection of the host cells.³⁹

Echinacea has shown in vitro antiviral activity against HSV-1,⁴⁰ but a human study did not demonstrate any statistically significant reduction in recurrent genital herpes.⁴¹

Viracea, a proprietary blend of benzalkonium chloride and derivatives from *Echinacea pur-purea*, was found to have anti-HSV-1 and -2 activity in vitro, even on strains that were resistant to acyclovir.⁴²

Chapparal (*Larrea tridentate*), specifically its leaf resins, have been shown to have significant antiviral activity. The natural ingredients in the leaf resin appear to the inhibit replication of the virus.⁴³ Preparations are available in either cap-

Sample Treatment Plan for Genital Herpes

See the Resources section for formulation sources.

During an Acute Episode

- Apply ice, preferably during the prodrome stage during symptoms of itching, numbness, or tingling or even after the eruption has appeared, for 10-minute applications several times during the day. This limits the discomfort and swelling and can keep an outbreak from fully erupting.
- Apply lemon balm ointment several times per day.
- Apply licorice gel (glycyrrhetinic acid) twice per day.
- Lysine: 1,000 mg 3 times per day
- Vitamin C: 600-800 mg with 600-800 mg bioflavonoids 3 times per day
- Zinc: 25 mg per day

Prevention

- Follow a diet that is high in lysine foods (vegetables, beans, fish, turkey, and chicken) and avoid foods high in arginine (chocolate, all nuts and seeds).
- Lysine: 1,000 mg per day
- Safe sex protection

sules or a topical lotion. One or two capsules daily of the leaf resin may reduce the frequency of outbreaks, and the topical lotion, when applied at the first sign of a tingling sensation, may prevent the outbreak from occurring.

Botanicals such as thuja (*Thuja occidentalis*), lomatium (*Lomatium disectum*), and astragalus (*Astragalus* spp.) have been traditionally used by naturopathic physicians, herbalists, and other health-care practitioners to support the body's immune system and to defend against the effects of disease-causing viral infections. These herbs are typically administered in liquid extracts, capsules or tablets, or teas. Lomatium may cause a temporary skin rash if used in an improper dose.

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

Many patients prefer to use antiviral therapy to suppress infections and to reduce recurrent episodes. The primary goals of antiviral therapy are to limit the severity of the infection and to give the patient a sense of control over the disease process. Antiviral therapy is offered to normal immunocompetent patients with either primary or nonprimary genital herpes. In the vast majority of cases, oral antiviral therapy is sufficient, although more severe cases may require hospitalization and intravenous acyclovir.

Episodic therapy appears to work best for women who have a clearly identifiable prodrome. Patients who desire continuous suppressive therapy need to discuss with their physician the advantages and disadvantages of this regimen. Medical considerations, psychosocial needs, and cost are all factors influencing the wisdom of such a regimen.

The advent of herpes viral testing accuracy and knowledge of the asymptomatic carrier has led to an increase in the use of antiviral herpes treatments. The meds used to treat the virus are essentially the same as they have been for the past 10 to 20 years, but recommendations for usage and dosing have changed. The three meds most commonly prescribed are acyclovir, valacyclovir, and famciclovir. Acyclovir (Zovirax) was the first FDA-approved drug for treatment of herpes and is available as capsules, tablets, oral suspension, topical ointment and cream, and sterile powder for IV infusion. Valacyclovir (Valtrex) comes in 500 and 1000 mg caplets, famciclovir (Famvir) in 125 mg, 250 mg, or 500 mg tablets. The side effect profile of all of these meds is the same. The side effects are uncommon, but those reported are nausea, vomiting, and headache. They seem to be dose-dependent. There does not appear to be any long-term harm with the use of these meds, and there are few, if any, drug interactions. Essentially, this is a very safe medication class.

These meds are used for episodic treatment and for prevention. We now know that 5 to 10 percent of people are asymptomatic herpes shedders, so suppressive daily therapy is recommended for:

- 1. A person with an initial herpes outbreak
- 2. A person who is known to be an asymptomatic shedder
- 3. Patients with oral or genital herpes who have more than four episodes a year

The recommendation is for a year or more, depending on the patient's interest. The usual recommendation is for a year following the first episode of herpes, and longer if there are other cofactors.

The dosing has also changed from the original recommendations. Acyclovir, which is available generically, is recommended as follows: Ointment for genital topical therapy used several times a day until the lesions have resolved and cream for oral lesions with the same dosing. Orally, it is now 400 mg twice daily for 10 days for an initial episode, then 400 mg twice daily for 5 days for recurrences. 400 mg once daily is the suppression dose.

Valacyclovir has a variety of dosing recommendations: For an initial outbreak of genital herpes, use 1,000 mg three times a day for 10 days. For recurrent outbreaks, use 500 mg twice daily for 5 days. For suppression, use 500 mg per day. For oral herpes, the recommendation is 2 g in the morning and 2 g in the evening on one day only. For recurrent outbreaks, many practitioners prescribe the 1,000 mg caplet and suggest that patients cut it in half for economic reasons and take one half caplet twice daily.

Famvir is dosed at 125 to 250 mg twice daily for 10 days for the initial episode and 125 to 250 mg twice daily for 5 days for the recurrent episodes. The suppression dose is 250 mg once daily. It is interesting that with this product, the suppression dosing is greater than the active treatment dosing, because the drug is more rapidly taken up by the virus when it is in its active replication phase. Hence, more drug is needed for suppression than for active treatment.

The drugs are eliminated through the kidneys, so one may need to reconsider dosing in patients with renal impairment. The drugs are approved throughout all ages of pediatric use, and they would need to be specifically dosed by a pediatrician. So far, no resistant strains are reported.

The most important treatment remains prevention. Condoms do not prevent the spread of HSV genitally. Health practitioners continue to suggest that patients refrain from sexual activity, including oral sex and kissing, when an active lesion is present. We now recognize that 5 to 10 percent of people with a history of herpes do shed virus without an active lesion. Talking to your partner about his or her sexual history and safe sex practices are probably the most important steps in dealing with herpes.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

The most appropriate method for accurate diagnosis of a genital lesion is to see a licensed health-care practitioner qualified to perform a gynecological exam. Accurate diagnosis of genital lesions is not only an important key to effective and appropriate treatment but also a key to determining sexual behavior and habits with sexual partners. Laboratory testing using viral cultures and blood tests for antibodies are the most common methods that may be recommended by your practitioner.

A qualified health-care practitioner can be extremely helpful in providing education and counseling to the person who has newly acquired herpes. Education includes information about the nature of HSV infection, various treatment options, effect on pregnancy, and prevention of transmission. Counseling includes helping patients to deal with fears, shame, guilt, and feelings of social isolation as well as developing strategies for communicating with present and future sexual partners.

Women who are pregnant need to inform their practitioner of their history of herpes. Any outbreaks during the pregnancy should be recorded and reported so that appropriate testing, treatment, and management can be done during the pregnancy and delivery. Whether your practitioner is a midwife, alternative practitioner qualified to perform home births, obstetrician, or family physician, she or he needs to know your infection status to make appropriate recommendations for your health and your baby's.

Women with recurrent genital herpes infections may need to seek more aggressive or individualized care from an alternative practitioner than the therapies discussed in this chapter. Homeopathy, additional herbal/nutritional combination products, or Chinese herbal medicine may be more effective in an individual case.

Some women may choose to use conventional pharmaceutical antiviral therapy, although this is not usually medically necessary. There are cases of primary or nonprimary genital herpes, however, when antiviral therapy is indicated for immunocompromised individuals. Cases where symptoms and complications are severe enough to warrant hospitalization may require intravenous antiviral therapy.

OVERVIEW

Most of us are aware that heart disease is a primary affliction for men, but cardiovascular disease (CVD) is also the leading cause of death in women. More than 500,000 women die of cardiovascular-related causes annually in the United States.1 Taking into account other atherosclerotic disorders resulting from damaged and narrowed arteries, such as strokes, almost 4 of every 10 women will die of these diseases, approximately 100,000 prematurely (before the age of 65).² Starting at age 50, more women die of cardiovascular diseases than of any other condition,3 and women younger than 55 years old who have a heart attack have a worse prognosis and higher incidence of heart attack-related death than do men of the same age who have a heart attack, as well as a greater chance of having another heart attack.4, 5 Cardiovascular disease is also a major cause of disability in older women. For black women, the risk of heart-related death is twice as high as for white women.6

Even though heart disease is the leading cause of death in both men and women, the rates of coronary disease (but not necessarily death) at virtually every age are higher in men than in women.⁷ When women are in their thirties and forties, the difference between men and women is four- to fivefold. After that, the difference shrinks with increasing age. Coronary artery disease (CAD) is less common in premenopausal women, and the incidence of CAD tends to be about 10 to 15 years later than men, until the age of 70.⁸

Overweight women and those with the apple fat distribution (with abdominal fat) are at greater risk for developing coronary artery disease than are slim women and those with the pear fat pattern (fat stored around the hips).⁹ Abdominal obesity also increases the risk of high blood pressure and diabetes and may lower the HDL (good) cholesterol level and raise the triglyceride level. A desirable waist-to-hip ratio for middle-aged women is less than 0.8. To get your waist-to-hip ratio, measure your abdomen at the largest point and divide it by your hip measurement.

Overall weight, usually calculated in terms of body mass index (BMI), is also an important tool for assessing one's risk for coronary artery disease. To calculate your body mass index, divide your weight in kilograms by the square of your height in meters. You can also refer to the height and weight chart in Appendix B to help you to determine your body mass index. A desirable body mass index is less than 25. The Nurses' Health Study found that women with a BMI of 29 or more had triple the risk of coronary artery disease compared with women who were lean and with a BMI of less than 21.10 Women with a BMI of 25 to 28.9 had almost double the risk. As many as one-third of white women and one-half of black women are 20 percent or more over their desirable body weight.

Between the ages of 30 and 60, and in each of the decades in this age group, women who have had either surgical or natural menopause have twice the rate of CAD compared to women in their age group who still have premenopausal ovarian function.¹¹ Women who have had both ovaries removed have a higher rate of CAD at an earlier age than women who undergo natural menopause.¹² The explanations for this are multiple, but the estrogen produced by the ovaries helps to maintain higher HDL levels, which protect the cardiovascular system, keep the LDL levels low, and slow the aging of the arteries. Whether women still have their ovaries or not, the rate of cardiovascular disease increases with age¹³ and increases significantly after the age of 70.¹⁴

One of the largest and most controversial debates in modern medicine revolves around hormone replacement therapy (HRT or HT). For more than thirty years, observational research studies on HRT consistently reported significantly reduced rates of cardiovascular disease in women who used either estrogen alone or estrogen plus progestins,15 and HRT was routinely prescribed for primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Then, in 1998, the Heart and Estrogen/Progestin Replacement Study (HERS)16 found that the hormones did not protect women who already had evidence of cardiovascular disease from heart attacks, and moreover, that more women treated with HRT died of heart disease in the first year of the study than those given a placebo. This study was followed soon after, in 2002, with one called the Women's Health Initiative,17 which found that conventional HRT (Premarin and Provera) was not associated with a decrease in heart disease, but actually with a slight increase. It was also associated with a slight increase in strokes and clots. As researchers continued to study the women in the estrogen-only group (Premarin), they did not find an increase in the risk of heart disease, but still did find a slight increase in strokes and clots.18 In addition to the estrogen plus progestin HERS study and the estrogen-only WHI study, numerous other randomized controlled trials have been done since the HERS trial. No beneficial effects of estrogen on heart disease risk were observed in either the estrogen in the prevention of reinfarction trail (ESPRIT)19 or in the women in the Papworth HRT atherosclerosis study (PHASE).20

Most recently, studies show that HRT might in fact be beneficial if taken during perimenopause or very early menopause,^{21, 22} offering a window of cardioprotection if started in the early menopausal years. Estrogen has favorable effects on several heart disease risk factors: HRT increases high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, decreases low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, reduces oxidation of LDL cholesterol, lowers uptake of LDL in blood vessels, binds to vascular estrogen receptors, reduces vascular tone, preserves endothelial function, increases prostacyclin release, decreases thromboxane A2 formation, decreases fibrinogen, reduces plasminogen activator inhibitor, and decreases fasting blood glucose and insulin.²³

As you can see, the last 9 or 10 years in particular have seen a flurry of trials on the subject of HRT and heart disease, and with all of these studies, commentaries, confusions, contradictions, controversies, questions, and opinions abound. Despite the more recent reassuring news about the effects of HRT when given early, women and their physicians are still left with no consistent clear message or guide as to what to think regarding HRT and cardiovascular disease. Because of this inconsistency, it is important to assess each woman individually to determine whether HRT is right for her. In addition, physician advisory organizations no longer recommend that HRT be used to reduce the risk of heart disease.

The question really is, does hormone replacement therapy benefit women, and, if so, which hormones, in what form, in what dose, and in whom is it beneficial?

In determining the best plan of action, it is important that each woman is individually assessed for her heart disease risk. Utilizing a comprehensive medical history, physical examination, and selected laboratory and heart function testing, it is possible to assess a woman's risk for coronary artery disease and the risk of heart attacks. Based on this assessment, a strategy can be put in place utilizing lifestyle changes, nutritional and botanical supplements, and in some cases prescription medications to prevent and treat cardiovascular disease. To assess each woman individually and comprehensively and use a holistic integrative therapeutic plan is a long overdue approach in the management of heart disease in women.

What Is Heart Disease?

Before we go too far, let's clarify what we mean by cardiovascular disease. Generally, when we refer to the risk of heart disease in menopausal women we mean coronary artery disease, including coronary artery atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction (MI), acute coronary syndromes, and angina. These conditions are intimately related to hypertension and hyperlipidemia. The term heart disease is most often used to describe coronary atherosclerosis, hardening of and deposition of plaque in the arteries of the blood vessels that supply the heart. Other forms of heart disease include congestive heart failure, arrhythmias, mitral valve prolapse, and cardiomyopathy, but these are unrelated to issues of menopause and hormones. The focus of this chapter is the prevention and treatment of coronary artery disease (CAD) and atherosclerosis, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and myocardial infarction.

Risk Factors for Heart Disease

Major risk factors for coronary artery disease (CAD) include high blood pressure, abnormal cholesterol profile (dyslipidemia), and diabetes. Optimal levels of lipids and lipoproteins for women are LDL cholesterol (LDL-C) less than 100 mg/dL, triglycerides less than 150 mg/dL, non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol less than 130 mg/dL, and HDL cholesterol (HDL-C) over 50 mg/dL. Updated guidelines from the 2001 National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP III) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (called the adult treatment panel, or ATP III) are more complex than just this and emphasize more aggressive lowering of elevated LDL levels, especially in women with higher risk factors for heart disease. If you have peripheral vascular disease, coronary artery disease, abdominal aortic aneurysm, diabetes, or metabolic syndrome,

discuss testing and management with your practitioner as well as all available options, including exercise, weight management, dietary changes, aspirin, drug treatment, and nutritional supplement interventions.

Triglycerides are an important risk factor for cardiovascular disease in women, but especially when increased triglycerides are present in association with low HDL levels. If the triglyceride level is greater than 400 mg/dL and HDL cholesterol is less than 50 mg/dL, the risk of heart disease is significantly increased.²⁴ Patients with elevated triglycerides and a family history for heart disease most likely have familial hyperlipidemia. Triglyceride levels from 200 to 400 mg/dL are considered elevated but borderline. Weight loss alone can return elevated triglyceride levels to normal. Smoking, dietary simple carbohydrates, obesity, and lack of exercise are all related to elevated triglycerides.

When determining one's risk for heart disease, there are some critical things to look for. Women whose father had a heart attack or stroke before age 50, or mother before age 65 (unrelated to cigarette smoking), are at a genetic disadvantage. It's important for these women to work harder in the areas of prevention because they are at increased risk just by virtue of their family history.

Hypertension is the most common chronic disease in older women and a significant risk factor for stroke, congestive heart disease, and kidney disease. Beginning at age 50, hypertension is more common in women than in men and even more so in black women. See Table 9.1 for new blood pressure guidelines set in 2003. Isolated systolic hypertension (systolic BP of 160 mm Hg or greater) or combined hypertension (systolic BP of 160 or greater and diastolic BP of 90 or greater) is directly related to increased death rates from cardiovascular disease.

Impaired tolerance to glucose is another risk factor for heart disease. Women with higher than normal blood sugar or who are clinically diabetic are at increased risk. The diabetic woman has three

Blood Pressure Category	Systolic Pressure (mm Hg)	Diastolic Pressure (mm Hg)
Normal	less than 120	less than 80
Prehypertension	120–139	80-89
Stage 1 hypertension	140–159	90–99
Stage 2 hypertension	160 or higher	100 or higher

Table 9.1Blood Pressure Guidelines

to seven times the risk of cardiovascular disease and of dying prematurely from atherosclerosis than a nondiabetic woman.²⁵ Diabetes is a stronger predictor of cardiovascular disease in women than in men.²⁶ Women are more prone to suffer unrecognized or "silent" events related to ischemia.

In addition to these risk factors, there are two syndromes, both called syndrome X, associated with heart disease risk. The first one was named by Dr. Harvey Kemp of Harvard in 1967 to describe women with normal coronary angiograms who had angina-like chest pain with or without positive treadmill tests.²⁷ Some of these women turned out to have abnormal circulation in the small coronary arteries, and their coronary flow didn't adjust itself appropriately.

The second syndrome X, also called Reaven's syndrome or metabolic syndrome,28 was coined in 1988 by Dr. Gerald Reaven of Stanford University. It is a syndrome of increased truncal (midsection) obesity-a waist-to-hip ratio greater than 1:1-and is defined as a cluster of symptoms that appear to occur secondarily to cellular resistance to insulin. Individuals who secrete larger amounts of insulin because the normal insulin action is impaired are predisposed to glucose intolerance, hyperinsulinemia, dyslipidemia, and hypertension. The relationship between resistance to insulin, non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease has been extensively documented.29 Evidence suggests that hyperinsulinemia may be seen in as many as 25

percent of the nondiabetic population. As many as 50 percent of individuals with high blood pressure may have syndrome X.³⁰ Overweight individuals are more susceptible to this condition, but as many as 50 percent of hyperinsulinemic patients may be of normal weight.³¹ Individuals who have glucose intolerance and hyperinsulinemia should eat a diet lower in carbohydrates, whether simple or complex. A diet that is 40 percent carbohydrates, 30 percent fat, and 30 percent protein may help to correct the hyperinsulinemia.

The diagnosis of coronary artery disease and evaluation of the potential for risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) are fundamental steps to improve women's health and decrease their risk of acquiring and dying from cardiovascular disease. Screening tests, noninvasive diagnostic testing, and testing to help determine risk and prognosis offer the opportunity to identify women at increased risk, begin proactive prevention strategies, and provide the basis for treatment options.

For women who do not have symptoms of CAD, the goal is to identify risk factors for developing CAD. Risk prediction charts are available, and one risk chart, the Framingham risk score (FRS), includes traditional risk factors for CAD, including age, smoking history, blood pressure, obesity, sedentary lifestyle, and cholesterol values.³² From this score, it is determined if the risk is low, intermediate, or high. This is then correlated with expected rates of death or heart attack. Prevention strategies are then determined for each woman. In general, the risk of heart disease and heart events are low in premenopausal women and therefore screening is less important until menopause. Important exceptions to this are women who have diabetes, women with peripheral arterial disease, and overweight women with polycystic ovarian syndrome.

The U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommends against routine screening in adults who are low risk for CAD.33 For those at higher risk (a history of a nonfatal heart attack, older age, high blood pressure, smoker, abnormal cholesterol levels, diabetes, obesity, and being sedentary), appropriate testing is very important to prevent future cardiac events. It is important to make a distinction between routine screening and tests done for individuals who are symptomatic or who are suspected to have CAD. For women who have a normal resting electrocardiogram (ECG) and who have good exercise tolerance, a routine exercise treadmill test with ECG is recommended as the initial test to evaluate suspected CAD. For women who have an undetermined or intermediate risk exercise ECG test, cardiac imaging is recommended. Again, diabetic women merit special attention and will need to be evaluated more assertively due to their eightfold higher risk of cardiovascular death compared to women who are not diabetic.

For women who are symptomatic-for example with angina pains-and are intermediate or high risk, noninvasive cardiovascular risk screening, including exercise ECG testing, stress echocardiography (an ultrasound imaging of the heart called echocardiogram, done while exercising), and cardiac imaging looking for atherosclorosis are recommended. Stress echocardiography can provide important information about the function of the left ventricle of the heart, valvular disease, and any stress-induced ischemia or previous infarction. This particular test has become an important tool in testing women, because it is more specific and accurate than standard exercise ECG in women. An abnormal exercise stress echocardiography test is associated

with an increased risk of future cardiac events in women, and a normal test is associated with a low risk of cardiac events. Even in symptom-free women who are suspect for CAD, stress echocardiography is a cost-efficient and better test than an exercise ECG, particularly in women who are at intermediate risk for coronary artery disease.

Cardiac imaging tests include what is called gated myocardial perfusion single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), a nuclearbased technique. SPECT imaging is currently the most commonly performed stress imaging test in the United States. However, it may have limitations in women, possibly due to their smaller heart and the interference of the breast tissue. Different nuclear isotopes and pharmaceuticals can be used to enhance the diagnostic value of the SPECT test. Whichever SPECT technique is used, these tests are able to further evaluate and/or predict cardiac disease, and this information can be used to determine the extent of the treatment intervention that is needed to improve their symptoms and future health.

Several new imaging technologies have emerged in the detection of subclinical CAD: computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and carotid intima-media thickness (IMT). Consultation with a cardiologist is important in determining the value or need for such tests.

Increasingly, blood tests for cardiovascular biomarkers, which may serve as markers for CVD, are being done in healthy women. Tests for lipoprotein (a), C-reactive protein, fibrinogen, homocysteine, and subfractions of HDL-C and LDL-C are a few of the more frequently used. It is difficult to say with certainty, at this time, in whom and how often these should be done. Currently, the scientific community has not agreed on guidelines for their use or whether such testing ultimately does a better job than the traditional physical exam with cholesterol panels and blood glucose testing. In my practice, for

Risk Factors for Coronary Artery Disease

Medical Conditions

Hypertension Diabetes mellitus Hyperlipidemia/lipid abnormalities Syndrome X (insulin resistance) Obesity and/or excess abdominal and upper body fat (apple shape)

Lifestyle

Sedentary lifestyle High-fat diet Cigarette smoking Alcohol—more than two drinks per day Stress

Family History

Coronary artery disease

women who have had one regular lipid panel with abnormalities, I am inclined to order these additional, more sophisticated blood tests. The more risk factors they have, such as obesity, diabetes, and others, the more eager I am to evaluate them in as comprehensive a manner as possible. These additional blood tests can be easily done to serve that purpose.

There are heart disease risk factors unique to women. These include oral contraceptive use, pregnancy, having had both ovaries removed, and premature menopause. Additional risk factors not related to gender include increased body fat, especially if it is in the abdominal area; history of smoking; being sedentary; diabetes mellitus; high blood pressure; poor lipid ratios; and family history.

OVERVIEW OF Alternative treatments

Conventional and alternative medicine practitioners agree that, in most cases, atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease are directly related to diet and lifestyle. While family history and genetic predisposition play an important role in cardiovascular disease, risk factors such as cigarette smoking, exercise, dietary habits, and stress can be modified to reduce a person's risk. In fact, a recent study found that the following factors are to be correlated to increased hypertension: excessive sodium intake, low potassium intake, physical inactivity, low intake of fish oil, low calcium intake, low magnesium intake, excessive coffee consumption, and excessive alcohol intake.³⁴

Dietary and lifestyle changes are the foundations of heart disease prevention and treatment. Dr. Dean Ornish and his team of researchers conducted the first significant clinical trial to determine whether comprehensive lifestyle changes affect coronary atherosclerosis. Dr. Dean Ornish's landmark study, called the Lifestyle Heart Trial, published in 1990, found that lifestyle changes (a low-fat vegetarian diet, moderate aerobic exercise, stress management, smoking cessation, and group support)35 changed serum lipids as much as cholesterol-lowering drugs. After one year in the program, patients also showed significant overall regression of their coronary atherosclerosis. These results have been replicated in several recent studies.^{36–38} It is interesting to note that patients who made less comprehensive changes in lifestyle showed significant progression of their atherosclerosis, suggesting that the conventional 30 percent-fat diet recommendation made to patients with cardiovascular disease is not low enough. See the nutrition and dietary factors section for more about the Dean Ornish low-fat diet.

Smoking is the most important risk factor for cardiovascular disease and heart attacks, even in premenopausal women. Smokers have three to five times the risk of coronary artery disease as nonsmokers, and smoking accounts for one-fifth of CVD deaths.^{39, 40} Even smoking only one to four cigarettes a day doubles a woman's risk of CVD. Smoking a pack or more per day may double to quadruple that.⁴¹ Tobacco smoke contains chemicals that damage the lining of the arteries, raise the cholesterol level, promote the

KEY CONCEPTS

- Determine your individual risk for cardiovascular disease; make an appointment with a knowledgeable health-care practitioner for medical history, physical exams, and tests.
- Monitor blood pressure regularly.
- Monitor fasting levels of total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, cholesterol/HDL ratio, triglycerides, and blood glucose. Consult with your health-care provider regarding at what age to start and how frequently ECGs, stress ECGs, stress echocardiograms, and cardiac or carotid artery imaging may be needed on an individual basis depending on symptoms and suspicion of CVD.
- More sophisticated testing as needed or desired: homocysteine, alpha-lipoprotein (a), fibrinogen, C-reactive protein, HDL subfractions, LDL subfractions.
- Heart disease, and especially heart disease earlier in life, is a preventable disease; appropriate diet and exercise, emotional balance and stress management, and herbal and nutritional supplementation may substantially reduce CVD risk.
- Benefits and risks of hormone replacement therapy need to be discussed with a health-care provider familiar with up-to-date research on this topic.

ability of platelets to clump together, elevate levels of fibrinogen (a clot-forming protein), and elevate the blood pressure. Smoking is especially problematic in women who use oral contraceptives. This combination increases the risk of CVD by up to 39 times due to blood clots.⁴² The good news is that women who stop smoking can reduce their risk of CVD to that of a nonsmoker within two years of quitting.

Exercise is a vital part of a lifestyle routine that can have lifelong benefits in preventing heart disease and strokes. Regular exercise lowers cholesterol levels, improves the blood supply and therefore the oxygen delivered to the heart, increases the strength of the heart muscle and thus improves the volume of blood it can move, reduces blood pressure, helps to inhibit blood clots, reduces overall body fat, and minimizes damage from stress.

In many women, stress is the major cause of their high blood pressure. Relaxation techniques such as deep breathing, biofeedback, meditation, yoga, progressive muscle relaxation, and hypnosis have all been shown to have some value in lowering blood pressure.⁴³ Many recent studies on various stress reduction techniques have also shown improvement in blood pressure and other meas-

PREVENTION

Prevention of Heart Disease

- Get regular aerobic exercise for 30 minutes, 5–7 days per week.
- Increase fish, whole grains, fruits, vegetables, legumes, olive oil, and nuts and seeds intake.
- Eat lean meats and poultry without the skin.
- Eat low-fat or fat-free dairy (preferably organic).
- Decrease consumption of foods high in saturated fats, cholesterol, sugar, and simple carbohydrates.
- Work toward or maintain a healthy body weight.
- Do not drink more than one alcoholic beverage per day.
- Stop smoking and avoid secondhand cigarette smoke.

Prevention of Hypertension

- Limit sodium intake to less than 2,400 mg per day.
- Practice stress management techniques.
- Work toward or maintain a healthy body weight.
- Exercise daily for 30 minutes or more.

Prevention of Hyperlipidemia

- Decrease consumption of saturated fats and high-cholesterol foods.
- Increase consumption of fruits, vegetables, and whole grains.
- Exercise daily for 30 minutes or more.
- Increase consumption of olive oil, nuts, and seeds.

ures of CVD, including decreased mortality and oxidative stress.^{44–49}

A fundamental tenant of alternative medicine is that lifestyle changes that include smoking cessation, appropriate exercise, diet, and the use of dietary ingredients, nutritional supplements, and herbal extracts can prevent or reduce risks and treat cardiovascular disease. Considerable scientific research exists that demonstrates the effect of these natural therapies and interventions in lowering cholesterol, improving blood lipid ratios, lowering blood pressure, preventing clots and strokes, inhibiting fibrinogen, lowering homocysteine levels, strengthening the cardiac muscle, and preventing the oxidative damage to vessel walls, all of which are implicated in cardiovascular disease risk. Ingredients such as fiber, soy, antioxidants, folic acid, vitamins B₆ and B₁₂, magnesium, fish oils and flax oil, garlic, hawthorn berry, and others are just some of the many natural therapies that give alternative practitioners a great deal of confidence in their ability to help women to prevent and treat heart disease. Most alternative practitioners employ a diverse, holistic health plan in their approach to preventing and treating CVD. Recent research supports the use of supplements like fish oil, oat bran, and plant sterols in combination with diet and exercise interventions as a way to favorably effect all lipid parameters,50 and diets focused on decreasing cholesterol have long-term success on par with statin therapy.⁵¹

Nutrition and Dietary Factors

Dietary habits are a fundamental area where we can exert a great deal of influence on our heart health.

Fats. Lowering the level of dietary fat has been in the news for a long time now. The American Heart Association says that 30 percent or less of our total calories should be from fat. Many alternative practitioners advise even lower intakes because of some of the additional benefits, such as reduction of breast, ovarian, and uterine cancer risk.

In addition to amount of fat, the type of fat is also important. Understanding the harmful effects of some fats and the beneficial effects of others can be confusing. A little explanation of terms and concepts may go a long way in clarifying the issue. Fats are the most concentrated source of food energy. Each gram of fat provides 9 calories, compared with only 4 calories per gram for carbohydrates or protein. All fats are made from carbon, oxygen, and hydrogen. These elements are arranged in molecules called fatty acids. The three major classes of dietary lipids are triglycerides, phospholipids, and sterols (such as cholesterol). Ninety-five percent of the dietary fats are triglycerides. A triglyceride is a glycerol molecule with three fat molecules attached. These fat molecules are called fatty acids. Lipase enzymes, found in our bile, break apart the triglyceride molecules. The triglyceride is converted into a monoglyceride, which the body can then absorb, along with the individual fatty acids and the glycerol.

Fatty acids and monoglycerides are absorbed and transported by lipoproteins. These lipoproteins are the very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL), low-density lipoproteins (LDL), and high-density lipoproteins (HDL) that we have discussed earlier in the chapter. VLDL and LDL transport the fats from the liver to the cells in the body, and HDL returns the fats to the liver. Elevations of LDL or VLDL are associated with an increased risk for atherosclerosis (narrowing of the arteries), which compromises blood flow to the heart, which can cause a heart attack, and creates an artery prone to releasing a blood clot, which can lead to a stroke. Elevation of the HDL is protective and is associated with a lower risk of heart attacks.

Types of Fatty Acids. A distinction should be made between different types of fatty acids. Saturated fatty acids are solid at room temperature

HEART DISEASE **117**

and are typically animal fats (found in beef, lamb, butter, cheese, and lard). Saturated fats in general are not good for the heart; they contribute to LDL cholesterol and should be eaten in sparse amounts for a heart-healthy diet. A triglyceride is a saturated fat when the carbon molecules in the fatty acids are saturated with hydrogen molecules and can't carry any more. When some of the hydrogen molecules are removed, what remains is an unsaturated fatty acid, or unsaturated fat. Unsaturated fats are liquid at room temperature and, therefore, are called oils. Most vegetable oils contain mainly unsaturated fats. These are not as bad for you as saturated fats, and they contain healthy essential fatty acids (discussed later), but they aren't healthy in large quantities. Polyunsaturated fatty acids contain more than one double bond along the fatty acid chain. Replacing saturated fatty acids in the diet with polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) from vegetable oils will lower both total cholesterol and LDL levels and decrease blood pressure.52 However, it may also lower HDL.

The third general type of fat is monounsaturated fat. These fats contain one double bond. Monounsaturated fatty acids, as found in olive oil, show either no effect on HDL or an increase in HDL, thereby promoting a better effect than either PUFAs or saturated fats. Of all the types of fat, monounsaturated is the healthiest for your heart.

An omega-9 oil, such as oleic acid (found in olive oil), is a monounsaturated fat that has the unsaturated bond at the ninth carbon molecule on the chain. Monounsaturated oils like canola and olive are ideal for cooking as they are made chiefly of oleic acid that is more resistant to damage from the heat from cooking and light from storage. The high content of oleic acid make these two oils far superior to the highly polyunsaturated oils like corn, safflower, and soy that are easily damaged by heat and light and aren't as heart-healthy. The fatty acids in these less desirable oils are changed to lipid peroxides with cooking, which have a toxic effect on the inside of the arteries. In a healthy cardiovascular prevention regime, one would, therefore, preferentially eat the seeds and fruits that contain monounsaturated oils: use canola, sesame, and olive oil for cooking; and leave the rest of the oils on the supermarket shelves. (See Table 9.2 for the fatty acid composition of different dietary oils).53

We don't hear a lot about sesame oil, but a number of studies have proven its cardiovascular benefits. One study showed a significant decrease in blood pressure measures in patients after 45

Tatty Actu composition of various bletary oits					
% GLA (Omega-6)	% LA (Omega-6)	% ALA (Omega-3)	% Oleic (Omega-9)	% Saturated Fat	
0	14	55	20	9	
0	75	0	13	12	
0	50	9	26	15	
0	8	0	76	16	
0	3	0	6	91	
0	59	0	24	17	
0	30	7	49	7	
	% GLA (Omega-6) 0	% GLA (Omega-6) % LA (Omega-6) 0 14 0 75 0 50 0 8 0 3 0 59 0 30	% GLA (Omega-6) % LA (Omega-6) % ALA (Omega-3) 0 14 55 0 75 0 0 50 9 0 8 0 0 3 0 0 59 0 0 30 7	% GLA (Omega-6) % LA (Omega-6) % ALA (Omega-3) % Oleic (Omega-9) 0 14 55 20 0 14 55 20 0 75 0 13 0 50 9 26 0 8 0 76 0 30 7 49	% GLA (Omega-6) % LA (Omega-6) % ALA (Omega-3) % Oleic (Omega-9) % Saturated Fat 0 14 55 20 9 0 14 55 20 9 0 75 0 13 12 0 50 9 26 15 0 8 0 76 16 0 30 7 49 7

Table 9.2 Fatty Acid Composition of Various Dietary Oils

*Is especially high in the preferential monounsaturated fat, oleic acid.

days of using sesame oil and an increase in measures when patients reverted back to other oils. In addition, sesame oil decreased weight, body mass index, waist and hip measurements, blood sugar, hemoglobin A1c, total cholesterol, LDL, and triglycerides.⁵⁴ Another study found that sesame oil was superior to sunflower and nut oils in its ability to decrease oxidation of lipids, improve lipid parameters, and decrease blood pressure.⁵⁵

Olive oil, with a monounsaturated fatty acid rich in oleic acid, is especially heart-healthy. Most of the beneficial effects of olive oil, especially the richer virgin olive oil, are attributed to its high monounsaturated fatty acid content. However, it also has other components that may help explain its cardiovascular benefits. Virgin olive oils have more phenols, which appear to provide the greatest benefits by increasing HDL cholesterol levels and reducing the oxidative damage on lipids. Phenols are a class of naturally occurring compounds found in fruits, vegetables, tea, red wine, and grape juice that are in essence antioxidants. These cardioprotective phenols included flavonoids, resveratrol, and curcumin. A daily 25 ml dose of any type of olive oil has been shown to reduce lipid cardiovascular risk factors⁵⁶ by decreasing oxidative damage on lipids, increasing HDL cholesterol levels, and improving the glutathione balance that protects against oxidative stress.

Hydrogenated oils (an unsaturated oil that has been made into a saturated fat) should be avoided for cardiovascular health. Hydrogenated oil raises LDL, lowers the protective effects of HDL, and can in fact increase the incidence of heart disease. Foods such as margarine, cakes, cookies, candies, and doughnuts often contain partially or totally hydrogenated oils. This is also true of many oils sold in supermarkets; in order to prolong their shelf life, hydrogenated fats are used in many so-called cooking oils.

Another important fat classification, and one that's come under a good bit of scrutiny lately for being especially unhealthy, is trans fats. Trans fats are made during the process of hydrogenating oils by chemically modifying a natural oil in a process that converts some of the *cis* unsaturated fatty acids to the *trans* form. When we metabolize trans fat, it behaves similar to saturated fat, leading to a higher risk of heart disease and other chronic diseases. Trans fats have adverse effects on HDL-C and LDL-C. Trans fatty acids also have an adverse effect on cell membranes, making them stiffer, and in general are associated with increased inflammatory and oxidative damage.

Trans fatty acid levels are determined by the amount of hydrogenated oils in a food. Foods such as doughnuts, french fries, margarine, most cookies, and any food that contains "partially hydrogenated oils" contain trans fats. Soybean oils, corn oils, and safflower oils contain relatively high amounts of oleic and linoleic acids, which can convert to elaidic acid during the hydrogenation process. Elaidic acid is the most common form of trans fatty acids because of its production by hydrogenation of our most common dietary oils. Elaidic acid is found in amounts as high as 60 percent in hard margarine. Being armed with a bit of knowledge about trans fats and the foods that contain them and knowing what to look for on labels will help you to steer clear of the damaging effects of trans fats.

Many women are fearful of eating more nuts due to their fat and calorie content, but nuts actually contain healthy fats, as does olive oil. Higher amounts of nuts are associated with cardioprotective effects. Increased intake of walnuts in particular, with their alpha-linolenic acid content, appears to have a triglyceride-lowering effect.⁵⁷ In addition, beneficial oils in nuts help to decrease inflammatory markers associated with CVD risk, such as C-reactive protein (CRP).⁵⁸ Nuts and seeds to increase in the diet in addition to walnuts include almonds, filberts, sesame seeds, pumpkin seeds, and flaxseed.

Cholesterol. Cholesterol is a waxy substance found in animal tissue. It is produced by the liver

(about 1,000 mg per day) and is a component of all cell walls. Blood-circulating cholesterol is supplied by the liver and the intake of animal foods. Diets that are high in cholesterol and saturated fats (beef, pork, lamb, butter, cheese, palm oil, coconut oil) contribute to poor lipid ratios and elevated cholesterol. Lowering the cholesterol in the diet will lower the blood cholesterol in most individuals.⁵⁹

Essential Fatty Acids. The body can make most of the fatty acids it needs from the carbon, hydrogen, and oxygen provided by food. These have been arbitrarily classified as nonessential fatty acids. (This is a most unfortunate classification. It tends to mask the fact that the so-called "nonessential" fatty acids are as critical to cellular life and metabolism as are the so-called "essential." The nonessential fatty acids are manufactured by the cells from raw materials. The others must be supplied by food. We cannot survive without both.) Essential fatty acids (EFAs) are polyunsaturated fats that must be obtained from foods. The two essential fatty acids are linoleic acid and alpha-linolenic acid. Linoleic acid is the main omega-6 fatty acid. Alpha-linolenic acid is the main omega-3 fatty acid, which the body can convert to eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docahexaenoic acid (DHA). Linolenic acid has been found to decrease atherosclerotic plaques, systolic blood pressure, and related mortality in that high dietary consumption is related to low incidence of atherosclerosis.^{60–63}

The body uses the omega fatty acids to create eicosanoids. One of the most important classes of eicosanoids is the prostaglandins. Prostaglandins exert a local hormone-like effect on target cells and tissues. For example, in the cardiovascular system, they affect dilation or constriction of blood vessels and clot formation.

The omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acid groups each produce separate, distinct prostaglandins. Both types of fatty acids are needed, but in the right ratio. There is some disagreement as to the right ratio between omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids. Our early ancestors probably ate roughly equal amounts of omega-6 and omega-3 essential fatty acids. In the modern industrialized countries, most people eat from 10:1 to as high as 30:1 omega-6 to omega-3. Based on the research of Yeluda and Carasso,⁶⁴ many modern alternative practitioners recommend a ratio of 4:1. This ratio of fatty acids will produce a favorable production of the friendly prostaglandins, series 1 and series 3, and a limited amount of the unfriendly series 2 prostaglandins. Overall, we want to reduce omega-6 fats and increase omega-3 fats in our diet. Increasing dietary fish, flaxseed, and walnuts and decreasing saturated fats will help to improve this ratio.

The eicosanoids from eicosapentaenoic acid are also associated with cardioprotective effects. EPA has been shown, in particular, to decrease systolic blood pressure, in part due to its effects on intracellular sodium transport,⁶⁵ while docahexaenoic acid has been shown to increase HDL.⁶⁶ In animal studies, dietary fish oil has been shown to improve vascular function and decrease oxidative stress.⁶⁷

Fish oils contain EPA and DHA. Cold-water fish such as salmon, tuna, mackerel, herring, and halibut in particular are excellent sources of omega-3 fatty acids. Fish oils prevent clots, inhibit inflammation in the vessel walls, cause vasodilation, and promote a regular cardiac rhythm. Similar to aspirin, fish oils block the production of thromboxane A2, which is a potent vasoconstrictor and promoter of the stickiness of blood.⁶⁸ Fish oils may also lower blood pressure and triglycerides, but they may raise LDL.^{69–71} Other studies show that fish oils lower total cholesterol, LDL and triglycerides, while increasing HDL.⁷² In a large study of male physicians, those who ate fish at least once per week had a 52 percent lower risk of sudden cardiac death.73 Fish oils with a seed oil of alphalinolenic acid and vitamin E have also been shown to reduce the inflammatory marker Creactive protein (CRP), associated with cardio-

Five Omega-6 and Omega-3 Fatty Acids to Remember

- LA: Linoleic acid. An omega-6 fatty acid found in vegetable oils, nuts, and seeds. Given the proper conditions, the body converts LA to GLA and eventually into prostaglandin 1.
- **GLA:** Gamma-linolenic acid. LA gets converted to GLA by enzymes in the body. Certain foods, habits, and events (saturated fat, partially hydrogenated oils, stress, aging, drinking alcohol) disrupt this conversion so that only 5 to 10 percent of LA gets converted to GLA. It may be better to get GLA directly from evening primrose oil, black currant oil, or borage oil supplements.
- **ALA:** Alpha-linolenic acid. This is an omega-3 fatty acid not commonly found in foods. Seven seed oils contain some ALA, with flaxseed oil being the richest natural source. Through several biochemical steps, the body converts ALA to EPA and then to prostaglandin 3.
- **EPA and DHA:** Eicosapentaenoic acid and docahexaenoic acid. These two omega-3 fatty acids are found in cold-water fish oils. EPA is a building block for the body to make prostaglandin 3; DHA is important for the brain, nervous system, and vision.

vascular disease.^{74–79} Norwegian researchers concluded that eating fish like mackerel, herring, and salmon will significantly reduce the risk of heart disease. As little as one serving of 300 grams of fish per week will provide the benefit. They suggested that the minimal dietary requirement for EPA and DHA should be about 200 mg per day.⁸⁰

Keep in mind that fish oil has anticoagulation effects that may act synergistically with medications like warfarin, and therefore caution should be exercised in supplementing with fish oil in people who are taking these medications.⁸¹ Lipid-lowering medication was found to decrease beneficial omega-3 fatty acids and increase pathogenic arachidonic acid after only three months of use, leading the authors to conclude that these medications should be combined with diets low in arachidonic acid and high in omega-3 fatty acid.⁸² Fish consumption not only improves laboratory values but also decreases evidence of cardiovascular disease at the blood vessel level in terms of stenosis and other markers of atherosclerosis in postmenopausal women who consumed two or more servings of fish per week.⁸³

Fiber. Increasing the fiber in the diet is another vitally important nutritional habit to acquire. Fiber sources that form a gel such as psyllium seed or oat bran bind bile and cholesterol in the intestines and promote their excretion. This action improves the cholesterol by decreasing LDL levels while increasing HDL levels.84 A diet high in whole grains, fruits, vegetables, and legumes is the optimal high-fiber diet. Soluble fibers such as pectin or oat bran have the most consistent beneficial effects on cholesterol levels.85 Most studies on fiber have shown rather impressive lipid reductions, with the higher the initial cholesterol, the greater the benefit. One of the ways fiber helps to lower cholesterol is to increase the rate at which food passes through the digestive tract, thereby increasing the loss of cholesterol in the stool. A review of 20 scientific trials on the effect of oat products on cholesterol demonstrates that a modest reduction in blood cholesterol can be achieved by eating oat products daily.86 Eating one bowl of oat bran cereal or oatmeal daily (3 grams of oat fiber) lowers the total cholesterol by 8 to 23 percent. These results have been achieved in as little as three weeks.

A more recent study showed that dietary fiber intake is inversely correlated with several cardiovascular disease risk factors. The highest total dietary fiber and nonsoluble dietary fiber (more than soluble) intakes from fruit, vegetables, and cereals were significantly associated with a decrease in a number of cardiovascular risk factors including overweight, hypertension, lipid markers, and homocysteine.⁸⁷ Part of fiber's effect on lipids is because these higher fiber diets are in fact diets low in cholesterol intake.⁸⁸
Another study found that soluble fiber added simply as a breakfast bread source was found to significantly decrease blood pressure and triglyceride and cholesterol levels in diabetic patients.⁸⁹ Increased fiber intake (more than 3 grams of cereal fiber daily or more than six servings of whole grains per week) is also associated with decreased progression of coronary atherosclerosis in postmenopausal women.⁹⁰

A number of large, recent epidemiological studies published in medicine's most respected journals found that overall, increased intake of dietary fiber is associated with decreased cardiovascular disease in adults^{91, 92} and menopausal women.93, 94 Another study looked at the combination of 10 mg of simvastatin and 15 grams of psyllium (Metamucil) and found that the combination decreased LDL cholesterol better than the same dose of medication alone and found reductions comparable to 20 mg of simvastatin after four to eight weeks of treatment without significant changes in HDL or triglycerides.95 One study of a very low saturated fat diet plus a cholesterollowering drug, compared to a diet high in plant sterols, including soy foods and high-fiber whole grains, concluded that dietary intervention may be as effective as the medication.⁹⁶ Continuing to eat a diet higher in fiber as we age also provides cardioprotection. A large study found that increasing fiber later in life can decrease risk of cardiovascular disease in the elderly.97

Research has also shown that the sugars in fruit (fructose) significantly raise blood triglyceride and cholesterol levels. If your triglycerides are above 150 mg/dL, or if you have additional significant risk factors for heart disease such as elevated blood pressure or diabetes, avoid too much fruit, fruit juice, and other simple sugars. Limit them to one serving per day. Sugar can be eaten in small amounts only if your triglyceride level is below 150 mg/dl. All sugars can increase triglycerides, but a high amount of fructose, espcially fructose added as a sweetener, is actually more damaging than sucrose and glucose. It gets even worse if you eat high-fructose corn syrup, a very common sweetener used in packaged foods. Fructose increases LDL and does not improve HDL. A recent study showed that foods with a high glycemic index have a negative effect on HDL levels.⁹⁸

If you have elevated triglycerides, you can eat all the whole grains that you want, although some diets, such as the popular Zone diet, present some provocative, controversial ideas that may be contrary to this.

One of the best ways to achieve a high-fiber and low-fat diet is the vegan diet. This is a vegetarian diet in which absolutely no animal products are consumed. Strict vegan diets, which are typically very low in saturated fat and dietary cholesterol and high in fiber, can help maintain or achieve desirable blood levels by especially lowering the total cholesterol and the LDL cholesterol.⁹⁹

Specific fruits or vegetables may also have a particular positive effect on serum lipids. Raw carrots may have a more potent effect on lowering cholesterol than do oat products. Eating a raw carrot at breakfast every day for three weeks has been shown to reduce serum cholesterol by 11 percent and increase fat excretion by 50 percent.¹⁰⁰

Evidence also exists demonstrating that people with a low intake of fruits and vegetables have an increased risk for heart disease.101 Numerous studies have continued to show that a diet high in carotenes and flavonoids found in fruits and vegetables reduces the risk of heart disease and strokes.¹⁰² It is thought that the antioxidants (C, E, carotenes, and flavonoids) found in fruits and vegetables reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease by scavenging free radical species. The antioxidants protect the unsaturated fatty acids from peroxidation, thus preventing atherosclerosis. Lipid peroxide concentrations are in fact higher in individuals with atherosclerosis.¹⁰³ Good dietary sources of carotenes as well as vitamins C and E are green leafy vegetables, yelloworange fruits and vegetables, red and purple

fruits and vegetables, legumes, grains, and seeds. Good dietary sources of flavonoids are citrus fruits, berries, onions, parsley, legumes, green tea, and red wine.

Soy. Soy foods contain a group of nonsteroidal plant chemicals called phytoestrogens. These compounds are similar in their chemical structure to estradiol, and to equol, a phytoestrogen metabolite, but they are not actually estrogens. Phytoestrogens are categorized into three main classes: isoflavones, lignans, and coumestans. Isoflavones contribute significantly to our dietary phytoestrogen intake. Isoflavones are found in legumes and are highest in soybeans. These isoflavones are associated with the protein part of the soybeans and are not found in soy oils or soy lecithin.

One potential dietary influence for a cholesterol-lowering strategy is to consume more soy protein. This is perhaps my favorite recommendation to women because soy also offers many other potential benefits, including mild reduction of menopausal symptoms and potentially reduction in the risk of breast cancer and uterine cancer. Observations in large Asian populations, whose diet includes soybeans as a basic food group, show a lower incidence of CVD than in populations who consume a traditional Western diet.¹⁰⁴

Much research has been done on soy and its relationship to blood pressure, cholesterol, and even some inflammatory biomarkers of cardiovascular disease. In general, the studies are varied, with some showing clear benefit and some not showing any. Perhaps the best evidence comes from a review of 38 scientific studies. This metaanalysis concluded that consumption of soy protein rather than animal protein significantly decreased serum concentrations of total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, and triglycerides.¹⁰⁵

The use of soy for menopausal symptoms and heart disease protection continues to receive great interest from women, practitioners, and scientists. Most recently, a large meta-analysis of studies published from 1966 to 2005 found that soy protein intake was significantly related to decreased total and LDL cholesterol and triglycerides and increased HDL.106 Other studies of pre- and postmenopausal women found that soy is beneficial for improving lipid parameters,107, 108 with even more favorable effects in type 2 diabetic women with hyperlipidemia,109 decreasing lipid peroxidation better than estrogen,110 improving platelet function,111 decreasing homocysteine,¹¹² and working synergistically with statins to achieve favorable cholesterol levels.¹¹³ New research states consuming 25 grams of soy protein (containing 50 mg of isoflavonoids) daily for five weeks may decrease systolic blood pressure by nearly 6 percent.114

There are many other positive soy studies, too numerous to list here, but to be fair, let's talk about those soy studies that have not showed lipidlowering effects. A recent study looked at daily soy consumption in the form of a 50-mg isoflavone bar and found no significant change in lipids, except an increase in HDL, when consumed for eight weeks. The isoflavone-enriched bar did improve C-reactive protein (CRP), a marker of inflammation that mediates the initiation and progression of atherosclerotic plaque lesions, but had no significant effect on other plasma inflammatory markers.¹¹⁵ A controlled trial of 202 healthy postmenopausal women aged 60 to 75 concluded that the use of a soy protein supplement containing isoflavones did not improve plasma lipids when started at age 60 or older.¹¹⁶ A 2006 review article concluded that the evidence for soy lowering cholesterol was not overwhelmingly impressive.117

Interestingly, when soy intake (30 grams of soy, including 4 grams of phytosterols) was studied in the setting of a low glycemic index diet (a diet that does not raise blood sugar levels quickly), it demonstrated more improvement in lipid parameters than the standard American Heart Association Diet.¹¹⁸ It may in fact be that soy is most effective as part of an overall healthy diet and lifestyle plan. Substituting soy protein for animal protein increases the variety of nutrient intake and adds fiber, monounsaturated fats, minerals, and antioxidants while avoiding the saturated fats found in animal protein. Other studies have found that supplementing the diet with a soy protein and soy fiber lowers LDL and total cholesterol¹¹⁹ and that eating any legumes, including soy, at least four times per week can lower the risk of cardiovascular disease.¹²⁰

Despite the lack of effect in some studies on soy and lipids, when we look at the role of soy in other aspects important to women's health reducing the incidence and severity of hot flashes, loss of bone mass, vaginal dryness, and female-related cancers—the most convincing effects of soy are in fact in the area of its action on lipids. The North American Menopause Society seems to agree with this perspective in a 2000 consensus opinion.¹²¹

With many good reasons for women to eat soy, blood pressure may be another area of benefit. New research states that consuming about 25 grams per day of soy protein can decrease blood pressure.^{114, 122–124}

Good Carbs, Bad Carbs. It seems we all love carbohydrates. Complex carbohydrates, such as found in brown rice, whole wheat, rye, oats, barley, millet, whole fruits, and vegetables are high in both fiber and vitamin content and therefore the preferred form of carbohydrates. Refined carbohydrates, on the other hand, must be placed in the group of unhealthy foods. Sugar, a refined carbohydrate, is a significant factor in the development of atherosclerosis.¹²⁵

High-sugar diets lead to elevations in triglycerides and cholesterol and also to an increase in insulin production. Elevations in insulin levels are associated with risk of cardiovascular disease by increasing cholesterol, triglycerides, and blood pressure. The prudent woman would decrease all sources of refined sugar in the diet by avoiding candies, pastries, and desserts; she would also avoid sweetened cereals, white breads, or any food containing refined carbohydrates. Decreasing the total carbohydrate intake in favor of increased protein may be advisable as well. A recent study of women found that weight loss of as little as 5 percent with a plan that included decreased carbohydrates and increased exercise lead to a decrease in the ability of LDL cholesterol to cause atherosclerosis.¹²⁶ Of course, this would presume the carbohydrates left in the diet to be complex and not refined.

If your triglycerides are above 150 mg/dL, or if you have additional significant risk factors for heart disease such as elevated blood pressure or diabetes, limit fruit, fruit juice, and other simple sugars to one serving per day. Sugar can be eaten in small amounts only if your triglyceride level is below 150 mg/dl. All sugars can increase triglycerides, but fructose is actually more damaging than sucrose and glucose. It gets even worse if you eat high-fructose corn syrup, a very common sweetener used in packaged foods. Fructose increases LDL and does not improve HDL. A recent study showed that foods with a high glycemic index have a negative effect on HDL levels.⁹⁸

Foods with a high glycemic index are those foods that raise blood sugar levels quickly. These foods include items such as white bread, refined cereals, white rice, and white flour pasta. These foods greatly stress blood sugar control and cause a rapid rise in blood sugar. In response, the body secretes insulin from the pancreas. Over time, too much insulin is secreted, called hyperinsulinemia, and the body tissues become resistant to the insulin. These two consequences of a high glycemic index diet can promote the growth of cancer and increase the risk of heart disease and diabetes.

Reading labels on packaged foods is a good strategy for reducing intake of refined sugars. Any label that says sucrose, glucose, maltose, lactose, fructose, sugar, corn syrup, or white grape juice concentrate is a source of added dietary sugar.

Salt. With all this talk of lowering cholesterol and improving the cholesterol ratios, it is easy to

forget how important it is to balance the blood pressure and how foods may have a positive or a negative effect on this. For example, a diet low in potassium and high in sodium is associated with high blood pressure. By contrast, a diet high in potassium and low in sodium can protect against elevation of blood pressure.^{127, 128} It has become common knowledge that too much salt in our diet may contribute to high blood pressure. Not so commonly known is that high blood pressure is also related to too little potassium in our diet. In fact, restricting salt alone may not be enough to lower the blood pressure. Potassium must be increased. Most Americans ingest twice as much sodium as potassium. Nutrition researchers recommend a 5:1 potassium-to-sodium ratio that is easily accomplished by a diet high in fresh fruits and vegetables, which are rich in potassium.

Dietary recommendations in the treatment of hypertension were evaluated by the federal government in the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) studies. The DASH diet is high in fruits, vegetables, and low-fat dairy foods and low in saturated and total fats. It is also low in cholesterol but high in fiber, potassium, calcium, and magnesium. The DASH diet, along with a sodium intake of less than 2,400 mg per day, results in significantly lower blood pressures—systolic pressure that is 7 points lower in patients without hypertension and 11.5 points lower in those with hypertension.¹²⁹ The characteristics of the DASH diet are described in Table 9.3.

Caffeine. The peer pressure to become a coffee drinker is no greater than the conflicting evidence around the health impact of coffee. Some studies say it raises cholesterol; some do not. Some say caffeinated coffee is the problem but decaffeinated is not; others show no difference between the two. There is no one consistent answer on the effect of coffee on heart disease. What does seem to be true is that caffeinated coffee drinkers also drink more alcohol, consume

more dietary saturated fats and cholesterol, are more likely to be smokers, and are less likely to be current exercisers.¹³⁰

I encourage all my patients to decrease their coffee intake to not more than one regular coffee drink per day. Using any stimulant to falsely raise energy and obscure the fact that we are tired or stressed or just plain doing too much in our lives does not seem consistent with respecting our bodies' normal rhythms. For women who have elevated cholesterol, elevated blood pressure, or generally higher risks for heart disease, the number of studies that do show a connection between coffee and hyperlipidemia, hypertension, and coronary heart disease seem to deliver an obvious message: just say no.

In hypertensive individuals, the use of caffeinated beverages is questionable. Two studies showed slight elevations in blood pressure or a potentiation of the stress-related rise in blood pressure in hypertension-prone males. In a third study, caffeine (75 mg per day) had no effect on the blood pressure of young, healthy subjects.¹³¹ In a recent study, caffeine consumption was not found to be related to the incidence of hypertension but consumption of cola was.¹³²

Caffeine also appears to have adverse effects on serum lipid profiles. In men, coffee intake induced higher levels of cholesterol.^{133, 134} Moreover, when men with elevated cholesterol levels refrained from coffee for five weeks, their serum cholesterol dropped by 10 percent. Those who continued to abstain from coffee showed a 13 percent average drop at ten weeks, and those who returned to coffee gradually reached prestudy levels of total cholesterol.135 In women, cholesterol levels increased with increasing amounts of coffee with a low of 214 mg/dL at one-half to one cup per day and a high of 234 mg/dL at four cups per day.¹³⁶ Almost all of the difference was due to an increase in low-density lipoprotein cholesterol. Cholesterol was not affected by decaffeinated coffee in this study.

Food Group	Daily Servings	Serving Sizes	Examples	Significance of Food
Grains and grain products	7–8	1 slice bread ¹ ⁄2 cup dry cereal ¹ ⁄2 cup cooked rice, pasta, or cereal	Whole wheat bread, whole-grain cereal, oats, grits	Sources of energy and fiber
Vegetables	4–5	 cup raw leafy vegetables ¹/2 cup cooked vegetables oz veggie juice 	Tomatoes, potatoes, carrots, peas, squash, broccoli, turnip greens, collards, kale, spinach, artichokes, beans, sweet potatoes	Sources of potassium, magnesium, fiber, flavonoids, antioxidants
Fruits	4–5	6 oz fruit juice 1 medium fruit ¹ ⁄2 cup dried fruit ¹ ⁄2 cup fresh, frozen, or canned fruit	Apricots, bananas, dates, oranges or juice, grapefruit or juice, mangoes, melons, peaches, pineapples, prunes, rasisins, strawberries, tangerines	Sources of potassium, magnesium, fiber, flavonoids, antioxidants
Low-fat or nonfat dairy foods	2-3	8 oz milk 1 cup yogurt 1.5 oz cheese	Skim or 1% milk; nonfat or low-fat yogurt, buttermilk, and cheese; part-skim mozzarella cheese	Sources of calcium, protein
Meat, including poultry and fish	2 or fewer	3 oz cooked meat, poultry, or fish	Select lean; trim away visible fats; broil, roast, or boil instead of frying; remove skin from poultry	Sources of protein and magnesium
Nuts, seeds, legumes	4–5 per week	1.5 oz or ¼ cup nuts ¼ oz or 2 tbs seeds ¼ cup cooked legumes	Almonds, filberts, mixed nuts, peanuts, walnuts, sunflower seeds, kidney beans, lentils	Sources of energy, protein, fiber, magnesium, protein

Table 9.3 The DASH Diet—Basic Components (2,000 calories per day)

There are multiple reasons that coffee has this effect on serum cholesterol. Unfiltered coffee in particular^{137, 138} increases coronary artery disease risk and mortality in men and women.^{138, 139} This effect is possibly explained by the presence of the diterpines (removed by filtering), cafestol,

and possibly kahweol in unfiltered coffee. Another explanation came to light in a recently published Norwegian study¹⁴⁰ that indicated a dose-response between coffee consumption and blood homocysteine levels: the larger the coffee intake, the greater the homocysteine levels. Homocysteine is formed during the breakdown of certain amino acids and is known to increase the risk of heart disease when it accumulates in the blood.

Alcohol. Many sweeping statements have been made about the benefits of alcohol in preventing heart disease. If we look at the connections between heart disease and alcohol more closely, we find that these general statements are in fact paradoxical and can be misleading. Heavy use of alcohol causes damage to the heart muscle and is also related to high blood pressure, strokes, and arrhythmias (irregular heartbeats). On the other hand, people who abstain from alcohol, when compared to those who drink, are at greater risk of major heart disease events such as heart attacks. To understand the alcohol-heart connection, it is important to distinguish between light, moderate, or heavy alcohol use. A working definition is helpful: Heavy use is three or more drinks per day. One to two drinks per day is low to moderate, and light would be something less than one daily drink.

There is now strong evidence that light to moderate alcohol consumption protects against heart disease. Low to moderate alcohol intake, one drink per day, may reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease.¹⁴¹ In the Nurse's Health Study, one drink per day reduced the risk of heart disease by 40 percent.^{141, 142} Another study reported that women who had one drink per day had a 30 to 40 percent lower risk of all cardiovascular diseases as well as a lower death rate than heavy drinkers and very light drinkers.143 And more recently, consumption of 15 grams (one drink) to 30 grams (two drinks) of alcohol per day by postmenopausal women was shown to improve lipid profiles and therefore decreased their cardiovascular disease risk.144 Alcohol tends to raise HDL cholesterol, which likely contributes to its cardioprotectiveness. Alcohol also has a beneficial effect on decreasing blood clotting.

It is not clear whether there are any significant differences between red wine, white wine, liquor, and beer. However, researchers have observed the "French paradox": in France, saturated fat intake and mean cholesterol levels are high, but heart disease mortality is low. Wide publicity about this paradox has asserted that red wine consumption in France is high and is responsible for the unexpected results. As a consequence, a general perception exists that red wine is especially beneficial. Nonalcoholic ingredients in the red wine may in fact be responsible for this benefit, including antioxidants and flavonoids, namely the antioxidants in red grapes that prevent the oxidation of LDL cholesterol.

Alcohol ingestion, however, harbors potential dangers that may outweigh its alleged benefits. In my opinion, daily ingestion of alcohol cannot be responsibly recommended to women. Welldocumented evidence indicates that alcohol may increase serum estradiol by 300 percent in postmenopausal women who take hormone replacement.145 Alcohol also increases the incidence of breast cancer,146-148 osteoporosis,149 depression,150 pancreatitis, liver cirrhosis, gastritis, degenerative nervous system conditions, fetus damage, substance abuse, and cancers of the mouth, pharynx, larynx, esophagus, and liver.¹⁵¹ These, and the harmful cardiovascular consequences of heavy drinking, add up to considerable increase in disease and death.

From a medical perspective, all heavy drinkers should reduce their intake. It is my opinion that moderate drinkers should also reduce to light intake, and in individual cases, abstinence (those with breast cancer, those with a history of substance abuse, possibly those taking hormone replacement therapy, and maybe others). Daily alcohol probably does not belong in a healthful life. Stick to the occasional celebrations, and utilize other methods of reducing your risk of cardiovascular disease.

Chocolate. It has been hypothesized for some time that chocolate can reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease. High levels of antioxidants, including stearic acid and flavonoids called procyanidins, catechins, and epicatechins, are found not only in chocolate but also in tea, red wine, and various fruits and vegetables. Cocoa is particularly rich in these flavonoids. It is thought that the flavonoids reduce leukotrienes, potent vasoconstrictors, and contain prostacyclins that vasodilate and inhibit blood stickiness.

This benefit is only found in dark chocolate, however. Milk chocolate binds to the antioxidants in chocolate and makes them unavailable. It is also higher in fat content. Dark chocolate, with 70 percent cocoa or more, also known as bittersweet or semisweet chocolate, contains little or no added sugar and is made from cocoa butter, which has a neutral or even beneficial effect on cholesterol. Dark chocolate is also made without the use of hydrogenated or partially hydrogenated oils, which have a negative impact on cholesterol.

Dark chocolate decreases LDL cholesterol oxidation, reduces the risk of blood clots, increases blood flow in arteries, and may even lower blood pressure. It may or may not have a beneficial effect on cholesterol levels. According to laboratory experiments and randomized trials, the suggestion is that the flavonoids in chocolate are likely protective against death from cardiovascular disease.¹⁵² It is thought that eating 50 grams (about one twoounce bar) of dark chocolate per day may reduce one's risk of CVD by 10.5 percent.¹⁵³

Heart-Healthy Diets. There are a number of diet recommendations that utilize nutritional benefits to improve and maintain cardiovascular health. The following are some of the most respected, well-known, and effective cardiovascular diets.

The Step 1 and Step 2 Cholesterol-Lowering Diets. The Step 1 and Step 2 diets were created by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Association's National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) and have been endorsed by the American Heart Association (AHA). These diets were designed to reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease by focusing on reducing elevated cholesterol levels.

The Step 1 diet advises to reduce total fat intake to less than 30 percent of daily calories, with 8 to 10 percent of calories coming from saturated fats. Polyunsaturated fats should comprise less than 10 percent of daily calories. Monounsaturated fats (olive oil, avocados, soy) should be limited to less than 15 percent of total calories. The intake of cholesterol should be less than 300 mg per day. Protein should be about 15 percent of total calories, and total calorie intake should be determined based on what amount would help to maintain normal body weight.

The stricter Step 2 diet requires greater discipline and perhaps the guidance of a dietician/ nutritionist. Step 2 differs from Step 1 in that less than 7 percent of daily calories comes from saturated fats and cholesterol intake is limited to less than 200 mg.

If you have a diet that differs from the Step 1 diet, and you have hyperlipidemia, then start with this diet. If you are already following the Step 1 diet, or a similar diet, and your cholesterol is still abnormal, especially an elevated LDL, then you should start the Step 2 diet. In either case, a lipid panel test should be done after three months of the diet.

In general, a Step 1 diet typically reduces the total cholesterol by 5 to 7 percent. The Step 2 diet typically drops the level of LDL another 3 to 7 percent. The dietary changes, along with an exercise program designed to reduce weight, should be done in women who are overweight. Even a small weight loss of 5 to 10 pounds has been associated with a greater reduction in LDL cholesterol than just the Step 1 diet and no weight loss. Weight loss also results in raising HDL-cholesterol levels, lowering triglycerides levels, and lowering blood pressure.¹⁵⁴

The TLC Diet. In 2001, the National Cholesterol Education Program released new guidelines for the management of cholesterol in the "Third Report of the Expert Panel on Detection, Evalu-

128 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

ation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults, Adult Treatment Panel III (ATP)." The American Heart Association has adopted the NCEP III guidelines, calling for more intensive life-habit interventions to lower cholesterol and reduce the risk for heart disease and of heart attacks. They call this the Therapeutic Lifestyle Changes (TLC) diet. Its target is to lower LDL cholesterol. See the following sidebar for the recommendations of the TLC diet.

AHA Recommendations. The American Heart Association dietary recommendations are designed to reduce high cholesterol, high blood pressure, and excess weight. These are the dietary guidelines:

- Eat a variety of fruits and vegetables. Choose five or more servings per day.
- Eat a variety of grain products, including whole grains. Choose six or more servings per day.
- Include fat-free and low-fat milk products, fish, legumes (beans), skinless poultry, and lean meats.
- Choose fats with 2 grams or less of saturated fat per serving, such as liquid and tub margarines, canola oil, and olive oil.
- Balance the number of calories you eat with the number you use each day. (To find that number, multiply the number of pounds you weigh now by 15 calories. This represents the average number of calories used in one day if you're moderately active. If you get very little exercise, multiply your weight by 13 instead of 15. Less-active people burn fewer calories.)
- Maintain a level of physical activity that keeps you fit and matches the number of calories you eat. Walk or do other activities for at least 30 minutes on most days. To lose weight, do enough activity to use up more calories than you eat every day.
- Limit your intake of foods high in calories or low in nutrition, including foods like soft drinks and candy that have a lot of sugars.

Therapeutic Lifestyle Changes (TLC) Diet

Limits for LDL-Raising Nutrients

Saturated fats	Less than 7% of total	
	calories	
Trans fats	Minimal or none	
Dietary cholesterol	Less than 200 mg per day	

Therapeutic Options for Lowering LDL

Plant stanols/sterols	2 g per day	
Soluble fiber	10–25 g per day	
Total calories	Adjust total calorie intake	
	to maintain desirable	
	body weight	
Physical activity	Include enough moderate	
	exercise to expend at least	
	200 calories per day	

Recommendations for Nutrient Intake

Percentage of	
Total Calories	
25-35%*	
Less than 7%	
Up to 10%	
Up to 20%	
50-60%	
Approximately 15%	
(including soy protein)	

^{*}Range of percentages for total fat allows for increased intake of unsaturated fat in place of carbohydrates in people with metabolic syndrome or diabetes.

**Carbohydrates should be mainly from foods rich in complex carbohydrates and fiber, including whole grains, legumes, fruits, and vegetables.

- Limit foods high in saturated fat, trans fat, and/or cholesterol, such as full-fat milk products, fatty meats, tropical oils, partially hydrogenated vegetable oils, and egg yolks. Instead choose foods low in saturated fat, trans fat, and cholesterol.
- Eat less than 6 grams of salt per day (2,400 mg of sodium).

• Have no more than one alcoholic drink per day.

Not all low-fat diets have provided cardiovascular prevention. In the Women's Health Initiative dietary modification trial, 48,835 postmenopausal women aged 50 to 79 years were randomly assigned to an intervention of intensive behavior modification to reduce total fat intake to 20 percent of calories and increase intakes of vegetables and fruits to five servings per day and grains to at least six servings per day.¹⁵⁵ After an average of 8.1 years, this diet did not significantly reduce the risk of CAD, stroke, or CVD in postmenopausal women and achieved very modest effects on CVD risk factors. What this tells me is that an even more rigorous diet and lifestyle changes need to be achieved in order to improve risk factors and reduce CVD risk.

The Mediterranean Diet. The Mediterranean diet, perhaps one of the healthiest diets in the world, emphasizes increased fiber, olive oil, fruits, vegetables, grains, and legumes and decreased refined cereals, meat products, eggs, and saturated fats. This diet has been shown to have a beneficial effect on cardiovascular health in a number of large studies.¹⁵⁶ The Mediterranean diet has also been shown to have beneficial effects on risk factors for cardiovascular disease and may even exceed that of the low-fat diet. Compared with a low-fat diet, three months on a Mediterranean diet that included olive oil (one liter per week) or packets of walnuts, hazelnuts, and almonds decreased cardiovascular risk factors.¹⁵⁷ Both of these diets were associated with significant reductions in blood pressure, lower fasting glucose levels, lower insulin levels in those without diabetes, lower triglycerides, increased HDL-C, and lower C-reactive protein levels.

Ornish Lifestyle Modification Program. The low-fat diet has been promoted by Dr. Dean Ornish since the publication of his bestselling book Dr. Dean Ornish's Program for Reversing *Heart Disease.* What is now known as the Ornish Lifestyle Modification Program is based on the following four components:

- 1. A very low-fat, high complex carbohydrate diet rich in fruits, vegetables, whole grains, beans, and legumes
- 2. Regular exercise
- 3. Stress management
- 4. Family/community support systems to maintain healthy behavior

The main focus is a plant food-based diet containing whole fruits and vegetables, whole grains (brown rice, whole wheat breads, wholegrain cereals, whole wheat pasta), dried beans and legumes, soy products, lean poultry, fish, egg whites, and nonfat dairy. Plant oils are to be used only lightly, and red meat, butter, and animal fats are to be avoided, as are processed foods, high-fat foods, sweets, and caffeinated drinks. Alcohol and salt are to be consumed in moderation. The Ornish Lifestyle Modification Program claims to promote weight loss, improve cardiovascular health, help to regulate blood sugar and insulin, and lower cholesterol levels.

Whether it is the TLC diet, the Step 1 or Step 2 diet, the Mediterranean diet, or the Ornish diet, they all offer a great step toward reducing the risk of heart disease. One might be more suited to you over the other. Consider reading more about each, experimenting, or speaking with your health-care practitioner and/or a qualified nutritionist to determine which approach is best for you.

Nutritional Supplements

Although dietary changes alone can have a powerful effect in reducing the incidence of heart disease, they may not be enough for everyone. Lowering cholesterol, lowering blood pressure, inhibiting blood clots, preventing oxidative damage to the vessel walls, and several other mechanisms are all effects that can be achieved with the therapeutic use of nutritional/herbal supplements. This is an exciting and successful area for alternative medicine to make an impact on a large segment of the population. Given that heart disease is the number-one cause of death in men and women in America, these concepts deserve the attention and respect of individuals and practitioners of all disciplines and all schools of thought.

Antioxidant Combinations. Combination nutritional supplements are difficult to evaluate because of the multi-ingredient combinations and the different doses of each single ingredient from one product to another. Numerous observational studies have, however, evaluated the effect of antioxidant combinations on cardiovascular events.158-161 In one study, vitamins C and E reduced coronary death and death due to all causes in elderly patients.¹⁵⁸ In another, an antioxidant supplement significantly lowered risk for myocardial infarction (heart attack) in men and women over 55.159 A Finnish study showed no significant effect of an antioxidant supplement on death due to coronary artery events;161 however, only 3 percent of the people actually used an antioxidant supplement. In the very large U.S. observational study of more than 1 million men and women,160 there were modest reductions in CVD deaths among women using antioxidants supplements who had no previous history of CVD.

Prevention trials with antioxidant combinations have unfortunately not produced hoped-for results. In the Heart Protection Study, a combination of vitamin C, vitamin E, and beta-carotene appeared to cause no difference in either death rates due to any cause, heart disease–related deaths, heart disease events, or vascular events of any kind.¹⁶² Other quality studies of an antioxidant supplement for secondary prevention of CVD (people who already had evidence of heart disease or had a previous cardiac event) showed no significant effects on the rate of return of narrowing of a coronary artery, the rate of restenosis (a return of narrowing of the coronary artery after surgery), or the rate of cardiovascular events three years later.^{163–165}

Major clinical trials of antioxidant use for the primary (initial) prevention of CVD are currently underway and include tens of thousands of participants. In the near future, with an adequate amount of high-quality scientific data, we hope to gain greater clarity as to the impact of antioxidant combination products and multivitamin combinations on cardiovascular disease.

Vitamin E. In the past, I went so far as to say that of all the vitamins or minerals, vitamin E may offer the greatest protection for women against heart disease because of its ability to be easily incorporated into the LDL-cholesterol molecule and prevent free radical damage and, as a result, prevent atherosclerosis and CAD.166 A number of clinical trials have shown that vitamin E supplementation (alone or in combination with other antioxidants) leads to increased resistance of LDL to oxidative damage.^{167, 168} Doses between 500 and 1,500 IU have shown significant reduction in LDL oxidation.¹⁶⁹ Women who took vitamin E supplements for more than two years had about half the risk of CVD.¹⁷⁰ A recent study evaluating childhood and adulthood dietary intake of vitamin E found that people who consumed the most vitamin E in their diet had a decreased risk of hypertension.171

The *New England Journal of Medicine* published a report showing that women who took at least 100 IU of vitamin E per day for several years had 40 percent decreased likelihood of having a coronary event when compared with nonvitamin E users.¹⁷² Continued research has now demonstrated that doses between 400 and 800 IU per day dramatically reduce the risk of nonfatal heart attacks, but do not reduce the number of deaths from CAD.¹⁷³ Doses of 400 to 1,000 IU per day provide additional cardiovascular benefit by inhibiting platelet aggregation, increasing HDL-cholesterol, and stimulating the breakdown of fibrin (a clot-forming protein). Levels of vitamin E in the blood may be more directly related to the development of a heart attack or stroke than are total cholesterol levels. Whereas high blood pressure was predictive of a heart attack 25 percent of the time, and high cholesterol 29 percent of the time, low blood levels of vitamin E was predictive almost 70 percent of the time.¹⁷⁴

There are, though, negative studies on vitamin E's effect in cardiovascular disease. Although vitamin E was shown in animal studies to be beneficial for hypertension,^{175, 176} a human trial found that relatively modest doses, 500 IU mixed tocopherols per day for six weeks, led to an increase in blood pressure and heart rate in diabetic patients.¹⁷⁷ A very large study, called the HOPE trial, had a significant influence in diminishing the role of vitamin E for cardioprotection in the minds of many consumers and practitioners. In women and men, 55 years of age or older, who were at high risk for cardiovascular disease, treatment with 400 IU vitamin E per day for an average of 4.5 years had no apparent effect on cardiovascular outcomes.¹⁷⁸ The HOPE-TOO trial was extended for another four years and studied men and women at least 55 years old who had vascular disease or diabetes.¹⁷⁹ Again, there were no differences in the main cardiovascular outcome between those who took vitamin E and those who took the placebo. In essence, there was no significant effect of vitamin E on myocardial infarction (MI), stroke, cardiovascular death, unstable angina, or total death rate. In fact, investigators observed an increase in heart failure rates in patients assigned to the vitamin E. It is not known whether this was due to chance or whether the alpha-tocopherol form of vitamin E became a pro-oxidant in these patients with significant disease.

One of the most damaging reports on vitamin E was a meta-analysis on high-dosage vitamin E that compiled the results of 19 studies from 1966 through August 2004 to conclude that large doses of vitamin E (400 IU per day or more) may increase death rates, at least in those people with chronic illnesses.¹⁸⁰ It is important to point out that this type of analysis has serious flaws. To summarize an insightful commentary written by a well-known clinician, Allan Gaby, M.D., for the Emerson Ecologics website (emer sonecologics.com), in these different studies, patients were randomly assigned to take vitamin E, in doses ranging from 16.5 to 2,000 IU per day, or a placebo for at least one year. Most of the patients had one or more chronic diseases including heart disease, diabetes, Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, or kidney failure. Others were at high risk of developing heart disease. When all 19 studies were combined, the risk of what is called all-cause mortality, or death due to any cause, did not differ significantly between people assigned to vitamin E supplementation and those who were in the placebo group. In studies using doses of vitamin E less than 400 IU per day, the vitamin E supplementation was associated with a small although not statistically significant reduction in the death rate. In the 11 studies using more than 400 IU per day, vitamin E supplementation increased the risk of death by 4 percent.

A number of other influences may have affected this small but statistically significant increase, including additional nutrient supplementation, serum cholesterol levels, and the high percentage of participants with significant health problems such as high blood pressure, diabetes, cigarette smoking, and severe coronary artery disease. There may have also been a problem in the type of vitamin E used. (There are four different types of vitamin E: alpha-, beta-, gamma-, and delta-tocopherol, and gamma-tocopherol is the most effective as an antioxidant.)

With these flaws, and in contrast to the large body of scientific evidence that shows the benefits of vitamin E in slowing the progression of Alzheimer's disease, treating intermittent claudication, fibrocystic breast disease, premenstrual syndrome, osteoarthritis, and more, I continue to advise the use of vitamin E supplementation. While controversial, I am not willing to give up on the potential benefits of vitamin E and cardioprotection.

Vitamin E

400-1,000 IU per day

Vitamin C. Vitamin C is probably not a major player in blood pressure, hyperlipidemia, or other influences on cardiovascular disease. However, vitamin C has a positive effect on the cardiovascular system and, along with folic acid and zinc, has been found to be low in the blood of hypertensive patients.181 Vitamin C protects LDL cholesterol from oxidation,182 raises HDL cholesterol, and lowers total cholesterol triglycerides.¹⁸³ In one recent study, 500 mg of vitamin C for 10 weeks led to significant decreases in total cholesterol and apoB, a biomarker for cardiovascular risk.184 But a combination product that included 500 mg vitamin C, 160 mg bioflavonoids, 600 mg magnesium, and 900 mg vitamin B complex led to decreased clot formation in adults with hyperlipidemia.¹⁸⁵ In a recent study, 36 IU vitamin E and 250 mg vitamin C two times per day dramatically decreased atherosclerosis in hypercholesterolemic patients at both three and six years.¹⁸⁶ Despite these encouraging results, a long-term study of 500 mg vitamin C daily did not significantly affect any lipid measures except triglycerides in women who had high triglycerides.¹⁸⁷

Smokers may gain a particular advantage with vitamin C. Nicotine has been known to reduce blood vitamin C levels. An increased intake of dietary vitamin C has been associated with decreased risk of cardiovascular disease in smokers,¹⁸⁸ who are typically deficient, and intake of vitamin C supplementation was associ-

Vitamin C

1,000 mg or more per day

ated with decreased cardiovascular disease in a retrospective study of over 85,000 women.¹⁸⁹

Recent long-term studies of vitamin C do not support its use in hypertension, however. A study of 500 mg daily for over five years was shown to have no effect in a group of over 400 subjects.¹⁹⁰

Coenzyme Q10. CoQ10 can be used for high blood pressure control, atherosclerosis, angina, mitral valve prolapse, congestive heart failure, and cardiomyopathy. As an antioxidant, CoQ10 protects against atherosclerosis by preventing the oxidation of LDL. In a recent study, 150 mg CoQ10 in combination with the lipidlowering medication fenofibrate worked better than drug therapy alone in improving total cholesterol, triglycerides, and blood pressure.¹⁹¹ A large review study showed that CoQ10 administration led to decreases in systolic and diastolic blood pressure of 16 and 10 mmHg respectively.¹⁹² A study using 60 mg CoQ10 twice daily for 12 weeks led to an average decrease in systolic blood pressure readings of nearly 18 percent.¹⁹³ These findings were similar to a previous study looking at 60 mg CoQ10 twice daily for eight weeks in patients already receiving conventional cardiovascular treatments.¹⁹⁴ This study also found decreases in blood sugar, insulin, and triglycerides and increases in HDL. CoQ10 may be coadministered with conventional medication to increase duration of antihypertensive effect up to twice as long.¹⁹⁵ Other studies of up to 600 mg per day allowed patients to decrease the dose or discontinue the conventional medication while dramatically improving cardiovascular functioning196, 197 and decreasing subsequent cardiovascular events and mortality by nearly half in patients with a prior history of MI.¹⁹⁸ CoQ10 also works together with vitamin E in preventing damage to lipids and to the vessels.199

It may be that CoQ10 can benefit those women who choose to take HRT and are concerned about the potential for increased risk of heart disease. A recent study showed that the common dose of Prempro led to a decrease in CoQ10 and vitamin E levels in the blood, thereby increasing menopausal cardiovascular risk factors in women who use HRT.²⁰⁰ Use of statins to treat high cholesterol has been associated with muscle pain and decreased exercise tolerance that has been correlated with a reduction in CoQ10.^{201–204}

CoQ10

50-150 mg per day

Calcium. Calcium is most well known for its effects on bone health, but it can also be used to treat elevated cholesterol and hypertension. Calcium supplementation may produce modest reductions in blood pressure, usually only 1 or 2 points. But in those whose blood pressure is very sensitive to salt intake or whose dietary intake of calcium is low, supplementation may be more effective. Calcium has been related to decreases in systolic blood pressure, 205, 206 and an analysis of 40 well-controlled studies found that calcium lowers blood pressure measurements.²⁰⁷ Another large review of studies of calcium for hypertension in pregnancy found that higher calcium intakes were correlated to decreased blood pressure, as well as resultant preeclampsia and death²⁰⁸ and that the combination of calcium and linoleic acid decreases pregnancy-induced hypertension as well.209, 210

Not all studies have shown benefit, and a large review of three randomized controlled trials investigating the combinations of magnesium, potassium, and calcium found no evidence that these supplements improved blood pressure or mortality.²¹¹ Calcium probably has only a small role in lowering cholesterol, but a recent randomized controlled trial suggests that calcium may have a role in decreasing cholesterol via its ability to improve the function of bile in the liver, thereby increasing cholesterol excretion,²¹² and another study on 223 menopausal women showed that calcium supplementation did decrease cholesterol slightly and with more significant increases in HDL.²¹³ Calcium carbonate 400 mg three times daily can reduce cholesterol and LDL cholesterol by about 4 percent and increase HDL by 4 percent.²¹⁴

While reducing cholesterol and blood pressure may not be calcium's strong suits, the benefits to bone health, tooth retention, weight loss, PMS, and reduction in the risk of colorectal cancer make it one of our most important dietary nutrients and nutritional supplements.

Calcium

400-1,200 mg per day calcium carbonate or other form

Magnesium. Many scientists and health practitioners believe that magnesium is one of the most important nutrients for cardiovascular protection and treatment. Drs. Burton and Bella Altura of NY Health Science Center have done some of the most consistent research in magnesium over the last 30 years. They, and others, assert that magnesium contributes to the strength of contraction of heart muscle,²¹⁵ increases HDL levels,²¹⁶ inhibits platelet aggregation and prolongs the clotting time,^{217–219} decreasing the risk of heart disease, strokes, formation of atherosclerotic plaque, and blood clots that can result in heart attack or stroke.

At least 10 independent clinical studies show that patients with hypertension exhibit serum and/or tissue hypomagnesemia. On the average, patients with long-term hypertension have at least a 15 percent deficit in total magnesium.²²⁰ A recent review of studies showed that supplementation with magnesium appears to modestly decrease blood pressure,²²¹ yet another large review showed no effect at all.²²² Magnesium may be more effective in decreasing blood pressure and improving arterial function when combined with potassium.²²³ Evidence from both animals and humans suggests that magnesium levels in diet and blood may affect blood lipids; the lower the magnesium intake, the higher the serum lipid levels. In addition, a recent study showed that supplementation of 600 mg daily for 12 weeks produced improvements in all lipid parameters in both type 1 and 2 diabetics.^{224, 225} There is strong evidence suggesting a relationship between uncontrolled type 1 and type 2 diabetes and magnesium deficiency,²²⁰ thus magnesium deficiency may predispose diabetic patients to an increased incidence of cardiovascular disease and death.

Magnesium also improves cardiac performance by enhancing blood flow in the coronary arteries. It also prevents oxidation of lipoproteins and subsequent atherosclerosis.

Magnesium

400-1,200 mg per day in divided doses

Niacin. Niacin (nicotinic acid) has been shown to favorably affect all lipids and lipoproteins, and it can be used either alone or in combination with other lipid-lowering agents.²²⁶ We're not sure exactly how it works, although it likely inhibits mobilization of free fatty acids from peripheral fat tissue to the liver. As a result, niacin reduces hepatic synthesis of very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) and triglyceride levels. Because there is less VLDL available, LDL levels decrease.²²⁷

The Coronary Drug Project was the first trial to study the effect of niacin on cardiovascular endpoints.²²⁸ Niacin therapy in men with prior MI reduced the five-year incidence of nonfatal reinfarction by 27 percent. In addition, after a mean follow-up of 15 years all-cause mortality was 11 percent lower in niacin-treated men compared with placebo-treated patients.²²⁹

Niacin—specifically nicotinic acid—may be used to reduce total cholesterol, TG, and LDL levels and to raise HDL values. It is currently the best treatment to raise HDL levels,²²⁷ and it can reduce the risk of nonfatal MI.²³⁰ Niacin lowers LDL levels by about 5 to 25 percent, TG by 20 to 50 percent, lipoprotein(a) by 34 percent,²³¹ and the total cholesterol/HDL ratio by 27 percent²²⁶ while increasing HDL levels by 15 to 35 percent.²³²

Niacin has been compared to several conventional pharmaceutical drugs used to reduce cholesterol levels. A study published in 1994 compared niacin and lovastatin over a period of 26 weeks in 136 patients who were at high risk for coronary heart disease.233 Lovastatin produced a greater effect on reducing LDL cholesterol, but niacin provided better overall results. Niacin far exceeded lovastatin in increasing HDL cholesterol, which is a more significant indicator in reducing the risk for heart disease, and some estimates suggest that it can raise HDL by as much as 35 percent.²³⁴ Niacin has also been found to decrease inflammatory markers like C-reactive protein235 and increase adiponectin, a hormone that not only decreases atherosclerosis but improves glucose tolerance, body mass index, and fatty liver disease.^{236, 237} In a study of patients with previous history of heart attack, niacin was found to decrease the risk of repeat MI and death in patients with and without metabolic syndrome.²³⁸

Conventional practitioners and alternative practitioners alike acknowledge that several grams of niacin per day will lower total cholesterol and LDL cholesterol, raise HDL,²³⁹ and decrease atherosclerosis both alone and when used with conventional treatments like statins. The niacin and statins seem to act synergistically to improve lipid parameters at lower doses, in a shorter amount of time, and more effectively than when either is used alone.^{240–242}

The major problem with the therapeutic dosage (1.5 to 3 grams per day) has to do with side effects. Flushing responses are common. Anecdotally, some clinicians decrease the effects of niacin's flushing by having the patient start with a low dose, like 500 mg per day, increasing the dose weekly to achieve the desired dose, and taking the dose before bed or coadministering with 81 mg baby aspirin. More seriously, liver function findings can become abnormal, and individuals with liver disease should not take niacin. Immediate-release niacin is recommended, as sustained-release niacin has been

associated with severe liver toxicity in doses of more than 2 grams per day. Niacin can also exacerbate elevated serum glucose levels in diabetics and can worsen gout. Niacin in doses of more than 1 gram per day are best taken under the guidance of a physician, with monitoring of liver-function tests.

Niacin (Nicotinic Acid)

500 mg 1-3 times per day

Pantethine. Pantethine is the activated form of vitamin B_5 (pantothenic acid) and a key component of coenzyme A (CoA). CoA plays a significant role in lipid metabolism and is involved in the transport of fats. The cells of our body need CoA to utilize fats in the form of energy. Pantethine, at the typical dose of 300 mg three times per day, has been shown to significantly reduce serum triglycerides, total cholesterol, and LDL cholesterol, while also increasing HDL cholesterol.^{243, 244} This same dose was found to be effective at decreasing adverse lipid parameters in postmenopausal women.

Pantethine

300 mg 3 times per day

Potassium. The role of potassium in the body crosses over into many physiological events that include nerve transmission, muscle contraction, enzymatic reactions, carbohydrate synthesis, basic cell functions, and acid-base balance. Inadequate potassium intake in the diet might play a role in the development of high blood pressure, stroke, and cardiovascular disease. In addition to increasing the potassium foods in our diet, several studies now show that potassium supplementation can reduce blood pressure. It has been shown that potassium supplementation of 2.5 grams per day can lower the systolic blood pressure an average of 12 points and diastolic blood pressure an average of 16 points.²²² Potassium supplementation may be even more beneficial in people over age 65 who often do not respond well to antihypertensive drugs.

Potassium supplements are available by prescription and over the counter. The FDA restricts the potassium over-the-counter dose per tablet to 99 mg due to potential problems with nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, and ulcers that may result from higher doses of the mineral. The frequency and severity of side effects associated with potassium supplementation are negligible when compared with the frequency and severity of side effects associated with conventional antihypertensives.

Potassium dosing should be based on individualized need and potassium level in the blood. The common dose for treating hypertension is 48 to 90 mEquivalents daily. Drug/potassium interactions are possible, and a consultation with your health-care provider should occur if you are taking ACE inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers, or potassium-sparing diuretics. In addition, certain drugs influence the nutrient levels and depletion of potassium.

Decreasing sodium and increasing potassium intake helps prevent heart disease, high blood pressure, and strokes. The standard American diet has a poor potassium/sodium ratio; the ideal potassium-to-sodium ratio is greater than 5:1. A diet rich in fruits and vegetables can produce a more beneficial ratio because most of these foods have significantly greater potassium than sodium. Amongst the highest are bananas, apples, carrots, oranges, lima beans, and potatoes.

Potassium

99 mg-2.5 g per day

L-Arginine. L-arginine is an amino acid involved in many areas of our physiology, including the production of nitric oxide, an important messenger in the regulation of our blood vessels. We synthesize arginine from other substances, but dietary intake is the primary source of our arginine levels. Arginine is the precursor of nitric oxide, a gaseous molecule involved in relaxation of the smooth muscles of our vessels, which results in vessel dilation (vasodilation) and inhibition of blood platelets clumping together.

The key to arginine's cardiovascular benefits is its ability to induce endothelial nitrous oxide production whereby an enzyme in the endothelium (lining) of the blood vessel, nitric oxide xynthase, catalyzes a reaction that produces nitrous oxide and ornithine. The nitric oxide diffuses into the underlying muscle of the vessel and causes relaxation and dilation. Nitric oxide also helps to prevent atherosclerosis in the vessels, along with its dilation and clot prevention effects.

Supplementation with arginine has been shown to increase artery dilation in normal people, people with hyperlipidemia, and in those with hypertension;^{245, 246} significantly improve blood flow and function in patients with congestive heart failure;^{247, 248} and in some, but not all trials, improve blood flow, vasodilation, exercise tolerance, and quality of life in those with angina.249, 250 Therapeutic doses for cardiovascular effects seem to range from 6 to 12 grams per day. L-arginine is a very safe supplement and has been associated with only minor problems lasting a few days, including diarrhea, bloating, abdominal pain, or allergic reactions. The exceptions are those patients with kidney failure or liver disease. For these patients, supplemental arginine may not be able to be metabolized or excreted as well and should be monitored.

L-Arginine

6-12 g per day in divided doses, 3 g at a time

L-Carnitine. L-carnitine is an amino acid found naturally in the body. We obtain some L-carnitine from the diet in foods such as red meats and dairy products, but our bodies also synthesize carnitines from two other amino acids, methionine and lysine. L-carnitine has a key role in the energy production within our cells and is required to transport long-chain fatty acids into our cells.

Two to three grams per day of L-carnitine has resulted in reductions in total and LDL cholesterol in individuals with hyperlipidemia²⁵¹ and also decreased triglycerides in those with high blood pressure.²⁵² Lipoprotein(a) levels, an independent biomarker of cardiovascular disease risk, have also been reduced with 2 grams per day of L-carnitine, even in those with type 2 diabetes.²⁵³ In addition, some preliminary evidence suggests carnitine may be able to attenuate the muscular side effects of statin therapy.²⁵⁴

Numerous other cardiovascular effects of Lcarnitine are beyond the scope of this chapter, but improvement in exercise tolerance, functional improvement in angina, peripheral vascular disease, treatment of heart failure, and reduced death rates from heart attacks are all areas of clinical effectiveness of L-carnitine.

L-Carnitine

2-3 g per day

Folic Acid, Vitamin B₆, Vitamin B₁₂. Much research over the years has shown that elevated plasma levels of homocysteine are associated with significant increases in coronary artery disease,255-257 myocardial infarction,258, 259 peripheral occlusive disease, cerebral occlusive disease,^{260, 261} dementia, and Alzheimer's disease.²⁶² Two recent meta-analyses of observational studies concluded that a 25 percent reduction in plasma homocysteine concentration was associated with decreases of 11 to 16 percent in the risk of ischemic heart disease and 19 to 22 percent reduction in the risk of stroke.^{263, 264} Folate, vitamin B₁₂, and vitamin B₆ are inversely related to homocysteine levels, and anyone with a nutritional deficiency that leads to low concentrations of either one or more of these nutrients is at increased risk for elevated homocysteine levels. Testing for homocysteine levels is available through commonly available simple blood tests.

The first meta-analysis of the Homocysteine Lowering Trialists' Collaboration concluded that folic acid supplementation lowered homocysteine levels by about 25 percent.²⁶⁵ The second metaanalysis found a 23 percent reduction in homocysteine concentration was the maximum observed with 800 mcg per day of folic acid.²⁶⁶ A 20 percent reduction was seen with 400 mcg and 13 percent with 200 mcg per day. Due to folic acid fortification of foods in the United States, our plasma folate concentration has increased, and subsequently our homocysteine levels have decreased. For those of us who eat a diet fortified with folic acid in some of the foods, folic acid supplementation is likely to lower homocysteine concentrations by only about 15 percent.

Women are more responsive to the homocysteine-lowering effects of folic acid than are men, and the Women's Health Initiative demonstrated that the risk of vascular disease was stronger than the association observed in males in the Physician's Health Study.267 High consumption of foods containing folate and vitamin \tilde{B}_6 may reduce the risk of heart attack²⁶⁸ in women by nearly 50 percent.269 A study of 80,000 female nurses showed a direct link between the ingestion of these two B vitamins and reduced coronary disease. The results suggested that eating more fruits, vegetables, and whole grains or obtaining these vitamins through supplementation may be as important as quitting smoking, lowering cholesterol, or controlling high blood pressure in lowering heart disease risk. Folic acid and the lowering of homocysteine has recently been less impressive as a heart disease prevention strategy.

Folic Acid

400 mcg-2.5 mg per day

Vitamin B₆

10-25 mg per day

Vitamin B₁₂

400-1,000 mcg per day

Essential Fatty Acids. As I discussed in the nutrition section, a diet rich in omega-3 oils results in a much lower risk of heart disease.

Besides changes in diet, supplementation of various oils is also warranted for many individuals. The daily consumption of fish oils can significantly lower blood pressure in people with hypertension, and low consumption may increase the incidence of hypertension, especially in diets with a low fish intake.²⁷⁰

A group of researchers at the Johns Hopkins Medical School evaluated the results of 17 clinical trials using fish oil supplementation and found that consuming 3 grams or more per day of fish oil led to reductions in blood pressure of individuals with hypertension,²⁷¹ lowered systolic pressure by an average of 5.5 mm Hg, and lowered diastolic pressure by 3.5 mm Hg. The effect was found to be greater at higher blood pressures. A metaanalysis of 36 trials of fish oil supplementation and blood pressure, with an average dose of 3.6 grams per day, showed that fish oil had a small effect in lowering blood pressure, especially in older people with hypertension.²⁷² Another meta-analysis of 31 trials also showed a small but statistically significant drop in blood pressures of about 3 points /1.6 points at 3.3 to 7 grams per day.273 Granted, these are small decreases, but fish oils in conjunction with other nutrients, botanicals, and lifestyle changes can be used as part of a comprehensive treatment plan to achieve a reduction in blood pressure, stroke, and risk of coronary events.

There are numerous studies on the effect of omega-3 fish oils and triglycerides. In a review of human trials, about 4 grams per day of omega-3 fatty acids from fish oil decreased serum triglyceride levels by 25 to 30 percent.²⁷⁴ Both the EPA content and the DHA content of fish oils have the triglyceride-lowering effects. Among postmenopausal women, fish oil supplementation of 2.4 g EPA and 1.6 g DHA per day not only lowered triglycerides by 26 percent but also improved the triglyceride/HDL ratio.²⁷⁵

Another issue pertinent to women is that for those who are on hormone replacement therapy, C-reactive protein (CRP) and triglycerides levels can be higher. A recent clinical trial of 30 women on HRT showed that 7 grams per day of fish oil supplementation significantly decreased CRP and triglyceride levels.⁷⁸

It may be most effective to supplement fish oils with statin medications for lowering cholesterol. In one clinical controlled trial, 59 patients who already had coronary heart disease and hypertriglyceridemia who were taking statins were able to significantly lower their levels of triglycerides and very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) when taking the fish oil and the statin.²⁷⁶

Another drug/fish oil study showed that 3.36 grams per day of fish oils were able to further decrease the triglycerides, total cholesterol, and apolipoprotein E than just the statin alone.²⁷⁷ The most compelling reason to give fish oils is if it in fact lowers heart disease. We have evidence for this from 15 large studies of more than 60,000 individuals where a decrease in deaths from ischemic heart disease was observed in those who consumed fatty fish or omega-3 fatty acids.²⁷⁸ In one of these studies, 1 gram per day of omega-3 EFAs was associated with a 20 percent decrease in total deaths, a 30 percent decrease in cardiovascular deaths, and a 45 percent decrease in sudden deaths.²⁷⁹

Flaxseed oil, nature's richest source of omega-3 fatty acids, is the vegetable alternative to fish oil. It contains twice as many omega-3s and is usually less expensive. Flaxseed oil provides the body with alpha-linolenic acid (ALA), which it uses to make EPA, whereas fish oil provides EPA directly. There is some concern that humans do not readily convert ALA to the EPA and DHA, and therefore flaxseed oil would be a less efficient method of gaining EPA and DHA. However, there are studies on supplementation with flaxseed oil that suggest protective effects against cardiovascular disease by inhibiting the excessive clotting of blood.280 A recent study of flaxseed's effect on cholesterol in postmenopausal women found decreases in LDL, triglycerides, and other lipid parameters.281

Other seed oils may also provide some positive effects on lipids. For example, a black currant seed oil dose of 3 grams per day was shown to decrease LDL more than fish oil.²⁸² A more recent commercially available product, hemp seed and hemp seed oil, may also prove to be beneficial in the lowering of lipids, homocysteine, CRP, and others. Evening primrose oil rich in gamma-linolenic acid (GLA) may also have a role in prevention of heart disease²⁸³ by decreasing LDL cholesterol.

Fish Oil

- 1 g per day of EPA and DHA
- 2-4 g per day of EPA plus DHA may be useful in patients with elevated triglycerides

Wild salmon ranges from 1.0–1.5 g EPA plus DHA per 3 oz serving, with a little more DHA than EPA. Different species range in their EPA and DHA content. Wild sockeye salmon has approximately 600 mg DHA and 430 mg EPA per 3 oz serving.

Flaxseed Oil

1 tbs per day

Evening Primrose Oil

3-4 g per day

All supplemental oils should be taken with meals.

Botanicals

Flavonoids. Flavonoids are a group of compounds found in many fruits, vegetables, nuts and seeds, and numerous medicinal plants. Over 4,000 different flavonoids have been identified in foods and plants. Quercetin, rutin, catechin, and hesperidin are the most frequently used in medicine. Flavonoids inhibit the peroxidation of lipids by acting as free radical scavengers.²⁸⁴ Quercetin specifically has been shown to inhibit LDL oxidation.²⁸⁵ In addition to these direct antioxidant effects, flavonoids inhibit platelet aggregation, protect vitamin E from oxidation, and chelate iron. In numerous dietary studies, flavonoids have been shown to reduce cardiovas-cular disease.^{286, 287}

Green, oolong, and black tea are made from the leaves of the *Camellia sinensis* plant and are rich in cardioprotective flavonoids. Green tea is especially rich in the flavonoids called catechins. These include catechin, epicatechin, epicatechin gallate, epigallocatechin gallate, and proanthocyanidins. Epigallocatechin gallate is considered the most significant active component of green tea. Theaflavins are the pigments found in black tea, formed from the catechins during the fermentation of green tea to form black tea. Green tea catechins have been studied fairly extensively as preventive agents for cardiovascular disease.^{288–290}

Two recent significant studies prove the cardiovascular benefits of green tea. Taking a flavonoid-rich green tea extract (375mg) for three months along with a low-fat diet decreased total cholesterol by 11.3 percent and LDL by 16.4 percent in men and women with mild to moderate hypercholesterolemia.²⁹¹ Another study, the Ohsaki study,²⁹² found that green tea consumption was inversely associated with mortality due to all causes and inversely associated with cardiovascular disease. Compared with individuals who consumed less than one cup per day of green tea, those who consumed five or more cups per day

Flavonoids

Quercetin

200-400 mg 3 times per day

Citrus Bioflavonoids

1,000-6,000 mg per day

Green Tea

More than 1 cup per day, and especially more than 5 cups per day *or*

1 capsule or more per day of green tea catechin extract

Black Tea

More than 11/2 cups per day

had a 16 percent lower risk of all-cause and CVD mortality during 11 years of follow-up.

Several studies have examined the potential effects of tea on blood pressure. While there may be transient increases in blood pressure due to the caffeine, regular use appears to be associated with lower blood pressures.²⁹³ Both green tea and oolong tea intake of 120 mL /day or more can significantly reduce hypertension.²⁹⁴ In the large population-based Rotterdam Study of Dutch men and women, the risk of heart attacks was lower in those who drank more than 375 ml (one and a half cups) per day.²⁹⁵

Garlic (Allium Sativum). Garlic is popular as a lipid-lowering agent, but it has a modest effect. While analyses have demonstrated that garlic can reduce total cholesterol levels by 5 to 12 percent, recent reports suggest these studies may have been too brief to draw conclusions.^{296–298} There is great variability in research results, which may in part be due to the great variation in the potency of and the extracts of garlic used. Even the studies showing a positive effect lack long-term follow-up, standardized laboratory measurements, and adequate dietary controls. While evidence supports at least a short-term benefit, the effect is typically a small but statistically significant decrease in lipid levels. Since 1975, over 32 human studies have been published demonstrating the lipid-lowering effects of garlic.²⁹⁹ Two meta-analyses of these studies indicate that one to three months of treatment using 600 to 900 mg of garlic powder tablets reduced total serum cholesterol an average of 9 to 12 percent and triglycerides from 8 to 27 percent.300, 301 A recent study of 30 patients who consumed 5 grams of raw garlic for 42 days found significant decreases in total and LDL cholesterol and increased HDL cholesterol. These benefits were reversed after 42 days of no garlic.³⁰²

Garlic has also been shown to lower blood pressure slightly,³⁰³ inhibit clotting,³⁰⁴ and regulate heart rhythms.^{305, 306} Garlic is not as aggressive at

lowering serum cholesterol and triglycerides as some of the newer pharmaceuticals, but it also does not have any of their side effects. For women with a modest elevation of cholesterol, it will provide a safer and effective alternative. For women with severe hypercholesterolemia, appropriate drugs may be used and later replaced by garlic when the desired drug effect is complete.

Garlic is not contraindicated during pregnancy and lactation, and 800 mg per day was found to be a safe and effective way to decrease gestational hypertension.³⁰⁷

Problems with ingestion of garlic are usually minor. In sensitive individuals they may include heartburn and flatulence. Some people do not appreciate the odor or taste of garlic. Odor-free or enteric-coated products may avert these undesirable effects. Individuals are rarely allergic to garlic. However, people taking anticoagulant drugs should take garlic with caution and be monitored by a health-care practitioner.

Garlic

1 fresh raw clove of garlic per day *or* Garlic pill providing a minimum of 4,000 mcg allicin daily

Ginger (*Zingiber Officinale*). The same ginger that is used in cooking and ginger ale has been shown to inhibit platelet aggregation (blood platelets sticking together),³⁰⁸ lower cholesterol,^{309–312} inhibit atherosclerosis,³¹³ and decrease blood pressure.³¹⁴ Ginger stimulates the conversion of cholesterol to bile acids and increases bile secretion, thereby lowering cholesterol by promoting its excretion and impairing its absorption. Most research studies have used one gram of dry powdered ginger root.

Ginger

1 g per day powdered ginger root

Globe Artichoke (*Cynara Scolymus***).** The leaf extract of the artichoke has been found to have

some lipid-lowering activity. One clinical trial used 1,800 mg of artichoke extract versus placebo for six weeks for the treatment of high cholesterol levels.³¹⁵ The decrease in total cholesterol values was 18.5 percent in the artichoke group versus 8.6 percent in the placebo group. Also, LDL values fell by 22.9 percent. For patients with gallstones or other bile-duct obstructions, globe artichoke supplementation should be avoided due to the choleretic activity of the extract. This product is currently available as a nutritional supplement in the United States.

Globe Artichoke

600 mg 3 times per day

Procyanidolic Oligomers (PCO). Extracts from grape seeds and the bark of the maritime pine tree are high in a group of flavonoids called proanthocyanidins, also called procyanidins. Mixtures of proanthocyanidin molecules are referred to as procyanidolic oligomers (PCO). These commercially prepared extracts of grape seeds and pine bark, or PCO extracts, possess potent antioxidant activity that is far stronger than even vitamin E or vitamin C. In animal studies, PCO extracts have been shown to prevent damage to the arterial lining, lower blood cholesterol levels, and shrink cholesterol deposits in the arteries.^{316, 317} Human studies have confirmed these findings in smokers,³¹⁸ and a combination of 100 mg grape seed extract and 200 mcg chromium two times daily was found to significantly decrease total and LDL cholesterol up to 20 percent.319

PC0

50-300 mg per day

Gugulipid (*Commiphora Mukul*). The mukul myrrh tree, native to India, Pakistan, and Afghanistan, is the source of standardized gugulipid extract. The extract is further concentrated to isolate compounds known as guggul-

sterones. The two guggulsterones important in the management of hyperlipidemia are Z-guggulsterone and E-guggulsterone. Gugulipid appears to prevent the oxidation of LDL and may regulate the level of bile acids, helping the body to excrete cholesterol. Guggulsterones are thought to be the main active constituents responsible for these effects. Studies have shown that gugulipid can decrease total cholesterol levels by 11.7 percent, LDL by 12.5 percent, and TG by 12.0 percent, with no change in HDL values.³²⁰ Most commercial extracts are standardized to 5 percent guggulsterone content, and the typical treatment dose is 500 mg (providing 25 mg of guggulsterones) three times per day.³²¹

A comprehensive review of available research on gugulipid suggests conflicting evidence at this time.³²² When using the standardized extract preparations, only mild abdominal discomfort is reported in a small number of people.

Gugulipid

500 mg with 25 mg guggulsterones, 3 times per day

Hawthorn (Crataegus Oxyacantha). Hawthorn leaves, berries, and blossoms contain flavonoids. One of these, proanthocyanidin, has especially good cardiovascular effect. Hawthorn preparations are modestly effective in reducing blood pressure,323 in the prevention and treatment of atherosclerosis, lowering cholesterol, and preventing the oxidation of LDL.324 Hawthorn preparations improve the blood supply to the heart by dilating the coronary arteries, increase the force of contraction of the heart muscle, and regulate cardiac rhythm.323 A very recent study of 79 diabetic hypertensive patients who received 1,200 mg hawthorn versus placebo for 16 weeks found significant reductions in diastolic measures, no drug-herb interactions, and only few mild side effects.325 Two randomized control trial found decreases in both systolic and diastolic measures when treatment was administered for about three months.326, 327

Hawthorn

Choose one of the following:

Tincture (1 part herb to 5 parts alcohol): 405 ml per day
Freeze-dried berries: 1.0–1.5 g per day
Flower extract (1.8 percent vitexin or 20 percent procyanidins): 100–250 mg per day
Berries or flowers (dried as a tea): 3–5 g of dried herb per day

Plant Sterols/Stanols. Plant sterols are naturally occurring cholesterol derivatives from vegetable oils, nuts, soy, corn, woods, and beans. The hydrogenation of plant sterols produces stanols. Sterols and stanols are often referred to generically by the term *phytosterols*. Phytosterols have a chemical structure similar to cholesterol, and the consumption of these plant sterols reduces the absorption of cholesterol and thus reduces circulating cholesterol levels. Even modest additions have been found to lower total blood cholesterol and LDL cholesterol by about 10 percent.³²⁸ Sterols and stanols from a dietary intake of plant sterols in the range of 1.5 to 2.5 grams per day reduce LDL cholesterol by 8.5 to 10 percent.³²⁹ A recent study found that dietary intervention with plant sterols could reduce cholesterol levels by about 30 percent, or approximately the same extent as one of the statin drugs, levostatin.330 Most studies have found no effect of these sterols on triglyceride levels, but some individuals have shown effects in recent studies.331-333 Sterols do not seem to lower HDL levels.

Sterols and stanols are often added to selected brands of margarines, semisolid food spreads, and salad dressings. As of 2000, the FDA authorized sterol-containing products to state that they reduce the risk of heart disease. The lowest effective dose for such a claim is 1.3 grams per day. Sterols and stanols are also available in dietary supplements. The supplement forms of phytosterols are advantageous in that they do not require refrigeration, are convenient to take, and are largely calorie free.

Dietary sterols include sitosterol, campesterol, and stigmasterol. Soybean oil is the principal source of sterol esters, followed by canola, sunflower, and corn oils. Sterols reduce total cholesterol levels and LDL cholesterol because they are natural competitors of cholesterol absorption and resorption.

Plant Sterols and Stanols

Average dose of 3.4 g per day NCEP III recommends 2 g per day

Policosanol. Policosanol is a mixture of alcohols extracted from sugar cane, wheat germ, rice bran, or beeswax. Policosanol has been used to reduce total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, and triglycerides and to increase HDL cholesterol based on over 10 years of critical trials and 30 or so positive clinical trials. One recent meta-analysis of natural interventions for abnormal and elevated lipids concluded that policosanol is more effective than plant sterols.³³⁴

However, evidence to the benefits of policosanol is conflicting. In May of 2006, a randomized controlled trial studied four different doses of policosanol compared to each other and a placebo group.335 None of the treatment groups had a decrease of LDL cholesterol of more than 10 percent, and no statistically significant difference occurred between policosanol and placebo. It may be that combining policosanol with other lipidlowering natural agents, and especially fish oils, will offer the most effect. Animal and human studies that combined 5 or 10 mg policosanol with 1 gram omega-3 fatty acids showed a decrease in total cholesterol, triglycerides, and LDL and an increase in HDL greater than when fish oils alone were used.336, 337 Despite this con-

Policosanol

10-80 mg per day

flicting evidence, I still recommend policosanol in my clinical practice due to the results I witness.

Red Yeast Rice. Red yeast rice is made from cooked white rice fermented by the yeast Monascus purpureus, which is then sterilized and dried. Red yeast rice has been used as a dietary staple, to make rice wine, and as a food preservative and is a cholesterol-lowering agent. The main active ingredient in red yeast rice is monacolin K (lovastatin),338 which inhibits the enzyme that initiates the synthesis of cholesterol. Omega-3 fatty acids, isoflavones, and plant sterols in red yeast rice are likely also responsible for its beneficial effects on lipids. In one of the early studies on red yeast rice (using 2.4 g/d Cholestin), after 8 weeks cholesterol levels were lowered in men and women by 17 percent, LDL by 22 percent, and triglycerides by 12 percent, with HDL values unchanged.339

However, there is significant variability in quality and potency of commercial red yeast rice products. In addition, the lovastatin content in dietary supplements of red yeast rice was lowered due to challenges by the FDA and others. Due to legal issues, Cholestin is no longer available. There are, however, other effective red yeast rice products.

Red Yeast Rice

2.4 g per day

Additional Botanical Therapies. A vast range of herbs have been used for decades, or even centuries, to treat heart and vascular system conditions. Some of these herbs are categorized here according to their dominant action:

- **Diuretics:** dandelion leaf, lily of the valley, parsley
- Heart tonics: broom, bugleweed, figwort, hawthorn, lily of the valley, motherwort, nightblooming cereus
- Aids to circulation: broom, cayenne, ginger, hawthorn, horse chestnut, lime flowers, mistletoe, yarrow

- Nervines (reduce anxiety and stress): lemon balm, hops, lime flowers, motherwort, passionflower, skullcap, valerian
- Antihypertensives: rauwolfia, hawthorn, mistletoe, garlic, yarrow, crampbark
- Anti-atherosclerosis: lime flowers, hawthorn, mistletoe, yarrow

Exercise

Numerous studies show the great heart-health benefits of exercise.340-371 Physical exercise is associated with a reduction in obesity, improved body fat distribution, a reduced risk of type 2 diabetes, reduced blood pressure, and reduced cholesterol levels. In women of all ages, exercise has been shown to reduce the risk for cardiovascular disease by altering CVD risk factors. In addition, it diminishes the stiffness of arteries and decreases damaging plaque in blood vessels. Finally, exercise reduces the risk of arrhythmias, normalizes blood lipids, and increases insulin sensitivity. A recent study suggests that exercise and modest diet changes can decrease cholesterol and resultant atherosclerosis comparable to certain statins. Most important, by staying active with moderate levels of physical activity, we can prevent cardiovascular disease independent of other risk factors and improve our life expectancy.

Aerobic exercise in particular is known to raise HDL cholesterol levels, and in women, HDL may be the most important cholesterol issue in predicting coronary artery disease. Williams found an average 0.13 mg/dL plasma HDL increase for each additional kilometer run by female runners per week. Similarly, other studies have reported modest to significant increases in HDL cholesterol following aerobic training. In one of these studies, the increase in HDL was measured at 7.6 mg/dL when exercise was combined with smoking cessation in women.

In addition to aerobic exercise, strength training has been found to reduce CVD risk factors as well. In one study, previously sedentary women performed 12 resistance exercises for one hour, three times per week. After five months of exercise, they showed decreases of 13 and 14 points in total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL), respectively, from baseline values. Another study noted that previously hypertensive adolescents who reduced their blood pressure by aerobic exercise were able to maintain blood pressure control by taking weight-lifting exercise after discontinuing aerobic exercise. These results are even more surprising when one considers the lack of effect noted for aerobic exercise in plasma total and LDL and triglycerides in women.

The type of exercise chosen appears less significant than its intensity or duration on its effects on CVD risk factors. Exercise recommendations have changed over the years and will likely continue to change with time. Public health recommendations vary by organization. I recommend engaging in 40 to 60 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity such as brisk walking on most days of the week or at a vigorous intensity for 20 minutes per day. It should be noted here that the effects of exercise on CVD risk factors are not permanent. Code and colleagues found that, in both men and women, the effects of exercise on blood pressure disappeared within weeks after the return to a sedentary lifestyle.

Benefits of Exercise

Exercise:

- 1. Normalizes blood lipids
- 2. Elevates protective HDL levels in dose-response fashion
- 3. Significantly reduces LDL
- 4. Reduces and stabilizes blood pressure
- 5. Increases insulin sensitivity
- 6. Stabilizes weight and decreases fat mass and BMI
- 7. Is beneficial in congestive heart failure
- 8. Reduces CVD mortality
- 9. Is an essential in rehabilitation after heart attack, stroke, or bypass surgery
- 10. Alleviates stress

Exercise Recommendations

Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease

Follow the exercise guidelines outlined in Appendix A.

Treatment of Existing Cardiovascular Disease

- 1. Consult a health-care provider before beginning a new exercise program.
- Use caution and moderation. Note that in men who seldom exercise, cardiac arrest is 56 times more likely during vigorous exercise than at rest. In men who exercise frequently, the risk is 5 times greater.³⁷²
- 3. Walking program for heart patients:³⁷³

Weeks	Distance (miles)	Time (min/mile)
1–2	1	20
3–4	1	17–20
5-6	1	15
7–8	1.5	15
9–10	1.5	14

To maintain the conditioning effect, exercise 20 to 30 minutes three to five times a week. If you stop exercise for more than two weeks, start again at a lower level and gradually build back up to your original program.

Examples of Moderate Exercise for Mild CAD³⁷⁴

- 30 minutes of brisk walking each day
- 10 minutes of brisk walking 3 times a day
- Swimming, biking, or working out on an exercise machine such as a treadmill, stair-climbing machine, rowing machine, or stationary cycle at moderate intensity for 30 minutes daily

Begin slowly and increase speed gradually over time. If you have never exercised before, start with a few minutes each day and increase time gradually every week until you reach 30 minutes per day.

For several decades, exercise has been advocated for the treatment of men who have had a heart attack or stroke. Recent encouraging results suggest that it should also be prescribed for women in similar situations. Ades and colleagues studied 60 older patients (41 men and 19 women) who had had previous MI or bypass surgery and participated in a rehab program that included treadmill running for 25 minutes, stationary biking for 15 minutes, and machine rowing for 10 minutes for three and twelve months.³⁷¹ The results showed improved fitness and increased number and size of capillaries in the thighs.

Women should be encouraged to gradually increase their exercise and engage in an exercise program that is safe, convenient, and hopefully satisfying and even fun, at least at times. There is no single best exercise but rather what's best for you. Regular, lifelong exercise offers women more CVD benefits than any one drug, nutrient, or herbal intervention.

Stress Management

Women's hearts appear more vulnerable to stress than men's. Arnold suggests that negative stressors such as lack of social support and perceived lack of control contribute to CAD risk.³⁷⁵ A similar inference can be made from the data obtained by Blumenthal and colleagues.³⁷⁶ In patients with CAD or ischemia, these authors found that a stress management program was approximately three times more effective at reducing cardiac events than exercise.

Many simple techniques can be effective in managing stress and reducing its baleful influence. Techniques such as deep-breathing exercises, biofeedback, transcendental meditation, yoga, progressive muscle relaxation, and hypnosis have all been shown to reduce stress and lower blood pressure.³⁷⁷ The antihypertensive effect of these techniques is not dramatic. However, they constitute an important factor in a holistic program to lower blood pressure and treat and prevent heart disease.

Natural (Bio-Identical) Hormone Replacement Therapy

Whether a woman should go through the menopausal years without hormone therapy or whether she should use bio-identical or conventional hormone therapy is a complex decision. The decision is especially difficult when one considers the many unanswered questions about menopause, cardiovascular disease, and natural and conventional hormones. The method I follow is to systematically evaluate each woman with a thorough medical history, physical exam, and laboratory testing. Based on these tests and the patient's preferences and concerns, the practitioner and patient can together develop a personalized plan that is right for the patient.

A woman's risk for cardiovascular disease changes over time. The plan needs to change accordingly to carefully balance the benefits versus the risks of therapy. Both practitioner and patient need to be open-minded so that informed and appropriate decisions are reached.

Conventional HRT may be appropriate for some women. When it is appropriate, it behooves physicians to advise the use of the least objectionable options. Phytoestrogens and bioidentical hormone therapy are perhaps the most appropriate for some women, and I would assert, most women. No single protocol or approach is equally appropriate for all women. Determining if my patient is at low, medium, or high risk for CAD has been a critical tool in the path to the recommendations I finally make. (See the overview section at the beginning of this chapter for more about issues pertinent to HRT and cardiovascular disease.)

Natural (Bio-Identical) Progesterone

The use of natural or bio-identical progesterone creams and oral micronized natural progesterone has grown in popularity over the last several years. However, only recently have natural progesterone creams been shown to have biological activity. Progesterone is synthesized from diosgenin or stigmasterol found in Mexican wild yams and soybeans. This hormone end product has come to be known as natural or bio-identical progesterone both because it is plant derived and, more important, because it is biochemically identical to the progesterone produced by the human ovary. Natural progesterone is biochemically different than progestin, which is commonly misstated as progesterone. The most common progestin used for menopausal women is medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA), better known as Provera.

There are few studies on natural progesterone. However, the development of oral micronized progesterone (OMP) in the last 10 to 15 years, together with the few side effects and popularity of natural progesterone, have encouraged scientific research and medical interest in this natural hormone. For more information on the indications and effects of natural progesterone, please refer to Chapter 12.

To date, unfortunately, very few studies have addressed the possible cardiovascular effects of these preparations in postmenopausal women. The study with the biggest impact on the perception of natural progesterone was the Postmenopausal Estrogen/Progestin Interventions (PEPI) trial.³⁷⁸ Although the postmenopausal women in this study were also given estrogen, the PEPI trial demonstrated similar lipid changes for estrogen and progesterone that are known to occur with administration of estrogen alone, except for HDL, which was significantly reduced. Perhaps what merits reflection here is that, despite its other undesirable effects, estrogen alone has the most favorable effect on lipids. When estrogen is combined with natural progesterone, HDL cholesterol does not improve quite as much, and when given with progestin, HDL improves even less.

A recent study compared the effects of natural progesterone and synthetic progestin (in the form of conjugated equine estrogen) and found the following: the conjugated equine estrogen (CEE) group had an increase in HDL levels of 14.4 percent after six months; the estrogen plus progestin had an increase in HDL of 4.58 percent; and the estrogen plus natural progesterone had an increase in HDL of 5.44 percent.³⁷⁹ Total cholesterol levels were significantly decreased only in the estrogen plus progestin group; triglyceride levels were increased only in the estrogen plus natural progesterone group; and the micronized progesterone was not superior to medroxyprogesterone acetate.

There is evidence showing that oral micronized progesterone (OMP) may lower blood pressure. In fact, OMP administered in doses of 200, 400, and 600 mg per day to hypertensive postmenopausal women and older men significantly reduced systolic blood pressure as compared to placebo in a two-week treatment trial.³⁸⁰ With the maximum dose, systolic blood pressure was decreased approximately 19.7 mm Hg and diastolic blood pressure about 9.6 mm Hg. At the lower doses, the decreases in systolic blood progestins can cause fluid retention, although natural progesterone to a lesser extent.

Studies demonstrate that synthetic progestins and natural progesterone have markedly different effects on the coronary vessels³⁸¹ and on their smooth wall muscle cells.³⁸² The results of these two studies indicate that synthetic progestins may induce spasm of the coronary arteries, whereas estrogen and/or natural progesterone promoted dilation.

Although many women are presently using natural progesterone creams as an alternative to conventional HRT, relatively little research has been done on these products—with little information about their impact on cardiovascular risk factors. For more information on the use of natural progesterone alone or in combination with different estrogens in menopause, please refer to Chapter 12.

Perhaps most interesting is that in the Women's Health Initiative, women who were on estrogen only did not have an increased incidence of cardiovascular disease but did have an increased risk of stroke,³⁸³ differing from the first WHI study estrogen and progestin group.¹⁷ For a discussion on other research and how the timing of when a woman starts HRT may affect the risks and the benefits, see the overview section of this chapter.

Natural (Bio-Identical) Estrogens

Natural estrogens are what we have come to call plant-derived bio-identical hormones. They include estradiol, estrone, and estriol. Mexican wild yam contains diosgenin and soy contains stigmasterol that can be converted into an estrogen biochemically identical to that produced by our ovaries. Bio-identical estradiol and estrone in a patented delivery system and in premanufactured dosages are available by prescription from a regular pharmacy. Bio-identical estradiol, estrone, and estriol can also be compounded in customized, individualized dosages of any strength, any combination, and in many different delivery systems including lozenges, sublingual tablets, creams, gels, capsules, and even injections. The distinctions between bio-identical estrogens and other forms of HRT are presented in Chapter 12. This section will focus on their effect on the cardiovascular system.

Theoretically, if we have a dose of a bioidentical estrogen that is equivalent in strength to the dose of the conventional estrogen, the cardiovascular benefit or risk should be the same. Nonetheless, any hormone therapy that is considered to be an alternative to the leading form of therapy (conjugated equine estrogens, i.e., Premarin) must at some point be compared in order to prove its worthiness and acceptability among patients and health-care practitioners. A few studies have looked at oral micronized estradiol alone or in combination with bio-identical progesterone and compared it to conjugated equine estrogens (CEE) plus medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA) to evaluate possible effects on CAD. Ten menopausal women, administered the natural estrogen/progesterone combination, experienced a decrease in total cholesterol. In contrast, this parameter did not change significantly at 12 months over the initial cholesterol readings in the five women who were given

Sample Treatment Plan for Cardiovascular Disease or Hyperlipidemia

See the Resources section for formulation sources.

- The National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) recommends that dietary therapy begin with reducing dietary saturated fat by minimizing or eliminating beef, pork, lamb, cheese, butter, milk, chocolate, and fried foods.
- Consider the Mediterranean diet: increase intake of fruits; vegetables; whole grains; legumes, especially soybean products; nuts; seeds; olive oil; and fish.
- Reduce sodium to less than 2,500 mg per day.
- Quit smoking.
- Do not exceed one alcoholic beverage (5 oz) per day.
- Practice regular aerobic exercise (30 minutes or more, 5–7 times per week)—e.g., a brisk walk.
- Reduce or eliminate coffee (both caffeinated and decaffeinated).
- Strive for healthy body weight.
- Practice stress management such as meditation or relaxation exercise 15 minutes each day.

CEE and MPA. Both groups experienced an increase in HDL cholesterol.³⁸⁴ Another study reported the results of a combination pill containing 2 mg of oral micronized estradiol, 1 mg of estriol, and 1 mg of a synthetic progestin in 265 women, who were followed for over four years; serum cholesterol and triglyceride levels decreased significantly, but HDL levels were not measured.³⁸⁵

Estriol is the other natural estrogen that can be used either alone or in combination with estradiol (called bi-est) or with estradiol and estrone (called tri-est). Estriol is used for a variety of treatments and is discussed in more detail in Chapter 12. Little is known about what estriol may or may not do with regard to CVD. However, two studies indicate positive effects of estriol administration on lipid profiles and cardiac function. Japanese researchers found that 2 mg per day of estriol was effective in decreasing total cholesterol and triglycerides and increasing HDL levels in elderly women (age 70 to 84), but

Daily Supplements for Cardiovascular Disease

Plant sterols/stanols: 2.0–3.4 g per day Vitamin E: 400–800 IU per day Garlic: 1 capsule per day containing 4,000–5,000 mcg allicin Green tea: 1 capsule extract or 3–5 cups tea per day CoQ10: 100 mg per day EPA/DHA fish oil: 1 g per day Folic acid: 800 mcg per day

Daily Supplements for Hyperlipidemia

Policosanol: 20–40 mg per day Niacin (nicotinic acid): 500–1,500 mg per day Plant sterols/stanols: 2.0–3.4 g per day EPA/DHA fish oil: 2–4 g per day if triglycerides are elevated Pantethine: 300 mg 3 times per day Other supplements based on specific situation

not in middle-aged postmenopausal women (age 50 to 65).³⁸⁶ The other study followed postmenopausal women using estriol and found an increase in their cardiac function and improved blood flow in the extremities.³⁸⁷ Even so, I would not currently consider estriol a viable approach for treating or preventing heart disease.

When it comes to cardiovascular disease, I contend that ethically, practitioners using bio-identical hormone therapy must have the same benefit-risk conversation with patients as a conventional practitioner who prescribes the typical Premarin/ Provera would have. That said, in my opinion, there is enough evidence at this point that oral micronized progesterone is more cardiac friendly on lipids and coronary arteries than are the synthetic progestogens or progestin (such as Provera). Other than this point, I would advocate for following the current guidelines from the North American Menopause Society and their Position Statement on HRT in Menopausal Women:³⁸⁸

Sample Treatment Plan for Hypertension

See the Resources section for formulation sources.

- Consider the DASH diet or Mediterranean diet: increase intake of fruits; vegetables; whole grains; legumes, especially soybean products; nuts; seeds; olive oil; and fish.
- Consider avoiding all sodium; at the least, reduce sodium to less than 2,500 mg per day.
- Quit smoking.
- Do not exceed one alcoholic beverage (5 oz) per day.
- Practice regular aerobic exercise (30 minutes or more, 5–7 times per week)—e.g., a brisk walk.
- Reduce or eliminate coffee (both caffeinated and decaffeinated).
- Strive for ideal body weight.
- Practice stress management such as meditation or relaxation exercise 15 minutes each day.

Daily Supplementation

Dandelion leaf capsules: 2 capsules daily Garlic: 1 capsule containing 4,000-5,000 mcg allicin, twice per day Coenzyme Q10: 100 mg per day Potassium: 99 mg-2.5 g per day Herbal tincture: Motherwort: 2 oz Passionflower: 2 oz Rauwolfia (available through health-care practitioner—not to exceed .3 mg of reserpine per day) Hawthorne: 2 oz Dose: 1 tsp twice daily

- "Data from studies such as the WHI and the Heart and Estrogen/progestin Replacement Study (HERS) should be extrapolated only with caution to women younger than 50 years of age who initiate HT. The data should not be extrapolated to women experiencing premature menopause (under 40 years of age) and initiating HT at that time."
- "Premature menopause and premature ovarian failure are conditions associated with earlier onset of CHD [coronary heart disease], but there are no clear data as to whether ET [estrogen therapy] or EPT [estrogen/progestogen therapy] will reduce morbidity or mortality from these conditions. The benefit-risk ratio may be more favorable for younger women."
- "Nonoral routes of administration of ET/EPT may offer advantages and disadvantages, but the long-term benefit-risk ratio has not been demonstrated. Differences would be related to the role of the first-pass hepatic effect, the hormone concentrations in the blood achieved by a given route, and

the biologic activity of component ingredients. There is some evidence that transdermal 17 beta-estradiol does not increase the level of C-reactive protein, and also that it may be associated with lower risk of deep venous thrombosis than oral estrogen."

 "The effect of ET on CHD and stroke is not yet clear. ET does not have a significant effect on stroke risk in postmenopausal women with known ischemic cerebrovascular disease, but for healthy older women, effects of ET on stroke risk are not clear. However, unless confirming data become available, ET should not be used for primary or secondary prevention of these conditions."

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

There is still much that is unknown about cardiovascular disease, hormone replacement, and the aging process in women. The results of the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) have dramatically changed how HRT has been prescribed in this country. It is no longer routinely prescribed to reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease, as it was for over 30 years. The approach now is much more individualized, and there is still lack of agreement if the timing of when HRT is started impacts its influence on cardiovascular disease. As with all therapies, HRT must be examined against the backdrop of benefit versus risk. The nagging questions for women continue to be, "Should I or shouldn't I?" and "Are the risks greater than the benefits?" Further discussion of these concerns is presented in Chapter 12.

Conventional practitioners are as eager to educate their patients on the importance of preventing heart disease as holistic care providers are. For several years now, patients have been encouraged by their conventional physicians to stop smoking, increase exercise, lower their dietary fat, increase fruits and vegetables, lose weight, and reduce their stress. It has become much more common to recommend diet and lifestyle changes as a first line of treatment for mild hyperlipidemia and mild hypertension.

Those individuals who are at increased risk for heart disease should discuss the potential benefits and harms of aspirin therapy with their practitioner. Low-dose aspirin is a foundation of heart disease secondary prevention, due to its ability to inhibit platelet aggregation. Recurrence rates for heart attacks are also consistently lower in women (and men) who already have coronary disease when they are treated with a low dose of aspirin.³⁸⁹ In a meta-analysis of four large primary prevention trials using low-dose aspirin, a 15 percent reduction was seen in cardiovascular events and a 30 percent reduction was observed in MI rates.³⁹⁰ More recently, a large randomized placebo-controlled trial of low-dose aspirin was done in the Women's Health Study (WHS).391 In 39,876 women who did not have coronary disease, a 24 percent reduction was observed in the risk of ischemic strokes, compared with those women who did not take aspirin. Unfortunately, there was no overall reduction in MI or total cardiovascular

events except in women who were 65 years or older. In that age group, aspirin therapy did reduce overall cardiovascular disease by 26 percent and the risk of MI by 34 percent.

The U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) has found good evidence that aspirin decreases the incidence of heart disease in adults who are at increased risk. However, they also acknowledge that aspirin increases gastrointestinal bleeding episodes and that it may also increase the incidence of hemorrhagic (bleeding) strokes. Their conclusion is that for those individuals who are at high risk for heart disease, the benefits outweigh the risks. The American Diabetes Association has also concluded that clinicians should consider aspirin for primary prevention of heart disease in diabetic patients who are older than 30 or have risk factors for cardiovascular disease and no contraindications to aspirin. The American Heart Association recommends aspirin for "patients who've had a myocardial infarction (heart attack), unstable angina, ischemic stroke (caused by blood clot) or transient ischemic attacks (TIAs or 'little strokes'), if not contraindicated." You should not start aspirin therapy without first consulting your practitioner. Also inform your practitioner if you are taking aspirin and must have a simple surgical procedure, even a dental extraction, as it increases the risk of excessive bleeding.

When treating hyperlipidemia, most conventional practitioners will follow the NCEP, ATP III guidelines. Step 1 involves identifying the lipid levels with blood testing; step 2 is to identify the presence of any atherosclerotic disease that confers a high risk for heart disease events. Step 3 is to determine the presence of major risk factors other than an LDL level above 160. These major risk factors include:

- Cigarette smoking
- Blood pressure of 140/90 or higher or someone on high blood pressure medication
- Low HDL, less than 40 mg/dL

in calcolines for Sing incopy					
Risk Category	LDL Goal	LDL Level for TLC	LDL for Drug Therapy		
CHD or 10-year risk > 20%	< 100 mg/dL	<u>≥</u> 100 mg/dL	≥ 130 mg/dL (100-129 mg/dL: optional)		
2+ risk factors (10-year risk <u><</u> 20%)	< 130 mg/dL	\geq 130 mg/dL	10-year risk 10-20%: ≥ 130 mg/dL; ≥ 160 mg/dL		
0–1 risk factors	< 160 mg/dL	\geq 160 mg/dL	\geq 190 mg/dL (160-189 mg/dL: optional)		

Table 9.4 ATP Guidelines for Drug Therapy

- A family history of premature heart disease (before age 55 in father, brother, or son; before age 65 in mother, sister, or daughter)
- Age (men 45 and older and women 55 and older)

Step 4 is to determine a woman's 10-year heart disease risk according to Framingham tables of greater than 20 percent risk, 10 to 20 percent risk, or less than 10 percent risk; Step 5 is to determine the risk category. At this point, your practitioner will initiate advice. Initiating the Therapeutic Lifestyle Changes (TLC) is the first attempt at lowering your lipids, if your LDL is already at its goal. The specifics of the TLC are described in the nutrition section. Per the ATP III guidelines, drug therapy is advised, according to the scheme shown in Table 9.4.

Ideally, drugs will be advised simultaneously with TLC for women whose 10-year risk is greater than 20 percent. For those in lower risk categories, drugs may be added after a three-month trial of just the therapeutic lifestyle changes.

There are many drug or quasi-drug treatments that your conventional practitioner may consider. The major classes of lipid-lowering agents used in conventional medicine include HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors (statins), bile acid sequestrants, fibric acid derivatives, and nicotinic acid.

The group of drugs called the statins lower LDL and triglycerides, and some may raise HDL. Currently, these include lovastatin, pravastatin, simvastatin, fluvastatin, atorvastatin, and cerivastatin. They each come in several strengths. Bile acid sequestrants decrease LDL and increase HDL but do not lower triglycerides. These include cholestyramine, colestipol, and colesevelam. Nicotinic acid is used in three different forms: the immediate-release nicotinic acid (1.5–3 grams per day), the extended-release form (Niaspan, 1–2 grams), or the sustained-release form (nicotinic acid, 1–2 grams). Nicotinic acid lowers LDL, although not as much as some of the newer statins; raises HDL better than all the statins; and lowers triglycerides as much or better than the statins. Finally, fibric acids are drugs that are used primarily to lower triglycerides. These include gemfibrozil, fenofibrate, and clofibrate.

The treatment of high blood pressure is responsible for more primary care visits than any other chronic medical condition. However, approximately 75 percent of treated hypertension patients are receiving inadequate care, as defined by their inability to achieve and maintain their target blood pressure.

The American Heart Association (AHA) offers 10 ways to control your high blood pressure:

- 1. Know your blood pressure and have it checked regularly.
- 2. Maintain a healthy weight.
- 3. Avoid using salt in cooking or the salting of your foods. Avoid packaged salty foods.
- 4. Eat a diet low in saturated fat according to the AHA recommendations (see nutrition section).

- 5. Limit your alcohol intake to one drink per day.
- 6. If you are taking any medication, take it as prescribed. Do not make any changes without consulting your prescribing practitioner.
- 7. Make regular follow-up appointments with your practitioner.
- 8. Follow exercise advice.
- 9. Advise your immediate relatives to have their blood pressure checked.
- 10. Manage stress optimally.

There are many different medications to lower high blood pressure, called antihypertensives. Diuretics rid the body of excess fluids, and even sodium, and are often used as the initial therapy. Beta-blockers reduce the heart rate and the amount of blood the heart pumps. Sympathetic nerve inhibitors reduce the blood pressure by inhibiting the nerves that cause blood vessel constriction. Vasodilators cause the muscle walls in the blood vessels to relax, and therefore allow them to dilate and widen. Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors work to lower blood pressure by interfering with the body's production of angiotensin, a chemical that causes the arteries to constrict. The angiotensin II receptor blockers block the effects of angiotensin, and the calcium channel blockers are calcium antagonists that can reduce the heart rate and relax the blood vessels. Some individuals will need only short-term treatment or may be able to reduce their dose after a year or more of normal blood pressure. Others may need to be on blood pressure medications indefinitely. Keep in mind that reducing weight, eating healthier, exercising regularly, reducing sodium, and reducing or managing stressors may keep you from having to take blood pressure medications or enable you to decrease or discontinue them. When drug treatments are needed, as you can see, there are many to choose from, and it takes knowledge, skill, and experience for your practitioner to offer the best medication for you. You may need to go through trial periods on different medications to see not only which works best, but which works best with the fewest side effects. An additional reminder, though: Don't just stop your medication on your own if you get discouraged or are experiencing side effects. Call your medical office. The following sidebar contains a list of some of the drugs used to treat high blood pressure. This is not a complete list, as there are many and new ones all the time.

The use of pharmacologic agents to lower lipids and/or blood pressure is an appropriate regimen for patients who have not responded to a rigorous lifestyle modification program and nutritional and/or herbal supplementation. It is important to recognize, however, that despite the effectiveness of alternative therapies, not all patients are able to make the necessary changes or comply with the supplementation regimen. A minority of patients have conditions that will resist their own and their physician's best efforts.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., N.P., P.A., D.O.)

The signs and symptoms of coronary artery disease in women can be different from those found in men. Women more often have cases of silent myocardial infarction, have chest pain while having normal coronary vessels, and have a higher incidence of mortality with their first incidence of chest pain due to coronary artery spasm. Diagnostic testing in women may not be as reliable either. Exercise stress testing is less predictive, and angiograms reveal less extensive disease in women than in men.

One's risk of heart disease changes with time, and risk must be assessed periodically. For menopausal women, it starts with the annual physical exam, which should include a thorough medical history, physical exam, blood pressure and pulse check, weight, listening to heart and lungs, and other physical findings. Lipid panels checking for total cholesterol, HDL, LDL, triglycerides, and the cholesterol/HDL ratio and thyroid and

Drugs Used to Treat High Blood Pressure

Diuretics

Hlorthalidone Furosemide Hydrochlorothiazide Ndapamide Metolazone

Potassium-Sparing Diurectics

Amiloride hydrochloride Spironolactone Triamterene

Combination Diuretics

Amiloride hydrochloride plus hydrochlorothiazide Spironolactone plus hydrochlorothiazide

Beta-Blockers

Acebutolol Atenolol Betaxolol Bisoprolol fumarate Carteolol hydrochloride Metoprolol tartrate Metoprolol succinate Nadolol Penbutolol sulfate Pindolol Propranolol hydrochloride Timolol maleate ACE Inhibitors Benazepril hydrochloride Captopril Enalapril maleate

Fosinopril sodium Lisinopril Moexipril Quinapril hydrochloride Ramipril Trandolapril

Angiotensin II Receptor Blockers

Candesartan Irbesartan Losartan potassium Valsartan

Calcium Channel Blockers

Amlodipine besylate Diltiazem hydrochloride Felodipine Isradipine Nicardipine Nifedipine Nisoldipine Verapamil hydrochloride

Alpha Blockers

Doxazosin mesylate Prazosin hydrochloride Terazosin hydrochloride

Combined Alpha and Beta-Blockers

Carvedilol Labetalol hydrochloride

Central Agonists

Alpha-methyldopa Clonidine hydrochloride Guanabenz acetate Guanfacine hydrochloride

Peripheral Adrenergic Inhibitors

Guanadrel Guanethidine monosulfate Reserpine

Blood Vessel Dilators

Hydralazine hydrochloride Minoxidil (use in severe cases or in conjuction with treatment of kidney failure)

glucose testing are done at different frequencies depending on health status and risk factors. While annual routine screening may be more often than most practitioners will recommend for women aged 50 and older, I do in fact prefer that approach to optimize the preventive medicine approach. If deemed necessary, biomarkers of cardiovascular risk, EKG, stress EKG test, and stress echocardiograms may also be recommended. The results of these tests will help determine the most appropriate next step, whether it is a more aggressive diagnostic test and/or treatment intervention. For women with abnormal findings, it is important to seek the advice of someone who can help determine if therapeutic doses of some of the natural therapies discussed in this chapter are suitable and sufficient for success. A treatment plan can be agreed on; then, with follow-up evaluation and testing after an appropriate interval, the next step in the process can be determined. Some women may need to take cholesterol- or blood-pressure-lowering pharmaceutical agents if an aggressive natural treatment plan has not brought adequate results, at least on an interim basis, and with appropriate monitoring and follow-up. The determination of whether to use natural or conventional HRT and its dosage can best be made by a practitioner who appreciates the role and value of each and the benefits and risks of HRT.

Another reason to see a licensed health-care practitioner (naturopathic doctor, medical doctor, osteopathic doctor, nurse-practitioner, or physician's assistant) is if you are on prescription medications, for whatever reason, and want to use the natural supplements for your blood pressure or cholesterol. There are some significant drug/herb/nutrient interactions that are important to be aware of, and in a few circumstances there are herbs and nutritional supplements that are contraindicated with select medications. An alternative practitioner in particular can assure the safest method of taking natural supplements with pharmaceutical medications. This page intentionally left blank

INFERTILITY

OVERVIEW

Impaired fertility affects over 6 million women in the United States alone, and recent estimates suggest that approximately 10 million couples have sought infertility services. Infertility is considered a common condition and affects 10 to 15 percent of reproductive age couples. Female infertility accounts for about 50 percent of the cases, 19 percent are due to male factor infertility, 17.6 percent are due to a combination, and about 10.5 percent of the cases are caused by unknown factors.1 Female infertility most often is due to tubal and pelvic disease (40 percent) or from a previous pelvic inflammatory infection, asymptomatic chlamydia or gonorrhea, or ovulatory dysfunction (40 percent). Endometriosis, a diminished number of oocytes in the ovary, uterine abnormalities, immunologic factors, chromosomal abnormalities, environmental chemicals and toxins, and cancer chemotherapy or radiation can also cause infertility.

Infertility is defined as a failure to conceive after 12 months of frequent intercourse without contraception in women under 35 years of age or failure to conceive after six months of intercourse without contraception in women 35 years of age or older. Infertility is further broken down into two types: primary infertility is in women with no history of prior pregnancy, and secondary infertility is with a history of prior pregnancy.

Eighty-five percent of couples will conceive after the first year of trying, with an increase to 93 percent after two years. Most spontaneous pregnancies occur within three years, and there is a poor prognosis for success without treatment after that. This final point underscores the importance of timely specialty referrals to reproductive endocrinologists for evaluation for assisted reproductive therapies for infertile couples who wish to have a child. Many ob-gyns, primary care physicians, and complementary care providers may do couples a disservice by waiting too long to make these referrals.

If pregnancy has not been achieved within one year in a woman less than 35 years old, evaluation of both partners should be initiated. Women who are 35 years old or older; women who have a history of irregular menses, pelvic pain, or dyspareunia (pain with intercourse); and women with a previous pelvic surgery, PID, or endometriosis should be evaluated earlier.

A detailed medical history is necessary to determine many things that are pertinent to fertility:

- Previous pregnancy history and outcome
- Menstrual cycle details
- Contraception history
- Duration of time without contraception
- Coital frequency
- Surgeries, hospitalizations, illnesses, PID, STIs, Pap smear history
- A review of other systems and history of any thyroid problems, nipple discharge, acne, facial hair, or hair loss
- Medications, allergies
- Family history of serious illnesses, congenital birth defects, and reproductive health problems
- Lifestyle factors: smoking history, alcohol use, exercise

A physical evaluation should include height and weight, observation for signs of excess androgens (facial hair, acne, and hair loss), abdominal hip and waist circumference, and breast, thyroid, abdominal, and pelvic exam.

Causes of Infertility in Couples

Pelvic or Structural Factors (35%)

- Infection: pelvic inflammatory disease, sexually transmitted disease, septic abortion, endometritis, pelvic tuberculosis
- Surgical history: dilation and curettage, ruptured appendicitis, adnexal surgery, leiomyoma (fibroids)
- Contraception and pregnancy history: prior intrauterine device use, DES exposure in utero, ectopic pregnancy, frequent abortion
- Endometriosis

Ovulatory or Hormonal Factors (15%)

- Secondary amenorrhea
- Abnormal uterine bleeding
- Obesity
- Luteal phase defect (short luteal phase)
- Decreased ovarian reserve
- Premature ovarian failure (early menopause)
- Polycystic ovary syndrome
- Elevated prolactin
- Elevated TSH
- Prior use of antiestrogens (Lupron, Depo-Provera, danazol)

Male Causes (35%)

- Varicocele (42% of cases)
- Unexplained (22% of cases)
- Obstructive azoospermia (14% of cases)
- Cryptorchidism (3%)
- Testicular surgeries or injury

Laboratory testing can be extremely complex, and the order of what is done may vary depending on the medical history and physical exam. Initial exams often include thyroid testing, prolactin levels (for those with irregular cycles or symptoms), mentrual cycle day 3 follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and possibly estradiol levels to assess ovarian reserve, a mid-luteal phase progesterone test to confirm ovulation, hysterosalpingography (HSG) to assess the fallopian tubes and any abnormalities of the uterus, and analysis of

- Genitourinary infection or sexually transmitted disease
- Postpubertal mumps
- Hypogonadism
- Genital radiation or chemotherapy
- Hypospadias
- Testicular cancer (less than 0.1% of cases)
- Retrograde ejaculation or other dysfunction
- Development abnormalities: vas deferens absence (related to cystic fibrosis), impaired testicular function (chromosome abnormality)
- Exposure to excessive heat (hot tubs, saunas), toxic chemicals, pesticides
- Medication or drug use (gonadotoxins): medications including allopurinol, colchicine, chemotherapy, cimetidine, cyclosporine, erythromycin, gentamicin, neomycin, nitrofurantoin, tetracycline, spironolactone, and sulfasalazine; drugs including nicotine (first- or secondhand), alcohol, cocaine, steroids, and marijuana

Unexplained (10%)

• Depression

Unusual Problems (5%)

• Immunologic

Rare Causes

• Substance use (alcohol, marijuana, caffeine, tobacco)

semen. Other tests may be indicated such as androgen levels, blood sugar, insulin levels, or glucose tolerance testing. Pelvic and transvaginal ultrasound (TVUS) looks for uterine fibroids, ovarian cysts, and ovarian follicles, and a saline sonohystogram (SHG) is useful in evaluating the uterus for polyps, intrauterine adhesions, and submucosal fibroids. Some women who have a history of pelvic adhesions, tubal disease, or endometriosis may need to have a laparoscopic surgical evaluation.
KEY CONCEPTS

- Female infertility is most often due to a previous pelvic inflammatory disease, asymptomatic chlamydia or gonorrhea, or ovulatory dysfunction.
- Other causes of infertility include endometriosis, diminished oocytes in the ovary, uterine abnormalities, immunologic factors, chromosomal abnormalities, environmental chemicals and toxins, cancer chemotherapy, and cancer radiation.
- Maintain optimal weight.
- Manage stress.
- Support fertility with a healthy diet.
- Natural methods for infertility are most effective in anovulatory dysfunction.
- Acupuncture can increase pregnancy rates in women undergoing fertility treatment.
- The decision to pursue conventional fertility treatments depends on age, the duration and cause of the infertility, the results of ovarian-reserve testing, finances, other health issues, emotional well-being, and thoughts and emotions about adoption or surrogate options.
- Seek a fertility specialist if considering conventional fertility treatments.

A day 3 FSH level (or day 3 and day 10 levels if doing a full clomiphene citrate challenge test) is important and helpful information in predicting if a woman is less likely to become pregnant beyond what would be predicted by age alone. An elevated FSH level on cycle day 3 (or day 10) of greater than 11 to 12 IU/L is associated with poor chance of conception and poor results with in vitro fertilization. A FSH test that is 25 IU/L or more or an age of 43 years or more are each associated with a chance of pregnancy that is close to zero even with attempts at ovulation induction or with assisted reproductive technologies.

OVERVIEW OF Alternative treatments

Complementary medicine has a role in the management of infertility both before and after a referral has been made to a reproductive endocri-

PREVENTION

- Prevent pelvic inflammatory disease by practicing safer sex and avoiding sexually transmitted infections.
- Avoid environmental toxins.
- Reduce stressors.
- Avoid smoking and excess alcohol and reduce caffeine.
- Maintain optimal weight.
- Minimize exposure to environmental chemicals and toxins.
- Treat any underlying medical conditions related to infertility (exometriosis/endometriosis, polycystic ovarian dysfunction)

nologist. After a detailed history and physical including pertinent lab work, treatment can be targeted to address any identified underlying causes. Unfortunately, in many cases, no cause can be determined. In these causes of unexplained infertility, the first step is to address basic issues of diet and lifestyle.

Environmental and Lifestyle Factors

Both overweight and underweight women have increased rates of infertility. Women who are overweight are more likely to experience problems with ovulation and miscarriages. An increase in abdominal fat decreases insulin sensitivity, which is related to ovulation dysfunction. Women who are underweight have infrequent or even lack of ovulation. This is compounded when combined with an eating disorder or excessive exercise. In a woman with a body mass index (BMI) less than 25, weight loss of as little as 5 percent can be significant in helping to normalize menses and ovulation, especially in cases of polycystic ovary syndrome.2-4 Weight gain in an underweight woman is important as well. Overall, the preponderance of evidence suggests that a normal body weight increases the success of assisted reproductive therapies such as in vitro fertilization.

Focusing on daily exercise and a whole foods diet free of processed foods, alcohol, and caffeine is important to help normalize weight as well as blood sugar. However, a very recent study suggests that vigorous exercise of greater than four hours per week may interfere with the success of in vitro fertilization (IVF) and that nonexercisers may have more success with IVF than exercisers.⁵ Moderate regular exercise is probably indicated for most individuals. In addition, in cases of exercise-related reproductive dysfunction, most of the evidence suggests that it isn't the intensity of the exercise but the lack of adequate nutrition, specifically total calories and protein, that causes the fertility issues.^{6, 7}

Smoking, caffeine (even decaf), and alcohol have been linked to decreased fertility, so avoidance is important in both partners in couples with fertility issues. Nicotine is toxic to the reproductive system. Smoking has been shown to cause both primary and secondary infertility in women.^{8,9} One study demonstrated that 38 percent of nonsmokers conceived in their first cycle attempt compared to only 28 percent for smokers. Smokers were over three times as likely to take over one year to conceive versus nonsmokers. Heavy smokers are affected more than light smokers.¹⁰ Smoking has also been shown to decrease success of fertility treatments.¹¹ In one report, female smokers had lower ovarian reserves and required more drug intervention to induce ovulation than did the nonsmokers.12

Other considerations are the genetic damage and chromosomal errors caused by smoking. Cadmium, nicotine, and some of the nicotine metabolites have been identified in the ovaries (and testes) and genital fluids of smokers. Cells within the ovaries are affected by one particular nicotine metabolite, cotinine, which causes oxidative damage and developmental problems of the follicles.^{13, 14}

Psychological stressors deserve to be addressed as well since the process of dealing with infertility can be very stressful and emotionally taxing. Stress can both contribute to infertility and be a consequence of difficulty in conceiving. Many women and couples decide to discontinue their fertility treatments because of too much stress and upset. In addition, research suggests that past or current stress and mental illness, especially depression, may be the cause of many cases of unexplained infertility. This can be especially problematic because continued inability to get pregnant often fuels depression, leading to a vicious cycle of emotional upset and a veritable roller coaster of monthly hopes and letdowns.

Higher levels of premenstrual tension and stress are associated with lower pregnancy rates.¹⁵ Stress hormones have inhibitory effects on the reproductive system, and, therefore, stress needs to be addressed in anyone receiving fertility services. In addition, it appears that stress decreases antioxidants, which are often low in both partners in an infertile couple. Any treatment of infertility should probably start with stress assessment and reduction techniques for both partners. Psychological counseling and a variety of relaxation techniques including biofeedback, yoga, tai chi, Qi gong, and meditation can be helpful aspects of the treatment plan for anyone with past or present stress or depression.

In the last few years, there has been a lot of public health information available on the importance of avoiding alcohol while pregnant, but when it comes to the influence of alcohol consumption on female fertility, mild to moderate alcohol use has not been well studied. It seems, however, that alcohol does reduce conception rates with a dose-related connection. Research demonstrated that female alcohol intake was associated with two to three times the risk of spontaneous abortion, and alcohol intake during the week of conception increased the risk of early pregnancy loss.¹⁶ In another study, there was a greater than 50 percent reduction in the probability of conception during a menstrual cycle in which women consumed alcohol. In this same study, caffeine consumption did not independently

affect conception rates, but it may enhance the negative effect of alcohol.¹⁷

Caffeinated beverages have been associated with decreased fertility, increased miscarriages, and lower birth weights.¹⁸ More than five cups of coffee per day, or more than 500 mg of caffeine per day, is associated with a delayed time to conception, although we don't really understand the mechanism. One possibility is that caffeine may impair estrogen production or the metabolism of estrogens.19 Substances other than caffeine in coffee, tea, and other beverages may also be responsible for reduced fertility. Numerous caffeinated beverages, including coffee, soft drinks, black and green tea, and even decaffeinated coffee, contain tannins, and some contain even more tannins than regular coffee. In animal experiments, tannins have reduced fertility in mice and hens.^{20, 21}

Increasingly, environmental pollution and exposure to heavy metals, pesticides, estrogen-like substances, and other chemicals are implicated in cases of infertility in men and women. Depending on the specific exposure, duration, and load, different aspects of fertility can be affected. These toxic exposures may affect sperm count, sperm

Caffeine Content

Item	Caffeine (mg)
Coffee, brewed (8 oz)	60-120
Coffee, instant (8 oz)	70
Coffee, decaffeinated (8 oz)	2–5
Double espresso (2 oz)	45-100
Tea, black, 5-minute	
steep (8 oz)	60-100
Tea, green (8 oz)	20
Barq's Root Beer (12 oz)	22
Coca-Cola (12 oz)	34
Pepsi (12 oz)	38
Chocolate milk (8 oz)	4
Milk chocolate (1 oz)	1–15
Dark chocolate (1 oz)	20
Ben & Jerry's Coffee Fudge	
Frozen Yogurt (4 oz)	42

formation, sperm viability, ovulation, egg viability, and hormone levels.

Nutrition

In addition to the issues related to weight, caffeine, and alcohol mentioned previously, there are some specific nutritional influences on fertility in women. In women who have a short menstrual cycle, increasing soy in the diet or taking soy isoflavone supplements may increase the length of the follicular phase and delay ovulation.²² Something as simple as flaxseed can lengthen the luteal phase of the cycle (the second half) and increase the frequency of ovulatory menstrual cycles in women who don't ovulate regularly.²³

As far as weight loss is concerned, one can get seriously confused these days about the value of carbohydrate versus protein diets. When it comes to fertility, one study demonstrated that it did not matter whether the diet was high-carbohydrate or high-protein: both groups who stuck to lowcalorie diets lost weight and had improved menstrual cycles and fertility.^{24, 25}

It is, of course, important to limit certain kinds of fish that have a higher mercury content in pregnancy, but evidence indicates it may be wise to do the same in cases of infertility. Studies show that infertile couples consumed more fish and had higher levels of mercury in their blood than fertile couples.²⁶ Consumption of biphenyl-contaminated fish also has an adverse effect on fertility.²⁷ Substituting fish oils from a reliable manufacturer for fish consumption is a good way to keep omega-3 fatty acids in the diet. Prior to pregnancy, a minimum daily intake of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docahexaenoic acid (DHA), found in fish and fish oils, is about 650 mg of each.

Wild salmon ranges from 1.0 to 1.5 grams per three-ounce serving, with a little more DHA than EPA. The different species of salmon (sockeye, chinook, coho) range in EPA and DHA, and wild sockeye contains approximately 600 mg DHA and 430 mg EPA per three-ounce serving. Whether you take fish oil supplements daily or eat fish several times per week, try to average about 650 mg of EPA and DHA per day. Specific needs for DHA increase during pregnancy (see Chapter 16). (During pregnancy, cod liver oil may be a questionable choice due to the high content of vitamin A, a teratogen, in fish liver.²⁸)

Nutritional Supplements

Vitamin E. Some simple vitamin and mineral supplementation may be key to fertility in selected women, and because oxidative stress affects the female reproductive system and consequently fertility, antioxidants are important considerations in enhancing fertility. Vitamin E is a powerful antioxidant, combating free radical damage, and can play a beneficial role in female fertility. Most of the research on vitamin E is pertinent to male fertility, such as making sperm more fertile. In one study, vitamin E was given to both men and women and resulted in a significant increase in fertility, and also assisted the achievement and maintenance of pregnancy in women with repeated miscarriages.²⁹ Other studies show that adding antioxidants, including vitamins C and E, to the diet of animals significantly reduced the decline of regular ovulation related to aging.³⁰ This may have importance for women in their 40s, who begin to experience reduced fertility due to diminished ovarian reserve.

Vitamin E

400-800 IU per day

Selenium. The mineral selenium is another antioxidant that protects from free radical damage. Free radicals are created when normal biochemical reactions cause oxygen molecules to become unstable. They are also formed by smoking, barbecuing, and deep-frying food, and more. Selenium can protect normal tissue from oxidative damage caused by the free radicals, including preventing chromosome damage. Selenium may also be able to provide protection from exposure to toxic heavy metals including cadmium and lead that can adversely affect sperm development. Selenium mostly affects male fertility by maximizing sperm formation, optimizing testosterone production, and increasing sperm count. (For more information on male fertility, see the section titled "Male Fertility" later in this chapter.)

Selenium

100-200 mcg daily

Zinc. The most widely studied nutritional supplement for fertility in both men and women is zinc. Zinc plays a vital role in cell division, and deficiencies are associated with reduced fertility, increased miscarriages, and chromosome damage. Less than optimal zinc levels not only reduce conception rates, but babies have lower birth weights, more birth defects, and can have a less developed brain and nervous system.³¹ Zinc deficiency is especially important for sperm development.

Zinc

30 mg per day

L-Arginine. L-arginine is an amino acid necessary for the synthesis of protein and is found naturally in numerous animal protein foods. Arginine supplementation of 16 grams per day has been shown to improve uterine blood flow and fertilization rates in women who had previously failed in vitro fertilization.³² Additional effects for enhancing sperm count and sperm quality are discussed in the male fertility section.

L-Arginine

16 g per day

Para-Aminobenzoic Acid (PABA). PABA is a part of the folic acid molecule and is found in eggs, milk, meat, and several grains. The role of PABA produced by the body is not really known, but as an oral supplement it is FDA-approved for difficult conditions such as scleroderma, vitiligo, pemphigus, and dermatomyositis. It is approved for use as a sunscreen because it acts as a filter to block out ultraviolet radiation. In fertility, PABA supplementation of 100 mg four times daily resulted in pregnancies in 12 of 16 women with a history of infertility.³³

PABA

100 mg 4 times per day

Multiple Vitamin-Mineral. A double-blind trial found that taking a multivitamin-mineral supplement increased female fertility.³⁴ A multivitamin and mineral in the form of a prenatal preparation has much of what is needed, but women who are deficient in vitamins like folic acid and B_{12}^{35-37} and minerals like magnesium and selenium³⁸ may need additional supplementation.

Botanicals

Chaste Tree (Vitex Agnus Castus). Chaste tree stimulates the release of luteinizing hormone (LH) from the pituitary gland and mildly inhibits FSH. The result is an indirect ability to raise or modulate progesterone levels.³⁹ Chaste tree also modulates the secretion of prolactin from the pituitary gland, and in one study prolactin was significantly reduced while shortened luteal phases and progesterone deficits were normalized.⁴⁰

Chaste Tree

Liquid extract 1 tsp per day or 0.6–0.75% standardized extract, 175–215 mg per day

Black Cohosh (*Cimicifuga Racemosa*). Similar to chaste tree, black cohosh can also stimulate pituitary secretion of LH and therefore lead to ovulation and subsequent production of progesterone by the corpus luteum.^{41, 42} Black cohosh may be especially valuable for women in their 40s whose FSH levels may be starting to increase as the ovary ages.

Black Cohosh

20-40 mg standardized extract twice daily

Rhodiola (*Rhodiola Rosea*). Rhodiola may enhance fertility. It has been shown to enhance thyroid function without causing hyperthyroidism in animals, and egg maturation was enhanced as well. These and other preclinical research led to treating 40 women with amenorrhea and infertility with rhodiola (100 mg) twice daily for two weeks. Normal menses were restored in 25 women, 11 of whom became pregnant.^{43, 44}

Additional Botanicals. Numerous plants have been used in traditional herbal medicine for their ability to regulate the tone of the uterus. In cases of infertility of undetermined cause, these uterine tonics are thought to prepare the uterus for implantation of a fertilized egg. These herbs include dong quai (*Angelica sinensis*), blue cohosh (*Caulophyllum thalictroides*), crampbark (*Vibernum opulus*), false unicorn or helonias (*Chamaelerium luteum*), and squaw vine (*Mitchella repens*).

Dong quai can tonify a weakened uterus by improving the metabolism within the uterus⁴⁵ as well as regulating hormonal control and improving the timing of the menstrual cycle.46 Blue cohosh can improve the muscular tone of a hypotonic uterus and thereby was thought by early traditional herbalists to improve fertility. Crampbark has been used more in cases of miscarriage rather than actual infertility. It has been used traditionally both as a uterine sedative and a uterine tonic. False unicorn or helonias has been used to improve uterine tone and decrease what has been called pelvic congestion. This herb also tends to be used more for women who have a history of miscarriage or abnormal bleeding during the pregnancy rather than true infertility. Squaw vine is a uterine tonic that increases the circulation to and in the uterus, thereby also reducing uterine congestion. It can both sedate a hypertonic uterus as well as tonify a hypotonic uterus.

A Note About Acupuncture

Acupuncture has been shown to improve pregnancy rates in women undergoing fertility treatment. Pelvic ultrasound studies have confirmed that acupuncture treatments can improve pelvic blood flow, and this may account for its effectiveness. Another possible mechanism for the ability of acupuncture to improve female fertility is a favorable effect on gonadotropinreleasing hormone, and therefore on the secretion of gonadotropins and improved thickening of the lining of the uterus (the endometrium). In addition, acupuncture can also be helpful in improving sperm count, menstrual cycle regulation, ovulation induction, and decreasing stress and depression. Acupuncture, as with many complementary therapies, is best when combined with conventional treatment when indicated. Research studies thus far have had small sample sizes and difficulty in providing proper control, so the results should not be overemphasized until further studies can be done. Acupuncture by a licensed professional with experience working with fertility issues appears to be safe and well tolerated.

Ginseng species are an important consideration in infertility due to their ability to enhance overall health, vitality, stamina, and endurance. Siberian ginseng may be able to promote regulation of reproductive hormones, thereby regulating the timing of ovulation.⁴⁷

Phytoestrogens can be particularly useful in the IVF fertility treatments by improving implantation, pregnancy, and delivery rates.⁴⁸ In addition, phytoestrogens may also reverse the antiestrogen effects of clomiphene citrate, a medication frequently used in the treatment of infertility.⁴⁹

A plant that many are not familiar with, tribulus (*Tribulus terrestris*), has been studied as an ovarian stimulant. A study of women taking tribulus every day has demonstrated the ability of tribulus to normalize ovulation, whereby some of the women also became pregnant.⁵⁰ When using the tribulus simultaneously with an ovulationinduction drug, the results with the combined use were better than the drug by itself.

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), also known as chronic anovulatory syndrome, is the association of hyperandrogenism with chronic anovulation in women without specific underlying diseases of the adrenal or pituitary glands. One of the characteristics is infertility, although some PCOS patients may randomly ovulate and are fertile that month. PCOS is a complicated disorder that takes a very comprehensive, multifactorial approach. Several herbs may have a role. Flaxseed, nettles, and green tea stimulate sexhormone-binding globulin, which can lower the elevated estrogens and androgens. Saw palmetto can inhibit 5-alpha reductase, which then inhibits the conversion of testosterone to dihydrotestosterone, and smilax and sanguinaria may be able to produce a progesterone effect. All of these mechanisms—plus modifying insulin resistance and/or lowering a hypersecretion of insulin, treating the underlying endocrine problem, and inducing ovulation-are the keys to treating PCOS.

Additional Therapies

Recent research also supports the use of manual soft-tissue therapy for pelvic adhesions, which may be implicated in some cases of infertility where there has been a history of surgery, infection, inflammation, or trauma. Adhesions form as a result of the natural healing process but cause problems by attaching to internal structures and affecting normal anatomy, mobility, and function. The manual therapy can improve tissue mobility and restore function by breaking the collagen cross-links that have formed during the healing process. The specific technique studied is the Mojzisova method, which combines both soft-tissue and osseous manipulation and is usually performed by specially trained physical therapists.51

Celiac disease, which may cause deficiencies in a number of nutrients, requires special consideration for appropriate diagnosis and management. Gluten avoidance has been shown to improve fertility rates in sensitive patients.^{52–54} See the Resources section for formulation sources.

Diet

Whole foods diet high in vegetables, whole grains, nuts and seeds, fruits, low-fat organic dairy Protein: 60 g daily Soy foods: 1 serving daily Flaxseed: 2 tbs per day Fish: 2–3 times per week

Lifestyle

Avoid caffeine, alcohol, and smoking. Seek optimal body weight.

Nutritional Supplements

Vitamin E: 400 IU per day Vitamin C: 2,000 mg per day Zinc: 30 mg per day Selenium: 100 mcg per day Prenatal vitamins: 2 per day

Botanicals

Chaste tree (0.6% aucubin extract capsule): 215 mg per day Rhodiola: 200 mg per day

Celiac disease may lead to decreased absorption of fat-soluble vitamins, thereby causing deficiencies that may impair male fertility as well.

Topical or vaginal progesterone may help normalize menstrual cycles, improve implantation rates, and maintain pregnancies in women with history of repeated miscarriages but should only be used under the care of a physician.^{55, 56}

MALE FERTILITY

Low sperm counts have been attributed to a number of factors, including exposure to pesticides, welding, antibiotic and other medication use, a history of mumps, gastrointestinal complaints, decreased intake of fruits and vegetables, family history of female fertility disorders, and nicotine and caffeine intake.⁵⁷ Therefore, it seems prudent when dealing with a couple who want to improve their fertility that these factors be addressed promptly, especially in patients who have demonstrated sperm abnormalities.

Supplements

A number of supplements can improve sperm quality and quantity, including vitamins C, B_{12} , and E; L-arginine; L-carnitine; selenium; zinc; and folic acid.⁵⁸

Vitamins C and E. Vitamin C and other antioxidants can decrease sperm DNA damage that can interfere with fertility.⁵⁹ Vitamin C deficiency has been linked with significant decreases in sperm count, motility, and vitality and with an increase in morphologically abnormal sperm.⁶⁰ Vitamin E and selenium have been shown to reduce lipid peroxidation and, therefore, improve sperm quality. One study looked at men who had normal sperm counts, but low rates of fertilization during in vitro fertilization treatments. After one month of daily vitamin E supplementation, the fertilization rates increased from 19 percent to 29 percent, suggesting that the antioxidant effects of vitamin E may make the sperm more fertile.⁶¹

The combination of oral vitamin C and vitamin E (one gram of each), administered to male patients with DNA damage who had previously failed fertility treatments for two months, was shown to decrease DNA-fragmented sperm, and a second fertility treatment led to improvement of clinical pregnancy and implantation rates.⁶²

Vitamin C

500-3,000 mg 3 times daily

Vitamin E

500-1,000 IU per day

L-Carnitine. The amino acid L-carnitine is essential for normal functioning of sperm. It seems

that the higher the levels of L-carnitine in sperm cells, the higher the sperm count and the more motile the sperm. L-carnitine given as a supplement helped to increase the sperm count and the number of normal sperm after four months.⁶³

L-Carnitine

3,000 mg daily

B₁₂. A deficiency of B₁₂ leads to reduced sperm counts and reduced sperm mobility. In men who had sperm counts under 20 million/ml, 1,000 mcg of vitamin B₁₂ per day led to an increase to 100 million/ml.⁶⁴ In another study of men with low sperm counts, 6,000 mcg of vitamin B₁₂ per day showed improvements in the sperm counts of 57 percent of them.⁶⁶

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

It is important to be aware of the latest conventional treatment options for infertility and to gain insight into when is it timely to seek specialized fertility care. The decision to pursue conventional modes of infertility treatment depends on age, the duration and cause of the infertility, the results of the ovarian-reserve assessment/testing, finances, other health issues, emotional stamina, and thoughts and feelings about adoption or surrogate options. Treatment options include intrauterine insemination (IUI) in the natural menstrual cycle, ovulation induction using clomiphene citrate or gonadotropins (with or without IUI), and in vitro fertilization.

Intrauterine insemination involves introducing a concentrated suspension of washed sperm into the upper uterine cavity. The success of IUI varies depending on the cause of infertility. IUI alone, without ovulation induction medications, increases the chance of fertility in a natural cycle by only 1 to 2 percent in couples with unexplained infertility. When clomiphene citrate (CC) is added in these couples, the fertility rate increases to 8 to 10 percent.

Three main types of medication are used to induce ovulation. Clomiphene citrate is the most common, but aromatase inhibitors (AI) and injectable gonadotropins are also used when there is no response to other treatments. Clomiphene citrate is not only the most commonly used medication, but it is also the most effective, inexpensive, and easiest to use and requires less monitoring than the other medications. Clomiphene citrate is primarily used to induce ovulation in women with abnormal ovulation patterns, in women with a luteal phase defect (abnormal length of the second half of the cycle), or in women who have unexplained infertility. It is also used to assess ovarian reserve. It is not generally effective in women who have amenorrhea due to low estrogenic states such as hypothalamic amenorrhea.

Clomiphene citrate is well tolerated most of the time and does not often have any serious side effects. However, because it depletes estrogen receptors, side effects include hot flashes, nausea and vomiting, breast discomfort, and headaches. It can also have detrimental effects on cervical mucus and the endometrial lining. Severe side effects occur in less than 2 percent of women using it. CC can lead to an increase in multiple gestations at a rate of about 6 to 10 percent. Most of these tend to be twins; less than 1 percent are triplets or higher-order multiples. Past concern about increasing the risk of ovarian cancer has faded with recent research showing no increased risk. About 80 percent of women using CC will ovulate, but only 50 percent of those will conceive. Over the course of using CC for six to nine cycles, the rate of pregnancy goes up to about 70 to 75 percent in those who begin to ovulate while on CC. Obesity, elevated androgen states, and late reproductive age diminish the response to CC.

Inducing ovulation with gonadotropins is indicated in women who fail to ovulate with CC, don't conceive on CC despite ovulatory cycles, have endometriosis, have unexplained infertility, or are of advanced reproductive age, or if CC is contraindicated. Gonadotropin therapy involves injecting either FSH and LH, or FSH alone. FSH stimulates the development of multiple follicles and therefore carries a higher risk of multiple birth than does CC use. Overstimulation (hyperstimulation) of the ovaries is also a risk. These cycles require close monitoring with serial estradiol levels and ultrasounds. This therapy is usually combined with IUI.

Aromatase inhibitors (AIs) are best known for the treatment of breast cancer, but they've been used more recently to induce ovulation. By using AIs in the follicular phase of the menstrual cycle (the first half, before ovulation), estradiol levels are reduced and the hypothalamus and pituitary don't receive their normal feedback message. This results in increased secretion of the pituitary gonadotropins, which can stimulate ovulation. AIs are usually given at a dose of 2.5 to 5 mg per day on days 3 to 7 of the cycle. AIs are indicated for women with infrequent or no ovulation and for unexplained infertility.

Other drugs that are used on a selective basis and along with other therapies include gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists, gonadotropin-releasing hormone antagonists, and human chorionic gonadotropin.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

It's important to remember that a significant number of pregnancies occur in previously infertile couples without any treatment at all. The main reason to see a health-care provider is to pursue a thorough investigation of the reasons for your infertility. Remember, infertility is defined as a failure to conceive after 12 months of frequent intercourse without contraception in women under 35 years of age or failure to conceive after 6 months of intercourse without contraception in women 35 years of age or older. At age 35, and especially after age 40, time becomes of the essence, so it is a good idea to seek the advice of a practitioner promptly if a desired pregnancy is delayed.

A practitioner with expertise in fertility can proceed with a methodical evaluation, treat any abnormalities that are found, provide education about the reproductive system, offer advice about your fertility potential, provide counsel regarding all options, and provide clinical and emotional support.

Infertility in women lends itself to an integrative approach using conventional therapies along with natural therapies. A health-care team of diverse practitioners—including a reproductive endocrinologist, a naturopathic physician, and perhaps an acupuncturist specializing in women's health and/or a psychotherapist—who are comfortable working collaboratively provides an optimal environment for patient care.

RESOURCES FOR PATIENTS

A number of excellent resources are available to couples that are having difficulty conceiving.

- RESOLVE. An informational clearinghouse for infertile couples: offers educational materials, a medical call-in hour, help line, physician referrals, member-to-member support system, local chapters and support groups. Website: resolve.org/main/national/index .jsp?name=hom.
- Preserving Fertility pamphlet. Available at resolve.org/main/national/niaw/presfert .pdf.
- *Conquering Infertility* by Alice D. Domar, Ph.D. (Penguin, 2004). A mind/body guide to enhancing fertility and coping with infertility.

This page intentionally left blank

OVERVIEW

Interstitial cystitis (IC) is a multifactorial syndrome whose diagnosis and cause remain elusive. Poorly understood, IC remains a significant women's health problem. About 90 percent of IC patients are female.¹ IC typically begins in young or middle-aged women.

IC is characterized by pelvic and/or perineal pain, urinary urgency, urination at night, pain increased by holding urine (which leads to frequency), and a constant urge to urinate. The pain of IC can range from a mild burning or discomfort to severe debilitating pain in the bladder, lower abdomen, perineum, pelvis, vagina, low back, and thighs. Menstruation and sexual intercourse aggravate symptoms in as many as 75 percent of women. There are often flare-ups and remissions.

When a woman has the classic symptoms of urinary urgency, frequency (more than eight times per day), bladder pain, and urinating at night (more than twice); has no evidence of a urinary tract infection; *and* reports continuous pain or pain with menstrual flow, then other pelvic diseases such as endometriosis should be given some consideration. If urinary leakage (incontinence) is present, an evaluation for the cause of the incontinence should be done. Painful or difficult urination (dysuria) may indicate a urinary tract or vaginal infection or a structural problem in the urinary tract.

Diagnostic tests for IC are mostly done to rule out other causes. Keeping a daily diary of when you feel the need to urinate may be useful. Your healthcare practitioner may use the O'Leary-Sant Index, which measures pain, voiding symptoms, and quality of life. A physical exam can help to rule out other diseases and pelvic pathology. Urinalysis and urine cultures are normal in patients with IC. If blood is visible in the urine under a microscope, then cytology tests should be done. Vaginal and cervical cultures are done if the practitioner suspects a sexually transmitted disease. Some urology experts, especially urogynecologists, may choose to recommend a potassium sensitivity test, which instills potassium into the bladder, to see if the bladder has increased in permeability. If the usual pain gets worse, the test is considered positive for IC.

On cystoscopy, bladder ulcers called Hunner's ulcers and reduced bladder capacity are detected in less than 10 percent of individuals with IC. If these ulcers are seen, this is considered definitive for IC. More commonly, IC is characterized by petechial bladder mucosal hemorrhages, inflammation, and no ulcerations.

IC is more common in patients with irritable bowel syndrome, spastic colon, abdominal cramping, hysterectomy, rheumatoid arthritis, fibromyalgia, hay fever, asthma, and allergies to foods and medications.

Drug and surgical interventions have been used to treat this condition with limited success and potential side effects. Despite continued research on IC, safe, noninvasive treatment options are lacking.

Several causes have been proposed for IC, although none have been proven. The contributing factors fall into two main categories: bladder epithelial permeability and inflammation. The exact causes are difficult to distinguish and are likely to be interrelated in any one patient. Because of this, a variety of treatment options may be used. These include vitamin A (as palmitate), bioflavonoids (from citrus), L-arginine, quercetin, N-acetyl glucosamine, corn silk, kava root, and Oregon grape root.

Although the cause of IC is unknown, it is important to consider the possible causes to



KEY CONCEPTS

- IC is a noninfectious chronic condition characterized by pelvic and/or perineal pain, urinary urgency, urinary frequency, bladder pain, and urination at night.
- IC is difficult to diagnose with any test; tests are mostly done to rule out other causes of the symptoms.
- There is no proven cause, but bladder permeability and inflammation direct the variety of treatment options available.

PREVENTION

 No specific prevention strategies have been established, but minimizing bladder irritants seems logical. Classic offenders are coffee, chocolate, alcohol, carbonated drinks, citrus fruits, and tomatoes.

understand the therapeutic basis for natural treatments. Because IC is a multifactorial syndrome, it is likely that several of these factors may be true in your case. Short descriptions of possible factors in IC follow:

• Bladder epithelial permeability. One of the more recent theories for IC is that the bladder epithelium is abnormally permeable, allowing components of urine to penetrate and irritate the bladder. The most common explanation of the permeability is that the bladder epithelium is deficient in glycoproteins and glycosaminoglycans (GAG). Several studies have shown that IC patients had decreased levels of glycoproteins and GAG in both the bladder and the urine.

• Mast cell activation. This theory proposes that bladder mast cells are activated and release histamine, prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and other substances that affect bladder smooth muscle and sensory nerve terminals. Several studies have shown that IC patients have increased urine levels of these mast cell mediators. Some IC bladder biopsy samples contain mast cells, but it is known that these cells are not specific to IC and can also be found in other bladder disorders.

• Autoimmune causes. Autoimmune theories are based on detecting antinuclear antibodies, increased urinary excretion of eosinophilic cationic protein, and the tendency of IC to affect women. Other evidence includes IgM in the uroepithelium, immune deposits in vessel walls, and T and B cell nodules in patients with IC.

• **Inflammation.** Most biopsies of IC bladders show mild chronic inflammation to significant infiltration of T cells, B cells, plasma cells, neutrophils, eosinophils, and mast cells. Inflammatory mediators such as interleukin-6 are also increased.

• **Infection.** The possibility of an infectious cause has been suggested by the presence of microorganisms embedded in the bladder wall of patients with IC and bacterial ribosomal mRNA in tissues of bladder biopsies.

• **Reflex sympathetic dystrophy.** Bladder sympathetic innervation may be interrupted by injury to peripheral nerves from prior UTIs, hysterectomy, or childbirth. This may lead to an increased transmission of pain impulses from the bladder and reduced circulation, facilitating inflammatory cell infiltration and leading to bladder ulceration, fibrosis, and atrophy.

Each of these theories has supportive and detractive evidence. As stated earlier, the cause of IC may vary in different people, or multiple factors may be in operation.

OVERVIEW OF Alternative treatments

Therapeutic options, both conventional and alternative, are as varied as the theories on the cause of IC. Almost no studies have been done to help practitioners identify which patients would likely respond best to which treatments. Treatment choices are made individually for each patient, and in most cases, several treatments should be used concurrently until symptom relief occurs. After that, a careful, gradual process of reducing dosages or simplifying the treatment interventions is appropriate.

The most commonly used treatment by both conventional and alternative practitioners is dietary changes. Patients with IC will often report that certain foods increase their symptoms. Classic offenders are coffee, chocolate, alcohol, carbonated drinks, citrus fruits, and tomatoes. Acid or potassium content is often suspected as the mechanism. Responses to these foods is hugely variable, and there is no consistent diet that works for all IC patients.

The following natural treatment plan may seem complex, but consider that the average patient with IC has symptoms three to four years prior to diagnosis. In my experience with treating IC patients over a one-year period with this protocol, significant improvements are usually seen within the first three months. Continued improvement (75 percent better or greater) is seen after six months while maintaining the same doses. Within the second six months and beyond, gradual reduction of dosage can be done on an individual basis. I have found that IC patients are so thrilled with their improvement that they hesitate to reduce the supplements and do so carefully. With this natural medicine approach, IC patients can proceed with optimism and be reassured that there is likely help for their very chronic condition.

Nutrition

Some foods and beverages seem to exacerbate symptoms for many women. Although not fully investigated, about 53 percent of patients with IC associate a flare-up of their symptoms with dietary influences, especially citrus fruits and other acidic foods and beverages.² Many women find it helpful to avoid certain foods. If you avoid these foods for two weeks and your symptoms improve, this is good news for the bladder. Making these dietary changes is a good self-help strategy in managing this condition.

Foods to Avoid

Alcohol	Lentils	Apples
Lima beans	Aspartame	Limes
Avocados	Mayonnaise	Bananas
Nuts*	Cantaloupes	Onions
Carbonated drinks	Oranges	Cheese**
Peaches	Chicken livers	Pickled herring
Chilies/spicy foods	Pineapple	Chocolate
Plums	Citrus fruits	Prunes
Coffee	Raisins	Corned beef
Rye bread	Cranberries	Saccharine
Grapefruit	Sour cream	Grapes
Soy sauce	Tomatoes	Guava
Strawberries	Vinegar	Lemons
Теа	Yogurt	

*Except almonds, peanuts, and pine nuts

**Except American, cottage, ricotta, and cream cheese

Source: K. Whitmore²

Glycosaminoglycans and Bladder Epithelial Permeability. The bladder epithelial permeability hypothesis is a compelling and active area of research. This theory asserts that the bladder epithelium is abnormally permeable in IC, so urine components penetrate and irritate the bladder. Several lines of indirect evidence support this hypothesis:

- 1. Some IC patients have increased pain after eating foods such as citrus fruits and tomatoes that are acidic and high in potassium.
- 2. Some IC patients have pain when potassium chloride is instilled into the bladder, while most healthy controls do not.^{3, 4}
- 3. Taking fluorescein orally yields higher blood fluorescein levels in IC patients than in controls, attributed to increased fluorescein reabsorption across the bladder wall.⁵
- 4. In one of the only direct bladder permeability studies, radio-labeled diethylenetriamine pentaacetic acid (DTPA) was instilled in the bladder and blood samples showed that IC patients had higher blood levels of DTPA than

healthy controls, although the small study of 10 IC patients and 9 controls was not able to demonstrate statistical significance.⁶

5. Glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) normally line the epithelium and are thought to contribute to the permeability barrier. Several studies have shown that IC patients have decreased levels of GAGs in both the bladder and urine.⁷⁻¹²

GAG supplementation is used to treat IC based on the rationale that the GAG may supplement or replace the deficient epithelial GAGs. The GAG studies with published trials include PPS (pentosan polysulfate sodium) Elmiron,^{13–19} heparin,²⁰ and hyaluronic acid (Cystostat).²¹ These studies showed treatment efficacy over placebo for each of these treatments. No studies have been published on over-the-counter preparations of chondroitin sulfates and glucosamine preparations; however, a link has been established between chondroitin and IC.²² A GAG in the form of N-acetyl glucosamine or glucosamine sulfate can be used as part of a multifactorial approach to repair the bladder epithelium.

Glucosamine Sulfate

750 mg twice daily

N-Acetyl Glucosamine

500 mg twice daily

Vitamin A. Vitamin A has been shown to inhibit mast cell growth and proliferation, and deficiency may aggravate the clinical manifestations of inflammatory reactions due to mastocytosis.^{23–26} Vitamin A also helps to elevate urinary nitric oxide levels. (See the section on L-arginine and inflammation for more information on the role of nitric oxide in IC.) In addition, vitamin A deficiency has been linked to a higher level of tissue damage due to inflammation, both as an etiological and aggravating factor, and supplementation may decrease inflammation in these cases.^{22, 27, 28} Vitamin A also plays an essential role in maintaining and protecting epithelial integrity and mucosal surfaces and their secretions, including those of the bladder.^{26, 29}

Vitamin A may also be of benefit in the management of IC as it is essential to proper immune function^{30, 31} and stimulates epithelial repair and growth.^{30, 32, 33} Vitamin A increases immune response mainly due to its effect on T-helper cells.³⁴ In addition, evidence supports the theory that Vitamin A may also attend to the GAG repair.³⁵

Vitamin A

5,000 IU per day

L-Arginine and Inflammation. Nitric oxide (NO) may play an important role in the pathogenesis of IC in that it activates the cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes, leading to production of proinflammatory prostaglandins that exacerbate the inflammatory response.³⁶ NO also plays a role in IC in the regulation of smooth muscle relaxation, immunological responses, and bladder neurotransmission and blood flow.^{37, 38} Luminal nitric oxide is elevated in IC, corresponding to symptom severity, and can be used as a marker for mucosal inflammation in such cases.^{39–41} Nutrients such as arginine (a precursor to NO synthase) and antioxidants like vitamin A help to elevate urinary nitric oxide levels and may play an important role in the management of interstitial cystitis.36, 40, 42, 43 Oral supplementation with arginine changes urine levels of NO,44 and three studies demonstrated symptom improvement over placebo.40, 45, 46 Another study reported that a six-month course of oral L-arginine increased nitric oxide-related enzymes and metabolites in the urine of patients with IC. This result was correlated with a decrease in IC symptoms.37

L-Arginine

500 mg twice daily

Calcium Glycerophosphate (Prelief). Calcium glycerophosphate has been shown to help reduce bladder pain and urinary urgency in IC patients when it is used with acidic foods and beverages. Calcium glycerophosphate, sold under the trade name Prelief, is a food-grade mineral, available in granulated form. When added to acidic foods and beverages, it removes the acid and helps to reduce bladder pain and urinary urgency associated with these foods.

However, from a naturopathic medicine standpoint, this should be done sparingly. This is like taking a heartburn medicine but still eating spicy Polish sausages. The food is still aggravating you, you are just temporarily protected from the immediate bodily response. The fact that these foods are causing symptoms means that they are causing irritation and inflammation.

Calcium Glycerophosphate (Prelief)

2 packets 3 times daily with meals

Add 2 packets of powder to a serving of acidic food or beverage. (It will not dissolve in alcoholic drinks.) Also take 2 packets at bedtime if desired. You can use more if needed.

Botanicals

Kava (Kava Methysticum). A permeable or "leaky" bladder may allow chronic diffusion of urinary potassium, leading to sensory symptoms and tissue damage. This appears to be a major factor in the pathogenesis of interstitial cystitis.47 Kava is known historically as a urinary antispasmodic, and recent reports support its use as a smooth muscle relaxer, likely through inhibition of calcium channels.⁴⁸ In addition, kava blocks sodium and calcium ion channels in neural tissue and thereby alters potassium potentials.⁴⁷ Abnormally elevated potassium levels may induce heightened nervous and electrical sensitivity and increase mucosal sensitivity in patients with IC. Kava may help to reduce this effect by altering the potassium channel activity. In addition, IC

has been reported to be aggravated by stress^{49, 50} and associated with panic disorder,⁵¹ two conditions that may be ameliorated by kava.⁵²

Kava Extract

Kavalactones: 70 mg 3 times daily

Quercetin. Another proinflammatory culprit in IC is the mast cell, an immune modulatory cell that secretes its damaging contents in a process called degranulation in response to factors such as stress and toxins. Mast cells can directly damage the bladder mucosa, leading to bladder inflammation. Some researchers speculate that treatment of IC must include mast cell stabilizers.^{45, 53, 54} Quercetin and other bioflavonoids may be helpful in mast cell stabilization, inhibiting degranulation and the release of damaging mediators.^{55–59}

Quercetin and other bioflavonoids also contribute in other ways to mitigate the inflammatory process. Quercetin may be beneficial to connective tissue by limiting inflammation and associated tissue degradation, improving circulation, and promoting a strong collagen matrix.^{60, 61} Quercetin also plays a part in modulation of the inflammatory response, at least in part by modulating prostaglandin synthesis and cytokine production.⁶²

Quercetin

500-1,000 mg twice daily

Bioflavonoids

500-1,000 mg twice daily

Oregon Grape Root (*Berberis Aquifolium*). Oregon grape root, a berberine-containing botanical, is an immune modulator, specifically in mucosal membranes, and, like vitamin A, may be effective in treating allergic and inflammatory conditions like IC due to its effect on T-helper cells.^{63, 64} In addition, evidence suggests that berberine may also decrease inflammation by inhibiting arachidonic acid metabolism in endothelial cells.⁶⁵

Sample Treatment Plan

See the Resources section for formulation sources.

Nutrition

Avoid the following foods:

Lentils	Apples	
Aspartame	Limes	
Mayonnaise	Bananas	
Cantaloupes	Onions	
Oranges	Cheese**	
Chicken livers	Pickled herring	
Pineapple	Chocolate	
Citrus fruits	Prunes	
Raisins	Corned beef	
Cranberries	Saccharine	
Sour cream	Grapes	
Tomatoes	Guava	
Vinegar	Lemons	
Yogurt		
	Lentils Aspartame Mayonnaise Cantaloupes Oranges Chicken livers Pineapple Citrus fruits Raisins Cranberries Sour cream Tomatoes Vinegar Yogurt	

If the preceding list is too strict, avoid the following:

Tomatoes Coffee Chocolate Alcohol

Supplements

N-acetyl glucosamine: 500 mg 3 times daily; or glucosamine sulfate: 750 mg 2 times daily L-arginine: 500 mg 3 times daily Quercetin: 500–1,000 mg twice daily Vitamin C (buffered, noncitrus source): 1,000–2,000 mg daily Corn silk: 300 mg 3 times daily Kava extract: 1 capsule 3 times daily Vitamin A: 5,000 IU daily

*Except almonds, peanuts, and pine nuts

**Except American, cottage, ricotta, and cream cheese

Oregon Grape Root

500 mg per day

Corn Silk (*Zea Mays*). Another botanical, corn silk, has been found to be a potent inhibitor of proinflammatory cytokines as well.⁶⁶ Corn silk also has historical evidence for its application in a variety of urinary conditions and may be helpful in the treatment of IC due to its demulcent effects.⁶⁷

Corn Silk

300 mg 3 times daily

Additional Botanicals. Other botanicals might be considered for their anti-inflammatory properties, such as licorice (*Glycerrhiza glabra*) and feverfew (*Tanacetum parthenium*). Botanicals with demulcent properties allow for mucosal protection and soothing. These include licorice, slippery elm (*Ulmus fulva*), marshmallow (*Althea officinalis*), oat seed (*Avena sativa*), and comfrey (*Symphytum officinale*).

It can be crucial to use herbs that provide pain relief while the other therapies attempt to repair the lining of the bladder. Common choices would be kava (*Piper methysticum*), crampbark (*Viburnum opulus*), wild yam (*Dioscorea villosa*), and valerian (*Valeriana officinalis*).

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

The most likely conventional IC expert will be the urogynecologist. Dietary modifications are standard recommendations. A diet low in acidic foods and avoidance of beverages such as coffee, tea, and carbonated and/or alcoholic drinks can be helpful in reducing symptoms. The practitioner also will often recommend Prelief, a nutritional supplement discussed earlier in this chapter. The only oral medication approved for IC by the FDA is pentosan polysulfate sodium (PPS, Elmiron). Other oral medications include amitriptyline, imipramine (used for pain), hydroxyzine, antispasmodics, muscle relaxants, and numerous pain medications. PPS is the most studied conventional medicine for IC. Unfortunately, it only shows about a 30 percent efficacy rate.

Medicine can also be instilled into the bladder. Until PPS, DMSO was the only approved medication for IC. The medication is placed directly into the bladder through a catheter weekly or biweekly. Another intravesicular (within the bladder) therapy is Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG). The mechanism is unknown, but the solution may modulate the immune response in the bladder. Intravesical heparin, hyaluronic acid, and intravesical PPS are other options.

Experimental therapies are being explored, including electrical nerve stimulation to activate the inhibitory circuits and decrease the sensation of pain, intravesical injection of botulinium toxin, gene therapy, and nerve growth-factor inhibitors. Surgical interventions are currently considered a last resort. These include surgical removal of visible ulcers, laser denervation, or removing a part of the colon and attaching it to the bladder to increase bladder capacity. These surgical procedures are still associated with a high rate of relapse, persistent pain, permanent or intermittent need for catheterization, and additional surgeries.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

The symptoms of IC can range in severity from mild and intermittent to chronic and very severe. The main reason to see a licensed health-care practitioner is to diagnose the cause of the symptoms. That is easier said than done, and often IC symptoms are misdiagnosed as a urinary tract infection, endometriosis, a sexually transmitted infection, or a vaginal infection. On the other hand, sometimes these, rather than IC, are the cause of the symptoms. Rarely, bladder cancer may be the cause if blood in the urine is present.

The diagnosis of IC is based upon the presenting signs and symptoms. A good medical history, physical exam, and tests are done to determine the cause of the symptoms. A cystoscopy or intravesical potassium sensitivity test may be recommended. Once the diagnosis of IC has been made, either with certainty or as a possibility, treatment can proceed. IC is a condition that lends itself well to alternative therapies-not only because they typically work as well or better than the conventional options, but also because there is no medical danger if conventional treatment options are declined. Whether alternative or conventional medicine or an integration of the two is used, symptom improvement is the ultimate measure of success.

This page intentionally left blank

MENOPAUSE

OVERVIEW

There are currently 43 million American women who are postmenopausal, and their numbers are expected to increase to 60 million by the year 2020. By the year 2015, nearly 50 percent of the women in the United States will be menopausal. This rapid expansion in the menopausal population is related both to an increase in longevity (to an average life expectancy of approximately 84 years) and to the maturation of the baby boomer generation into the menopausal age group.

Understanding the terminology and definitions can be helpful in understanding the natural biological process of aging. The term menopause is derived from meno (month, menses) plus pausis (pause, cessation); in other words, it is a pause in menstruation. A spontaneous or natural menopause is the permanent cessation of menstruation following the loss of ovarian activity and is strictly defined as the point after 12 consecutive months of no menses following the final menstrual period. The average age of menopause has been estimated to be between 50 and 52. In the Massachusetts Women's Health Study, the largest and most comprehensive study of middle-aged women, the median age for menopause was 51.3 years.¹ The range is generally from age 40 to 58 years of age, although some women reach menopause prematurely in their thirties and a few as late as in their sixties. Despite our aging population and greater life expectancy, the age of menopause has not changed in the last few centuries. Three important factors influence the age of menopause: current smoking, familial factors, and genetic factors involving the estrogen receptors. Other influences may also affect the timing of menopause: increased body mass index (being overweight), more than one pregnancy, history of no pregnancy, toxic chemical exposures, treatment of childhood cancers with chemotherapy and radiation, epilepsy, and cognitive scores in childhood (the higher the score, the later the menopause). There appears to be no link between age of menopause and history of hormonal contraception, socioeconomic or marital status, race, or age of first menstrual cycle.

Premenopause refers to the period of life from the first menstrual period up to the final menstrual period, but this term is often used incorrectly. To avoid confusion, it's probably best to not even use this term. Perimenopause is the period immediately before menopause. Perimenopause starts with changes in the menstrual cycle and ends 12 months after the final menstrual period. In the early stage of perimenopause, the menstrual cycle length begins to vary by as much as 7 days from the normal cycle. So, rather than having a 28-day cycle, maybe the cycle begins to be a 20- to 21-day cycle from day 1 of the menses to the next day 1. In the later stage of perimenopause, we start to see two or more missed menses in a year, and the cycle being 60 days or more. Some people call perimenopause the menopause transition or the climacteric. The average age of onset of the perimenopause or menopause transition is age 47.5. For most women, this transition lasts about four years. Only a very small number of women stop having their menses abruptly. Most of us experience the irregular pattern of bleeding.

Postmenopause begins after the time of the final menstrual period, whether it was a natural or medically induced menopause, and continues until the end of life. It is defined as stage +1 (early postmenopause) and stage +2 (late postmenopause). The early postmenopause stage is

five years, which includes the first year since the final menstrual period and the next four years.

Menopause should be regarded as a normal, natural event of aging except when it is brought about by surgery, medications, or radiation. As we discuss problems that can be associated with menopause for some women, it can quickly be viewed as a disease process and a sign of pending fragility, disability, and even death. It is important to appreciate that menopause is or can be the beginning of a new phase of life, with fewer family obligations, new options, new learning opportunities, and new adventures. With a proper understanding of perimenopause and menopause, and an adequately informed and respectful health-care practitioner, the majority of menopausal women can be healthy and happy and use this time period as an opportunity to foster a preventive health-care plan and lifestyle as well as an opportunity to assess their life.

Women can enter menopause by several different routes and pass through more than one phase. Premature menopause (also called premature ovarian failure, or POF) is a combination of secondary amenorrhea, menopausal symptoms, and a persistent elevation in follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) levels greater than 20 IU/L before 40 years of age. One in 100 women between the ages of 15 and 40 will spontaneously develop premature menopause.2 In two-thirds of cases, no apparent cause for the premature ovarian failure will be found.3 These cases are called idiopathic. In one-third of cases, causes of premature menopause include metabolic and systemic disease, chromosome abnormalities, immunologic disorders, infections, lack of blood supply to the ovaries, cigarette smoking, ovariectomy or bilateral oophorectomy (both ovaries removed), pelvic irradiation, and chemotherapy.

Some women may experience a *temporary menopause* in which normal ovarian function is interrupted temporarily and the menses stops (for 12 months or more). Some medications that are used to treat conditions such as endometriosis or certain cancers may cause this.

The term *induced menopause* is used when the menses ceases after surgical removal of both ovaries. This is referred to as ovariectomy or bilateral oophorectomy and may or may not include the removal of the uterus (hysterectomy). A hysterectomy is actually only the surgical removal of the uterus. These surgeries can be done separately or together. The incidence of hysterectomy and oophorectomy in the United States is substantial. Women who undergo a bilateral oophorectomy have an increased risk of developing osteoporosis, coronary artery disease, and/or atrophy of the genital area at a younger age. Probably the most dramatic entry into menopause is to have both ovaries removed.

From 1994 through 1999, an estimated 3,525,237 hysterectomies were performed among U.S. women aged 15 years or older.⁴ During this time, the overall hysterectomy rate for U.S. women was 5.5 per 1,000 women. The hysterectomy rates for women living in the South (6.5 per 1,000) is significantly higher than those in the Northeast (4.3) or West (4.8). For women living in the Midwest, it was 5.4 per 1,000. About 55 percent of women who had a hysterectomy had a bilateral oophorectomy (both ovaries removed). Uterine fibroids, endometriosis, and prolapse of the uterus are the most frequent reasons for these surgeries in women aged 15 years and older. With new laparoscopic-assisted hysterectomies, ovaries are removed more easily (and this is unfortunate if the ovaries are healthy) and removal of the ovaries has increased significantly, from 20.4 percent in 1994 to 42.5 percent in 1999.

When the ovaries are removed, the onset of menopause is immediate. The sudden onset of hot flashes, mood changes, sleep disturbances, and loss of sexual arousal is accompanied by a slower onset of fatigue, headaches, dry skin, bone and joint pain, loss of vaginal lubrication, and painful vaginal sex. This overwhelming barrage of symptoms results from the sudden drop in hormone production—estrogen, progesterone, and testosterone. Women who have had a hysterectomy but still retain one or both ovaries will go through menopause more naturally most of the time, although sometimes earlier than they would have otherwise. Without the uterus and the monthly bleeding, it may be harder to know when menopause arrives. All the typical symptoms can occur, though. If you are fortunate to not have any of the overt menopausal symptoms, you can estimate that you'll have gone through menopause somewhere between ages 48 and 53. The FSH blood test may be used to determine menopausal status.

Other methods of inducing menopause include chemotherapy, medications, or pelvic radiation therapy, which causes the ablation of ovarian function. Women who have been treated with chemotherapy may go into menopause either temporarily or permanently. About 30 percent of these women will have a return of their menses sometime within the first year. Irradiation of the pelvic or abdominal area can also induce menopause. Tamoxifen, another cancer drug used mostly for women who have breast cancer, can either induce menopause in premenopausal women or increase menopause symptoms in postmenopausal women.

Several drugs can induce menopause that is reversible once the drugs are discontinued. These include Lupron and Synarel, which are usually given to suppress menses in the case of endometriosis and to shrink fibroids before surgery. Menopausal symptoms tend to be not as severe as in surgical menopause but worse than natural physiologic menopause.

Fortunately, all of the sex hormones are not lost with menopause or even with surgical menopause. For example, about 50 percent of our testosterone comes from the ovaries and adrenal glands; the other 50 percent comes from many different parts of the body, including the liver, the skin, and the brain. These tissues manufacture testosterone from precursor hormones that are made in the ovaries and the adrenals. In other words, the ovaries and the adrenal glands are responsible for producing all of a woman's testosterone, either directly or indirectly. The adrenal glands also produce androstenedione. Androstenedione is converted to estrogen (estrone) in the body fat and to a lesser degree in some other tissues and organs including the muscle and skin. For some women, this source of estrogen is adequate to counter some of the menopausal symptoms, and they have an easier time.

Although this adrenal source of hormonal support is a blessing, the adrenal glands produce their maximal amount of androgens in the presence of fully functioning ovaries. The function of the cortex of the adrenal glands is linked to the functions of the ovaries due to their shared original group of cells in the developing embryo. If you don't have your ovaries, then the adrenal glands will not produce their potential amount of androgens. In natural menopause, the ovaries continue producing androgens (typically referred to as male hormones) that help maintain the potential for sexual arousal.⁵ Several studies have shown that surgically induced menopausal women have lower sexual desires and subjective arousal compared to women who have retained their ovaries; treating these post-oophorectomy women with estrogen and androgens results in a greater sexual response than treatment with estrogen alone.6 Surgical menopause may also have a psychological impact on women. Not only is this related to the sudden change in hormone status, but the severity of depression that may develop can often be correlated to body image, sexual identity, cultural background, and family issues.7

The natural transition from the reproductive years to the postmenopausal years is not necessarily a smooth one, even though it is a normal process of aging. Though not a disease, there can be health problems associated with menopause. For many women, symptoms of these hormonal changes occur intermittently for a number of years. Dr. Susan Love calls this period "puberty in reverse." Just as the hormonal highs and lows

178 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

of puberty brought sleepiness, acne, mood swings, and unpredictable menses, this end of the spectrum with its own hormonal fluctuations may bring hot flashes, insomnia, mood swings, acne, poor concentration and memory, and unpredictable menses again.

No two women's menopause transition is alike. Many women begin to experience an array of physical, mental, and emotional symptoms long before they meet the definition of menopause.

During perimenopause, several biological changes occur:

- The number of ovarian eggs (oocytes) reaches very low levels
- The menstrual cycle begins to vary, usually shortening from one menses to the next.
- The levels of FSH in the body increase. This rise is one of the first signs of an aging reproductive system. Health-care practitioners often measure FSH levels to determine if one's symptoms are related to menopause. There are two problems with this test, however: varying patterns of FSH may occur even in the same woman, and the FSH is often normal even in a perimenopausal woman.
- Ovarian production of estradiol, progesterone, and testosterone decreases with the onset of true menopause.
- Although hormone levels will eventually decrease, lower estrogen levels aren't experienced until six months to one year before true menopause. It's only in the last year of perimenopause that estrogen levels begin to decrease. Near menopause, estrogen levels rise very high and then drop very rapidly. Declining progesterone levels precede declining estrogen levels. Some of the perimenopause symptoms may in fact be due to lowered progesterone levels or a relative change in the relationship of estrogen to progesterone.
- Eventually, the lower levels of estrogen are no longer adequate to cause a buildup of the

uterine lining, and there is not enough tissue to produce a menses.

 The specific reason why menopause occurs is the ultimate loss of follicles in the ovaries. This leads to the loss of progesterone production and declining estrogen influence. This coincides with an increase in FSH and LH (luteinizing hormone).

The symptoms of decreased hormone levels and perimenopause are varied, unpredictable, and often go unrecognized as perimenopausal symptoms. The signs and symptoms of perimenopause can include menstrual irregularities, hot flashes, vaginal dryness and thinning, skin changes, fatigue, decreased libido, mood swings, depression, changes in memory and cognition, sleep disturbance, hair loss on the head, hair growth and acne on the face, heart palpitations, nausea, headaches, urinary tract infections, joint pains, and the beginning stages of osteoporosis and heart disease.

Menopausal Symptoms

The transition to menopause usually begins sometime in a woman's 40s. Symptoms tend to begin and increase over a span of months and can last about four to seven years. Seventy-five to 90 percent of women will have transient symptoms that resolve within this time period and stop without any treatment. Maybe 10 to 25 percent will have symptoms that persist. Vaginal dryness and thinning and problems related to this tend not to be transient and in fact tend to get worse with time.

The changes associated with menopause can be mild, moderate, or severe. Some women may have no significant menopausal symptoms, and others will have symptoms that are progressive and problematic for many years. The most common prevalent symptoms are vasomotor symptoms (hot flashes and night sweats), sleep disturbances, and vaginal dryness. A comprehensive list of symptoms includes the following:

- Decline in fertility (perimenopause)
- Irregular bleeding (perimenopause)
- Vasomotor symptoms
- Sleep disturbances
- Urinary problems (urinary leakage, urinary urgency, urinary frequency, infection, pelvic relaxation)
- Vulvovaginal changes (dryness, irritation, discomfort during sexual activity, discharge, itching, inflammation, infection)
- Headaches
- Mood swings
- Depression and anxiety
- Memory changes
- Sexual function effects
- Body aches
- Skin, mouth, eye dryness
- Fatigue

More rare symptoms might include voice impairment, shoulder problems, and sometimes strange, rare, and peculiar symptoms that don't seem to be related to anything else but are due to hormonal changes. These might include numbness and tingling sensations, dizziness, and nerve pain, to name a few.

Hot Flashes, Night Sweats. Hot flashes and night sweats in perimenopausal and menopausal women are often referred to clinically as vasomotor symptoms. The traditional vasomotor symptoms, commonly referred to as hot flashes and reported by about 85 percent of menopausal Western women, are related to the decline in ovarian function.8 Hot flashes are the most common symptom associated with the menopausal period and second to irregular menses during the perimenopausal period. We still do not understand the physiology of hot flashes, the mechanism of lowered estrogen levels and hot flashes, the average age of onset, triggers, duration, frequency, or why they are prominent in some cultures and absent in others. A few triggers may affect the frequency and/or severity of hot flashes in some women. Stress, hot or spicy foods, hot drinks, warm environments, alcohol, and caffeine are the most common triggers. Hot flashes are sudden, transient episodes ranging from just feeling warm or overheated to intense heat and perspiration. Women tend to describe a wavelike sensation over the body, particularly of the upper torso, face, and head. If the hot flashes occur at night and are associated with what can be drenching perspiration, they are called night sweats.

The number of women in the United States who are affected by hot flashes is remarkable. About 75 percent of women will experience hot flashes, and 15 percent are severely affected.⁹ The occurrence of hot flashes is highest in the first two years postmenopause, although information is scanty on the total time over which hot flashes are experienced. Women with surgically induced menopause often report particularly persistent, more intense, and more frequent hot flashes. It has been determined by one large study that for most women hot flashes last about 2 years, although some women experience them for 5 to 10 years.9 As many as 15 percent of women may still report hot flashes 16 years after menopause. Hot flash frequency is particularly variable and ranges anywhere from several episodes in a year to every hour throughout each day.

Not all cultures report the same incidence of hot flashes or other menopausal symptoms. For example, Japanese and Indonesian women report far fewer hot flashes than do women from Western societies.¹⁰ Mayan women in the Yucatan do not report any symptoms at menopause other than menstrual cycle irregularity.¹¹ Many researchers have attributed these differences to biological, psychological, social, and cultural factors.

The clearest explanation for hot flashes is that they appear to be the body's response to a sudden but transient downward resetting of the body's thermostat, which is located in the hypothalamus.¹² This temporary alteration of the set point would cause the sensation of intense heat and flushing. What we don't know is what triggers this event. A logical correlation between low estrogen levels and hot flashes exists. Estrogen levels have been found to be lower in premenopausal women with hot flashes than in those without hot flashes.¹³ However, not all studies are consistent, and some women never have hot flashes, while others have persistent ones, and yet others have them only sporadically. Prior to puberty, girls have low estrogen levels, but not hot flashes. Also, hot flashes are reported during pregnancy, when the estrogen level is high. Some researchers believe that hot flashes are due to an imbalance in beta-endorphins and other opiates in the brain that in turn may influence the temperature regulation center.¹⁴ Estrogen and progesterone may alter the activity of these naturally occurring opiates, and it is possible that lower levels of estrogen and progesterone cause a withdrawal of opioids, triggering a hot flash.

What may seem like a hot flash due to perimenopause or menopause may in rare cases be caused by another condition such as thyroid disease, epilepsy, infection, insulin-producing tumors, pheochromocytoma, carcinoid syndromes, leukemia, pancreatic tumors, autoimmune disorders, or allergic disorders.

Irregular Uterine Bleeding. In the transition phase of menopause, changes in the amount of flow and the frequency of the flow are the main signs of perimenopause. These changes and irregularities in the cycle are due to decreased frequency of ovulation and unpredictable fluctuating levels of the ovarian hormones, estrogen and progesterone. The menses can become lighter or heavier, bleeding for fewer days, even less than two, or more days than your usual length. The cycles can become shorter by at least a week, as well as longer than the pattern you have become accustomed to. At some point, most women will just skip one or more menstrual cycles. Basically, changes can occur any which way, and each woman will have to identify what is an irregular bleeding pattern for her.

Even though these hormonal changes are normal, the woman with abnormal uterine bleeding needs to be evaluated by a licensed health-care practitioner. Fortunately, in the vast majority of cases there is nothing serious, and the solutions are straightforward and effective. At times, the bleeding can become too chaotic, and, of course, there are other causes of abnormal bleeding other than perimenopause such as a uterine polyp, hypothyroid, uterine fibroids, and endometriosis, to name a few. Chapter 1, on abnormal bleeding, is an important chapter to read to help understand these distinctions. Normal menstrual blood loss is approximately 40 mL. Blood loss greater than 80 mL is considered heavy, especially if there are blood clots or if you become anemic. If the bleeding is prolonged, longer than seven days, and/or the cycle is now shorter than 21 days, and/or bleeding or spotting occurs between menses or after sexual activity, then these symptoms require investigation by a health-care practitioner and effective treatments.

Although perimenopausal women are at risk for endometrial hyperplasia (a thickening of the lining of the uterus), the majority with abnormal perimenopausal bleeding do not have hyperplasia. In postmenopausal women who bleed and who are not taking HRT, the bleeding is generally due to atrophy (thinning of the lining of the uterus). Any uterine bleeding that occurs after the actual menopause (12 consecutive months since the last menstrual period) should be reported to your practitioner. In women on HRT, abnormal bleeding can be due to too little estrogen, too much estrogen, too little progesterone, or too much progesterone. It is important to see your licensed health-care practitioner in order to determine the correct hormonal solution and also to determine if further testing with a pelvic ultrasound and/or uterine biopsy is necessary. These issues are discussed further in Chapter 1.

Fertility Changes. The decline in fertility during perimenopause is related to several factors, including that word we don't want to hear, "aging" of the ovaries and the uterus. Other specific

changes are going on as well: rising levels of folliclestimulating hormone (FSH) and changes in the feedback mechanism that regulates the menstrual cycle. This increase in FSH is a reflection of the lower number of follicles within the ovaries and the less viable quality of the follicles. Fewer follicles, poor quality, and irregular or lack of ovulation contribute to this decline in fertility. The blood level of FSH on day 3 of the menstrual cycle is a good indicator of infertility related to aging ovaries.

On the other hand, some women mistakenly think that if they are in their mid- to late 40s or early 50s, having some perimenopause symptoms, and haven't menstruated for a few months, they cannot become pregnant. On the contrary, unplanned pregnancies are common during this time period. If pregnancy is not desired, contraception must be used until you have not had a menses for 12 consecutive months, or until levels of FSH are consistently above 30 IU/L.

Insomnia/Sleep Disturbances. Sleep problems are especially common in perimenopausal women, increasing after age 40 and plateauing by age 50. Sleep problems also contribute to fatigue, poor concentration, low motivation, irritability, depression, and anxiety. Insomnia comes in many sizes and shapes, including difficulty falling asleep, difficulty staying asleep, restless sleep, and waking early and not being able to go back to sleep. These problems may last only a few days or a few weeks or become chronic with persistent problems more than three nights per week. The longer or more frequent the insomnia, the more it leads to poor coping skills, fatigue, and depression.

A primary problem for many women with hot flashes and nighttime sweats is sleep disruption. Some women are awakened during sleep due to a night sweat, but sleep disturbances are not always a result of hot flashes, and not all hot flashes disrupt sleep. Most nighttime hot flashes are associated with waking up, but almost half the time a waking episode is not associated with hot flashes. Sleep disturbances and early morning awakenings are also signs of depression and anxiety. These emotional changes are also associated with menopause for some women.

In addition to the direct influence of hormonal changes and hot flashes on insomnia, this time in a woman's life, quaintly called midlife, can also be a time of significant life changes and challenges. Job stress, relationship loss, child care, parent care, or medical problems can alter brain chemistry and sleep patterns. Insomnia can also be a result of sleep-related disordered breathing due to snoring or apnea, chronic pain such as arthritis or fibromyalgia, thyroid conditions, restless leg syndrome, asthma, or medications.

Mood Swings, Depression, and Anxiety. The psychological conditions associated with menopause have been a source of conflicting scientific data and controversy. Even though the relationship between menopause and depression has been extensively studied, the results have been inconsistent. Some studies have shown more frequent depressive moods among periand postmenopausal women compared to premenopausal women, while other studies have not. It may be that the psychosocial and cultural factors that influence variations in moods affect women more at the time of menopause.¹⁵

The Massachusetts Women's Health Study concluded that women who were depressed premenopausally had higher rates of depression in perimenopause; for the women who were not depressed during the premenopause years, the rate of depression was slightly increased during perimenopause and was highest for women who remained perimenopausal for at least 27 months.¹⁶ Researchers observed that the rate of depression begins to decrease as women move from peri- to postmenopause and is lowest for those women who have been postmenopausal for at least 27 months. These results show that depression is moderately associated with perimenopause and that the depression is transient and will decline about two years after menopause.

A 1997 study was able to demonstrate that depression and anxiety were higher in post- than in perimenopausal women,¹⁷ although not all studies confirm this. This study also showed that depression and anxiety scores were reduced to values below those of perimenopausal women when the women took hormone replacement therapy (HRT). Women who take estrogen alone seem to do best mood-wise, compared to women who take estrogen plus synthetic progestogens, called progestins.¹⁸

Mood changes may not be as prominent as depression or anxiety. Many women are plagued by irritability, melancholy, weepiness, short temper, feeling overwhelmed, and a lower tolerance of stressors. Up to 10 percent of perimenopausal women experience mood changes. Some of these mood changes are due to sleep deprivation with or without night sweats. In these circumstances, successful treatment for the moods requires treatment of the night sweats and/or insomnia.

Decreased Memory and Concentration. Trouble concentrating, planning, and learning new things and difficulty remembering names, words, or what you went into the kitchen to retrieve are common changes experienced by women in the menopause and menopause transition. Many of us experience some degree of change in memory and concentration and clarity of thinking as we age, but there are also specific cognitive changes that occur when estrogen, progesterone, and androgens are rapidly withdrawn from the system, most commonly shortterm memory loss. The relatively rapid transition from the menstruating/reproductive years to menopause appears to be a factor in these cognitive changes, and related to these hormonal declines, especially in estrogen. Estrogen affects numerous neurotransmitters in our brain, including acetylcholine, serotonin, noradrenalin, and dopamine. All of these have influences on concentration, learning, and memory. This is most dramatic after childbirth or after bilateral oophorectomy (both ovaries being removed). Short-term memory impairment is also a common cognitive change in women with natural menopause. Difficulty concentrating, difficulty with previously simple technical tasks, decrease in memory, and lack of mental clarity are typical states that can then be worsened by difficulty sleeping and sleep interruptions.

An evaluation of significant cognitive impairment may be necessary to assess for a thyroid imbalance, medication problems, overuse of sedatives or alcohol, and dementia. Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common cause of dementia and affects 1.5 to 3 times more women than men.¹⁹ For women on hormone therapy, adjustments in the dose may improve mental function.

Vaginal Dryness and Thinning. Vaginal dryness, vaginal thinning, and what is called atrophy are very common problems for menopausal women but usually do not become troublesome until several years after menopause. Estrogen is responsible for the thickened, elastic, lubricated tissue of the vagina and vulva (external genital area). When estrogen levels decline, the vulva loses its collagen, fat, and water-retaining ability. As a result, it becomes flattened, thin, and dry and loses tone. With estrogen loss, the vagina also shortens and narrows, and the vaginal walls become thinner, less elastic, and pale in color. Problems of vaginal dryness, vaginal discharge, and pain with vaginal sex are reported by two out of three women at the age of 75.20 The change that is usually noticed first is a feeling of dryness of the vagina. The cause is atrophy of the mucusproducing glands of the vaginal wall. With a loss in lubrication and a thinning of the tissue, the vagina is more prone to infections and mechanical injury from vaginal penetration. Small pinpoint bleeding, itching, and burning can result. Other tissue in the same area also becomes thin and atrophied. The urethral tissue (exit route for urine), the labia (the "lips" of the external genital

region), and the vaginal wall can all atrophy. These changes can result in increased bladder infections, involuntary loss of urine (incontinence), and prolapse of the bladder, rectum, or uterus. As the atrophy progresses, women may experience an increase in urinary urgency or difficulty holding the urine.

Urinary Problems. Urinary incontinence and recurring urinary tract infections become more common in postmenopausal women. Urinary incontinence (recurring involuntary leakage of urine) is common and affects from 10 to 30 percent of women between the ages of 50 and 64. Urge incontinence occurs when there is a sudden strong desire to urinate, and stress incontinence is urinary leakage with coughing, laughing, sneezing, or lifting. Stress incontinence is more common during perimenopause and does not tend to increase over time, whereas urge incontinence tends to increase with time.

Other urinary changes include increased urinary frequency, sudden urges to urinate even when the bladder is not full, frequent nighttime urination (nocturia), and increased frequency of urinary tract infections. As estrogen levels decline, the end of the urethra, where we urinate, becomes shorter, and this reduces our defense against the bacteria that cause urinary tract infections (UTI). Lower estrogen levels also cause our vagina, urethra, and bladder to become more alkaline, which also leaves these areas prone to infections. Vaginal estrogen therapy is an important option in restoring the acidic environment of the vagina and the bladder.

Changes in Sexual Response and Sex Drive. Changes in sexual response and libido are common throughout life, can be due to a host of influences, and tend to increase with aging. With an increasing number of menopausal women, an aging population, and an increased openness about the topic of sexuality, women are increasingly coming to their health-care practitioners wanting help in this area.

According to at least one large study, as many as 30 percent of women have low sexual desire, and about 50 percent of these feel distressed about it.²¹ Not all sexual problems come in the form of low desire. Female sexual disorder (FSD) is defined in four main categories: desire disorders, arousal disorder, orgasmic disorders, and pain disorders. Sexual desire disorders include hypoactive sexual desire disorder (HSDD), which is a recurrent consistent deficiency or absence of sexual thoughts, fantasies and/or interest in sexual activity, and sexual aversion disorder, a persistent or recurrent aversion to and/or avoidance of sexual contact with a partner. HSDD increases with age and is more common in women after age 60. In fact, it is thought that HSDD is more related to age than to menopause.^{22, 23} Sexual arousal disorder is defined as the inability to attain or maintain sexual excitement and a lack of response to sexual stimulation such as lubrication. Orgasmic disorder is difficult, delayed, or absent orgasm after adequate sexual stimulation and arousal. Sexual pain disorders include dyspareunia, genital pain associated with vaginal penetration; vaginismus, involuntary spasm of the musculature of the entrance to the vagina that interferes with penetration; and sexual pain related to sexual stimulation other than intercourse.

Numerous variables affect sexual function, including emotional and psychological factors, medical problems causing fatigue and/or pain, certain medications (see the following sidebar), and hormonal influences.

Testosterone is necessary for a normal sex drive in women and men, helping to determine desire, arousal, and sexual sensation. During perimenopause, estrogen levels are fluctuating but ultimately are declining, and testosterone production is also declining. The hormonal issues influencing sexual function in women aren't totally understood, but fluctuating testosterone levels have been associated with a decrease in libido (desire).^{24, 25} Most, but not all, sexual

Selected Medications That Can Affect Sexual Function

Reduction in Sexual Desire

Antipsychotics Barbiturates Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) Tricyclic antidepressants Beta blockers Digoxin Spironolactone Oral contraceptives Histamine H2-receptor blockers

Reduction in Arousal

Antihistamines Antihypertensives SSRIs Tricyclic antidepressants

Reduction in Orgasmic Response

Amphetamines Antipsychotics Narcotics SSRIs Trazodone Tricyclic antidepressants

problems in postmenopausal women are related to estrogen loss to the genitals. Decreased estrogen levels are responsible for most of the changes and decrease in lubrication during sexual arousal, vaginal tone, vaginal elasticity, and genital engorgement. This can manifest as a lack of adequate vaginal lubrication with sexual arousal, bleeding after vaginal sex, and pain with vaginal sex. Vaginal dryness is not only associated with painful vaginal sex, but also with a decrease in sexual desire.²⁶ It is not hard to understand why anticipation of painful sex would dampen one's desire for sex. With a loss of estrogen, relaxation of vaginal tissue and decreased muscle tone also occur, which leads to a decrease in sexual response.

A woman's total estrogen production decreases by 70 to 80 percent in menopause, while androgen production decreases by about 50 percent. If one has a surgical menopause, the plasma levels of testosterone are decreased significantly more than in women in natural menopause,²⁷ and this can result in an even greater incidence of sexual dysfunction than in women who went through a natural physiologic menopause.

Acne, Facial Hair, and Hair Loss. Many peri- and postmenopausal women have problems related to the change in the ratio of estrogen to testosterone. Even though both hormones have declined, there is a relative increase in testosterone because there is less estrogen to block its effects. In addition, women have individual sensitivities to androgens. Some women only react to very high levels, while others are especially sensitive to what are considered normal androgen levels. In addition, women have different kinds of receptor site and tissue sensitivity. Some will develop acne, some thinning hair, and some excess body and/or facial hair.

Excessive hair growth occurs in areas where hair follicles are the most androgen-sensitive. These include the face, chin, skin under the jawbone, upper lip, sideburn area, and cheeks. Other sensitive areas include the area below the belly button, the lateral pubic area, midline of the chest, around the nipple area, and the low back over the sacrum. Hirsutism (excess body hair) is most notably correlated with elevated free testosterone, but testosterone must be converted by an enzyme in the skin to be fully active in the skin. This enzyme is probably higher in women who have excess body and facial hair. These enzyme levels may change in postmenopausal women, or the hair follicle may become more sensitive to the activated testosterone in some postmenopausal women.

Hair thinning and hair loss are often traumatic for women and cause a great deal of anxiety. Androgenic alopecia (hair loss) is the most common alopecia in humans and is genetically determined. Androgens modulate hair growth. The follicle responds to the androgens and is dependent on the amount present and the presence and number of androgen receptors. The thinning of hair that can be seen in menopausal women is more likely to be diffuse but is most common on the top of the head (the vertex) and next most common at the crown. Some women have a receding hairline and thinning at the temples.

Weight Gain. One of the more troubling changes to women during the menopause transition is weight gain, which is often about five pounds. We don't understand very clearly if or how a drop in hormones, and if or how prescribing hormones, affects weight. What we do know is that aging itself and lifestyle are associated with weight gain. Lean body mass, muscle mass, and the metabolic rate decrease with age, which means we burn fewer calories. These changes, combined with being more sedentary as we age, can easily lead to weight gain. Hormonal changes in menopausal women are probably associated with an increase in insulin resistance, leading to increased fat storage, increased abdominal fat, and weight gain.

Headaches. Hormonal changes may play a role in headaches, especially in perimenopause and especially in women with migraine headaches. Migraine headaches tend to be worse on one side of the head and worse with light and noise, can be associated with nausea and vomiting, and tend to be moderate to severe. The hormonal changes associated with the menopause transition can increase the frequency and intensity of headaches, especially for those women who have a history of menstrual-related headaches. During times of more stable estrogen levels, such as during pregnancy, or once menopause has been reached, most women will experience a resolution of their headache patterns, especially migraine headaches.

Skin, Eye, and Dental Changes. We already talked about how hormone changes can be related to acne. Specifically, acne can be the effect of excess testosterone on the glandular secretions in the skin. Estrogen also has important functions in the skin. It determines the skin collagen, skin thickness, and texture. Collagen, a major protein in the skin, is dependent on estrogen, and 30 percent of skin collagen is lost during the first few years after menopause. As time goes on, more collagen is lost, resulting in increasing laxity of the skin, wrinkling, and loss of elasticity. The skin also becomes dry more easily.

A variety of changes occur in the eye relative to hormonal status. Postmenopausal women report dry eyes, burning, pressure, light and temperature sensitivity, blurring, tearing, eye fatigue, swollen eyelids, and a feeling of scratchiness. Dry eye syndrome can, oddly enough, cause excess tearing, and it appears to also be affected by drops in testosterone levels.

Fluctuations in hormones during perimenopause and lower levels in menopause are involved in inflammation of the gums, sensitivity of the teeth, tooth loss, and a burning sensation in the mouth and tongue. These symptoms may be a sign of more serious problems as well. Tooth loss may be associated with low bone density and osteoporosis. Burning sensations in the mouth can be a symptom of diabetes or anemia, and gum inflammation may be related to an increased risk of cardiovascular disease.

Heart Palpitations. A palpitation can feel like a rapid heart rate, missed heartbeats, or irregular heartbeats. Not all heart palpitations are related to a decrease in estrogen levels but may be a symptom of anxiety, panic disorder, fears, or depression. Fortunately, women in their 40s and early 50s, during the most common time of the menopause transition, are not likely to have a serious cardiac problem. Nonetheless, these symptoms should be evaluated, especially if they occur with exercise, are associated with shortness of breath or chest pain, or if you have a family history of early heart disease or heart attack (men less than age 50 and women less than age 60).

Joint Pains. Another symptom commonly reported during menopause is joint pain and/or body aches. This is not currently well understood, but it is likely there is a connection between hormones, immune function, and inflammation in the joints. Osteoarthritis, specifically, is a common joint disease that increases with age and affects women more than men.

Osteoporosis and Cardiovascular Disease. While the symptoms of hot flashes, mood swings, insomnia, sexual dysfunction, and the rest are annoying at best, and can significantly impact quality of life, the most significant changes associated with menopause are osteoporosis and cardiovascular disease. These conditions can dramatically alter and even shorten one's life. For a comprehensive discussion on osteoporosis, refer to Chapter 14, and for heart disease, refer to Chapter 9. Prevalence, risk factors, evaluation, and alternative and conventional approaches and treatments are covered in these chapters.

Menopause Evaluation

The onset of perimenopause is an important time for a comprehensive health and lifestyle evaluation. A thorough medical history, complete physical exam, and selected tests depending on your age, your symptoms, and other medical problems should be done by a licensed healthcare practitioner.

While it may seem surprising, there is no one test for menopause. Tests to determine ovarian function are not routinely done because the diagnosis of perimenopause or menopause is largely able to be made based on the medical history. Practitioners can use hormone testing on an individual basis, mostly to differentiate menopause from thyroid problems, abnormal causes of a lack of menses such as elevated prolactin levels, or premature ovarian failure (premature menopause). The follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) test is not as accurate as we would like, but if it is consistently elevated above 30 mIU/mL, a diagnosis of menopause can be established. The difficulty with FSH tests is that they can fluctuate immensely, especially in perimenopause. The other problem is that FSH tests are frequently normal in perimenopausal women. It can also be very difficult to use the FSH test if women are on hormonal contraceptives or hormone replacement therapy (HRT or HT).

There is a recent popular notion that saliva or serum testing can be done to determine estrogen, progesterone, and testosterone levels or individual estrogen levels including estriol, estrone, and estradiol. However, saliva testing has yet to be proven accurate for the testing of these hormones, although the FDA has approved saliva tests for cortisol and DHEA levels. I will focus my comments on blood serum testing.

For the perimenopausal woman, it is difficult to gather conclusions on test results when the hormones are in such a fluctuating state. There are so many peaks and valleys and so much erratic hormone activity that testing offers little value in most situations. For the women taking HRT, it is tempting to think that we could test the blood to determine what dose to take. This is a popular recommendation in some consumer menopause books. However, I would point out that there is no mathematical grid comparing values of estrogen or progesterone or of testosterone levels in the blood and how that would equate with a certain dose of the comparable hormone. There are reference ranges for these hormones, but practitioners don't know exactly what dose to give to keep a woman in the reference range. Women absorb and metabolize hormones differently. The form of hormones and the delivery method-oral, transdermal, sublingual, or injection-also behave differently from woman to woman. In selective cases, testing may be a helpful guide. These are generally cases in which a woman is on HRT and not doing well, and

despite the practitioner's best efforts with a good medical history and adjusting the dose, she still does not feel well. But clearly, the majority of the time, it requires the practitioner's experience and menopause expertise and time to listen to the patient to know what dose, what dosing adjustments, and what forms and deliveries of hormones may work best. Even if testing is done, the decision basically comes down to good clinical judgment and the willingness of the woman and her practitioner to try various approaches.

Testing can be done to facilitate assessing a woman's risk for diabetes, heart disease, and osteoporosis. Risk assessment for heart disease is discussed in Chapter 9 and for osteoporosis, Chapter 14. Diabetes risk assessment is a combination of history and physical exam, glucose screening, and lipid panel testing. Diabetes mellitus is diagnosed

KEY CONCEPTS

- Find a good menopause practitioner to work with. Seek the advice of practitioners who can inform you about the spectrum of options.
- Seek out an initial comprehensive evaluation.
- Managing menopause symptoms is distinct from prevention of significant diseases such as heart disease and osteoporosis.
- Attempt to determine individual risks for significant diseases—osteoporosis, heart disease, breast cancer, and diabetes.
- Hormone testing is not routinely recommended and offers limited help in knowing how to manage your menopause symptoms.
- Be well informed about the process of menopause.
- Be well informed about the spectrum of alternative and conventional treatment options.
- Realize that menopause and aging are processes that evolve over time.
- What you decide today is not permanent; you can change your treatment decisions based on your changing health, changes in medical understanding and research, and newly available treatment options.

when a fasting plasma glucose test is 126 mg/dL or greater on two or more occasions or the blood glucose is 200 mg/dL or greater two hours after a dose of glucose is ingested.

Other important situations also warrant testing and are discussed in the appropriate chapters in this book. To name a few, abnormal uterine bleeding may need thyroid blood tests, pelvic ultrasound, or endometrial biopsy. Urinary tract infections can be tested with urinalysis and urine cultures. Cervical cancer can be screened for with Pap smears. Breast cancer can be screened for with mammograms.

OVERVIEW OF Alternative treatments

The fundamental goals of an alternative approach to menopause are to provide relief from common menopausal symptoms and to prevent and/or treat osteoporosis, heart disease, and other diseases of aging. The goal is to do this with methods that do not increase the risk of lifethreatening diseases such as breast cancer, blood clots, and strokes.

In order to accomplish these fundamental goals, the menopausal woman and her practitioner must embrace an individualized approach. An alternative and comprehensive approach is distinct in that the evaluation of each woman lends a great deal of attention not only to individual symptoms, but also to her individual risks for future diseases. This requires a comprehensive health history; judicious use of tests to assess risks for osteoporosis and heart disease; an appreciation of risk factors for breast cancer, diabetes, and Alzheimer's disease; a willingness to individualize the treatment very carefully; and an ability to utilize the whole spectrum of interventions, including diet, exercise, stress management, nutritional supplements, herbal therapies, all available hormone options, and prescription and over-thecounter pharmaceuticals.

Although more and more conventional HRT regimens are becoming available and new non-

hormonal drugs are being developed, a practitioner who has an understanding of the whole spectrum of options from the most natural to the most conventional is in the ideal position to properly advise and prescribe a customized optimal treatment and prevention plan. A licensed naturopathic physician is currently the only primary health-care provider trained in all these options, although he or she may have to refer for some selected expertise in osteoporosis, heart disease, gynecology, or endocrinology. In the past, conventional medicine largely approached the situation as "HRT for all and forever." Since 2002 and the first Women's Health Initiative research results,28 women and many of their doctors abandoned HRT almost overnight.

At the other extreme is an absolute fear and bias against using HRT for any reason or for any amount of time. The use of nonhormonal natural therapies has thrived in this environment, both in the form of women treating themselves and for those seeking advice from licensed alternative practitioners. In either case, caution should be exercised in presuming that just treating the symptoms of menopause is adequate. Keep in mind our fundamental goals: symptom relief, disease prevention, and disease treatment. While there are many effective nonprescription natural therapies for symptom relief, this does not adequately address greater long-term concerns such as bone density, blood pressure, cholesterol levels, breast health, or vaginal tissue health. The identification of disease risks may not be very important in the early perimenopausal years, but it acquires increasing importance as the postmenopause years accumulate. This is why I recommend that women seek the advice of a licensed naturopathic physician with a strong experience in women's health, and menopause in particular.

In this section on natural medicine, we will focus on symptom relief. See the chapters on heart disease and osteoporosis for prevention and treatment of those diseases.

The Naturopathic Approach

In the naturopathic approach to menopause, therapeutic intervention is determined following a comprehensive assessment of symptom severity and scope and an evaluation of risk factors for osteoporosis, heart disease, Alzheimer's, diabetes, and breast cancer. A determination of low, medium, or high risk, especially for osteoporosis and heart disease, is especially directive in providing choices regarding alternative and/or conventional therapies. Once the symptoms have been pinpointed and the risks have been assessed, then treatments are recommended. Treatment considerations include a spectrum of options. The seven treatment categories are:

- 1. Diet, exercise, lifestyle, and stress management
- 2. Nutritional supplementation
- 3. Botanical supplementation
- 4. Compounded bio-identical hormones
- 5. "Friendlier" conventional HRT
- 6. "Less friendly" conventional HRT
- 7. Nonhormonal prescription medications

You may be surprised to see the inclusion of conventional hormone replacement therapy in my list of options. Choosing to use hormones, whether compounded bio-identical or conventional pharmaceutical preparations, is a matter of weighing the benefits and the risks. Hormonal therapies should be utilized in the lowest dose, shortest duration, and safest way possible that meets the goals that have been identified. These issues are addressed in the section on hormones.

Diet/exercise/lifestyle and/or nutritional supplements and/or botanical therapies will be effective for the management of menopause symptoms in the majority of women. When these are not adequate, individualized formulations of bioidentical hormone options should be used. If these are not adequate, then "friendlier" hormone therapy (also bio-identical) is preferred over "less friendly" (synthetic and semisynthetic and not bio-identical) HRT. (The distinctions between the different kinds of hormones are discussed in the hormone section.) Determining the treatment approach is a combination of subjective and objective findings resulting from the medical history, physical exam, any lab or diagnostic imaging tests, and the personal perspective and values of each woman. The specifics of these options and therapies will be expanded on as we discuss nutrition, exercise, nutritional supplementation, botanicals, bio-identical hormones, conventional HRT, and nonhormonal drugs.

Nutrition

An alternative approach to menopause isn't complete without proper nutrition. This includes general considerations such as a diet rich in whole natural and unprocessed foods, with an emphasis on fruits, vegetables, whole grains, beans, seeds, nuts, and healthy fats, and low in saturated fats, fried foods, white flour, alcohol, sugar, and salt.

The Value of Soy. One of the important dietary recommendations for all menopausal women may be to increase foods that are high in phytoestrogens, although their benefits may be more for preventing osteoporosis, heart disease, and even breast cancer than for the relief of menopause symptoms such as hot flashes.

A large number of plants, especially legumes, contain compounds called phytoestrogens. Phytoestrogens are mainly, but not exclusively, nonsteroidal in structure and are either of plant origin or derived from the body's metabolism of precursors present in dietary components. The most important dietary phytoestrogens are the phenolic phytoestrogens, which include the isoflavones and the lignans. Soybeans are the richest food source of isoflavones, containing 1 to 2 mg of isoflavones per gram of soy protein. The two main isoflavones of soy are genistein and daidzein. Isoflavones have a unique ability to weakly bind to estrogen receptors in the body and seem to have both a weak estrogen effect as well as an antiestrogen effect, depending on the tissue involved and the dose consumed.

There are hundreds of studies on sov and dozens on hot flashes, some showing effect and others not, making it difficult to make conclusions. For now, I'd like to pass on the results of two systematic reviews of isoflavones and menopausal symptoms and one consensus opinion from the North American Menopause Society that offer a good summary of the research. The first systematic study was a review of the literature for the randomized controlled clinical trials on soy and perimenopausal symptoms.²⁹ Ten trials were evaluated, and only four were positive and showed benefit for perimenopausal symptoms. There were no serious safety concerns with soy products for the treatment periods, which were up to six months. In the second systematic review, 25 trials involving approximately 2,300 women met the study criteria.³⁰ Soy and red clover isoflavones were evaluated in this review, including soy foods, beverages, or powders; soy extracts; and red clover extracts, for a total of 25 studies. Only one soy food trial and two soy extract trials showed the ability to reduce hot flushes.

The final report comes from a consensus opinion of the North American Menopause Society,31 which acknowledges that some data does support the efficacy of isoflavones in reducing the incidence and severity of hot flashes but that many studies have not found any difference. It also concluded that there was not adequate data to evaluate the effect of isoflavones on breast and other cancers, bone mass, and vaginal dryness but that there were convincing health benefits of isoflavones and lipids in reducing low-density lipoproteins and triglycerides and increasing high-density lipoproteins. Perhaps the best evidence that soy lowers cholesterol comes from a review of 38 scientific studies. This meta-analysis concluded that consumption of soy protein rather than animal protein significantly decreased serum concentrations of total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, and triglycerides.32

In terms of menopause symptoms and hot flashes in particular, I'm sure the three reviews are disappointing news for advocates of soy. It's important to appreciate, though, that statistical significance is not the same as clinical significance for any one person. For some women, and this has been borne out in some studies, soy protein and soy isoflavones can be helpful in reducing the frequency and severity of hot flashes. For the specifics in regard to bone effects and cardiovascular effects, please refer to the osteoporosis and heart disease chapters.

If you choose to increase soy foods or take soy beverages, powders, or supplements, a word about dosages and addressing some of the highly publicized controversies about soy is important. A reasonable approach would be to ingest a daily level of isoflavones that does not exceed the amount consumed in ethnic diets that contain high amounts of isoflavones. From a review of those diets, it appears that this amount is somewhere between 50 to 150 mg of isoflavones per day for adults. The isoflavone content of soy foods varies with the form. A listing of the isoflavone content of some of these soy foods will offer some help in calculating your daily intake (see Table 12.1).

There have been some controversies about soy, and based on the actual research, these negative comments and concerns about soy are in some cases incorrect and in other cases highly exaggerated. Some have pointed out problems with thyroid function, inhibition of mineral and protein absorption, and concerns about hormonal effects.

Some of the controversy about soy lies not only in its ability to bind to estrogen receptors but in its content of phytates and trypsin inhibitors, interference with thyroid function, and difficult digestibility for some individuals. Soy foods, especially cooked soybeans, are difficult for some people to digest, causing gas and stomach upset. Soy's content of trypsin inhibitors can block the enzymes needed for protein digestion. When the protein is improperly digested, fermentation and gas production ensues. However, many researchers believe that so few trypsin inhibitors are left behind after processing the soy food that for most people, their digestion is not affected.

The phytate content in soybeans has been another cause for concern with soy foods. Phytates are compounds found in grains and legumes that can compete with the uptake of minerals such as calcium, magnesium, iron, and zinc. Although the phytate content of soybeans is higher than that of other grains or legumes, the mineral-blocking effect of phytates is reduced

Table 12.1 Isoflavone Content of Soybeans		
Soy Food	Amount	Isoflavones (mg)
Textured soy protein gra	nules ¹ ⁄ ₄ cup	62
Roasted soy nuts	1⁄4 cup	60
Tofu, low-fat and regula	r ¹ /2 cup	35
Tempeh	1⁄2 cup	35
Soy beverage powders	1–2 scoops	20–50 (varies with manufacturer)
Regular soy milk	1 cup	30
Low-fat soy milk	1 cup	20
Roasted soy butter	2 tbs	17
Cooked soybeans	1⁄2 cup	35

when eaten with meat or fish. If you eat soy products in the context of a healthy, varied diet, you should get adequate minerals. Phytates are also reduced in fermented products such as tempeh and miso.

The genistein and daidzein in soy can also inhibit thyroid hormone synthesis. Highsoybean diets have been implicated in dietinduced goiter. This problem is not likely to occur with an average amount of soy in the diet and again in the context of a healthy, varied diet, especially a diet that is adequate in iodine, which is now mostly the case in this country. In some susceptible individuals, or in some who take very high doses of nutritional supplementation of soy isoflavones (above 200 mg per day) or have an extreme diet low in other nutrients and high in soy, it is prudent to be aware of potential but extremely rare problems with soy ingestion.

One of the greatest fears for women contemplating menopause treatment options is the concern about estrogen replacement therapy and breast cancer. Although we will be addressing this in the hormone and conventional medicine sections of this chapter, there are several lines of evidence and logic that support the conclusion that not only is soy safe, but there is actually a relationship between increased soy intake and breast cancer prevention. Several studies concluded that Asian women who consume a traditional low-fat, high-soy diet have a four- to sixfold lower risk of developing breast cancer.33 The constituents in soy are remarkable in their activities against a variety of cancers via several different mechanisms. Dietary phytoestrogens also inhibit cancer cell growth by competing with estradiol for the type II estrogen binding sites.34 Even more convincing evidence for the breast cancer protection benefit of soy comes from animal studies.³⁵ Soy supplementation has reduced the number and size of tumors induced with a carcinogenic substance.

The most comprehensive review of the literature on soy and its effects on the breast comes from a paper citing over 280 references.36 In reviewing animal, laboratory, and human studies, the study's authors conclude that while there is some conflicting data as to whether soy is protective against breast cancer or is safe or harmful for breast cancer patients, it is clear from reading this research that the data significantly favors safety and even protection if consumed from a young age. The authors concluded that moderation in intake is probably wise and should mimic the Asian soy intake of one to two servings per day. Doubts as to the significance of the breast cancer protective effects of soy and the safety of soy will remain until there has been a prospective study on soy comparing women on a high-soy diet with women on a low-soy diet over the span of many years with identical risk factors in other areas. One specific word of caution to breast cancer patients undergoing treatment with tamoxifen: until it has been determined if soy is beneficial in addition to tamoxifen or if it interferes with tamoxifen, I would recommend against daily soy ingestion while on tamoxifen.

For the most part and in most individuals, soy foods will not interfere with thyroid function, protein digestion, or the uptake of minerals, and they are more associated with reducing the risk of hormone-dependent cancers than with increasing it. Any potential negatives with soy are not likely to occur with one to two servings of soy foods daily, with adequate iodine in the diet, using soy in the context of a healthy, varied diet and focusing on organic sources. Organically grown soybeans are grown without pesticides and are not from genetically modified seeds. This is an important issue for soy foods in particular, as genetically modified soy crops have increasingly dominated in the agriculture business. Fortunately, there are farmers and manufacturers who are committed to raising and producing organic soy products.

The optimal use of soy would be to start early in life and eat a diverse array of soy foods with a total dietary intake of 50 to 150 mg of soy isoflavones per day. If you don't like soy foods, take a high-quality soy protein powder or capsule.

Flaxseed. Another significant dietary source of phytoestrogens to consider is flaxseed. Flaxseed contains lignans, two of which, matairesinol and secoisolariciresinol, are known to have estrogenic activity. Other lignans are modified by intestinal bacteria to form estrogenic compounds. Lignans from plants such as flaxseed are absorbed in the circulation and have both estrogenic and antiestrogenic activity³⁷ much like soy, although to a lesser degree.

Flaxseed flour and its defatted meal (flaxseed meal) are the highest plant producers of lignans. The lignan content of flaxseed meal is 75 times higher than that of seaweeds (the second highest lignan-containing group) and 804 times higher than that of fruits (the lowest lignan-containing group).³⁷

The evidence that lignans can reduce the risk for cancer is still unclear, although the biologic properties of lignans and data from various cultures suggest that they do. Many lignans have antitumor, antioxidant, weak estrogenic, and antiestrogenic characteristics.^{38–42} Adding to the evidence, urinary excretion of lignans has been found to be lower in nonvegetarians and in postmenopausal women with breast cancer as compared with healthy women.^{43–45}

Foods for Bone Health. Several dietary factors affect bone health and are involved in the development of osteoporosis: insufficient calcium intake, vitamin D deficiency, low calcium and high phosphorus intake, low fatty acid intake, insufficient dark leafy greens, a high-protein diet, excess salt intake, and excess alcohol. See Chapter 14 for dietary and lifestyle factors, supplements, herbs, hormones, and other conventional medications for prevention and treatment of bone loss.

Foods for Heart Health. Heart disease is the other major concern in the postmenopausal years. The prevention of heart disease is largely determined by diet and lifestyle. Women who make the

Dietary Recommendations

Reduce saturated fats (cheese, butter, beef, pork). Avoid trans fats (deep fried foods, margarine, partially hydrogenated oils). Reduce refined grains and flours, sugar, and salt. Use only a modest amount of low-fat dairy products. Increase fruits, vegetables, legumes (especially soy), whole grains, nuts and seeds, olive oil, and coldwater fish (salmon, tuna, mackerel, herring, halibut, and sardines).

necessary dietary changes have a significant advantage in being able to age healthfully and reduce the risk of heart disease. Lowering the level of trans fats and saturated fats while increasing omega-3 fats and monounsaturated fats from olive oil are keys to a nutritional preventive approach to heart disease. Diets that are high in cholesterol and saturated fats (beef, pork, lamb, butter, cheese, palm oil, and coconut oil) contribute to poor fat ratios and elevated cholesterol. Even though total fat intake should be reduced, switching from saturated fats to vegetable oils will lower total cholesterol levels. Olive oil is your best choice for salads and cooking.

Increasing fiber in the diet with whole grains, fruits, vegetables, and legumes is the optimal high-fiber diet. Soluble fiber such as the pectin in apples or oat bran has the most consistent beneficial effect on cholesterol levels.⁴⁶ Specific fruits or vegetables can also have a positive effect on blood levels of fat. Raw carrots, for example, may have a more potent effect in lowering cholesterol than oat products.⁴⁷ People with a low intake of fruits and vegetables have an increased risk for heart disease.⁴⁸ See Chapter 9 for dietary and lifestyle factors, supplements, herbs, hormones, and other conventional medications for prevention and treatment of heart disease.

Nutritional Supplements

Following are the nutritional supplements that are used to treat some of the symptoms of menopause. For an in-depth look at some of the nutritional
supplements used to treat and prevent heart disease and osteoporosis, consult Chapters 9 and 14.

Bioflavonoids. Bioflavonoids, such as rutin, hesperidin, and quercetin, are usually known for their antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties and their ability to strengthen capillaries. Some evidence exists to show that giving bioflavonoids in combination with vitamin C will help to relieve menopausal hot flashes.⁴⁹

Bioflavonoids

1,000 mg per day plus 1,000-1,500 mg vitamin C

Vitamin B₆. Vitamin B₆, or pyridoxine, plays a critical role in the manufacture of serotonin as well as other amino acid neurotransmitters. Vitamin B₆ levels are typically quite low in depressed patients, especially women taking birth control pills or conjugated equine estrogens (Premarin).^{50–52} An insufficiency of vitamin B₆ may also cause insomnia and irritability. Since depression, insomnia, and irritability are typical menopausal symptoms, this vitamin may be a helpful addition to a supplement program.

Vitamin B₆

50-200 mg per day

Warning: chronic intake of dosages greater than 200 mg per day can be toxic over a period of many months or years.

Evening Primrose Oil. Currently, natural products for menopause often include evening primrose oil (EPO) because it has a reputation for alleviating vasomotor symptoms such as hot flashes. However, a study on the effects of gamma linolenic acid (GLA) from evening primrose oil found it to offer no benefit over placebo in treating menopausal flushing.⁵³

Cyclic breast pain is a common symptom in menstruating women before their period. In perimenopausal women, this symptom can be exacerbated or can occur in women who have not had the problem in the past. Results of research and clinical trials have consistently shown that EPO is effective in relieving breast pain and premenstrual cyclic breast pain.^{54–56} (See Chapter 7 for more information about this and other treatments for painful and lumpy breasts.)

Evening Primrose Oil

1,500-3,000 mg per day

Gamma-Oryzanol. Gamma-oryzanol is a substance found in grains and is isolated from rice bran oil. This ferulic acid compound is present in rice, wheat, barley, oats, tomatoes, asparagus, olives, berries, peas, citrus fruits, and other foods. The concentrations are higher in whole grains than in refined grains and flours.

Gamma-oryzanol was initially shown to be effective in relieving menopausal hot flashes in the early 1960s,⁵⁷ and at least one additional study has confirmed that finding.⁵⁸ The typical dosage of gamma-oryzanol is 100 mg three times daily.

Gamma-Oryzanol

100 mg 3 times per day

Vitamin E. The considerable reputation of vitamin E as a remedy for hot flashes comes from studies done as far back as 1945.59-62 The problem is that vitamin E has received very little scientific attention for this use since those early studies. Only recently has there been renewed research interest, largely born of the need to provide menopausal breast cancer patients with safe and effective medicines for symptom relief.63 Patients received four weeks of vitamin E (800 IU per day), then four weeks of an identical placebo, or vice versa. Hot flash frequency decreased by 25 percent in the vitamin E group and 22 percent in the placebo group. Although this is considered a statistically significant difference, the clinical impact of this reduction was marginal, and the patients did not particularly show a preference for vitamin E over placebo.

194 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

Vitamin E 400–800 IU per day

Botanical Medicines

Phytoestrogens. As discussed in the nutrition section, phytoestrogens are plant-derived substances that are able to activate the estrogen receptors in mammals. They are mainly, but not exclusively, nonsteroidal in structure and are either of plant origin or derived by the body's metabolism of precursors present in dietary components. Phytoestrogens are present in virtually every plant in varying amounts.

Phytoestrogens are capable of exerting weak estrogenic effects in some parts of the body, and they also have antiestrogenic effects due to their ability to occupy estrogen receptor sites and block the estrogen produced by our own bodies from binding. Since the phytoestrogens are so much weaker than the body's estrogen, the net effect is significantly less estrogenic stimulation in the target organ.

Phytoestrogens are found in many medicinal herbs with a historical use in conditions that are now treated by estrogens. The weak estrogenic effects of phytoestrogen-containing herbs can provide some benefit in relieving menopause symptoms. One advantage of phytoestrogens is that they have not been associated with increasing the risk of breast cancer. In fact, epidemiologic data and experimental studies in animals have demonstrated that phytoestrogens are extremely effective in inhibiting mammary tumors, not only because they occupy estrogen receptors but also through other unrelated anticancer mechanisms.^{64, 65}

The common phytoestrogen compounds, the isoflavones, have a similar structure to the body's sex hormones. They have the ability to bind to estrogen receptors on human cells, and in women they have a preference for binding to the beta form of the estrogen receptor. As a result, they preferentially express estrogenic effects in the central nervous system, blood vessels, bone, and skin without causing stimulation of the breast or uterus, at least in typical doses.⁶⁶

Dong Quai (Angelica Sinensis). Dong quai, also known as tang-kuei, dang-gui, and Chinese angelica, is an aromatic herb widely used throughout Asia. In Asia, dong quai is to women's health what ginseng is to men's. It has predominantly been used as a female remedy to treat menopausal hot flashes, menstrual cramps, lack of menstruation, or frequent menstruation and to promote a healthy pregnancy and easy delivery. The coumarins in dong quai are found largely in the root. The potential estrogen-like activity of dong quai has been assumed because of its observed traditional uses and clinical effects, and evidence includes its ability to cause an initial increase in uterine contraction, followed by relaxation67 and its effect in increasing uterine weight when given to mice.68 These observations may be a partial explanation as to why dong quai may be useful in menopause, although clearly there is some benefit at least for issues related to missed menses or frequent menstruation.

In a 12-week study conducted by Kaiser Permanente, using dong quai as a solo agent for the relief of menopausal symptoms such as hot flashes and sweats did not prove to be effective.⁶⁹ More research is needed on use of dong quai in combination with other herbal preparations.

Dong quai may increase the flow of a period or bring on a menses. In a perimenopausal woman who is either already having heavy flow problems or may have missed a menses for several months, this may be alarming. In this case, dong quai is probably not the best herbal choice for your menopausal symptoms.

Dong Quai

Tincture: 1/2-1 tsp 1-3 times per day

Dry herb used in combination with other herbs in capsule form *or*

Ginkgo (Ginkgo Biloba). Ginkgo is the world's oldest living species of tree with fossil records as old as 200 million years. The leaves of young, cultivated trees are used in modern herbal preparations. Two groups of active constituentsthe terpene lactones and the ginkgo flavone glycosides-are the most critical compounds of standardized herbal products. Many forms and methods of preparation of ginkgo are available, although a high quality of Ginkgo biloba extract is typically standardized to 24 percent ginkgo flavone glycosides and 6 percent terpene lactones. The actions of these constituents include improving blood flow to the brain⁷⁰ and to the hands and feet.71, 72 Although ginkgo extract has not been specifically studied in menopausal women with memory or cognition problems, it has been used to improve memory.

Clinical studies have demonstrated the efficacy of Ginkgo biloba extract (GBE) for the treatment of memory loss, depression, and disorientation associated with cerebrovascular insufficiency in geriatric patients.73-75 Two studies have shown gingko to be effective for patients with mild to moderate primary dementia of the Alzheimer's type or multiinfarct dementia.76,77 Patients who received ginkgo showed memory and attention improvements and significant improvement in cognitive function tests and depression. Relative differences for dementia were not observed. I think it is important to include ginkgo for menopausal women because changes in mental clarity, memory, and concentration are common, and it may be that ginkgo will have an increasing role in improving these symptoms for this group of women.

Another commonly reported change in periand postmenopausal women is a drop in their sex drive. Extract of ginkgo appears to be remarkably effective in reversing antidepressant-induced sexual dysfunction in women as well as men.⁷⁸ Although the sexual dysfunction in this study was drug-induced rather than the result of changing hormones, I recommend trying this safe and simple approach.

Ginkgo Biloba

40–80 mg standardized extract capsules or 1/2-1 tsp tincture 3 times per day

Ginseng (*Panax Ginseng*). There are many types and grades of ginseng and ginseng extracts that include related species. *Panax ginseng*, also known as Korean or Chinese ginseng, is the most widely used. A standardized extract of ginseng has been shown to improve depression and wellbeing in 384 postmenopausal women.⁷⁹ Another randomized controlled trial found that one month of Korean red ginseng increased energy and decreased insomnia and depression.⁸⁰

Historically, ginseng has been used as a "tonic for invigoration and fortification in times of fatigue and debility and for declining capacity for work and concentration."⁸¹ Ginseng can help in reducing mental or physical fatigue,^{82–85} enhancing the ability to cope with physical and mental stressors by supporting the adrenal glands,⁸⁶ or treating the atrophic vaginal changes due to lack of estrogen.⁸⁷

Panax Ginseng

Standardized extract capsules: 200 mg 5% ginsenosides or 100 mg 10% saponin ginsenoside per day High-quality root: 4–6 g per day

Licorice (*Glycyrrhiza Glabra*). The major active constituent in licorice root is glycyrrhizin. Much of the attention on licorice root has centered on its anti-inflammatory, antibacterial, antiviral, and expectorant (promotion of the elimination of mucus from the lungs or bronchi) properties, but for menopausal symptom relief we are more interested in the estrogenic activity of some of its phytoestrogen components, including beta-sitosterol, formononetin, coumarin, and others, in particular beta-sitosterol, which is ¹/400th as active as estradiol.⁸⁸ However, the glycoside of glycyrrehetinic acid has been shown to have an antiestrogen activity, inhibiting the effect

196 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

of estradiol on uterine growth in ovariectomized animals.⁸⁹ It may be that licorice has both hormone and antihormone effects, or it may in fact lower estrogen levels while simultaneously raising progesterone levels. This creates some confusion in thinking about why and when to take it, and at this time we cannot really clear up the confusion because there is insufficient research to account for the use of licorice as a single menopausal herb. Licorice may, however, be used in combination with other herbs as part of an effective formulation for symptom relief.

Licorice

Dry form used in combination with other herbs in capsules *or* Tincture: ½–1 tsp 1–3 times per day

Red Clover (*Trifolium Praetense*). Red clover, a member of the legume family, has been used worldwide as a source of hay for cattle, horses, and sheep, and the leaves and young sprouts have been used by humans as a source of protein. Historically, it has also been recognized as a medicinal plant for humans and, more recently, as a menopausal herb.

At least six clinical trials have been conducted on the effect of red clover isoflavones on vasomotor symptoms. Three show benefit, and three do not. The first two published studies on red clover and vasomotor symptoms showed no statistically significant difference between the red clover standardized extract and the placebo.^{90, 91} Two other studies showed positive results in reducing hot flashes.^{92, 93} The two most recent studies continue the contradictions. In a 2002 study, 80 mg of isoflavones per day resulted in a significant reduction in hot flashes as compared to baseline.94 Another recent study, called the ICE study, compared two different doses of red clover isoflavones with placebo. The reductions in the mean daily hot flash count at 12 weeks were similar for groups receiving 82 mg of isoflavones, 57 mg, and the placebo. However, in comparison

with the placebo group, the hot flashes were reduced more rapidly in the group receiving 82 mg of isoflavones.⁹⁵

Other effects of red clover also have implication in menopausal women. One published study showed that red clover isoflavones may reduce the risk of coronary vascular disease by increasing arterial elasticity, although it did not improve cholesterol levels.⁹⁶ Red clover isoflavones may also slow bone loss of the spine.⁹⁷

There have been no significant adverse or intolerant reactions with red clover, no significant change in blood parameters used to measure toxicity, and no evidence of uterine bleeding or increased endometrial thickness. In fact, an 80 mg red clover extract did not increase the thickness of the lining of the uterus in postmenopausal women, despite its high content of phytoestrogens.⁹⁸

I cannot offer women who have a history of breast cancer the same degree of reassurance about using red clover as I can with black cohosh. I do not consider it definitely contraindicated, because in fact red clover has a rich history in herbal medicine as a treatment for cancers of all kinds. One can see the logic of its use in cancer because of its genistein and daidzein constituents, both known inhibitors of tumor growth and cancer cell division. However, the results of an experiment that compared the relative effects of several different herbs on estrogen-receptor positive breast cancer cells in vitro raised concern.99 Surprisingly, the breast cancer cells in the laboratory responded the same to red clover as they did to estradiol. The question of safety or concern with using red clover extracts in postmenopausal women with a history of estrogen receptor positive breast cancer remains unanswered.

Red Clover

Standardized extract of 40 mg total isoflavones, 1 tablet 1–2 times per day *or* Dry herb capsule (500 mg): 1 per day

Nonphytoestrogen Herbs

Black Cohosh (Cimicifuga Racemosa). Black cohosh, Actaea racemosa or Cimicifuga racemosa, is a member of the buttercup family and is used for a variety of women's health conditions. In the last 25 years, it has emerged as the most studied of the herbal alternatives to hormone replacement therapy for menopause symptoms. Since the 1980s and up through 2005, numerous studies, including several randomized controlled trials, have been carried out using a standardized extract of black cohosh, with encouraging but mixed results.100-106 In one of the largest studies, 629 women with menopausal complaints received a liquid standardized extract of black cohosh at 40 drops twice per day for six to eight weeks. As early as four weeks after beginning the therapy, a clear improvement in the menopausal ailments was seen in approximately 80 percent of the women. After six to eight weeks, complete disappearance of symptoms occurred in approximately 50 percent.¹⁰⁷

In 2006, one study using a standardized extract of black cohosh seemed to indicate beneficial effects on bone metabolism by stimulating bone-building cells and a weak effect on maturation of vaginal cells,¹⁰⁸ and another showed no effect on menopausal symptoms.¹⁰⁹

In a third study, the Herbal Alternatives for Menopause (HALT) Study, five groups were studied: black cohosh (160 mg/daily), a multibotanical herbal formula including black cohosh, a multibotanical formula plus dietary soy, conjugated equine estrogen (0.625 mg/daily), and placebo.¹¹⁰ Hot flash frequency and intensity did not differ between the herbal interventions and placebo at 3, 6, or 12 months with one exception. At 12 months, symptom intensity was significantly worse in the group that received the multibotanical formula plus dietary soy versus the placebo group. The unfortunate news here is that black cohosh extract, in a higher dose than is generally used in clinical practice, did not show benefit in the relief of hot flashes.

In a double-blind, randomized, placebocontrolled study, a combination of black cohosh and Saint John's wort was studied.¹¹¹ The Saint John's wort plus black cohosh group was significantly superior to the placebo group on scales measuring menopause symptoms and depression.

The average recommended dose of the standardized extract of black cohosh is 40 to 80 mg per day. The clinical studies performed prior to 1996 used doses of 40 to 140 mg of standardized extract. Although there is still some confusion about which dose of black cohosh may be most effective, the dosage used in most clinical trials to date is 20 to 40 mg of the standardized extract twice daily.

Despite the two negative studies in 2006, the collective study findings and clinical anecdotal evidence on black cohosh teach us that it is effective for menopause symptoms of hot flashes, mood swings, sleep disorders, and body aches.

Left unanswered is, how does black cohosh work? Early studies found it to have estrogenic activity,¹¹² whereas other studies in the last few years have demonstrated no phytoestrogens in black cohosh and no estrogen-like effects on LH or FSH. In addition, prolactin levels, estradiol, and endometrial thickness were not affected by black cohosh.^{113, 114} Most recently, scientists from the University of Illinois have reported that constituents in black cohosh bind to opiate receptors and activate responses, including core temperature regulation.¹¹⁵ At the moment, the mechanism of action is not clear, although some have postulated an effect on serotonin levels.

Over these same 25 years, safety and toxicity studies have also been conducted on black cohosh, and it has been subjected to increased scrutiny, as has hormone replacement therapy. Two areas that receive the most attention are whether black cohosh is safe in breast cancer patients and if there are any adverse effects on liver function.

We don't know with certainty that black cohosh is safe to use in breast cancer patients, but

we have compelling safety data that offers much reassurance. There are two recent excellent reviews of the literature on the safety of black cohosh.^{116,} ¹¹⁷ The more comprehensive Low Dog paper addresses safety in special populations, such as breast cancer survivors. Recent studies find that there is no estrogenic action of black cohosh, that it does not effect serum levels of estradiol, LH, FSH, and prolactin.113, 114 In addition, in vitro studies have shown that black cohosh did not cause increase in proliferation of estrogen receptor positive breast cancer cells, and it had an additive effect of inhibiting proliferation when given with the antiestrogen drug tamoxifen.^{118–120} A very recent study demonstrates that black cohosh inhibits the growth of human breast cancer cells.99

The other area that has received a lot of attention in the last two years is whether black cohosh has adverse effects on liver function. Reports and human clinical trials including more than 2,800 patients demonstrate the low incidence of adverse events associated with black cohosh. The World Health Organization (WHO) Collaborating Center for International Drug Monitoring database of adverse reactions to pharmaceutical and herbal products revealed a total of 35 adverse reactions to black cohosh as of July 31, 2000. The reactions were primarily general and temporary symptoms and were not concentrated on a particular organ system. This list did include one case of liver failure, one case of hepatitis, and one case of elevated liver enzymes. These cases were related to unspecified amounts of black cohosh and unspecified products. Some studies on animals reported increased liver weights associated with very large doses over an extended period of time.

Australia, Canada, and selected European countries have elected to require a warning label on black cohosh about liver effects. In the United States, the National Institutes of Health (NIH) concluded in 2004 that there was no competent evidence to support concerns about safety in the use of black cohosh in breast cancer patients and that there is inadequate evidence that black cohosh preparations are causally associated with hepatotoxicity. No warning labels are required on black cohosh products in the United States. In the recent Osmers study, liver enzyme testing was done, and there was no adverse effect on liver function tests.¹⁰³ Another recent long-term observational study published in the journal *Menopause* in 2006 found no endometrial proliferation, no negative effect on breast health, and no hepatotoxicity after 52 weeks of 20 mg of black cohosh extract in postmenopausal women.¹²¹

These facts, and a review of the scientific literature, do not present a compelling case for concern.^{116, 117} The only true contraindication to black cohosh that I can point out is for the cancer patient taking cisplatin. This is based on an in vitro study in which black cohosh slightly protected mouse mammary tumor cells from cisplatin.¹²² Black cohosh did not alter the response of the cells to radiation or 4-HC and had an enhancing sensitizing effect for doxorubicin and docetaxel. Very occasional side effects have been reported that include gastrointestinal discomfort, headache, nausea, vomiting, weight gain, and vertigo.

Standardized extracts of black cohosh continue to be one of the most reliable herbal approaches to treating a wide array of perimenopausal and menopausal symptoms. The most common dosage is 40 mg daily, but many achieve better results with 40 mg twice daily. One should expect results within four weeks. In my experience, about 85 percent of women will receive benefit, and maybe 50 percent will achieve complete amelioration of their hot flashes and night sweats. Black cohosh can also be safely and effectively used with hormone therapy. Lower doses of hormone therapy are often achieved by also using black cohosh extract at the same time.

Black Cohosh

Standardized extract capsules (40 mg per capsule):

- 1–2 capsules twice per day
- Standardized liquid extract: 1/2-1 tsp twice per day

Chaste Tree (Vitex Agnus Castus). As an herb for the management of menopausal symptoms, I believe chaste tree has been overpromoted. The fruits of chaste tree contain essential oils, irridoids, pseudoindicans, and flavonoids, and the effect of chaste tree is on the hypothalamus-hypophysis axis. It increases secretion of LH and also has an effect that favors progesterone.123-125 The result is a shift in the ratio of estrogen to progesterone and consequently a "progesterone-like" effect. One of the most common changes that occurs in the menopause transition is irregular bleeding. Whether it be frequent or infrequent, heavy or light, ultimately a change and cessation will occur. In the process, some will experience significant bleeding problems because of menses that are either too frequent or too heavy. These problems are some of the most convincing indications for chaste tree.

The first major study on chaste tree was published in 1954.¹²⁶ Although this study was predominantly treating women with amenorrhea (lack of menses), a dramatic improvement was seen in 40 patients with cystic hyperplasia of the endometrium (excessive thickening of the uterine lining). The impressive effect lends credence to its progesterone effect. Chaste tree was also studied in women with frequent menses and heavy menses, although they were not perimenopausal.¹²⁷ In women who had frequent menses, the duration between periods was lengthened, and in women with excessive bleeding, a shortening of the number of heavy bleeding days occurred.

Chaste tree is the most important herb to normalize and regulate the menstrual cycle. It is not a fast-acting herb, so do not hesitate to use it over a long period of time. Results may not be achieved until after three to six months.

Chaste Tree

Standardized extract capsules (175 mg of 75% agnuside): 1 capsule per day Standardized liquid extract: 30–60 drops per day

Saint John's Wort (Hypericum Perforatum). Saint John's wort is the most thoroughly researched natural antidepressant. The majority of these studies have not been conducted on menopausal women, but in 37 of 39 clinical trials, Saint John's wort was shown to be superior to the placebo or equal to the conventional prescription antidepressant medications. In general, studies have shown improvement in individuals with mild to moderate depression.¹²⁸ In a recent review of studies, a total of 37 trials, including 26 comparisons with placebo and 14 comparisons with synthetic standard antidepressants, were evaluated. The authors concluded that "current evidence regarding hypericum extracts is inconsistent and confusing. In patients who meet criteria for major depression, several recent placebo-controlled trials suggest that the tested hypericum extracts have minimal beneficial effects while other trials suggest that hypericum and standard antidepressants have similar beneficial effects."129

One non-placebo-controlled clinical trial conducted in women with menopause symptoms found that 900 mg of Saint John's wort for 12 weeks significantly improved psychological and

Sample Treatment Plan for Mild Depression, Irritability, and Mood Swings

See the Resources section for formulation sources.

Diet:

Reduce alcohol, avoid sugar and simple carbohydrates.

- Eat whole grains, vegetables, nuts, seeds, adequate fish or low-fat dairy, proteins, and legumes. Eat regularly three meals per day.
- Lifestyle: Get 30–60 minutes of exercise daily. (See Appendix A.)

Botanicals:

- Black cohosh: 40 mg standardized extract twice daily
- Saint John's wort standardized extract: 300 mg 3 times per day

psychosomatic symptoms as well as a feeling of sexual well-being.¹³⁰

As mentioned earlier, in a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study using a combination of black cohosh and Saint John's wort, the study group was significantly superior to the placebo group on both a general menopause rating scale and a depression scale.¹¹¹

Saint John's Wort

Standardized extract of 3 percent hypericin: 300 mg 3 times per day

Kava (*Piper Methysticum*). Kava is a plant indigenous to Melanesia, Micronesia, and Polynesia. Its properties have been most often associated with analgesic, sedative, anxiolytic, muscle relaxant, and anticonvulsant effects. While kava is typically not often thought of as an herb for menopause, anxiety, irritability, tension, nervousness, and sleep disruption are common perimenopause and menopause symptoms in which kava can offer some help. Kava has been used as a social and ceremonial beverage for generations by the people of Fiji and other islands of the South Pacific, at least in part to create a relaxed, stress-free atmosphere. Kava has been shown to have significant effects in reducing anxiety in a number of studies.¹³¹

Three randomized, controlled trials have investigated the value of kava for menopausal symptoms.^{132–134} The first two showed significant reduction in anxiety and general menopause symptoms and the third a reduction in the anxiety scale, with kava plus HRT showing the greatest improvement.

In 2003, another valuable study evaluated the effects of kava on anxiety, depression, and menopause symptoms in perimenopausal women for three months.¹³⁵ Eighty women were randomized to one of three groups. The control group knowingly received 1,000 mg of calcium per day, the second group received the calcium and 100 mg of kava, and the third group received the calcium and 200 mg of kava. There was a clear and similar reduction in depression and anxiety in the two kava dosing groups compared with the calcium alone control group, but not a clear decline in general menopause symptoms scores.

Kava

Standardized extract (70% kavapyrones): 100–210 mg per day

Additional Botanicals and Combination Herbal Products for Menopause

The natural food stores and drug stores are brimming with herbal menopause products these days. You will find the herbs we have discussed in most of them in one combination or another, and perhaps in combination with nutritional supplements, soy, or additional herbs that contain phytoestrogens or have some other therapeutic benefit specific to menopause. Most of these combination products have not been researched, even though individual ingredients have been. I am aware of only one herbal combination product that has been researched in a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. I was one of two principal investigators on this study, which set out to research the effects of a botanical formulation containing phytoestrogens on menopausal symptoms, serum lipids, and some of the hormone indicators of menopause.136

The treatment group took two capsules of burdock root, licorice root, motherwort, dong quai, and wild yam root three times per day. After three months, women receiving the herbal product showed a greater response rate than women in the placebo group. One hundred percent of women taking the botanical formula had a reduction in their symptom severity, while only 67 percent of women receiving the placebo showed a decrease. Seventy-one percent of women taking the herbal formula reported a reduction in the total number of symptoms, while only 17 percent of the women taking the placebo reported a decrease in the total number of their symptoms. The botanical formula was most effective in treating hot flashes, mood changes, and insomnia.

Numerous other herbs can be helpful for individual menopause symptoms. The German Commission E (the German agency similar to our FDA) has approved hops for mood issues such as anxiety and restlessness and for sleep disruptions.¹³⁷ Hops contain a group of nonsteroidal phytoestrogens called prenylflavonoids. In one study, 67 menopausal women were given either a placebo or a 100 mcg or 250 mcg standardized hop extract for 12 weeks.¹³⁸ At 6 weeks, the 100 mcg dose was significantly superior to the placebo, but not after 12 weeks. Even so, there was a more rapid decrease in menopause symptoms for both doses of hop extract, especially the hot flash score. The higher dose was not any better than the lower dose.

Valerian has been used for centuries by many different cultures and has been used in modern times, mostly for anxiety and insomnia. Three randomized clinical trials have showed improvement in sleep quality, although none of these studies were specific to menopausal women.^{139–141}

Motherwort is another plant that has been used historically in situations that are relevant to perimenopause and menopause. It can ease heart palpitations and act as a calming agent, known as a nervine. The German Commission E has approved its use for nervous cardiac problems.¹⁴²

OVERVIEW OF HORMONE REPLACEMENT THERAPY

Hormone replacement therapy (HRT), now often called HT as well, has been used since the 1950s to treat menopause symptoms and to prevent osteoporosis and heart disease. Several key studies, of the last nine years in particular, have challenged previously held beliefs about the safety and efficacy of long-term HRT use. The Women's Health Initiative (WHI) was the most famous of these studies and was a large-scale, randomized, controlled clinical trial of 16,608 menopausal women aged 50 to 79.28 This study, of 0.625 mg conjugated equine estrogens (Premarin) and 2.5 mg medroxyprogesterone acetate (Provera) was halted prematurely after 5.2 years due to a slight increase in the risk of breast cancer in women receiving the HRT. Women in the hormone group also appeared to have higher rates of strokes, heart attacks, and blood clots than the placebo group. The HRT users also had a reduced risk of colorectal cancer and fractures, but overall the risks outweighed the benefits. This study marked a significant moment in history for HRT, and millions of women discontinued their HRT as a result of the findings. In the five years since the WHI, many studies have been completed, shedding new light on why decades of observational studies of postmenopausal women using HRT differed from the WHI study and why there seems to be such disparity amongst some of the key studies in the area of memory, heart disease, and breast cancer in particular. While reviewing each of these studies would be informative, I would like to summarize and utilize the 2007 position statement of the North American Menopause Society (NAMS) and its expert advisory panel of clinicians and experts in the field of women's health.¹⁴³ The primary goal of understanding HRT research in peri- and postmenopausal women is to come to some determination as to the risks and benefits of estrogen therapy (ET) and estrogen-progestogen therapy (EPT) for symptom relief and disease prevention and treatment. For a more comprehensive discussion on osteoporosis and heart disease, and on the benefits and risks of ET and EPT, I refer you to Chapters 14 and 9.

The NAMS panel offered two main categories of recommendations: those where the panel was able to reach consensus and those where they were not. There are several factors involved in the lack of consensus recommendations: the timing of when HRT was started in relation to perimenopause and menopause accounts for part of the difficulty. Starting HRT in early perimenopause has a different risk-benefit profile than starting 5, 10, or even more years beyond the last menstrual period. In addition, the panel acknowledged that there is insufficient scientific data on the risks of long-term use of HRT for symptom control versus the longterm use for reduction of risk of certain diseases such as osteoporosis, heart disease, or even dementia. Another difficulty faced in drawing conclusions from the HRT research is that not all the groups of women studied are comparable. Some groups have more women on statins (drugs for high cholesterol) and others have more overweight women, smokers, or previous users of HRT. These are just some of the significant variables involved in comparing one study to the next.

Recommendations for the Use of HRT

The following summarizes the areas of consensus recommendations for the use of HRT,¹⁴³ along with some additional input for clarification and discussion.

Evaluation Prior to Starting HRT. All women should have a complete health evaluation, including a medical history and physical examination and a mammogram within the previous 12 months before HRT. Decisions on bone density testing are made based on each situation.

Hot Flashes. The primary indication for using HRT is for the treatment of hot flashes and night sweats.

Vaginal Symptoms. Most systemic and vaginal ET and EPT products are approved for treating symptoms of vulvar and vaginal atrophy. These symptoms include vaginal dryness, painful vaginal sexual activity, and atrophic vaginitis. If one or more of these symptoms are the only menopause symptom, then a local vaginal estrogen is recommended rather than products that deliver a systemic effect.

Progestogens. Progestogens include bioidentical progesterone and progestins (which are synthetic). The primary purpose for the use of these products is to provide protection to the lining of the uterus when estrogen is given. Postmenopausal women who have a uterus and who are given estrogen need an adequate dose of a progestogen in order to prevent endometrial cancer. For women who have no uterus, a progestogen is generally not prescribed with the systemic estrogen. (Some practitioners, and especially alternative-minded practitioners, believe that giving a bio-identical progesterone can have additional health benefits other than protecting the uterus from the estrogen. A discussion on this is included in the section on bio-identical progesterone later in this chapter.) A progestogen is generally not indicated when a low-dose vaginal estrogen is used for local vaginal effects.

Coronary Heart Disease. "The majority of observational and preclinical studies support the potential benefits of systemic ET/EPT in reducing coronary heart disease (CHD) risk. Most randomized clinical trials do not. Emerging data suggest that these disparities in findings may be related to the timing of initiation of ET/EPT in relation to the proximity of menopause. It is currently not clear if ET/EPT can prevent CHD in women who do not have evidence of CHD (called primary prevention). There is current evidence that initiating ET/EPT in perimenopausal or early postmenopausal women may indeed offer protection, but this needs further evaluation. For women who already have evidence of CHD, EPT does not provide prevention of future cardiovascular problems (called secondary prevention). For the moment, the NAMS panel states that the use of ET/EPT is not recommended for the purpose of coronary heart disease prevention in women, no matter their age. It is also important to note that in the WHI study of estrogen only, there was no increased risk of CHD.144

Venous Thromboembolism (Blood Clots). Postmenopausal women who use ET or EPT have an increase in the risk of venous thromboembolism (VTE). This tends to appear during the first one to two years after starting the hormones, and it tends to decrease over time. In the WHI, there were 11 additional cases per 10,000 women per year of using EPT and 2 additional cases per 10,000 per year in the ET-only women aged 50 to 59. It is thought that lower doses of estrogen may be safer, and possibly estrogen delivered transdermally as well (creams, gels, and patches).

Stroke. Both ET and EPT appear to increase the risk of ischemic strokes (deficiency of blood supply caused by a clot) in postmenopausal women, although clinical trials have not been consistent. There were 8 additional strokes per 10,000 women per year in the WHI EPT group and 12 additional strokes per 10,000 women per year in the WHI ET only group. This is considered rare for the EPT group and slightly above rare for the ET group. The risk is even lower in women who are 50 to 59 years old or within the first five years of menopause. Women who already have cardiovascular disease have a higher risk of stroke even without the use of hormone therapy. The panel concluded that no HRT regimen should be used for the primary or secondary prevention of stroke, and HRT should be particularly avoided for women who have an elevated baseline risk of stroke.

Diabetes Mellitus. Large good studies suggest that HRT reduces the onset of diabetes mellitus (DM). Women in the EPT group of the WHI had a 21 percent reduction in DM or what resulted in 15 fewer cases per 10,000 women per year of hormone use. Even so, the panel does not recommend the use of EPT for the sole purpose of DM prevention.

Breast Cancer. According to the WHI, breast cancer risk slightly increases in women on EPT after five years of use. This risk was rare, slightly less than having a first-degree relative with breast cancer, but resulted in four to six additional breast cancers per 10,000 women per year in EPT users for five or more years. It is not clear if there is a dif-

ference between women who use HRT daily and those who cycle their hormones by going off for a few days per month. In the ET arm of the WHI, there was no increase in the risk of breast cancer even after seven years of use, and in fact there were eight fewer cases of breast cancer per 10,000 women per year of use of estrogen only.¹⁴⁴

EPT increases the proliferation of breast cells, breast pain, and density of mammograms. ET only does this to a lesser degree. In fact, it is possible that EPT may interfere with the radiological interpretation of mammograms. (Other research has shown that women who take EPT and acquire breast cancer get diagnosed earlier on mammograms and have less invasive disease, smaller tumors, and better outcomes.)

Osteoporosis. Both ET and EPT reduce the risk of osteoporotic fractures. For women who have osteoporosis or are at high risk for fractures, ET/EPT is a treatment option. One should weigh the benefits and the risks of this and other treatment options.

Depression. Short-term ET may have antidepressant activity in perimenopausal women but not in older postmenopausal women. The panel did not support the use of ET or EPT for the treatment of depression.

Dementia and Cognitive Decline. Starting EPT after age 65 is not recommended for the prevention of dementia or cognitive decline. The Women's Health Initiative memory study showed an increase in the risk of dementia during the five years in women 65 and older.¹⁴⁵ It is not yet clear as to whether ET or EPT can prevent dementia when hormones are started during perimenopause or early postmenopause.

Premature Menopause and Premature Ovarian Failure. Women who have the onset of menopause early, and especially prior to age 40, have lower risks of breast cancer, but earlier onset of bone loss and CHD. It is not known if ET or EPT affects these conditions in this population of women. It is logical to think that younger women who start ET or EPT may experience more benefits, but this is not known.

Risks and Benefits. An overriding perspective of ET and EPT use offered by the NAMS panel is that HRT should be used based on certain goals and evaluating the benefits and risks for each individual woman. This should also take into account the cause of menopause (surgical, medications, normal physiology), time since menopause, and scope and severity of symptoms and their impact on quality of life, as well as the underlying risk of cardiovascular disease, stroke, clots, DM, dementia, and depression.

Dosing. Lower doses should be considered and can provide adequate symptom relief in many women, while also being able to stabilize bone loss. Some women will not achieve adequate results with lower doses or may need an additional vaginal estrogen for local vaginal symptoms. These lower ET and EPT doses are better tolerated in terms of less breast tenderness, for example, and may have a better risk-benefit profile, although this is not known for certain.

Non-Oral Hormones. There is some evidence that transdermal estradiol supplied through patches, gels, or creams is less likely to cause blood clots because it initially bypasses metabolism by the liver, which has clotting factors. There is no evidence that transdermal estrogens are any safer for the breast.

Additional Issues. Some additional guidelines are offered by the advisory panel. The results of the WHI are relevant especially for women in their mid-60s but should be extrapolated with caution for perimenopausal women, women younger than 50 who use HRT, and for women early in their menopause. Short-term use (less than five years) in symptomatic perimenopausal and early menopausal women is generally considered beneficial with very small risks.

Long-term use of the lowest effective dose of ET or EPT is a decision that many women may

want to make based on the benefits they receive in relieving their menopause symptoms. These benefits may outweigh the risks. Other women who may want to use HRT long term are women with osteoporosis who also have moderate to severe menopause symptoms. Another group is women who have low bone density for whom other nonhormonal therapies cause too many side effects or do not work to slow bone loss. For women who have been on HRT and decide to stop, symptoms have about a 50 percent chance of recurring.

The panel's position on bio-identical hormones that are compounded for an individual by a special pharmacy is that any risk-benefit data pertaining to other kinds of hormones also applies to these compounded hormones. They also expressed a concern as to quality control issues with some bio-identical compounded hormone prescriptions. (In my opinion and experience, quality control is not an issue with compounding pharmacies that are operated by licensed pharmacists with oversight by state and federal agencies.)

There were only two areas where the panel did not reach consensus. How to discontinue HRT was one area. Some clinicians recommend abrupt discontinuation of HRT, while others taper the dose. In general, it doesn't seem to affect the return of menopause symptoms. In women who have a history of severe symptoms, tapering the dose is a compelling approach, and I find it to be preferable. However, there is not current data to suggest whether stopping abruptly or reducing gradually over time is better. The other area with lack of agreement is whether taking estrogen and progestin every day has a different effect than cycling the estrogen and progestin or just cycling the progestin. There is some concern that daily progestin may be related to the adverse breast cancer and cardiovascular effects, but the data is conflicting on this topic.

The panel concluded that each woman will have to decide for herself based on her own goals

and her own concerns relevant to benefits and risks of long-term HRT. An age of less than 60 and within the first four years of menopause are the more optimal times to use HRT. The potential risks are small, and even rare, except for stroke, especially for women who use estrogen only. For women younger than 50 and at low risk for CHD, stroke, osteoporosis, breast cancer, and colon cancer, the risks or benefits for HRT are even smaller than those described in the WHI. Again, it is important to emphasize that each woman should have an evaluation prior to hormone use and should be informed of potential risks.

Bio-Identical or Natural Hormones

One of the greatest areas of confusion in menopause medicine today is the subject of bioidentical or natural hormones. The bio-identical hormones include estradiol, estrone, estriol, progesterone, testosterone, and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA). These hormones are distinct from many of the commercially available prescription hormones-some of which are synthetic, while others may be derived from a natural substance but are still not bio-identical. Bio-identical hormones are made from either beta-sitosterol extracted from the soybean or from diosgenin extracted from Mexican wild yam root. Those compounds are made into the desired hormone that is biochemically identical to the hormone the body produces. By definition, a "natural" hormone is plant derived and bio-identical. The bio-identical estrogens include estriol, estrone, and estradiol. By contrast, nonbio-identical hormones are intentionally different in chemical makeup from the body's natural hormones and include conjugated plant estrogens, conjugated equine estrogens, synthetic estrogens, synthetic progestogens, called progestins, and synthetic testosterone. It is the chemical structure of a hormone, not its source, that determines if a hormone is bio-identical or not.

For the past 50 years, conjugated equine estrogen, under the brand name Premarin, has

been the most commonly prescribed estrogen in the United States. Conjugated estrogens are derived from pregnant mares' urine. In the 1970s it was believed that Premarin consisted of only 10 estrogens-17 beta-estradiol, 17 beta dihydroequilin, 17 beta dihydroequilenin, 17 alpha dihydroequilin, 17 alpha estradiol, estrone, equilin, 17 alpha dihydroequilenin, delta 8-9 dehydroestrone sulfate, and equilenin. Since then, advancements in technology have revealed that the original 10 estrogens make up less than 40 percent of the hormonal content of Premarin. Using modern analytical techniques, today over 200 individual components have been identified, including androgens and progestins.146 The composition of Premarin is complex, and different estrogens produce various effects in different tissues. Herein may lie a theoretical basis for a potentially different effect of conjugated equine estrogens versus bio-identical estradiol. Dr. Joel Hargrove has shed some light on these distinctions for years.¹⁴⁷ His hypothesis is that a nonbio-identical hormone may act like an environmental toxin to the genetic material within the cell because even though it can bind to the receptor hormone complex, it is a foreign substance.

Besides the effect on the genes themselves, bio-identical hormones and non-bio-identical hormones may very well leave what Dr. Hargrove calls a "different metabolic footprint" on the rest of the body with different metabolic consequences. They may be directly cytotoxic to estrogen-sensitive tissues, bind differently to different kinds of estrogen receptors, alter binding of other hormones to those receptors, or alter the liver's metabolism of carcinogens. It is this distinction and potential difference in metabolic consequences, as well as the shorter half-life of bio-identical hormones, that motivates me to use almost exclusively bio-identical hormones.

Bio-identical estrogens are available as either a patented conventional hormone prescription made by a pharmaceutical company and dispensed from a regular pharmacy with a prescription, or in a nonpatented form from a specialty pharmacy called a compounding pharmacy, also available only by prescription. There are a few key advantages to the compounded forms. First, health-care providers can create customized dosing regimens and potencies to fit each individual woman, which can be adjusted in small units to taper a woman onto or off of treatment. Second, the pharmaceutical company versions have additives, binders, adhesives, or preservatives included in their formulations because they patent one or more of those or the delivery technology rather than the estrogen itself. As more and more practitioners recognize, these chemical substances can cause reactions and side effects in many individuals. These can include skin reactions, headaches, digestive problems, or others, only because of the chemical additive, not because of the estrogen itself.

Third, bio-identical hormone formulations have a vast array of delivery options to attend to the specific individual needs of each patient. Capsules, sublingual lozenges or pellets, creams, gels, vaginal creams or gels or tablets, nasal sprays, and even pellets that are implanted under the skin are available in an infinite array of dosing combinations. These exceed the limited number of doses and deliveries that are available in either the pharmaceutical company bioidentical hormone preparations or the synthetic and semisynthetic prescription items.

Finally, bio-identical estrogens include estradiol, estriol, and estrone, as I mentioned earlier. Bio-identical progesterone, testosterone, and DHEA are also available. Any combination of these hormones can be formulated in a compounded hormone prescription: any dose, any combination, and the numerous delivery options.

I am not suggesting that bio-identical hormones are innately good and other hormones are innately bad. I want to stress that there currently is no scientific evidence that bio-identical estradiol has a better safety profile than the nonbio-identical estrogens of synthetic estrogens, conjugated equine estrogens, or conjugated plant estrogens. (There are, however, some clear and potential advantages to bio-identical progesterone over progestogens.) Much of the decision as to which kind of hormone to take depends on the woman.

Some would argue that the advantage of conventional pharmaceutical company HRT is that it has undergone years of scientific study. While this is true, there has been little effort to make distinctions between different kinds of estrogens. Also, as you will see, combining estriol with estradiol, and the use of bio-identical progesterone and testosterone with the estrogens, provide the potential maximum benefit and a more individualized approach for each patient.

Bio-Identical Estrogens

Estrogen is the major hormone that has been used to treat menopausal symptoms. There are three dominant estrogens in the body: estradiol, estrone, and estriol. Estradiol is the primary estrogen produced by the ovaries. Estrone is formed from estradiol. Estriol is produced in large amounts during pregnancy and is a breakdown product of estradiol. Before menopause, estradiol is the body's predominant estrogen; after menopause estradiol levels drop so that estrone becomes the predominant estrogen. Bioidentical estrogen preparations mirror these three naturally occurring estrogens in your body.

Estriol. Naturally occurring estriol is produced by the body almost exclusively during pregnancy. Practitioners of alternative medicine primarily use estriol to treat menopausal symptoms because it is considered to be the safest form of estrogen—it is thought to be less carcinogenic than estradiol and estrone and is about one-fourth the potency.

Several researchers have studied the use of estriol on postmenopausal women. Symptoms that were alleviated with estriol treatment included hot flashes, insomnia, and vaginal dryness and itching during intercourse. A common problem associated with menopause is atrophic vaginitis, a condition that occurs when estrogen is lacking in the body. Symptoms may include vaginal dryness, pain with penetration, increased frequency of vaginal and urinary tract infections, urinary incontinence, and urinary frequency and urgency.

Estriol can be taken orally, in capsules or tablets, and intravaginally in a cream, gel, or suppository to treat urinary incontinence, urgency, persistent urinary tract infections, and recurring vaginal infections. I often prescribe estriol vaginal cream or suppositories for dry or itchy tissue related to low estrogen, vulvar/vaginal discomfort with sexual activity, urinary incontinence, and recurrent urinary tract and vaginal infections in women who are peri- or postmenopausal. These creams most likely work by restoring the vaginal flora, which improves vaginal and bladder health, and increasing lubrication, elasticity, and thickness of the vaginal skin cells.

Estriol cream is equal to the estradiol ring in decreasing vaginal dryness, decreasing atrophic signs (signs of thinning), and decreasing the vaginal pH to a more preferred acidic environment. However, the estriol cream may not be quite as good at decreasing the itching.¹⁴⁸ Estriol has also decreased the incidence of bladder infections.¹⁴⁹ A common prescription is 1 mg of estriol per gram of cream. One gram of cream is inserted in the vagina daily for two weeks as a loading dose, then twice a week as a maintenance program.

Estriol

Oral estriol: 1–4 mg per day Vaginal cream (1 mg/g): insert 1 g every night for 2 weeks, then twice weekly as a maintenance dose

Estriol and Endometrial Cancer. Although there has been a good deal of study as to the effects of estriol therapy on the endometrial or uterine lining (conventional estrogen therapies cause a thickening or overgrowth of the lining, called endometrial hyperplasia, that can lead to cancer), there have been mixed results. In typical doses from 1 to 4 mg, there appears to be no thickening of the lining of the uterus. If I were prescribing higher doses, I would advise using estriol along with a proven progestational agent to protect the lining from this thickening effect.

Estriol and Heart Disease Risk. Estriol has not been studied as extensively as conventional HRT in terms of its affect on the risk for heart disease; however, a few studies indicate positive effects of estriol, while others have found estriol to have no effect on blood cholesterol levels, a precursor of heart disease.¹⁵⁰ There is no clear risk or benefit related to estriol and heart disease.

Estriol and Bone Density. Estriol also has been minimally studied regarding its effects on bone density and loss; therefore, I do not use estriol to slow or prevent bone loss or to treat low bone density. The research is just not convincing enough at this point. However, estriol taken with calcium lactate supplements may help prevent bone loss that occurs during menopause.

Estriol and Breast Cancer. Women often opt against conventional HRT because they are afraid that it might put them at risk for breast cancer. Many practitioners and researchers agree that there is a slight increased risk, and delivering the safest possible hormone options continues to be a goal. This has led some to study and use estriol for reducing the risk of and treating breast cancer.

Henry Lemon, M.D., a leading researcher on estriol, has concluded that small doses of estriol given in a noncontinuous dosing or cyclic schedule provides protection from breast cancer. Although his hypothesis and work is interesting and provides an appealing basis in which to use estriol, his findings have not been followed up with rigorous clinical trials. The results of other research has not been promising.¹⁵¹ Estriol, estrone, and estradiol all stimulated human breast cancer cells in tissue cultures. However, estriol may reduce the negative effects of the cancer drug tamoxifen for women already diagnosed with breast cancer.¹⁵²

Prescribing Estriol. Estriol seems to be helpful in treating many of the symptoms of menopause such as hot flashes. However, the jury is still out as to whether estriol will protect you from conditions such as osteoporosis and if it provides any heart disease protection or adverse cardiovascular effects. Women who currently have breast cancer or who are survivors must weigh the benefits and risks after being provided with wellbalanced information. The prudent thing to do, given current research, is for breast cancer survivors to avoid the use of oral estriol. Vaginal estriol for vaginal dryness, however, is a preferred form of vaginal estrogen for breast cancer survivors. In a study of 11 postmenopausal women with vaginal atrophy who were treated for eight weeks with 0.5 mg/day of estriol vaginal cream daily for three weeks then twice weekly for five weeks, there was no change in blood levels of estradiol or estrone.¹⁵³ In another study of 74 postmenopausal women with vaginal atrophy treated with vaginal estriol cream, while blood estriol levels rose initially followed by a gradual decline, the levels of the stronger estrogens, estrone and estradiol, were unchanged.¹⁵⁴ This is considered reassuring for breast cancer survivors.

A popular practice for prescribing compounded natural estrogens is to combine the potentially safer estriol with small doses of estra-

Tri-Estrogen and Bi-Estrogen Formulation Dosages

- Tri-estrogen formulation (estriol 1 mg/estradiol .125 mg/estrone .125 mg/progesterone 50 mg): 1 capsule twice daily (equivalent to 0.625 mg Premarin + 2.5 mg Provera)
- Bi-estrogen formulation (estriol 1 mg/estradiol .250 mg/progesterone 50 mg): 1 capsule twice daily (equivalent to 0.625 mg Premarin or 2.5 mg Provera)

diol and estrone. Currently, practitioners who prescribe a triple-estrogen compound typically use a formula of 80 percent estriol, 10 percent estradiol, and 10 percent estrone. Progesterone is added to the formula at a minimum of 100 mg per day to protect the uterus from the potential effects of the estrogen in thickening the lining of the endometrium. Using estrogen only, without the proper dose of progesterone, in women with a uterus might put them at risk for endometrial hyperplasia or even endometrial (uterine) cancer.

I use a bi-estrogen formulation containing estriol and estradiol, which is increasingly popular because of concerns that estrone may be associated with more carcinogenic estrogen metabolites and thus an increase in the risk of breast cancer.

Bio-Identical or Natural Progesterone

Many people make the mistake of using the term progesterone when they really mean its synthetic counterpart, progestin. Progesterone is the other natural hormone your ovaries make, other than estrogen, and its main function before menopause is to support pregnancy. Progestin is the term applied to the synthetic derivatives, which differ in biochemical structure from progesterone. Progestins are the synthetic hormones used in conventional hormone replacement therapy and birth control pills and are what often account for the side effects that some women feel when taking these medications such as irritability, depression, bloating, and mood swings. These side effects are due to the progestins' tendency to cause water retention, affect brain chemistry, and alter other steroid pathways. Progestogen is a term applied to any substance possessing progesterone qualities. It can refer to progesterone or a progestin.

During the perimenopausal phase, when a woman may have months or years of irregular ovulation, her production of progesterone begins to decline. Progesterone falls to almost zero in the beginning of menopause, while estrogen levels decline to about 40 to 60 percent of premenopausal levels. The progesterone deficiency explains many of the perimenopausal symptoms such as mood swings, hot flashes, vaginal dryness, and irregular menses.

In treating perimenopause and menopause symptoms, progesterone can be used for the relief of symptoms and to balance the effects of estrogen on the uterus. It has a critical role in preventing endometrial hyperplasia (an overgrowth or thickening of the uterine lining) and uterine cancer. Progesterone is often touted in the natural products marketplace as effective for the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis, but clinical trials show that neither oral natural progesterone nor progesterone patches or creams can slow, prevent, or reverse bone loss.

I can't stress enough that if you are peri- or postmenopausal and are taking any form of estrogen, you *must* also take a proven form and dosage of progesterone (or progestin) to protect your uterus from hyperplasia and cancer. The exception is women who have had a hysterectomy; they do not need to take progesterone or progestins. However, there are times when adding natural progesterone rather than increasing the dose of the estrogen, even in women without a uterus, may alleviate some menopausal symptoms. Some women's insomnia, fatigue, mood swings, and other menopause symptoms may be more responsive to progesterone than to estrogen.

It is important to note that all progestins (the synthetic progestogen) can have undesired side effects.¹⁵⁵ Premenstrual symptoms such as increased breast tenderness, edema, irritability, and abdominal cramps are fairly frequent, causing as much as 40 percent of women to not take their prescriptions properly. More serious side effects are rare and include high blood pressure, blood clotting, and altered carbohydrate lipid metabolism.¹⁵⁶ If you try the synthetic progestins and find you cannot tolerate them, bio-identical progesterone is an excellent option. In fact, bioidentical progesterone is a preferred option not only to minimize these symptoms, but it also may have a positive affect on cholesterol profiles and help to keep the coronary arteries in the heart dilated.

If you are taking estrogen and are one of the few women who cannot tolerate either the synthetic or natural progesterone, you must be monitored by a primary care practitioner to watch for certain cancers such as uterine cancer.

Progesterone is available with a prescription in the form of an oral capsule, sublingual drops, sublingual pellets, lozenges, or transvaginal or rectal suppositories; it also may be injected. Progesterone is also available over the counter as a cream.

Progesterone Creams. The most popular form of progesterone is the topical cream. The goal of natural progesterone cream is to support the waning daily production of progesterone in the body and keep progesterone at normal levels. The goal is not to supply pharmacological levels (higher doses), as is the case with oral progesterone. Unfortunately there is currently considerable confusion and misinformation about progesterone creams. There are two basic categories of creams:

- Those that contain wild yam and no progesterone
- Those that contain diosgenin extract (a phytoestrogen compound) from wild yam that is converted into natural progesterone in a laboratory

The problem is that the creams that contain only wild yam are not effective as a progesterone agent because the body cannot convert the diosgenin to progesterone.

The confusion is further exacerbated by the varied strengths of the creams. The wild yam creams with bio-identical progesterone added come in a wide range of dosages. Some of these products have less than 2 mg of progesterone per ounce of cream, some have between 2 and 15 mg per ounce, and some have as much as 400 mg per ounce or more. It is important to know exactly what you are getting because the strength of the

cream will dictate how it is used and what symptoms it should be used for.

As a practitioner, when using the progesterone creams, I largely use the creams that have at least 400 mg per ounce because they yield the best results for most women suffering from PMS, menopause symptoms, and irregular bleeding. In general, these doses of bio-identical progesterone in cream form tend to be effective for milder symptoms of menopause.

In general, women tolerate bio-identical progesterone cream extremely well, and most find it effective for alleviating some menopausal symptoms. Very few women experience side effects (reported as less than 4 percent by the manufacturing companies), but these may include breast tenderness, drowsiness, depressive moods, headaches, and irritability. In my experience as a clinician, I have found very few side effects.

Bio-identical progesterone cream is typically used for menopausal symptoms such as hot flashes, mood swings, sleep disruption, and irregular and/or heavy bleeding. Absorption of progesterone from the creams through the skin is variable from person to person. A study evaluating different concentrations of progesterone creams has demonstrated that the progesterone can be measured in the blood if the cream is

Natural Progesterone Cream

Apply natural progesterone cream (400 mg progesterone per ounce) to the palms, inner upper arms, or inner thighs.

Perimenopausal Women

Days 1–7: do not use progesterone cream during menses Days 8–21: ¹/₄ tsp twice a day Days 22–28: ¹/₄–¹/₂ tsp twice a day

Menopausal or Postmenopausal Women

1/4 tsp twice daily continuously

applied on a regular basis.¹⁵⁷ This same study also demonstrated significant improvement in hot flashes and night sweats. However, another study on transdermal progesterone cream delivering 32 mg daily did not show evidence that it supplied sufficient hormone to enter the body to achieve a biologic or therapeutic effect on lipid levels or bone mineral markers or to improve vasomotor symptoms or moods.¹⁵⁸ Bio-identical progesterone cream has yet to be adequately studied to show sufficient protection of the uterus when given with an oral estrogen or estrogen patch.

I do not recommend that progesterone creams be used to prevent heart disease, osteoporosis, breast cancer, endometrial hyperplasia, or uterine cancer. There is continuing research on the benefits of progesterone creams, but to date there is insufficient evidence that they protect women from any of these conditions.

Oral Micronized Progesterone (OMP). While bio-identical progesterone creams are popular with women in menopause, only the oral, injectable, and vaginal gel forms, available by prescription only, are available in high enough concentrations to protect against endometrial hyperplasia, a thickening of the uterus that can lead to cancer.

Studies demonstrate that oral micronized progesterone (OMP) is effective in preventing endometrial hyperplasia associated with estrogen use.¹⁵⁹ It does not undermine estrogen's bone loss benefits, nor does it improve bone density when it is added to estrogen replacement,160 and it does not appear to increase the risk of heart disease.¹⁶¹ However, I can't stress enough that if you are peri- or postmenopausal with an intact uterus and taking any kind of estrogen, you must also take a proven form and dosage of progesterone (or progestin) to protect your uterus from hyperplasia and uterine cancer. If you do not tolerate synthetic progestins, bio-identical progesterone is an excellent option. If you are one of the small number of women who do not even tolerate bio-

Oral Micronized Progesterone (OMP)

Perimenopausal woman taking continuous estrogen and/or a monthly menstrual cycle is desired: 100 mg twice daily (or 200 mg once daily) 12 days per month Perimenopausal woman taking estrogen and/or a

- monthly menstrual cycle is desired: 1 mg estradiol (or equivalent) plus 50 mg OMP twice daily (or 100 mg once daily) 3 weeks on and 1 week off (during menses)
- Postmenopausal woman taking continuous estrogen and a monthly cycle is not desired: 1 mg estradiol (or equivalent) plus 50 mg OMP twice daily (or 100mg once daily) continuously

In my experience, women have few side effects with OMP in doses of 200 mg or less. Higher doses, 400 mg per day, are sometimes prescribed for amenorrhea, or lack of menstruation, in women who are not yet truly menopausal, or to manage heavy acute uterine bleeding. However, in high doses OMP can cause side effects, including dizziness, abdominal cramping, headaches, breast pain, nausea, diarrhea, fatigue, irritability, and abdominal bloating.¹⁶²

identical progesterone and you are taking an estrogen, then you and your uterus must be regularly monitored by a primary care practitioner.

OMP is available by prescription from a compounding natural pharmacy in any dose your provider prescribes. It is also available from a conventional pharmacy under the trade name Prometrium. For perimenopausal women who are taking estrogen every day, oral progesterone can be given at a dose of 100 mg per day every day, or it can be given at 200 mg per day on days 15 to 26 of the cycle.

These doses are based on an average dose of estrogen replacement or less. For higher doses of estrogen, the dose of progesterone will need to be increased as well, typically doubled. Progesterone is prescribed on a cyclical basis (as opposed to every day) for women who are still bleeding. This cycling of the progesterone allows them to still have a monthly period, the onset of which occurs within a few days of stopping the progesterone. **Sublingual Progesterone.** Sublingual (under the tongue) progesterone has basically the same uses for menopause and premenstrual symptoms as the creams and the oral progesterone. However, it is generally stronger than the creams and weaker than the usual oral doses. Typically, the tablets must remain under the tongue for 20 minutes while they dissolve before the progesterone is fully absorbed.

One advantage of sublingual tablets—as well as creams and vaginal and rectal suppositories is that they are not significantly metabolized by the liver, as is the case with oral progesterone. This is thought to minimize side effects. However, there is very little information available as to how sublingual progesterone works and its possible longer-term side effects, so I take care when recommending this form of progesterone. The main issue is that sublingual progesterone and progesterone creams have not yet been proven to protect the uterus from the effects of estrogen replacement.

Rectal administration of progesterone has not been well studied. Nasal sprays of progesterone (in oil) produce relatively low serum levels, which are sustained for only a few hours.¹⁶³ Even though these levels are low, they can produce some secretory changes in the endometrium and may prove with further study to be sufficient to reverse endometrial hyperplastic effects of estrogen replacement therapy.

More About HRT and Breast Cancer. The issue of progestogens and breast cancer is complex and not very well understood. It is difficult to come to a comfortable conclusion on this matter. One of the largest studies to date, the Nurses' Health Study, showed that adding a synthetic progestin to estrogen failed to reduce the incidence of breast cancer and actually increased it.¹⁶⁴ Women taking estrogen alone had a 36 percent increase in their risk of breast cancer; those on estrogen plus progestin had a 50 percent increase; those on progestins alone had a 240

percent increase-although this number may be misleading because the number of women on only progestins was very small. The Nurses' Health Study also was able to report on duration of use. For women who had been taking estrogen and progestin for five to ten years, there was a 46 percent increase in their risk of breast cancer. At the end of 2000, the Nurses' Health Study published its estimates of breast cancer risk associated with HRT in postmenopausal women.¹⁶⁵ The results were expressed as percentage increases in the cumulative risk of breast cancer and were frightening to many: the use of estrogen alone for 10 years leads to a 23 percent increase by age 70, and the use of estrogen plus progestin for 10 years leads to a 67 percent increase by age 70. It is important to realize that the result is not an actual mathematical conclusion but the conclusion of the model, the consequences of a small difference in risk that gets magnified as the math is carried out into the future. Also, it is important to realize that risk estimates represent a projection, not an actual measurement.

Another study done in Seattle had contradictory findings to the Nurses' Health Study.¹⁶⁶ This study found no effect on the risk of breast cancer from either estrogen alone or estrogen and progestins together. In the WHI group of estrogen plus progestin users, there was a slight increase in breast cancer after five years of use.²⁸ In the estrogen-only arm of the WHI, estrogen did not increase the risk of breast cancer, even after seven years of use.¹⁴⁴

At the other end of the pendulum, investigations that have found no increased risk of breast cancer with HRT or ERT use receive much less attention. The Iowa Women's Health Study is prospectively following a cohort of women who were selected in 1985.¹⁶⁷ After six years of following these women, a statistically significant increase in the risk of breast cancer could not be detected in women who had either ever used HRT or who were currently using it. Another report through eight years of follow-up looked at whether postmenopausal HRT increased the risks for breast cancer and death from breast cancer in women with a family history of breast cancer.¹⁶⁸ There was no significant increase in the rate of breast cancer even in women with a family history of breast cancer who were using HRT longer than five years. These results are consistent with other reports that there is no additional risk in using HRT/ERT in women who have a first-degree relative with breast cancer.

The latest analysis from the Iowa Women's Health Study, an 11-year follow-up, showed an association between women who had ever used postmenopausal HRT and the risk of breast cancers that were more localized and had a better prognosis.¹⁶⁹ The study did not find an increased risk of invasive ductal or lobular carcinoma in women who had used HRT either less than or more than five years. A slight increased risk of breast cancer was observed in current users and those with less than five years of use; current users with more than five years of use had no increase in risk. These results are the opposite of those seen in the Nurses' Health Study-women who are using HRT for more than five years have the increase in risk.¹⁶⁴ Two other recent studies, the Carolina Breast Cancer Study¹⁷⁰ and analyses from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES),171 found no increased risk with postmenopausal hormones. These recent studies perpetuate the inconsistency in research on this issue that has been true in the last 25 years. This provides some logic to the point of view that if there is an increased risk of breast cancer associated with ERT/HRT, the risk must be small because otherwise by now, after this many years, we would have seen more consistency in the data and the size of the risk estimates would be large rather than slight.

A reminder about duration of use offers some reassurance amidst the confusion. No studies find an increased risk of breast cancer with shortterm use of HRT, and the conflicting results of more than 60 studies demonstrate that if there is an increased risk with long-term use, it is a slight increase.

The effect of bio-identical progesterone on the risk of breast cancer in menopausal women who are taking bio-identical EPT is basically unresolved. Some evidence does exist that bioidentical progesterone might help to prevent breast cancer. In a 1995 study, women who were scheduled for breast reduction surgery applied progesterone cream to their breasts for two weeks before the surgery.¹⁷² The cells in the removed breast tissue showed less cell division in the women who used the progesterone cream, and the researchers concluded that progesterone applied directly to the breast might even help prevent breast cancer. In perhaps the most compelling study to date, done in France, transdermal bio-identical estradiol plus oral micronized bio-identical progesterone was not associated with an increased risk of breast cancer whereas transdermal estradiol with progestins did increase the risk, similar to the WHI results.¹⁷³

For women already at risk for breast cancer or who have had breast cancer, no good studies exist on the effects of progestins or progesterone.

Friendlier and Less-Friendly Conventional HRT

Friendlier conventional HRT includes all estrogens manufactured by a pharmaceutical company that are made with bio-identical estradiol or estrone. As stated previously, the differences are the binders, fillers, preservatives, adhesives, and additives used in these products. Oral capsules of 1 mg bio-identical hormones are equivalent to 0.625 mg of conjugated equine estrogens (CEE). Estrogen patches that contain 0.05 mg of bio-identical estradiol are equivalent to 0.625 mg CEE (Premarin) or to 1 mg of oral bio-identical estradiol. Estradiol cream and gel are also now manufactured by pharmaceutical companies.

Less-friendly conventional HRT uses hormones that are composed of estrogens and progestins that are not identical to a woman's own estrogen or progesterone. Conjugated equine estrogens are derived from the urine of pregnant mares. Esterified estrogens are in part estrone sulfate and in part equilin sulfates. (See Appendix C for a chart on current conventional hormone options.)

Androgens. The normal postmenopausal ovary produces testosterone as well as androstenedione and small amounts of estrogen. Following menopause, a woman's androgen (male hormone) production decreases by as much as 50 percent. Ovarian androgen production stops abruptly with surgical menopause and more gradually with natural menopause. A substantial number of menopausal women who are given estrogen replacement at standard dosages continue to have menopause symptoms such as hot flashes, night sweats, and insomnia. These women may have enhanced symptom relief when they are switched to estrogen plus androgen, usually testosterone. Studies have shown that testosterone increases the bioavailable estrogen, both that produced by the body and that given in a pill.174

Estrogen and testosterone therapy has been explored not only for its ability to improve vasomotor symptoms but also to improve sexual desire and sexual satisfaction. For example, a double-blind study of women who were dissatisfied with their HRT regimen showed that sexual desire, satisfaction, and frequency of sexual activity were increased when they used the estrogen/ testosterone combination.175 Another study of early postmenopausal women, both natural and surgical, were switched from estrogen alone to estrogen/testosterone therapy.¹⁷⁶ Overall symptom relief was greater with estrogen/testosterone therapy than with estrogen-only therapy. Sexual drive and satisfaction increased. Results of other studies have shown that the combination of 1.25 mg of esterified estrogen and 2.5 mg of methyltestosterone given daily for two years significantly reduced the intensity of hot flashes and

vaginal dryness in women with surgical menopause.¹⁷⁷ A study comparing the effects of estrogen and an estrogen/testosterone combination on sex drive showed improvement in 50 percent of women on estrogen alone, but 90 percent of women when testosterone was added.¹⁷⁸

There have been some concerns about estrogen/testosterone therapy reversing the increased HDL cholesterol achieved with estrogen alone. The combination of esterified estrogens and methyltestosterone has been shown to decrease triglycerides, LDL, HDL, and total cholesterol in postmenopausal women. However, a two-year study of estrogen/testosterone therapy produced no change in LDL levels but did show significant reductions in triglycerides and very low-density lipoprotein, and also reduced HDL levels. So the story is mixed, and further studies are needed to determine the actual impact of these changes on cardiovascular disease. If testosterone is used, it would be prudent to monitor blood lipid levels for any adverse effects.

For treatment of osteoporosis, adding testosterone to estrogen therapy appears to produce a greater increase in bone density compared with estrogen therapy alone. In a double-blind study, 66 surgically menopausal women without osteoporosis received either 1.25 mg of esterified estrogen alone or 1.25 mg of esterified estrogen and 2.5 mg of methyltestosterone daily for two years. Both groups already had bone loss at the spine, hip, and wrist. Only the combination of estrogen with testosterone significantly increased spinal bone density after one year and two years.

Standard formulations of CEE and methyltestosterone combine either 0.625 or 1.25 mg of CEE with 5 mg of methyltestosterone. Other formulations contain either 1.25 or 0.625 mg esterified estrogens, combined with 2.5 or 1.25 mg of methyltestosterone, respectively.

Through a compounding pharmacist, one can obtain bio-identical testosterone. I generally use 1 to 3 mg of bio-identical testosterone formulated into the bi-estrogen or tri-estrogen formulation, and the pills are taken one capsule twice daily. Testosterone cream applied to the genital region has received mass media attention on "The Oprah Winfrey Show." It is used as an alternate method of delivering the testosterone. Common prescriptions are anywhere from 1 to 4 mg per gram of cream. These are applied to the external genital region right before sexual activity to enhance sensation to touch and orgasm. Use should not exceed twice per week to avert local testosterone side effects such as enlargement of the clitoris that can occur if testosterone cream is used daily and in the stronger dosages. A good resource for both menopausal women and their health-care practitioners is a book called The Hormone of Desire.¹⁷⁹

The North American Menopause Society (NAMS) invited a panel of clinicians and researchers who were experts in the field of testosterone therapy to review the scientific evidence regarding the role of exogenous testosterone in postmenopausal women.180 Their conclusions were as follows: Postmenopausal women with decreased sexual desire with no other cause other than being postmenopausal may be candidates for testosterone treatment. Because of lack of adequate evidence for testosterone increasing sexual function, testosterone treatment without also giving estrogen therapy cannot be recommended. Other causes of low libido are to be ruled out and laboratory testing of testosterone levels should be used only to monitor for supraphysiologic levels before and during therapy, not for the purpose of diagnosing testosterone insufficiency. Monitoring would be included in an office visit follow-up to assess changes in sexual function. Transdermal and topical gels or creams are preferred over oral forms due to their minimal effect on the liver. Testosterone therapy is contraindicated in women with breast or uterine cancer and in women with cardiovascular or liver disease. Testosterone should be given at the lowest dose for the shortest time that meets treatment objectives.

Bio-Identical Testosterone

Oral: 2–6 mg per day Cream (1–4 mg/g): apply twice weekly to external genitalia before sexual activity

Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA). Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) is another of the androgens. It is the most abundant circulating steroid in humans. DHEA is called a precursor hormone because it is produced in large amounts in the body and other steroid hormones are made from it, including estrogen and testosterone. In a woman, 90 percent of DHEA comes from the adrenal glands; the remaining 10 percent is manufactured by the ovaries. Our DHEA level peaks at age 25 and then declines gradually to only 15 to 20 percent of our maximum by the time we turn 70.

Many claims have been made about DHEA's effect on the immune system, and its anti-aging properties are said to include better memory, less fatigue, more energy, relaxation, and increased ability to handle stress. It is also touted as having positive effects on bone density and helping to prevent cancer and cardiovascular disease. However, the exact effect DHEA has on the body's cells is unclear. I have seen DHEA increase energy, improve stress response, improve muscle mass, and occasionally increase libido.

A daily oral intake of 50 mg of DHEA for a postmenopausal woman may restore DHEA levels to those of a young adult. At this dosage, DHEA is converted to other more potent androgens, including testosterone. In pharmacological doses of 1,600 mg, DHEA is converted to estrone and estradiol. Unfortunately, there are only a handful of randomized placebo-controlled studies examining the effects of giving DHEA to humans. Although animal studies are promising, we need more research on its particular effects on postmenopausal women.

One of the most significant effects of DHEA may be its ability to enhance a sense of general well-being. This effect was found at doses of 50 mg and 100 mg daily.¹⁸¹ Few adverse effects have been reported with DHEA, although in women, androgenic side effects such as facial hair growth and acne can occur with doses as low as 50 mg. A dose of 25 mg daily may be more appropriate.¹⁸² I typically give 5 to 20 mg per day to women who are either low in DHEA according to test results or to women with fatigue, loss of vitality, and/or low sex drive.

DHEA

5-50 mg per day

Exercise

The benefits of exercise for perimenopausal and postmenopausal women are wide and deep. Women can receive substantial reductions in cardiovascular disease,¹⁸³ a reduced risk of breast cancer,¹⁸⁴ an increase in bone density,¹⁸⁵ a lower-

Sample Treatment Plan for Hot Flash Symptom Relief

Diet:

Follow a whole foods diet high in fruits, vegetables, whole grains, and legumes. Emphasize soybean products and flaxseed. Reduce total fat, animal fats, and simple carbohydrates.

Eat modest amounts of organic low-fat dairy. Exercise: Regular weight-bearing, strengthening, and aerobic exercise with light weight training Herbal: Choose one of the following: Black cohosh standardized extract capsules (40 mg): 1–2 capsules 1–2 times per day Consider herbal combination formulations: dong quai, licorice root, motherwort, burdock root, hops, Saint John's wort, red clover, maca Bio-identical progesterone cream (400 mg/oz or more): apply ¹/₄ tsp twice daily 3 weeks on and 1 week off if perimenopausal Bio-identical estrogens/progesterone (estriol 1

Bio-identical estrogens/progesterone (estriol 1 mg/estradiol 0.25 mg/progesterone): 1 capsule (50 mg) twice daily (1 week off if perimenopausal) ing of body fat and body mass index, and an improved sense of well-being.¹⁸⁶ The ability of exercise to reduce the incidence or severity of hot flashes during menopause is not clear. It appears that for women who are not overweight, moderate exercise may be beneficial for hot flashes and more vigorous exercise may exacerbate them.

Exercise Recommendations. Physical exercise that includes strength, cardiac, and flexibility modalities (see Appendix A) ensures a menopause without exaggerated symptoms and protects against heart disease and osteoporosis when it is initiated early in life, is appropriate and moderate, and lasts throughout life.

However, if you have reached menopause and have been sedentary, start slowly and progress gradually. Consult an exercise consultant to learn the safest program both for aerobic and strength/ weight training.

Solutions to Selected Problems

Insomnia. In determining individualized treatments for insomnia, it is imperative to identify and address the underlying cause as well as provide options for short-term relief. The basics start with good sleep hygiene. This includes going to bed at the same time each night and avoiding or reducing naps. A comfortable bed and room temperature along with low levels of light and noise contribute to better sleep hygiene. It is often advised that the bedroom should not be used for eating or television watching but rather only for sleep and intimacy. If you are not able to fall asleep after 20 to 30 minutes in bed, get out of bed and engage in a quiet activity and then return to bed when sleepy.

Nutritional practices may influence sleep. Caffeinated drinks may have to be avoided altogether or at least within 12 hours of sleep. Some individuals have nighttime hypoglycemia. A drop in blood glucose level causes the release of chemicals that can stimulate the brain. Consuming complex carbohydrates with protein can help

Sample Treatment Plan for Insomnia

See the Resources section for formulation sources.

Diet:

Avoid stimulants, especially during the second half of the day (coffee, caffeinated tea, chocolate, caffeinated sodas).

Have a protein snack before bed.

Lifestyle: Get regular exercise, practice good sleep hygiene.

Herbal:

Black cohosh extract: 40 mg twice daily

Valerian: 1–2 capsules or 1–2 tsp liquid extract before bed

Nutritional supplement: 2 mg melatonin before bed For difficult cases:

- Add hormone prescription, with oral micronized progesterone taken right before bed.
- Consider adding 5-HTP, higher doses of melatonin, or other herbal combinations of hops, valerian, and passionflower.

maintain sleep through the night by regulating nighttime blood glucose levels.

Relaxation techniques such as biofeedback, progressive muscular relaxation, meditation, and warm baths can help sedate some people. Soothing music may also reduce anxiety and stress. One study showed that after listening to music while trying to go to sleep, the level of sleepiness was significantly increased and the time to sleep onset was much lower. The music became more effective each night of continued use.¹⁸⁷

Some studies of insomnia in postmenopausal women demonstrate that HRT significantly improves sleep quality, shortens sleep onset, and reduces nighttime restlessness and awakenings.¹⁸⁸ Sleep efficiency and time spent awake after sleep onset appear to be significantly better when using oral micronized progesterone with estrogen replacement therapy but not when using synthetic medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA).¹⁸⁹

Insomnia is not only a frequent medical problem, but it's also a difficult problem. Insom-

nia is usually a symptom of an underlying hormonal, nutritional, pharmacological, or psychological problem. Some women may need evaluation for sleep apnea, treatment of psychological issues, or pharmacological treatment.

Melatonin. One of the better-known natural treatments for insomnia is melatonin. One placebo-controlled trial on melatonin found that 0.5 mg of melatonin daily for two weeks shortened the amount of time it took to fall asleep but had no effect on sustaining sleep or improving the quality of the sleep.¹⁹⁰ In another study, 2 mg of melatonin per day was effective in improving sleep efficiency.¹⁹¹ Melatonin has also been effective in patients with long-term insomnia who were using benzodiazepines.¹⁹² Most patients were able to decrease their benzodiazepines by 50 percent during the second week of using 2 mg of melatonin nightly and discontinue it by the fifth or sixth week. It is thought that individuals who actually have a melatonin deficiency are most responsive to melatonin for insomnia.

5-Hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP). 5-HTP is a form of tryptophan that has been reported in numerous double-blind studies to decrease the time required to get to sleep and to decrease the number of night awakenings.^{193–196} The typical dosage range of 5-HTP is 100 to 300 mg about 45 minutes before bed.

Valerian. This herb has been used for decades, if not centuries, as a sedative, including as an aid for insomnia. Studies have confirmed the effectiveness of valerian. In a double-blind study from Switzerland, valerian improved sleep latency, reduced night awakenings, and improved sleep quality, especially in women.¹⁹⁷ Several trials have looked at valerian in combination with other herbal sedatives such as passionflower and lemon balm. In one clinical trial, 33 percent of men and women without insomnia who took valerian and lemon balm 30 minutes before bed reported an improvement in sleep quality. Only 9 percent in the placebo group reported improvement.¹⁹⁸

Other Botanicals. Numerous plants have sedative actions and have been used historically to promote sleep and improve sleep quality. These include hops, skullcap, chamomile, lemon balm, oat straw, lavender, bitter orange, California poppy, and kava. Preparations can include powdered capsules, tinctures, and teas. Most of these herbs are mild sedatives and are unlikely to suffice alone, but are typically used in combinations.

Sexual Function

Ginseng. The most well-known herb to improve energy and stamina, as well as for sexual rejuvenation, is ginseng. American ginseng has traditionally been used for weakness, loss of muscle tone, low endurance, loss of work efficiency, and decreased sexual function. The ginsenosides in American ginseng exert an estrogen-like action on the vaginal epithelium that improves the lubrication and elasticity of the vaginal tissue, contributing to sexual response and comfort. In animal studies, ginseng increased testosterone levels in males.¹⁹⁹ Given the potential influence of testosterone on sexual function in women, this may partly account for its effect in women as well. Therapeutic effects of ginseng on the reproductive system of female animals also include accelerating ovarian function, enhancing ovulation, and stimulating egg production.²⁰⁰

(Enhancing pelvic and specifically genital circulation is also a consideration for which one might consider ginkgo. Ginkgo was also discussed earlier in the botanicals section as an aid to improve sexual function in women taking antidepressants.⁷⁸)

Several studies show the ability of ginseng to battle fatigue and stress. One study of nurses who took ginseng showed improved scores in job competence, mood, and mental and physical performance.⁸⁴

Ginseng has also been shown to enhance the ability to cope with various mental and physical stressors, largely due to its effect on the adrenal glands, which are involved in maintaining our hormonal balance. Finally, in a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of 232 patients with fatigue, it was found that ginseng improved fatigue, anxiety, nervousness, and poor concentration.²⁰¹

Damiana. All students of herbal medicine are probably familiar with damiana's time-honored reputation as an aphrodisiac. It is unclear how the constituents of damiana bring about this effect, and indeed no studies have proven this effect on women, but it has been shown to enhance sexual behavior in animals. A combination product that included ginseng, damiana, and gingko was shown in a small placebo-controlled study to improve sexual desire and satisfaction.²⁰² Mexican Indians and generations of herbalists have looked to damiana to improve sexual interest and response.

Ashwagandha. In cases of general debility, nervous exhaustion, loss of muscle strength, and that all-familiar "brain fog," the ashwagandha plant that grows and is cultivated in India and even the Himalayas is well-known in folk medicine of that region as a traditional treatment of these problems. This plant is regarded in India as a tonic and adaptogen, with properties similar to ginseng. In one study, physical endurance was doubled in participants given extracts of ashwagandha (*Withania somnifera*).²⁰³

Rhodiola. Rhodiola, also known as golden root or arctic root, has been used for centuries to increase physical endurance and exercise performance²⁰⁴ and as a folk custom to ensure fertility. Effects on regulation of the menstrual cycle and the successful treatment of 25 of 40 women who had stopped having menses altogether support its use in matters related to hormones and sexual function.²⁰⁵

Maca. Maca has been used in Peru for five thousand years. Alkaloids from the root of the plant act upon the two key glands in the brain, the hypothalamus and the pituitary, supporting and boosting energy levels and encouraging the production of ovarian hormones such as estrogen and testosterone.²⁰⁶

Look for these herbs in popular combination products to enhance sexual desire as well as to address other menopause issues.

The Importance of Lubrication. The amount of estrogen in the vagina is the main determinant of vaginal health, including the pH, the balance of organisms, the integrity of the tissues, and the amount of lubrication. As estrogen levels decline with menopause, many changes can occur, including thinning of the vaginal wall tissue, vaginal dryness, loss of vaginal tone, and susceptibility to infections. Symptoms such as pain with vaginal sexual activity, itching and burning, and even urinary leakage may result. For sexual function and comfort with vaginal sexual activity, lubrication during sex not only is helpful for comfort, but for some is a necessity. There are many over-the-counter lubricants, and in the context of natural medicine, we can look for lubricants that are less irritating due to a lack of chemicals and hypoallergenic bases. Something as simple as vitamin E oil can be used as a lubricant. Products are available that contain vitamin E oil and allantoin and are water based so they are nondrying and nonirritating. Other natural vaginal moisturizers are oil based rather than water based. Common ingredients are mineral oil, glycerin, yerba santa, castor oil, and more. It is important to check to see which ones are appropriate to use with condoms and to remember that lubricants do not contain spermicide and so do not provide contraception.

The most effective way to improve lubrication over the long term is prescription vaginal estrogens. Please refer to the section on hormones earlier in this chapter for how to use vaginal estrogens for thinning, dryness, and pain of the vagina and problems related to these atrophic changes.

Topical Ingredients to Enhance Arousal. Numerous botanical and nutrient topical products now exist to enhance female arousal and orgasm when applied to the vulva (external female genital area). One such product is a feminine massage oil that contains borage seed oil, evening primrose oil, extracts of angelica and coleus, and several antioxidants. A randomized, double-blinded, cross-over study was conducted to evaluate the efficacy of this product in women who had been diagnosed with female sexual arousal disorder. The treatment resulted in increases in sexual pleasure in more than 90 percent of women.²⁰⁷

Another over-the-counter topical cream that supports female sexual arousal contains nitric oxide, which is the chemical produced by the body to promote the dilation of blood vessels in the female genital tissues. L-phenylalanine and L-tyrosine are amino acids that the body uses to produce neurotransmitters important in the initiation of blood vessel dilation. Niacin, also known as vitamin B_3 , is known for its ability to dilate blood vessels as well. In addition, oils such as L-menthol from mint oil, rosemary oil, and cinnamon oil can increase local blood flow and have warming and stimulating effects when formulated in a cream and applied to the genital tissues.

As discussed earlier in the hormone section, topical testosterone cream is also a valuable tool to enhance genital arousal and orgasm.

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

Conventional medicine treatment of menopause has changed fairly dramatically in the years following the initial publication of the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) report in 2002. Many women who were taking hormone therapy for prevention of heart disease and osteoporosis were instructed to stop their hormones, because the WHI suggested that there might be a slight increase in breast cancer and strokes in asymptomatic women taking hormones. We have known that there is a slight increase in deep venous thrombosis, which was confirmed by this study. The study also showed an improvement in prevention of osteoporosis and colon cancer, but these beneficial effects were considered not to be worth the risk. The recommendation that all menopausal women be

placed on hormone therapy, which was a mainstay of conventional medicine for the preceding 40 to 60 years, has changed. After the WHI report, the American College of OB/GYN (ACOG) and the North American Menopause Society (NAMS) convened panels of specialists to look at the information and make recommendations. These recommendations are for the general patient, with provisos that each individual woman should be counseled and her risk and goals assessed, and some deviation from these guidelines may be possible at the discretion of the practitioner and patient. There are three commonly agreed-upon uses for hormone therapy:

- 1. Decrease of menopausal symptoms
- 2. Prevention of osteoporosis in women who are intolerant of other medications used to treat osteoporosis
- 3. Topical use of hormones for urogenital atrophy

They also recommend that hormones be used at the lowest effective doses for the shortest effective period of time. What this means is that the provider should try different doses and find one that is most effective in the reduction of a woman's symptoms. That does not mean it has to be the lowest dose possible. The shortest period of time means that women should periodically go off their hormones to see if their menopausal symptoms have reduced or gone away. These recommendations are not applicable to women who are using hormones for treatment of osteoporosis, which should be a lifetime treatment. Women with atrophic urogenital symptoms will need to use their hormones lifelong, but the topical vulvovaginal estrogens pose no meaningful risks. The lowest effective dose, in the shortest period of time, pertains primarily to a woman using hormones for menopausal symptoms.

They recommend that all women with an intact uterus have a progestogen administered along with the estrogen to prevent endometrial hyperplasia and uterine cancer. The regimens of treatment with progestogens varies greatly but are divided into two basic approaches:

- 1. Continuous daily therapy
- 2. Cyclic treatment, adding a progestogen 12 to 14 days per month, and recently there is a "long sequential cyclic" regimen of 14 days every 3 months

Woman who do not have a uterus are not required to use a progestogen. Women who have a uterus and are progestogen intolerant can have the option of annual uterine lining evaluation with transvaginal ultrasound or an endometrial biopsy. When using transvaginal ultrasound, women with an endometrial thickness of 4 mm or less are considered not to have disease and do not need an endometrial biopsy unless there is persistent abnormal bleeding or other medical reasons. Women with more than 4 mm thickness may have a normal lining but need an endometrial biopsy and/or a saline sonohystogram. Or, instead of the two-step approach of ultrasound and then biopsy, women may instead have an endometrial biopsy yearly to assess the lining tissue.

Another alternative is the use of the progestogen intrauterine system known as a Mirena IUD. This is not an FDA-approved use of this device as of this writing. The Mirena IUD provides a large local progestogen environment for prevention of hyperplasia and cancer without any significant systemic absorption. There is no justification for the use of unopposed estrogens in a woman with a uterus unless she is doing regular assessments of her uterine lining. There are only a few reasons why women without a uterus are given progestogens along with estrogen:

- 1. To increase menopause symptom relief
- 2. To reduce the risk of endometriosis in women who had active disease during their surgery to remove the uterus and ovaries

The use of hormone therapy for other reasons is widespread, but is not approved by the FDA, ACOG, or NAMS. There have been empiric reports over the years that the use of estrogen reduces the onset or severity of dementia, macular degeneration, cataracts, tooth loss, and skin wrinkling, and many women choose to use hormones for these quality-of-life issues. This goes back to the decision to individualize each woman's therapy based on her goals and risk factors. Properly counseled about the risks of hormone therapy, many women are continuing to use hormones for these issues. That choice is between the woman and her provider.

A pharmaceutical company's FDA application information shows that 0.014 mg of transdermal estradiol in the form of a weekly patch has been shown to be effective for prevention of osteoporosis, but it does not develop blood levels high enough to increase or build an endometrial lining. Therefore, the FDA is allowing this medication to be used as an unopposed estrogen in women with a uterus. The information in the package insert for this medication suggests a progestogen challenge test at 6- to 12-month intervals. Another controversial unopposed estrogen use is topical vaginal products. Several studies suggest that there is minimal to no increase in blood estrogen levels with the use of the vaginal ring, creams, and tablets. Over the years, there have been suggestions that a woman with a uterus using these products be given a progestogen withdrawal challenge test on an annual basis. These recommendations are variably applied. Again, discussion with the woman about her choices is probably the most important management suggestion.

So, what hormones are currently being used? The delivery systems and types of hormones have changed dramatically over the past 10 to 20 years. This discussion will provide some information on the most commonly prescribed products. There are, however, two first important guiding principles for hormone therapy management that should be discussed.

First is the bioequivalence of oral and transdermal estrogen products. The following doses of the different types of estrogen supposedly provide the same blood levels after administration, and so they are considered biologically equivalent:

Oral conjugated estrogen: 0.625 mg Oral estradiol: 1.0 mg Patch estradiol: 0.05 mg Biest/Triest: 2.5 mg orally Estradiol gel (Estrogel): 2 squirts Estradiol cream (Estrasorb): 2 packets

A dosage higher than these amounts would give higher-than-average blood levels, and dosages lower than these amounts would give lowerthan-average blood levels. It is acceptable to vary the estrogen dosage to meet the woman's symptom requirements.

The second guiding principle is that there is a minimal acceptable dosage of progestogen that will prevent hyperplasia or uterine cancer. One cannot go below the recommended amounts of progestogen or frequency intervals without the risk of hyperplasia and uterine cancer, so the recommended progestogen dosages should not be varied. For information on the various types of conventional estrogen products and the recommended progestogen dosages, see the North American Menopause Society website, menopause.org. This site offers a menopause guidebook that outlines all of the currently available conventional estrogen and progestogen products as well as a 47-page committee consensus opinion on progestogen usage. (See Appendix C for a list of conventional hormone preparations and some details about dosing.)

For purposes of the summary discussion in this chapter, these are the conventional hormone guidelines:

1. Estrogens. The most commonly used estrogens are the oral forms, and they come as estradiol (by product name and generic), conjugated animal-source estrogens (Premarin), a mixture of esterified vegetable estrogens (Enjuvia, Cenestin, Menest), esterified estrogens with methyl testosterone (Estratest and Syntest), and various generic forms. Estrogens also come in combination products containing an estrogen plus a progestogen and in transdermal patches, gels, and creams, as well as in a vaginal ring that provides transdermal systemic estrogen levels (Femring). Even some conventional practitioners are increasingly using compounded hormone therapy, which has the benefit of a variety of dosing forms and can be compounded as an oral capsule, a transdermal cream or gel, a vaginal tablet, or a sublingual-dissolving medication.

2. Combination products. The combinations of estrogen plus progestogen products are very popular because the woman can take one medication and get both hormones. These come in oral forms and in two patch brands. There is also a combination estrogen plus progestogen vaginal product called NuvaRing, which is a low-dose birth control product that has been used for perimenopausal symptom relief and cycle control. And again, there are compounded hormone products from the compounding pharmacies.

3. Progestogens. There are several commercially available non-bio-identical progestins in common usage today: Provera or Cycrin (medroxyprogesterone), Aygestin (norethindrone acetate), the minipill Micronor (norethindrone), and Megace (megestrol). Bio-identical progesterone is available in a product called Prometrium, in two dose forms. Compounding pharmacies can compound bio-identical progesterone in oral, sublingual, transdermal, or vaginal form. There is also a vaginal bio-identical progesterone, FDA approved for use in infertility, that comes in a 4 percent and 8 percent gel and can be used for vaginal application of systemic progesterone.

4. Vaginal estrogens. Vaginal estrogen products that are used only for urogenital atrophic problems are very weak estrogens and are not likely to increase blood levels. For many years, vaginal creams have been available in either estradiol or conjugated estrogens, but in the past 10 years or more, we have also had the three-month indwelling vaginal ring estrogen called Estring and vaginal tablets of estradiol called Vagifem. Compounded vaginal estrogen products in variable doses are also available. Conventional practitioners by and large do not use these and are particularly unaware of how to use vaginal estriol, as discussed in the alternative medicine section on hormone therapy.

Nonhormonal medical options have increased in popularity and understanding. For low bone density, a bisphosphonate such as Fosamax, Actonel, or Boniva or a selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM) such as Evista (raloxiphene) may be prescribed. Or for severe osteoporosis, parathyroid hormone (Forteo) which works on the bone in an entirely different way than hormones, SERMs, or bisphosphonates—may be recommended.

For insomnia, there are many different options depending on age, type of use (daily versus intermittent), and abuse potential of the patient. Most sleep aids are benzodiazepines, some are antihistamines, and a new one (Rozerem) works on melatonin receptors. Consult a physician well acquainted with the use of these medications.

For anxiety and depression, there are the common SSRIs (Prozac, Paxil, Celexa, Zoloft), newer SNRIs (Effexor, Cymbalta) and tricyclic antidepressants, and sedatives.

For vasomotor symptoms, a blood pressure med, a seizure drug, SSRIs, SNRIs, and ergots can be prescribed. None of these medications' actions on relieving sweats and flushes are understood—practitioners have just observed that some women on some medications had significant improvement in their symptoms. Most of the drugs are safe and easy to use, but some are expensive. The blood pressure med used is Clonidine, usually 0.1 to 0.2 mg daily at bedtime. The anti-epileptic drug gabapentin (Neurontin) is administered as 300 mg three times a day. Effexor and Paxil have shown a reduction in sweats and flushes in studies at 37.5 to 75 mg and 10 to 20 mg daily, respectively. However, SSRIs and SNRIs have been occasionally shown to cause vasomotor symptoms in men and women. Bellergal Spacetabs, an ergot and belladonna combination, were used for many years for vasomotor symptoms but are no longer made by its pharmaceutical company. Some compounding pharmacies supply it. There are no studies on it, but empirical reports have shown mixed results. It is used one to two times daily.

Sexual problems are commonly reported by women in midlife, and the treatment is very complex. Libido can be decreased because of estrogen deficiency, sudden surgical loss of testosterone from an oophorectomy (not from natural ovarian aging), or the administration of an oral estrogen, which can lower serum testosterone. Libido can decrease because of pain with intercourse, decreased skin sensation from loss of estrogen, chronic medical problems, medications, or most often from the woman's psychosocial environment. Sexual performance problems can have similar roots but are often the result of other diseases (hypertension, diabetes, atherosclerosis) that affect clitoral and pelvic blood flow or from medications used to treat other diseases (notably antidepressants). A few studies have been done on the use of testosterone to improve sexual function and have shown conflicting results. The work done by Dr. David Archer using testosterone patches (pending FDA approval) shows improvement in women who had bilateral oophorectomy but not those who have undergone natural menopause. Testosterone is not well absorbed orally, and it has potential health risks such as permanent voice change, hair growth on the face or body, loss of head hair, lipid elevations, acne/oily skin, and emotional side effects. More research is needed on the role of hormones in sexual dysfunction in women.

In summary, the conventional practitioner's use of hormone therapy and the standard of practice these days is limited to three areas of use: menopausal symptoms, osteoporosis prevention or treatment, and vaginal or urogenital atrophic symptoms. The formulations of type, dose, and delivery have significantly increased, and it is important to work with a provider who is capable and knowledgeable about the various products. Most women will do well on most hormone products, but for those women whose symptoms do not respond easily to these products, a knowledgeable menopause clinician can provide better guidance. It is important for a woman with a uterus to use a progestogen along with estrogen replacement. Women who have had a hysterectomy do not typically need progestogens. Hormone therapy is used for nonapproved, nonstandard reasons, and the patient needs to be counseled about risks and needs to define her goals. This is an acceptable practice as long as proper counseling is provided.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

Most women who are perimenopausal can feel comfortable starting on their own with the diet, exercise, herbs, nutritional supplements, and natural progesterone creams described in this chapter for the relief of menopause symptoms. Women who do not find adequate relief from these therapies will need to see a licensed primary care provider (naturopathic doctor, medical doctor, osteopathic doctor, nurse-practitioner, or physician's assistant) who preferably is educated in the range of options, not just conventional HRT.

My advice to all women is to at some time have a full evaluation by a practitioner who is educated in all the natural, hormonal, and pharmaceutical nonhormonal options. The only primary care practitioners that are trained in the medical school setting about all of these options are licensed naturopathic physicians. The purpose of this evaluation, as discussed in the overview section and the overview of alternative medicine, is to conduct a medical history, physical exam, and necessary laboratory and imaging studies to determine the risk for osteoporosis and heart disease. After a determination of whether you are at low risk, medium risk, or high risk for these conditions, a treatment plan will be recommended.

Using natural therapies versus using conventional or bio-identical HRT or some combination of the these is a very personal decision. A well-informed patient who also has the good fortune of having a well-informed, respectful, open-minded practitioner is in the best position to make appropriate decisions. Remember that any decision you make is reversible. Decisions can and do change over time. Menopause, aging, and our concerns about long-term health problems evolve over time, and balance is necessary. Naïveté is inappropriate, and over-medicalization of menopause is also inappropriate. Menopause is a normal and natural event of aging. It can be a time of strength, empowerment, personal growth, and positive, life-changing insights and decisions.

This page intentionally left blank

OVERVIEW

Menstrual cramps are one of the most common problems that women face, affecting over 50 percent of menstruating women. The term dysmenorrhea, derived from the Greek and meaning "difficult monthly flow," is commonly used to refer to painful menstruation. Dysmenorrhea is best classified as primary or secondary. In primary dysmenorrhea, painful menstrual cramps occur that have nothing to do with any physical abnormalities or identifiable pelvic disease. Secondary dysmenorrhea is painful menstrual cramps due to some specific pelvic or systemic condition such as endometriosis, pelvic inflammatory disease, adhesions, ovarian cysts, celiac disease, thyroid conditions, congenital malformations, narrowing of the cervical opening, polyps, or uterine fibroids. We will be focusing on primary dysmenorrhea in this chapter, although the treatments in this chapter for acute pain relief can be used in both primary and secondary dysmenorrhea.

Treatment for secondary dysmenorrhea is directed to treating the underlying cause of the condition, whether it is endometriosis, fibroids, or another condition. Menstrual cramps are a significant personal and public health problem for women. Of the 50 percent of menstruating women who are affected by menstrual cramps, about 10 percent have severe pain that renders them incapacitated for one to three days each month.¹ It is estimated that 600 million work hours are lost in a year in the United States because of untreated and incapacitating dysmenorrhea. Social and family life is also disrupted by the painful episodes.

Primary dysmenorrhea occurs most commonly between the ages of 20 and 24. Women in this age group experience the most severe pain. Women older than 24 have less painful cramping, and the overall incidence of primary dysmenorrhea tends to decrease with age-more rapidly in married women than in unmarried ones, possibly due to pregnancy and childbearing. Women who begin to menstruate at a younger age and have longer menstrual periods have increased severity of pain and more days of pain. In smokers, cramps tend to last longer. In fact, a recent study showed that there is a definite relationship between the amount of cigarette smoke exposure and menstrual cramps.² Being overweight is also an important risk factor for menstrual cramps, and it doubles the odds of having a long painful episode.³ Conversely, being underweight has also been shown to be an independent risk factor for dysmenorrhea.4

Primary dysmenorrhea usually appears within 6 to 12 months after the first menstrual period. The pain usually begins several hours before or just after the onset of menstruation and is often the most severe the first or second day of menstruation. It tends to be spasmodic and is strongest in the lower part of the abdomen above the pubic hairline, although it can often radiate to the back and along the inner aspects of the thighs. More than 50 percent of women with menstrual cramps also have additional symptoms including nausea and vomiting, fatigue, diarrhea, lower backache, and headache. Women with severe cases may also become dizzy and even faint. The symptoms may last from a few hours to one day but seldom last longer than two to three days. Some women have more congestive symptoms that are characterized by a dull aching in the low back and pelvis, bloating, and weight gain, along with some systemic symptoms

Clinical Features of Dysmenorrhea

- The initial onset is at or shortly after the first menstrual period (menarche). If dysmenorrhea starts two years or more after menarche, then other causes and secondary dysmenorrhea should be considered. Endometriosis is difficult to distinguish from primary dysmenorrhea because they produce similar symptoms. One distinction is that endometriosis tends to get worse with time.
- Duration of the pain is usually 48 to 72 hours, starting a few hours before or just after the onset of the flow. Pain that starts several days before the menses is less likely to be primary dysmenorrhea.
- The pain is cramping, or labor-like, although some women have more congestion and bloating.
- Findings on pelvic exam are normal.

including breast tenderness, headaches, and irritability.

Primary dysmenorrhea is diagnosed when other causes of pelvic pain have been excluded. Certain characteristic clinical features distinguish the diagnosis.

The cause of primary dysmenorrhea may be one of several factors, including behavioral and psychological factors; lack of blood flow, and therefore oxygen, to the uterus (ischemia); and increased production and release of uterine prostaglandins. Increased prostaglandins, specifically PgF2-alpha and PgE2, cause uterine contractions that lead to ischemia and pain. The levels of both PgF2-alpha and PgE2 are low during the first half of the menstrual cycle and the early part of the second half, then rise sharply and reach their highest levels shortly before and during the onset of menses. Studies have found that women with dysmenorrhea produce 8 to 13 times more PgF than do women without dysmenorrhea.1 This increase in prostaglandin production may be related to the decline in progesterone levels toward the end of the cycle just before the onset

of menses. Dysmenorrhea occurs only in cycles where ovulation has occurred. In cycles without ovulation, there is no increase in progesterone production in the second half of the cycle and then decline right before the onset of menses, as in a normal cycle, and there is subsequently no increase in the prostaglandin concentration in the lining of the uterus. These mechanisms form the basis for many of the therapies used, both natural and conventional.

OVERVIEW OF ALTERNATIVE TREATMENTS

An alternative approach to menstrual cramps due to primary dysmenorrhea needs to provide effective pain relief while at the same time correcting the underlying dysfunction that is creating the pain. Because it is a functional problem and not a disease state that is causing the pain, we can truly focus on a holistic approach by looking for aggravating factors in the diet, lifestyle, environment, and emotional realm. Dietary principles emphasizing good nutritional habits-eliminating junk foods, saturated fats, and trans fats; increasing omega-3 oils from fish, hemp oil, and flax oil; and increasing whole grains, fruits, and vegetables-provide a range of nutrients needed to prevent and treat menstrual cramps. Stress reduction can help relieve tension in the lower back and pelvic area that can worsen cramps. Improvements in posture improve the positioning of the spine and promote proper circulation and nerve stimulation to the pelvic organs.

Providing acute pain relief is one of the greatest challenges for natural medicine, whether it is pelvic pain, headaches, or musculoskeletal pain. Mild and moderate levels of pelvic pain are more treatable with natural therapies than is severe pain, although some women with severe pain will experience relief from the therapies that follow. Even when acute pain relief is not accomplished with alternative therapies, a treatment plan for the interim days of the month is important in order to reduce the severity of the recurring

KEY CONCEPTS

- Primary dysmenorrhea should be distinguished from secondary dysmenorrhea.
- Typical menstrual cramps are due to primary dysmenorrhea.
- Causes of secondary dysmenorrhea include endometriosis, pelvic inflammatory disease, adhesions, ovarian cysts, celiac disease, thyroid conditions, congenital malformations, narrowing of the cervical opening, polyps, and uterine fibroids.
- Seek adequate pain relief in addition to trying to correct the underlying mechanism that is causing the problem.
- About half of all women experience menstrual cramps.

menstrual cramp episodes over time. Having a natural therapeutic treatment plan for the chronic problem and using over-the-counter or prescription conventional medicines for acute pain relief can turn out to be the most effective plan. Over time, hopefully, the need for pain medications will decrease.

Many alternative practitioners have experience with natural therapies not included in this book such as acupuncture, homeopathy, and hands-on techniques that may offer effective help for many women with menstrual cramps. I often encourage women to try an herbal or nutritional product for a couple of hours during acute pain. If no relief is accomplished within that amount of time, then switch to a pharmaceutical method of pain control. As each successive month of treating the chronic problem goes by, a measure of the success of that treatment will be a decreased need to use the pain relief medication.

It is important not to overlook the role of stressors in our personal lives that can be at least part of the cause of our pain and can also affect our ability to deal with pain. A recent study of over 380 otherwise healthy women demonstrated that women who experienced high stress were twice as likely to experience dysmenorrhea in the following

PREVENTION

- Good posture and spinal alignment may decrease the tendency toward menstrual cramps.
- Stress reduction may help to relax the pelvic and low back muscles.
- Some women may find that their menstrual cramping is worsened when they use tampons; these women should switch to sanitary napkins.
- A copper IUD (Paraguard) for contraception may worsen spasmodic menstrual cramping. A progestin-containing IUD (Mirena) and hormonal contraception can improve chronic dysmenorrhea. Barrier methods of contraception have no bearing on dysmenorrhea.
- Maintain a healthy weight.
- Avoid smoking.
- Food allergies may contribute to water retention, gas, and bloating, which may contribute to congestive menstrual pain.
- An increase in exercise may improve blood flow to the uterus and create an optimal pelvic musculature that will tend to reduce the incidence of menstrual discomfort.
- Maintain optimal digestive function. Irregular bowel habits may be correlated to primary dysmenorrhea.
- Reduce foods that may contribute to an excess of the prostaglandins that cause uterine contractions: dairy products, beef, pork, lamb, poultry, eggs, deep-fried foods, and trans fats found in potato chips, french fries, and partially hydrogenated packaged foods.

cycle, especially among those women with a prior history of painful menses.⁵ Psychotherapy can help a woman gain insight into these influences and learn how to reduce and manage stressors. Research has shown that behavior therapy has been highly effective in reducing the symptoms of spasmodic dysmenorrhea.⁶

Biofeedback treatment with a relaxation practice has also proven to be significant in reducing dysmenorrhea.⁷ After two months of biofeedback treatments, sufferers of menstrual cramps had dramatic declines in the severity and duration of their symptoms as well as a decline in the amount of medication they were taking. Meditation, visualization, and relaxation techniques are used by many women both as a primary form of pain management and also in combination with other therapies. My advice would be to seek the advice of a trained person to help you learn which method may be most appropriate and effective for you.

Nutrition

A healthy diet is fundamental to an effective menstrual cramps treatment program. In fact, something as simple as eating breakfast regularly was found to be inversely related to the incidence and severity of dysmenorrhea.8 Many women experience relief from cramps just by switching to good nutritional habits. There are two basic aspects to making changes in the diet. One is to decrease the intake of foods that may be contributing to the condition, and the other is to increase the intake of foods that provide a wide range of important nutrients necessary to bring about a functional change in the pelvic area. One study supports this theory by demonstrating that dietary intake of fish, eggs, and fruit was associated with less dysmenorrhea while wine intake was associated with more dysmenorrhea.9 In addition, another study advocates a vegetarian diet as a way to increase sex-hormone-binding globulin and decrease body weight and the severity and duration of menstrual cramps.¹⁰

The most important foods to avoid are those that are high in arachidonic acid. This is the polyunsaturated fatty acid that the body uses to produce the series-2 prostaglandins (PgE2)—the ones that cause muscle and uterine contractions. Egg yolks, red meat, and poultry are the main sources of arachidonic acid.

In addition, many people are allergic to dairy products or lack the enzymes to digest them. Digestive problems such as bloating and gas can intensify with menstrual cramps, adding to the overall discomfort. Reducing or even eliminating the intake of milk, cheese, cottage cheese, butter, ice cream, and yogurt may be enough to have a significant impact for as many as one-third of women with menstrual cramps.

Saturated fats from nondairy sources can also intensify menstrual cramps by stimulating the PgE2 series. Most of our saturated fats come from animal products, although a few are from vegetable sources such as palm oil or coconut oil. Animal foods to reduce or avoid that contain saturated fat include beef, pork, lamb, and even chicken and turkey. Even though chicken and turkey are lower in saturated fat, they are actually higher in arachidonic acid than red meats.

Salt can be another aggravating factor for women with menstrual cramps. Too much dietary salt can increase fluid retention and worsen bloating that contributes to the congestive symptoms of menstrual cramps. Canned and frozen foods, fast foods, and processed/packaged foods are all suspect for high amounts of salt. Read the labels carefully. You may be surprised to find that some of the things you thought were healthy, such as certain salad dressings, are actually loaded with salt. Even a bean burrito at a fast-food restaurant will be high in salt. Look for "no salt" labels on your packaged foods, and go light on the saltshaker in the kitchen and at the table.

Although sugar in the diet may not be directly related to menstrual cramps, sugar does interfere with the absorption and metabolism of some B vitamins and minerals. Deficiencies or less than optimal amounts of some of these nutrients may worsen muscle tension and increase the contractile nature of the uterus. High-sugar foods are often the same foods that are high in saturated fats.

Women with monthly menstrual cramps run the risk of overusing alcohol because of its sedative and pain-relieving effects. This overuse may lead to other problems, including alcoholism and substance abuse. Nonaddictive pain relief medications would be far preferable. Alcohol also depletes the nutrient status of many B vitamins and minerals such as magnesium. These deficien-
cies and nutritional imbalances can lead to difficulty in regulating muscle function and worsen muscle spasms during menstruation. Alcohol may also interfere with the liver's ability to metabolize hormones effectively and efficiently. This may lead to heavier flows. A heavier amount of blood creates more clots, and the passage of clots will trigger an increase in the uterine muscle spasms.

The best medicinal foods for menstrual cramps are those foods that increase the antispasmodic prostaglandins, the PgE1 and PgE3 series. Certain fish, including salmon, tuna, halibut, and sardines, contain omega-3 oils, specifically eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), a fatty acid that helps to relax muscles by the production of PgE3.11 Many seeds and nuts are sources of linoleic acid and linolenic acid, also precursors to these musclerelaxing prostaglandins. The best sources of both of these fatty acids are flaxseed, hemp seeds, and pumpkin seeds. Sesame seeds and sunflower seeds are excellent sources of linoleic acid. The oils from the seeds of flax, hemp, pumpkin, sesame, and sunflower are the best oils to use in salad dressings. Flax, hemp, and pumpkin oils should not be heated, but sesame and sunflower are acceptable cooking oils. In many cases the seeds, nuts, and fruits from which these oils are extracted are healthy choices as well.

To round out the healthy changes in the diet, emphasize whole grains, legumes, vegetables, and fruits. Whole grains such as brown rice, oats, millet, barley, rye, amaranth, and buckwheat provide sources of magnesium, calcium, potassium, fiber, vitamin E, B-complex vitamins, and protein. Specifically, intake of dietary fiber has been shown to be inversely proportional to menstrual pain.¹² Both calcium and magnesium reduce muscular tension, fiber helps to regulate the bowel function, and potassium has a diuretic effect that can aid in reducing bloating. Beans are also good sources of calcium, magnesium, potassium, and protein. Many vegetables are high in the calcium, magnesium, and potassium that help to relieve and prevent muscle spasms. Fruits are an excellent form of natural anti-inflammatory substances like bioflavonoids and vitamin C. These nutrients not only strengthen the blood vessels that can aid circulation to areas of muscle tension in the pelvis but also reduce the pain from menstrual cramps through their anti-inflammatory effect.

Nutritional Supplements

Vitamin B₁ (**Thiamine**). A large, welldesigned study found that 100 mg of thiamine daily helped to alleviate dysmenorrhea completely in 87 percent of study subjects, while only 5 percent had no relief.¹³

Vitamin B₁

100 mg daily

Vitamin B₃ (Niacin). Niacin or vitamin B₃ has been shown in clinical research to be effective in 87.5 percent of women with menstrual cramps.14 Niacin was given in 100 mg doses twice daily throughout the month, and then every two to three hours during the periods of menstrual cramps. Although a sometimes uncomfortable niacin flush could easily occur at the escalated dosing, none of the women in the study stopped the medication due to the flushing. Interestingly, the women who received no relief of their menstrual cramps were frequently the women who reported no flushing. The vasodilating effect of niacin (which causes flushing) may indeed be the main treatment effect. Vasospasm of the uterine arteries may be responsible for the menstrual pain.

Vitamin B₃ (Niacin)

100 mg twice daily throughout the month 100 mg every 2–3 hours during episodes of menstrual cramps

Vitamin C and Rutin. In a follow-up study, the author of the niacin study also found that rutin with ascorbic acid increased the effectiveness of niacin in the treatment of menstrual cramps.¹⁵ In twice as many women as the niacinonly study, the same dose of niacin (100 mg twice daily regularly and every two or three hours during menstrual cramps) was given while also adding 300 mg of vitamin C and 60 mg of rutin daily. These additions slightly improved the response in up to 90 percent of the women. This increased effectiveness was thought to be due to improving the permeability of the capillaries, thus potentiating the vasodilating effect of the niacin. In most cases, niacin was not effective unless it had been taken 7 to 10 days before the onset of the menstrual flow.

Vitamin C

300-3,000 mg per day

Rutin

60-1,000 mg per day

Vitamin E. Vitamin E was studied back in the 1950s for the treatment of spasmodic dysmenorrhea. It was used in doses of 150 IU ten days premenstrual and during the first four days of the menstrual period. In approximately 70 percent of the women tested, it helped to relieve menstrual discomfort within two menstrual cycles.16 A more recent, large, well-designed study evaluated vitamin E at a dose of 200 IU two times per day beginning two days before the start of menses and continuing through the third day of the cycle and found a significant decrease in dysmenorrhea and overall blood loss after two months.¹⁷ I generally recommend higher amounts of vitamin E because there are so many other benefits for women, including relieving cyclic breast pain, raising beneficial HDL cholesterol, and providing antioxidant protection.

Vitamin E

150-800 IU per day

Calcium. Calcium supplementation for menstrual cramps has been used by women as a

self-care treatment for many years. Muscles need calcium to maintain their normal muscle tone; if they are deficient in calcium, they can more easily cramp. This is true of the uterine muscle as well. Low calcium intake is associated with menstrual water retention and greater pain during the menses.¹⁸ The typical American diet supplies about 450 to 550 mg of calcium per day, falling short of the recommended daily allowance of 1,000 mg per day in menstruating women.

Calcium

Supplement the diet so that total calcium is 1,000 mg per day

Omega-3 Fatty Acids. Essential fatty acids are the raw materials from which prostaglandins, beneficial hormone-like substances, are made. There are two essential fatty acids: linoleic acid (omega-6 family) and linolenic acids (omega-3 family). Linoleic and linolenic acids cannot be made by the body and must be supplied daily in the diet from either food or supplements. The typical American diet is often much higher in omega-6 oils than it is in omega-3 oils. As a result, many of us end up with the PgE2 prostaglandins that cause muscle contractions and pain.

Another problem is that our bodies need a certain amount of linoleic acid to convert to gamma linolenic acid (GLA), which leads to the production of the PgE1 prostaglandins (the antispasmodic and anti-inflammatory prostaglandins). The conversion of linoleic acid to GLA and the beneficial prostaglandins requires the presence of magnesium, vitamin B₆, zinc, vitamin C, and niacin. Women who are deficient in these nutrients won't be able to make this conversion adequately. Supplementation with flax oil (high in omega-3 fatty acids), hemp oil, borage oil, black current oil, and evening primrose oil (all high in linoleic acid and GLA) is one way of favorably altering the synthesis of the beneficial prostaglandins; the end result likely will be fewer uterine contractions and less menstrual pain.

As mentioned earlier, after the rise of progesterone in the second half of the menstrual cycle followed by its decline right before menstruation, omega-6 fatty acids, particularly arachidonic acid, are released. Subsequently, an increase in PgF2alpha and PgE2 occurs, causing uterine contractions leading to ischemia and pain. Instead of inhibiting ovulation and therefore the progesterone effect, or inhibiting the synthesis of prostaglandins with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents, the omega-3 fatty acids, eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), and docahexaenoic acid (DHA) compete with omega-6 fatty acids and result in the production of the friendlier antispasmodic and anti-inflammatory prostaglandins, series 1 and 3.

Based on these observations and mechanisms. using fish oil containing omega-3 fatty acids as a supplement seems beneficial. Dietary supplementation with fish oils was tested in 42 adolescent girls with dysmenorrhea.¹¹ The first group of 21 girls received fish oil (1,080 mg EPA and 720 mg DHA) and 1.5 mg vitamin E daily for two months, followed by a placebo for an additional two months. In the second group, 21 girls received a placebo for the first two months, followed by fish oil for two more months. At the conclusion of the study, on a 7-point scale, a score of 4 being moderately effective and a 7 meaning totally effective, 73 percent of the girls rated the supplementation greater than or equal to 4. Another, more recent study looked at supplementation with krill oil in decreasing menstrual symptoms, including cramps compared to standard fish oil, and found the krill oil to be superior in decreasing the severity of dysmenorrhea as evidenced by a decreased use of analgesics.19

Fish Oils

1,080 mg EPA and 720 mg DHA per day

Evening Primrose Oil (EPO)

500-1,000 mg up to 3 times per day

Melatonin. I have no personal experience prescribing melatonin for menstrual cramps, but I think it has potential based on some of its known biochemical effects. It has been proposed that insufficient melatonin secretion during the second half of the menstrual cycle (the luteal phase) is a factor in primary dysmenorrhea.²⁰ This hypothesis is based on several factors: (1) melatonin levels are low at ovulation and increase premenstrually three- to sixfold and reach their peak at menstruation;²¹ (2) melatonin decreases uterine contractility;²² (3) melatonin exerts analgesic effects;²³ (4) melatonin stimulates progesterone secretion;²⁴ and (5) melatonin inhibits uterine prostaglandin synthesis and release.²⁵

Since melatonin has been shown to have all these effects, supplementation in order to achieve high concentrations during menstruation may serve to oppose the effects of prostaglandins and therefore prevent the occurrence of dysmenorrhea.

Melatonin

2.5 mg per day, taken 3-4 days prior to onset of menses

Botanicals

Rose. A recent study suggests that rose tea consumption helped to decrease both pain and psychological distress of women during menses.²⁶ In addition, another study showed that abdominal massage of rose, lavender, or clary sage essential oil in a base of almond oil was more effective than almond oil alone in decreasing the severity of dysmenorrhea.²⁷

Valerian (Valeriana Officinalis). Valerian traditionally has been used primarily as a sedative and antispasmodic for the treatment of anxiety disorders, sleep disorders, and a diverse array of conditions associated with pain. Valerian contains an important class of compounds called valepotriates and valeric acid, which are found exclusively in this perennial plant native to North America and Europe. It is not difficult to see how valerian would help to relieve pain, anxiety, and insomnia because both valepotriates and valeric acid are capable of binding to the same receptors in the brain as the pharmaceutical drug Valium.²⁸

Although valerian has not been scientifically studied for menstrual cramps, it has been shown to relax the spasmodic contractions of intestinal muscles.²⁹ Both the uterus and intestines contain smooth muscles. In clinical practice, valerian is usually a significant feature of an alternative medicine approach to painful menstruation. It is most practical to take valerian in tincture form or capsules. Many people prefer valerian capsules because the tincture has a very bitter taste. Attempts to disguise the taste can be made by placing the tincture in a small amount of fruit juice and then following that with several swallows of plain juice. Valerian may make you tired and sleepy, so it is advisable to stay home and rest or take a nap.

Valerian

1 tsp tincture or 1–2 capsules every 3–4 hours or as needed for pain

Crampbark (Viburnum Opulus) and Black Haw (Viburnum Prunifolium). Both of these species of viburnum are mentioned repeatedly in the traditional botanical reference books as uterine relaxants and general antispasmodics.³⁰ They have been used mainly for menstrual cramps, bearing-down uterine pains, and chronic uterine and ovarian pains. Animal studies have confirmed that both species have an antispasmodic effect on the uterus.³¹ Laboratory studies on human uterine tissue also have confirmed that *Viburnum prunifolium* exhibits a relaxant effect on the uterine tissue.³²

When the menstrual pains are of either a congestive or spasmodic nature and include low back pains, especially if the pains radiate down the thighs, there is no better herbal choice than crampbark.

The root bark of black haw is reported to contain several active constituents that are uter-

ine relaxants, one of which is scopoletin, which has been historically used as a specific medicine for menstrual cramps with severe low back and bearing-down pelvic pains. For menstrual pains associated with a profuse menstrual flow and intermittent severe pains, black haw would probably be a more specific choice than crampbark. American Indians used the root and/or stem for the treatment of painful menses, to prevent miscarriage, and as a postpartum antispasmodic.

Crampbark

 $\frac{1}{2}$ tsp tincture or 1 capsule every 2–3 hours

Black Haw

¹/₄ tsp tincture or 1 capsule every 2–4 hours

Caution: Both viburnum species should be avoided during pregnancy except in the hands of an experienced herbal practitioner.

Ginger (*Zingiber Officinale*). Ginger is typically known for its stimulatory effects on digestion and easing the nausea of an upset stomach. The pungent constituents in ginger, shagaol and gingerol, also have an inhibitory effect on inflammatory and spasmodic prostaglandins. Although ginger has not been studied specifically in relation to menstrual cramps, it does have antispasmodic effects on the smooth muscle of the intestines. Given that the uterus is also made up of smooth muscle, and ginger has a long history of traditional use for treating spasmodic dysmenorrhea, I use it in clinical practice with great confidence in combination with other herbs.

Ginger

1-2 g of dried ginger powder 1-2 times daily

Black Cohosh (*Cimicifuga Racemosa***).** Black cohosh has gained increased attention in the last few years largely as an herb for the relief of menopause symptoms. However, when I was first studying botanical medicine, this herb was known more for its relaxant effect on the uterus in dysmenorrhea, false labor pains, and threatened miscarriage. It can be helpful in both congestive and spasmodic menstrual cramps of even a severe nature. If the menses is also associated with PMS irritability and anxiety, delayed or irregular menstrual cycles, or scanty flow, then black cohosh would be an even more indicated herbal choice for menstrual cramps.

Black Cohosh

 $\frac{1}{4}-\frac{1}{2}$ tsp tincture or 1–2 capsules every 2–4 hours

Other Traditional Herbs to Consider. Herbs such as false unicorn root (*Chamaelirium luteum*), wild yam (*Dioscorea villosa*), passion-flower (*Passiflora incarnata*), German chamomile (*Matricaria chamomilla*), blue cohosh (*Caulophyllum thalictroides*), and hops (*Humulus lupu-lus*) have an independent antispasmodic or sedative effect on the uterus in their own right. They are often used in combination with each other or in formulations with some of the more dominant choices such as crampbark, black haw, valerian, and black cohosh.

Additional herbs may also be considered for their different actions. For example, herbs that have an anti-inflammatory effect, such as white willow and ginger; diuretic herbs that decrease the pelvic congestion, such as parsley, dandelion leaf, or horsetail; and herbs that promote circulation, such as ginkgo, may also have a role in reducing the pain experienced from dysmenorrhea.

Natural Progesterone. As stated earlier, it is believed that the drop in progesterone premenstrually results in an increased production of arachidonic acid by the endometrium. This stimulates PgE2 release and uterine contractions. If we can temper or delay this drop in progesterone premenstrually, then, in effect, natural progesterone can be used to inhibit the uterine contractions, ischemia, and pain during menstruation.

Remember, though, that some decline in progesterone is necessary in order to trigger the

onset of blood flow. Natural progesterone may allow a slower decline or a delayed decline. Thus, some women do indeed find that a natural progesterone cream, applied topically for 3 to 12 days prior to onset of menses, will reduce menstrual cramps.

Natural Progesterone Cream

Apply $\frac{1}{4}$ tsp of cream (>400 mg/oz) 2 times per day for 3–12 days before the expected onset of menses.

Exercise

The effects of both special exercises³³⁻³⁵ and general regular physical exercise on primary dysmenorrhea have been studied. No discrepancies exist in the results from the first group of studiesspecial exercises are reported consistently to reduce or eliminate menstrual pain. For example, one researcher found symptom reduction in 89.3 percent of 129 dysmenorrheic women who adhered to his program of special exercises. Similarly, another researcher, investigating 141 dysmenorrheic girls 14 to 18 years of age from two different high schools, found that 92 percent of participants in one of the schools were "cured" or improved after being given a set of specific exercises to reduce menstrual pain.³⁶ (A girl was considered cured "if she was free of pain for at least three menstrual periods" following the performance of the prescribed exercises.) The experiment was conducted from mid-September 1956 to mid-June 1957. The results for the second school were 76 percent "cured."

The three studies on the effects of general regular physical exercise on dysmenorrhea offer conflicting results. One group of investigators³⁷ conducted a 12-week experiment that compared two groups of dysmenorrheic women who volunteered to either walk/jog or to act as sedentary controls. The experimental group reported significantly less severe menstrual symptoms than the controls. In contrast, another group of investigators reported a 30 percent increase in menstrual

Sample Treatment Plan for Dysmenorrhea

Dietary Recommendations

- Increase salmon, tuna, halibut, sardines, herring, fruits, vegetables, and whole grains.
- Decrease dairy, salt, sugar, red meat, poultry, and eggs.

For Acute Pain Management

- Calcium carbonate: 1,000–1,500 mg during pain
- Valerian: 1 tsp tincture or 1–2 capsules every 3–4 hours
- Crampbark and/or black haw: 2 capsules every 3-4 hours
- Relaxation techniques
- Consider combination products containing niacin, borage, vitamin E, calcium, crampbark,

symptoms in regularly exercising over sedentary student nurses.³⁸ However, a more recent, controlled study again validated the hypothesis that regular exercise decreases menstrual symptoms in finding that "high exercisers experienced the greatest positive effect and sedentary women the least."³⁹

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

Two groups of drugs are highly effective against dysmenorrhea: oral contraceptives and prostaglandin synthetase inhibitors, also known as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). The choice of medication depends on whether a woman needs oral contraceptives for birth control, whether she has any allergies to aspirin or contraindications to oral contraceptives such as prior deep venous thrombosis, whether she has a history of gastric ulcers, and her age.

Women desiring birth control should probably use oral contraceptives as the first agent of choice. Combination oral contraceptives reduce prostaglandin levels and menstrual flow, and approximately 80 percent of patients achieve near-complete relief of dysmenorrhea. A newer valerian, and black cohosh: 3 capsules every 3 hours during acute pain (see the Resources section for formulation sources)

Use Throughout the Month

- Niacin: 100 mg twice daily
- Fish oils: 1,080 mg EPA and 720 mg DHA daily
- Vitamin E: 200–400 IU daily
- Crampbark and/or black haw and/or black cohosh: 1–2 capsules daily
- Consider combination products containing niacin, borage, vitamin E, calcium, crampbark, valerian, and black cohosh: 2 capsules for daily pain (see the Resources section for formulation sources)

regimen of oral contraceptive use may be even more effective. Reducing the pill-free interval to approximately four days reduces the volume of menstrual bleeding beyond the usual reduction seen in the seven-day pill-free interval and suppresses ovulation more effectively, further reducing the production of prostaglandins. Pain control with oral contraceptives is probably the result of reduced volume of menstrual fluid and suppression of ovulation, which reduces uterine prostaglandin levels.

You may need to try several oral contraceptives before you find one you are comfortable with. The majority of oral contraceptive side effects come from the progestin. Use the medications for several months before you decide whether they are effective, rather than giving up after the first cycle, and be willing to try different brands if necessary. Oral contraceptives, if successful, can be used throughout a woman's entire reproductive cycle and into her early 50s. If dysmenorrhea is reduced but not significantly eliminated, an NSAID can also be added.

For women who do not need contraception or do not tolerate or choose to take oral contra-

Exercise Recommendations for Menstrual Cramps

If not exercising regularly, incorporate exercise into your daily routine. (See Appendix A.)

Try the following special exercises for moderate to severe dysmenorrhea (adopted from Haman³³ and Golub³⁶). For mild menstrual pain, do only one or two of the exercises. Do these exercises twice a day for 10 consecutive days before menses.

Exercise 1

- Stand at a right angle to the wall with left elbow on the wall on a level with the left shoulder.
- Tilt pelvis forward.
- Keeping knees slightly flexed, to avoid hyperextending them, move left hip until it touches wall.
- Return to original position.
- Repeat 5 times.
- Repeat sequence with right elbow on the wall.

Exercise 2

- Stand facing the wall with both elbows on wall on a level with shoulders.
- Without moving elbows or feet and keeping knees slightly flexed, to avoid hyperextending

them, move pelvis away from wall and then toward it until pelvis touches the wall.

- Return to original position.
- Repeat 5 times.

Exercise 3

- Stand with feet 12 inches apart and arms raised to the side at shoulder level.
- Keeping knees slightly flexed, to avoid hyperextending them, twist trunk to the right and bend forward, attempting to touch the right ankle with the left hand.
- Return to original position.
- Repeat sequence in the opposite direction.
- Repeat 5 times.

Exercise 4

- Stand with feet a few inches apart and arms at the sides.
- Swing arms forward and upward, simultaneously raising the right leg backward.
- Return to the original position.
- Repeat with the left leg.
- Repeat 5 times.

ceptives, prostaglandin synthetase inhibitors can be used. These nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs reduce menstrual fluid prostaglandins and their metabolites, resulting in decreased uterine contractility and menstrual pain. They also somewhat decrease the amount of menstrual flow. They are most effective if given before cramping begins and are usually only taken for two to three days per cycle.

There are several groups of prostaglandin synthetase inhibitors, including medications such as aspirin, ibuprofen, naproxen, and mefenamic acid. The aryl-propionic acid derivatives such as ibuprofen and naproxen are easily available over the counter and have been highly successful. Patients achieve a significant reduction in dysmenorrhea 60 to 90 percent of the time. Aspirin has not been shown to be any more effective than a placebo and is not generally used by women for menstrual cramps. However, aspirin in association with other proprietary agents in a combination medication such as Midol is reported by patients to be effective.

Another category of NSAIDs includes meclofenamate (Meclomen) and mefenamic acid (Ponstel). They have been available for more than 20 years and have been highly effective. They are used when cramps begin. COX-II inhibitors such as Celebrex have been very effective in the treatment of dysmenorrhea. However, some head-to-head trials with the other NSAIDs have not shown them to be more effective, and they are significantly more expensive and possibly have an increase in side effects. Side effects of all prostaglandin synthetase

236 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

inhibitors can include headaches, stomach or intestinal upset (specifically gastritis or ulcers), and a tendency to feel fatigued. Serious complications involve kidney damage and gastrointestinal bleeding. Recommended doses for acute menstrual pain are as follows:

Ibuprofen: 600 mg every 6 to 8 hours

- Naproxen (Naprosyn): 500 mg every 12 hours
- Naproxen sodium (Aleve): two 220-mg tablets every 6 hours
- Naproxen sodium (Anaprox DS): 550 mg every 6 to 8 hours
- Mefenamic acid (Ponstel): two 250-mg tablets at the onset of pain, followed by one tablet every 8 hours
- Meclofenamate (Meclomen): 100 mg every 8 hours

Celebrex: 200 to 400 mg once daily

For those who do not respond to oral contraceptives or other medications, it is best to consider laparoscopy to rule out endometriosis or another pelvic disease. Usually, when the oral contraceptives or the NSAIDs work, the practitioner will consider that the patient has primary dysmenorrhea, which is not associated with another pelvic disease. If the patient has a negative laparoscopy and oral contraceptives or NSAIDs do not help the dysmenorrhea, she may be carefully watched and administered intermittent narcotic medications under the ongoing supervision of a physician. Narcotic medications should be avoided when possible because of the potential for tolerance and abuse. They should be used only when other options and diseases have been excluded.

The levonorgestrel intrauterine system in the Mirena IUD substantially reduces menstrual flow approximately 80 percent as a bonus to the excellent contraception it provides. It has also been found to significantly reduce menstrual cramps and might be a good option for women seeking both contraception and treatment of menstrual cramps.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

We need to remember that primary dysmenorrhea is pain during menses that exists without any identifiable pelvic disease. You must be certain that your menstrual pain is indeed primary dysmenorrhea and not pain due to pelvic disease such as endometriosis, adenomyosis, uterine fibroids, pelvic infection, or an ovarian tumor. These conditions need to be diagnosed by a licensed health-care practitioner capable of ordering the tests necessary to exclude these pelvic diseases if you are not responding to simple treatments.

If your pain is being well managed by conventional treatments, but you are experiencing some unwanted side effects, an alternative practitioner can work collaboratively to reduce these side effects. Alternative practitioners may also be consulted for their expertise in using effective alternative therapies and higher doses of natural anti-inflammatories, herbs that may not be easily accessible for self-treatment, or for a comprehensive treatment plant looking at the relationship of the menstrual cramps to the whole system and whole person.

OSTEOPOROSIS

OVERVIEW

As the U.S. population ages, certain diseases and medical conditions more common among aging Americans are gaining greater public attention. Osteoporosis, a serious and disabling disease and the most prevalent metabolic bone disease in Western societies, is one such condition. Fortunately, osteoporosis can and should be prevented and, when present, treated. Osteoporosis affects 75 million people in Europe, the United States, and Japan. In the United States alone, it affects 25 million people and causes 1.5 million fractures annually.¹

In the United States the rates of osteoporosis and fractures vary with ethnicity, with African-Americans having the highest bone mineral density (BMD) and Asian-Americans having the lowest. After adjusting for body weight, one large study of postmenopausal women revealed that white American women and Hispanic American women had the highest risk of osteoporotic fracture. This was followed by Native Americans, African-Americans, and Asian-Americans.² So while Asian-Americans have the lowest BMD, they also have a lower fracture rate, which we think may be related to body size.

Most cases of osteoporosis occur in postmenopausal women, and the rates increase with declining BMD and with age. Of white American women, 13 to 18 percent who are 50 years or older have osteoporosis of the hip.³ An additional 37 to 50 percent have low bone mass (osteopenia) of the hip, again increasing with age and worse in women age 80 and older.

Osteoporosis is defined as a skeletal disease characterized by low bone mass and a deterioration in bone microarchitecture leading to bone fragility and susceptibility to fracture⁴ and is responsible for about 90 percent of all hip and spine fractures in white American women aged 65 to 84.⁵ The World Health Organization (WHO) has defined osteoporosis as a bone mineral density that is 2.5 standard deviations (SD) below the mean peak value in young adults.⁶ This is called the T-score. A T-score that is between 1 and 2.5 SD below the mean is called osteopenia.

These definitions are useful because they provide objective criteria, but they have limitations because they ignore the importance of other determinants of bone strength. The definitions also ignore other risk factors for fractures in elderly women such as a maternal history of hip fracture, age, and poor balance. For example, most postmenopausal women with fractures do not have a bone density score that meets the WHO osteoporosis criteria.7 The World Health Organization, the National Osteoporosis Foundation, and other expert panels are in the process of releasing new guidelines to estimate a woman's risk of an osteoporotic fracture, using a bone density test along with these other risks. These new guidelines will provide better direction for treatment interventions.

Although low bone mass, as measured by bone density, is important in determining a person's risk of fracture, other risk factors are equally important. These include maternal history of a hip fracture, previous vertebral fracture, previous hip fracture, high fall risk, and others.⁸ Assessing a person's likelihood of a fall (use of sedative medications, inability to stand unaided from a sitting position, poor vision, muscle weakness) is very important as well. Low bone mass may be due to osteoporosis and/or poor bone quality. Vitamin D deficiency and other causes of hyperparathyroidism can lead to poor bone quality as well. Clinically, the term *osteoporosis* is used in reference to loss of bone associated with relatively atraumatic fractures of the ribs, spine, wrist, and hips.

Fractures associated with osteoporosis are distinguished by three characteristics:9

- Greatly increased incidence with aging, with fractures occurring 2 to 100 times more among adults over age 75 than among younger people
- · Greater incidence among women than men
- Associated with modest trauma

The three most common fracture sites are the spine, hip, and forearm. For a 50-year-old American woman, the risk of having an osteoporotic fracture in her remaining years is estimated to be 40 percent,¹⁰ and two-thirds of the fractures occur after age 75. Osteoporosis-related fractures will develop in half of all women and one-fifth of all men older than 65 years.¹¹ Hip fractures, with a median age of 82, are particularly life altering. Within the first year following a hip fracture, the mortality rate is increased by up to 20 percent, as many as 25 percent of the survivors will be confined to long-term care facilities one year after the fracture, and 50 percent will have at least some long-term loss of mobility.¹²

Vertebral fractures (fractures of spinal vertebrae) occur a little younger, on average in a woman's mid-70s. Multiple vertebral fractures, or one severe one, can cause severe pain, loss of height, and an exaggerated curvature of the midspine called thoracic kyphosis. These pains and deformities can restrict bending and reaching and can greatly increase the risk of additional vertebral fractures.^{13, 14} Fractures of the thoracic spine can also restrict lung function, cause digestive problems, ¹⁵ lower self-esteem and body image, and result in depression.¹⁶

Vertebral fractures are twice as common as either hip fractures or distal radius (wrist) fractures. The incidence of wrist fractures starts to rise immediately after menopause, with an incidence of about 15 percent by age 80, but a peak incidence about 20 to 25 years sooner. Each year, 172,000 wrist fractures occur that are the result of moderate trauma and rapid postmenopausal bone loss. The female to male ratio is 5:1. Wrist fractures are rarely fatal and cause much less disability than do hip and spinal fractures.^{17, 18}

How Osteoporosis Affects the Bone

There are two types of bone: trabecular and cortical. The skeleton is living tissue composed of about 75 percent cortical bone and 25 percent trabecular bone. The trabecular bone is the inside part of the bone where the bone marrow is. It is comprised of a network of structural tissue that prevents it from compressing with pressure (for example, from a fall). The cortical bone is the hard exterior of the bone that protects the bone from external trauma. Vertebrae are made up of 90 percent trabecular bone and only 10 percent cortical bone; the hip is 50:50, and the extremities are 90 percent cortical bone. Trabecular bone is concentrated in the vertebrae, pelvis, other flat bones, and at the ends of long bones like the upper and lower leg.

Trabecular bone is metabolically much more active and has a higher turnover rate than cortical bone. To provide support for the body, bone is continuously rebuilt to maintain an optimal structure. Any damage or fatigue effect is constantly repaired through a process of bone breakdown (resorption) and rebuilding (formation) called bone remodeling. Bone formation and resorption are interdependent processes; if one is altered, it directly affects the other. The cells that cause bone resorption are called osteoclasts and stimulate the production of acid and enzymes that dissolve bone mineral and proteins. Bone building cells, or osteoblasts, promote bone formation by creating a protein matrix, which consists primarily of collagen. This becomes calcified and results in mineralized bone.

Normal bone remodeling is a process that is balanced by bone resorption and bone formation.

In childhood, bone formation far exceeds bone remodeling, leading to longer, denser bones. During the adult years, bone resorption and bone formation are in balance, and total bone mass remains relatively stable. As we age, the osteoblasts and osteoclasts may no longer function in a balanced fashion. When there is an imbalance between bone resorption and bone formation, bone loss occurs, bone mass decreases, and fracture risk increases.

Bone loss can be osteoclast-mediated, as seen in osteoporosis, or osteoblast-mediated, as seen in bone cancers. In osteoporosis, osteoclastmediated bone loss outpaces the ability of osteoblasts to fill in the empty spaces. Certain problems cause different types of bone loss. Trabecular bone loss occurs with low estrogen levels, steroid use, and immobilization. So, when women choose not to take estrogen after menopause, they are more likely to lose trabecular bone and therefore may be at higher risk for vertebral and hip fractures. Cortical bone loss occurs with calcium and vitamin D abnormalities such as vitamin D deficiency and leads to an increased risk of extremity fractures. An extreme form of this is rickets, which presents with bowing of the femurs that results from small microfractures of those bones. Because of the differences in cortical and trabecular bone, many practitioners prefer to measure both the hip and the spine when doing bone density testing.

The Role of Menopause in Osteoporosis

As we age, bone resorption increases. This increase is worsened by a decrease in bone formation in women after menopause. Within the first few years of menopause, there is rapid bone loss due to lower levels of ovarian estrogen production. With less estrogen in the body, bone resorption is no longer inhibited. This decline in estrogen is the most significant factor in the increased bone loss associated with menopause.¹⁹

In the spine, bone loss of 2 percent per year begins about two to three years before the last menstrual period, and this accelerated rate of loss ends three to four years after menopause. At the hip, bone loss has an age-related rate of decline of about 0.5 percent per year. Over these five to seven years, it totals approximately 10.5 percent loss for the spine and 5.3 percent for the hip.²⁰ A slow and small amount of bone loss occurs from then on. Women older than 70 face other challenges that may accelerate their bone loss again such as increasing age and secondary hyperparathyroidism due to a drop in calcium absorption.

In women who have premature menopause (at or before age 40), whether spontaneous or by medical causes such as having both ovaries removed, chemotherapy, or pelvic radiation, there is a greater risk of low BMD compared to other women their age who are not menopausal.²¹ By the age of 70, when risk of fracture is greater in general, this issue of early premature menopause becomes moot because no matter how menopause was attained, women will have the same risk of low BMD or fractures.

The Role of Heredity, Nutrition, and Lifestyle in Osteoporosis

Genetic predisposition contributes significantly to bone mass and to the development of osteoporosis later in life. Heredity has the greatest influence on a woman's peak bone mass, and studies have suggested that 80 percent of the determinant of peak bone density is due to genetic factors.^{22, 23} Female children of women who experienced an osteoporotic fracture were found to have 3 to 7 percent lower bone mass than would be expected for their age.^{24, 25} Additional studies have shown that relatives of women with osteoporosis tend to have lower bone mass.²⁶ The racial differences observed in bone mass also suggest the role of a genetic factor.

Dietary factors and nutrient deficiencies alter bone growth and remodeling and may result in lower bone mass. Girls or women with a dietary abnormality such as anorexia nervosa have significantly lower bone mass than their healthy counterparts.²⁷ A balanced diet of plenty of vegetables, especially dark green leafy vegetables, nuts, seeds, whole grains, low-fat dairy, fish, and small amounts of animal meats play an important role in the development and maintenance of healthy bone. Adequate calcium and vitamin D intake is needed to achieve the genetically determined peak bone mass, to maintain bone mass once this peak has been achieved, and to maintain the strength and integrity of the skeleton throughout our lives.²⁸

The intake of calcium is most important during the bone-building years of childhood through adolescence and in old age. During puberty, calcium is required for bone growth and for the achievement of maximal calcification. Postmenopausal women and men over 65 require a greater intake of calcium because absorption of calcium is less efficient, but the dietary intake of calcium is usually lower because of intolerance to dairy products or elimination of dairy products as part of a low-fat diet.

Lifestyle factors, such as the level of physical activity, cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, and additional nutritional influences can profoundly impact bones. We will expand on these in the overview of alternative treatments.

Assessing Osteoporosis Risk and Diagnosing Osteoporosis

The evaluation of risk and diagnosis of osteoporosis is made by a careful medical history, a thorough physical examination, laboratory analysis, and measuring bone density.

No one test or risk factor, alone or in combination, will accurately predict which patients will or will not experience osteoporotic fractures. In general, the more risk factors present, the greater the potential for lower bone mass and the higher the risk of fracture. However, predictions from risk factors cannot pinpoint all persons who will be affected. Risk factors for osteoporosis account for only 20 to 40 percent of bone mass variance.²⁹ Therefore, risk factors alone do not provide adequate assessment of low bone mass, but rather are important guides in the clinical assessment of osteoporosis risks that contribute to optimal preventive management. Ultimately, an individual woman's risk of fracture is the most relevant parameter for her future health care.

It is important to distinguish between risk factors for osteoporosis as defined by BMD and risk factors for osteoporotic fractures. For osteoporosis defined by BMD, major risk factors are:

- Postmenopausal
- Advanced age
- Genetics
- Lifestyle factors (low calcium, low vitamin D intake, smoking)
- Thinness

The most common risk factors for osteoporotic fracture are female, advanced age, low BMD, previous fracture as an adult (other than the skull, facial bone, ankle, finger, and toe). A more comprehensive list of risk factors for osteoporotic fractures includes:

- Female
- Postmenopausal and advanced age
- Previous fracture as an adult (other than skull, facial bone, ankle, finger, and toe)
- History of hip fracture in a mother or father
- Body weight less than 127 pounds or body mass index (BMI) less than 21
- Characteristics: short, slender, fair-skinned, blonde, blue-eyed
- Current smoking, of any amount
- Low calcium or vitamin D intake
- More than two alcoholic drinks per day
- Early menopause (physiologic, surgical, or drug-induced)
- Increased risk of falling (impaired vision, dementia, poor health or fragility, sedentary, history of recent falls)

When trying to determine a woman's risk of low bone mass and risk of fracture, questions should be asked to determine risk factors as

Medications, Diseases, and Disorders That Increase the Risk of Osteoporosis

Medications

- Oral or intramuscular use of glucocorticoids for more than three months
- Excessive thyroid hormone
- Long-term use of the anticonvulsant phenytoin
- Heparin
- Cytotoxic drugs
- Gonadotropin-releasing hormone
- Intramuscular medroxyprogesterone contraceptive agent
- Immunosuppressive drugs (cyclosporine)

Genetic Disorders

- Osteogenesis imperfecta
- Thalassemia
- Hemochromatosis
- Hypophosphatasia

Calcium Balance Disorders

- Elevated urinary calcium
- Vitamin D deficiency

Endocrine Disorders

- Cortisol excess
- Cushing's syndrome
- Gonadal insufficiency
- Hyperthyroidism
- Type 1 diabetes

Gastrointestinal Diseases

- Cirrhosis
- Malabsorption syndromes (celiac disease, Crohn's disease)
- Total gastrectomy (removal of the stomach)

Other Disorders and Conditions

- Multiple myeloma
- Lymphoma and leukemia
- Systemic mastocytosis
- Anorexia nervosa
- Rheumatoid arthritis
- Chronic renal disease

stated in the two preceding lists. There are also various medications, disease states, and genetic disorders that are secondary causes of bone loss. This information should also be explored with a medical history. Most of these risks can be determined on a questionnaire. They don't diagnose osteoporosis, but identifying these risk factors can help to determine causes of osteoporosis and help to guide the best treatment strategy.

After menopause, the risk of falling should also be determined. Factors related to an increased risk of falling include

- A history of falls, fainting, or loss of consciousness
- Muscle weakness
- Balance problems
- Dizziness
- · Difficulty standing or walking
- Arthritis

- Poor vision
- Medications that affect balance and coordination

Physical exam should assess height, weight, site of back pain and localized spinal muscle spasms, spinal contours and deformities, and dental health. A loss of height can be a sign of a fracture in the vertebrae. Normal age-related height loss is up to 1.0 to 1.5 inches. Height should be measured yearly, and a loss of height that is greater than 1.5 inches increases the possibility that a vertebral fracture has occurred.³⁰ Vertebral fractures also cause acute or chronic back pain, especially in the middle part of the back, called the thoracic spine. If there are multiple vertebral fractures, called compression fractures, the most obvious sign is an abnormal curvature called kyphosis. If back pain, height loss, and kyphosis are all present, this warrants an x-ray of the spine to determine if there is osteoporosis and/or vertebral fractures. Even excessive height loss without back pain warrants an x-ray to confirm a spine fracture. Women who have one vertebral fracture are at high risk for a subsequent fracture,³¹ which makes diagnosing a single vertebral fracture that much more important.

Body weight should also be recorded. A body weight less than 127 pounds or a body mass index less than 21 kg/m² is a risk factor for low BMD. Thinness is associated with low bone density and a twofold increased risk of fracture, especially in older women.³²

Laboratory Tests. Laboratory tests are important in determining the cause of the low bone density or osteoporosis. Secondary causes of bone loss should be identified because the cause needs to be treated, not just the resulting effects, the bone loss. Laboratory studies and biochemical markers are done on an individual basis. Some women may need some or all of these tests initially because their risk is determined to be high from the history and physical exam. Other women will want or need these tests because their bone density is significantly low, and possible metabolic causes will be important to determine. Tests may need to be repeated over time in order to monitor the effectiveness of the treatments that have been employed. It's important to fully understand, however, that these tests cannot diagnose osteoporosis, predict bone density, or determine fracture risk.

Tests that should be routinely performed include a complete blood cell count, serum calcium, alkaline phosphatase, thyroid-stimulating hormone, albumin, and urinary calcium excretion to detect malabsorption of calcium or a renal calcium leak. Selected cases warrant additional testing of 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels in the serum, parathyroid hormone, and serum electrophoresis to determine the cause of the excessive bone loss or fractures.

There are some newer tests that are biochemical markers of bone turnover. Again, they do not diagnose osteoporosis or determine future bone loss or fracture rates. However, they can be used to determine a response to treatment. These tests of bone turnover can be done prior to beginning a treatment for osteoporosis and then again in a few months to determine if the treatment is working to slow bone turnover. Tests for biochemical markers of bone turnover can be done more frequently than a bone density test and can be done early, even within weeks after beginning the treatment. The role of these tests in routine clinical practice has not been established, however, and therefore it is difficult to determine the scope of their usefulness.

It might be tempting to think that all menopausal women should have a bone density test. I would discourage that way of thinking because a test is really only helpful if it influences the treatment. If a woman really wants the test, I have no objection to ordering it for her. However, I tend to follow the recommendations for BMD testing (described later) of the North American Menopause Society:

- Postmenopausal women with medical causes of bone loss
- All postmenopausal women who are 65 years or older
- Postmenopausal women younger than age 65 who have one or more of the following risk factors for fracture:

Fracture after menopause (other than skull, facial bone, ankle, finger, and toe) Weight less than 127 pounds or BMI less than 21 Hip fracture in mother or father Current smoker

Bone density testing can clarify an already difficult decision and can optimize the use of both conventional and natural medicine therapies.

Imaging Techniques. Bone imaging techniques include radiographic techniques and ultrasound of the heel. Radiographic techniques include dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA), CT scan, x-rays, dual photon absorptiometry (DPA), single-photon absorptiometry (SPA), and x-ray absorptiometry (SXA). DXA is the preferred test of the commonly used densitometry techniques and is more accurate in measuring bone density of the lumbar spine and proximal femur. DXA offers a lower dose of radiation and a shorter examination time than other imaging methods. Because of its enhanced precision and accuracy, DXA has become the gold standard for bone densitometry. The total hip, femoral neck, and lumbar spine are the three most important measurements. The lowest score of the three is the most important. Repeat tests in women who are not receiving treatment generally do not need to occur until three to five years later. For women receiving treatment for osteoporosis, BMD testing is typically done after two years, although selected cases may warrant testing at one year.

Ultrasound of the heel is less expensive, is easily administered, and uses no radiation. The heel bone is 100 percent trabecular bone, the same type of bone that makes up 90 percent of the vertebrae and 50 percent of the hip. Ultrasound measurement of the heel bone may provide a less expensive screening test for osteoporosis. Reviews have concluded that ultrasound of the heel was a good predictor of fractures of the spine.³³ Its limiting factor is that the scans are not useful in detecting small changes in density over time and therefore cannot be used to monitor the effectiveness of treatment of osteoporosis. Women with abnormal results would be referred for DXA testing to more precisely assess bone mineral density.

In women who are receiving treatment for osteoporosis, DXA scans are usually done after two years of treatment. It is important to realize that even if there is no increase in BMD on the DXA scan in the first two years, there may be significant increases in the third year, even on the same therapy. In addition, if proven fracturereducing drugs are being used (bisphosphonates

World Health Organization Definitions

- Normal bone mineral density (BMD): Within 1 standard deviation (SD) of young adult gender-matched means
- 2. **Osteopenia:** BMD between 1 and 2.5 SD below young adult means
- 3. **Osteoporosis:** BMD more than 2.5 SD below young adult means
- Severe osteoporosis: BMD more than 2.5 SD below young adult means and the presence of one or more fragility fractures

and estrogen therapy), a reduction in fracture risk occurs even if the bone density is not increased. On the other hand, if there is a decrease in the DXA scan, while on proven osteoporosis treatment medications, further testing should be done to determine if there are any secondary causes of bone loss.

OVERVIEW OF ALTERNATIVE TREATMENTS

Osteoporosis is far easier to prevent than to treat. An osteoporosis prevention perspective needs to start in the teenage years. Education should include several key areas:

- Medical problems, early in life and current, that can lead to osteoporosis
- Medications that can interfere with calcium metabolism
- The role of nutrition and exercise early in life and their necessity in achieving peak bone density
- Awareness of the long-term consequences for bone health of anorexia
- Awareness of the negative effect of smoking and excess alcohol

For women in their 40s, 50s, and older who have just begun to think about osteoporosis, the time for reaching peak bone density at age 30 to 35 is already past. We all lose bone density as we age, and if you achieved 100 percent of maximum by 30 or 35 and you do not have a condi-

244 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

tion or genetics that cause rapid bone loss, then all is well usually. If your peak bone density was only 85 percent of maximum, then you can't afford as much normal age-related bone loss before your bone density becomes osteopenic and then osteoporotic.

Several approaches are available to prevent osteoporosis and to treat both those who are at high risk and those who have developed the condition. Natural medicines are especially key in prevention and in helping women with mild low bone density. Once osteoporosis has been diagnosed, many of the natural interventions such as diet, exercise, nutritional supplementation, and herbal medicines could be used aggressively in milder cases to slow bone loss and possibly improve bone density, bone strength, bone architecture, and bone health in general. In general, it is my position that in cases of diagnosed osteoporosis, natural intervention should be used to supplement an antiresorptive therapy intended to stop or slow the rate of bone loss and reduce the rate of fractures. The most common proven antiresorptive therapies include estrogens, bisphosphonates, and selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMS).

All postmenopausal women, no matter their risk for osteoporosis or bone density status, should be encouraged to practice prevention strategies. A

KEY CONCEPTS

- Osteoporosis-related fractures will develop in almost half of all women older than 65.
- Osteoporosis is a serious and disabling disease and is far easier to prevent than to treat.
- Women with a family history of osteoporosis, and especially hip fractures, are at the highest risk of developing the condition. Eighty to ninety percent of the determination of the development of osteoporosis is a family history of osteoporosis.
- Fracture risk can be determined from a medical history, physical exam, laboratory testing, and a DXA bone density test.

PREVENTION

- Do not smoke.
- Reduce or avoid alcohol consumption and do not exceed one drink per day.
- Do regular weight-bearing exercise, especially comprehensive weight lifting throughout life.
- Ensure proper nutrition: organic low-fat dairy, soy foods, adequate calcium and vitamin D, whole grains, dark leafy green vegetables, nuts, seeds, healthy oils, and fish.
- Avoid being underweight.
- Minimize caffeine intake.
- Reduce animal protein.
- Avoid falls and injuries.
- Get regular annual health checks; laboratory testing and bone-density testing may be appropriate.
- Consider hormone replacement therapy (bioidentical hormones or conventional hormones) if you have several risk factors.
- Take nutritional supplements for bone health.

balanced diet, adequate calcium and vitamin D, regular exercise, not smoking, low alcohol intake, and fall prevention are important steps for bone health as well as other health benefits.

Natural interventions for mildly low bone density and osteoporosis include dietary and lifestyle factors, exercise, nutritional supplementation, the use of phytoestrogens, and natural (bio-identical) hormone replacement therapy. Each of these areas deserves special attention.

Nutrition

Several dietary factors affect bone health and are involved in the development of osteoporosis: insufficient calcium and vitamin D intake, high phosphorus intake, a high animal protein diet, excess salt intake, and other mineral deficiencies. A diet that maximizes consumption of fruits and vegetables and minimizes dietary fats is beneficial for bone development.

Women older than age 65 who do not eat enough and women who practice frequent dieting or have eating disorders are susceptible to insufficient intake of vitamins and minerals and therefore may have insufficient bone mass. Elderly women are particularly vulnerable to the negative effects of weight loss impacting their bone health. Weight loss in this group may lead to accelerated bone loss and a higher risk of fractures, particularly of the hip.³⁴

Studies have shown that excessive animal protein in the diet may promote bone loss. It particularly causes an increase in urinary excretion of calcium. Raising daily animal protein intake from 47 to 142 grams doubles the excretion of calcium in the urine.³⁵ Calcium is mobilized from the bone to buffer the acidic breakdown products of protein. In addition, the amino acid methionine, highest in meat, dairy products, and eggs, is converted to homocysteine, which in high amounts may also cause bone loss. All of these mechanisms of a high animal protein diet contributing to calcium and bone loss should raise serious concern about popular high animal protein diets.

On the other hand, insufficient protein may also be a problem, especially in women older than 75, and adequate protein intake may help to minimize bone loss.^{36, 37} Protein supplementation of 20 grams per day in older patients who have had a hip fracture have been shown to decrease recovery time and result in lower rates of complications and a lower death rate the first seven months after the fracture.³⁸

A vegetarian diet is associated with a lower risk of osteoporosis,³⁹ even though vegetarians do not have greater bone mass in their 20s, 30s, and 40s. Several studies have shown that vegetarians do have significantly higher bone mass later in life, which would indicate that vegetarians lose bone more slowly than nonvegetarians.^{40, 41} Many high-protein animal foods also contain high amounts of phosphorus, which mobilizes calcium from the bones in order to maintain homeostasis in the bloodstream.

High-phosphorus beverages are also implicated in osteoporosis. A study in children demonstrated

a severe impact of soft drinks on calcium levels. Fifty-seven children with low blood calcium levels were compared to 171 children with normal calcium levels.42 Of the 57 children who had low blood calcium levels, 66.7 percent drank more than four 12- to 16-ounce bottles of soft drinks per week. Only 28 percent of the 171 children with normal serum calcium levels consumed that many soft drinks per week. For all 228 children, a strong correlation was seen in the serum calcium level and the number of bottles of soft drinks consumed each week. The more soft drinks consumed, the lower the calcium level in the blood. Due to the high intake of soft drinks in the United States, we can probably expect to see increased osteoporosis in the "Pepsi generation" for many years to come. The American per-capita consumption of soft drinks is about three quarts per week.

Other nutritional factors also accelerate calcium loss and may be implicated in osteoporosis. Refined sugar may raise the risk for osteoporosis by increasing the loss of calcium from the body and by causing a significant increase in fasting serum cortisol levels. A serving of refined sugar increases the urinary excretion of calcium,43 and an excess of corticosteroids can cause osteoporosis. High sodium intake can also cause an increase in urinary excretion of calcium in some individuals.44 Refined grains and flours may also play a part in the development of osteoporosis. Due to their lack of nutrient-rich germ and bran, there is a significant loss of vitamins and minerals in these foods. The refining process produces white flour stripped of B₆, folic acid, calcium, magnesium, manganese, copper, and zinc.

One of the best general dietary preventive habits to acquire is to eat a lot of dark green leafy vegetables. Kale, collard greens, romaine, spinach, Swiss chard, and other dark greens are a rich source of vitamins and minerals, including calcium, vitamin K, and boron. As you will learn in the nutritional supplements section, vitamin K is involved in the mineralization of bone, and boron decreases the urinary excretion of calcium and magnesium.

Soy foods appear to also have some role in preventing or slowing bone loss. Soy contains a class of compounds called phytoestrogens. The phytoestrogen especially high in soy foods is isoflavone. Phytoestrogens and isoflavones are discussed in more detail in Chapter 12; here we'll focus on their effect on bone health. Soybeans contain phytoestrogens called isoflavones and a particular isoflavone called daidzein. Daidzein is similar to a semisynthetic product called Ipri-Flavone, which is used to treat osteoporosis. Soy is the only dietary source of daidzein, which is a nonsteroidal estrogen-like molecule. Soy also increases the menstrual cycle length by one to five days, especially the follicular phase. This may have a positive effect on bone density due to longer exposure to elevated estrogen levels.

Soy appears to have a proestrogen effect on bone in some experimental evaluations. The bone density of ovariectomized rats for which soy replaced casein in the diet was compared to another group that received estrogen. The addition of soy inhibited bone loss, although not to the same extent as was achieved with estrogen treatment.⁴⁵ Another study of ovariectomized rats also reported a positive effect of the soy phytoestrogen genistein in maintaining bone.⁴⁶ These authors also reported that genistein suppresses the bone resorption cells (osteoclasts) both in the test tube and in vivo.

Several human studies have provided further insight into the possible role of soy in bone health. A study conducted at the University of

Calcium Content of Selected Sov Foods

Calcium Content of Scietted boy 10003			
Soy Product	Calcium (mg)		
Tofu, firm (¼ block)	553		
Tofu, regular (¼ block)	406		
Soy milk, calcium-fortified (1 cu	p) 80-300		
Soy milk (1 cup)	7		
Soybeans, roasted (1/4 cup)	119		
Soybeans, boiled (¼ cup)	88		
Tempeh (¼ cup)	77		

Illinois found that menopausal women had an increase in mineral levels and density in their lumbar spines after taking 55 to 90 mg of isoflavones for six months.⁴⁷ The placebo group showed the lowest bone density and the greatest bone loss, while the estrogen group showed the highest bone density and the slowest bone loss. What was surprising was that the soybean protein diet was effective in preventing bone loss in the fourth lumbar vertebra and, although less so, in the right hip as well. Soybean protein seems to have more of an effect on trabecular bone (more predominant in the spine) than on cortical bone (more predominant in the hip). The soybean protein did not show as great an ability to prevent bone loss as the estrogen group, but the positive effect it showed is encouraging.

The study of the relationship between soy isoflavone intake and bone mineral density was conducted from the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation, a U.S. cohort study of women aged 42 to 52 years.48 For African-American and Caucasian women, median intakes of genistein were too low to pursue analyses. For Chinese women, no association between genistein and bone mineral density was found. Premenopausal, but not perimenopausal, Japanese women whose intakes were greater had a higher bone density of the spine and femoral neck. Mean spinal bone density of those women in the highest genistein intake group was 7.7 percent greater than that of women in the lowest group. Bone density of the femoral neck was 12 percent greater in the highest intake group versus the lowest.

Other positive studies on soy and bone density also give some credence to the role of soy for bone health. In a study estimating the daily intakes of soy isoflavones in the diets of 478 postmenopausal Japanese women who reported soy consumption, high consumption of soy products was associated with increased bone mass.⁴⁹

Soy is also a good source of calcium. A diet that includes greater amounts of soy products can account for a meaningful amount of calcium, and some soy foods can offer as much or more calcium than a serving of dairy products.

An adequate intake of calcium and vitamin D is fundamental for bone health and is an important adjunct to drug treatments for osteoporosis. In fact, a review of almost three dozen clinical trials found that bone mineral density of the hip increased more in the estrogen plus calcium group, compared with the estrogen group alone.⁵⁰

Most menopausal women look to calcium supplementation to meet their calcium needs. However, dietary sources of calcium should be emphasized as part of a well-balanced diet to ensure intake of other nutrients found in highcalcium foods. Dairy products are good sources of calcium. In addition, dairy products have a high elemental calcium content and absorption rate and are affordable. There are now many dairy product alternatives as well, such as calciumfortified soy foods, calcium-fortified rice milk, and others.

Some foods can actually inhibit calcium absorption. I don't advocate avoiding these foods, but it is important to be aware that the oxalate contained in foods such as spinach and the phytates found in whole grains can inhibit calcium absorption.

Foods high in calcium include kelp, Swiss and cheddar cheese, carob flour, dulse, collard greens, turnip greens, molasses, almonds, brewer's yeast, parsley, corn tortillas, dandelion greens, Brazil nuts, watercress, goat's milk, tofu, dried figs, buttermilk, sunflower seeds, yogurt, beet greens, wheat bran, whole milk, buckwheat, sesame seeds, olives, broccoli, walnuts, cottage cheese, and spinach. Calcium and vitamin D are discussed in detail in the nutritional supplement section.

The influence of dietary fats on mineral absorption is complex and only understood in part. Several key observations have been made, although many of the factors that influence absorption are still unknown. For example, increasing linoleic acid in the diet significantly reduce calcium in the stool, indicating that omega-6 essential fatty acids (EFAs) stimulate calcium absorption.⁵¹ Calcium absorption will also be significantly increased when the diet is supplemented daily with fish oil, evening primrose oil, a mixture of both, or sunflower oil.⁵² Deficiencies of EFAs modify bone fatty acid levels and have profound effects on the degree of mineralization of the bone. This is observed in animals fed EFA-deficient diets, who develop osteoporosis. The role of EFAs is discussed in much more detail in the nutritional supplement section of this chapter.

Alcohol and Smoking. Consumption of alcohol also appears to promote bone loss. Scientific evidence links consumption of alcohol (seven ounces or more per week) with lower bone mass, increased bone loss, an increase risk of falls, and a higher incidence of hip fracture.⁵³ A meta-analysis showed that consuming two alcoholic drinks per day significantly increases the risk of fracture,⁵⁴ and even heavier consumption has additional negative effects on bone density. The good news is that a small amount of alcohol, one to two ounces per week, is associated with a higher bone mineral density in women age 65 years and older⁵⁵ and a decreased risk of hip fracture.⁵⁶

The results of most studies show that smokers lose bone more rapidly and have a lower bone mass than nonsmokers.⁵⁷ Some research shows that postmenopausal women who smoke have a significantly higher fracture rate than women who don't smoke.⁵⁸ In female smokers, the risk of hip fracture is increased by 1.5 to 2.5-fold.¹⁴ It's not clear what mechanisms are involved in the adverse effects of smoking on bone density and fracture. Some evidence suggests that smoking may alter calcium absorption^{59, 60} and lower estrogen levels.⁶¹ All in all, it appears that women who smoke tend to lose bone more rapidly, have lower bone mass, and reach menopause about two years earlier than nonsmokers.^{62–64}

Nutritional Supplements

Calcium. When women think about what they can do to prevent osteoporosis, most women think of calcium supplementation. Calcium improves bone health, increases bone mineral density, and improves the effectiveness of osteoporosis medications. Although most studies do not show a positive effect of calcium in reducing fracture risk, in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) trial, hip fractures were significantly reduced in older women on the calcium supplement program.⁶⁵ Calcium supplementation has also been shown to decrease bone loss in postmenopausal women.⁶⁶ The effects of calcium supplementation have been greatest in women whose baseline calcium intake was low, in older women, and in women with osteoporosis.67

As women age, especially after menopause, calcium requirements increase due to both reduced intestinal calcium absorption and less efficient kidney conservation of calcium. Even though these two mechanisms are in play, however, the primary influence on calcium absorption is the amount of calcium that is ingested, via either diet or supplementation. Selected populations of postmenopausal women may not have adequate calcium intake, including older women, women who are lactose intolerant (and so must avoid dairy foods), vegans (who consume no animal or dairy products), and women on poor diets in general. Even in the United States, postmenopausal women have dietary intakes of calcium of about 600 mg per day, which is below the recommended amount. The National Academy of Sciences (NAS) recommendations⁶⁸ (last revised in 1997) and the National Institutes of Health (NIH) recommendations⁶⁹ (last revised in 1994) are the two most well-accepted guidelines for calcium intake in women (see the following sidebar).

To determine how much calcium you should take in a supplement, you must first estimate what your dietary intake is. Start by assuming

Recommendations for Calcium Intake

National Academy of Sciences Recommendations

Age 31–50	1,000 mg/day
Age 51 and older	1,200 mg/day

National Institutes of Health Recommendations

Premenopausal women	
aged 25–50	1,000 mg/day
Postmenopausal women	
under 65 using estrogen therapy	1,000 mg/day
Postmenopausal women not using	
estrogen therapy	1,500 mg/day
All women aged 65 and older	1,500 mg/day

that you get 250 mg per day, not counting any dairy foods or calcium-fortified foods, if you eat two or three meals per day. Most women take in an additional 300 mg per day in the form of one serving of dairy. If you take in more than one serving per day of dairy, add another 300 mg for each additional serving, as well as for each serving of a calcium-fortified soy food. If you drink one glass of milk per day and eat no soy foods or other calcium-fortified foods, for example, your average daily intake is 250 mg + 300 mg = 550mg per day. So, if you are 55 and postmenopausal, you need an additional 650 to 950 mg per day to reach a total that falls within the recommendations of 1,200 to 1,500 mg per day for postmenopausal women under 65.

There is a great deal of confusion and controversy about which form of calcium is best. I discourage women from using either oyster shell or bone meal calcium. These calcium supplements may contain substantial amounts of lead. In 1981, the FDA cautioned the public to limit intake of calcium supplements made from either dolomite or bone meal because of the potentially high lead levels. Unfortunately, even other sources of calcium from various chelates may also contain minute amounts of lead. In a 1993 study of lead content in calcium supplements, lead was the highest in bone meal, unrefined calcium carbonate, and dolomite and lowest in calcium chelate supplements and refined calcium carbonate.⁷⁰ Calcium chelates are bound to citrate, fumarate, malate, succinate, and aspartate.

When the calcium is taken on an empty stomach, calcium citrate is absorbed better than calcium carbonate. In addition, it may be that as women age and have lower stomach acid production, lower fat absorption, and take in less vitamin D due to less exposure to sunshine and decreased fat absorption, calcium citrate may be a better choice to combat these compromising effects on calcium absorption. In most women, though, especially in perimenopausal women and postmenopausal women up to age 65, there is no known best form. Calcium carbonate is absorbed well when taken with food. Calcium citrate can be taken with food or on an empty stomach, making it more flexible as to timing of your supplement regime.

Calcium supplementation is extremely safe, and even in amounts of total calcium intake up to 1,500 mg per day there is no increase in the risk of a kidney stone.⁷¹ However, in women with a history of kidney stones, calcium supplements are contraindicated except with medical testing/assessment and supervision. Calcium intake greater than 2,500 mg per day, taking into account diet and supplement, should be avoided. Some women become constipated or have nausea and indigestion with calcium supplementation, especially calcium carbonate. In these cases, calcium citrate will less likely cause these problems.

Another issue that makes it difficult to determine the optimal dose of calcium is that higher doses of calcium may interfere with the absorption of other nutrients. In two separate studies, researchers have shown that a high dietary calcium intake adversely affects zinc absorption and balance in humans.^{72, 73} This may be especially important in elderly women due to their compromised zinc absorption, their possible marginal zinc status to begin with, and their high risk of osteoporosis. A zinc deficiency can result in skin changes, growth retardation, loss of appetite, changes in vision, decreased insulin function, dysfunction in prostaglandin synthesis, and immunologic abnormalities. Zinc is also essential for normal bone formation; it enhances the biochemical actions of vitamin D, is required for the formation of osteoblasts and osteoclasts, and is required for the synthesis of various proteins found in bone tissue. Zinc levels have been found to be low in the serum and bone of elderly people with osteoporosis,⁷⁴ and also in people with bone loss at the alveolar ridge of the mandible.75 This negative interaction between calcium and zinc absorption raises concerns about how higher calcium intakes may affect the absorption of other minerals needed for bone health.

Another area of great disagreement is what ratio of calcium to magnesium is best. Some researchers and clinicians recommend twice as much calcium as magnesium; others recommend equal parts calcium and magnesium; others recommend 1.5 parts calcium and 1 part magnesium; and still others recommend twice as much magnesium as calcium. The most scientific research support exists for two parts calcium to one part magnesium. (See the section on magnesium later in this chapter.)

The optimal time to take calcium supplementation is the last question to consider. The absorption of calcium is dependent on its becoming ionized in the intestines. Calcium carbonate has to be solubilized and ionized by stomach acid in order to be absorbed. Many people have insufficient stomach acid, and stomach acid secretion decreases with age. In studies of postmenopausal women, about 40 percent are found to be severely deficient in stomach acid.⁷⁶ For this reason, I recommend taking a form of calcium that is already in a soluble and ionized state, such as calcium citrate, calcium lactate, or calcium gluconate. In these ionized products, about 45 percent of the calcium is absorbed from calcium citrate in patients with reduced stomach acid, as compared to 4 percent absorption for calcium carbonate.⁷⁷

All of these issues make it difficult to choose from the myriad options of form and dosing in calcium supplementation. In general, I would follow the dosages of either the NIH or NAS. If you don't mind taking more pills, then I would also recommend taking calcium citrate over calcium carbonate, or at least a combination. (Calcium citrate is much bulkier, and you have to take more pills to get adequate amounts of the elemental calcium.) Even though I can no longer argue for advantages in absorption in general of citrate over carbonate, fewer digestive side effects, the flexibility of taking the calcium with or without meals, and the possibility of enhanced absorption as you age make a good case for calcium citrate. In the end, though, the amount of your total calcium intake is far more important than the kind of calcium.

Recommended Daily Calcium Intake

Women aged 25-50: 1,000 mg/day Women aged 51 and older: 1,200-1,500 mg/day

Vitamin D. Vitamin D is the only vitamin that's also a hormone, and it is the only vitamin we don't have to consume from our diet. Vitamin D is normally produced in the skin through ultraviolet exposure of a derivative of cholesterol (7-dehydrochlesterol) to produce previtamin D, which is then metabolized to 25-hydroxyvitamin D in the liver and then to 1-alpha dihydroxyvitamin D3 in the kidney, at which time it becomes functional. This hormone is now able to carry out its function, including calcium absorption, phosphate absorption in the intestine, calcium mobilization in the bone, and calcium reabsorption in the kidneys. Vitamin D also maintains normal parathyroid status, is an important regulator of the immune system, and is important for muscular strength.

Vitamin D enhances intestinal calcium absorption, thereby contributing to a favorable calcium balance in the system. Increased calcium absorption also reduces parathyroid hormone–mediated bone resorption. In the United States, most infants and young children have adequate vitamin D consumption from fortified milk. During adolescence, however, the consumption of dairy products drops off and inadequate vitamin D intake is more likely to adversely affect calcium absorption.

In general, calcium intake alone may have only a slight protective effect for bone mass and fracture risk, and it is more beneficial to supplement with a combination of calcium and vitamin D. Several large studies of vitamin D (400 and 800 IU per day) plus calcium (1,000 mg per day) have not shown a significant effect on fracture risk.78,79 However, there are studies that do show a significant effect. One such study in people aged 65 years or older showed that both calcium and vitamin D consumption can significantly reduce the incidence of nonvertebral fractures.80 Another study of postmenopausal women undergoing hip replacement surgery showed that women with hip fractures were more likely to have a vitamin D deficiency than those undergoing elective joint replacement.⁸¹ More recently, the NoNOF study of survivors of hip fractures demonstrated that vitamin D supplementation, either orally or by injection, suppresses parathyroid hormone, increases bone mineral density, and reduces falls.82 The effects were more marked with cosupplementing with 1,000 mg of calcium per day.

Perhaps the most compelling study is a metaanalysis of randomized clinical trials in postmenopausal women with a mean age of 71 to 85, which found that 700 to 800 IU per day of vitamin D was associated with significant reduction in hip and wrist fractures⁸³; 400 IU per day had no effect. Finally, more recent results from the Women's Health Initiative found that 1,000 mg per day of calcium plus 400 IU of vitamin D was associated with a small but significant 1 percent increase in bone mineral density of the hip.⁶⁵

Experts have typically thought that the moderate protective effect of vitamin D on fracture risk is due primarily to bone mineral density changes. However, there is a good body of evidence that vitamin D may also directly improve muscle strength and, as a result, reduce fracture risk by preventing falls. While randomized controlled trials have found that vitamin D reduced fractures within two to three months⁸⁴ and has benefits in improving muscle strength,85-87 the effect of vitamin D on falls has not been well established and results of randomized trials have been mixed. A meta-analysis in 2004 attempted to determine the overall efficacy of vitamin D in preventing falls in the elderly, especially women.88 Based on five randomized clinical trials involving 1,237 individuals, vitamin D reduced the risk of falling by 22 percent, compared with individuals, but especially women, who received calcium or a placebo. A recent study on vitamin D supplementation and fall prevention was done in Australia⁸⁹ in which 625 older residents of nursing homes and assisted-living facilities (95 percent women) were randomized to receive either vitamin D (ergocalciferol; 10,000 IU weekly or 1,000 IU daily) or a placebo. None of the participants had a vitamin D deficiency. All participants also received 600 mg of elemental calcium daily. During two years of follow-up, the incidence of falls was significantly lower in the vitamin D group compared to the placebo group (1.37 versus 1.86 falls per person/year). Those who received vitamin D were also less likely to sustain a fracture (8 percent versus 11 percent), although this was not statistically significant.

How much vitamin D is enough? The requirements for vitamin D were last set in 1997 by the Food and Nutrition Board of the Institute of Medicine and may be inadequate (see sidebar).

A popular approach of using cod liver oil to supplement vitamin D deserves awareness and a bit of caution. One tablespoon of vitamin D– fortified cod liver oil supplies 1,400 IU of vitamin D but also contains high levels of vitamin A,

Current Dietary			
Recommendations	for	Vitamin	D

Age	Adequate Intake	Tolerable Upper Limits
0–50 51–70 Over 70	200 IU/day 400-800 IU/day 800 or more IU/day	2,000 IU/day 2,000 IU/day 2,000 IU/day
Higher doses than those listed as adequate or even upper limits will be needed by women who have had their vitamin D levels tested and found to be low or low normal. Dosage for these women should be moni- tored with follow-up tests.		

which can exacerbate calcium loss and be associated with low bone density.

Magnesium. The conventional scientific view is that magnesium is essential for parathyroid hormone (PTH) production and release. PTH is essential for the activation of vitamin D and therefore absorption of calcium across the gut wall. However, magnesium is an intracellular ion and difficult to measure. A magnesium level is a reflection of extracellular magnesium. There are several conditions that can lead to magnesium deficiency and therefore hypoparathyroidism and vitamin D deficiency. These include diuretic use (urinary loss), alcohol abuse (nutritional deficiency), diabetes (urinary loss), and chronic diarrhea (malabsorption). Otherwise, magnesium deficiency is rare. From the conventional scientific viewpoint, the main reason why magnesium is part of calcium supplements is that carbonates are constipating and magnesium has a laxative effect, and therefore the combination is usually better tolerated.

Even though calcium has received the most attention, alternative medicine views the importance of magnesium in skeletal metabolism and calcium regulation in a little bit different and perhaps broader context. Magnesium influences both matrix and mineral metabolism in bone. Magnesium depletion causes cessation of bone growth, decreased osteoblastic and osteoclastic activity, osteopenia, and bone fragility.⁹⁰ Adequate serum magnesium levels are necessary for proper calcium metabolism; adequate calcium intake may not ensure proper bone health if magnesium status is abnormal.

Magnesium deficiency has been shown more than once to be related to osteoporosis. Magnesium status appears to have a major influence on the type of calcium crystals present in the bones, and therefore its deficiency is associated with abnormal calcification of the bone.⁹¹ This may in part explain why some women who have reduced bone mineral density do not have an increase in fracture rates. These women may have a lowered bone mass, but they have excellent structural calcification, due in part to adequate levels of magnesium.

In order to assess the effects of magnesium on bone density, a group of osteoporotic postmenopausal women were given magnesium over a period of two years. At the end of the study, magnesium therapy appeared to have prevented fractures and resulted in a significant increase in bone mass density after the first year of treatment. There was, however, no change in density from then on to the end of the study.92 The finding that magnesium supplementation actually caused an increase in bone density rather than just a stabilization of current bone density is significant. Other factors may have influenced the increase in bone density, but the results of this study warrant further investigation into the potential effect of magnesium on bone density.

Dr. Guy Abraham published a study supporting the importance of magnesium above that of calcium. His study demonstrated an 11 percent increase in bone density in the group that was given dietary advice, hormones, and nutritional supplements (500 mg calcium citrate, 600 mg magnesium oxide, vitamin C, vitamin B-complex, vitamin D, zinc, copper, manganese, and boron). The group that received the dietary advice plus the hormones but no supplementation had an average increase of only 0.7 percent.⁹³ An 11 percent increase in bone density is greater than that found in studies of calcium or hormone replacement therapy taken either separately or together. However, in most studies on bone density or osteoporosis-related fractures, the benefits of calcium have been observed without magnesium supplementation. A study looking at calcium absorption found no benefit on calcium absorption in postmenopausal women taking magnesium.⁹⁴ Continued research to elucidate magnesium's role in bone metabolism and calcium-magnesium interactions is needed as well as clinical treatment trials that vigorously evaluate magnesium as a potential treatment for postmenopausal osteoporosis.

Foods high in magnesium include kelp, wheat bran, wheat germ, almonds, cashews, molasses, brewer's yeast, buckwheat, Brazil nuts, dulse, filberts, peanuts, millet, whole wheat, pecans, walnuts, rye, tofu, beet greens, and coconut.

Magnesium

500-750 mg per day

Manganese. Manganese may be one of the most important trace nutrients related to osteoporosis. Manganese deficiency causes a reduction in the amount of calcium laid down in the bone and thereby an increased susceptibility to fracture. Manganese stimulates the production of mucopolysaccharides that provide a structure on which calcification takes place.⁹⁵

Manganese

15-30 mg per day

Boron. Dr. Forrest Nielsen studied the effect of boron on bone loss in postmenopausal women. Published in 1988, his results indicated that boron supplementation reduced the urinary excretion of calcium by 44 percent, reduced urinary magnesium excretion, and markedly increased the serum concentrations of 17 betaestradiol and testosterone.⁹⁶ These findings definitively implicate boron in calcium and magnesium metabolism, hormonal stabilization, and the subsequent prevention of bone loss.

Boron

3 mg per day

Zinc. Zinc is essential for normal bone formation,⁹⁷ enhances the biochemical actions of vitamin D,⁹⁸ and is required for the formation of osteoblasts and osteoclasts and for the synthesis of various proteins found in bone tissue. Zinc levels have been found to be low in the serum and bone of elderly people with osteoporosis.⁷⁴

Zinc

15-20 mg per day

Copper. Copper deficiency may be a related cause of osteoporosis. Copper deficiency is known to produce abnormal bone growth in growing children. Copper supplementation has been shown in laboratory studies to inhibit bone resorption.⁹⁹ Its supplementation is deemed necessary in women at risk for or with diagnosed osteoporosis.

Copper

1.5-3 mg per day

Folic Acid. Accelerated bone loss in menopausal women may in part be due to the increased levels of homocysteine, a breakdown product of methionine. Homocysteine has the potential to promote osteoporosis if it is not eliminated adequately. Since folic acid is involved in the breakdown of homocysteine, supplementing postmenopausal women with this nutrient results in significant reductions in homocysteine levels.¹⁰⁰ This association of homocysteine levels and osteoporosis was recently seen in a study showing that high homocysteine levels were associated with almost twice the risk of nonvertebral osteoporotic fractures in women.¹⁰¹ However, in the same study, there was no association between homocysteine levels and BMD at either the femoral neck or the lumbar spine. Despite these associations, it is not yet clear that giving folic acid is a therapeutic tool in preventing bone loss or fractures. For now, it remains an interesting association, and folic acid is easy enough to include in a holistic bone health approach and prevention program.

Folic Acid

400-800 mcg per day

Vitamin B₆. Vitamin B₆ also plays a role in homocysteine metabolism. In genetic homocystinuria, B₆ supplementation has been shown to reverse the elevated levels of homocysteine.¹⁰² Vitamin B₆ has been studied and prescribed for its role in osteoporosis prevention in other capacities as well. Animal studies have shown B₆ deficiencies to cause increased fracture healing time,¹⁰³ impaired growth of cartilage and defective bone formation,¹⁰⁴ and more rapid development of osteoporosis.¹⁰⁵ Vitamin B₆ may also stimulate the production of progesterone and, through this hormone's activation of osteoplasts, have a distinct role in preventing osteoporosis.

Vitamin B₆

50-100 mg per day

Vitamin C. One of the actions of vitamin C is to promote the formation and cross-linking of some of the structural proteins in bone. Animal studies have shown that vitamin C deficiency can cause osteoporosis.¹⁰⁶ Moreover, it has been known for decades that scurvy, a disease caused by vitamin C deficiency, is associated with abnormalities of bone.

Vitamin C

500 mg or more per day

Vitamin K. Vitamin K has been thought for some time to be a contributing factor in the

254 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

prevention of bone loss. It is required for the production of osteocalcin, the protein matrix on which mineralization occurs. Octeocalcin attracts calcium to bone tissue, enabling calcium crystal formation to occur. Vitamin K also plays a key role in the formation, remodeling, and repair of bone by helping the calcium adhere to the site of this protein matrix. Individuals with osteoporosis have been found to have lower serum vitamin K levels when compared to age-matched controls.¹⁰⁷ The amount of vitamin K that is required for optimal bone health appears to be greater than that needed for normal clotting of blood.¹⁰⁸

Recently, a review and meta-analysis of 13 published clinical trials made an even stronger case for the role of vitamin K in osteoporosis.¹⁰⁹ In 12 of the 13 clinical trials, this meta-analysis concluded that supplementation with large doses of vitamin K can prevent bone loss of the hip and vertebrae. (The one trial that showed no effect was a study of premenopausal athletic women who were given 10 mg per day of vitamin K₁.) Even more impressively, fracture data was available in seven of the studies. The rates of hip fractures were reduced by 77 percent, other non-vertebral fractures by 81 percent, and vertebral fractures by 60 percent.¹¹⁰

Most of the studies in this meta-analysis were of postmenopausal women, but some of the studies included patients who had diseases that are associated with higher risk of osteoporosis, including patients with primary biliary cirrhosis and some on glucocorticoids. These results in fracture reduction exceed those typically seen with alendronate (about 50 percent), and fewer side effects are associated with vitamin K compared to the approximately 17 percent side effect rate of reflux and esophagitis with bisphosphonates. However, the longest study in this metaanalysis was only three years, which is a short amount of time in the world of bone density and fracture data, and further research is needed before drawing conclusions on the comparative value of vitamin K supplementation.

Vitamin K₂

45 mg per day

Essential Fatty Acids

Essential fatty acids (EFAs) have not been talked about much in relationship to osteoporosis, but there is a growing body of evidence and research to warrant attention. Most of the research and focus on osteoporosis has been around the loss of calcium from bone before and during osteoporosis, reduced bone strength, and increased risk of fractures. What has received less attention is that osteoporosis may be a marker for other serious potential health problems apart from fractures. Not only must we consider demineralization of bone, but ectopic calcification and the possible connection between ectopic calcium deposits, particularly in the arteries and kidneys, and bone decalcification.

Specifically, low bone density may be related to vascular problems, and essential fatty acids and their regulation of calcium metabolism may be a key player in influencing the sites at which calcification occurs. The role of essential fatty acids has largely been ignored in relation to osteoporosis despite animal and human studies indicating that EFAs enhance calcium absorption, enhance the effects of vitamin D, reduce urinary calcium excretion, increase bone calcium, reduce ectopic calcification elsewhere, and increase bone protein synthesis and bone strength.

The first published paper that clearly described the relevance of EFAs on calcium showed that in EFA-deficient animals, the kidneys became highly calcified, apparently because of a shift of calcium from the bones.¹¹¹ Other early studies demonstrated that EFA deficiency in animals was associated with loss of normal collagen synthesis and of normal connective tissue in bone, loss of normal cartilage, demineralization of bone, and bone weakness.^{112–114}

This early body of research established that EFA deficiency led to severe osteoporosis in ani-

mals and that the osteoporosis was associated with significant ectopic calcification. Not until the 1990s, however, did new observations lead to renewed interest in EFAs and calcium. These observations indicated that prostaglandin (PG) formation could stimulate bone growth, that renal calcium stones were rare among the Inuit (Eskimos) of the Arctic, seemingly due to their high intake of EFAs from fish oils, and that EFA metabolism might form a basis for the associations between osteoporosis and coronary artery disease, peripheral vascular disease, and stroke.

Before we get too far along, it's important to have some familiarity with the basics of EFA biochemistry. There are two families of EFAs of import in this conversation, the omega-6 series and the omega-3 series. Linoleic acid (LA) is the parent compound of the omega-6 series, and alpha-linolenic acid (ALA) is the parent compound of the omega-3 series. Each of these is metabolized by a series of enzymatic reactions in which their metabolites play key roles within the body. The most important metabolites are probably dihomo-gamma-linoleic acid (DGLA) and arachidonic acid (AA) of the omega-6 series and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docahexaenoic acid (DHA) of the omega-3 series.

Essential fatty acids are required constituents of every membrane within the body. They are required for the normal functioning of every membrane and for the normal functioning of calcium release from storage. EFAs are also part of most of the signaling systems within every cell.

How calcium is excreted and how much is excreted are major factors in the metabolism of bone and the development of kidney stones, as well as the overall calcium balance in the body. Probably the major factor controlling calcium excretion is calcium intake, but we also know that prostaglandins are involved in calcium reabsorption and excretion. Significantly elevated levels of urinary prostaglandin E2 (PgE2) are positively correlated with urinary calcium excretion.^{115–117} Calcium stones forming in the urine are also correlated with increased PgE2 and increased calcium excretion. Although the precise role of EFAs and prostaglandins in hypercalciuria is not understood, the balance of research demonstrates that excessive production of PGE from arachidonic acid is a factor.

If we could reduce urinary calcium excretion, this could not only have a bone-preserving effect but also reduce the formation of stones. Research in the early 1990s explored enhancing dietary EPA with fish oils to protect against stone disease. What was found was that the fish oils were able to reduce urinary calcium excretion. This work was preliminary and fundamental to understanding how EFAs and prostaglandin metabolism could affect calcium excretion and reabsorption. Although the work was undertaken in an effort to prevent kidney disease and kidney failure, it supports the idea that EFAs affect calcium metabolism and could be used to improve bone health and bone density.

The influence of dietary fats on mineral absorption is complex and only understood in part. Several key observations have been made, although many of the factors that influence absorption are still unknown. For example, increasing linoleic acid in the diet significantly reduces calcium in the stool, indicating that omega-6 EFAs stimulate calcium absorption.⁵¹ Calcium absorption will also significantly increase when the diet is supplemented with fish oil, evening primrose oil, a mixture of both, or sunflower oil daily.⁵²

Animal studies have revealed many mechanisms related to EFAs and calcium absorption. Probably the largest body of work established that there is a significant relationship among EFAs, the actions of vitamin D, the transport of calcium across the membrane, and an increase in membrane fluidity followed by an increase in calcium absorption.

As mentioned earlier in the nutrition section, deficiencies of EFAs modify bone fatty acid levels and have profound effects on the degree of miner-

256 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

alization of the bone. Animals fed EFA-deficient diets also develop osteoporosis. Evidence is also building that prostaglandins have an influence on bone metabolism. Prudent use of EFAs may reduce the degradation of bone matrix collagen, while also increasing bone mineral content. Animal studies using different ratios of evening primrose oil (high in gamma-linolenic acid or GLA), fish oil (rich in EPA and DHA), sunflower oil, and flaxseed oil suggest that supplementation with high doses of evening primrose oil and fish oil is more effective in inhibiting bone loss than is supplementation with linoleic and alpha-linolenic acids.¹¹⁸

The relationship between osteoporosis and cardiovascular disease has several correlations. One is that those individuals with osteoporosis and a subsequent hip fracture have an increased risk of mortality due to strokes. Calcium is not simply lost from the bone in osteoporosis, but some of that calcium is deposited in the arteries and kidneys. The calcification process in atherosclerosis is very similar to what occurs in bone. It may be that metabolic issues that regulate calcification are common to both diseases. Individuals with osteoporosis frequently have ectopic calcification in other tissues as well, especially the discs between the vertebrae.

Loss of bone calcium with concomitant calcification in the kidneys was observed as far back as 1931 in a study by Borland and Jackson where an induced EFA deficiency elicited both problems.¹¹¹ More recently, supplementation with EPA and GLA was shown to prevent ectopic calcification. This is better understood by looking at the role of EFAs in membrane health, calcium absorption, calcium excretion, and bone mineralization. It is also worth speculating that since deficits of long chain EFAs are important in cardiovascular disease, the associations between osteoporosis and heart disease may be dependent on a commonality of impaired EFA metabolism and poor sources of dietary fat.

While preventive measures of a well-balanced diet, avoiding smoking and excess alcohol, regu-

lar weight-bearing exercise, and proper vitamin and mineral intake should be the hallmarks in the prevention of osteoporosis, the information and data on essential fatty acids should not only motivate us to improve sources of dietary fat, it also suggests that EFA supplements are a viable method of decreasing the risk of osteoporosis.

Essential Fatty Acids: Omega-3 and Omega-6

Approximately 1 g per day of EPA and DHA

Botanical Medicine

Red Clover (Trifolium Pratense). Red clover is a member of the legume family rich in flavonoids, glycosides, phytoestrogens, and other vitamins and minerals. This native American herb was historically used to treat whooping cough, gout, and cancer. Some researchers speculate that red clover may have an estrogenic effect on the bone. They studied the effects of a special red clover extract, Rimostil, containing Clovone, a specific blend of isoflavones (biochanin A, formononetin, genistein, and daidzein), on serum lipids, bone density, and endometrial thickness in postmenopausal women.¹¹⁹ Fifty postmenopausal women were randomly assigned to receive either 28.5 mg, 57.0 mg, or 85.5 mg of Rimostil for six months, followed by two months of a placebo. Bone density was measured at baseline, three months, and six months using a DXA scan. (Lipid levels and uterine lining thickness were also measured in this study.) All three doses of Rimostil were associated with a 2.9 to 4 percent increase in bone density from zero to six months in the proximal radius and ulna (closest to the elbow). No significant change in bone density occurred at the distal radius and ulna.

Another placebo-controlled clinical trial attempted to determine the effect of red clover isoflavones on bone density in women aged 49 to 65.¹²⁰ One group received one tablet of a standardized extract of red clover (26 mg biochanin A, 16 mg formononetin, 1 mg genistein, and 0.5 mg daidzein), and the other received a placebo. This trial lasted one year, and 86 women in the red clover group and 91 in the placebo group completed the study. Dietary calcium and vitamin D were similar in both groups. At the end of 12 months, women in the red clover group had less bone loss of the lumbar spine than women in the placebo group. Bone density decreased by 1.08 percent in the red clover group and by 1.86 percent in the placebo group. The differences in the hip bone between the red clover and placebo groups were not significant. Two markers of bone formation were also tested in this study. For postmenopausal women in the study, there was an increase in these markers in the red clover group, and a decrease in one marker and a lower increase in another marker in the placebo group. These results suggest that red clover isoflavones may be able to slow bone loss in the lumbar spine.

Red Clover Standardized Extract

28-85 mg per day of red clover isoflavones

Ipriflavone. A synthetic derivative of isoflavones, Ipriflavone was only available in Italy and a handful of other countries until recently. It is now available over the counter in natural food stores or from alternative practitioners. Two multicenter, two-year clinical trials evaluated the efficacy and bioavailability of Ipriflavone in postmenopausal women with low bone mass.¹²¹ Women were randomly selected to receive either oral Ipriflavone (200 mg three times daily) or a placebo, plus 1 gram oral calcium daily. Both studies were reported in the same paper. Study A showed a bone-sparing effect of 1.6 percent in the spine, and study B, 3.5 percent in the wrist after two years. A significant difference was found between the treatment groups and the placebo groups in both studies.

It seems as though Ipriflavone has a direct ability to inhibit the osteoclastic (bone-losing) cell activity, but how it does this is unknown. Although the effects on bone density using Ipriflavone tend to be small, between 1.15 and 3.7 percent, these results provide yet another option for many women who cannot, will not, or do not need to take stronger, more effective conventional treatments. It remains to be seen whether Ipriflavone can have a positive effect on the hip, a far greater concern. Although the effect on the spine and wrist is encouraging, these small increases in bone density do not necessarily mean there is a reduced fracture rate, the true test of an effective treatment for the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis.

One well-publicized study in 2001 was not able to document any benefit for Ipriflavone in women with significant bone loss and with osteoporosis.¹²² It was also noted through blood tests that some of the women taking Ipriflavone developed lower lymphocyte counts. For this reason, I recommend Ipriflavone only for women with mild bone loss or for those who are at higher risk for bone loss, but not for women with significant bone loss. I also recommend getting a blood test, a complete blood count (CBC), every six months to check the lymphocyte counts.

In the studies that do show benefit, Ipriflavone was given with a calcium supplement.

Ipriflavone

200 mg 3 times per day

Herbs in High Mineral Content. Throughout the centuries of traditional herbal medicine, many herbs have been known for their high mineral content. It is difficult to use herbs as a substitute for mineral supplementation because we know so little about the precise mineral content of a given herb. However, using these high-mineral herbs to augment mineral supplementation may not only improve one's mineral status but also offers other health benefits. High-mineral herbs include nettles, oatstraw, red raspberry leaves, chamomile, horsetail, and dandelion greens.

Natural or Bio-Identical Progesterone. The term *natural progesterone*, now more popularly

called bio-identical progesterone, refers to progesterone made from derivatives found in the Mexican wild yam or in soybeans. It is important to realize that commercial bio-identical progesterone is made in a manufacturing laboratory by extracting either diosgenin from Mexican wild yam or beta-sitosterol from soybeans, then converting the natural substance into progesterone through various enzymatic and biochemical reactions. This progesterone is biochemically identical to the progesterone produced by a woman's ovaries. Because of this, it is called bio-identical or natural progesterone. This is distinctly different from synthetic progestational agents, properly called progestins, the most common of which is medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA).

Accelerated bone loss has been shown to occur after menopause, but evidence also exists indicating that normal menstruating women begin to lose spinal bone prior to menopause.¹²³⁻¹²⁷ Evidence also exists that this bone loss prior to menopause is related to progesterone deficiency and that progesterone, like estrogen, plays an important role in bone metabolism.¹²⁸⁻¹³⁰ Dr. Jerilyn Prior postulated a hypothetical relationship between phases of the bone remodeling cycle and the normal menstrual cycle. Ovarian steroid levels are low at menstruation, so increased bone resorption occurs at this time. As estrogen production increases before ovulation, resorption begins to reverse. Finally, bone remodeling begins as progesterone levels peak in the mid part of the second half of the menstrual cycle.131

Dr. Prior and colleagues went on to study 66 premenopausal women over one year.¹²⁸ In these women, 29 percent of all menstrual cycles were disturbed by a lack of ovulation or short luteal phase (number of days between ovulation and onset of menses), even though nearly all of these women continued to have regular 30-day cycles. These subtle ovulatory disturbances did not result in any symptoms, but they did correlate with decreases in spinal bone density. The women with the shortest luteal phases, and therefore with decreased progesterone production, had the greatest decline in spinal bone density, losing 2 to 4 percent of bone per year. These results have been cited as a strong suggestion that the maintenance of peak bone density throughout a woman's adult life requires normal ovarian production of progesterone as well as estrogen.

Dr. Prior and colleagues also studied the effects of synthetic progestin, medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA, also called Provera), 10 mg for 10 days each month, in athletic women who had stopped having a menstrual cycle. The regimen led to significant increases in spinal bone density.¹³² These studies indicate that progesterone and MPA appear to have osteotropic (bone-building) effects. This is some of the research that alternative practitioners cite when making a case for administering natural progesterone for the treatment and prevention of osteoporosis. An error is often made when practitioners assume that administering bio-identical progesterone is the same as administering the synthetic analogue MPA, and this often occurs when advocates of bio-identical progesterone attempt to make a case for its use in osteoporosis management.

There is good theoretical evidence from these studies and additional laboratory and animal studies that the body's progesterone and MPA have a stimulatory effect on bone formation and reduce bone turnover. What is not clear is whether giving bio-identical progesterone in a pill or cream has similar effects. When it comes to preventing or reversing osteoporosis, no other product has been the subject of as much controversy as the use of topically applied bio-identical progesterone. A large segment of women seeking alternatives to conventional hormone replacement therapy and many alternative practitioners have accepted the premise, most often promoted by the late Dr. John Lee, that topically applied natural progesterone cream will not only prevent osteoporosis but will actually increase bone mineral density and prevent fractures. In his publications, Dr. Lee had become the strongest advocate of the role of progesterone in preventing and reversing osteoporosis. He asserts that almost all women can successfully prevent and reverse osteoporosis and improve their bone density by as much as 15 percent with this cream and that estrogen replacement therapy is very seldom a necessary component.

Although I respect much of the groundbreaking work done by Dr. Lee, this particular premise is based almost exclusively on a hypothesis that lacks adequate scientific evidence. Other researchers have investigated the therapeutic effects of natural progesterone cream, including its effects on bone in menopausal women. One randomized clinical trial compared the effect of a transdermal natural progesterone cream (32 mg daily) with a placebo cream. Eighty postmenopausal women in Australia were randomly assigned to each group. Women were evaluated using the familiar Greene Climacteric Scale and the Menopause Quality of Life Questionnaire, as well as blood lipids and bone markers, over 12 weeks.133 No detectable change was seen in vasomotor symptoms, moods, libido, lipids, or metabolic markers of bone turnover. There was a slight elevation of blood levels of progesterone. The authors concluded that the use of 32 mg of transdermal progesterone was not sufficiently absorbed into the bloodstream to achieve biological effects.

At least two studies, though, have shown that transdermal natural progesterone of 30 mg per day¹³⁴ and 40 mg per day¹³⁵ did modestly elevate levels of progesterone in the blood after 15 days and 42 days respectively. A transdermal cream of 20 mg daily in a randomized clinical trial resulted in statistically significant improvement in vasomotor symptoms, but no improvement in mood or bone mineral content.¹³⁶

Transdermal progesterone cream for vasomotor symptoms does have efficacy, which is discussed in the chapter on menopause (Chapter 12). That said, too many women are inappropriately selecting natural progesterone cream as their main and possibly only treatment intervention for osteoporosis. A careful process of sifting through the benefits of alternative and conventional medicine and the weaknesses or downside of any natural or conventional therapy is especially warranted when it comes to osteoporosis.

Another way to take bio-identical progesterone is as oral micronized progesterone (OMP). It is also often used in menopause management, although it has not received the attention and commercial interests for general consumer use because it is available only by prescription. Results from the Postmenopausal Estrogen/ Progestin Interventions Trial (PEPI) have also provided us with some insight on natural progesterone and bone density.¹³⁷ Participants in the placebo group lost an average of 1.8 percent of spinal bone density and 1.7 percent of hip bone density by the 36-month visit, while those assigned to one of the four treatment groups gained bone density at both sites ranging from 3.5 to 5.0 percent and a total increase of 1.7 percent bone density in the hip. Although the changes in bone density were significantly greater in the treatment groups when compared to placebo, the results among the treatment groups were not significantly different from each other.

Treatment groups were either (1) 0.625 mg conjugated equine estrogens (CEE) daily alone; (2) 0.625 mg CEE and 10 mg MPA per day for 12 days per month; (3) 0.625 mg CEE and 2.5 mg MPA daily; or (4) 0.625 mg CEE and 200 mg OMP per day for 12 days per month. I am presenting this in some detail because, in this study, it appears that it was the estrogen therapy component that increased bone density and not the various progestogen regimens, either synthetic or natural.

So does natural progesterone alone, without estrogen, either topically or orally, have an ability to increase bone density? From the data we have so far, I would have to say no, it does not seem to. Estrogen, not progesterone, is the main hormone that provides benefits for the bone.

Natural or Bio-Identical Estrogens. Natural or bio-identical estrogens are made in the same way as natural or bio-identical progesterone, except that the end product is either estrone, estradiol, or estriol. Compounded estrone used by alternative practitioners is the same hormone that is used in at least two prescription conventional estrogens (Ogen and Ortho-est), with the caveat that the prescription drug has fillers, binders, preservatives, and/or excipients. These are added in order for the particular product to receive a patent; a particular individual may absorb and tolerate one form better than another.

Bio-identical estrone is also available, by prescription, from a compounding pharmacy. These pharmacies are able to formulate the dose requested by the practitioner and adjust the dosing and the delivery method based on very individual needs. Bio-identical estrogens are free of unnecessary fillers and available in individualized doses and delivery forms (capsules, tablets, sublingual tablets, lozenges, creams, gels), an important advantage in using natural estrogens. In addition, estrone can be used either alone or in combination with estradiol and estriol as is appropriate to each woman and each set of circumstances.

Bio-identical estradiol is also available from a compounding pharmacist and also individualized by dose and delivery for each woman. Bioidentical estradiol is the same hormone as the estradiol that is used in many conventional prescription estrogens (Estrace, Gynediol, and all the current estrogen patches on the market such as Estraderm, Climara, Vivelle, Alora, and Menostar). Again, the difference in the compounded bio-identical estradiol is that it is devoid of the binders, fillers, preservatives, and adhesives found in the patented product. As with compounded bio-identical estrone, compounded bio-identical estradiol also carries with it the extra advantage of very individualized dosing, combined options with estriol or estrone, and numerous delivery methods depending on patient preference or tolerance.

Whether it is compounded estrone/estradiol or the commercial pharmaceutical company form, these forms of estrogen have bone mineral density effects similar to those of conventional conjugated equine estrogens (CEE). A study of 32 postmenopausal women compared 0.625 mg CEE and 5.0 mg MPA with micronized 1.0 mg estradiol (considered to be an equivalent dose to 0.625 CEE) and 200 mg OMP, administered daily and continuously for 13 cycles.¹³⁸ Lumbar bone density improved by 5 percent in the CEE/MPA group and 3.8 percent in the micronized estradiol/OMP group. Hipbone density improved by 2.6 percent in the CEE/MPA group, and 3.1 percent in the micronized estradiol/OMP group. Statistically, the numbers for the two groups are considered similar. Low-dose estradiol (0.5 mg), equivalent to 0.3 mg of CEE, has also been shown to be effective in maintaining vertebral mass.¹³⁹ Although the authors of this study were able to show that 0.5 mg of estradiol effectively preserved spinal bone density, more traditional (1.0 mg) and higher-dose (2.0 mg) estradiol actually increased spinal bone mass by 1.8 percent and 2.5 percent, respectively.

Based on this information, it seems that 0.5 mg estradiol can be used to maintain bone mass, whereas 1.0 mg of micronized 17 beta-estradiol is considered the optimal dosing for enhancement of bone mass in postmenopausal women. No significant differences were seen with using the synthetic progestin (MPA) compared with the natural progesterone (OMP). Even the new lowest dose transdermal patch, Menostar 14 mcg patch (.014 mg), which delivers one-quarter of an average dose of estradiol, shows some ability to slow bone loss, although not to as great a degree as the average-dose patches of .05 mg.

Most people have not heard much about estriol, and I discuss it in more detail in Chapter 12. The question in this chapter is whether estriol will effectively prevent bone loss. A few studies done in the last couple of years in other countries have been able to shed some light on the effects of estriol on bone. Although not all estriol studies have shown positive results with bone mass, several Japanese studies have. Seventyfive postmenopausal women with bone densities at least 10 percent or more below peak bone density were given estriol, 2 mg/day, with 800 mg daily of calcium lactate. After 50 weeks, an average increase in bone mineral density of 1.79 percent was seen on the routine DXA scan.¹⁴⁰

In another Japanese study, 17 women who were 10 years postmenopause were given estriol, 2 mg/day, and 2 g/day of calcium lactate for one year. Another group was given only the calcium lactate. Bone density was significantly reduced after one year in the calcium-only group, while the estriol-plus-calcium group had a 1.66 percent increase in bone density, using the DXA scan again.141 A third Japanese study compared 50- to 65-year-old women and elderly women who received either estriol, 2 mg/day, plus 1 g/day calcium lactate or 2 mg/day of estriol alone for 10 months.¹⁴² Increases of about 5 percent in the lumbar spine were seen in both age groups of women who took the estriol and the calcium. Women of both age groups in the calcium-alone group had a decrease in bone mineral density of the lumbar spine. High doses of estriol, one at 4 to 6 mg/day and one as high as 12 mg/day, were studied in Scotland, but they were not proved protective against bone loss.143

As with bio-identical progesterone, studies on estriol also leave us with a lack of sufficient confirmation about its bone-protective benefits.

Exercise

When bones are stressed by weight, the bone cells (osteocytes) sense it. Osteocytes, in cooperation with other bone cells, initiate a cascade of events leading to increased bone mass that limits the deformation to a predetermined set point (0.1 to 0.5 percent) in any given dimension. When the load on bone exceeds the set point, more bone is deposited than removed. When the load is below the set point, the opposite effect takes place, and bone is lost.^{144, 145}

This statement explains why swimming and moderate walking generally do not lead to increased bone mineral density (BMD),¹⁴⁶ but weight lifting,^{147–149} jogging/running,¹⁵⁰ gymnastics,^{151, 152} and certain sports like basketball do. The set point theory of bone mass increase in response to strain also explains why a few studies showed no effect¹⁵³ or a negative effect¹⁵⁴ of exercise on BMD—a load below the set point fails to trigger a response.

Regular physical exercise of appropriate intensity and duration that overloads the skeletal system above its set point increases BMD in women of all ages within the limits set by hereditary factors, nutrition, and the hormonal status of the individual. In children and adolescents;¹⁵⁵ in college-age women;^{156, 157} in women in their 40s; and in young,^{158, 159} older,^{160, 161} and very old¹⁶² postmenopausal women, exercise has been shown to be essential to the development and maintenance of bone health.

In sedentary women, trabecular bone loss begins to occur in the third decade of life and cortical bone loss in the sixth.^{163, 164} The 35 to 45 percent reduction in muscle strength observed in women at 80 years of age parallels the observed bone loss at that same age.¹⁶⁵ Conversely, the age-related loss of bone parallels decreased physical activity.¹⁶⁶ Moreover, women who exercise retain bone mass throughout life,¹⁶⁷ achieve greater peak bone mass that contributes to the consolidation and strength of bone following the end of linear growth,¹⁶⁸ and have significantly lower risk of fractures in later life.^{154, 169}

Furthermore, Recker and associates demonstrated that, independent of calcium intake or oral contraceptive use, the more college-age women exercised, the greater BMD they achieved. These increases were highly significant despite relatively small increments in exercise. A 1996 review of the literature on peak bone mass and exercise confirms these results and adds that exercise can maintain normal bones sufficiently strong until very old age and can strengthen weak bones when used in concert with adequate nutrition.¹⁷⁰ The author of this review concludes—as is the case in many studies—that even small increases in initial bone mass grow to a substantial difference if the increased bone mass is maintained by a lifetime of regular exercise.

Exercises that involve weight training can increase the mass of bones if the exercise also increases muscle mass and muscle strength.

Therapeutic Scheme for Management of Osteoporosis

- Determine risk for osteoporosis: mild, moderate, or severe.
- Be aware of seven levels of intervention that cover the majority of clinical situations:
 - Level 1: Diet, exercise, lifestyle, and stress management
 - Level 2: Nutritional supplementation
 - Level 3: Botanicals
 - Level 4: Compounded bio-identical hormones
 - Level 5: Pharmaceutical company bioidentical hormones (Use with oral micronized progesterone if uterus is still intact.)
 - Level 6: Synthetic and semisynthetic nonbio-identical hormones in cases that do not respond to other medicines (Use with oral micronized progesterone if uterus is still intact.)
 - Level 7: Prescription bone-specific medications
- Recommendations according to risk:

Level	Mild	Moderate	Severe	
1.	Х	х	Х	
2.	Х	Х	Х	
3.	Х			
4.		Х	Х	
5.		Х	Х	
6.		Х	Х	
7.		Х	Х	

Exercise Recommendations

If you are not already exercising regularly, consult with your licensed health-care professional in cooperation with a qualified exercise expert. Together with them establish:

- A schedule of exercise
- The types, intensity, and duration of exercise

Consider the following guidelines:

- Begin slowly.
- Increase intensity very gradually.
- Train with weights for six weeks before introducing intensive aerobic exercise (such as running or speed walking) into your program.
- Begin each exercise session with joint warming exercises (see Appendix A) for 5 minutes.
- End each exercise session with 5 to 10 minutes of stretching exercises.
- Use caution and moderation throughout your lifetime of exercise.

Women who are in the early postmenopausal years can achieve small but statistically significant benefits on bone mass from strength training.¹⁷¹ A meta-analysis found that women who exercised could increase their spinal BMD by approximately 2 percent.¹⁷² Menopausal women who use estrogen along with weight training have better BMD increases than do women who use estrogen alone.¹⁷³

Strength or weight training can be done as little as twice a week to achieve these benefits and can be done on very inexpensive home equipment that includes as little as a chair, a bench, and some hand weights. One word of caution is for women who already have osteoporosis. Heavy weight-bearing exercises and vigorous stretching and lifting can be enough to trigger a fracture of the spine.

One of the more important aspects of physical activity, especially in women who are 75 and older, is its role in reducing the risk of falls. Muscle strengthening and exercises to improve balance have been shown to reduce the risk of falls and related injuries by 75 percent.¹⁷⁴

Sample Treatment Plan for Osteoporosis Prevention

See the conventional medicine section if you have a diagnosis of borderline osteoporosis or osteoporosis or have already had a fracture postmenopause. The dietary and nutritional supplement recommendations should then be used in combination with conventional therapy. If you do not want to take or are not able to take hormone therapy or conventional osteoporosis-specific medications despite a diagnosis of osteoporosis, this sample treatment plan may not be adequate to prevent bone loss or reduce the risk of fracture. Continue to see a licensed health-care practitioner and monitor bone density.

Dietary Recommendations

- Soy foods: 1 to 2 servings per day
- Dark leafy greens: 1 to 3 servings per day
- Low-fat dairy, especially low-fat cultured yogurt: 1 serving per day
- Decrease animal meats (except for fish) and substitute vegetarian choices, but with adequate vegetarian and/or fish protein
- Avoid alcohol, caffeine, and sugar

Regular Exercise

- Weight-bearing and aerobic exercise 150 minutes per week
- Weight training twice per week
- Most important, keep finding ways to motivate yourself:

Be moderate—avoid burnout. Form a circle of friends who also love to exercise.

Exercise throughout life is as critical as a lifetime of adequate nutrition. The important question for doctors is not to help their female patients of any age decide whether or not to exercise. It is rather to study ways to personalize the exercise prescription and motivate the patient to begin and continue exercising for life.

Numerous books are now available that provide an excellent introduction to your lifetime of exercise. Use simple low-impact exercises and stretching for two or three months before you

Nutritional Supplementation

- Calcium: 1,200-1,500 mg per day
- Magnesium: 400–750 mg per day
- Vitamin D: 400-800 IU per day minimum for women 51 to 70 and 800 IU per day for women over 70; consider even higher amounts of 1,000-2,000 IU if you have been tested and have a vitamin D deficiency
- Trace minerals: boron (3 mg), zinc (15 mg), chromium (100 mcg), manganese (15 mg), and copper (1.5 mg)
- Other nutritional cofactors such as vitamin K₂, 45 mg per day
- Essential fatty acid supplement: 2-4 g fish oil or 4 g fish oil/evening primrose oil per day
- Women at low risk: recommended diet, regular weight-bearing exercise, nutritional supplementation, no hormone therapy necessary
- Women at medium risk: recommended diet, daily weight-bearing exercise, nutritional supplementation, natural hormones (estriol, estradiol, and progesterone or estriol, estrone, estradiol, and progesterone; dose equivalent to 0.3 mg or 0.625 mg Premarin, depending on individual—see Appendix C), or conventional HRT or bone-specific medications
- Women at high risk: recommended diet, daily weight-bearing exercise, nutritional supplementation, conventional estradiol (1 mg per day) and oral micronized progesterone (200 mg per day for 12 days per month or 100 mg daily), or conventional HRT or bone-specific medications

branch out into the more comprehensive exercise program described in Appendix A.

If you are already exercising regularly, consider introducing into your program:

- Variations of speed in your aerobic exercises
- Different exercise positions, particularly in weight training, that challenge your bones from different angles
- Alternating practicing sports such as basketball, volleyball, tennis, and so on with a regular exercise routine

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

Once the diagnosis of osteoporosis has been made, the most frequently instituted medications are the bisphosphonates, nonhormonal inhibitors of bone resorption that act by decreasing osteoclast activity (the cells that destroy bone). These drugs have very poor gastrointestinal absorption and can cause esophageal ulcers, gastric ulcers, and possibly gastrointestinal bleeding. The instructions for the use of these medications are very specific: the patient should take the medication immediately upon awakening and with an empty stomach, following the ingestion of the medication with a full glass of water. It is important that she remain upright for 30 to 45 minutes to prevent reflux and medication problems in the esophagus. Initially, these medications were used daily, and patient compliance was quite poor; being able to take these medications weekly or monthly has been one of the biggest advances in bisphosphonate therapy.

The medications that are most commonly used these days are alendronate (Fosamax), a 70mg tablet once weekly for treatment or a 35-mg tablet once weekly for prevention in patients who are at very high risk for osteoporosis and have rapid bone loss but have not actually been diagnosed as having osteoporosis yet. The next in order of frequency of use is risedronate (Actonel), a 35-mg tablet once weekly. The newest is ibandronate (Boniva), which is a 150-mg pill once monthly. There are intravenous forms of bisphosphonates that can be used on a quarterly basis, but because of their cost and the need for IV administration, they are not frequently used.

Concerns have been raised about bisphosphonates causing osteonecrosis of the jaw. While a serious problem, it is incredibly rare. Approximately 150 cases of osteonecrosis of the jaw associated with bisphosphonate therapy have now been reported. Most of these patients, but not all, have received intravenous therapy, have malignancies, and have had dental intervention. Dental implant failures have also been seen in patients receiving oral bisphosphonates for osteoporosis. It could be, especially in those patients who have suffered necrosis after dental procedures, that there is compromised postoperative healing of the bone due to the inhibition of bone turnover caused by the bisphosphonate. A nonhealing wound could then lead to osteomyelitis, and then necrosis. Another mechanism may be that the bisphosphonates are decreasing the levels of vascular endothelial growth factor. Assuring dental health and dental status may be smart preventive advice prior to even oral bisphosphonate therapy, especially in those patients who have metastatic cancer, for whom oral or IV bisphosphonate therapy may slow their disease progression in the bones.

Estrogen and/or progestin therapy works in the same manner by decreasing the activity of the cells (osteoclasts) that remove bone. Hormone therapy was a mainstay for more than 40 years for prevention of bone loss, treatment of osteoporosis, and reduction of fracture risk. In the aftermath of the Women's Health Initiative study in 2002, more women have changed to bisphosphonate use due to fears about hormone therapy. Currently, however, hormone therapy is FDAapproved for treatment of osteoporosis in women who do not tolerate the bisphosphonates, such as women who have had esophagitis, gastric ulcers, or GI bleeds and women whose bone density doesn't improve on bisphosphonates. Some women are changed to a selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM) also.

None of these agents will work optimally without the presence of an adequate amount of calcium, and in order to absorb the calcium, one needs an adequate amount of vitamin D. New studies suggest that 400 units of vitamin D daily are not adequate for calcium absorption and that 800 to 1,000 units per day may be more effective. Vitamin D deficiency is a leading cause of osteoporosis. When women present with postmenopausal osteoporosis, it is assumed that it is
related to being female and postmenopausal with low estrogen, but it is also important, as discussed earlier, to rule out other causes of osteoporosis such as parathyroid hormone problems, concomitant steroid use, and vitamin D deficiency.

Calcium is also very important, and many women do not tolerate the most common and least expensive form of calcium, calcium carbonate. All calciums appear to be absorbed equally well when taken with food and in the presence of vitamin D, but calcium carbonate seems to create more gastrointestinal symptoms. When bloating, constipation, diarrhea, or gas is present, the citrate variety is frequently substituted. The recommended daily dosage of calcium between diet and supplements remains 1,000 mg in women under 50 and 1,200 to 1,500 mg in women over 50.

Androgens have had renewed interest as a therapy for osteoporosis. Tibolone, an anabolic steroid, has been used in many years in Europe for treatment of osteoporosis and is being studied in the United States. There is concern about effects on lipids and the endometrium, as well as basic side-effect profiles that present with androgens, such as acne, facial hair growth, and body hair loss. Typically, androgens are not recommended for osteoporosis treatment.

Calcitonin is a less well-known medication that is primarily used for vertebral compression fracture pain. It is a peptide that inhibits bone resorption and causes a modest increase in vertebral bone. Calcitonin does not seem to have any significant effect on trabecular bone. Initially, it was very difficult to obtain, but recombinant DNA production of the medication has increased its availability. It is an intranasal medication used once daily, but its ability to treat general skeletal osteoporosis is limited. It has a very significant effect, however, on pain improvement in vertebral compression fractures.

SERMs are selective estrogen receptor modulators. They have estrogen-like effects in select tissues while not actually being estrogen. They are called selective receptor modulators because they have a proestrogen effect on certain tissues such as bone and endometrium and an antiestrogen effect on other tissues such as breast tissue. Clomiphene citrate used for infertility is essentially a SERM. Tamoxifen is probably the most widely recommended SERM. It has been used for many years in breast cancer treatment. It improves skeletal bone density in the same way that estrogen works, by decreasing osteoclast activity, but it does have a significant stimulatory effect on endometrium and has increased endometrial cancer in patients.

The third and currently recommended osteoporosis treatment SERM is raloxifene (Evista). It differs from tamoxifen in that it has no activity on the endometrium. It stimulates bone growth by reducing the activity of the osteoclasts and reduces serum lipids just like estrogen, but it does not stimulate the endometrium or the breast and has actually been shown in several studies to reduce lifetime risk of breast cancer by 50 to 74 percent. The side effects of raloxifene are vasomotor symptoms, unexplained leg cramps, and a risk of deep vein thrombosis (DVT) approximately equal to that of estrogen.

The newest, but very limited, drug for osteoporosis treatment is parathyroid hormone. It is called teriparatide (Forteo), and it actually stimulates osteoblast activity, the cells that build bone. Its effect on the bone is uniquely different from any of the other medications. It is a daily subcutaneous injectable medication that is moderately expensive and used for severe osteoporosis in patients who are not responding to the other medications or are having a lot of fractures. The main side effects are dizziness, nausea, joint aches, and leg cramps.

For perimenopausal and young postmenopausal women with osteopenia and a T-score not worse than -2.0, I would consider the use of any of these conventional approaches overtreatment. Other prevention strategies include dietary advice, exercise including strength training, vitamin D, calcium, trace minerals and nutrients, and low alcohol intake. The practitioner should monitor the bone density over time. For women of this age who actually have osteoporosis, bisphosphonates may be a good choice. Calcium and vitamin D have important but modest benefits in women who already have osteoporosis.

Older postmenopausal women (over 65) who have either significant osteopenia or osteoporosis are more certain candidates for bisphosphonates and other conventional treatments, which are proven to reduce the risk of fracture by 50 percent. Hopefully, research will determine the shortest amount of time that is necessary to be treated and the lowest dose that is required to achieve this significant benefit, which is not currently known for some of these medications. Fortunately, there is no rapid bone loss after discontinuing bisphosphonate treatment, compared to the rapid loss that does occur after discontinuation of estrogen.

Also in time, research on natural medicines can be expanded to include the role of nutrients not only in bone density, but in bone strength and bone architecture. Some of these areas could be the use of significantly higher doses of vitamin D, as well as red clover isoflavones, soy isoflavones, manganese, boron, fish oils, and more. In this way, natural therapies could play an increasingly important role in slowing bone loss and reducing fracture rates.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

Osteoporosis is one of the most important ageassociated disorders and should be considered a potentially disabling disease that warrants substantial preventive efforts and management interventions. Early identification of risk factors for osteoporosis, prevention strategies, vitamin D status, and assessment of calcium metabolism and bone density provide the basis for determining what is appropriate for each woman. A licensed health-care practitioner who is educated about when to rule out secondary causes of bone loss and the importance of early identification, prevention, and treatment, and who is also aware of the spectrum of alternative and conventional options, is especially crucial for women who are at higher risk or who already have osteoporosis. Your family physician, internist, or endocrinologist is probably the cornerstone for medical therapy. Some gynecologists can provide advice and treatment as well. Some licensed alternative practitioners may have expertise in osteoporosis management as well.

Many physicians do not even discuss osteoporosis, and you may have to insist on a DXA scan to measure bone density. An ultrasound test of the heel, which is much less expensive, may be a helpful screening test for some women. There is some evidence that a heel test is 85 to 90 percent accurate compared with the bone density of the hip on a DXA scan. Many insurance companies do not cover routine osteoporosis screening for women under 65 unless they have significant risk factors, but if you have a heel test that shows your bone density is below normal, this can be the stimulus for obtaining a DXA scan. Some practitioners recommend screening women with heel ultrasounds, but by and large the heel test is not yet considered an accurate test to replace DXA scans for either early detection or monitoring.

The more risk factors you have for osteoporosis, the greater the need to have laboratory and bone density testing. Women are especially encouraged to seek a licensed health-care practitioner who is well educated in the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis.

CHAPTER

PELVIC INFLAMMATORY DISEASE

OVERVIEW

Pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) includes a spectrum of infections of the upper genital tract. These include endometritis (infection of the lining of the uterus), salpingitis (infection of the fallopian tubes), tubo-ovarian abscess, and pelvic peritonitis (infection of the serous membrane lining the abdominal and pelvic walls). More than one million women in the United States develop PID each year, and one-fourth of them require hospitalization.

The infection typically results from the spread of microorganisms that ascend from the endocervix (the canal leading from the cervix into the uterus) to the upper genital organs. The most common organisms are Neisseria gonorrhoeae and Chlamydia trachomatis. Chlamydia causes 50 percent of PID in Europe and 20 to 30 percent of cases in the United States, though the real incidence may be even higher. Gonorrhea remains the single most frequent cause in the United States. Additional organisms implicated in PID include bacterial vaginosis organisms (Mycoplasma spp., Peptostreptococcus spp., Prevotella spp.), Haemophilus influenzae, Streptococcus pyogenes, and Streptococcus pneumoniae. PID is considered a polymicrobial infection due to the many organisms involved. Bacterial vaginosis (BV) produces enzymes that dissolve cervical mucous, and therefore if you have BV, there is an increased risk of endometritis (PID in the uterus), and women with the highest bacterial loads have increased risk of PID of at least twofold.

The problems associated with PID involve its ability to ascend from the lower to the upper genital tract. How it ascends is not exactly clear. Uterine contractions may be responsible, and even sperm may play a role in enhancing the spread of the organisms. Another possibility is that the bacteria may be transferred into the fallopian tube due to the common occurrence of retrograde menstruation. The pathogenic organisms may spread along with the blood, contributing to PID.

Once the pathogen ascends to the uterus or fallopian tubes, it adheres to mucus-secreting cells and then invades just below the epithelial surface (the surface of the tissue lining the fallopian tubes). An acute inflammatory response occurs, causing cell death and tissue damage, and can result in scarring and tubal adhesions.

One in four women diagnosed with PID may develop complications, including ectopic pregnancy, infertility, recurrent pelvic pain, and recurrent PID. It is important to recognize the possibility of PID because of its potential for developing into a lethal condition, a more complicated condition, or a condition with longterm consequences. It is also important to be alert to possible surgical emergencies. Sometimes PID can be elusive, and there is little clinical evidence to support a suspicion of PID, especially when the symptoms are mild and insidious. The classic symptoms of lower abdominal pain and tenderness with examination or motion of the cervix occurs in only 20 to 25 percent of patients. A much more common presentation is often a mild or subtle pelvic pain. Some women with PID will have discomfort with urination and urinary frequency as well as other urinary tract symptoms. An increased number of risk factors for PID increases the suspicion. These may include the following:

- Age 14 to 24
- · Heterosexual and sexually active

- Multiple heterosexual sex partners
- New heterosexual sex partner
- Low socioeconomic status
- · History of sexually transmitted disease
- History of PID
- Oral contraceptive users have increased risk of acquiring gonorrhea or chlamydia if exposed but a decreased risk of upper tract infection
- Use of IUD for contraception
- Never having been pregnant
- Cigarette, alcohol, or illicit drug use
- Any instrumentation of the uterus—such as a uterine biopsy, diagnostic scope, or surgical abortion
- Pelvic or bowel surgery

Adolescents and young single heterosexual adults have the highest incidence of gonorrhea. This organism is believed to be the cause in 33 to 80 percent of the PID cases, although mixed gonorrhea and chlamydial infections occur frequently. About 15 percent of endocervical gonorrhea infections result in PID. A diagnosis of PID in children warrants an evaluation for child abuse.

PID symptoms more often occur during or within one week of menses because the opening of the cervix is wider due to menstruation. Microorganisms can then more easily ascend into the upper genital region and use the flow of blood as nutrition for their growth.

Women with new heterosexual partners within the last 30 to 60 days or multiple sex partners are more likely to develop PID. If a woman's partner is not monogamous, then she is also at increased risk. A history of a sexually transmitted infection (STI) increases the likelihood of contracting subsequent STIs, as does a history of PID.

Barrier contraceptive methods such as condoms, diaphragms, and cervical caps (FemCap) reduce the risk of STIs, PID, and infertility.¹ Their protective benefit comes from decreasing the risk of acquiring a STI. In addition, the condom may decrease the risk for developing PID by eliminating the sperm as the method in which the STI can ascend.

Intrauterine devices (IUDs) are associated with an increased risk of PID, particularly in the first four months after insertion, but then risk returns to normal at five months.² The thinking is that microorganisms in the vagina and cervix are introduced into the uterus during the IUD insertion. The incidence of PID in IUD users is two to nine times that of nonusers in most populations of women studied.1 If a woman with suspected PID has an IUD, it must be removed. Oral contraceptives (OCs) have both a positive and a negative effect on the risk of PID. They can increase the risk of chlamydia infecting the cervix (mucopurulent cervicitis), but they are also associated with a decreased risk of symptomatic PID. It is thought that the progestin component in the OCs causes the cervical mucus to become thicker and the STI cannot penetrate this. OCs also decrease the heaviness of the menstrual flow, and this decreased blood may result in less retrograde menstrual flow, making it harder for the bacteria to ascend and cause PID. If a woman using oral contraceptives does acquire PID, it is often milder or possibly even asymptomatic.³

Use of illicit drugs (especially crack cocaine), alcohol, or cigarettes has been associated with an increased risk of STDs and PID. Substance abuse also increases the potential for HIV infection. Women with HIV are far more likely to have PID.

Vaginal douching may be associated with PID and even ectopic pregnancy. In several studies, women with PID are more likely to use douching than women without PID. One study found that douching within the previous two months was associated with a 70 percent increase in PID.⁴

Diagnosis of PID starts with a combination of a good medical history and physical exam. The medical history should include a thorough sexual history. Symptoms include but are not limited to vaginal discharge, fever, chills, urinary symptoms, heavy menstrual bleeding, intermenstrual bleeding, and lower abdominal/pelvic pain. A

PREVENTION

- Use barrier methods of contraception.
- Avoid illicit drugs and cigarettes, and limit alcohol.
- Treat previous STIs with appropriate therapy and be certain of resolution.
- Avoid douching. (It is possible that douching will cause a vaginal infection of GC, CT, or BV to ascend into the uterus and/or the fallopian tubes.)
- Know the sexual history of your partner.
- Heterosexual women who have multiple partners and do not use condoms, cervical caps, or diaphragms are at higher risk for PID.
- Women with HIV are at even higher risk and need to practice even greater caution.

physical exam includes taking the temperature; a pelvic and abdominal exam with any tenderness of the uterus, fallopian tubes, or cervix serving as a red flag; observing the cervix and looking for redness, swelling, and friability (easy bleeding) of the cervix; and evaluating genital tract secretions, particularly for mucopurulent (green or yellow) discharge.

The vaginal secretions should be evaluated for the presence of white blood cells during microscopy. Laboratory testing includes cervical samples for *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (GC) or *Chlamydia trachomatis* (CT); a pelvic ultrasound showing thickened, fluid-filled tubes or tubo-ovarian mass; and acute and/or chronic endometritis on endometrial biopsy. The gold standard in diagnosing PID is a laparoscopy. During this surgical procedure, the surgeon looks for swelling of the fallopian tubes, tubal adhesions, tubal erythema (redness), tubal purulent or serous discharge, and/or a tubo-ovarian mass.

OVERVIEW OF Alternative medicine

Gonorrhea is a reportable disease. This means that a practitioner must call the public health

KEY CONCEPTS

- Acute or chronic pelvic pain warrants a visit to a qualified licensed health-care practitioner for diagnosis.
- PID must be differentiated from other causes of pelvic and abdominal pain.
- PID should be treated primarily with antibiotic therapy, while alternative medicine can offer supportive and adjunct therapies to conventional treatment.
- Seek prompt medical attention if you have the symptoms described in this chapter or suspect you have PID.
- The sex partner must also be evaluated and treated. Reinfection will almost certainly occur if the sex partner is not treated.

department and report the disease if this organism has been cultured. Due to the potential complications and seriousness of PID, in concert with a lack of proven therapeutic results in using natural treatments for this disorder, alternative therapies should be seen as secondary to conventional treatment. Women who suffer from PID and have strong opinions about not being treated with antibiotics should be fully educated and informed so that their decision to decline antibiotic therapy can be fully considered. A short course of antibiotic therapy is rarely detrimental to one's health. In this case, the benefit of the therapy far outweighs the risk of its use. Likewise, alternative practitioners should understand that the integration of antibiotic therapy for the benefit of the patient is not a failure of natural medicine. There are old texts that make reference to treating PID with natural therapies, but they lack modern methods of evaluation and followup. It could be that botanicals used in India, China, or elsewhere have a tradition substantiated by modern confirmation testing, but I am not aware of any confirmed treatments.

Using alternative therapies to support the immune system, assist in managing pain and

discomfort, reduce inflammation, and counteract some of the side effects of the antibiotics are the main priorities. Drinking plenty of water, getting rest, eating simple light foods, and avoiding stimulants are basic guidelines during any acute infection, including pelvic infections.

General immune support to complement conventional antibiotic treatment is just good plain common sense. Nutritional and botanical support can stimulate white blood cells that engulf and destroy bacteria. Herbs and nutrients can enhance the function of T cells, B cells, and natural killer cells that support the immune system's response to infection. Vitamin A, vitamin C, the carotenes, vitamin E, zinc, and the B vitamins all play an important role in immune enhancement. Increasing antibody response, stimulating helper T cells, enhancing white blood cell response and function, and directly killing the virus or bacteria are just some of the ways in which these supplements can be helpful during an infection of any kind.

Many herbs have also been shown to have antimicrobial and immunostimulating effects. Allicin extracts from garlic may hold the most promise for inhibiting bacterial infections. Goldenseal and Oregon grape root also have the ability to inhibit the overgrowth of numerous organisms, although this does not include BV and CT. The most commonly used herb for immune support is echinacea. Echinacea can increase the production of T cells, stimulate the white blood cells that engulf and destroy bacteria, stimulate natural killer cell activity, and increase the number of circulating white blood cells in order to deal with the infection.⁵ The end result is a strengthened immune system. Curcumin is one of the best herbs to reduce inflammation.

The best complement to counteract the side effects of antibiotic use is to add or increase the intake of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* to help prevent a vaginal yeast infection. This can be accomplished by eating yogurt daily or by taking oral capsules of *Lactobacillus acidophilus*. Four to

Sample Adjunct Treatment Plan for Pelvic Inflammatory Disease

This plan should be used as a complement to antibiotic therapy.

- Eat a light diet during acute infection: vegetable broths, steamed vegetables, salads, and fruits
- Acidophilus yogurt: 4–8 oz per day as a preventive of yeast vaginitis
- Vitamin E: 400 units twice daily
- Vitamin C: 1,000-2,000 mg 3 times daily
- Vitamin A: 25,000 units per day and up to 50,000 units for a maximum of 2 weeks
- Zinc: 45-60 mg per day
- Ice pack over the uterus with a hot footbath
- Echinacea: ¹/₂ tsp liquid extract or 2 capsules/tablets every 3 hours during course of infection
- High-dose allicin extract: 2 capsules 4 times daily for the first 3–6 days, then 2 capsules twice daily for 1 week, and then 2 capsules daily until infection is gone

eight ounces of unsweetened acidophilus yogurt or at least three capsules of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* daily for two weeks may be able to prevent the overgrowth of vaginal yeast that often occurs when taking antibiotics. Additional dietary advice, plus botanical and nutritional therapies for the prevention and treatment of yeast vaginitis, is discussed in Chapter 20.

Ice packs over the pelvic region can reduce inflammation and pain in cases of acute PID. Cold or ice packs placed over the region of the uterus while putting the feet in a tub of hot water can further assist in reducing the inflammation, congestion, and pain in the pelvic area. Alternating hot and cold sitz baths can also be used to improve circulation in the pelvic area and improve the healing time from the infection. This is done by sitting in a bath of hot water, with the water level just above the waist, for three minutes, followed by sitting in a small second portable metal or plastic tub of ice cold water for one minute. This procedure is repeated three times in succession, once or twice daily throughout the course of the pain and infection.

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

Conventional practitioners rely on their judgment in assessing the severity of the disease and the ability of the patient to carry out the treatment successfully. It is essential for the practitioner to educate the patient about the exact treatment regimen. If she is able to comply with the recommendations, she may be a candidate for outpatient treatment. Infertility may be more successfully prevented by prompt administration of IV (intravenous) antibiotics, even if the woman is not acutely ill. In the case of outpatient treatment, once antibiotics are administered, the patient must have a follow-up visit within 72 hours. With the advent of home IV therapy, sometimes IV antibiotic treatment can be received at home.

PID therapy must provide broad-spectrum coverage of the most likely offending organisms. Although several antimicrobial regimens have been effective in achieving cure in randomized clinical trials, few studies have been done to assess and compare elimination of infection of the lining of the uterus and the fallopian tubes or the incidence of long-term complications such as infertility and ectopic pregnancy. No single antibiotic regimen has been established. Healthcare providers select treatment regimens based on drug availability, cost, the patient's tolerance of the drug, and other individuating factors. Most practitioners follow the Centers for Disease Control treatment guidelines, which were updated in 2006:

Regimen A

- Levofloxacin (500 mg orally once daily for 14 days) *or*
- Ofloxacin (400 mg orally once daily for 14 days)

Regimen B

- Ceftriaxone (250 mg intramuscularly in a single dose) plus doxycycline (100 mg orally twice a day for 14 days) *or*
- Cefoxitin (2 g intramuscularly in a single dose) plus probenecid (1 g orally administered concurrently in a single dose) plus doxycycline (100 mg orally twice a day for 14 days) *or*
- Another parenteral third-generation cephalosporin (for example, ceftizoxime or cefotaxime) plus doxycycline (100 mg orally twice a day for 14 days)

These regimens can be used with or without metronidazole (500 mg orally twice a day for 14 days). The addition of metronidazole should be considered, as anaerobic organisms are suspected in the majority of PID cases. Metronidazole will also treat bacterial vaginosis, which is frequently associated with PID and/or follows antibiotic therapy.

It is important to realize how critical it is to follow the practitioner's directions and to complete the drug regimen as prescribed on the bottle. There may be side effects about which the patient should be informed to improve compliance.

There are certain criteria for hospitalization of a woman with PID that include but are not limited to:

- Concern about the ability of the patient to comply with treatment and to follow up
- A fever greater than 101 degrees
- Signs of an acute abdomen (acute onset of abdominal pain/tenderness/bloating, nausea, vomiting)
- Lack of improvement within 72 hours

If hospitalization occurs, a more complex regimen is administered with several combinations of IV antibiotics. After the patient leaves the hospital, two weeks of doxycycline is given.

Intravenous treatment recommendations of PID are as follows:

- Levofloxacin (500 mg IV once daily) with or without metronidazole (500 mg IV every 8 hours) *or*
- Ofloxacin (400 mg IV every 12 hours) with or without metronidazole (500 mg IV every 8 hours) *or*
- Ampicillin/sulbactam (3 g IV every 6 hours) plus doxycycline (100 mg orally or IV every 12 hours)

These medications are used in the hospital until the patient's fever has been absent for one or two days, her pelvic pain has dramatically reduced, she is taking oral food and able to get up and out of bed and take care of herself, and any of the other criteria that a physician chooses to release the patient from the hospital.

Treatment of a tubal ovarian abscess, which is a common complication of PID, is more complex. If the patient has a fever, with an acute abdomen, the first line of treatment is surgical drainage of the tubal ovarian abscess followed by multiple IV antibiotics. Sometimes, if a patient has minimal tenderness, does not have a fever, and is a good candidate for outpatient therapy, she can be given oral medications for two to three weeks and followed in the office.

Treatment of PID should eliminate signs and symptoms of the infection and eradicate the microorganisms while minimizing the damage to the fallopian tubes as well as long-term complications. Follow-up for outpatient treatment is critical within 72 hours to assure that the patient is taking the medicine accurately and to evaluate the effectiveness of the treatment.

Pregnant women with suspected PID should be seen immediately and have an ectopic pregnancy ruled out. PID in pregnancy is uncommon and is more likely to occur when HIV is present. Hospitalization and IV antimicrobial therapy are recommended.

Conventional practitioners take great care in educating the patient about the disease; the importance of treatment; the possible consequences; the importance of treating her male partners, if applicable; and the importance of barrier contraceptives and other methods to reduce the risk of STIs. To a patient not accustomed to dealing with severe infections and the need for antibiotics, some practitioners may seem overly aggressive in their recommendations and insistence. Although this may offend some women, it is important that they do not let a less-than-optimal bedside style distract their attention from the value of what physicians know and have to offer.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

Women with pelvic pain need to consider not only PID but also other conditions that can occur with similar discomfort. Ectopic pregnancy, tubo-ovarian abscess, ruptured ovarian cysts, appendicitis, inflammatory colitis, pancreatitis, cholecystitis (inflammation of the gallbladder), cystitis (inflammation of the bladder), diverticulitis (inflammation of a small pouch along the border of the colon), hepatitis, and a twisted fallopian tube are among the other potentially serious disorders that require differentiation from PID.

Women with PID typically describe pain that is sharp, localized, and on both sides of the body. They may also have an oral temperature above 101 degrees. Ectopic pregnancy typically presents with one-sided pain but no fever.

If you have these symptoms, call your doctor immediately. A licensed health-care practitioner (naturopathic doctor, medical doctor, osteopathic doctor, nurse-practitioner, or physician's assistant) will proceed with a history, physical examination, and diagnostic testing, including blood work, cultures, and possible pelvic ultrasound. An abdominal exam will be done to check for pain in various locations. A pelvic exam will check the external genital region; a speculum exam will check for inflammation and discharge. A thick, transparent, yellow, gray, or brown discharge coming through

Diagnostic Criteria for Pelvic Inflammatory Disease

All three criteria must be present for a clinical diagnosis (without the use of tests) of PID:

- Lower abdominal tenderness
- Bilateral adnexal tenderness
- Cervical motion tenderness

Additional criteria useful in diagnosis:

- Oral temperature greater than 101°F
- Mucopurulent cervical or vaginal discharge
- Palpable pelvic mass
- Elevated sedimentation rate or C-reactive protein—both markers of inflammation
- White blood cell count greater than 10,000
- Evidence of cervical infection with Neisseria gonorrhoeae or Chlamydia trachomatis
- Tubo-ovarian abscess or fluid-filled tubes on pelvic ultrasound
- Acute and/or chronic endometritis on endometrial biopsy
- Laparoscopic abnormalities consistent with PID

the cervix suggests a chlamydial or gonococcal infection. An internal exam will check for an enlarged uterus or pain and tenderness. Cultures for the infectious agents require two to three days to process and are important in confirming a diagnosis, but severe symptoms and the potentially serious consequences of acute PID require immediate treatment even if confirmation has not yet been obtained.

Since more than one organism can cause PID, a negative culture result can be misleading. Newer and more accurate tests using antigen detection methods or fluorescence antibody marker techniques are available for the rapid detection of chlamydial infection. They can be especially useful in detecting mild cases or cases that have no symptoms. Pelvic ultrasound examinations are performed when a pelvic mass or abscess is suspected. They may be able to reveal a cyst, an ectopic pregnancy, an abscess, or an enlarged tube.

Laparoscopy is considered to be the gold standard for diagnosing PID. Because diagnostic laparoscopy is expensive and invasive, requires special training, and may not affect the decision to treat the patient for pelvic infection, it is not routinely used in the emergency management of patients with PID. A procedure called culdocentesis aspirates fluid that has collected behind the uterus. It is rarely used unless the diagnosis is uncertain or a complication is suspected. The presence of blood in the fluid sample suggests an ectopic pregnancy or a ruptured ovarian cyst. Cloudy or purulent fluid suggests an infection, and the fluid is then tested with cultures for PID.

About 25 percent of women with PID will require hospitalization. Criteria for hospitalization have been established by the CDC. If your practitioner recommends that you be admitted to the hospital, I would urge you to entrust yourself to his or her care. You can always use natural therapies to augment the treatment. The CDC criteria for hospitalization include:

- Adolescent patient
- A surgical abdomen, a serious condition characterized by sudden onset of abdominal/ pelvic pain, tenderness, and muscular rigidity (possibility of appendicitis)
- HIV infection
- The diagnosis of PID is uncertain
- The patient has not responded to outpatient treatment
- The patient has not been able to tolerate or follow the outpatient regimen
- A surgical emergency is possible
- Pregnancy
- The patient has a septic appearance (fever, chills, shaking, or other flu-like symptoms)
- · Severe illness or nausea and vomiting
- Suspected pelvic abscess

This page intentionally left blank

PREGNANCY

OVERVIEW

All women want to do everything they possibly can to optimize the health and well-being of themselves and their children. There is no other condition that inspires women to care for themselves as well as pregnancy. That said, Mother Nature's talent in producing healthy babies is awesome indeed, and no matter the range of one's individual decisions regarding optimal health care, most babies arrive intact and healthy. Women who receive prenatal care enjoy the lowest risk of maternal and infant mortality in history.

It is important to recognize those things we have control over and those we don't. While women should do their best to take excellent care of themselves during pregnancy, they must not assume personal responsibility for vagaries of biology like miscarriages and rare abnormalities. Ninety-eight percent or more of babies are born healthy. Keep that number in mind as you read through this information. Remember that fetuses are strong little creatures. They pull what they need from our bodies pretty effectively. It is the woman carrying the child, in all but extreme cases, who suffers from any deficiencies in nutrition or health—the fetus gets preferential treatment. Welcome to motherhood!

Pregnancy and birthing are normal physiological processes that can be positively supported through adequate rest, preventive nutrition, and the avoidance of harmful substances. Minimizing stress, getting plenty of low-impact exercise and fresh air, and sleeping well are important factors leading to a positive overall experience of pregnancy and birth. The important thing to remember is that each pregnancy is unique, and although there are certain universal factors to consider, the most important preventive medicine is the mother's relationship to her own body and her emotional and physical connection to the child she is carrying.

During pregnancy, hormone secretion changes radically, causing the physical and emotional changes experienced by most women fairly early in the first trimester. Estrogen and progesterone levels are about 100 times higher than usual during pregnancy, dropping immediately after birth to prepregnancy levels as prolactin (the pituitary hormone) is produced to stimulate the production of breast milk. Throughout pregnancy, the placenta produces a hormone called relaxin, which softens the connective tissues and ligaments that support the uterus, allowing it to expand. The production of endorphins (morphine-like hormones that are the body's natural painkillers and tranquilizers) is increased during pregnancy and continues to rise during labor, when they reach peak levels.1 These hormonal changes can lead to the experience of morning sickness or nausea in the first trimester, especially when there are nutritional deficiencies as well.

OVERVIEW OF ALTERNATIVE MEDICINE CONSIDERATIONS

Nearly all pregnant women can benefit from nutritional and multivitamin supplementation one year before and all during pregnancy, as well as throughout labor, delivery, and breast-feeding. The effects of poor nutrition during pregnancy can be seen in the increase of birth defects during times of famine.² But a standard Western diet (high in fats, salt, and sugar and low in complex carbohydrates) also lacks essential vitamins and minerals needed during pregnancy and breast-feeding, which can compromise your baby's health.³ The appropriate

276 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

diet is well balanced and varied and includes fresh fruits, vegetables, whole grains, legumes, beans, and fish, with a limit on refined sugars, processed foods, and saturated fats. Organically grown produce, meats, and poultry are preferable, or inorganic produce that has been carefully washed to remove agricultural chemicals.⁴

In an observational study involving 76 healthy pregnant women, 78 percent had "one or more glaring nutritional deficiencies."⁵ Another study showed an "overall apparent protective effect of peri-conceptual multivitamin use" for prevention of certain pregnancy-related illnesses and birth defects.⁶ Of special importance are folate (folic acid) and calcium intake, since the requirement for both of these doubles during pregnancy.

One study found that "The fetus, the neonate, and the pregnant woman have an increased requirement for folic acid and vitamin B₁₂, and are more likely to suffer from a deficiency of these vitamins."7 Nutrients such as folic acid and vitamins B₆ and B₁₂ have been correlated with prevention of the more common pregnancy complications, such as spontaneous abortion, placental abruption, preterm delivery, low infant birth weight, and neural tube defects (such as spina bifida and anencephaly).8 Supplementation with calcium-the only mineral whose requirement doubles during pregnancy9has been positively correlated with prevention of pregnancy hypertension,¹⁰ preeclampsia,^{11, 12} preterm delivery,13 and low birth weight,14 as well as puerperal psychosis (postpartum depression).¹⁵ Magnesium supplementation has also been shown to reduce the complications of pregnancy and improve the health of the infant.¹⁶

In addition to taking nutritional supplements, certain substances should be avoided in preparation for and during pregnancy. Smoking during pregnancy increases the incidence of premature labor,¹⁷ low birth weight,¹⁸ and infant complications.¹⁹ These complications may not be alleviated by increased maternal caloric intake. In addition, women who abuse alcohol and use

KEY CONCEPTS

- Eat a healthy, whole foods diet, high in healthy oils (low-mercury fish high in omega-3 oils), complex carbohydrates, fruits, vegetables, organic meats and dairy, legumes, and nuts and seeds.
- Avoid situations that would increase risk of acute illness.
- Manage medical problems safely and effectively, as necessary.
- Have regular prenatal health checks.
- Seek assistance from a qualified health-care practitioner.

TO PREVENT COMPLICATIONS

- Avoid alcohol.
- Avoid nicotine.
- Reduce exposure to mercury-containing foods.
- Avoid recreational drugs.
- Avoid over-the-counter drugs, prescription drugs, and herbs that may adversely affect the fetus. Consult with knowledgeable medical personnel about these choices.
- Exercise regularly; avoid injuries, falls, and high-risk athletics.

illicit drugs are more likely to have inadequate nutrition as well as birth abnormalities and developmental problems in the infant.

Nutrition

During pregnancy, a woman's physiology changes dramatically to allow for the development of a healthy fetus. To support the rapidly growing fetus, changes in metabolism, biochemistry, and hormone status are needed to provide the environment and energy required. Appropriate nutrition is important for both the mother and child during pregnancy and plays a pivotal role in a healthy pregnancy. Members of the health-care team assess maternal nutritional risk, assign goals for weight gain, and recommend dietary changes to achieve those goals. Prenatal evaluation and continued health care are important to monitor the progress of the pregnancy and intervene with corrective changes when needed.

The nutritional assessment includes information about diet, eating habits, daily activities, medical and medication history, and the use of tobacco, alcohol, and recreational drugs. An initial physical examination followed by ongoing exams is essential in assessing the mother's body mass index (BMI) and appropriate weight gain and fetal growth. BMI relates weight to height and thus provides a better estimate of body fat distribution than weight alone. The practitioner uses the BMI to determine whether the mother is underweight, normal weight, overweight, or obese. Weight is a very important indicator of fetal health and requires precise and regular measurement. At each visit with your prenatal health-care worker, you should be weighed to assess your weight gain compared to the target goals.

Low prepregnant weight and inadequate weight gain during pregnancy are dominant contributors to intrauterine growth retardation²⁰ and low birth weight.²¹ Maternal prepregnant weight and weight gain in pregnancy also have an impact on early infant death rates. For women who are underweight prior to pregnancy, the perinatal mortality risk at birth is lowest when their weight gain during pregnancy is greater than 37 pounds. For women who had normal weight prior to pregnancy, the lowest risk is with a weight gain of 30 to 37 pounds.22 Women who are obese prior to pregnancy need to gain less weight for an optimal fetal outcome. Significant risk occurs in obese women if there is a greater than 25-pound weight gain during the pregnancy.23 Weight loss in obese women is not recommended during pregnancy. Teenagers, especially, often need careful education about the importance of nutrition, nutritional choices, the importance of healthy weight gain, and guidance throughout the pregnancy.

All pregnant women will benefit from prenatal nutritional education that focuses on healthy nutritional practices. Women with limited or potentially imbalanced dietary habits (vegetarians, vegans, anorexics, and women consuming macrobiotic, high-protein, weight-loss, high-fat, or high-junk food diets) should receive special attention and be educated on the potential complications and risks of these habits to both the mother and the fetus. Women with a history of anorexia, bulimia, obesity, diabetes, chronic kidney disease, chronic gastrointestinal disease, or extreme diets may need more individualized education and nutritional therapy. Vegetarian, vegan, and macrobiotic diets are not necessarily inappropriate as long as certain parameters are monitored. These include regular physical exams and prenatal checks, appropriate weight gain, and laboratory testing. Even women that have done well or seemingly well on these diets prior to pregnancy may not do well when pregnant or nursing.

Other women may suffer from an inadequate caloric intake because of their fear of weight gain, inadequate education about pregnancy, or insufficient money to purchase enough nutritious food. For low-income pregnant and postpartum lactating women, for infants, and for children up to the age of five years at nutritional risk, assistance is available through the federal Supplemental Food Program for Women, Infants and Children (WIC). Food stamp programs and Aid to Families with Dependent Children may also be available for women. Other local, private, church, county, and state organizations may also be a source of assistance.

Some women are potentially at nutritional risk. These include women who have had several fullterm pregnancies, previous low birth weight deliveries, and short intervals between births. Women with medical conditions such as diabetes, chronic renal disease, anemia, and phenylketonuria all require special attention to dietary counseling. Use of prescribed medications, over-the-counter drugs, vitamin and mineral supplements, laxatives, and diet aids should all be reviewed by a qualified health-care practitioner. The average amount of weight gain is 28 pounds. The maternal component of weight accumulation starts in the first trimester and is most prominent in the first half of the pregnancy. The growth of the fetus is most rapid in the second half of the pregnancy. In the last 12 weeks, the weight of the fetus more than triples.

Optimal health during pregnancy not only helps to ensure a healthy baby but also helps to ensure good health for the mother after the birth. A strong nutritional foundation during pregnancy can provide mothers necessary support in the postpartum period, throughout breast-feeding, and during the years to come when the demands of raising young children are high. When contemplating pregnancy, the first step a woman needs to take is to commit to eat healthfully. Support of family and friends during days of not feeling well along with assistance with shopping and cooking can help in keeping that commitment. Almost every pregnant woman will experience cravings. The main problem with cravings arises when cravings for chocolate, sodas, sweets, and ice cream become substitutes for nutritious foods. Cravings often can also be clues about specific nutritional needs. A craving for ice cream may indicate an increased need for protein, fat, or calcium. A craving for acidic foods like pickles may be a clue to increased need for calcium or salt. A craving for sweets may indicate a need for more protein in the diet. Cravings for chips can indicate a need for more salt and fats. A continued effort should be made to replace these junk foods with healthier nutritious choices.

The best way to ensure that you are eating well is to establish a balanced, wide variety of foods, including whole-grain cereals and breads, vegetables and fruits, nuts, seeds, legumes, and complementary amounts of dairy products and meats, especially fish and poultry. If you are unfamiliar with natural foods, try to find a nutritional practitioner who can advise you and begin to make appropriate changes in your diet. Books on nutrition and cooking also can be of help as you incorporate healthy foods into your diet. If you already eat a very healthy diet, then it is important to ensure that you are eating adequate amounts of food. If you are on a restricted diet or follow a specific dietary system, I advise you to seek the advice of a health-care practitioner knowledgeable in the area of nutrition. Generally this would be a licensed naturopathic physician or a nutritionist/dietitian. The following general guidelines for daily food servings have been proposed as the "daily dozen" in the book *What to Eat When You're Expecting.*²⁴

- Calories: plenty of healthy foods to ensure adequate calories (2,300 daily)
- Protein: four servings (either vegetable or animal sources—74 g total)
- Calcium foods: four servings daily (dairy and nondairy sources)
- Vitamin C-rich fruits and vegetables: two servings
- Green leafy vegetables and yellow fruits and vegetables: three servings
- Other veggies and fruits: one or two servings
- Whole grains and other complex carbohydrates: four to six servings
- Iron-rich foods: one or more servings daily
- High-fat foods: two servings
- Salt: in moderation, to taste
- Fluids: at least six to eight glasses
- Supplements: nutritious herbs, highly concentrated food supplements (soy or green drinks), and a prenatal vitamin-mineral supplement

The Food and Nutrition Board of the Institute of Medicine has published recommended dietary allowances (RDAs) periodically since 1943. The RDAs are listed by nutrient in the nutritional supplement section that follows.

The question of how many calories per day to consume is dependent upon many variables. The input portion of the energy equation includes the consumed food plus the amount of stored fuel in the body. The output variable in the equation includes the metabolic rate, thermogenesis (heat production), and physical activity. The caloric content of the diet required to supply daily energy needs and achieve optimal weight gain can be estimated by multiplying your optimal body weight in pounds by 15.9 and adding 300 to the total. (Alternatively, you can multiply your optimal weight in kilograms by 35 and add 300 to the total.)

The postnatal period is another time when the physiological demands of lactation and breast-feeding put additional nutritional strain on the mother. Optimal milk production requires a total daily caloric intake of at least 1,800 calories. The energy sources are fat stores and diet, which need to supply an additional 500 calories per day. Intake of water, juice, and milk (this can be cow, goat, almond, soy, oat, or rice milk) to satisfy thirst is sufficient for breast milk production needs.

The well-balanced, varied whole foods diet that was consumed prenatally should be maintained postnatally. The monthly loss of iron with breast-feeding is about half that of regular menstruation, and because women do not menstruate during breast-feeding, their iron stores are usually replenished. Some vitamins and other minerals, however, may be depleted during lactation. Continued nutritional supplementation with a prenatal vitamin or, even better, a postnatal vitamin, can prevent deficiencies and is important even if the diet is sufficient.

After rapid weight loss in the first month, the lactating mother of normal weight may lose weight at a rate of about two pounds a month without affecting milk volume. For the obese woman, losing four pounds a month is also safe. Intentional weight reduction diets or rapid weight loss during lactation are not advisable. At one year after delivery, a two-pound residual additional weight is considered average.

Nutritional Supplements

Folic Acid. Folate is the only vitamin whose requirement doubles in pregnancy.⁹ Deficiencies of folic acid have been linked in studies to low birth weight infants and neural tube defects. According to one controlled study, women at high risk (having previously given birth to babies with neural tube defects) who were given folate supplementation showed a 72 percent protective effect compared to the placebo group.²⁵ In one study, a group of pregnant women given folate supplementation gave birth to infants with increased birth weight and Apgar scores and had a decreased incidence of fetal growth retardation and maternal infections.²⁶

Other studies also showed significant prevention with supplementation.^{27–30} Because of firmly established connections between deficiencies of folic acid and low–birth weight infants and neural tube defects, the U.S. Public Health Service recommends that all women of childbearing age take daily folic acid supplementation to reduce the risk of congenital birth defects.

Dietary folic acid is a mixture of folates in the form of polyglutamates, which are readily destroyed by cooking. Higher levels of dietary folate intake has been shown in some cases to decrease the incidence of neural tube defects, but women hereditarily predisposed to such defects may need to take in more folic acid through supplements in order to reach optimal levels.³¹ Folic acid can be found in green leafy vegetables, nuts, whole grains, liver, watercress (avoid in first trimester), parsley, and dandelion. With artificial supplementation, care must be taken, because large doses of folic acid have been associated with a decrease in zinc absorption, a mineral required for proper fetal growth and immunity,³² as well as with maternal infection and abnormally slow fetal heart rate.33

Folic Acid

Recommended dietary allowance (RDA):

Pregnant: 600 mcg per day

Nursing: 500 mcg per day

Food sources: green leafy vegetables, nuts, whole grains, liver, watercress (avoid in first trimester), parsley, dandelion

Vitamin B₃ (Niacin, Nicotinic Acid). Vitamin B₃ (niacin) supplementation in the first trimester has been positively correlated in studies with higher birth weight, longer length, and greater newborn head circumference, all signs of healthier infants.³⁴ Good food sources of niacin are wheat germ, fish, and garlic. Herbal sources are alfalfa, burdock root and seed, dandelion, and parsley.

Vitamin B₃ (Niacin)

Recommended dietary allowance (RDA):

Age 18 and younger, pregnant or nursing: 30 mg per day

Age 19 and older, pregnant or nursing: 35 mg per day

Food sources: wheat germ, fish, garlic

Herbal sources: alfalfa, burdock root and seed, dandelion, parsley

Vitamin B₂ (**Riboflavin**). Studies show that vitamin B₂ (riboflavin) depletion is common during pregnancy (up to 40 percent less at term than nonpregnant women and men), so riboflavin supplementation is recommended to prevent metabolic disturbances.³⁵ Good sources of riboflavin are watercress (avoid in first trimester) and brown rice. Herbal sources include rose hips, parsley, saffron, dandelion, dulse (seaweed), kelp, and fenugreek.

Vitamin B₂ (Riboflavin)

Recommended dietary allowance (RDA):

Pregnant: 1.4 mg per day

Nursing: 1.6 mg per day

Food sources: watercress (avoid in first trimester), brown rice

Herbal sources: rose hips, parsley, saffron, dandelion, dulse (seaweed), kelp, fenugreek

Vitamin B₁ (**Thiamine**). Direct correlation has been shown between supplementation of vitamin B₁ (thiamine) early in pregnancy and higher infant birth weight and size.³⁴ Thiamine depletion is common during pregnancy, and supplementation is recommended.³⁶ Food sources are green peas, bell peppers, and sunflower seeds. Herbal sources include alfalfa, dandelion, fenugreek, raspberry leaf, red clover, and seaweed.

Vitamin B₁ (Thiamine)

Recommended dietary allowance (RDA): Pregnant or nursing: 1.4 mg per day Food sources: bell peppers, green peas, sunflower seeds Herbal sources: alfalfa, dandelion, fenugreek, raspberry leaf, red clover, seaweed

Vitamin B_6 (Pyridoxine). Vitamin B_6 is "marginally deficient" in about 50 percent of pregnant women.³⁷ Supplementation has been linked to relief of nausea and morning sickness, especially in extreme cases that include vomiting.38, 39 In one experimental study, 75 percent of women taking vitamin B₆ experienced complete relief from symptoms of morning sickness.40 Higher doses were used for treatment of first trimester morning sickness (25 to 200 mg three times daily), but are not recommended before delivery, as higher doses may shut off breast milk in nursing mothers or cause the baby to have withdrawal seizures if commercial formula is given that does not include enough pyridoxine (B₆).^{41, 42} However, when given during labor, vitamin B₆ may prevent many postnatal adaptation problems by increasing the oxygen-carrying capacity of the blood that supplies the fetus.⁴³

Vitamin B₆ (Pyridoxine)

Recommended dietary allowance (RDA):

Pregnant: 1.9 mg per day

Nursing: 2.0 mg per day

Tolerable upper intake level (UL):

Age 18 and younger, pregnant or nursing: 80 mg per day

Age 19 and older, pregnant or nursing: 100 mg per day

Food sources: whole grains, wheat germ, egg yolk, peas, carrots

Local application of B₆ as a lozenge provided women with protection from dental cavities, which are more common during pregnancy.⁴⁴ Supplementation may also prevent toxemia of pregnancy (preeclampsia).⁴⁵ Food sources are whole grains, wheat germ, egg yolks, peas, and carrots.

Vitamin B₁₂ (**Cobalamin**). The coenzyme form of vitamin B₁₂ is a very complex molecule containing cobalt, designated in humans as cobalamin, which is required for proper homocysteine metabolism. At least 12 different inherited inborn errors of metabolism related to cobalamin are known; low plasma vitamin B₁₂ levels have been shown to be an independent risk factor for neural tube defect in one study.⁴⁶ Supplementation is recommended and may also help prevent anemia. Food sources are cauliflower and broccoli. Herbal sources are alfalfa, comfrey, miso, seaweed, and catnip.

Vitamin B₁₂ (Cobalamin)

Recommended dietary intake (RDA): Pregnant: 2.6 mcg per day Nursing: 2.8 mcg per day Food sources: cauliflower, broccoli Herbal sources: alfalfa, catnip, comfrey, miso, seaweed

Vitamin A. It is important to avoid oversupplementation of vitamin A during pregnancy. Daily doses of 40,000 units or more of vitamin A during pregnancy may be toxic,⁴⁷ while doses lower than 10,000 units appear to be safe.⁴⁸ In a study of 22,000 pregnant women, those who consumed more than 15,000 units of vitamin A per day from food and supplements, or 10,000 units as a supplement, showed a significant increase in birth defects associated with cranialneural-crest tissue (several-fold higher incidence of birth defects).⁴⁹ Most of these women consumed the vitamin A before the seventh week of pregnancy. Rat studies show a possible link to folic acid metabolism.⁵⁰ Elevated levels of vita-

Vitamin A

Recommended dietary allowance (RDA):

Age 18 and younger, pregnant: 2,500 IU per day Age 18 and younger, nursing: 4,000 IU per day Age 19 and older, pregnant: 2,600 IU per day

Age 19 and older, nursing: 4,300 IU per dav

Tolerable upper intake level (UL):

Age 18 and younger, pregnant or nursing: 9,000 IU per day

Age 19 and older, pregnant or nursing: 10,000 IU per day

Beta-carotene:

No recommended doses or insufficient reliable information. Consider UL to be 10,000 IU per day. Anywhere between 10 IU and 10,000 IU per day is an option.

Food sources: yellow and orange fruits and vegetables Herbal sources: alfalfa, cayenne, comfrey, dandelion, elderberries, lamb's quarters, seaweed

min A in the blood have also been correlated with low birth weight.⁵¹

Preterm infants have been shown to be deficient in vitamin A, which may predispose them to development of chronic lung disease.⁵² Healthy pregnant women who developed preeclampsia were shown to be deficient in vitamin A (but not beta-carotene).⁵³ Preeclampsia is a potentially dangerous condition characterized by high blood pressure, swelling, and/or protein spilling into the urine.

To avoid complications, supplementation with no more than 6,000 units of vitamin A is optimal and recommended.⁵⁴ Beta-carotene, which has the same positive effects as vitamin A, has not been associated with toxicity or teratogenicity in humans or animals.⁵⁵ Plant sources of the nontoxic "provitamin A" beta-carotene are organic fruits and vegetables, especially yellow and orange ones; for example, one sweet potato or one cup of carrot juice contains 25,000 IU of beta-carotene.⁵⁶ Herbal sources are alfalfa, cayenne, comfrey, dandelion, elderberries, lamb's quarters, and seaweed. **Vitamin C.** Vitamin C plays a vital role in the formation of collagen—a major protein found in connective tissue, cartilage, and bone. It is essential to the nerves, healthy gums, and teeth and prevents infection. Although one study showed that women who took 5,000 mg of vitamin C daily during pregnancy delivered healthy infants who developed scurvy,⁵⁷ this "rebound scurvy" is very rare, and the infant recovers quickly without treatment. Supplementation with vitamin C may be as effective as calcium for leg cramps during pregnancy.⁵⁸

Food sources of vitamin C are fruits (particularly citrus), green chilies, tomatoes, honey, cabbage, cucumbers, and prunes. Herbal sources include elderberries, rose hips, parsley, dandelion greens, nettles, alfalfa, and cayenne.

Vitamin C

Recommended dietary allowance (RDA):

Age 18 or younger, pregnant or nursing: 115 mg per day

Age 19 and older, pregnant or nursing: 120 mg per day

Tolerable upper intake level (UL):

Age 18 or younger, pregnant or nursing: 1,800 mg per day

- Age 19 and older, pregnant or nursing: 2,000 mg per day
- **Food sources:** fruits (especially citrus), green chilies, tomatoes, cabbage, cucumbers, and prunes

```
Herbal sources: elderberries, rose hips, parsley, dan-
delion greens, nettles, alfalfa, and cayenne
```

Vitamin D. The absorption of vitamin D (as well as calcium, which vitamin D helps metabolize) is enhanced during pregnancy, and since vitamin D tends toward toxicity, supplementation should be judicious to prevent excessive amounts of it from spilling into the urine. Fish oil and sunshine are good sources of natural vitamin D, which benefits the development of good teeth and bones. Herbal sources of vitamin D are alfalfa and nettles.

Vitamin D₃

Adequate intake (AI): Pregnant or nursing: 200 IU per day Tolerable upper intake level (UL): Pregnant or nursing: 2,000 IU per day Environmental source: sunshine Food sources: fish Herbal sources: alfalfa, nettles

Vitamin E. Vitamin E declines during pregnancy, creating deficiencies, and fetal vitamin E levels are usually low.⁵⁹ Lower plasma levels in the mother may be associated with increased risk of preeclampsia, as well as premature and low–birth weight infants.⁶⁰ Supplementation has been shown to be effective in preventing chronic miscarriages.⁶¹ Good food sources are parsley, brown rice, and wheat germ. Herbal sources include alfalfa, rosehips, raspberry leaf, dandelion, and seaweed.

Vitamin E

Recommended dietary allowance (RDA): Pregnant: 15 mg or 22 IU per day Nursing: 19 mg or 28 IU per day Tolerable upper intake level (UL): Pregnant or nursing: 400 IU per day and up to 900 IU per day during the last two months of pregnancy Food sources: brown rice, parsley, wheat germ Herbal sources: alfalfa, rosehips, raspberry leaf, dandelion, seaweed, watercress (avoid in first trimester)

Vitamin K. Vitamin K is necessary for bone metabolism. In most states it is required by law that vitamin K be given to newborns in the hospital by injection in the foot immediately after birth or a shot during labor to prevent hemolytic disease, which is characterized by anemia, jaundice, enlargement of the liver and spleen, and generalized edema. Naturopathic doctors recommend checking the pregnant mother's diet for vitamin K deficiency and adding oral supplementation of vitamin K in the last month of pregnancy, if needed, rather than automatically giving the shots, which have been shown in some studies to link with childhood cancer.⁶²

Vitamin K (along with vitamin C) is effective in preventing the nausea and vomiting of early pregnancy, and it may reduce the risk of intraventricular hemorrhage in premature infants.⁶³ Some food sources are parsley and brown rice. Nettle or alfalfa leaf infusion or tea taken throughout the pregnancy will increase available vitamin K and hemoglobin in the blood; kelp is also helpful.

Vitamin K

Recommended dietary allowance (RDA):

Pregnant or nursing: 65 mg per day Food sources: parsley, brown rice Herbal sources: alfalfa, nettles, kelp

Calcium. Calcium is the only mineral whose requirement doubles during pregnancy. Low dietary intake is associated with preeclampsia,^{64, 65} a potentially dangerous (but preventable) condition characterized by high blood pressure (hypertension), swelling, and/or protein spilling into the urine. Supplementation with calcium may reduce the risk of preterm delivery, often associated with preeclampsia, and may also prevent the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy.⁶⁶ Calcium supplementation can also help to ease leg cramps during pregnancy.⁶⁷

Excessive levels of calcium in the body, however, can result in spillage into the urine and an increased possibility of kidney stones. Supplement with the form of calcium that does not cause you indigestion or constipation. And attention must be paid to the relationship between calcium and other minerals, such as magnesium and zinc.

Raspberry leaf infusion contains calcium in its most absorbable form, as do nettle infusions, fresh parsley, and watercress. Other food sources of calcium include milk products (although consumption of these can lead to allergies in the baby), dark green leafy vegetables, asparagus, and pumpkin seeds. Avoid bone meal or oyster shell calcium tablets, which have been found to be high in lead, mercury, cadmium, and other toxic metals.

Calcium

Adequate intake (AI):

Age 18 or younger, pregnant or nursing: 1,300 mg per day

Age 19 and older, pregnant or nursing: 1,000 mg per day Food sources: parsley, watercress (avoid in first tri-

mester), dairy products, dark green leafy vegetables, asparagus, pumpkin seeds

Herbal sources: raspberry leaf, nettles, horsetail

Chromium, Cobalt, and Copper. These three trace minerals were positively associated in studies with higher infant birth weights, and supplementation is therefore recommended.⁶⁸

Chromium

Adequate intake (AI):

Age 18 and younger, pregnant: 29 mcg per day Age 18 and younger, nursing: 44 mcg per day Age 19 and older, pregnant: 30 mcg per day Age 19 and older, nursing: 45 mcg per day

Cobalt

Adequate intake (AI):

Pregnant or nursing: presumably as part of B_{12} , 2 mcg per day, and sufficient if you are taking vitamin B_{12}

Copper

Adequate intake (AI):

Pregnant or nursing: 2 mg per day

Iron. Some researchers have concluded that iron supplementation is essential during pregnancy in order to maintain adequate maternal iron stores. However, because iron supplementation can exacerbate zinc depletion, supplementation is only warranted if iron deficiency is detected and routine iron supplementation during pregnancy is clearly indicated.⁶⁹

If a woman gets sufficient iron in the first trimester of pregnancy, studies show a definite positive association with infant birth weight and

284 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

size, although the same is not true for the second and third trimesters.³⁴ Good food sources are almonds, honey, beets (including greens), and high-quality protein foods like egg yolks and organ meats (liver, kidney, heart), preferably organic. Herbs high in iron are nettles, dandelion, and alfalfa, as well as kelp.

Iron

Recommended dietary allowance (RDA): Pregnant: 27 mg per day Age 18 and younger, nursing: 10 mg per day Age 19 and older, nursing: 9 mg per day Tolerable upper intake level (UL): Pregnant or nursing: 45 mg, if not iron deficient Food sources: almonds, beets (including greens), egg yolks, honey, organ meats (liver, kidney, heart) Herbal sources: alfalfa, dandelion, nettles, kelp

Magnesium. Magnesium deficiencies are associated with preeclampsia^{70, 71} and preterm labor.⁷² Supplementation must be in the first trimester to positively affect birth weight and size. Researchers think that magnesium may act by opposing calcium-dependent arterial vasoconstriction and may also prevent cell damage and death, making magnesium sulfate the "drug of choice" in the treatment of preeclampsia.⁷³ In general, supplementation may reduce the complications of preg-

Magnesium

Recommended dietary allowance (RDA):

Age 18 and younger, pregnant: 400 mg per day Age 18 and younger, nursing: 360 mg per day Age 19–30, pregnant: 350 mg per day Age 19–30, nursing: 310 mg per day Age 31–50, pregnant: 380 mg per day Age 31–50, nursing: 320 mg per day

Tolerable upper intake level (UL):

Do not exceed 400 mg per day during pregnancy Food sources: honey, almonds, barley, dried fruits, potatoes

Herbal sources: alfalfa, dandelion, seaweed (dulse), watercress (avoid in first trimester)

nancy and improve infant health.⁷⁴ In studies, magnesium-treated women had a 29.5 percent reduction in the risk of hospitalization, as well as a 37 percent reduction in days spent in the hospital. Food sources are honey, almonds, barley, dried fruits, and potatoes. Herbs are dandelion, alfalfa, and watercress (avoid in first trimester), as well as seaweed (also called dulse).

Potassium. Potassium levels may be deficient in pregnancy, with the lowest concentrations in women with preeclampsia.⁷⁵ Supplementation is recommended. Food sources are bananas, potatoes (especially peels), olives, bran, and green leafy vegetables. Herbs are nettles, dandelion, alfalfa, and chamomile.

Potassium

Recommended dietary allowance (RDA):
Pregnant or nursing: 99 mg per day; should not be
taken unless prescribed by your practitioner
Folerable upper intake level (UL):
Pregnant or nursing: 99 mg per day; should not be
taken unless prescribed by your practitioner
Food sources: bananas, potatoes (especially peels),
olives, bran, green leafy vegetables
Herbal sources: nettles, dandelion, alfalfa,
chamomile

Zinc. Zinc is required for proper fetal growth and immunity. Plasma zinc levels decline about 30 percent during pregnancy,76 and low zinc intake is associated with spontaneous abortion and premature delivery,77 as well as complications and labor abnormalities.78 Low zinc was also associated with the specific complication of fetal distress⁷⁹ and may be associated with central nervous system abnormalities in infants, including neural tube defects,80 81 as well as low birth weight infants⁸²⁻⁸⁴ and toxemia of pregnancy.⁸⁵ Supplementation, especially if zinc levels are low, is recommended to reduce the risk of fetal and maternal complications.86 In one study, labor complications (vaginal bleeding, fetal acidosis, uterine inertia) were improved.87 Another study

showed a lower incidence of pregnancy-induced hypertension (which is associated with preeclampsia and preterm labor).⁸⁸ Some food sources of zinc are oysters, beets, broccoli, wheat germ, wheat bran, fish, lentils, and watercress (avoid in the first trimester). Herbs are garlic, ginger root, and parsley.

Zinc

Recommended dietary allowance (RDA):
Pregnant: 15 mg per day
Nursing: 15 mg per day
Tolerable upper intake level (UL):
Age 18 and younger, pregnant or nursing: 34 mg per day
Age 19 and older, pregnant or nursing: 40 mg per day
Food sources: beets, broccoli, fish, lentils, oysters, wheat bran, and wheat germ
Herbal sources: garlic, ginger root, and parsley

Bioflavonoids. Bioflavonoids are beneficial for women who have recurring miscarriages. When placed on citrus bioflavonoids daily as soon as a period was missed, many stopped aborting.⁸⁹ One study demonstrated that previously Rhimmunized mothers treated with bioflavonoids during their pregnancy delivered babies who were less erythroblastotic than expected.⁹⁰

Omega-3 and Other Fatty Acids (EFAs). There is a growing body of evidence about the importance of omega-3 fats for human health and development, not the least of which starts with infant exposure during fetal development. Doca-hexaenoic acid (DHA) is an important component of phospholipids in the central nervous system and is found in high amounts in the retina, about 25 percent. DHA makes up 12 to 20 percent of the fatty acids in the gray matter of the cortex of the brain and in the brain stem. Inadequate intake of omega-3s has significant implications for both mother and infant. The development of the central nervous system, the brain, the eyes, and the immune system have all been associated with adequate intake of docahexaenoic acid (DHA) during the development of the fetus.

Essential fatty acids have a unique role during pregnancy because of the rapid cell growth and development of new tissues and new organ systems in a developing fetus. Fetal development is associated with a high EFA requirement, and this supply is dependent on the amount and availability of EFAs from the mother. Infants born of mothers with low DHA levels have shorter attention spans,⁹¹ and this may have long-term effects on future learning, development, and performance. Children born to mothers who had taken 10 ml per day of cod liver oil during their pregnancy and lactation had higher IQs at age four compared to those born to mothers who had taken corn oil or placebo.⁹²

Maternal levels of omega-3 fatty acids, especially DHA, decrease during pregnancy.93 EFAs are components of breast milk, and maternal levels may be reduced further in nursing women. For the fetus, a deficiency of EFAs, particularly eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and DHA, may lead to a poorly developed central nervous system. EFA deficiency may also lead to intrauterine growth retardation leading to a lower body weight and slower growth of the brain. Supplementation with a daily complex of essential fatty acids and fish oils during pregnancy provides vital nutrients that supply the necessary EFAs for the increased nutritional and metabolic demand throughout the nine months of gestation. Fish oil supplementation has been shown to improve the DHA status of not only infants at birth but mothers too.94 Other research has shown that supplementation with fish oils is a good means of improving omega-3s in pregnant women⁹⁵ and of improving the DHA status in breast milk.96

Trials on omega-3 fatty acids conducted in pregnant women have shown a significant reduction in the incidence of premature delivery.⁹⁷ In one such study, fish oil was investigated for its effects on pregnancy duration, birth weight, intrauterine growth restriction, and pregnancyinduced hypertension.98 Omega-3 fatty acid supplementation of 2.7 grams per day was compared to olive oil and/or no supplement. The fish oil-supplemented pregnancies lasted four days longer and birth weight was 107 g greater. In another study, infants born of mothers who had been given cod liver oil had higher levels of DHA in their umbilical cord, longer gestational length (longer to develop in the uterus), and more mature brain functioning measurements on the second day of life.99 Fish oil also appeared to be related to a reduction in the risk of preterm delivery in those women who had had a previous preterm delivery. There was no effect of fish oil on intrauterine growth restriction or pregnancyinduced hypertension.¹⁰⁰ In addition, this study reported that preterm delivery and low birth weight of the infants occurs when little to no omega-3 fats from fish or fish oil are consumed.

A more recent study of pregnant women in Iceland showed that consuming liquid cod liver oil in the first 15 weeks of pregnancy resulted in babies with higher birth weight.¹⁰¹ Higher infant birth weight is related to a lower prevalence of cardiac disease, high hypertension, and glucose intolerance in the future.^{102, 103} Additional good news was that the women did not gain more weight, despite their consumption of increased calories and fat from the oil.

Hormone-like substances called prostaglandins are also involved in the development and clinical expression of preeclampsia. These prostaglandins are modulators of vascular smooth muscle tone and platelet aggregation (blood platelets sticking together). Preeclampsia is characterized by increased vasoconstriction, frequently associated with increased platelet aggregation, reduced uteroplacental blood flow, and premature delivery. In a placebo-controlled clinical trial, a group of pregnant women receiving a combination of evening primrose oil and fish oil had a significantly lower incidence of edema.¹⁰⁴ Evening primrose oil has also been shown effective in preventing pregnancyinduced hypertension¹⁰⁵ (associated with preeclampsia and preterm labor).

There is some evidence that evening primrose oil (EPO), taken both orally and vaginally, can be used to promote the preparation of the cervix for the birth (cervical ripening). Clinically, EPO supplementation during pregnancy has been found by practitioners of natural childbirth to be an efficacious method to stimulate cervical ripening during labor, and the prostaglandin PgE1 is known to stimulate cervical ripening and hasten the progression of labor.¹⁰⁶ Although practitioners using this supplement report no adverse effects, a retrospective trial comparing the oil to no supplement did not note a difference between groups, and there was a suggestion that there was an increased incidence of premature rupture of membranes, labor augmentation, and assisted vaginal delivery in the evening primrose oil group.107

The main food sources of essential fatty acids are raw seeds and nuts or fish. Whole and ground flaxseed and purified flaxseed oil are excellent sources of the two essential oils, linoleic acid and linolenic acid. Borage oil and black current oil can be taken in capsule form as nutritional supplements. It should be stated, though, that all seed oils are not the same in their makeup of essential fatty acids, and substituting a seed oil does not necessarily give the same benefits as the fish oils and vice versa.

Although research clearly shows that moderate EFA supplementation is beneficial and safe for pregnant women, caution should be exercised when consuming large doses. Also, there may be some caution about increased fish intake and environmental contamination. The U.S. Food and Drug Administration and the Environmental Protection Agency advise that pregnant and nursing mothers and young children avoid certain types of fish and shellfish and limit others. In part, this may be due to the methylmercury content in fish such as albacore tuna, shark, swordfish, king mackerel, and tilefish. Methylmercury is a known neurotoxin. Supplementing with fish oils should be done with purified fish oil supplements, which can reduce or practically eliminate exposure to mercury, PCBs, dioxins, and pesticides. Due to how we have contaminated our ocean waters and the wildlife that inhabits these waters, high-quality fish oils supplements may in fact be a safer alternative to fish in food form and enable us to gain the benefits of omega-3s while reducing the risk of toxicity.^{108, 109}

Omega-3 Fatty Acids

No recommendations have been established by the FDA but the International Society for the Study of Fatty Acids and Lipids recommends 2.87 mg per day of omega-3 fatty acids with a minimal intake of 300 mg per day of DHA for pregnancy or lactation.

Food sources: fish high in omega-3 fatty acids include tuna, salmon, sardines, mackerel, and herring (see precautions in text); other sources include flaxseed, hemp seeds, sunflower seeds, walnuts, almonds, and filberts

Coenzyme Q10. Coenzyme Q10 is a fatsoluble quinone occurring in the mitochondria of every cell that is a cofactor in the electron transport chain on which most cellular functions rely, making it essential for the health of virtually all human tissues. Plasma levels of this enzyme rise during normal pregnancy, reaching highs of 50 percent above normal by the 36th week. Decreased levels have been linked in studies to spontaneous abortion and threatened abortion, particularly before 12 weeks.¹¹⁰

No recommended dose available.

Methionine (SAM). Methionine is a component of many proteins, serving as a source of available sulfur for synthesizing both cysteine and taurine, crucial to cellular metabolism. Supplementation with methionine in mice reduced neural tube defects by 47 percent¹¹¹ and also positively affected birth weight and size.¹¹²

No recommended dose available.

Phosphatidylcholine (PC). PC is a primary component of lecithin, sometimes referred to as pure lecithin, from which dietary choline is derived. Dietary choline, after absorption by the intestinal mucosa, is metabolized in the liver to choline, a critical nutrient for brain and nerve development and function. In mammals, amniotic fluid has a tenfold greater concentration of choline than that in maternal blood,¹¹³ and at birth, all mammals studied have plasma choline concentrations much higher than those found in adults.¹¹⁴ When rats were supplemented with choline, the spatial memory of their offspring was permanently enhanced, and they showed more accurate performance on both working and reference memory components of tasks. From these studies.¹¹⁵ researchers believe that choline is critical for optimal brain development, and therefore supplementation is suggested.

No recommended dose available.

Lecithin. Lecithin, a derivative of the soybean, is needed by the brain to function properly and helps to break down fatty cholesterol deposits in the body. Lecithin contains phosphorus and stimulates the metabolism. Lecithin is also found in fertile eggs, soy products, and, in small amounts, in all vegetables that have been vine ripened.

No recommended dose available.

Taurine. Taurine is an amino acid found widely distributed in foods of animal origin (but not milk or milk products). Taurine is biosynthesized from methionine or from cysteine during the metabolic process, and disturbances in enzymatic reactions that take place in this process can lead to mental retardation. Vegetarian mothers who consume no meat products during their pregnancy, and therefore have a low-taurine diet, as well as others on a protein-, methionine-, or vitamin B₆-deficient diet might be at particular risk.¹¹⁶

Although dietary deficiency of taurine has not been demonstrated to impact fetal develop-

ment in humans, researchers recommend that vegetarian women who intend to have children optimize dietary levels of protein and vitamin B_6 , since there is no taurine present in plants and vegetables. Meat eaters are advised to eat only organic or "free-range" animals in order to avoid the high concentrations of hormones and pesticides found in animal products in industrialized countries.

No recommended dose available.

Botanicals

There are many herbs that can be used safely during pregnancy. Some herbs are characterized as tonics, others are spices that improve taste and digestion, other herbs contain specific vitamins and minerals that aid different organ systems, and still others can be used as medicines to intervene and treat conditions or illnesses related to the pregnancy. However, there are some herbs that are commonly contraindicated for use during pregnancy. Although some of these herbs may be used in very small amounts for specific conditions, it is prudent to avoid them unless under the supervision of an expert in herbal medicine. Some of these contraindicated herbs can be used safely late in the pregnancy or during labor with the guidance of an experienced practitioner (see the following sidebar).

The following herbs are some of the most common medicinal plants used in traditional herbal practice for promoting and maintaining health during pregnancy.

Dandelion Leaf and Root (*Taraxacum Officinale*). Dandelion is a potent source of vitamins and minerals, especially vitamin A, calcium, potassium, and iron. Mildly diuretic and stimulating to bile flow, dandelion leaf helps with the inevitable digestive complaints of pregnancy, and its root cleanses and tones the liver.¹¹⁷ In early pregnancy, dandelion can help to alleviate nausea, upset stomach, and indigestion. As a diuretic, the most active part of the plant is the leaf. The root or the leaf can be taken as a tea, in capsule form, or as a liquid tincture (a mixture of plant, alcohol, and water). It can be safely taken throughout pregnancy as a tonic or to address one of the indicated specific problems associated with pregnancy.

False Unicorn (*Chamaelirium Luteum*). False unicorn has traditionally been used as a uterine tonic before, during, and after pregnancy, especially for women who have a history of miscarriage. Similar to dandelion, it is used to support liver and digestive function. Due to its bitter taste, this herb is probably best tolerated in capsule or tincture form rather than as a tea.

Ginger (Zingiber Officinale). Ginger is probably best known for its treatment of nausea and vomiting, whether pregnant or not. There have been several good scientific studies on the use of ginger in nausea of pregnancy and the more severe state called hyperemesis gravidarum (severe nausea and vomiting during pregnancy). In these studies, ginger brought about a significant reduction in both the severity of the nausea and the number of attacks of vomiting in the majority of the patients. In all of these studies, there were no adverse effects on pregnancy and pregnancy outcome. In fact, in the most recent study of 70 women, there were three spontaneous abortions in the placebo group and only one in the ginger group. More full-term pregnancies occurred in the ginger group than in the placebo group as well. No infants had any congenital anomalies.118

In a double-blind, randomized, crossover trial that studied the effectiveness of ginger in hyperemesis gravidarum, the most severe form of pregnancy-related nausea and vomiting, early in pregnancy, 250 mg of ginger root powder taken four times a day significantly reduced the severity of the nausea and the number of attacks of vomiting in 19 of 27 women.¹¹⁹ Ginger is safe to use at any time during pregnancy and is a welcome alternative to some of the antinausea pharmaceu-

Herbs Contraindicated During Pregnancy

The following herbs should not be taken during pregnancy:

Alder buckthorn (Rhamnus frangula) Aloe (Aloe vera) Angelica (Angelica archangelica) Arnica (Arnica montana) Autumn crocus (Colchicum autumnale) Barberry (Berberis vulgaris) Bethroot (Trillium spp.) Black cohosh (Cimicifuga racemosa) Blessed thistle (Carbenia benedicta) Bloodroot (Sanguinaria canadensis) Blue cohosh (Caulophyllum thalictroides) Broom (Sarpthamnus scoparius) Butternut (Juglans canadensis) Calamus (Acorus calamus) Calendula (Calendula officinalis)

Cascara sagrada (Rhamnus purshiana) Coltsfoot (Tussilago farfara) Cowslip (Primula veris) Damiana (Turnera aphrodisiaca) Dong quai (Angelica sinensis) Ephedra (Ma huang) (Ephedra vulaaris) Feverfew (Tanacetum parthenium) Ginseng (Panax quinquefolium) Goat's rue (Galega officinalis) Goldenseal (Hydrastis canadensis) Gotu kola (Hydrocotyle asiatica) Ipecac (Ipecac ipecacuanha) Juniper berry (Juniperis communis) Licorice (Glycyrrhiza glabra) Lily of the valley (Convallaria majalis) Lobelia (Lobelia inflata) Male fern (Dryopteris filix-mas)

Mandrake (Podophyllum peltatum) Mistletoe (Viscum album) Mugwort (Artemesia vulgare) Nutmeq* (Carum petroselinum) Pennyroyal (Mentha puleqium) Periwinkle (Vinca spp.) Peruvian bark (*Cinchona* spp.) Pleurisy root (Aesclepius tuberosa) Poke root (Phytolacca americana) Rhubarb (Rheum palmatum) Rue (Ruta graveolens) Sage* (Salvia officinalis) Sarsaparilla (Smilax officinale) Senna (Cassia senna) Shepherd's purse (Capsella bursa-pastoris) Stillingia (Stillingia sylvatica) Tansy (Tanacetum vulgare) Thuja (Thuja occidentalis) Wormwood (Artemesia absinthinum) Yarrow (Achillea millefolium)

*Small amounts of nutmeg and sage used in cooking are OK.

Note: Some of the herbs listed may be recommended by a licensed practitioner with expertise in the use of botanicals during pregnancy and labor.

ticals, which may be associated with teratogenicity (physical defects in the fetus in utero).

Information that has appeared in the writings of traditional herbalists and the lay press or herbal resources about the danger of ginger during pregnancy appears to be out of date and not based on scientific facts. Select sensitive individuals may get some stomach-burning sensations when using ginger. Taking it with food will most likely relieve that discomfort.

Nettle (Urtica Dioica). Nettle is one of the best herbs to use in pregnancy due to its appreciable amounts of vitamins and minerals, including calcium and iron. Used throughout the pregnancy, nettle can help to improve energy, strengthen the blood vessels, reduce varicose veins, alleviate leg cramps, prevent anemia, and decrease the likelihood of hemorrhage during childbirth. This is an herb that can be taken in all forms, including freshly picked young leaves and as a leafy green addition to steamed vegetables or salads.

Partridgeberry (*Mitchella Repens*). Partridgeberry or squaw vine is considered one of the best uterine tonics. It should be taken for several weeks before the due date. Squaw vine is often used in combination with raspberry leaf. It can be taken as a tea, in capsule form, or as a tincture. **Red Raspberry** (*Rubus Idaeus*). Red raspberry leaf is the most often mentioned traditional herbal tonic for general support of pregnancy and breast-feeding. Rich in vitamins C and E and minerals, especially high in naturally chelated iron (which is well assimilated), it tones the uterus, increases the flow of milk, and restores the reproductive system after childbirth. Raspberry leaf contains fragrine, an alkaloid that gives tone to the muscles of the pelvic region, including the uterus itself. In addition to tonifying the uterus, raspberry is used to prevent hemorrhage. It deserves its reputation as a pregnancy herb par excellence.

Wild Yam (*Dioscorea Villosa* and *Barbasco*). Wild yam can be used to help prevent miscarriage due to its calming and antispasmodic action on the uterus. Even though wild yam has acquired a considerable reputation as a "female herb," perhaps its most traditional uses are as a digestive aid in treating nausea, as an antispasmodic for intestinal and gallbladder colic, and as a liver herb. This herb is best used in capsule or tincture form. To help prevent miscarriage, higher doses of the tincture can be used (1/4 to 1/2 teaspoon every three to four hours).

SUBSTANCES TO AVOID During Pregnancy

Besides supplementing with multivitamins, minerals, and other appropriate nutrients, a pregnant woman improves her chances for a complicationfree pregnancy and birth by avoiding harmful substances such as alcohol, caffeine, nicotine, and recreational and prescription drugs. Teratogens are substances that cause birth defects, miscarriage, or pregnancy complication when a pregnant woman is exposed to them, especially in the early stages of pregnancy. Environmental chemicals such as mercury and lead, many prescription drugs such as Dilantin and Accutane, recreational drugs including cocaine and alcohol, and even some illnesses including rubella, diabetes, and herpes are all potentially teratogenic agents and able to cause loss of a pregnancy, birth defects, or pregnancy complications. Pesticides and other contaminants found in the environment (including our food and water) can disrupt the hormonal and chromosomal cycles, leading to breaks in the DNA and a wide range of deformities and abnormalities in all animal species, including humans.

Alcohol

Alcohol consumption during pregnancy is an established cause of serious birth defects and developmental delay, described as fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS). FAS is caused by in utero alcohol-induced damages and results in mental retardation. Infants born with FAS have facial abnormalities and slow growth. They show impairment in their intellectual development and have difficulties in learning, memory, problem solving, and attention span. They can also experience mental health problems and difficulties with social behaviors.¹²⁰ It is estimated that the prevalence of FAS in the United States ranges between 0.3 to 2.2 per 1,000 live births. Much higher rates can occur in some communities. The focus should be on prevention and aggressively promoting no alcohol use during pregnancy.

Even mild alcohol ingestion during pregnancy is said to result in hyperactivity, short attention span, and emotional problems in children.¹²¹ Alcohol consumption during pregnancy contributes to birth abnormalities whether the mother drinks a little or a lot.¹²² There are two periods of pregnancy when the maternal consumption of alcohol is particularly threatening to the development of the fetus: from the 12th to the 18th week and from the 24th to the 35th week. Three or four beers or glasses of wine a day can cause any one or more of the following defects: mental retardation, hyperactivity, a heart murmur, facial deformity such as a small head, or low-set ears.¹²³

Cigarettes

The sad news is that more than 20 percent of women in the United States smoke. The numbers are similar in other developed countries and only slightly lower in developing countries. Unfortunately, many of these women also smoke during pregnancy—about 11 percent. Not only does smoking harm a woman's long-term health, it can increase numerous complications and cause serious problems for newborn infants. According to statistics, we could reduce the rate of stillbirths by 11 percent, and newborn deaths by 5 percent, if all pregnant women stopped smoking.¹²⁴

Cigarette smoke contains more than 2,500 chemicals, and both nicotine and carbon monoxide are thought to be related to adverse outcomes in pregnancy. Smoking nicotine has been associated with several complications of pregnancy. It appears to double a woman's risk of developing placental problems,124 including placenta previa (a low-lying placenta that covers part or all of the opening of the uterus), placental abruption (the placenta peels partially or completely away from the uterine wall prior to delivery), and premature rupture of the membranes. Cigarette smoking is known to cause lower birth weight and size; mothers who smoke 13 or more high-tar cigarettes a day have smaller babies in poorer condition than those of nonsmoking mothers.125 Smokers have a miscarriage rate twice as high as that of nonsmokers,126 and babies born to mothers who smoke have more than double the risk of dying of sudden infant death syndrome.127

Women who smoke may experience more ectopic pregnancies (a potentially dangerous situation in which the fertilized egg attaches to, and grows on, the fallopian tube outside the uterus). Children of smokers may have far more respiratory illnesses (like asthma) than those of nonsmokers. Even secondhand smoke is seriously harmful to mother and baby and should be avoided when possible. The more a woman smokes, the greater the risk to her baby. However, if she stops smoking before the end of her first trimester, she is no more likely to have a lower birth weight baby than a nonsmoking woman. Even stopping by the third trimester can improve the baby's growth.

The good news is that it is possible to stop smoking and there are numerous resources to help you. The National Partnership to Help Pregnant Smokers Quit provides information for women and resources for health-care professionals. The American Legacy Foundation is another organization that helps smokers quit. Smoke free.gov is an online resource for individuals who want to stop smoking that is sponsored by the federal government. The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists provides good information for health-care providers to offer assistance to their patients. There are many other additional resources as well, and some may be local to your community.

Caffeinated Beverages

A small amount of caffeine will probably not be harmful for most women and their infants. However, there are some studies of concern. Caffeine has been shown to contribute to growth-retarded or low-birth weight infants.¹²⁸ Researchers have suggested that women limit their intake of caffeine to approximately 300 mg per day during pregnancy, and since caffeine is known to enter breast milk, that level might be appropriate for nursing mothers as well.¹²⁹ One cup of regular coffee contains about 120 mg of caffeine. Even with this limited amount, the coffee or tea should be organic in order to avoid the pesticides used in agricultural processes.

Pesticides and Environmental Hazards

Environmental factors are becoming more and more problematic to each generation of pregnant women, as many artificial compounds (such as PCBs from plastics) build up in the environment over time without degrading, become part of the food chain, and are incorporated into our bodies. Theo Colburn's groundbreaking study of the links between pesticides, PCBs, and other organochlorides in the food chain and hormonal disruption and birth defects makes clear that whatever an individual woman can do to avoid these compounds in her food and water is well worth doing.¹³⁰ Because humans are high on the food chain, the effects of these compounds on human reproduction are potentially exponential and devastating.

Hazardous substances such as pesticides, lead, and other chemicals brought home from the work environment on a parent's clothing can harm an unborn child.¹³¹ Also potentially harmful to the fetus are the mother's exposure to x-rays during pregnancy or the father's preconception exposure to x-rays.¹³² One study showed that high amounts of lead and barium in drinking water caused an increased risk of miscarriages.¹³³ Elevated lead in the body has also been linked to preeclampsia¹³⁴ and lower birth weight.

Mercury has received perhaps the most attention of any of the pesticides and heavy metals. Methylmercury crosses the placenta and can impair the development of the central nervous system in the fetus. As a result, the federal government has issued guidelines regarding fish intake for pregnant women and for all age groups. The intake of fish appears to be strongly correlated with the concentration of mercury in hair, and it has been observed that women in states with fish advisories who ate 20 or more servings of fish in a three-month time span had mercury concentrations in their hair that was sevenfold higher than those of women who ate no fish. The majority of these women exceeded the recommended limit for lead.135 Canned albacore tuna (or white tuna) and tuna steaks are generally considered to be higher in mercury than light canned tuna. The USFDA currently recommends that pregnant women eat no more than six ounces of fish per week.

Over-the-Counter and Prescription Drugs

Seemingly harmless over-the-counter drugs like aspirin, taken by mothers in the first half of the pregnancy, have been linked to lower-thanaverage IQs in their offspring.¹³⁶ Valium oil administered to egg-laying chickens induced impaired muscle cell development, suggesting potential harm from the use of Valium in pregnancy.137 Medications such as lithium (used to treat bipolar disorder, formerly called manic depression) and tetracycline (an antibiotic) can harm the fetus; if at all possible, avoidance of these substances is recommended. Some antiseizure medications are folate antagonists and, as such, can increase the risk for fetal neural tube defects unless folic acid supplementation is implemented along with the medication.138, 139

In addition to the products already mentioned, herbalist Susun Weed provides the following list of products to avoid: DES (diethylstilbestrol), laxatives, pHisoHex (or anything else containing hexachlorophene), hair dyes, phenobarbital, barbiturates, tranquilizers, epinephrine (adrenaline) shots, sulfa drugs, antibiotics, vaccines, anesthetics, mercury vapors in dentists' offices, steroids, hormones, and Accutane (an acne medication).¹⁴⁰

Your health-care practitioner can make available a full list of over-the-counter and prescription medications rated in terms of safety and side effects for the fetus during pregnancy and for the infant during lactation. Please ask your healthcare provider(s) before taking any over-thecounter medication, prescription medication, or herbal and nutritional supplements.

Recreational Drugs

Before conception and during pregnancy, especially the first trimester, it is important to avoid using recreational drugs, even those that may seem harmless at other times, as consequences to a developing fetus may be serious. Genetic material can be damaged by marijuana, for example; in animals, it has been linked to an increase in fetal deaths and malformations.¹⁴¹ Cocaine may decrease sperm concentration in semen, induce deformities in the shape of the sperm, and reduce the motility after ejaculation.¹⁴² Men's preconceptual use of cocaine has been linked to cases of neurological damage in children.

EXERCISE

The appropriate take-home message on exercise during pregnancy is not that women *should* exercise during pregnancy but that they *may*. Too often, women have heard that maybe they should limit their exercise. It is not necessary to be so restrictive in exercise during pregnancy, although certain precautions should be observed. Despite conflicting opinions, information on exercise and pregnancy is plentiful, and its message is clear: low-impact, moderate exercise is safe during pregnancy.

In certain instances, exercise can prove beneficial to the pregnant woman and her child. Exercise can reduce the length of hospitalization, reduce the incidence of cesarean section, and result in a healthier baby with a higher birth weight. The advantages also extend to the pregnant mom to be. Women who exercise during pregnancy seem to do a better job at maintaining their ideal body weight after pregnancy and have less discomfort during their pregnancy.

See the sidebars for some helpful guidelines for exercising during pregnancy.

Contraindications to Exercise During Pregnancy

There are instances when exercise should be avoided during pregnancy. These include: preeclampsia, pregnancy-induced hypertension, toxemia, preterm rupture of membranes, history of preterm labor, persistent second or third trimester bleeding, incompetent cervix, or signs of intrauterine growth retardation.

COMMON COMPLAINTS AND DISORDERS OF PREGNANCY

Most problems experienced during pregnancy are a result of the immense hormonal changes, nutritional deficiencies, and shift in weight distribution that happens as a result of sudden weight gain. Backache, digestive discomfort, fatigue, swelling, and mood changes are almost inevitable.

With the judicious use of rest, exercise, and nutrition, most women can successfully weather the hormonal roller coaster ride of pregnancy. Walking a mile a day is unanimously recom-

Safety Tips for Exercising While Pregnant

- 1. Drink enough water or other fluids during and after exercise to prevent dehydration and hypovolemia.
- Wear clothing that allows for adequate ventilation and prevention of hyperthermia while exercising.
- 3. Your exercise regimen should emphasize lowimpact activities, such as stationary bicycling, swimming, walking, and low-impact aerobics.
- 4. Do not exercise if you have a fever.
- 5. Supine exercise (exercises in which you lie on your back) should be avoided, especially in the third trimester, as they may reduce blood supply to the fetus.
- 6. Exercises that require repetitive bouncing and jerky movements and exercises requiring balance should be avoided, especially in the third trimester.
- 7. Activities that involve potential low-oxygen states, such as scuba diving and mountain climbing, are contraindicated.
- 8. Be sure to follow a diet that emphasizes complex carbohydrates to replace muscle glycogen lost during exercise, thereby minimizing the risk of fetal ketosis (elevated ketones in the body tissues).
- 9. Participation in competitive team sports is acceptable in the first 15 weeks of pregnancy, although there are potential but unproved risks for fetal loss from pelvic trauma, abdominal trauma, or both.
- 10. Avoid exercises such as weight lifting, especially in the third trimester.

Tips for Safe Weight Training During Pregnancy

- 1. Do not compete, not even with yourself.
- 2. Begin with very light weights.
- 3. Avoid holding your breath while lifting. Breathe in during relaxing part of exercise and breathe out during effort part of exercise.
- 4. Rest between exercises.
- 5. Take a mouthful of pure water between exercises.
- Do not lift while lying on your back. Pregnant women should not lie on their backs while exercising, especially after the sixth month, because blood supply may be reduced to the fetus.
- Stay cool. Exercise increases body temperature, which may threaten the health of the fetus. Keep your temperature below 100 degrees. Dress lightly in warm weather.
- Warm up for three to five minutes before performing weight-lifting exercises. (See "Joint Warming Exercises" in Appendix A.)
- 9. Perform a few basic stretches of muscles used during the exercise session at the end of the workout. (See Appendix A.)
- 10. See Appendix A for the "Speak Pregnancy Exercises."

mended by researchers and birth supporters, as is eating healthy (preferably organic) foods every day (including protein, whole grains, fruits, and vegetables). I recommend that if a pregnant woman eats meat and/or dairy products, these should be "free range" and organic, or at least free from the artificial hormones and pesticides used in the agricultural processes. Dairy products have some of the highest concentration of estrogenmimicking artificial compounds and growth hormones. Xenoestrogens from pesticides are also suspected of causing genetic damage.

Morning Sickness

One of the first and perhaps most annoying complaints of pregnancy is the nausea (and vomiting) of "morning sickness," which generally stops being a problem after the first trimester. No one really knows what causes morning sickness,

Summary of Exercise Guidelines

- 1. Regular frequency of exercise is preferable to sporadic physical activity.
- 2. Guidelines for exercising safely during pregnancy should be followed. (See other sidebars in this section.)
- 3. Intensity of exercise should be monitored according to symptoms, and exhaustive exercise should be avoided.
- 4. Adequate caloric and nutrient intake should be maintained.
- 5. Adequate hydration, proper clothing, and avoidance of hot, humid environments should augment heat dissipation, especially in the first trimester.

although it may be linked to an increase in thyroid hormone (T4) effects on smooth muscle relaxation in the stomach. Physical exercise, especially walking, is recommended for morning sickness. Low blood sugar is implicated in the nausea of early pregnancy and can be regulated by eating smaller meals more often, eating highprotein snacks before sleeping, and eating unsalted crackers or matzo before getting out of bed in the morning.

Insufficient B vitamins may be associated with morning sickness; pregnant women are often deficient in B_6 as well as folic acid (the need for which increases during pregnancy). Foods rich in B vitamins—such as nutritional yeast, yogurt, bee pollen, spirulina, wheat germ, whole grains, egg yolk, cabbage, and organic organ meats—might be sufficient to alleviate morning sickness; if not, a B-50 vitamin supplement may be needed during the first trimester.

Anise, fennel, peppermint, chamomile, or spearmint teas are all helpful; raspberry leaf tea, sipped before getting out of bed in the morning, may help. Wild yam root, according to herbalist Susun Weed, is "specific and powerful for nausea of pregnancy."¹⁴⁰ As we discussed earlier in this chapter, studies have shown ginger root to be extremely effective in the treatment of the nausea and vomiting of severe morning sickness. Start with 250 mg of ginger root powder four times daily; increase if necessary. Fresh ginger root tea can be made by simmering slices of ginger root in boiling water for 15 minutes. Add honey to taste.

Chronic Miscarriage/Abortion

Ten percent of first trimester pregnancies end in spontaneous abortion or miscarriage. Women who miscarry always feel guilty; they often feel responsible for the miscarriage. The fact is, however, that nature is not perfect; all conceptions are not destined to become a child. Having two miscarriages-even in a row-is not necessarily abnormal. The causes of miscarriage include unknown factors, stressors, environmental factors (toxic substances in food, water, and air and pollutants in the workplace), smoking, drinking alcohol, dietary deficiencies, and fetal abnormalities. As discussed earlier in the nutrition section, low zinc intake has been associated with spontaneous abortion and premature delivery, and vitamin E supplementation and bioflavonoids may help to prevent miscarriage. In addition, Susun Weed lists the following herbs as being used in traditional herbal medicine for preventing miscarriage:140

- Black haw root. This is especially effective. Drink one or two cups of tea or one-half cup of infusion daily as soon as pregnancy is known; use throughout entire pregnancy if desired.
- False unicorn root. This is recommended especially for women who have experienced repeated miscarriages. Take three drops of tincture four to five times daily from preconception through the first trimester.
- Wild yam root. For threatened miscarriage, make a strong tea by steeping one teaspoon of wild yam root in two cups hot water for 15 minutes; take two to four ounces every 30 minutes. The tincture is less effective and may induce nausea or vomiting.

Preeclampsia or Eclampsia (Toxemia)

Preeclampsia is a dangerous condition that may develop in the third trimester of pregnancy. It includes hypertension (high blood pressure), edema, and protein in the urine. About 6 percent of all pregnant women will develop preeclampsia sometime after completing 20 weeks of gestation; eclampsia occurs in 0.1 percent of cases.¹⁴³

Western medicine believes that there is no way to prevent preeclampsia but that it can be kept from progressing to eclampsia with good prenatal care. Herbalist Susun Weed disagrees, calling preeclampsia "the result of malnutrition during pregnancy," and says it is easily prevented by eating 60 to 80 grams of protein daily, getting enough salt, foods high in calcium, adequate calories, and nourishing herbal supports like raspberry, nettle, and dandelion leaves throughout pregnancy.140 The Harvard Guide to Women's Health links preeclampsia to very young or much older women (over 45), women with underlying medical problems (high blood pressure, kidney disorders, autoimmune disorders, and diabetes), and multiple births.144

Once preeclampsia is diagnosed, a skilled professional must be called in to help manage the treatment, since the condition is serious enough to threaten the mother's life and damage the fetus. Potassium levels must be increased (in addition to prescription potassium, eating potato peels and bananas helps; also mint, chicory, and dandelion leaves). The sodium-potassium ratio needs balancing (drink raw beet juice, up to four ounces daily); supplement with B_6 in conjunction with a high-potency B-complex vitamin; eat spirulina; and add seaweed to your daily diet.

The *Harvard Guide* expresses the current allopathic medical perspective when it states unequivocally: "The only definitive cure for preeclampsia is delivery of the baby."¹⁴⁴ However, women with preeclampsia are generally sent to bedrest unless the diastolic blood pressure is greater than 100 with bedrest. If significantly preterm, efforts are made to confirm fetal maturity or mature fetal lungs medically before delivery. Usually the earlier in the pregnancy that pregnancy-induced hypertension occurs, the more severe it becomes. The majority of cases at term are usually benign and easily managed. Catastrophic outcomes of toxemia include seizures, strokes, and failure of the heart, liver, lungs, or kidneys.

Since preeclampsia is characterized by high blood pressure, it stands to reason that yoga, meditation, and stress reduction techniques would be a useful complement to nutritional, botanical, and conventional medications.

Heartburn, Gas, and Constipation

Hormonal imbalances during pregnancy may result in softening of the smooth muscle found in the walls of the digestive tract. The consequent reduction in peristaltic movement causes food to pass more slowly through the esophagus, stomach, and small and large intestines to the rectum, inducing gas and constipation. Heartburn can be caused by the softening of the muscular valve between the esophagus and the stomach so that partially digested, acidic food may leak back up into the esophagus, causing a burning sensation in the chest. Heartburn and constipation are generally experienced in the later stages of pregnancy.

Susun Weed¹⁴⁰ and Rosemary Gladstar¹⁴⁵ emphasize eating small meals frequently, chewing food carefully, and avoiding acid-causing and greasy foods. Both recommend papaya (especially raw, but also in tablets and papaya leaf) for the enzymes, as well as fennel and anise seeds; Gladstar also recommends cumin and dill seeds in addition to the fennel and anise, suggesting an old-fashioned remedy for digestive disturbances: combine these four seeds and chew them before and after meals.

Be aware that coffee and cigarettes increase heartburn by irritating the stomach, and remember that whole grains, fresh fruits, and vegetables combined with nonstressful exercise are the best solutions to constipation.

Varicose Veins

Varicose veins can occur in the legs or in the anal or vulvar areas in pregnancy, due to hormonal softening of the muscular walls of the veins combined with the extra weight of pregnancy. Simple yoga and other nonstressful exercise can help by improving circulation from the lower body up to the trunk; it is also good to get your weight off your legs and put your feet up whenever possible.

A lack of nutritional elements in the diet, especially vitamin C, rutin, and other bioflavonoids, combined with the extra stress on the circulatory system, can cause the fragile capillaries to break. A tendency toward varicose veins and hemorrhoids may also be inherited. Eat foods high in vitamin C and bioflavonoids, such as buckwheat, nettles, rose hips, oranges, lemons, grapefruit, peppers, whole grains, hibiscus flowers, and the white rinds of organically grown citrus fruits; also include garlic, onion, chives, and leeks. These help maintain elasticity in the veins and capillaries. Lecithin, vitamin E, and rutin supplements are also recommended for preventing and repairing varicose veins.

Backache

It may not be possible to find an herb that is safe during pregnancy that is also a good treatment for backache. Gentle yoga stretches; walking and swimming; chiropractic adjustments; physical therapy; sleeping with pillows to support the legs, back, and belly; wearing flat heels; and getting plenty of minerals can all help in easing backache.

Bladder Infections

Blood volume increases 50 percent during pregnancy, causing the kidneys to work harder and making the urinary system more vulnerable to stress and infection. Especially in the last trimester, burning or frequent urination or cramping in the abdomen may indicate a bladder infection. Many herbs and nutrients can be used to treat urinary tract infections, although not all of them are safe while pregnant. Uva ursi is safe and is one of the most effective herbs to prevent recurrent bladder infections while also having antimicrobial activity in acute infections. Used in leaf form, place the leaf in a tea ball and place in water that has already come to a boil. Let it steep for five minutes, then drink one cup every three hours for two days, then one cup three times a day for an additional week.

Vitamin C and unsweetened cranberry juice can be used to acidify the urine and fight the infection by interfering with the ability of the bacteria to stick to the bladder wall. Take 1,000 mg of vitamin C three to four times per day for up to one week. Eight to sixteen ounces of unsweetened cranberry juice per day is recommended. Mannose, the simple sugar contained in cranberries, is a very effective and safe treatment during pregnancy. D-mannose adheres to the bladder epithelium and interferes with the ability of infection-causing bacteria such as *E. coli* to adhere to the bladder wall.¹⁴⁶

Lactobacillus supplements are also safe in pregnancy. From the studies that are available, probiotics appear to be beneficial for preventing recurrent bladder infections in women. See Chapter 5 for further directions on treating bladder infections.

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

Nothing would be better in the realm of childbirth than for peace to be made between those who endorse modern obstetrics and hospital births and those who applaud the naturalness of pregnancy and labor and prefer home birth when uncomplicated. There is merit in both approaches. Like all options in health care, only the pregnant woman can decide which is right for her—but with better cooperation between the groups, her choice would be easier.

When childbirth goes normally—which is most of the time—it can be safely managed at home. Unfortunately, we have no way of knowing if a low-risk birth will go awry, and home births are not equipped to handle complications such as profound fetal distress, prolapsed umbilical cords, and maternal hemorrhage. Moreover, these complications can be significantly worsened during emergency transport to the hospital.

Modern obstetrics was born after a time when all births occurred at home, no matter what, and maternal mortality was substantially higher than now. Forceps—we now groan at their mention—were a lifesaving invention for mothers as well as their babies, because prior to their use, both mother and baby sometimes died of the "obstructed" pelvis, often after laboring for days. Life without cesarean sections was also life with many more maternal deaths.

Where is the happy medium? How can we avail ourselves of the truly lifesaving aspects of obstetrics and eliminate the excess? The best answer I have is to be as educated as possible about options and be open to the obstetrical reality that things do not always go as we hope and plan. Be flexible. If possible, have a relationship with a conventional provider that you see at least once during your pregnancy.

One good option is to consider hospitalbased midwife services. The midwives are very committed to natural childbirth and, unlike the typical hospital birth, are present and supportive throughout your whole labor. They work with a backup physician, someone presumably of their choosing. Even if the physician is called, the midwife will continue to attend you as her primary patient and advocate for your wishes. The C-section rates for midwife-assisted births are low, their respect for the birthing process high. If you choose an out-of-hospital birth, be aware that the main reasons women eventually come to the hospital are for prolonged labor and/or pain-not emergencies. Have a plan worked out for what you will do in that situation.

Conventional obstetrics need not be as offputting as many assume. There are providers who support a woman's wish to have her birth naturally. They also support women who choose to have their labor pains assuaged. Women are offered the choice of intravenous medication or epidural medication. When an epidural is given at no sooner than 4 to 5 cm dilation in a woman delivering her first child, the cesarean section rate is not increased over the rate of those women who go without epidural anesthesia.

Cesarean section rates vary among physicians and institutions; it is reasonable to ask a provider for numbers. Around 15 percent is acceptable, although some will be as high as 20 percent; it depends somewhat on how "high-risk" the practice is. Moms or babies at higher risk may need to be delivered more urgently, and therefore more often by C-section. Most doctors do not take the decision to operate lightly, and your doctor should always discuss the issues with you clearly. Nothing will ever happen without your informed consent. You never need to have the drug Pitocin to stimulate labor or any other adjunct to labor unless you are in agreement. I encourage women to make their needs and wishes known in all aspects of their health care. That is the only way the system can become responsive to the evolving and varied needs of women.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

Healthy women with normal pregnancies have the lowest risk of complications, so medical management choices are largely personal. Most non-M.D. providers use a list of criteria to determine the low-risk or high-risk status of a pregnant woman. The criteria should address the mother's blood pressure, the risk of bleeding, and the lie or position of the baby in the uterus, as explained in the following sections.

Blood Pressure

Hypertensive disorders are the most common disorder of pregnancy, affecting as many as 5 to 10 percent of pregnant women.¹⁴⁷ One of the main reasons practitioners see pregnant women

so often is to check their blood pressure. Most women's blood pressures goes way down in pregnancy. Women with chronic hypertension that does not stabilize at a safe level during pregnancy have a higher risk of smaller, more at-risk babies. The women themselves are at risk of developing the complications of hypertension, such as renal disease. Labor is sometimes induced at term— 38 weeks or so—to lighten the load on mother and baby.

Preeclampsia is a different hypertensive disorder of pregnancy. It is most often a mild disease, characterized by the development of hypertension toward the end of pregnancy. At its worst, it can cause seizures or eclampsia and significant hematological abnormalities, including loss of the ability to clot blood. Kidney failure can occur. Usually none of these things happen, but because the severity of disease does not predict which women will have seizures, women with preeclampsia require protection against this risk with magnesium sulfate that is given during labor and for 24 hours afterward.

Mild forms of preeclampsia are treated with bedrest. Severe forms are treated with bedrest in the hospital. All efforts are made to avoid delivering babies very prematurely. However, when maternal health is significantly compromised, this measure may need to be taken. When severe, there is no cure for this disorder but delivery. It is thought to be caused when the mother's immune system is intolerant of the fetus's foreign genetic makeup, and thus it is extremely rare to have a second severe case in subsequent pregnancies with the same partner.

Bleeding

Bleeding is never normal in pregnancy. Although it doesn't necessarily indicate a serious problem, it must be assumed to do so until proven otherwise. Placental abruption is a disorder in which the placenta pulls away from the uterus prematurely, causing bleeding and contractions that can be life threatening to both the woman and the fetus. Because the placenta is so large, a lot can pull away before things are hugely compromised, but an evaluation is in order.

Placenta previa—in which the placenta covers the opening to the cervical canal—can also cause significant hemorrhage and is classically heralded by a small, otherwise insignificant "sentinel bleed." Ultrasound can diagnose this easily. No pregnant woman should have a vaginal exam in the third trimester without first using ultrasound to locate the placenta. Digital exploration can cause significant blood loss in the case of placenta previa.

Abnormal Lie

Many hospitals will support the vaginal birth of a healthy frank breech infant (butt first). Footling breech—with the feet first—is unsafe vaginally, because the feet can come down through the partially dilated cervix—as can the cord—before the entire infant will fit. An alternative to delivering an infant in the frank breech position is to rotate the fetus, or rather coax the fetus to rotate, from outside, which is successful about half the time. Neither of these procedures should be undertaken at home.

If the fetus measures significantly large or small at any point, this should prompt at least an ultrasound. Fetal abnormalities associated with poor growth or too much or too little fluid can present this way, and these are best prepared for in advance of delivery. Size discrepancy is often as simple as an error in dating, but figuring out the right due date is still very helpful.

The pregnancies of women with any major underlying health problem—such as diabetes or heart or respiratory disorders significant enough to require ongoing surveillance in the nonpregnant state—should be managed with input from a licensed provider. So should those of women with kidney disease or autoimmune disorders like lupus or rheumatoid arthritis. All of these conditions can make a pregnancy much riskier for both mother and child. Ultrasound can be invaluable in assessing fetal growth and wellbeing. Ongoing surveillance of the pregnancy can alert the woman to any medical problems as early as possible. This page intentionally left blank
PREMENSTRUAL SYNDROME

OVERVIEW

When finally we understand premenstrual syndrome (PMS), we will have gone a long way toward understanding the interplay between the cultural, physiologic, and emotional factors that regularly affect women's lives during the premenstruum. A huge piece of work will have been done toward improving women's health.

Dr. Maria Gurevich has written, "The persistence of PMS as a medical category despite the inconclusiveness of the research, suggests that PMS is not simply a biomedical entity . . . it is also a complex, ideologically and culturally constructed category . . . predicated on a number of unarticulated, well-entrenched beliefs about the nature of science, biology, health and femaleness."¹

Maintaining good health and attitude through all phases of the menstrual cycle is just not as simple as correcting female physiology gone awry but also involves on some level transforming our cultural image of women's reproductive health, specifically menstruation, from negative (the "curse") to positive.

However far-reaching these ideals, what we are after is practical help for the woman who suffers premenstrually. While precisely defining PMS remains scientifically challenging, any woman can tell you what it is, and a great many will tell you that they have it. Defining terms carefully helps to extract "pure" PMS from an assortment of overlapping conditions.

Eighty percent of women experience premenstrual emotional or physical changes, whereas only about 20 to 40 percent of these women have difficulties as a result. A much smaller number, about 2.5 to 5 percent,² feel these changes have a significantly negative impact on their lives to the point where work, relationships, or home life are jeopardized. Most women who have symptoms do not seek medical care but instead self-treat, making this an ideal arena for natural self-care.

Some 150 symptoms have been ascribed to PMS-most commonly feelings of anxiousness (premenstrual tension was the first name given to this syndrome), irritability, and anger or moods vacillating unpredictably among the three. Some women feel predominantly sad or self-deprecating, others simply fatigued and lethargic. Physical changes include bloating, breast tenderness, food cravings, headache, and gastric upset. No particular assortment of symptoms is diagnostic; it is the regular recurrence of symptoms on a monthly basis, just before the menstrual period, that matters. Symptoms usually last a few days to a week before menses, sometimes two weeks, beginning at midcycle with ovulation and lasting until the menses starts or into the first few days of the flow.

As important as the regular timing of the arrival of these symptoms is the predictable relief and complete resolution experienced with the onset of menses or within one to two days of the menstrual flow beginning. PMS symptoms, whatever they may be for a particular woman, go away completely just as regularly as they arrive. Most who study this entity require that a woman be able to predict in advance for at least a couple of cycles when symptoms will come and when they will leave to warrant a diagnosis of PMS.³

It is important to check for other possible sources of the symptoms that might indicate medical conditions a woman may suffer from even more dramatically in the premenstruum. Women who are afflicted with asthma, migraines, epilepsy, herpes, or disordered eating,⁴ for example, often note a cyclic worsening, a premenstrual magnification, if you will, but this is not considered to be PMS. In addition, obesity has been found to be an independent risk factor for PMS, and those with a body mass index of greater than 30 had a threefold increase in risk for PMS.⁵ Treatment for the underlying condition in these cases is more likely to eliminate the premenstrual aggravation than is treatment aimed solely at PMS.

Among women self-presenting to PMS clinics for medical care, fully 75 percent had another diagnosis that contributed significantly to their symptoms—major depressive or other mood disorders being most prominent.⁶ About 10 percent had early menopausal symptoms, 10 percent were affected by hormonal contraceptives, and about 5 percent each were found to have eating disorders or substance abuse issues predominating. Anyone who considers her PMS to be significantly bothersome might be wise to check with her practitioner should her efforts with self-care fail. There may be other, more effective treatments, either for the PMS itself or for an underlying condition.

Most women feel different emotionally and physically during the premenstruum. The term *molimina* refers to those changes women notice that let them know their menses is approaching: appetite changes, swelling, or menstrual-like cramps. A recurrent pattern of mild but noticeable changes provides evidence that cycles are ovulatory. Some women enjoy positive changes: enhanced creativity, heightened sexual desire, intellectual clarity, and feelings of happiness and well-being.⁷

It is difficult to identify cause in a condition that overlaps so broadly with normal physiology, affects so many, and has such a wide array of symptoms. Many theories have been explored and none found completely satisfying. Most likely this is because there is such a complex interaction of factors both physiologic and social. While absolute levels of estrogen and progesterone are no different in PMS sufferers, we know that in women in whom both hormones are pharmaceutically blocked, PMS diminishes by 75 percent.³ Blocking progesterone only using Ru-486 did not have this effect, nor did it worsen symptoms.⁸ It is likely that ovarian hormones affect the neurotransmitter, neuroendocrine, and circadian systems that influence mood and behavior differently in each of us. As research continues, we are learning more about the role of neurotransmitters, neurophysiology, and electrical conduction in the brain in the development, severity, and treatment of PMS.

It is interesting to look at the work done on serotonin to appreciate the role our social environment may have on PMS. Anita Rapkin, M.D., studied serotonin levels in women with and without PMS and found that serotonin levels fell after ovulation in women with PMS.⁹ Those without PMS had much higher levels of serotonin during the last half of the menstrual cycle. Abnormal serotonin metabolism has long been linked to depression. Elevating serotonin levels is how the popular antidepressant Prozac works.

There is evidence that estrogen levels affect the serotonin system. More interesting, studies in animals and humans have demonstrated how social interactions in groups can affect our serotonin levels. Dominant animals in groups have higher levels of serotonin, which then fall if they are removed from their prominent position. Serotonin levels rise in the animals that replace them in dominance.9 Rapkin postulates that women without PMS may offset ovulationinduced susceptibility to low serotonin and isolation behavior through interacting more with "desirable others." In other words, women able to manipulate their social environment successfully are less susceptible to the mood consequences of low serotonin.

One begins to see how our culture's historical attitude of embarrassment or distaste around menstruation might contribute to susceptible women's neurotransmitters being adversely affected at a physiologically critical time, resulting in mood swings, anger, and irritability. This is congruent with the views of feminist writers who criticize the medicalization of PMS symptoms as disease, arguing that medicine has tended to pathologize behaviors that do not conform to the unnatural yet pervasive female stereotype. Certainly, no other named condition in women is so common and so little understood and yet contains so many significant pieces to our lives.

In the last few years, premenstrual dysphoric disorder (PMDD) has been proposed by some to be a distinct entity clinically different from PMS. Many consider it a new psychiatric disorder. Other experts believe that PMDD is simply severe PMS with more impairment of normal life functions. However it is classified, PMDD is more severe than PMS, and the diagnostic criteria for this severity are met by only 3 to 8 percent

KEY CONCEPTS

- PMS is characterized by cyclic symptoms during the second half of the menstrual cycle with a symptom-free phase during the first half of the cycle.
- Premenstrual magnification may manifest as an increase in chronic symptoms during the second half of the cycle.
- Premenstrual dysphoric disorder (PMDD) is thought by some to be distinct from PMS, and by others to be a more severe form of PMS. The hallmarks are when a woman experiences 5 or more of 11 key symptoms.
- The best evaluation and determination of PMS is a symptom diary relating symptoms to the menstrual cycle.
- Testing should be limited but should rule out thyroid problems and blood sugar problems in particular.
- Medical evaluation should be done to reveal concurrent disorders of depression and anxiety.
- Treatment should provide symptom relief while also addressing any need for lifestyle changes and treating problems in the neuroendocrine connections (central nervous system brain chemistry as it is affected by estrogen and progesterone in particular).

of women. PMDD includes a minimum of five specific symptoms that occur during the latter part of the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle, right before the onset of menses.¹⁰

According to the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV)*, a woman would be diagnosed with PMDD if she experienced five or more of the following symptoms during most of the week before her menses, they interfere significantly with daily life and relationships, and they have occurred in the last year. At least one of the first four symptoms must also be present to lead to a diagnosis of PMDD.

- 1. Significantly depressed mood, hopelessness, self-defeating thoughts
- 2. Significant anxiety, tension, feeling irritable, uptight
- 3. Sudden mood changes of sadness, weepiness, or easily feeling rejected
- 4. Anger or irritability or increased conflict with others
- 5. Lack of motivation for usual activities
- 6. Difficulty concentrating
- 7. Lethargy, easily fatigued, low energy
- 8. Changes in appetite, overeating, food cravings
- 9. Hypersomnia or insomnia
- 10. Overwhelmed, feeling out of control
- 11. Additional physical symptoms: breast tenderness, swelling, headaches, joint or muscle pain, bloating, weight gain

PREVENTION

- A whole foods diet with minimal intake of sugar, refined carbohydrates, dairy products, caffeine, and saturated fats
- Increase dietary fiber including whole grains
- Increase essential fatty acids from nuts, seeds, and fish
- Stress management
- Regular aerobic exercise
- Weight loss

The specific cause of PMDD has not been determined, but the dysregulation of serotonin appears to be a key feature.¹¹

OVERVIEW OF Alternative treatments

Historically, conventional mainstream medicine has not been able to offer women a known cause for PMS, nor has it been able to offer a management approach short of pharmaceuticals with as many side effects as relief. Fortunately, new research has led to a better understanding of PMS and to new and more successful conventional and natural treatments. Self-care with natural therapies is the dominant method women use to manage PMS. Women have clearly taken this familiar monthly problem into their own hands and more often than not have determined what works for them. Fortunately, PMS is a condition for which inadequate self-treatment yields dissatisfaction rather than dangerous side effects or progression of a serious disease.

In an attempt to offer women rationales for viable natural treatments for the relief of PMS, many theories have been offered. While comforting in their attempts to analyze the syndrome, these theories are poorly confirmed in research studies yet are still used as a basis for many natural therapies. Popular models such as hormonalbased therapeutics, including elevated estrogen levels and reduced progesterone levels; elevated prolactin; and increased aldosterone are not adequately confirmed in research. Even though a given therapy may work for a number of women, its mechanism may still elude our true understanding. These models are tidy and convenient for a logical train of thought, but, due to their limited ability to help many women, they distract us from potentially having a more accurate understanding and more effective treatment options.

Clinically, I have not usually found it useful to use classification systems commonly used by alternative practitioners like PMS-A (anxiety), PMS-C (carbohydrate craving), PMS-D (depression), or PMS-H (hyperhydration). Yes, women may have one or more of these symptoms characterized in the particular classification, but treating women for the correlating hormonal imbalance has not typically been productive in my experience. In the more difficult cases, it is often necessary to expand one's thinking, however, and it may occasionally be helpful to explore some of these theories.

Another basic foundation for many alternative practitioners in treating PMS is the concept of the liver's role in the detoxification process. If the liver function is compromised, then estrogen metabolism is inadequate, leading to excess estrogen levels and what is often described as estrogen dominance. A "sluggish liver" is then addressed with various dietary, nutrient, and herbal interventions. It is important to understand that this is a theory with much speculation and minimal scientific support in its connection with PMS. One cannot argue, however, about the central role of the liver and its varied metabolic processes with subsequent influence on the biochemistry of hormone and enzymatic pathways. There may in fact be a role for liver function in PMS, but what that is remains unknown. On the other hand, improving liver function pays off in other ways, like exercise does, with many positive health benefits to numerous body systems.

Numerous natural alternative therapies are available, including lifestyle changes, vitamin and mineral supplementation, herbal medicines, and natural hormones. Many of these have demonstrated their effectiveness in standard scientific studies. But at least an equal number have either shown no effect or an effect that was not significantly greater than the placebo effect. Herein lies one of the curiosities of medicine, elegantly portrayed with PMS: why do conventional scientific studies fail to demonstrate success with many of these natural therapies that women consistently rely on for successful monthly treatments?

Perhaps the answer is as simple as that statistically significant is not the same as clinically relevant: what works for one person is different than what works for another. We are truly individuals with our own unique physiology, stressors, and psychological makeup. Double-blind, placebo-controlled scientific studies attempt to find what works for as many people as possible, not what works best for an individual.

Even in studies where the placebo response is given credit, perhaps the belief that the mind can heal the body is the real explanation. The interaction between neurotransmitters, neurophysiology, the body's steroids, circadian systems, mood, and behavior plus plants and nutrients from nature may remain scientifically elusive, but, to the credit of women, we have instinctually come upon safe and effective natural solutions.

One of the significant benefits of treating PMS naturally is that it serves as a touchstone to motivate women to make lifestyle changes that have a positive cascade effect on their general health.

Nutrition

Women who have PMS typically have dietary habits that are worse than the standard American diet. In a nutritional analysis published in 1983, Guy Abraham reported that PMS patients consumed 62 percent more refined carbohydrates than women who did not have PMS, 275 percent more refined sugar, 79 percent more dairy products, 78 percent more sodium, 53 percent less iron, 77 percent less manganese, and 52 percent less zinc.12 A diet higher in dairy products can also contribute to PMS symptoms such as anxiety, irritability, and nervous tension. A dietary survey of 39 patients with PMS and 14 women with no PMS found that the women with PMS consumed fivefold more dairy products and threefold more refined sugar than those women without PMS.13 Dairy products and calcium interfere with magnesium absorption, and refined sugar increases the urinary excretion of magnesium.14

Further data confirm these findings by showing that women with PMS have increased consumption of dietary fat, carbohydrates, and simple sugars and decreased consumption of protein. This study also showed that PMS sufferers had a higher number of "eating incidences" than women who did not meet the criteria for PMS.¹⁵ These increases in eating incidence and carbohydrate craving in general during PMS may be due in part to a decrease in serotonin during the luteal phase in PMS sufferers, and it follows that serotonergic treatments like SSRIs or 5HTP may be helpful in controlling not only mood changes during this period but also food cravings.¹⁶

It is these same food cravings that often serve to worsen PMS symptoms, leading to a vicious cycle of poor dietary choices and mood disturbance. It has been suggested, however, that ingesting high amounts of carbohydrates may be a form of "self-medication" in that it leads to a transient increase in tryptophan, a precursor to serotonin, and a resultant improvement in mood and energy.¹⁷ Choosing high-quality carbohydrates (including whole grains such as oatmeal, brown rice, barley, rye, and whole wheat) throughout the luteal phase may help decrease PMS mood symptoms.

Another nutritional factor in PMS is the effect of refined sugars on the retention of sodium. After a large intake of sugar, insulin increases quickly, which causes sodium and water retention. Symptoms such as swelling in the hands and feet, abdominal bloating, and breast engorgement and tenderness result. Complex carbohydrates are preferred over simple sugars (white sugar, white flour, white rice, etc.) because they stimulate insulin release much more slowly and in a more sustained manner, thereby preventing many of these water-retention symptoms. In fact, one study found that consumption of a low-fat, high complex carbohydrate diet alleviated premenstrual breast tenderness.18 Many other symptoms of PMS may be exacerbated by the intake of sugary foods and beverages.¹⁹

Excessive and incorrect prostaglandin (PG) synthesis has been implicated in the pathogenesis of PMS, and a deficiency of prostaglandin E1

(PgE1) in the central nervous system has been proposed to be involved in PMS.20 Many nutrients are important for the synthesis of PgE1. These include magnesium, linoleic acid (an essential fatty acid), vitamin B₆, zinc, vitamin C, and vitamin B₃. On the other hand, arachidonic acid is a precursor to PgE2, which has antagonistic effects with regard to PgE1. Think of PgE1 as the good guy and PgE2 as the bad guy. Vegetable oils are rich sources of linoleic acid, and animal fats are the main dietary sources of arachidonic acid; therefore, patients with PMS would be wise to decrease their consumption of animal fats and increase their consumption of polyunsaturated vegetable oils so that they have more of the good guy, PgE1. A diet high in the other nutrients mentioned would also promote the synthesis of PgE1. We will discuss these more in the nutritional supplement section.

A recent study showed that an increase in C-reactive protein, a marker of inflammation, was positively correlated with the severity of both physical and psychological symptoms of PMS,²¹ providing more support for the use of antiinflammatory dietary choices for PMS sufferers. Foods that can stimulate inflammatory pathways include, among others, sugar, poultry, eggs, cheese, milk, white flour, white rice, and partially hydrogenated oils. Foods that can reduce inflammation include fresh fruits and vegetables, fish, grass-fed beef, nuts, seeds, curry powder, garlic, and onions.

Limiting the dietary intake of salt can be helpful to some women. Table salt enhances the response to the ingestion of glucose, consequently increasing the insulin response. As mentioned earlier, an increase in insulin causes swelling through water retention.

Many women with breast symptoms in their premenstrual phase benefit from avoiding caffeine. Even though scientific studies are controversial on this subject, the practical results speak for themselves. Restricting the intake of coffee (both caffeinated and decaffeinated), black tea, chocolate, and caffeine-containing soft drinks

Dietary Recommendations

- Reduce the intake of alcohol, caffeine, salt, sugar, refined carbohydrates, and dairy products.
- Increase the intake of fruits, vegetables, legumes, nuts, seeds, fish, soy, and healthy oils such as fish, flaxseed, and olive oils.

will especially benefit those with fluid-retention symptoms. (See Chapter 7 on fibrocystic breasts for more information about the detrimental effects of caffeine.)

It is estimated that there are two million alcoholic women in the reproductive age group in the United States.²² Sixty-seven percent of these women relate their drinking to their menstrual cycles, and drinking bouts occur usually during the premenstrual phase.²³ Alcohol may also play a role in the reactive hypoglycemia of PMS as well as worsening a variety of other PMS-related symptoms.²⁴

Soy isoflavones may be beneficial for PMS in addition to the other women's health conditions they seem to positively affect. A recent study suggests that increased consumption of dietary soy may be related to a reduction in PMS symptoms.²⁵ Another study compared the effect of isolated soy protein containing 68 mg/day soy isoflavones with a placebo in a double-blind fashion and found that the soy protein was effective at reducing headache, breast tenderness, cramps, and edema after two cycles of treatment.²⁶

Nutritional Supplements

It has been hypothesized that women with PMS are deficient in certain nutrients. Nutritional profiles and biochemical and hematological evaluations in 11 women with PMS showed that they did indeed have various nutritional deficiencies.²⁷ Other biochemical investigations have found no evidence that premenstrual symptoms are caused by either absolute or relative nutritional deficiencies.^{28, 29}

Nutritional supplements are widely used in the treatment of PMS despite the inconsistent evidence to support their use. Again we have a discrepancy between scientific information and what a significant number of women report. A possible explanation for this discrepancy might be that vitamin and mineral levels in the peripheral blood (which is measured in a laboratory) do not parallel the levels in the central nervous system (CNS). Researchers J. C. Chuong and E. B. Dawson state, "It is possible that the bioavailability of vitamins and minerals in the CNS, which is related to the activities of several neurotransmitters (including serotonin), could change during the luteal phase in some patients with PMS. As a result, premenstrual symptoms occur. However, these changes in vitamin and mineral levels in the CNS may not show up in the peripheral blood levels."30

Positive results seen in some studies with nutritional supplementation most likely represent a pharmacological response to therapeutic doses of vitamins or minerals rather than reversing an underlying deficiency.

Multiple vitamin and mineral supplements may be helpful for women with PMS. A study was done in 1985 of Optivite, a rather typical multiple vitamin/mineral supplement. The quantities and proportions of vitamins and minerals in this supplement either met or exceeded the recommended daily allowances except for calcium and vitamin D. In a double-blind, placebocontrolled crossover study, 16 of 23 subjects reported feeling better during the cycles in which they took the supplement, and 7 reported feeling better during the placebo cycles.³¹ These researchers also classified the patients into four different subgroups (PMS-A, PMS-C, PMS-D, PMS-H) and found that only two of the four subgroups responded to this particular supplement.

A second study on the same product was done in 1991³² to assess the effectiveness of a vitamin/mineral supplement in controlling symptoms of premenstrual syndrome. This double-blind, randomized study of 44 women divided women with PMS into four subgroups depending on their symptoms. Subjects were randomly assigned to receive either placebo or 6 or 12 tablets of the supplement a day for three menstrual cycles. All subjects had significant differences in severity of symptoms between the follicular and luteal phase of the control cycle. Two PMS subgroups especially improved: PMS-A (nervous tension, mood swings, irritability, anxiety) and PMS-C (headaches, craving for sweets, increased appetite, heart pounding, fatigue). Supplementation with six tablets of Optivite daily was associated with significant reduction in all symptom categories, including those with PMS-D (depression, insomnia, forgetfulness, crying, and confusion). Those with PMS-H (premenstrual weight gain, breast tenderness, abdominal bloating, and swelling of the arms and legs) did not receive any benefit. If 12 tablets were taken, then there were significant reductions of symptoms in all groups.

When selecting a multiple vitamin and mineral supplement, I recommend one that has been formulated especially for women, as these take into account the special nutritional needs of women.

Vitamin B₆. A rational basis for the use of vitamin B₆ (pyridoxine) in the treatment of PMS was first indicated by the work of Adams and his colleagues in 1973,33 although it had been prescribed since the 1940s. They reported successful treatment with vitamin B₆ of patients complaining of depression associated with oral contraception. Since that time there have been over one dozen studies on vitamin B₆ and PMS. Some of these have shown no effect from vitamin B₆, but most of the studies have shown that there was a substantial and broad effect on the whole range of PMS symptoms. An overview of these studies has been published in the British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology.34 The studies have used anywhere from 50 to 500 mg per day.

Vitamin B_6 is thought to be unique in its ability to increase the synthesis of several neurotransmitters in the brain. These neurotransmitters include serotonin, dopamine, norepinephrine, epinephrine, taurine, and histamine.³⁵ Lower levels of brain neurotransmitters such as serotonin and dopamine have been implicated in the etiology of PMS.³⁶ In fact, a double-blind crossover trial demonstrated that 50 mg of B_6 per day was effective at decreasing premenstrual depression, fatigue, and irritability.³⁷ In addition, another study showed a synergistic effect of 50 mg of B_6 combined with 200 mg of magnesium in reducing premenstrual anxiety.³⁸

Vitamin B_6 supplementation is generally considered safe in dosages of 50 to 100 mg daily. When using dosages greater than 50 mg, it may be important to divide it into 50 mg dosages throughout the day to assure appropriate utilization by the liver. One should not exceed 200 mg total in one day in order to assure safety. Chronic intake of dosages greater than 500 mg per day can be toxic if taken daily for many months or years. There are also a few rare reports of toxicity at chronic long-term dosages of 150 mg per day.³⁹

Vitamin B₆

50 mg 2-4 times per day

Vitamin D. We don't normally think of vitamin D as a treatment for PMS. Recent research has shown, however, that increased intake of vitamin D in both dietary and supplement forms is inversely related to PMS symptoms.⁴⁰ A combination of vitamin D and calcium decreased the frequency and severity of menstrual migraines and other PMS symptoms.⁴¹

Vitamin D

Age 19–50: 200 IU per day Tolerable upper limit: 2,000 IU

Vitamin E. Vitamin E is probably not a big player in PMS relief, although some studies have demonstrated a reduction in premenstrual nervous tension, headache, fatigue, depression, insomnia, and breast tenderness.^{12, 42} Aberrant prostaglandin (PG) synthesis has been implicated in PMS, and a deficiency of prostaglandin E1 (PgE1) has been proposed to be involved in PMS as well as an increase in another prostaglandin called PgF2-alpha. It has been hypothesized that vitamin E inhibits the negative prostaglandin (PgF2) and increases the PgE1. Women continue to use vitamin E to relieve the symptoms of breast tenderness before the period. Despite science that does not confirm a statistically significant benefit, vitamin E remains an important part of self-care. This is discussed more in Chapter 7.

Vitamin E

400-800 IU per day

Essential Fatty Acids. The main strategy of supplementing with essential fatty acids is an attempt to raise the body's own formation of PgE1. The most popular method of doing so has been to supplement with evening primrose oil (EPO) products in order to supply increased levels of gamma linolenic acid. Although there are several studies that show positive results, some of the studies did not include a placebo group, and other studies did not show a statistically significant difference between the treatment group and the placebo group.^{43–45}

Four double-blind, crossover, controlled trials of EPO have demonstrated a significant effect over the placebo group.^{46–49} One of these studies used three grams of EPO per day; the others used four grams per day. EPO has been shown to be most effective for relieving clumsiness and headaches, although all symptoms, including depression, irritability, bloating, and breast tenderness, showed a marked improvement. Other sources of oils that contain gamma linolenic acid (GLA) and raise PgE1 levels include borage oil, black currant oil, and canola oil. Hemp oil contains a very small amount of GLA. Another study looked at krill oil and its effectiveness at reducing symptoms of PMS. Krill oil is derived from plankton and is high in omega-3 fatty acids, bioflavonoids, and vitamins E and A. This study looked at two 1-gram capsules of krill oil versus fish oil in the management of PMS symptoms and found it to be comparable at decreasing swelling, bloating, and weight gain and superior to fish oil in decreasing analgesic use, breast tenderness, joint pain, dysmenorrhea, and emotional symptoms after 45 to 90 days of treatment.⁵⁰

Evening Prim	rose Oil
---------------------	----------

3-4 g per day

Krill Oil

2 g per day

Magnesium. Magnesium has shown some beneficial effect in the treatment of PMS. Magnesium is depleted by changes in the female sex hormones in the luteal phase leading to a variety of PMS symptoms, notably migraines and bloating.⁵¹ One study suggests that 200 mg of magnesium daily may reduce premenstrual fluid retention and resultant symptoms like breast distension, peripheral edema, and abdominal bloating after two months of treatment.⁵²

In another study involving 32 women with PMS, 360 mg of magnesium three times daily was given from midcycle to the onset of menstrual flow.⁵³ In menstrual distress questionnaire scores, relief of premenstrual mood fluctuations and depression during magnesium treatment was significant. Although blood serum levels of magnesium are not found to be different between women who have PMS and women who don't, it seems there is a significant decrease in red blood cell magnesium levels in PMS patients.⁵⁴

The mechanism of magnesium and its possible role in PMS are not well understood, but we do know that magnesium is involved in essential fatty acid metabolism and B_6 activity. In fact, as mentioned in the section on vitamin B_6 , one study showed a synergistic effect of 50 mg of B_6 combined with 200 mg of magnesium in reducing premenstrual anxiety.³⁸ In addition, another study suggests that cyclical hormonal changes may cause a relative deficiency state that can exacerbate symptoms associated with PMS.⁵⁵

Magnesium

300 mg 1-3 times per day

Calcium. Reports have suggested that problems in calcium regulation and frank calcium deficiency actually mimic many PMS symptoms^{56–58} and may underlie some of the symptoms of PMS. Therefore, dietary and supplemental forms of calcium may have a therapeutic benefit.^{40, 59}

An important randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter clinical trial was conducted to test this hypothesis. A group of 479 women were given either 1,200 mg of calcium carbonate or a placebo for three menstrual cycles.⁶⁰ During the luteal phase of the treatment cycle (from ovulation to menses), a significantly lower symptom complex score was observed in the calcium group for both the second and third months. By the third month, calcium effectively resulted in a 48 percent reduction in total symptom scores from baseline compared with a 30 percent reduction in the placebo group. All four symptom factors (negative mood affect, water retention, food cravings, and pain) were significantly reduced by the third treatment cycle.

In addition, as mentioned earlier in the nutritional supplement section, research suggests that a combination of vitamin D and calcium may decrease the frequency and severity of menstrual migraines and other PMS symptoms with only two months of treatment.⁴¹

Calcium

1,200 mg per day

Tryptophan. As alluded to previously, decreased serotonin and its precursor tryptophan may exacerbate PMS mood changes, including depression, anxiety, and aggression.^{61, 62} In addition, trials done in recent years to test the effectiveness of supplementation of L-tryptophan in reducing symptoms of PMS have shown promising results. These studies, which used daily doses of 6 grams for 17 days from ovulation to day 3 of menses led to significant reductions in mood swings, insomnia, carbohydrate craving, tension, irritability, and dysphoria.^{63, 64}

Tryptophan

6 g per day for 17 days, from ovulation to day 3 of menses

Botanicals

Chaste Tree (Vitex Agnus Castus). The single most important plant for the treatment of premenstrual syndrome is Vitex agnus castus, also known as chaste tree. The fruits of chaste tree contain essential oils, irridoids, pseudoindicans, and flavonoids. The effect of chaste tree is on the hypothalamus-hypophysis axis. It increases secretion of luteinizing hormone (LH) and also has an effect that favors progesterone.65-67 Chaste tree has also been substantiated in its ability to inhibit prolactin.68 Elevated prolactin levels may be a factor in PMS. Studies of chaste tree for cyclic breast tenderness confirm its effectiveness in this disorder.^{69, 70} Chaste tree is also thought to positively influence PMS symptoms by affecting opioid receptors in the brain.71

Three studies found that chaste tree reduced a variety of premenstrual symptoms after three cycles of active treatment in a large number of women.^{72–74} An additional study looked at the effectiveness of chaste tree versus fluoxetine (Prozac) in decreasing PMS symptoms and found the two treatments comparable, except that fluoxetine was more effective with psychological symptoms and chaste tree was more effective with physical symptoms.⁷⁵ Older research led up to these more recent and rigorous studies. Two surveys were done covering 1,542 women with premenstrual syndrome who had been treated with a German liquid extract of chaste tree for periods of up to 16 years. The mean duration of treatment was 166 days, and the average dose was 42 drops daily. Effectiveness as recorded by the patients' doctors was either very good, good, or satisfactory in 92 percent of the cases.⁷⁶ Only 2.1 percent of the women noted side effects during treatment, and 1.1 percent of them discontinued the medicine because of them.

Chaste tree has also been found to be safe for use with most patients, but caution should be exercised with those on medications that inhibit dopamine. A recent review of research found that the most frequent adverse events reported were headache, gastrointestinal disturbances, menstrual disorders, acne, itching, and rash, and no known drug interactions were reported.⁷⁷

Chaste Tree (Vitex Agnus Castus)

40 drops liquid or extract per day *or* Capsules of standardized extract: 175 mg per day

Ginkgo (Ginkgo Biloba). We don't normally think of ginkgo for PMS. But when you consider that some PMS symptoms have to do with congestion, it makes sense that it might be useful. A double-blind, placebo-controlled study was done in 1993 to determine the effectiveness of ginkgo extract on PMS symptoms. A group of 165 women between the ages of 18 and 45 who had fluid retention, breast tenderness, and vascular congestion were studied. The patients were assigned to receive either a ginkgo extract of 24 percent ginkgo flavonglycoside content at 80 mg twice daily or a placebo from day 16 of their cycle to day 5 of the next cycle. Based on symptom evaluation by both

Ginkgo (Ginkgo Biloba)

80 mg standardized extract twice daily

patient and doctor, ginkgo extract was effective against the congestive symptoms of PMS, particularly breast pain or tenderness.⁷⁸

Saint John's Wort (Hypericum Perforatum). Saint John's wort has shown promise in preliminary studies of its effectiveness at alleviating PMS mood dysfunction, but more research is still needed.⁷⁹⁻⁸¹ In one observational pilot study, Saint-John's-wort standardized extract was given at a dose of 300 mg three times daily.81 Nineteen women with PMS underwent a preliminary screening interview and completed a daily symptom rating for one cycle. After taking the Saint John's wort for two complete menstrual cycles, daily symptoms were rated again. The degree of improvement in overall premenstrual syndrome scores between baseline and the end of the trial was 51 percent, with more than two-thirds of the sample demonstrating at least a 50 percent decrease in symptom severity. The mood subscale showed the most improvement (57 percent), and the symptoms with the greatest reductions in scores were crying (92 percent), depression (85 percent), confusion (75 percent), feeling out of control (72 percent), nervous tension (71 percent), anxiety (69 percent), and insomnia (69 percent).

Saint John's Wort

300 mg 3 times daily

Additional Herbs. Many other herbs that have not been subjected to scientific research have also been used successfully by women and practitioners for decades. These include many species of wild yam, licorice root, dong quai, black cohosh, and more. One study on black cohosh and PMS demonstrated that it was effective in improving anxiety, tension, and depression.⁸² Currently, there is some thought that black cohosh may act as a mild serotonin reuptake inhibitor, which would make it an appealing option for PMS.⁸³

Other plants are used because of their benefit with specific symptoms; for example, kava extract

for anxiety, dandelion leaf for water weight gain, valerian for sleep problems, and lemon balm for herpes eruptions. You will often find one or more of these herbs in combination herbal and nutritional products that have been specifically formulated for PMS symptom relief.

Exercise

Specific exercises are conspicuously absent from scientific studies looking at the effects of exercise on PMS. In contrast, although mechanisms of action remain elusive, general regular physical exercise has been the subject of several controlled trials. In all of these, the results show that women who exercise regularly have less strong or fewer PMS symptoms.

Aerobic training (walking, jogging, swimming, cycling) appears more effective at reducing PMS symptoms than strength training (weight lifting).⁸⁴ Frequency of exercise, but not intensity, relates to decreased rating of selected menstrual distress symptom clusters;⁸⁵ gradual increase in running distances correlates directly with greater reductions in PMS symptoms.⁸⁶ Regular exercisers show improvement in all PMS parameters, including concentration, affect, pain, hostility, fear, guilt, and sadness.⁸⁷

Regularly exercising women report a significant decrease in anxiety following baseline relaxation but show greater increase in anxiety during a stress task than nonexercisers.⁸⁸

Two reviews of the literature on exercise and PMS emphasize the obvious fact that controlled trials of exercise training and PMS cannot be performed under double-blind conditions, making it difficult to formulate probable mechanisms for the observed effects of regular training on PMS symptoms. According to L. Gannon, exercise may reduce PMS symptoms by (1) decreasing estrogen levels, (2) improving glucose tolerance, (3) decreasing catecholamines, and (4) elevating endorphins.⁸⁹ Gannon concludes, "If PMS symptoms are caused or exacerbated by dramatic

Exercise Recommendations

- Follow the "General Exercise Program" and exercise instructions outlined in Appendix A.
- The key words in exercising are regularity and diversity.
- It is important to schedule exercise along with the other vital activities of the day—meals, sleep, and rest.
- Equally important is to enjoy the exercise you choose, remembering that best results are obtained from a combination of types of exercise—flexibility, stretching, strength, and cardiovascular.

variations in endorphin levels, exercise may serve to prevent exaggerated elevations and abrupt declines and, ultimately, to reduce symptoms."

Yoga postures are another form of exercise that appears to have benefit and may suit some women more. A study of 40 women was done for almost one year to investigate the effect of yoga in relieving premenstrual and menstrual problems.⁹⁰ The women assigned to the treatment group did yoga postures and meditation. At the end of the 10 months, there were significantly lower scores on the menstrual distress questionnaires for those in the yoga group compared to those in the control group.

Progressive muscle relaxation and deep breathing can also significantly reduce the mood symptoms associated with PMS.⁹¹

Natural (or Bio-Identical) Progesterone

Perhaps no other PMS therapy has been the target of so much controversy as natural progesterone. This has as much to do with the lack of scientific research and agreement to support a unified theory as to the cause of PMS as it has to do with the efficacy of natural progesterone itself. Raymond Green and Katharina Dalton advanced a theory in the 1950s that PMS was caused by unopposed estrogen during the luteal phase (second half) of the menstrual cycle. Dr. Dalton's original work with progesterone therapy is the historical root on which the use of natural progesterone is based today. Research scientists, and therefore the majority of the conventional medical community, ultimately did not embrace Dr. Dalton's conclusions about the efficacy of progesterone therapy for PMS. This was largely based on what they thought to be inadequate scientific research studies, although it is also fair to speculate that other matters of medical politics and the business of medicine were at play here as well.

Natural progesterone (also called bio-identical progesterone) is a white crystalline powder derived from extracts of the Mexican wild yam or soybean. It requires laboratory manufacturing processes and is something altogether different than what we know as botanical medicine. What makes natural progesterone natural is not so much the original plant material but rather that the progesterone molecules that result are chemically identical to the progesterone hormone produced by a woman's own ovaries and adrenal glands.

Confusion exists when people think that bioidentical progesterone is found in wild yam and soybeans or that the human body can convert wild yam and soybean extracts to natural progesterone. Neither of these is true. Further confusing the issue is that many people mistakenly call synthetic progestogens or progestins progesterone. Progestins are chemically different than progesterone and also chemically different than bio-identical progesterone.

Dr. Dalton reports that she has used natural progesterone via injections (25 to 100 mg daily), vaginal and rectal suppositories (400 to 1,600 mg daily), and subcutaneous pellets (500 to 1,600 mg every 3 to 12 months) with results as good as complete relief of PMS symptoms in 83 percent of women.⁹² There have been several studies that demonstrated a lack of efficacy of rectal and vaginal suppositories in the treatment of PMS. Sampson and Freeman found these forms of progesterone to be no better than placebo.^{93, 94}

Although the suppository method of delivering natural progesterone for PMS has not held up to scientific scrutiny, oral micronized natural progesterone has. A study by Dennerstein and colleagues in 1985 found an overall beneficial effect of using 300 mg per day (100 mg in the morning and 200 mg in the evening) for 10 days of each menstrual cycle starting three days after ovulation.95 After only one month of treatment, those receiving progesterone could be clearly distinguished from those receiving placebo on measures of stress, anxiety, and concentration. Most other symptoms also continued to improve with each menstrual cycle. The only premenstrual complaint not consistently improved by progesterone was arousal. A 1993 study also reported successful use of progesterone in doses of 300 mg oral micronized progesterone daily or 3 cc rectal solution twice daily.96

More recently, Dr. John Lee had become the most outspoken proponent of the use of natural progesterone by using transdermal creams that are applied to specified areas of the skin. He reported significant success in his medical practice and has written about it in his treatise on natural progesterone.⁹⁷

The availability of natural progesterone in transdermal creams in the retail over-the-counter market has created perhaps the greatest confusion yet in the use of this valuable medicine. It is important for the consumer and practitioner to understand the difference between wild yam and soy extracts versus natural progesterone products derived from these extracts. Wild yam extracts do not contain natural progesterone unless they say that natural progesterone has been added. Also, different products contain different amounts of progesterone. The range is as little as 2 mg per ounce to more than 400 mg per ounce. The rule is user beware and be educated. These products all have their value, but not necessarily for the treatment of PMS.

In my clinical practice, I largely use the transdermal creams that contain at least 400 mg progesterone per ounce of cream. For severe PMS symptoms that have not responded to nutritional, botanical, and lifestyle changes, and for those whose symptoms start from a few days to one week before the menses, I recommend applying one-quarter teaspoon natural progesterone cream twice daily starting at midcycle and stopping the day before the menses is due. For women whose significant symptoms begin at ovulation, I recommend one-quarter teaspoon per day from day 8 to day 14 (do not use during days 1 to 7 while bleeding), and then one-quarter teaspoon twice daily until the menses begins, as described above. The best sites for rubbing in the cream include the palms, inner forearms, chest, and inner thighs. Also, it is best utilized when rotating sites of application. Individual uses may vary depending on symptoms or menstrual pattern.

Since bio-identical progesterone is a hormone, I think it is best to seek the advice of a qualified health-care practitioner who is experienced with its use for those who use it long term. This assures proper usage and therefore maximum results. Oral micronized progesterone and some of the other delivery methods of progesterone are prescription items. These products are used mainly by licensed naturopathic physicians but also by progressive medical doctors and a growing number of chiropractors and acupuncturists.

Natural (Bio-Identical) Progesterone Cream

- If symptoms start from a few days to 1 week before the menses, apply ¹/₄ tsp twice daily beginning at midcycle (day 15) and stopping approximately day 26 or a day or two before the menses is due.
- If symptoms begin at ovulation, apply ¼ tsp per day on days 8–14 (do not use during days 1–7 while bleeding), and then ¼ tsp twice daily until the menses begins.

Oral Micronized Progesterone

50-200 mg per day on days 15-26

Sample Treatment Plan for Premenstrual Syndrome

3-Month Plan

- Reduce the intake of alcohol, caffeine, salt, sugar, refined carbohydrates, and dairy products.
- Increase the intake of fruits, vegetables, legumes, nuts, seeds, soy, fish, and flaxseed oil.
- Exercise regularly, focusing especially on aerobic exercise.
- Take a combination nutritional/botanical PMS product (available at natural food stores or alternative health practitioners). It should include vitamin B₆; magnesium; gamma linolenic acid from borage, evening primrose, or black currant oil; chaste tree (vitex); vitamin E; Saint John's wort; and possibly some traditional herbs for PMS, including dandelion leaf, dong quai, black cohosh, and wild yam. (See the Resources section for formulation sources.)
- Take a multiple vitamin/mineral supplement, 1 to 6 capsules per day.
- Take 1,000-1,200 mg of calcium per day.
- If this plan doesn't relieve PMS after three cycles, then use bio-identical progesterone creams with greater than 400 mg per ounce or prescription oral micronized progesterone.

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

In perhaps no other diagnostic category has the advice of conventional physicians so overlapped with that of their naturopathic colleagues. All are searching! Basic lifestyle issues such as exercise, diet, nutritional supplements, and stress and mood assessment have all been studied and are always the starting point of treatment. Probably in part because we had no consistently effective therapy, conventional physicians have borrowed eagerly from natural medicine, and enthusiastic interest in natural progesterone occurred in the early 1980s.

The first, and most important, step in treating PMS is recognizing it. The woman should undergo accurate assessment for other mental and physical diseases, and then do at least three months of symptom charting, possibly with help from her partner. Once the diagnosis of PMS is made, then the therapy consists of the following: 1. Lifestyle therapies. Nonpharmacological therapies are more effective in less severe PMS/PMDD. The first is making lifestyle changes that support the use of aerobic exercise to maintain a normal BMI and possibly increase endorphins that may be lacking in the luteal phase. Next are dietary modifications that include having small, frequent meals; reducing intake of caffeine, sugar, alcohol, artificial sweeteners, salt, red meat, saturated fat, and simple carbohydrates; and increasing the intake of

- complex carbohydrates; and foods that are rich in calcium and magnesium. A general multivitamin supplement is also recommended.
 2. Cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT).
- Cognitive-behavioral therapy is a short-term, structured psychotherapeutic treatment that helps emphasize the role of the patient's current thinking in determining behavior. The patient is taught behavioral techniques to help alter her response to the premenstrual symptoms. CBT helps in stress management and in teaching the woman how to alter or cope with her lifestyle.

3. Pharmacological therapies. The most common medication recommended for PMS/PMDD of moderate to severe intensity is an SSRI. These medications can be used just on the severe-symptom days each month. They are effective the day they are taken, which suggests that SSRIs in this case are not helping by increasing neurotransmitters. They seem to work in PMS by altering the neurophysiology and electrical conduction in the brain. Several SSRIs have been used. Suggested doses are fluoxetine (20 mg a day) or the once-weekly tablet sertraline or paroxetine controlled-release (12.5 to 25.0 mg per day). The biggest problem with the use of these drugs is the high incidence of side effects that can include nausea, headache, fatigue, hyperexcitability, and sexual dysfunction as well as weight gain. The new serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor venlafaxine, with doses anywhere from 50 mg to 200 mg per day, was shown to have a better effect than the placebo in reducing PMDD.

Spironolactone is an aldosterone antagonist, used as a diuretic. It has been successful in treating symptoms of irritability, depressed mood, edema, breast tenderness, and food craving.

Oral contraceptives are commonly prescribed for PMS/PMDD and have reports of as many failures as successes. Probably the most significant problem with oral contraceptives is the current regimen of taking them 21 days on and 7 days off. The 7-day drug-free interval allows for less suppression of ovulation. During that 7-day pill-free interval, follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) rises, follicles begin to grow, and ovulation frequently occurs. Since PMS is only seen in ovulating women, this lack of ovulation suppression may be the reason for the frequent failure of OCs in PMS. There are several new studies that show that a 4-day pill-free interval reduces the FSH volumes by 50 percent, helps suppress the development of new follicles, and appears to significantly suppress ovulation. A shorter hormone-free interval may thus be more effective in treating PMS. There is also a birth control pill that contains drospirenone, which is derived from 17 alpha-spironolactone and has antimineralocorticoid and antiandrogen effects. It helps prevent fluid retention, and studies have shown excellent efficacy in symptom relief of PMS.

Uncommonly prescribed medications for PMS/PMDD are the GnRH agonists that suppress ovulation and make women in effect temporarily menopausal. The use of GnRH agonists places women in a low estrogenic state that functions like a reversible medical removal of ovaries. These agents have been shown to decrease symptoms of severe PMS, but they cannot be used for extended periods of time and have a high incidence of side effects. Add-back therapy with estradiol or a progestogen to reduce the side effects also seems to reduce the effectiveness for treatment of PMS.

Short-acting, water-soluble sedatives such as alprazolam and lorazepam have also been useful either in a scheduled dosing (for example, a small dose three times daily from cycle day 20 until menses) or on an as-needed basis to reduce anxiety and agitation.

Correction of PMS through surgical removal of the ovaries has been done and remains a very high-risk, symptomatic (due to the abrupt loss of estrogen), and expensive treatment for PMS. It is done only in the most extreme circumstances after extensive consultations.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

PMS is an excellent condition for self-treatment most of the time. Mild to moderate PMS is well addressed by lifestyle changes and safe and effective nutritional and botanical supplements most of the time. When these measures are not effective or when the symptoms are severe, a licensed naturopathic physician can readily utilize natural progesterone therapy, more aggressive dosing of nutritional and botanical supplements, or selected nutrients that specifically and more assertively target serotonin and other neurotransmitters and neurophysiology.

Few conventional medical doctors are trained in these therapies, although increasing numbers are integrating them into their practice. Severe symptoms of depression, headaches, breast pain, or others may require the use of pharmaceutical intervention, although this is rarely necessary. In these cases, temporary use of such drugs must be recommended judiciously, while the continued use of natural medicines is integrated into the long-term plan. Only rarely will PMS not respond to a comprehensive natural medicine approach. This page intentionally left blank

CHAPTER 18

SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED INFECTIONS

OVERVIEW

Sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and their complications continue to infect women at epidemic rates. Each year, more than 15 million American men and women contract an STI.1 Worldwide, the estimated incidence of STIs is over 250 million cases per year. All women who are sexually active are at risk for acquiring infection and related reproductive tract problems, although heterosexual women are at substantially increased risk compared to lesbian women. Gonorrhea and chlamydial infections may produce urethritis, cervicitis, and pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) and are the two types of bacteria that most frequently cause PID. Human papillomavirus (HPV) is the cause of genital warts and cervical dysplasia. Syphilis is responsible for myriad systemic and tissue abnormalities. Herpes simplex virus (HSV) infection is associated with small blisterlike skin eruptions and ulcerations. Scabies and pediculosis are fraught with itching of the skin. As many as 60 percent of hepatitis B cases are sexually transmitted. HIV infection and AIDS (the most advanced stage of HIV infection) are sexually transmitted diseases as well. Less common STIs, such as lymphogranuloma venereum and chancroid, present as pimple-like or ulcerative genital lesions.

The purpose of this chapter is to discuss some of the alternative approaches and conventional therapies used in the treatment of chlamydia and gonorrhea. Please refer to Chapter 20 (vaginitis), Chapter 3 (cervical dysplasia), Chapter 8 (genital herpes), and Chapter 15 (pelvic inflammatory disease) for further information and treatment recommendations regarding other conditions that can be transmitted through sexual contact.

Chlamydia Trachomatis

Chlamydia trachomatis infection is the most common STI causing a female pelvic infection in the United States. The infection rate is considered epidemic in women and is estimated at four million new cases each year. Chlamydia is evident in about 20 to 40 percent of sexually active women in the United States.² It can be deceptive because as many as 80 percent of women with this infection do not exhibit symptoms.³ This is of particular concern, because chlamydia can progress to an asymptomatic pelvic infection resulting in infertility. Women between the ages of 15 and 25 are at greatest risk of chlamydia, but all heterosexually active women are at risk.^{4, 5} The rate of C. trachomatis pelvic infection among sexually active women is from 5 to 20 percent.⁶ The chlamydia organism invades the columnar cells of the cervix, invades the immune system, and can either lie in a latent state in the cervix for months, create asymptomatic cervical infection, or ascend to the upper genital tract, where it can also be asymptomatic or cause infections of the fallopian tubes or uterus. When symptoms do occur, it commonly causes urethritis, cervicitis, and PID in women. Common symptoms that occur include uncomfortable urination, frequency of urination, vaginal spotting, increased discharge that may be yellowish, pelvic pain, and pain or spotting with intercourse.

Due to the high incidence of chlamydia and the high rate of asymptomatic infections, it is recommended that all heterosexually active women between ages 15 and 25 be screened yearly. By screening regularly, the incidence of PID can be reduced significantly. Chlamydia is diagnosed on physical examination, with a smear of the discharge from the urethra and cervix viewed under a microscope and with special tests and cultures of the same discharge. The rectum should also be examined for a purulent discharge. The vaginal discharge should also be tested for the presence of bacterial vaginosis, trichomoniasis, and gonorrhea. The cervix is also examined for hypertrophy (enlargement) of the endocervical epithelium (the cells in the cervical canal), looking for intense erythema (redness) and friability (bleeds easily when it is touched with a cotton-tipped applicator). The presence of a mucopurulent discharge from the cervix is a tip-off to a cervical infection. This yellow discharge is then tested for chlamydia and gonorrhea.

Being infected with chlamydia is of special concern for the pregnant woman because it can cause spontaneous abortion, premature rupture of the membranes, premature labor and delivery, and postpartum endometritis (infection of the uterus). Due to the frequent asymptomatic nature of chlamydia infection, examinations of all women suspected of having an STI during pregnancy should include testing for chlamydia and gonorrhea. About 60 to 70 percent of untreated cases in pregnant women result in neonatal infection in the eyes or lungs.²

Due to the ability of chlamydia infection to be asymptomatic, it is a particularly problematic pelvic infection. It can ascend to the upper genital tract without detection and then cause significant damage to the reproductive tract affecting fertility. Lower abdominal or pelvic pain in a heterosexually active woman may be a symptom of pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), especially when it occurs with cervical inflammation and vaginal and/or purulent endocervical discharge. Pain and tenderness on the physical exam in addition would be enough to have a clinical diagnosis of PID and should be followed with appropriate testing. (See Chapter 15 for more information on PID.)

Because of the number of women who have contracted chlamydia and do not exhibit symp-

toms, many women go untreated. Unfortunately, many of these women find out later that their fallopian tubes have been scarred, which leads to infertility.

Neisseria Gonorrhoeae

Neisseria gonorrhoeae is the second most common STI causing a female pelvic infection. In 2003, the rate of reported cases in the United States was 116.2 cases per 100,000 individuals. Rates have been decreasing each year since 1999, and we are currently at our lowest reported rate. Approximately 75 percent of the cases occur in women, and the highest rate is among women aged 20 to 24 years.⁷ The highest group at risk is heterosexually active women aged 15 to 19.⁸

The southern United States has the highest rates of gonorrhea, and the rates are 20 times higher for African-Americans than for Caucasians. Young women (and men) who are nonwhite, unmarried, less educated, and who live in urban settings are the group most commonly affected.⁹

Gonorrhea is most easily transmitted from males to females assuming lack of condom use. Oral gonorrhea occurs in about 20 percent of women who practice fellatio with males who have an infection of their urethra. Transmission between women is not impossible, but extremely rare. The incubation period of gonococcal infection averages 3 to 5 days, with a range of 1 to 14 days. The majority of women with gonorrhea have no symptoms, but one-third of women observe a vaginal discharge. Urethritis with uncomfortable urination and frequency, cervicitis, a puslike discharge, abdominal or pelvic pain, vaginal spotting, and pain with intercourse are symptoms that warrant a suspicion of gonorrhea.

Mucopurulent cervicitis is the most common STI pelvic infection in women. Cervicitis is usually caused by gonorrhea, chlamydia, herpes simplex, or a combination, with chlamydia infections being the most common cause. A vaginal infection along with cervicitis may be due to candida or trichomonas, or the candida or trichomonas may coexist along with the other organisms.

Symptoms often do not show up until PID develops. Abdominal pelvic pain is generally an indication of endometritis, salpingitis, or an abscess, and it generally develops a few days following the onset of menses. The physical exam of a woman with gonorrhea reveals a mucopurulent discharge from the cervical opening, a swollen and friable cervix, and/or bleeding from the cervical canal.

Infected mothers may transmit gonorrhea to their babies during pregnancy or at the time of delivery. It most commonly causes conjunctivitis in the baby and can also cause blindness in newborns. Other complications can include increased risks of spontaneous abortion, premature labor, early rupture of the fetal membranes, and perinatal infant mortality.

As many as 30 to 60 percent of women with gonorrhea are also infected with chlamydia,¹⁰ and therefore gonorrhea and chlamydia should be tested together.

Testing for Chlamydia and Gonorrhea

The U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (2001) and the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) (2006) provide the following guidelines and recommendations for who should be tested for chlamydia and gonorrhea. Their guidelines are slightly different, so I have combined them for optimal recommendations. The following women should be tested for chlamydia:

- Women with mucopurulent cervicitis or PID
- All sexually active or pregnant women 25 years old or younger
- Any woman who is at risk, defined liberally as inconsistent condom use and having a new partner or multiple partners
- Pregnant women at increased risk for chlamydial infection, including women who

are unmarried, are African-American, have a prior history of STI, have new or multiple heterosexual partners, have cervical ectopy (a change in the cervix exposing more columnar cells to potential infection), or show inconsistent use of barrier contraception

Women who are treated for chlamydia should be rescreened three to four months after treatment.

The optimum frequency of how often to screen for chlamydia is uncertain. For women who have previously tested negative during a screening test, rescreening should occur if there is a change in sexual partners. Once older than 25, or for women who are in a mutually monogamous relationship and have a history of negative screening tests for chlamydia infection, screening can be much less frequent and based on clinical judgment. Women who have a history of being previously infected need to be rescreened every 6 to 12 months due to high rates of reinfection. As stated earlier, women with positive infections should be treated and retested after treatment.

According to the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (2005), the following women should be tested for gonorrhea:

- All sexually active women age 25 or younger
- All women, especially pregnant women, who are at higher risk, including women who are unmarried, are African-American, have a prior history of STI, have new or multiple heterosexual partners, are sex workers, use drugs, have cervical ectopy (a change in the cervix exposing more columnar cells to potential infection), or show inconsistent use of barrier contraception
- All pregnant women who are 25 years old or younger or are at risk (screen at the first prenatal visit)
- Women who live in communities with a higher prevalence of gonorrhea

Using cultures to test for *C. trachomatis* and *N. gonorrhoeae* has historically been the gold

KEY CONCEPTS

- All heterosexually active women age 25 or younger should be screened annually for gonorrhea and chlamydia.
- Any sexual contact with a person with gonorrhea or chlamydia warrants a visit to the doctor for a physical exam and tests.
- Antibiotic treatment of chlamydia and gonorrhea should be considered the primary treatment, with alternative treatments used as complements.
- Complications of gonorrhea and chlamydia can be serious and even life threatening, and a pregnant woman can pass the infection to her baby.
- Symptoms of chlamydia and gonorrhea include cervical discharge, difficult or painful urination, bleeding between periods or after intercourse, pain in the pelvic area during sex, a swollen cervix and/or bleeding from the cervix, and acute or chronic pelvic pain. However, many women have no symptoms at all.
- Appropriate management of an STI includes seeing a health-care practitioner who can identify the disease and treat the woman and her current sexual partner.

standard and the reference against which all other tests have been compared. However, these culture methods are more difficult and expensive, so new testing methods have been sought. The first nonculture screening tests that were developed included enzyme immunoassays (EIAs), which detect specific chlamydial or gonococcal antigens, and direct immunofluorescent antibody (DFA) tests for C. trachomatis. Nucleic acid hybridization tests followed, which detect C. trachomatis-specific or N. gonorrhoeae-specific deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) or ribonucleic acid (RNA) sequences. The main disadvantage of these tests, especially for C. trachomatis, is that they aren't able to detect a fair number of the infections. This has led to a new generation of tests, called nucleic acid amplification tests

PREVENTION

- Know the sexual disease history of your potential sexual partner.
- The best protection against acquiring a sexually transmitted disease is for the male partner to use latex condoms.
- All heterosexual women who engage in unprotected sex with one or more men are at risk for STIs. Women with frequent partners or multiple partners have more STIs.
- Oral contraceptive use may predispose women to chlamydial infection.¹¹
- Patients diagnosed with one STI should be screened for other common STIs.
- IV drug users should avoid sharing needles.
- Health-care workers should be focused and careful and practice universal precautions in their workplace.

(NAATs), that are significantly more sensitive than previous nonculture tests in detecting DNA or RNA sequences. The Gen-Probe PACE 2 and the Digene Hybrid Capture II can detect for both organisms in a single specimen. Rapid in-office tests may be used by some clinics to test for chlamydia; liquid-based Pap smears and urine tests can also be used to detect chlamydia.

Hepatitis **B**

Hepatitis B (HBV) is a virus that infects more than 300,000 Americans annually. It is estimated that 1.5 million people in the United States are carriers of the disease but experience no symptoms at all. Sexual contact, especially anal sex, is the leading method of transmitting HBV. Other methods of transmission include the sharing of needles among drug users, exposure to infected body tissues or fluids through an open cut or sore, and infected mothers who pass the virus on to their babies. The most common early symptoms are flulike. Symptoms that arise later include jaundice (yellowing of the skin and whites of the eyes), abdominal pain, and dark and foamy urine. With treatment, most people begin to feel better within two to three weeks and recover within four to eight weeks. A very small percentage of people who are chronic carriers of HBV will develop potentially severe and fatal liver diseases such as active hepatitis, cirrhosis, or cancer. Blood tests are used to diagnose both the active form of HBV and the carrier state. Pregnant women can be screened for the virus during their prenatal care.

OVERVIEW OF Alternative medicine

Due to potential infertility from the scarring of acute PID as well as some of the other complications of chlamydial infection and gonorrhea, my advice is to consider alternative medicine as an adjunct to conventional antibiotics rather than a primary treatment. Using alternative therapies to support the immune system, to assist in managing pain and discomfort, and to counteract some of the side effects of the antibiotics are the main priorities. Drinking plenty of water, getting enough rest, eating simple light foods, and avoiding stimulants are basic guidelines during any acute infection, including pelvic infections.

General immune support to complement conventional antibiotic treatment is just good plain common sense. Nutritional and botanical support can stimulate the white blood cells that engulf and destroy bacteria and enhance the function of T cells, B cells, and natural killer cells that modulate the immune system in reaction to bacteria and viruses. Such supplements as vitamin A, vitamin C, the carotenes, vitamin E, zinc, and the B vitamins play an important role in immune enhancement. Increasing antibody response, stimulating helper T cells, enhancing white blood cell response and function, and directly killing the virus or bacteria are just some of the ways in which these supplements can be helpful during an acute infection of any kind.

Many herbs have also been shown to have antibacterial, antiviral, and immunostimulating effects. The most commonly used herb for immune support is echinacea. Echinacea can increase the production of T cells, stimulate phagocytosis of bacteria, stimulate natural killer cell activity, and multiply the number of white blood cells that circulate in order to deal with the infection.¹² Many herbs have also been shown to have antimicrobial and immunostimulating effects. Allicin extracts from garlic may hold the most promise for inhibiting bacterial infections. Goldenseal and Oregon grape root also have the ability to inhibit the overgrowth of numerous organisms, although this does not include bacterial vaginosis or chlamydia. Curcumin is one of the best herbs to reduce inflammation. The end result is a strengthened immune system.

The best complement to counteract the side effects of antibiotic use is to add or increase the intake of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* to support intestinal health and to help prevent a vaginal yeast infection. This can often be accomplished by eating yogurt containing *Lactobacillus acidophilus* daily or by taking oral capsules of *Lactobacillus acidophilus*. Four to eight ounces of unsweetened acidophilus yogurt or at least three capsules of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* daily for two weeks should prevent the overgrowth of vaginal yeast that often occurs when taking antibiotics. In addition, *Lactobacillus* has been shown to inhibit both gonorrhea and chlamydia and to be inversely related to PID.^{13–16}

Ice packs over the pelvic region can reduce inflammation and pain in cases of acute PID. Cold or ice packs placed over the region of the uterus while putting the feet in a tub of hot water can further assist in reducing the inflammation, congestion, and pain in the pelvic area. Alternating hot and cold sitz baths can also be used to improve circulation in the pelvic area and improve the healing time from the infection. This is done by sitting in a bath of hot water, with the water level just above the waist, for three minutes, followed by sitting in a small second portable metal or plastic tub of ice cold water for one minute. This procedure is repeated three times in succession, once or twice daily throughout the course of the pain and infection.

Nutrition

The nutritional goals during an active STI are to eat health-promoting and immune supportive foods. Generally, this refers to a diet that is high in fiber, plant-based foods, essential fatty acids, and antioxidant nutrients and low in saturated fat and refined sugar.

The best dietary sources of antioxidants, and especially the carotenes, are green leafy vegetables and yellow-orange fruits and vegetables such as carrots, apricots, peaches, mangoes, yams, and squash. Beans, whole grains, and many seeds are also good sources of carotenes.

Eliminating refined sugar and simple sugars (corn syrup, honey, fructose, maple syrup, white grape juice concentrate, and others) will help to assure optimal immune function. Eliminating saturated fats such as red meat, butter, cheese, and ice cream, even in the short run, will enable the body to utilize essential fatty acids such as the fats from olive oil, canola oil, and ocean fish. These essential fatty acids are important in the promotion of the anti-inflammatory prostaglandins PgE1 and PgE3; reducing inflammation is a primary goal in healing a sexually transmitted infection.

Keeping the digestion in order with regular bowel habits and free of constipation can be accomplished with a high-fiber diet rich in whole grains, fruits, vegetables, and beans. This will not only minimize digestive side effects if antibiotics are used in the STI treatment, but will also maximize the elimination of metabolic toxins that are increased during the infection.

Some naturopathic physicians advocate a very light diet or even fasting during an active acute infection. The rationale is to minimize the burden on the body so that all of its resources can be utilized for an immune response to fight the infection. Fasting is also presumably a more efficient way of eliminating the metabolic toxins. If you're not used to fasting, I would not suggest trying this approach for any longer than three days on your own. Drink plenty of water as well. Better yet, you may want to seek advice from a knowledgeable practitioner about this approach.

If you are taking antibiotics, be sure to eat eight ounces of unsweetened lactobacillus yogurt daily to help maintain intestinal health and to help prevent the possibility of a yeast vaginitis infection caused by the antibiotics.

Botanicals

An Indian study of *Azadirachta indica* (neem seed oil), *Sapindus mukerossi* (reetha saponin extract), and quinine included 58 women who presented to a gynecology clinic in India with an

Sample Treatment Plan for Chlamydia and Gonorrhea

This plan should be used as a complement to antibiotics.

- Vitamin A: 50,000 IU per day for up to 1 week and 25,000 IU for 1 additional week (Do not exceed 6,000 IU if pregnant.)
- Vitamin C: 500 mg every 2 hours for 2 days followed by 1,000 mg 3 times daily for 2 weeks
- Carotenoids: 50,000 IU per day for 2 weeks
- Zinc: 30 mg per day for 2 weeks
- Echinacea: 2 capsules every 2 hours for 2 days followed by 2 capsules 3 times daily for 2 weeks; or ¹/₄ tsp tincture every 2 hours for 2 days followed by ¹/₂ tsp 3 times daily for 2 weeks
- Lactobacillus: 4–8 oz Lactobacillus acidophilus yogurt daily for 2 weeks or 24 billion or more Lactobacillus acidophilus organisms daily for 2 weeks
- High-dose allicin extract: 2 capsules 4 times daily for the first 3 to 6 days, then 2 capsules twice daily for 1 week, and then 2 capsules daily until infection is gone
- Ice packs over the uterus with a hot footbath or hot water bottle to the feet; repeat twice daily as needed

abnormal discharge. They were tested and were found to have chlamydia, candidiases, trichomoniasis, bacterial vaginosis, or mixed infections. The women were randomized to receive either a cream containing neem seed oil, reetha saponin extract, and quinine or a placebo cream. The creams were applied intravaginally at bedtime for 14 days. Ten of the 12 patients with chlamydia who received the treatment cream recovered within two weeks. Ten of the 17 women with bacterial vaginosis who received the treatment cream recovered within two weeks. There was no benefit in women with candidiasis or trichomoniasis. There was no improvement in symptoms or lab test results in any of the women in the placebo group. Although there were not enough women to achieve statistical significance, the cream showed encouraging results and should clearly be investigated further. It would be very appropriate to try this cream in bacterial vaginosis. In chlamydia infection, it could be used as an adjunct treatment along with antibiotics or following the antibiotics to help prevent recurrence.¹⁷

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

Chlamydia is the most common reportable sexually transmitted infection in the United States, with gonorrhea following second. Both of these bacterial illnesses can be present without symptoms, and they are highly transmittable. Both are very preventable with the use of a condom. The current CDC guidelines (2006) recommend that all women under the age of 25 have annual screenings for both chlamydia and gonorrhea, and then anytime a woman has a new partner, screening is recommended. Return visits for a repeat test for cure were recommended in the past, but now they are only done in the cases of pregnant women. Single-dose therapy is highly effective, especially when administered in the provider's office. It is thus recommended that, if possible, providers carry a supply of medications for administration to the patient before she leaves

the office or clinic. The sexual partner should be tested if at all possible, but the partner should also be treated with antibiotics, regardless of testing. Current CDC recommendations are that any partner exposure within 60 days should be evaluated and then treated. It is often the case that partner evaluation does not occur or is not economically feasible, so many providers routinely treat the partner as well. The ability to test for chlamydia and gonorrhea has significantly improved and now can be done using vaginal, cervical, or rectal swabs, as well as urine testing. Some labs can now also test for chlamydia and gonorrhea on the liquid left over from a liquid Pap test. Pregnant women should always be screened for chlamydia and gonorrhea.

The CDC now recommends that all women with positive chlamydia tests have a reevaluation and testing at three months after their therapy to look for reinfection. This differs from the test-ofcure evaluations that have been done extensively in the past and are currently not recommended. Repeating the test in three months to make sure that the patient is not reinfected is important for preservation of future fertility and prevention of tubo-ovarian abscesses. Treating infected patients prevents transmission to sex partners. Also, treating pregnant women often prevents transmission of chlamydia to infants during birth. Treatment of sex partners also helps to prevent reinfection of the initial patient and the infection of other partners. Coinfection with chlamydia and gonorrhea occurs frequently, and patients should be treated for both diseases when one is found unless testing for the other is negative when tested for both.

The standard antibiotic regimen for treatment of chlamydia would include one of the following:

- Azithromycin (1 g orally in a single dose)
- Doxycycline (100 mg orally twice a day for 7 days)

Alternative antibiotic regimens would include one of the following:

- Erythromycin base (500 mg orally 4 times a day for 7 days)
- Erythromycin ethylsuccinate (800 mg orally 4 times a day for 7 days)
- Ofloxacin (300 mg orally twice a day for 7 days)
- Levofloxacin (500 mg orally once daily for 7 days)

Since doxycycline, ofloxacin, and levofloxacin are contraindicated in pregnant women, azithromycin is probably the drug of choice.

The standard antibiotic treatment of uncomplicated gonorrhea infections involves one of the following:

- Ceftizoxime (125 mg intramuscularly in a single dose)
- Cefixime (400 mg orally in a single dose)
- Ciprofloxacin (500 mg orally in a single dose)
- Ofloxacin (400 mg orally in a single dose)
- Levofloxacin (250 mg orally in a single dose)

Quinolone-resistant gonorrhea is on the rise, and quinolones are not recommended for the treatment of gonorrhea in regions where the rate of resistant gonorrhea is high. The main areas in the United States where quinolones use is not recommended are California and Hawaii. Some inner-city areas and other regions also have these warnings, so it is important for the practitioner to be aware of regional resistance patterns. The CDC recommends the following treatment for patients at high risk for quinolone resistance:

- Ceftriaxone (125 mg intramuscularly in a single dose)
- Cefixime (400 mg orally in a single dose)

Other antibiotic regimens for gonorrhea treatment include single-dose injectable cephalosporin regimens such as one of the following:

- Ceftizoxime (500 mg intramuscularly)
- Cefoxitin (2 g IV) administered with probenecid (1 g orally)

• Cefotaxime (500 mg administered once intramuscularly)

None of the injectable cephalosporins offers any advantage over ceftriaxone, which is more commonly stocked in offices and clinics. Azithromycin (2 g orally) is effective against uncomplicated gonorrhea, but it is expensive and causes significant gastrointestinal distress and therefore is not currently recommended for treatment of gonorrhea. The gonorrhea in the United States is not adequately susceptible to penicillins, tetracyclines, and macrolides (erythromycin) for these to be used in treatment.

Again, a person being treated for gonorrhea would also be treated for chlamydia, unless tests have shown that chlamydia is not present.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

If you have unprotected sexual contact with someone who has chlamydia, gonorrhea, or hepatitis B, I strongly urge you to see a licensed practitioner (naturopathic doctor, medical doctor, osteopathic doctor, nurse-practitioner, or physician's assistant) who is trained and qualified to perform a physical exam and take samples for testing and also capable of administering or making available prescription antibiotics and vaccine. This does not necessarily require a gynecologist or other conventional practitioner. Licensed naturopathic physicians are trained to perform and provide these services. State law determines which antibiotics naturopathic physicians may prescribe. If a practitioner cannot prescribe a particular antibiotic, he or she can either refer you to a conventional practitioner or work in cooperation with a conventional practitioner who can make a prescription available to you. Nutritional and herbal supplements can then be used in addition to your conventional treatment.

A naturopathic physician can also provide natural therapies to augment your immune support, prevent side effects from the medications, and help you to recover optimally from the infection. If you have severe liver disease due to hepatitis B, I would strongly consider alternative treatments as the primary treatment, with careful monitoring of liver enzymes and liver biopsy with the help of a specialist. This page intentionally left blank

OVERVIEW

Uterine fibroids (also known as leiomyomas or myomas) occur in 20 to 25 percent of women by age 40,¹ more than 50 percent of women overall. They are the most common solid pelvic tumors in women and the most common indication for major surgery in women, and they account for approximately one-third of hysterectomies each year.² According to some studies, in African-American women the incidence of fibroids is three to nine times higher and the fibroids' rate of growth is increased.^{3, 4}

You would think for a condition as common as this that we would have a good understanding of the cause and cure. Nevertheless, the cause of fibroids remains poorly understood. Uterine fibroids are not actually fibrous but consist of muscle, probably uterine smooth-muscle cells but possibly connective tissue or the smoothmuscle cells of uterine arteries. The growth of fibroids may be stimulated by estrogen. The tendency of fibroids to arise during the reproductive years, grow during pregnancy, and regress postmenopausally does implicate estrogen as one factor in the cause and growth of fibroid tumors. A growth spurt in fibroids is frequently seen in the perimenopausal period and is likely due to anovulatory cycles with a relative estrogen excess that commonly occur during this period. Pregnancy is a condition of elevated estrogen and progesterone, and even though progesterone is an antiestrogen, the increased blood supply during pregnancy leads to an overall stimulating effect on the uterine fibroids.5

There have been reports that concentrations of estrogen receptors in fibroid tissue are higher than in the surrounding uterine muscle tissue (myometrium)⁶ but lower than in the uterine lining (endometrium). Although these findings may help to explain why fibroids are sensitive to estrogen, they have not been consistently substantiated in other studies.^{7, 8} This higher concentration of estrogen receptors may be due to changes in estrogen metabolism within the fibroid itself. Pollow and colleagues⁸ demonstrated a significantly lower conversion of estradiol into estrone in fibroids than in the myometrium, suggesting that local, concentrated estradiol increases within the fibroid may play a role in the cause and growth of fibroids.

The prevalence and size of fibroids are greater in women who do not ovulate or who have endometrial hyperplasia or a granulosa cell tumor of the ovary. Even though fibroids do not lead to cancer and are not a cause of uterine cancer, they are associated with a fourfold increase in the risk of endometrial carcinoma. This is probably because too much estrogen without any or enough progesterone (called unopposed estrogen) is a contributing factor in both conditions.

Fibroids come in all sizes and shapes and usually occur as multiple tumors, although each fibroid is discrete. Most discernible fibroids are between the size of a walnut and the size of an orange, but unusual tumors have been reported up to 100 pounds. Fibroids are classified according to their location. They are either submucosal (just under the endometrium), intramural (within the uterine muscle wall), or subserosal (from the outer wall of the uterus). They can also be intraligamentous (in the cervix between the two layers of the broad ligament), pedunculated and dangling from a stalk into the uterine cavity (pedunculated submucous), or pedunculated on the outside of the uterine wall (pedunculated subserous). The pedunculated submucous fibroids

can on occasion protrude through the cervix into the vagina. Other pedunculated fibroids on a long stalk outside the uterus can be mistaken for an ovarian mass or attach to the bowel.

The majority of fibroids (an estimated 50 to 80 percent)9 don't cause any symptoms, but when symptoms do occur they often begin as a vague feeling of discomfort and may include a feeling of pressure, congestion, bloating, heaviness, pain with vaginal sex, urinary frequency, backache, abdominal enlargement, and abnormal bleeding. Abnormal bleeding occurs in only 30 percent of women with fibroids. Heavy bleeding (menorrhagia) results when intramural tumors enlarge the endometrial cavity and increase the surface area of endometrium and blood supply to the uterus. Intermenstrual bleeding (metrorrhagia) results when submucous fibroids ulcerate through the endometrial lining or cause congestion of the surrounding blood vessels.

Fibroids can undergo degenerative changes. One type of degenerative change is when the continued growth of the fibroid outgrows the blood supply. A more common type of degenerative change is when there is a loss of cellular detail (hyaline degeneration) as a result of a decrease in the vascularity of the tumor. Necrosis (cell death) results in cystic degeneration, which lends itself to a softer than usual consistency and can be confused with an ovarian mass on exam or pelvic ultrasound. Calcification can occur over time and is usually seen in postmenopausal women.

The historical perspective has been that fibroids are not usually associated with pain except when degeneration occurs or when the uterus contracts in its efforts to expel a submucous fibroid. Feelings of pressure pains may develop if the uterus becomes excessively enlarged with fibroids, or if a single fibroid is larger than 5 cm at its greatest diameter.¹⁰ However, if we look a little harder at some of the research, clinic-based studies suggest that gynecologic pain is often related to the presence of fibroids.^{11–15} Fibroids are commonly found in women with chronic pelvic pain, although they may not be the cause or the only cause of the pain. $^{16,\ 17}$

There may also be racial differences when it comes to pelvic pain and uterine fibroids. One study reported that 41 percent of white and 59 percent of black hysterectomy patients with a presurgical diagnosis of fibroids reported severe pelvic pain.¹⁸ Another study reported a series of studies in which pelvic pain and/or menstrual pain was experienced in 34 percent of patients with fibroids.19 In a recent study, the first populationbased study of gynecologic pain symptoms and fibroids, dyspareunia (pain with vaginal sexual activity) and noncyclic pelvic pain, but not dysmenorrhea (menstrual pain), increased in severity with the presence of uterine fibroids.²⁰ Pregnant women with fibroids also have reported pelvic pain more frequently, and it seems that the pelvic pain is related to the size of the fibroid(s) and their location.21,22

So you might now be confused: do fibroids cause pelvic pain or not? The majority of the time, uterine fibroids do not cause pelvic pain; however, if you have chronic pelvic pain, fibroids may in fact be a cause of that chronic pelvic pain, especially if they can be palpated on the pelvic exam. Some of the urinary complications that occur in 5 percent of fibroids are cause for concern because they may be due to compression of the ureter (outflow tract from kidney to bladder) that can cause enlargement of the kidneys and compromise of kidney function.

Fibroids are thought to be the cause of 2 to 10 percent of cases of infertility. There are several possible reasons for this. The tumors may interfere with implantation of the fertilized ovum, they may cause compression on the fallopian tubes and interfere with motility of sperm or egg, or they may cause early miscarriage. They may also cause periodic anovulation or abnormal uterine blood flow and may obstruct sperm. Large fibroids may affect pregnancy by interfering with the fetus growth, leading to potential intrauterine growth retardation, premature rupture of membranes, retained

KEY CONCEPTS

- Uterine fibroids are benign and common.
- We do not know what causes fibroids.
- Fibroids are estrogen dependent (some may even be progesterone dependent).
- The majority of the time there are no symptoms, but when there is pelvic pain, abnormal bleeding, or infertility, uterine fibroids must be considered.
- Abnormal bleeding may be caused by uterine fibroids.
- Abnormal bleeding warrants a visit to your health-care practitioner.
- There are several kinds of fibroids based on location.
- An enlarged uterus or abnormal finding on a pelvic exam may require further testing to determine the diagnosis.
- Less than 1 percent of fibroids are malignant, but rapidly growing fibroids warrant further exploration.

placenta, postpartum hemorrhage, abnormal labor, or an abnormal lie of the fetus. Not all practicing obstetricians would agree with these reports, and their main observations with pregnant women and large fibroids are an abnormal lie or postpartum hemorrhage. The incidence of miscarriage due to fibroids is unknown but estimated to be two to three times greater than normal.

If a fibroid uterus is present, it can often be felt during a pelvic examination. It usually feels firm but can vary from soft to rock-hard. The uterus can be irregularly shaped or irregularly enlarged and often feels like it has protrusions. Most of the time it is not painful during the exam. Many times women don't realize they have a fibroid until the practitioner finds it. This is not cause for alarm. Fibroids are benign growths most of the time. The worrisome fibroid is a rapidly growing one; the rare malignant uterine sarcoma may have to be considered in these cases.

After the pelvic exam, a pelvic ultrasound is the most useful tool in diagnosing a fibroid. This

PREVENTION

- Ensure regular ovulation.
- Avoid situations that promote lack of ovulation, such as stress.
- Avoid estrogen-only medications.
- Dietary phytoestrogens (soy, flax, red clover) do not appear to stimulate the growth of fibroids.
- Practice good nutritional habits with a diet that is higher in complex carbohydrates, higher in fruits and vegetables, and low in saturated fats, alcohol, sugar, or other foods that interfere with the liver's role in metabolizing hormones.
- Maintain a healthy weight. Obesity can lead to higher estrogen effects on the uterus.

imaging test is able to identify fibroids and delineate the size and to some degree the location, as well as identify that the ovaries are normal in size. The ultrasound detects the contours of the uterus, the fibroids (called hypechoic masses), compression of the ureters, any potential enlargement of the kidneys caused by the compression, and, of course, the presence of an enlarged uterus. It is difficult for the ultrasound to detect fibroids smaller than 2 cm. A magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) test is more accurate in assessing the number, size, and location of fibroids, but it does not provide significant enough additional information to be worth the cost. A hysteroscopy can detect submucous tumors. An x-ray can diagnose calcified fibroids.

The main diagnostic consideration is differentiating a possible fibroid from the following conditions: ovarian malignant tumor, an abscess in the fallopian tube/ovarian region, a diverticulum from the colon, a pelvic kidney (rare), endometriosis, adenomyosis (endometriosis within the muscle wall of the uterus), congenital anomalies, adhesions in the pelvis, or a rare retroperitoneal tumor. Not all of these considerations can be distinguished from the medical history, physical exam, and pelvic ultrasound. Surgery may be required to distinguish one condition from the other. Laparoscopy is the definitive method of excluding these other diagnoses from fibroids, even though laparoscopy is not typically done to diagnose fibroids. Only when there is great concern or lack of clarity about the diagnosis will the procedure be warranted.

OVERVIEW OF Alternative medicine

Over the more than 23 years I have been in clinical practice, not many health problems have eluded successful treatment as consistently as uterine fibroids. Women who are seeking an alternative to drug or surgical treatment for uterine fibroids will not find an easy, reliable alternative to shrink the tumors with natural medicine. Using the protocols in this book, we are usually able to successfully resolve or improve most symptoms that relate to the fibroids such as abnormal bleeding, pelvic pain or pressure, and backache. In addition, there are natural therapies that may be able to slow the growth of the fibroids to avoid further problems.

When it comes to shrinking fibroids, especially the large ones, natural therapies can only significantly shrink a small minority of cases. There are individual cases that report reduction in size on pelvic ultrasound, disappearance of symptoms, and even total disappearance of any evidence of fibroids. I myself can report cases where fibroid growth and the size of the uterus have been significantly reduced. The problem is that the results are very inconsistent. Often the cases that have shown the most dramatic improvements are the women who are nearing menopause or postmenopausal whose fibroids shrink because of the natural decrease in their estrogen levels.

It may be possible to reduce uterine fibroids through alternative means and avoid a surgery or drug treatment that your gynecologist has recommended, but, more likely than not, large fibroids that are causing symptoms that have not been successfully dealt with will indeed require some kind of conventional intervention. My main goals with women who have large fibroids are to (1) deal with problem symptoms, (2) try to stabilize the situation and hold out until menopause, and (3) recognize the clinical situations when conventional treatment intervention is appropriate and reasonable.

One aspect of being a naturopathic physician is to more fully educate patients about their health and health problems so that they can make informed decisions about their health care. With uterine fibroids. I have often been in the position of discussing surgical options or procedures that not all gynecologists discussed with their patients. Educating the woman who is faced with a possible hysterectomy and finding a surgeon or gynecologist who is skilled in these alternatives may be the most important service an alternative provider can offer. There are many new conventional therapies that can be alternatives to a hysterectomy in many cases. These new therapies include hysteroscopic resection, embolization, and laparoscopic surgery. However, not all cases of fibroids may be successfully treated with these methods.

Nutrition

Even though diet changes alone are unlikely to shrink fibroids, good dietary habits are still important. Clinical observation has taught me that all natural therapies work best in the context of a healthy lifestyle. Improving one's diet may help in small ways, to decrease heavy bleeding or the pain and discomfort caused by the fibroids. Besides these potential benefits, dietary improvements will improve your general well-being.

Also, women with uterine fibroids may be at higher risk for endometrial cancer due to the higher estrogen levels. A diet high in saturated fats is associated with higher blood levels of estrogen, potentially exacerbating the problem. Lowfiber diets are associated with elevated estrogen levels and poor excretion of estrogen. Poor nutritional habits can also lead to dysfunctional estrogen metabolism and inhibit the body's ability to break down and excrete excess estrogen.

The tradition of naturopathic medicine holds that the health and vitality of an individual depends on the health of the liver and the whole digestive system. The liver's basic functions are vascular, secretory, and metabolic. As a vascular organ, the liver is a major reservoir of blood and filters over one quart of blood per minute. The liver removes bacteria, endotoxins, antigenantibody complexes, and other particles from the circulatory system. The liver's secretory functions are the synthesis and secretion of bile. The liver manufactures about one quart of bile daily. Bile is required for the absorption of fat-soluble substances, including some vitamins. The majority of the bile secreted from the liver into the intestines is reabsorbed. The metabolic functions of the liver are involved in carbohydrate, fat, and protein metabolism; the storage of vitamins and minerals; the formation of numerous biochemical factors; and the detoxification or excretion into the bile of hormones such as estrogen as well as histamines, drugs, and pesticides.

The liver not only has to process the foods that we eat every day but also detoxifies harmful substances, both those we produce from normal metabolism and those we are exposed to in our environment. In addition, it metabolizes and deactivates hormones. The liver metabolizes estrogen so it can be eliminated from the body by converting it to estrone and finally to estriol, a weaker form of estrogen that has very little ability to stimulate the uterus. If the liver cannot effectively metabolize estradiol, the uterus may become overestrogenized and respond with fibroid growths.

Saturated fats, sugar, caffeine, alcohol, and junk foods are unhealthy and problematic for two reasons: (1) they interfere with the body's ability to metabolize estradiol to estrone to estriol, and (2) some of these foods are deficient in B vitamins or interfere with B-vitamin metabolism. If B vitamins are lacking in the diet, the liver is missing some of the raw materials it needs to carry out its metabolic processes and regulate estrogen levels. A recent animal study suggests that lycopene supplementation (high in yellow/orange fruits and vegetables and especially high in tomatoes, tomato sauce, and tomato juice) may decrease the incidence and size of leiomyomas.²³ Another study extolled the benefits of a vegetarian diet by finding that women who suffered from fibroids were more likely to have high consumption of red meat and ham and have low consumption of fruits and green vegetables.²⁴

Whole grains such as brown rice, oats, buckwheat, millet, and rye are excellent sources of B vitamins. Whole grains also help the body to excrete estrogens through the bowel. The role of whole-grain fiber in lowering estrogen levels was first reported in 1982.²⁵ This study found that vegetarian women who eat a high-fiber, low-fat diet have lower blood estrogen levels than omnivorous women with low-fiber diets. Once again, we can see why a high-fiber diet might prevent and perhaps reduce uterine fibroids through the estrogen connection.

A high-fiber diet may also help relieve some of the bloating and congestion associated with fibroids. By bulking up the stool and regulating bowel movements, some of these symptoms may improve. Some women have a hard time tolerating increased fiber in their diet because of compromised digestive function. In these cases, it may be necessary to increase fiber slowly and include digestive support such as enzymes or acidophilus.

Because there is an association between having uterine fibroids and a fourfold increase in the risk of endometrial cancer,¹ three dietary recommendations stand out above all else: increase fiber, decrease dietary fat, and increase soy products and other legumes. Researchers at the Cancer Research Center at the University of Hawaii published a case-controlled, multiethnic (Japanese, Caucasian, Native Hawaiian, Filipino, and Chinese) population study to examine the role of dietary soy, fiber, and related foods and nutrients on the risk of endometrial cancer.²⁶ The diets of 300 women with endometrial cancer were compared with women in the general multiethnic population. The researchers found that high fat intake was positively associated with endometrial cancer, whereas a diet rich in fiber, soy, and other legumes reduced the risk of endometrial cancer. The study concluded that plant-based diets low in calories from fat, high in fiber, and rich in legumes (especially soybeans), whole-grain foods, vegetables, and fruits reduce the risk of endometrial cancer.

While I can't say that lowering fat and increasing soy and fiber intake will definitely prevent or treat fibroids, these nutritional habits do lower the risk of endometrial cancer. Since uterine fibroids are associated with an increase in the risk of endometrial cancer, it logically follows that these diet recommendations could help with fibroids.

Some people have raised the concern that women with uterine fibroids should avoid soy foods for their high content of phytoestrogens (specifically isoflavones) because phytoestrogens may have a weak estrogenic effect. The answer appears to be that this is not necessary. Soy phytoestrogens do not have an estrogenic effect on the uterus, at least in the usual doses. This was most recently confirmed in a Chinese study.27 This population-based, case-controlled study obtained detailed information from a foodfrequency questionnaire on soy food intake over five years. The participants were 832 women, ages 30 to 69, who were diagnosed with endometrial cancer from 1997 to 2001. This group was compared with 846 control-matched women selected from the Shanghai Residential Registry, who had an average intake of 42.5 mg of soybased isoflavones per day.

This study demonstrated that regular consumption of soy foods, as either soy protein or soy isoflavones, was inversely associated with the risk of endometrial cancer. Moreover, this study indicated that isoflavones are selectively estrogenic and antiestrogenic; they have an estrogenic effect on some tissues and organs and an antiestrogenic effect on others. Soy foods may be analogous to a class of drugs called selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs). In the uterus, soy isoflavones appear to have an antiestrogenic effect, with the possible exception of when they are used in high doses daily for a longer term.

Long-term high-dose use of soy may be different than the usual average typical daily consumption of soy. In one study, one group of postmenopausal women were given soy tablets containing 150 mg of soy isoflavones per day for five years.28 The second group received an identical placebo tablet for five years. Results of endometrial biopsies were obtained at baseline, 30 months, and five years after the beginning of the treatment. At the five-year endpoint, 70 percent of the women on the 150 mg of soy isoflavones had atrophic tissue versus 81 percent who received the placebo. After five years, the incidence of endometrial hyperplasia was significantly higher in the isoflavone-treated group, 3.37 percent versus 0 percent. There were five cases of simple hyperplasia and one of complex hyperplasia. No cases of atypical hyperplasia or endometrial cancer occurred during the five years. This is the first study that raises concerns about long-term, high-dose isoflavone supplementation and its effects on the endometrium. It would typically take three to five servings of soy foods per day to achieve 150 mg. One serving per day of soy foods is only 25 to 60 mg per day, depending on the soy food item.

Isoflavones appear to be able to act as a partial agonist, binding to the estrogen receptor. Because the action of isoflavones is weaker than that of endogenous estrogens at low doses and for short durations, these phytoestrogens seem to be antagonistic. They are able to counteract the effects of endogenous estrogens. When treatment is prolonged and at a higher dose, the agonist effects are more evident and the isoflavones have an estrogenic effect. It is important to note that at 30 months there was no difference between the isoflavone-treated group and the placebo group. It was only after five years that the dose of 150 mg per day produced an estrogenic effect in a small number of women.

The subject of phytoestrogens is discussed in more detail later in this chapter and in Chapter 12 in the discussion of menopause.

Nutritional Supplements

As mentioned earlier, many of the symptoms of enlarged fibroids can be effectively treated using natural therapies. For abnormal bleeding and pelvic pain, refer to Chapters 1 and 13. In this section, I will largely be discussing the traditional naturopathic methods of trying to reduce the size of uterine fibroids or to inhibit their growth. These recommendations are based more on tradition, theory, logic, and clinical experience than on scientific evidence.

Lipotropic Factors. Supplements such as inositol and choline exert a lipotropic effect, meaning they promote the removal of fat from the liver. Lipotropic supplements are usually a combination vitamin and herbal formulation and sometimes an animal liver extract designed to support the liver's function in removing fat, detoxifying the body's wastes, detoxifying external harmful substances (pesticides, fossil fuels, etc.), and metabolizing and excreting estrogens. These lipotropic products vary in their formulations depending on the manufacturer, but they are all similar and have the same uses in mind. Because the liver is the most important organ of metabolism, naturopathic physicians believe that when the liver function improves, metabolism improves, making this treatment fundamental to the treatment of many chronic diseases.

Lipotropic Factors

1-4 tablets per day with meals

Pancreatic Enzymes. There are three categories of pancreatic enzymes:

- **Lipases:** enzymes that help digest fats along with bile. A deficiency of lipase results in malabsorption of fats and fat-soluble vitamins.
- **Amylases:** enzymes that break down starch molecules into smaller sugars.
- **Proteases:** trypsin, chymotrypsin, and carboxypeptidase break down protein molecules into single amino acids.

Supplementation with pancreatic enzymes is usually done to treat pancreatic insufficiency. Pancreative insufficiency manifests itself in symptoms of abdominal bloating, gas, indigestion, undigested food in the stool, malabsorption, and nutrient deficiencies. Other clinical uses of pancreatic enzymes are for treatment of cystic fibrosis, rheumatoid arthritis, athletic injuries, and—one of the most controversial uses—the treatment of cancer.

The logic for the treatment of uterine fibroids is similar to the logic for the treatment of cancer. Enzyme preparations have been used at the Contreras Clinic in Mexico and by Drs. William Kelley and Nicholas Gonzalez as part of a cancer treatment protocol. There is little evidence in the scientific literature to support their use, but the logic is that the pancreatic enzymes will digest the protein cell membrane surrounding the malignant cells. By doing so, the immune cells will then be able to enter the cancer cells and alter the abnormal cell division of the cancer cells. In the case of uterine fibroids, the belief is that the pancreatic enzymes will help to digest the fibrous/smooth muscle tissue and dissolve the fibroids. When used for this purpose, the pancreatic enzyme supplement must be taken between meals rather than with meals.

Pancreatic Enzymes

2-4 capsules 3 times per day between meals

Botanical Medicines

Traditional Herbs. Many plants have been used in traditional herbal medicines designed to treat women with uterine fibroids. The plants and herbal formulations talked about here are used to try to shrink uterine fibroids; herbs used to deal with abnormal bleeding and uterine cramping are discussed in Chapters 1 and 13.

Scutellaria barbata, commonly used in traditional Chinese medicine for its purported antitumor properties, was shown to inhibit the proliferation of uterine smooth muscle cells and act as an aromatase inhibitor contributing to

Scalzo's Protocol

Scudder's Alterative

Corydalis tubers (*Dicentra canadensis*) Black alder bark (*Alnus serrulata*) Mayapple root (*Podophyllum peltatum*) Figwort flowering herb (*Scrophularia nodosa*) Yellow dock root (*Rumex crispus*)

Add 30–40 drops to a small amount of warm water and take 3 times daily.

Echinacea/Red Root Compound

Echinacea (*Echinacea* spp) Red root (*Ceanothus americanus*) Baptisia root (*Baptisia tinctoria*) Thuja leaf (*Thuja occidentalis*) Stillingia root (*Stillingia sylvatica*) Blue flag root (*Iris versicolor*) Prickly ash bark (*Xanthoxylum clava-herculus*)

Add 30 drops to a small amount of warm water and take 3 times daily.

Fraxinus/Ceonothus Compound

Mountain ash bark (*Fraxinus americanus*) Red root (*Ceanothus americanus*) Life root (*Senecio aureus*) Mayapple root (*Podophyllum peltatum*) Helonias root (*Chamaelirium luteum*) decreased fibroid growth in vitro.^{29–31} Other botanicals used in traditional Chinese medicine that show some promise in treating fibroids in vivo include poria and cinnamon.³²

Traditional herbalists have developed various botanical uterine fibroid protocols and report modest success in reducing the size and number of uterine fibroids. I have used many herbs and herbal formulations over the years in an attempt to shrink fibroids, and I present the protocol below from one of the traditional herbalists, Rick Scalzo, as an option for your consideration. (See the Resources for a listing of herbal companies.)

Goldenseal root (*Hydrastis canadensis*) Lobelia (*Lobelia inflata*) Ginger root (*Zingiber officinale*)

Add 30 drops to a small amount of warm water and take 3 times daily.

Turska Formula

Gelsemium root (*Gelsemium sempervirens*) Poke root (*Phytolacca americana*) Aconite (*Aconitum napellus*) Bryonia root (*Bryonia dioica*)

Add 5 drops to a small amount of warm water and take 3 times daily.

Other Herbal Extracts to Consider

Chaste tree (Vitex agnus castus) Nettle (Urtica dioica) Burdock root (Arctium lappa) Dandelion root (Taraxacum officinale) Oregon grape (Berberis aquifolium)

Topical Preparations

Poke root oil: rub onto the belly over the uterus nightly before bed.

Castor oil packs: apply over pelvis 3–5 times per week. (See Appendix D for instructions.)

Herbal Phytoestrogens. There are three types of naturally occurring estrogen-like substances called phytoestrogens found in plants: resorcylic acid lactones, steroids and sterols, and phenolics. Phytoestrogens are present in virtually every plant in at least modest levels, with some plants having particularly high levels. Resorcylic acid lactones are not true phytoestrogens but are mycotoxins produced by soil-dwelling molds. Their presence in plants is the result of contamination with molds. Steroids are the classic steroidal estrogens (estradiol and estrone) and are found in very minute amounts in a few plants such as apple seed, date palm, and pomegranate seed in the range of one to ten parts per billion.^{26, 33, 34} Diosgenin is a steroid derivative and is found in at least 20 plants, including wild yam species. Beta-sitosterol is the most common phytosterol and is distributed widely through the plant kingdom. It is found in plant oils such as wheat germ oil, cottonseed oil, and soybean oil. Beta-sitosterol is the dominant phytosterol found in garlic and onions. Herbal sources include licorice root, saw palmetto, and red clover. Stigmasterol is closely related to betasitosterol. Soybean oil is an important source of stigmasterol and is a better source for laboratory synthesis of progesterone than is beta-sitosterol. Some herbal sources include burdock, fennel, licorice, alfalfa, anise, and sage.

The phenolic phytoestrogens are members of the flavonoids, the largest single family of plant substances, which has over 4,000 individual members. The term *flavonoid* derives from the Latin *flavus* meaning "yellow" because the flavonoids are responsible for the yellow, red, white, and blue pigments in plants. Phenolics include isoflavones, which are higher in legumes and especially soybeans than any other plants; coumestans, with one known estrogenic member (coumestrol) that is approximately six times more estrogenic than the isoflavones;^{35, 36} and lignans, high in grains and cereals and highest in flaxseed.

There has been some concern and controversy about how phytoestrogens affect the uterus; if they have an estrogenic effect, they should be avoided by women with uterine fibroids or endometrial cancer. We talked earlier about soybeans and how they are actually associated with a reduced incidence of uterine cancer.²⁶ I do not believe that eating a high soy diet is something to be concerned about; in fact I recommend increasing the soy foods in the diet in order to reduce the estrogen burden in the body.

Most of the research on the effects of phytoestrogens on the uterus is found in relationship to the agricultural industry and the health of grazing animals. In the 1940s, it was reported that the red clover sheep grazed on in Australia was responsible for their infertility.³⁷ A Finnish study of pasture legumes determined that red clover contained the highest concentrations of phytoestrogens³⁸ and that abundant intake of red clover resulted in fertility problems in cattle.³⁹

In one study on the effects of phytoestrogens in sheep, it was noted that both cournestans and isoflavones produce changes in the typical stimulation with steroidal hormones such as estradiol in all of the target organs.⁴⁰ Among these changes was an increase in uterine weight. Other investigators have examined the binding of phytoestrogens to the uterus and vagina. Coumestrol has temporarily enhanced the uptake of estradiol by the uterus and vagina only one hour after being injected into mice.41 Researchers also noted that cournestrol actually inhibited the uptake of estradiol by the uterus over the long term, and they postulated that there was actually an inhibitory effect at the estradiol receptor sites. Other researchers have noted that coumestans and isoflavones compete with estradiol for uterine receptor sites but have less affinity for them than estradiol.42

Coumestrol has been found to increase uterine weight at a 100 mcg dose when given to rats at a certain time in the development of glands.⁴³ It appears that the weak estrogenic effect of phytoestrogens is variable and can even be weakly antiestrogenic. Variability is based on dose, target tissue, the woman's hormonal environment, and more. Higher does of phytoestrogens have stimulated some concern. However, it is reassuring that in countries with a high intake of phytoestrogens (Japan, Thailand, China), women do not have an increase in uterine fibroids. However, they do have a four- to sixfold lower incidence of breast cancer⁴⁴ (also an estradiol target tissue), although how a substance affects one tissue is not necessarily translated to how it affects another.

Again, though, I must come back to the effects of soy on the endometrium, which may be different than some of the other plants, most notably red clover. Like data on breast cancer, data on women of different cultures support the conclusion that soy phytoestrogens are not an estrogen stimulus for the endometrium. Rather, they probably act as an estrogen antagonist and are associated with low rates of endometrial cancer in countries where soy phytoestrogen intake is high.⁴⁵

Based on these studies, my recommendation to those with uterine fibroids is to eat a diet high in soy products; however, my current cautionary advice would be to avoid the use of red clover.

In cases where conventional treatment with GnRH inhibitors is needed, thus causing a pharmaceutically induced menopause, Ipriflavone (a semisynthetic soy derivative) supplementation has been helpful at preventing side effects such as bone loss and increased LDL.^{46, 47}

Natural (Bio-Identical) Progesterone. Historically, studies have suggested that progesterone may inhibit growth of uterine fibroids. A. Lipschutz demonstrated that progesterone administered to guinea pigs prevented formation of tumors that had been induced by estrogen.⁴⁸ In 1946, A. Goodman reported six cases of clinically diagnosed uterine fibroids that regressed after using progesterone therapy.⁴⁹

Dr. John Lee proposes that because uterine fibroids are a result of estrogen stimulation and what he calls estrogen dominance, progesterone is the solution. He asserts that estrogen dominance is a much greater problem than is recognized by conventional medicine. "Since many women in their mid-thirties begin to have nonovulating cycles, they are producing much less progesterone than expected, but still producing normal (or more) estrogen. They retain water and salt, their breasts swell and become fibrocystic, they gain weight (especially around the hips and torso), they become depressed and lose sex drive, their bones suffer mineral loss, and they develop fibroids. All are signs of estrogen dominance relative to a progesterone deficiency. When sufficient natural progesterone is replaced, fibroid tumors no longer grow in size (they generally decrease in size) and can be kept from growing until menopause, after which they will atrophy. This is the effect of reversing estrogen dominance."50 The preferred form of natural progesterone for treating fibroids (unless heavy bleeding is involved) is a topical cream with at least 400 mg of progesterone per ounce.

Be advised, however, that there is a counter theory about the relationship of progesterone to uterine fibroids. Dr. Mitchell Rein and his colleagues at Brigham and Women's Hospital published a report in 1995 stating that not only is there no evidence that estrogen directly stimulates myoma growth, but that it is actually progesterone and progestins that promote the growth of fibroids.51 The authors cite the biochemical, histologic, and clinical evidence that supports an important role for progesterone and progestins in the growth of uterine myomas. Their comprehensive hypothesis is based on an analysis of many different technical studies, which they conclude suggest that the development and growth of myomas involves a multistep chain of events.

Since both of these schools of thought are theoretical, I encourage all women and their health-care practitioners to educate themselves so as to make the best individual decision. Fibroids are generally not urgent or life threatening, so there is room for experimentation and observation to determine the best course of treatment.
Sample Treatment Plan for Uterine Fibroids

Diet

- Eat a high-fiber, low-fat diet.
- Eat a diet high in whole grains (brown rice, oats, buckwheat, millet, rye, whole wheat).
- Eat a diet high in fruits and vegetables.
- Eat a diet high in flaxseed, particularly ground flaxseed.
- Eat a diet high in legumes, especially soy products, 1 serving per day.
- Avoid saturated fats, sugar, caffeine, alcohol, and junk foods.

Nutritional Supplementation

- Lipotropic factors: 1–2 tablets twice daily with meals
- Pancreatic enzymes: 2–3 capsules 3 times per day between meals

Natural (Bio-Identical) Progesterone Cream

 $\frac{1}{4}$ tsp of a cream containing at least 400 mg/oz 1 to 2 times daily for 1 week after menses; $\frac{1}{4}$ to $\frac{1}{2}$ tsp twice daily for the next 2 weeks. Discontinue for 1 week during menses. Apply the cream to the inner arms, chest, inner thighs, and/or palms.

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

Small fibroids that cause few symptoms require no treatment, only observation of growth, which can be done with annual pelvic exams. If the patient notices new symptoms, or the physician thinks there is a change in the fibroid, ultrasound can follow and assess the location and size of fibroids. Because there is some concern about estrogen's role in promoting the growth of fibroids, use of oral contraceptives in premenopausal women and hormone therapy in postmenopausal women should be prescribed with care, close follow-up, and the lowest doses possible.

Botanicals

See the Resources section for sources.

- Scudder's Alterative: 30 drops 3 times per day
- Echinacea/Red Root Compound: 30 drops 3 times per day
- Fraxinus/Ceonothus Compound: 30 drops 3 times per day
- Gelsemium/Phytolacca Compound (Turska Formula): 5 drops 3 times per day

See Chapter 1 for abnormal bleeding problems. See Chapter 13 for pelvic and menstrual pains.

In cases of fibroids where heavy bleeding exists, progestogens or estrogen is used to manage the bleeding, and any anemia is treated with iron supplements. Treatment of fibroids with progestational agents (norethindrone, megestrol, medroxyprogesterone acetate) has been used, but there is no consensus regarding the routine use of these drugs to shrink fibroids. The progestational agents produce a hypoestrogenic effect by inhibiting gonadotropin secretion and suppressing ovarian function. They may also have a direct antiestrogen effect. Even though estrogen and progestogens may be necessary to control bleeding from fibroids, most practitioners do not consider them useful in shrinking fibroids. When used to control bleeding, there is always a concern about the possible effect on the increase in growth of the fibroid, so fibroids need to be periodically evaluated by physical exam and/or pelvic ultrasound.

Agents such as leuprolide acetate (Lupron) have been used to temporarily control bleeding, correct anemia, and shrink tumors. This allows a large tumor to shrink to a more manageable size.

Lupron can be used to change the need for an abdominal hysterectomy to a vaginal or laparoscopic type, which shortens patient recovery. Lupron suppresses ovarian estrogen secretion, thereby causing temporary and reversible medical menopause. The use of GnRH analogs has successfully reduced uterine and tumor size by 40 to 65 percent. Most reduction occurs within 8 weeks, and maximum reduction occurs within about 12 weeks. After the treatment is discontinued, the uterus and fibroids often return to their original size within three months. On occasion, the use of Lupron may make surgical treatment unnecessary, but usually the solution is temporary and surgery is inevitable.

One of the most significant disadvantages of Lupron is that it is expensive, costing approximately \$600 per month. The other is that it puts the patient into an instant menopausal state with hot flashes and other side effects, which can be controlled with very small add-back doses of either estrogen or a progestogen. The GnRH analogs cannot be used long-term (more than six months) because they can lead to irreversible bone loss and elevated total cholesterol.

The standard surgical treatments for uterine fibroids are a hysterectomy or a myomectomy. Hysterectomy, the removal of the uterus, is the only approach that provides a permanent solution for fibroids. Myomectomies are surgeries that remove the fibroids but leave the uterus. There are two basic approaches: abdominal myomectomies, which are used primarily for the removal of subserous, pedunculated, or intramural fibroids, and a hysteroscopic myomectomy, which is used for removal of submucous myomas.

Hysterectomies can be done with an abdominal incision, a vaginal incision, or by laparoscopy. Except in vaginal hysterectomies, it is possible to leave the cervix, removing the uterine fundus (body) only, which contains the uterine fibroids. There is really no reason to remove either ovaries or cervix to treat the symptoms of fibroids. By leaving the cervix, the normal length and sensations of the vagina are maintained. With a vaginal hysterectomy, the entire uterus, including the cervix, is removed. In either case, the decision to leave the ovaries depends on the patient and her doctor. Most doctors would recommend leaving ovaries in women under 45 and might recommend removing them in women over 45 because they will soon be menopausal, oftentimes to prevent ovarian cancer. However, we cannot remove all of our organs to reduce the risk of cancer. Since the lifetime risk of ovarian cancer is 1 in 70, women with healthy ovaries should be encouraged to leave them in place when possible. Special circumstances, such as a strong family history of ovarian cancer, might warrant their removal.

Myomectomies are particularly appropriate for women who wish to retain their childbearing option or in women with a small submucous myoma that causes a bleeding problem. Most myomectomies for large intramural fibroids are done abdominally. Laparoscopic myomectomies for intramural or subserosal fibroids are very rare, and there are only a few physicians in the United States capable of performing them. Abdominal myomectomies have many of the same risks associated with a hysterectomy and can often be associated with more blood loss. Many women feel much more comfortable with retaining their reproductive organs and should be encouraged to find a physician who is comfortable with the concept of myomectomy when the patient prefers that approach.

Hysteroscopic myomectomies are done with an instrument inserted through the vagina, up the cervical canal, and into the uterine cavity, providing a view of the interior of the uterus and an instrument that can slice or cauterize the submucous fibroid. Sometimes, when a woman is past childbearing age, an associated destruction of the uterine lining tissue is performed at the same time. This is called an ablation and further helps to reduce menstrual flow.

There are other treatments for fibroids, some of which are gaining more popularity and some of which are still experimental. Uterine artery embolization is designed to reduce fibroids by obstructing the blood supply that nourishes them. The procedure is done by a radiologist in the x-ray department. It entails making a small incision in the groin and threading a small catheter into the femoral artery. The doctor works the catheter up to the vessels that supply the uterus under guidance with dye and x-rays. Microscopic plastic particles are injected to close off the uterine vessels, temporarily creating a condition of shock for the uterus. Because fibroids only have one blood supply, the shock is often enough to cause them to begin to degenerate (necrose). The uterus, however, has blood supply through the uterotubal ligaments and vaginal arteries as well and recovers from the initial loss of blood flow most of the time.

Embolizations have been done for about 10 years, and now there is enough data to indicate that there is a less than 1 percent chance that a woman will need an emergency hysterectomy because of uterine necrosis after an embolization. There is a 1 to 5 percent chance that the patient could become menopausal because of a decrease in the blood supply to the ovaries occurring unintentionally at the time of the embolization. The patient can expect significant pain or cramping for up to six months, treatable with pain medications and anti-inflammatories, and most fibroids will reduce approximately 50 percent in their size. This is more successful for treatment of pain from fibroids than bleeding, but it can improve bleeding.

The new fibroid treatment that conventional medicine is investigating is selective progesterone receptor modulators (SPRMs). Ru-486, the only currently used SPRM, is in investigative trials for treatment of fibroid pain and bleeding and helps by reducing the size of fibroids. Most of these trials suggest that the medication is well tolerated with minimal side effects. A second SPRM called asoprisnil has been shown to significantly shrink fibroids with minimal side effects and is currently in phase III trials. It is not known if this is a temporary or permanent treatment.

The other area of medical research involves antifibrinolytic agents. There are other fibrin deposition diseases such as keloids (excessive growth of scar tissue) and pulmonary fibrosis that serve as fibrin disease models. Researchers are beginning to look at medications that reduce the growth and deposition of fibrin for treatment of fibroids. There are no significant investigational trials underway at the present time.

The newest nonmedical technique being used to treat fibroids is high-intensity focused ultrasound. This is done in the radiology department with MRI-guided high-intensity focused ultrasound. The uterus is scanned for fibroids and divided into plains at different depths, and the ultrasound is directed in small increments into the fibroid. It is completely noninvasive and is just beginning to be used. The setups are very expensive and the machines are few and far between at this point.

The thermal ablation treatment techniques that transfer laser, radio frequency, microwave, or cryotherapy through either a percutaneous or a transvaginal probe (which were evaluated between 2000 and 2003) are largely outdated now and are not thought to be an effective form of treatment.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

Four clinical problems that require special consideration in fibroid cases are heavy, prolonged, or frequent bleeding; infertility; enlarged kidneys; and pregnancy complications.

Menstrual flows that are longer than 7 days in duration, more frequent than every 21 days, involve intermenstrual spotting/bleeding or excessive blood loss (more than 80 ml per cycle compared to the normal average of 33 ml) deserve a visit to your licensed primary care practitioner. It is difficult to quantify the number of pads or tampons used as a criterion for determining excessive blood loss. Bleeding that meets or exceeds saturation of a super tampon or heavy pad every hour for six to eight hours or more requires immediate intervention. Bleeding that exceeds this deserves an immediate phone call to your practitioner and urgent management for hemorrhage. Some women tolerate excessive blood loss better than others. If you are feeling lightheaded, this is cause for concern. A hemoglobin and hematocrit test can determine if you are anemic from blood loss. Additional tests may be done to determine if your iron stores are low.

Infertile women who have uterine fibroids may need to consider the causal relationship. Even though fibroids may be a cause of only a small percentage of infertility cases, if it is the cause, the solutions aren't particularly optimistic. It is reported that only a 16 percent pregnancy rate follows myomectomy for infertility. Postoperative adhesions and the low return question the value of myomectomy for this set of circumstances.

Pregnancy in women with uterine fibroids is generally problem-free, but each situation is different. Even though fibroids can grow during pregnancy, only a very few actually do have continued growth. Six weeks after delivery, many uterine fibroids will decrease in size to become similar to the size it was prior to pregnancy.

That said, some complications can occur during pregnancy. An enlarging fibroid during pregnancy can degenerate and cause pain, infection, and fever. Though debatable, the presence of fibroids can also affect implantation of the fertilized egg with the potential for an early miscarriage, bleeding later in the pregnancy, premature rupture of membranes, and postpartum hemorrhage. Other potential complications include a decrease in the ability of the uterus to contract during labor or obstruction of the birth canal. In women who have previously had a myomectomy, the safety of a vaginal delivery is controversial. One school of thought holds that if there has been an incision into the uterine cavity, the delivery must be by cesarean section. Other practitioners believe that if there was no infection after the myomectomy, the incision into a nonpregnant uterus is of no concern in subsequent vaginal deliveries.

Remember, the mere presence of uterine fibroids does not require treatment. If you have symptoms, they can most often be managed with alternative therapies, although excessive bleeding may require drug or surgical intervention. Even if you have no symptoms, a licensed primary health-care practitioner should examine you every six months to rule out rapid enlargement. This is especially true for women who are planning pregnancies or approaching menopause. Rapidly enlarging fibroids warrant special attention because of the potential for malignancy. A young woman whose uterus is larger than a 12to 14-week pregnancy should carefully monitor the fibroid growth and consider the need for surgical intervention, because there are many more years for potential further growth and the bigger the uterus and fibroids, the more technically difficult the surgery.

Women rarely need to rush to any decision about surgical intervention, except in the case of excessive bleeding problems, a rapidly enlarging fibroid uterus, or prolonged or severe pain. If surgical intervention becomes appropriate, remember that you may have a number of surgical options and explore some of the newer techniques. If a hysterectomy is indeed the best option, and sometimes it is, then be sure to discuss with your surgeon whether you would like to keep your ovaries; most of the time, there is no pressing medical need to remove them.

OVERVIEW

Vaginal infections are responsible for an estimated 10 percent of all women's visits to health-care practitioners. There are three general categories of vaginitis: hormonal, irritant, and infectious. Hormonal vaginitis, also called atrophic vaginitis, is usually found in postmenopausal or postpartum women, but occasionally in young girls before puberty. (Atrophic vaginitis in menopausal women is addressed in greater detail in Chapter 12.) Irritant vaginitis can be due to allergies to such substances as latex in condoms, spermicides, deodorants, soaps, perfumes, semen, or douches.¹ Irritation may also be due to hot tubs, mechanical abrasion, sanitary napkins, tampons, toilet tissue, or topical medications.

However, most vaginitis is due to a vaginal infection. More than 90 percent of vaginitis in reproductive-age women is caused by bacterial vaginosis, candidiasis, or trichomoniasis. There are other less common infectious causes of vaginitis like gonorrhea, chlamydia, mycoplasma, campylobacter, and even parasites like pinworms and giardia. Among these, gonorrhea, chlamydia, and trichomona are sexually transmitted. Women who have sexually transmitted vaginitis require treatment with antibiotics to prevent pelvic inflammatory disorder; testing and treatment should be offered to partners as well. To learn more about sexually transmitted infections, see Chapter 18.

General symptoms of infectious vaginitis include a vaginal discharge, irritation, itching, and odor. Not all infectious causes of vaginitis have the same symptoms, but they all are associated with a vaginal discharge. Though vaginitis is often easily treated, some women may experience chronic or recurrent infections that may be resistant to usual treatments. In addition, untreated vaginitis may result in more serious complications such as acute or chronic pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), chronic pelvic pain, and infertility. Vaginitis may also increase the transmission of other sexually transmitted infections like human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and genital herpes.

Vaginitis is most often a disorder of imbalance of the normal vaginal flora. Many of the organisms that are responsible for vaginitis, like gardnerella, mycoplasma, staph, *E. coli*, and candida are naturally occurring in the healthy vagina. These organisms only become problematic when the delicate balance of the beneficial bacterial, like aerobic lactobacillus, is disrupted. There are a number of factors that may adversely affect this balance by reducing the lactobacilli population, such as lubricants, nonoxynal-9 (spermicide), oral contraceptives (OCs), hormonal changes, and antibiotics.

Though self-diagnosis is common, it is not recommended, because it is difficult to make an accurate diagnosis based on discharge, itching, and odor and because of the possibility of dual infection. To properly treat vaginitis and avoid potential treatment complications, it is essential to know the exact diagnosis.

Bacterial Vaginosis

Bacterial vaginosis (BV) is the most common cause of vaginal infections and abnormal vaginal discharge and odor. Unfortunately, it can also be one of the infections most resistant to treatment. BV consists of a significant polymicrobial overgrowth. It is the result of alterations in the vaginal ecosystem rather than an infection caused by any single microorganism. In BV, the ordinarily lactobacilli-dominant vaginal environment is overgrown with anaerobes (mainly *Prevotella*,

342 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

Peptostreptococcus species, *Eubacterium* species, and *Mobiluncus*) and facultative bacteria (*Mycoplasma* species, *Staphylococcus epidermidis*, *Streptococcus* species, and *Gardnerella vaginalis*). This overgrowth results in the degradation of the mucus membrane and shedding of the vaginal epithelium, resulting in a discharge, and may lead to potential complications in the uterus and fallopian tubes. The destruction of these mucins exposes the epithelium to other organisms, with the subsequent appearance of clue cells (cells that line the vagina and now have clusters of bacteria adhered to their surface).² These are visualized with microscopy and are unique to BV.

BV is characterized by decreased or absent *Lactobacillus* species and increased concentrations of potentially pathogenic bacteria. Other characteristic changes include elevated pH, greater than 4.5; formation of clue cells; odor due to increased vaginal fluid concentrations of diamines, polyamines, and organic acids;^{3–5} an upregulation of inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-1beta, a noticeable absence or rare presence of white blood cells in the vaginal discharge; and a decrease in naturally protective molecules like secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor. Four diagnostic criteria, of which three must be present, confirm a diagnosis of bacterial vaginosis.

There are three main factors that are responsible for the decline of lactobacilli and consequential BV:

- 1. Intercourse without condoms: sperm alkalinizes the vagina, which depletes lactobacilli.
- 2. Douching, which also depletes lactobacilli.
- 3. The absence of the kind of lactobacilli that produce peroxide. Broad-spectrum antibiotics can also eliminate healthy vaginal lactobacilli.⁶

Bacterial vaginosis may be merely an acute or episodic condition, may become persistent, or may resolve itself spontaneously.

Diagnostic Criteria

Three of the following criteria must be present to confirm a diagnosis of bacterial vaginosis.

- 1. A thin, frothy, gray, odorous discharge
- 2. Vaginal pH greater than 4.5 with pH paper
- 3. A wet-mount lab sample that reveals clue cells
- A positive whiff test (a fish odor detected when 10 percent potassium hydroxide is added to the discharge)

More than 50 percent of women with BV are asymptomatic. BV most often occurs among heterosexual, sexually active women, but is not considered a sexually transmitted disease.7, 8 Among those who are heterosexually active, BV is more frequent in women who have had intercourse at an early age, those with more sexual partners, and among women with concurrent or prior sexually transmitted diseases.9 BV can also exist among sexually abused children and lesbian partners of women with bacterial vaginosis.^{10, 11} Several factors have been associated with the development of BV, such as cigarette smoking and racial background. Hispanic women are 50 percent more likely than Caucasian women to develop BV, and African-American women are twice as likely as Caucasian women to have BV.12 The reasons for these differences are not clear but may be due to less condom use in Hispanic women and increased douching in African-American women.

The alterations in vaginal immune response and vaginal microflora associated with BV leave women more susceptible to other infections, including HIV and gonorrhea.^{13–16} Women with BV are also more likely to shed HIV, and therefore BV may increase the transmission of HIV.¹⁷ There are some potential consequences of untreated or undertreated BV.¹⁸ The bacteria can migrate into the uterus and the upper genital tract and cause pelvic inflammatory disease in a minority of women who have the infection. The loss of lactobacilli and the resulting degradation of the mucin layer, as well as loss of the local immune response, may allow pathogens to ascend to the uterus and fallopian tubes. In pregnant women, BV can cause premature rupture of membranes and premature labor, and it is responsible for 70 to 80 percent of all perinatal deaths.¹⁹ BV is also responsible for approximately one-third of postpartum endometritis (infection of the uterus).²⁰ Additionally, women with suboptimal vaginal flora are at increased risk for infections following gynecologic surgery.

It has been estimated that about 30 percent of women experience a recurrence of symptomatic BV within 30 to 90 days of treatment, and 70 percent will have a recurrence within nine months.²¹ With BV, it may not be clear whether the repeat episode is a reinfection or a relapse. Reinfection implies that the original problem was reversed and the patient was completely asymptomatic before recurrence; relapse indicates that the symptoms and microbiology have never returned to normal even though there may have been improvement or a period of improvement. Reinfection is a possibility due to exposure to the same factors that caused the first episode. In heterosexual women not using condoms, reinfection may be due to the alkalinizing effect of semen. This alkaline environment fosters overgrowth of BV. The treatment for recurrent BV should focus on preventing relapse, as this is the most common cause of recurrence. Possible reasons for relapse include (1) lack of reestablishing the lactobacillus-dominant vaginal flora, (2) persistent overgrowth of pathogenic bacteria, and (3) some of the pathogens have sequestered themselves in inaccessible sites such as the endometrial cavity.

A simple and useful method for monitoring patients during treatment for BV is pH paper. If a woman has a vaginal pH of less than 4.5 (some say of less than or equal to 5.0), she has adequate numbers of lactobacilli and does not have BV.

The goal of treatment is to restore the vaginal pH to less than 4.5 and reestablish normal vaginal ecology. Treatment is considered successful if

it clears up the clue cells and amine fishy odor and restores the vaginal flora to healthy levels of lactobacilli. Reexamination following treatment is fundamental to assure that the pH has decreased to less than 4.5. If it has not, then you are at risk for developing a recurrence. If pH remains greater than 4.5 following treatment, more aggressive use of lactobacillus and/or vaginal boric acid suppositories should be utilized. The first follow-up should occur after the designated treatment time of usually 7 to 14 days, then again in one month.

Treatment of BV in nonpregnant women will reduce vaginal symptoms, lower the risk of postabortion and posthysterectomy infectious complications, and may reduce transmission of and infection with other sexually transmitted infections. Women should refrain from sexual

Prevention of Bacterial Vaginosis

- Practice safe sex, which is helpful in preventing even infections not clearly considered to be sexually transmitted, such as bacterial vaginosis.
- Consider regular condom use to prevent vaginitis and maintain a normal pH.
- Use condoms until treatment regimen is complete to prevent recurrence.
- Eat a diet rich in whole foods with little to no sugar or refined carbohydrates.
- Determine possible allergies to food, pollen, clothing detergent, and semen for recurrent cases.
- Determine possible infection with other organisms for recurrent cases.
- Increase intake of acidophilus yogurt and/or take supplemental lactobacillus supplements, especially when using antibiotics.
- Vaginal estrogen may be necessary to maintain an acidic vaginal environment in postmenopausal women.
- In cases of relapse, take boric acid and lactobacillus vaginally for 1 to 2 weeks, plus lactobacillus orally for 2 to 6 months.

intercourse during the treatment period and until their vaginal ecology is normal. Women who have recurrent BV following intercourse may need to use condoms or consider having the sexual partner treated at the same time. Unfortunately, BV can be the most difficult vaginal infection to treat satisfactorily with alternative treatments. However, even conventional treatments can be insufficient without a lot of patience and time.

Candida Vaginitis

Although vulvovaginal candidiasis (VVC), more commonly known as a candida or yeast infection, is often assumed to be the cause of vaginitis, only 33 percent of vaginitis cases are in fact VVC. VVC is frequently misdiagnosed by both patients and practitioners. It encompasses a broad range of issues, ranging from those who have colonization of yeast but are asymptomatic to those who have frequent, recurrent, and symptomatic episodes. It is estimated that 75 percent of all women will have at least one VVC infection in their life, 45 percent will have multiple episodes, and 5 to 8 percent will have recurrent episodes (RVVC, defined as four or more episodes within one year).²²

Studies throughout the world have shown that Candida albicans is the most common cause of VVC. It is the organism identified in 85 to 90 percent of positive vaginal yeast cultures. However, there are infections with nonalbicans species such as C. glabrata, C. tropicallis, and C. krusei, which are becoming more prevalent in the United States. Of the nonalbicans species, Candida glabrata is the most common. The number of VVC cases that are due to nonalbicans species is increasing and rose from 9.9 percent in 1988 to 17.2 percent in 1995.23 It is thought that this increase is due at least in part to the increased use of over-the-counter treatment medications and that nonalbicans species are becoming less and less susceptible to these agents.²⁴

A diagnosis of VVC is made by a combination of history, clinical examination, microscopy, and, if necessary, a culture. The usual symptoms of VVC are acute itching and vaginal discharge. The discharge is typically described as cottage cheese–like in character, but it may actually vary from watery to thick. Symptoms may also include vaginal soreness, irritation, vulvar burning, inflammation and swelling of both the internal and external genital tissue, redness, pain with vaginal sexual activity, and urinary discomfort. The symptoms are often worse the week preceding the onset of menses with some relief after the menstrual flow.

Self-diagnosis of VVC is unreliable and often results in misdiagnosis. There is even a concern that physicians are frequently inaccurate in diagnosing vaginal infections.²⁵ The most candidaspecific symptom is itching without discharge, and even this criterion correctly predicts VVC in only 38 percent of patients.²⁶

The greatest concern in self-diagnosing and self-treating VVC is in women who have recurrent VVC, defined as four or more candidaconfirmed episodes of symptomatic infection within one year. This occurs in approximately 5 percent of women²⁷ and can be dangerous, as the underlying condition could go undiagnosed because the woman is repeatedly treating what she thinks are simple vaginal yeast infections. Recurrent VVC commonly affects women who are immunocompromised as the result of AIDS or other predisposing conditions such as diabetes, Cushing's disease, Addison's disease, hypoor hyperthyroidism, or leukemia. There are other predisposing factors in recurrent infections that may also need to be addressed: high-estrogen medication, antibiotics, hormones, contraceptive devices, cytotoxic drugs, immunosuppressive drugs, radiotherapy or chemotherapy, tight clothing, nylon underwear, pregnancy, and excessive sugar in the diet.

Reinfection may also come from extravaginal sources. Although the sexual transmission of candida is still controversial, there is evidence that sexual transmission might be a likely source of recurrent infection. In one study, the researchers found identical strains of candida in the male sexual partners of 48 percent of women with recurrent VVC.28, 29 Reservoirs of infection were found in the oral cavities of 36 percent of 33 heterosexual couples, the rectums of 33 percent, and the ejaculate of 15 percent of the men.³⁰ This data suggests that oral-genital contact constitutes a probable mode of sexual transmission. Many alternative practitioners treat the overgrowth of candida in the digestive track as well to address the possibility of migration from rectum to vagina. In fact, a 1977 study found that in 98 women with recurrent VVC, candida was always found in the feces of women with current VVC and was not found in women without VVC.31 Although numerous studies have failed to yield definitive results, it may provide a useful avenue of treatment in especially chronic and resistant cases.³²

The first step in the physical evaluation is to determine if there is a vulvitis (inflammation of the external genital tissue) and/or vaginitis. Some women may have vulvar hyperplasia (proliferative cell growth), vestibulitis (inflammation of the tissue surrounding the opening to the vagina), genital ulcerations, lichen sclerosis, or other dermatitis conditions. A thorough examination of the external genitalia involves looking for erythema, hypopigmentation, hyperpigmentation, fissures, vesicles, ulcerations, thinning, and thickening. A woman with VVC will often have vulvar and vaginal redness, swelling, and itching. A thick white discharge may be present, but many women with VVC do not have a discharge or do not have the typical thick and white discharge.

The diagnosis can often be made in the practitioner's office by using 10 percent potassium hydroxide (KOH) and microscopy that demonstrates features of yeast. Another diagnostic tool is pH paper. A vaginal pH of less than 4.5 helps to exclude bacterial vaginosis, trichomoniasis, atrophic vaginitis, or a mixed bacterial/yeast infection. A vaginal culture may help to establish that yeast is in fact present for symptomatic women with negative microscopic findings and to identify the genus and species.

It cannot be overemphasized how the health of the entire body affects the internal ecosystem of the vagina. The vaginal pH and microflora, the hormonal cycles, and the vaginal immune tissue are all influenced by our general health and dietary habits, and this in turn determines our susceptibility to vaginitis. A healthy diet assures our body's defense system. A diet low in sugars and refined carbohydrates is particularly important in preventing candida vaginitis. In fact, a recent study confirmed that women with impaired glucose tolerance were at higher risk for recurrent vaginal candidiasis.³³ In general, a wellbalanced whole foods diet that is low in fat, sugars, refined foods, and alcohol is optimal in preventing all infections.

Some women who have severe, stubborn cases of chronic candida vaginitis may benefit from stricter diets that avoid fermented foods. However, many "anti-candida" diets can be rigorous and unnecessarily stressful. Some of these diets are so restricted that they actually cause other health problems. Women who have selfdiagnosed or who have been diagnosed with "systemic candida" by an alternative practitioner might want to make sure of this popular overused diagnosis. Conventional medicine uses the term systemic candidiasis to describe the situation when candida contaminates the blood stream and spreads throughout the body, causing profound illness affecting a wide variety of organ systems. This state, according to this definition, only occurs in seriously immunocompromised patients, such as HIV-positive individuals. In individuals who have no serious immune deficiency, any exposed warm, moist part of the body is susceptible to candida infection. Common examples of this would include vulvovaginitis, oral thrush, conjunctivitis (infection of the inner eyelid), diaper rash, and infections of the nail, rectum, and other skin folds. In immunocompromised individuals, systemic illnesses such as myocarditis (infection of the heart muscle), hepatosplenic abscess, pulmonary infection, central nervous system (CNS) infection, and chronic disease states may occur.

Alternative medicine has used the term systemic candidiasis to describe less intense situations, in an attempt to explain a multitude of general symptoms such as headache, fatigue, gas and bloating, depression, and more. Perhaps a better term for this would be systemic candida syndrome. Ruling out other causes of these general symptoms is important, and testing the stool and vaginal secretions for candida overgrowth and the blood for the candida antigen provides the best hope for accurately diagnosing true systemic candida infections.

The main concepts of managing VVC are accurate diagnosis, management of other influences, and being creative and persistent when treatment does not provide relief or recurrences

Prevention of Candida Vaginitis

Preventing infections is almost always easier than treating them. Here are some simple strategies:

- Avoid wearing tight clothing.³⁴
- Avoid wearing pantyhose.³⁵
- Consider using condoms to prevent all types of vaginitis and maintain a normal pH in the vagina.
- Eat a whole foods diet with very little to no sugar and refined carbohydrates.
- Determine possible allergies to food, pollen, clothing detergent, and semen for recurrent cases.
- Determine possible infection with other organisms for recurrent cases.
- Increase intake of acidophilus yogurt and/or take lactobacillus supplements, especially when using antibiotics.
- Vaginal estrogen may be necessary to maintain an acidic vaginal environment in postmenopausal women.

occur. Taking shortcuts in history, physical exam, and testing can result in misdiagnosis, unnecessary treatments, and delays in effective treatment. Most cases of VVC will be very effectively treated with natural methods. When this does not work, there are various oral and vaginal regimens including butoconazole cream, clotrimazole cream or vaginal tablet, miconazole cream or suppository, terconazole cream or suppository, fluconazole oral medication, and nystatin vaginal tablets. Treatment options for nonalbicans candida infections include more aggressive fluconazole and terconazole regimens, flucytosine vaginally, and boric acid vaginal capsules.

While VVC may seem trivial to many, for some the discomfort, the chronicity, and the health-care costs incurred are excessive. Treatment strategies for candida vaginitis with natural therapies will focus on maintaining a normal vaginal pH, restoring normal ecology of the vagina, reducing inflammation, relieving symptoms, and using natural antifungal agents.

Trichomonas Vaginalis

Trichomonas vaginalis is a motile, flagellate, anaerobic protozoan and is a far more prevalent sexually transmitted infection than either Chlamydia trachomatis or Neisseria gonorrhoeae. About 6 percent of all cases of a vaginal discharge are due to trichomoniasis, and about 5 million new cases appear annually.36, 37 The prevalence of disease varies widely by population. Multiple sexual partners, African-American race, previous history of sexually transmitted diseases, coexistent infection with Neisseria gonorrhoeae, and nonuse of either barrier or hormonal contraceptives are known risk factors for acquisition of trichomoniasis.38 Trichomoniasis is associated with several significant health consequences, including the transmission of the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), infertility, atypical pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), increased risk of postoperative infection, preterm births, and cervical dysplasia as well as adverse pregnancy outcomes such as

preterm delivery, premature rupture of membranes, and low-birth weight infants.

The sexual transmission rates are higher from man to woman than from woman to man, and transmission is considered rare from woman to woman. Trichomoniasis is rarely transmitted to infants born to infected mothers, and although the trichomonas organism can survive for short periods on moist objects (toilet seats, benches, towels) or exposed bodily fluids (urine, vaginal exudate, semen), no cases of transmission by indirect or inanimate exposure have been documented. Prevalence of trichomoniasis is highest among women with multiple sexual partners and in women with other sexually transmitted infections.^{39–41}

The most common complaints associated with trichomoniasis are vaginal discharge and vulvovaginal irritation and itching. Discharge is present in 50 to 75 percent of infected women and is classically described as frothy or bubbly and yellow-green. Other associated symptoms include dyspareunia (pain with vaginal sexual activity), dysuria (painful urination), and, in a small number of patients, some degree of lower abdominal pain. Vulvar redness is an uncommon finding, but vaginal redness is noted in as many as 75 percent of patients. A "strawberry cervix" is created by dilatation of capillaries on the cervix with small hemorrhages and is seen through a magnification device called a colposcope in as many as 90 percent of cases.⁴² With the naked eye it is seen in only 2 percent of cases, but when it is seen it is an almost sure sign of trichomoniasis. As these clinical signs and symptoms are not sensitive enough or specific enough to be used alone, it's most important to somehow identify the organism.

The time-honored method for diagnosing trichomonal infections has been microscopic (wet prep) evaluation. The diagnosis is made by directly observing the motile parasite. This procedure detects 60 to 80 percent of cases. The advantage of the microscopic examination of the vaginal discharge is that it can be done in the practitioner's office; it's fast, easy, and low cost; and an immediate diagnosis can be made.

If the trichomonad was not seen, a culture is more sensitive for diagnosis. A culture in Diamond's medium is both sensitive and specific. However, there is a diagnostic delay because of the time it takes for the culture to detect the organism. Pap smears are not very sensitive in testing trichomoniasis, only 56 percent effective in one study,⁴³ and are therefore not a very reliable method.

Newer tests are available now that increase accuracy and ease diagnosis. A DNA-based test

KEY CONCEPTS

- Diagnosis is necessary to determine the cause of the vaginal infection.
- Be aware of underlying metabolic or immune problems in chronic resistant cases of candida vaginitis.
- In recurrent cases of candida vaginitis and bacterial vaginosis, consider the possibility of sexual transmission, even though they are not typically considered STIs.
- The sexual partner should be treated in all cases of trichomoniasis.
- Consider additional testing methods such as cultures and DNA probes in cases that elude diagnosis.
- Self-diagnosis is usually inaccurate and can inhibit successful treatment.

PREVENTION

- Use condoms to prevent all types of vaginitis and maintain a normal vaginal pH.
- Eat a whole foods diet with very little to no sugar and few refined carbohydrates.
- Determine possible infection with other organisms for recurrent cases.
- Increase intake of acidophilus yogurt and/or take lactobacillus supplements.

called the Affirm VP system uses a probe inserted in the vagina that can detect trichomoniasis, bacterial vaginosis, and candida species from a single vaginal swab. Additional diagnostic methods include polymerase chain reaction tests, but most doctors' offices do not yet use these. A new 10minute antigen test for trichomonas is also available. Women who are found to have an infection of *T. vaginalis* should also be tested for *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (GC) and *Chlamydia trachomatis* (CT) and, if positive for one or both, should then be screened for additional sexually transmitted infections, including syphilis, hepatitis B and C, HIV, herpes type 2 virus, and human papillomavirus.

The treatment strategy is to kill the trichomonads, reduce inflammation, support the vaginal ecology and immune system, and prevent recurrence.

OVERVIEW OF Alternative treatments

An important aspect of treating vaginal infections is looking at the problem holistically and systemically rather than just finding drug alternatives to kill unwanted organisms. To this end, we try to improve the vaginal immune system, support the systemic immune system, restore the proper balance of normal microflora in the vagina, restore the normal pH of the vagina, decrease the inflammation and irritation of the tissue itself, provide symptomatic relief, and, when necessary, curb the overgrowth of the offending organism.

Although this approach sounds basic and logical, it is radically different than the conventional approach, which is essentially to kill the overgrowth of the causative organism. Although in severe acute cases pharmaceutical antifungals may ultimately be necessary, organisms are becoming resistant to these products due to their overuse, and newer, stronger treatments are continually developed to address these resistant strains. Thus, even when the pharmaceutical over-the-counter or prescription medications need to be used, the principles and methods of the natural treatments can be an important part of ensuring a healthy vaginal ecosystem and immunity for the future.

The health of the ecosystem of the vagina is the most important concept in treating vaginitis. While the vaginal flora and ecosystem is in a variable state throughout a woman's lifetime, largely affected by hormonal influences, nothing is more key to this ecosystem than lactobacillus. The vaginal microflora of healthy asymptomatic women consist of a wide variety of anaerobic and aerobic bacteria dominated by lactobacillus. The first extensive study of the human vaginal microflora was published in 1892 by Doderlein.44 Since then we have learned that a wide variety of microorganisms are present in a healthy vaginal ecosystem. The range of bacterial types is immense, including Staphylococcus species, Gardnerella vaginalis, Streptococcus species, Bacteroides species, Lactobacillus species, Mobiluncus, even Candida species, most commonly Candida albicans, and more. Yet the predominant organisms are members of the Lactobacillus genus.

The body's ability to control the vaginal microflora is no easy feat. The normal vaginal microflora defend against abnormal vaginal colonization. Factors controlling this defense system include the content of the vaginal tissue itself (called the squamous epithelium), the dominance of lactobacilli, the subsequent low or acidic pH balance, hydrogen peroxide production, and hormonal influences (over one's lifetime as well as monthly cyclic changes). High or low estrogen states such as pregnancy or menopause; hormonal medications such as contraceptive devices, including OCs; feminine hygiene products; and vaginal sexual activity, including friction, lubricants, and semen can all create a challenge for the vaginal ecology to maintain homeostasis.

Nutrition

I cannot overemphasize how the health of the entire body affects the internal ecosystem of the vagina. The pH of the vagina, the microflora that live there, the hormonal cycles, and the immune tissue in the vagina are all influenced by our general health and dietary habits, and this in turn determines how susceptible we are to vaginitis. A generally healthy diet-well balanced, rich in whole foods, and low in fat, sugars, refined foods, and alcohol—is optimal in preventing infections. A diet low in sugars and refined carbohydrates is particularly important in preventing candida vaginitis. Some women who have severe, stubborn cases of chronic candida vaginitis may benefit from stricter diets that avoid fermented foods: however, most of the time these "anticandida" diets are not necessary.

Nutritional Supplements

Vitamin E. We most often think of using nutritional supplements orally, but in this case I recommend the use of vitamin E intravaginally and topically. This use of vitamin E dates back at least to 1954.⁴⁵ As demonstrated then as well as in my practice, vitamin E provides a very soothing effect. The tissue becomes less irritated with a decrease in redness, swelling, and congestion. Vitamin E usually relieves burning and itching within one to three days. It can be administered as either a suppository or from a gelatin capsule that is inserted into the vagina once or twice daily for seven or more days. Vitamin E oil or ointment can also be applied externally to the

Nutrition

- Avoid sugar, refined carbohydrates, fruit juice, and alcohol.
- Reduce fats.
- Eat 8 oz of unsweetened acidophilus yogurt daily.
- Increase garlic in the diet.

vulvar tissue to relieve discomfort there. Vitamin E is especially useful in cases of allergic and irritant-induced vaginitis because it is so soothing.

Vitamin E

Intravaginal suppository or gelatin capsule once or twice daily for 7 or more days

Vitamin C. Vitamin C has long been touted for its beneficial effects on the immune system. According to a recent study, administering 250 mg of vitamin C vaginally for six days significantly improves both subjective and objective parameters of vaginitis, like eradicating bacteria and clue cells, increasing lactobacilli, and lowering pH.⁴⁶

Vitamin C

Insert 250 mg vitamin C tablet in the vagina for 6 days

Vitamin A and Beta-Carotene. Both vitamin A and beta-carotene are necessary for the normal healthy growth of epithelial tissues that make up the vaginal mucosa. Vitamin A and beta-carotene enhance the immune response in epithelial tissues and thereby help mucous membranes resist infection. Vitamin A and betacarotene can be used orally to enhance the immune response, and vitamin A can be used intravaginally to stimulate the local immune tissue of the vaginal mucosa. Vitamin A in a capsule can suffice, but vitamin A suppositories are available in higher doses than a standard capsule. Vitamin A intravaginally is useful in cases of infectious vaginitis as well as allergic and irritantinduced vaginitis. Daily use for up to one week is

Vitamin A

Intravaginal suppository or gelatin capsule once daily for 7 days; use vitamin E, lactobacillus, or mixed herbal suppository daily for 1 week before repeating this dosage. typical. It can be repeated after one week without suppositories or one week of some alternate like vitamin E, lactobacillus, or a mixed herbal suppository to avoid any possible side effects.

Botanicals

Garlic (Allium Sativum). Garlic extracts have been shown to inhibit the growth of Candida albicans by blocking the lipid production.47, 48 The major growth inhibitory component in garlic extract is allicin, and garlic products that have the highest amount of allicin are the most desirable for treatment. Look specifically for products with high allicin and the stabilized form of allicin. Garlic is diverse in its uses for vaginitis because it is both antibacterial and antifungal.^{49, 50} I recommend garlic vaginal suppositories for both candida (yeast) vaginitis and bacterial vaginosis. A clove peeled carefully so as not to nick the garlic can be inserted into the vagina for 6 to 8 hours. The garlic can be threaded like a necklace so that it can be easily removed like a tampon. Garlic or garlic capsules can be inserted intravaginally in the evening, and then lactobacillus capsules can be inserted in the morning to inhibit growth of the offending organism and repopulate the healthy microflora.

Goldenseal (Hydrastis Canadensis) and Oregon Grape Root (Berberis Vulgaris). Goldenseal and Oregon grape root contain a substance called berberine that acts both as an antibacterial and as an immune enhancer. This immune effect is especially specific in epithelial mucus membrane tissue as is found in the vagina, mouth, and even the stomach. Berberine has been shown to possess antimicrobial activity against a wide variety of microorganisms, including those found in the vagina, such as Candida albicans, Escherichia coli, Staphylococcus aureus, and others.⁵¹ Preparations of goldenseal and Oregon grape root have been used both orally in teas, caps, and liquid extracts and intravaginally in douches and suppositories. Because of their

ability to affect both yeast and bacteria, these two herbs would seem a logical choice in cases where multiple infectious agents are involved.

Goldenseal or Oregon Grape Root

Orally (capsules or liquid extracts) or intravaginally in suppositories

Tea Tree (Melaleuca Alternifolia). Tea tree oil has been studied for trichomoniasis, candidiasis, and other vaginal infections. Most of the evidence supports its use against candida species.52-54 One study found tea tree effectively inhibited both fluconazole-susceptible and fluconazole-resistant cases of candidiasis in vitro and in animals.55, 56 Perhaps the most impressive study used an emulsified 40 percent solution of Australian tea tree oil with 13 percent isopropyl alcohol. In the 96 cases of trichomonal vaginitis, clinical cures were seen with the application of six treatments applied once weekly with a solution-saturated tampon left in place for 24 hours (see "Sample Treatment Plan for Trichomonas Vaginalis" sidebar later in this chapter for specifics).⁵⁷ Various tea tree oil preparations have demonstrated antimicrobial activity against Staphylococcus aureus and Candida albicans, thereby showing its usefulness in diverse situations.58

Tea Tree Oil

Emulsified 40 percent solution of *Melaleuca alternifolia* oil with 13 percent isopropyl alcohol: wash vaginal canal for 30 seconds once a week for 4 weeks, then use vaginal tampon saturated with solution for 24 hours following each washing.

Other Therapeutic Agents

Lactobacillus. Several species of lactobacillus populate the vagina. Although we often think of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* as being the most dominant, other species, such as *L. crispatus*, *L. jensenii*, *L. fermentum*, and *L. gasseri* are at least as or more dominant than *Lactobacillus acidophilus*.

Several factors explain how and why lactobacillus does its remarkable job. Through its production of lactic acid, lactobacilli contribute to the low vaginal pH that is instrumental in maintaining a healthy vaginal microflora. Because vaginal infections are associated with a loss of lactobacilli, it seems logical and hopeful that lactobacilli would make for a good treatment.⁵⁹ Lactobacilli thrive at an acidic pH of 3.5 to 4.5, levels that are found in the healthy, normal vagina throughout the menstrual cycle. Lactobacilli have also been shown to interfere with the adherence and colonization of pathogenic (diseasecausing) bacteria.60 In addition, strains of lactobacilli that inhabit the vagina produce hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), another well-recognized antagonist to problematic bacterial populations. Lactobacilli also act directly as antibacterials⁶¹ and may function as a local immune stimulant in controlling microbial levels in the vagina.

For these reasons, administering lactobacillus orally and intravaginally is one of the most important aspects of effectively treating and preventing yeast and bacterial vaginitis, although the scientific literature has inconsistent results. Women who have hydrogen peroxide–producing lactobacilli in the vagina are less likely to have bacterial vaginosis or candida vaginitis.⁶² These same lactobacilli are also toxic to *Gardnerella vaginalis*, the predominant organism in the vagina of women with BV.⁶³ In addition, the bacteria that cause bacterial vaginosis thrive in a higher pH of 5.0 to 6.0 and cannot readily survive in the lower pH, more acid environment that lactobacilli promotes.

The concept that lactobacilli might be useful when supplemented in the diet or administered intravaginally dates back to the 1890s. While scientists have vacillated on the value of lactobacilli in prevention or in treatment, patients in need have not. It has been difficult to confirm the "ifs, ands, or buts" in using *L. acidophilus* in the prevention and treatment of infectious vaginitis because there are few clinical trials. When you consider the logic, the safety, the affordability, the lack of side effects, the ease, and the research that does confirm a benefit, continuing to promote the use of *L. acidophilus* is a compelling one. Lactobacillus therapy is quite popular both with alternative practitioners and with women who seek simple self-treatment methods.

A study was done in 1992 on the daily ingestion of yogurt containing *Lactobacillus acidophilus* in pregnant women with recurrent candidal vaginitis. The women who ate eight ounces daily of the yogurt had a threefold decrease in infections when compared to the women who did not eat the yogurt.⁶⁴ It is now also popular to ingest *Lactobacillus acidophilus* supplements in oral form in place of or in addition to eating yogurt or to apply lactobacilli directly into the vagina.

A number of studies have supported the use of lactobacillus in preventing and treating vaginitis. A recently published study on treating BV found that both vaginal administration and oral-plusvaginal administration of lactobacilli were effective at reducing the vaginal pH, treating the current infection, and preventing recurrence over the subsequent three months.65 Another study examined the effectiveness of weekly intravaginal Lactobacillus acidophilus versus clotrimazole (antifungal) tablets in HIV-positive women, a group highly susceptible to recurrent yeast vaginitis, and found the two treatments to be similarly effective at preventing candidiasis.66 After any conventional treatment with antibiotics, vaginal lactobacillus can be restored by the coadministration of lactobacillus and low-dose vaginal estriol.67 This is especially important for preventing VVC after conventional treatment of BV.

A review of lactobacillus treatments for VVC in 2003⁶⁸ found that vaginally administered or orally ingested lactobacillus is able to colonize the vaginal ecosystem and that most supplementation needed to continue for two to six months in order to sustain continued colonization. The author also concluded that controlled trials are encouraging but few, and that these trials had small numbers of women, inadequate controls, lack of blinding, high attrition rates, and were not consistent in the form of lactobacillus used. In addition, they had conflicting results.

Douching used to be a popular method of administering lactobacillus, but research has shown that douching may contribute to infertility and pelvic infections. A safer and more convenient method is to administer lactobacillus capsules or tablets intravaginally.⁶⁹

I believe that lactobacillus, alone or in combination with other vaginal or oral therapies, is the key to establishing normal vaginal microflora and preventing recurring infections, as well as treating acute candida and bacterial infections of the vagina. A word to the wise, however, is buyer beware. There is a great deal of variability in lactobacillus products. For yogurt, make sure the label lists lactobacillus, and choose a brand without sweeteners. Some yogurts and encapsulated products make claims that they contain *L. acidophilus* but, when tested,⁷⁰ they did not; moreover, they contained contaminants. When

Lactobacillus

Prevention

- Eat 8 oz unsweetened live-culture acidophilus yogurt daily.
- Oral Lactobacillus acidophilus or combination multispecies of probiotics daily. Doses may range from 2 to 10 billion organisms per day for as short as 2 weeks and as high as 24 to 48 billion organisms per day for 2 to 6 months to maintain vaginal colonization.

Treatment

• For acute infections: intravaginal tablet, gelatin capsule, or suppository once or twice daily for a few days to 2 weeks. purchasing encapsulated products, it may be worth requesting product analysis information to assure quality and choosing human strain lactobacillus to enhance adherence to the intestinal and vaginal mucosa.

Vaginal Estrogen. One of my most reliable treatments for chronic or chronic recurring yeast vaginitis or bacterial vaginosis is the use of vaginal estrogen. This is best seen in peri- and postmenopausal women, but it can be used for difficult cases in younger women as well. Sufficient estrogen promotes the growth of the lactobacillus species that maintain the normal vaginal ecology. Using this concept as a treatment was well illustrated in a randomized, placebocontrolled study of 32 premenopausal women with bacterial vaginosis71 that used hydrogen peroxide-producing lactobacillus vaginal tablets delivered with 0.03 mg of vaginal estriol (a European product called Gynoflor). The study found that estrogen enhances the acid production of the lactobacilli and assists in their proliferation, in addition to helping maintain normal vaginal tissue health. At two weeks, a 75 percent cure rate occurred in the treatment group compared with a 25 percent cure rate in the placebo group. At four weeks, there was an 88 percent cure rate versus a 22 percent placebo rate.

Although this product is not available in the United States, vaginal estriol is available by prescription from a compounding pharmacy. Your practitioner could either request that the pharmacy formulate an estriol/*Lactobacillus acidophilus* suppository or cream, or a vaginal estriol cream (0.03 mg/g; insert one gram daily for two weeks) and *L. acidophilus* capsule or suppository (one daily for two weeks) could be inserted separately.

Boric Acid. The most successful natural treatment for VVC that I've encountered is boric acid suppositories. Laboratory tests and human trials support its use for both *Candida glabrata* and *albicans*, even in cases of resistance to antifungal prescription drugs.^{72, 73} Several studies

confirm its success, ranging from 64 to 98 percent effective.^{74–76} In one study, 100 women with chronic resistant yeast infections who had failed extensive and prolonged conventional therapy were treated with 600 mg boric acid vaginal suppositories twice a day for two or four weeks; the regimen was effective in curing 98 percent of the women.⁷⁷ Once daily boric acid suppositories used for four days per month during the menses for four consecutive months was also clearly indicated as the treatment of choice for preventing recurrence.

Clinical effectiveness doesn't really get any better than this. Boric acid works most of the time, it's inexpensive, and it's easy to use. The only downside I have observed is that if the tissue has been irritated by the infection, the boric acid may burn during urination. Using vitamin E oil, lanolin, or even Vaseline on the external genitalia protects the tissue from the boric acid and averts any significant discomfort. In a study that compared boric acid with the more conventionally prescribed nystatin, the boric acid cured 92 percent after 10 days and 72 percent after 30 days, compared to 64 percent and 50 percent, respectively, of nystatin.⁷⁸

Boric Acid

- Acute: 600 mg vaginal suppositories twice a day for 3–7 days
- **Chronic:** 600 mg vaginal suppositories twice a day for 2–4 weeks
- **Prevention:** 600 mg vaginal suppositories 4 days per month during menses for 4 consecutive months

Arden's Powder. A colleague of mine has been using a vaginal douche powder called Arden's Powder for over 20 years. She attributes its antifungal properties to the essential oils of eucalyptus, thyme, and boric acid powder. The menthol crystals in the oils provide quick relief from itching and burning even before the infec-

Sample Treatment Plan for Bacterial Vaginosis

Guidelines

- Provide systemic and local immune enhancement.
- Restore vaginal flora and normal vaginal pH.
- Use natural antimicrobials.
- Relieve symptoms.

2-Week Minimum Regimen

See the Resources section for natural products and formulations used in this regimen.

- Avoid refined foods and simple carbohydrates.
- Avoid vaginal sexual activity during course of treatment to avoid reinfection and reduce irritation.
- Insert one herbal suppository (containing myrrh, echinacea, slippery elm, golden seal root, marshmallow, geranium, and yarrow) into vagina every evening, 5 days per week for 2 weeks.

- Insert a more potent suppository containing a combination of thuja oil, tea tree oil, bitter orange oil, and vitamin A (as palmitate) 2 days per week for the same 2 weeks as the herbal suppositories.
- Follow with vaginal lactobacillus suppository: insert daily for 6 days.
- Oral lactobacillus: take 1 daily for 2 to 6 months to restore normal vaginal ecology.
- If there is a recurrence, add boric acid suppositories; insert 1 daily for 2 weeks.

Other Considerations

- Use boric acid suppositories (600 mg) to acidify the vagina either as a primary treatment or after antibiotic regimens.
- Paint the cervix and vagina with povidoneiodine twice each week. (A speculum exam would be the most desirable method of doing this.)

354 WOMEN'S ENCYCLOPEDIA OF NATURAL MEDICINE

tion is cleared. Although I have not been a strong proponent of douching, this old-fashioned approach can most likely be used safely for yeast vaginitis.

Arden's Powder

Mix 1 tsp Arden's Powder in 1 pint warm water; douche with 2 applications daily for the first 2 days, then reduce to 1 application daily for 5 more days. Avoid during menstrual period or during pregnancy.

Herbal Combinations. Many different herbs can be prepared in combinations for suppository

Sample Treatment Plan for Candida Vaginitis

Guidelines

- Provide systemic and local immune enhancement, especially in chronic cases.
- Restore vaginal flora and maintain normal vaginal pH.
- Natural antifungal agents will be effective in most cases.
- Relieve symptoms.

Acute Infection

Follow these guidelines for a minimum of 1 week:

- Avoid sugars, refined carbohydrates, and alcohol.
- Eat 8 oz unsweetened acidophilus yogurt daily.
- Lactobacillus species capsules: 8 billion or more organisms per day.
- Boric acid powder capsules: insert morning and evening for 3–7 days in mild cases and up to 14 days for resistant cases.

Chronic Infection

- Avoid sugars, refined carbohydrates, alcohol, and fermented foods.
- Eat 8 oz unsweetened acidophilus yogurt daily.
- Lactobacillus species capsules: 8–48 billion organisms per day.
- Garlic (allicin) capsules: 1-2 capsules 2 to 4 times daily.

use or even douching. In vitro research supports the effectiveness of propolis, cayenne, clove, and bergamot oil against a number of *Candida* species.⁷⁹ Other in vitro evidence showed bergamot oil alone and in combination with boric acid to be effective against *Candida* species, suggesting a potential role for topical treatment of candida infections.⁸⁰

Powdered herbal mixes of myrrh, echinacea, usnea, goldenseal, marshmallow, geranium, yarrow, and calendula are often used by herbalists and naturopathic physicians. Each herb has its own special feature, whether antimicrobial,

 Boric acid powder capsules: insert morning and evening for 14 days; repeat for an additional 14 days if responding but not completely resolved after the first 2 weeks.

Prophylaxis for Prevention of Recurrence

- Avoid sugars, refined carbohydrates, alcohol, and fermented foods.
- Eat 8 oz. unsweetened acidophilus yogurt daily.
- Lactobacillus species capsules: 8-48 billion organisms per day.
- Boric acid powder capsules: insert 1 capsule once daily at bedtime during menstruation only for 4 consecutive months.

During Pregnancy

Avoid boric acid suppositories, herbal suppositories, and garlic during pregnancy. Consult your alternative and conventional medical practitioner for safe options. The following guidelines are generally safe for pregnant women:

- Avoid sugars, refined carbohydrates, alcohol, and fermented foods.
- Eat 8 oz unsweetened acidophilus yogurt daily.
- Lactobacillus species capsules: 8 to 48 billion organisms per day.

immune enhancing, soothing to the membranes, or antifungal. These suppositories can be made at home with powdered herbs and cocoa butter or can be purchased from a natural food store or alternative health-care practitioner.

Gentian Violet. Most herbal suppositories, including boric acid and tea tree oil, should be avoided during pregnancy. However, gentian violet is effective for the mother-to-be and safe for the fetus. In the 1950s, this was the most commonly used and favorite treatment of gynecologists. It can be painted onto the cervix and the vaginal wall, but leaves a disconcerting, signature blue stain; moreover, it requires a speculum insertion to apply. A gentian violet gel made up according to the following formula is more desirable and appropriate for home use: 0.2 percent gentian violet; 3.0 percent lactic acid; 1.0 percent acetic acid; and polyethylene glycol base. This preparation was proven effective in a 1950 study.81 Of 191 cases studied, 78 percent were considered cured, 12 percent were significantly improved, 3 percent had modest improvement, and 7 percent showed no improvement.

Gentian violet is available only by prescription in certain states. You may be able to find a milder strength available without a prescription. Put a few drops of the over-the-counter concentration onto a tampon if you want to try using it on your own.

Gentian Violet

See a licensed health-care practitioner for a prescription. Use 1 vaginal applicator daily at bedtime for 12 days.

Iodine. Yeast and trichomonal vaginitis infections can often occur simultaneously. Moreover, after treatment for trichomoniasis, a yeast infection may flare up. Local therapy that can treat both would obviously be desirable. Iodine in the form of povidone-iodine preparations is a logical solution. This is another example of an older successful treatment that got left behind in the face of more

Sample Treatment Plan for Trichomonas Vaginalis

Guidelines

- Provide systemic and local immune enhancement.
- Restore vaginal flora and normal vaginal pH.
- Use natural antimicrobials.
- Relieve symptoms.
- Treat sexual partner(s).

Treatment

- Avoid sugars, refined carbohydrates, and alcohol.
- Tea tree oil: 40% water-miscible emulsified solution with 40% *M. alternifolia* oil and 13% isopropyl alcohol.
- Repeat the following treatment once per week for up to 6 weeks: Thoroughly wash the vulva and vagina with pHisoHex followed by a thorough water rinse. Dry the area and swab the

vulva and vagina with a 1% solution of the basic medication (i.e., 0.4% *M. alternifolia* oil), using approximately 15 cc. Then insert a tampon that has been saturated with the solution and keep it in place for 24 hours.

- Douche daily for up to 7 weeks with a solution of 1% of the basic *M. alternifolia* oil solution in 1 quart of water (0.4% oil).
- Eat 8 oz unsweetened acidophilus yogurt daily for 1 month.
- Lactobacillus species capsules: 8 to 48 billion organisms per day.
- Garlic (allicin) capsules: 1–2 capsules 2 to 4 times daily.
- Consider goldenseal, echinacea, garlic, licorice, and myrrh for systemic botanical immune support.

modern, mass-market pharmaceuticals. In addition to candidiasis and trichomoniasis, povidone-iodine has been proven effective against potentially pathogenic microorganisms like *Gardnerella*, *Bacteroides*, and *Enterobacteria* without adversely affecting the lactobacillus population.^{82, 83}

One study combined a povidone-iodine solution for swabbing, a povidone-iodine vaginal gel for application at night, and a povidone-iodine douche for use in the morning in 93 courses of treatment in 87 patients with yeast or trichomonal vaginitis, or a combination of both. In the yeast vaginitis cases, symptoms were cleared in one to three weeks in all 74 courses of treatment. In four of five patients with trichomonal vaginitis, symptoms were cleared within three weeks. In 14 courses for combined infections, symptoms were cleared within three weeks in 13 patients.84 Another study found that nearly 75 percent of cases (trichomoniasis, candidiasis, and nonspecific vaginitis) had complete resolution with povidone-iodine treatment.85

Iodine

See licensed health-care practitioner for 6-day regimen using povidone-iodine preparations.

CONVENTIONAL MEDICINE APPROACH

The accurate diagnosis of vaginitis is critical. Incorrect self-diagnosis or guesswork by the practitioner can lead to unnecessary and ineffective treatment, thus prolonging the symptoms.

Bacterial Vaginosis

Bacterial vaginosis is more common than candidiasis and is frequently overlooked or misdiagnosed. The initial evaluation suggests candidiasis; the candidiasis is treated and the bacterial vaginosis is overlooked, left untreated, and continues to provide a hospitable environment for candida (yeast). Again, an accurate diagnosis is important, and risk factors for BV should be discussed. The mainstay of therapy is metronidazole, either orally or in a vaginal gel. Other treatment regimens involve clindamycin, either orally or in a vaginal cream. Tinidazole, FDA-approved for the treatment of trichomoniasis, has also been used for treatment of BV in patients who have failure of clindamycin and have nausea and vomiting problems with metronidazole. This should not be used in people who are allergic to metronidazole because they are members of the same class of drugs. Alcohol intake should be avoided while using metronidazole due to a drug interaction causing violent vomiting.

Recurrent BV is common and is often associated with high levels of stress. Recommended prevention regimens include metronidazole (0.75 mg gel, or one full applicator) one to two times per week for six months or metronidazole gel for 10 days on the initial treatment. There is no need to treat the sexual partner.

Candida Vaginitis

Uncomplicated, acute candidal infections can be treated with one of a variety of products. Currently, there are over 100 prescription and overthe-counter preparations that are marketed to

Treatment of Acute Bacterial Vaginosis

Recommended Oral Medications

Oral metronidazole: 500 mg twice daily for 7 days Oral metronidazole: 250 mg 3 times daily for 7 days Clindamycin: 300 mg orally twice a day for 7 days

Recommended Vaginal Medications

Metronidazole gel (0.75%): 5 g vaginally once daily at bedtime for 5 days

Clindamycin cream (2%): 1 full applicator (5 g) intravaginally at bedtime for 7 days

Sustained-release clindamycin (2%): 1 full applicator 1 time only (7-day duration)

Clindamycin ovules (100 g): intravaginally once at bedtime for 3 days

deal with this problem. Despite the latest "thirdgeneration" anticandidal preparations, women continue to be plagued by the occurrence and recurrence of candidal vulvovaginal infections. While this is sometimes because of undiagnosed and untreated bacterial vaginosis, chronic yeast infections do occur. The 2006 CDC recommendations for treatment of candidiasis are listed in Table 20.1.

Topical azoles are more effective than nystatin and provide for symptom relief and complete treatment in 80 to 90 percent of patients who follow recommended treatment guidelines. Creams and suppositories are oil-based and can weaken latex condoms and diaphragms, however, so it is important to be warned of this possibility. For recurrent vulvovaginal candidiasis, extend the initial topical or oral therapy. The first treatment of recurrence would involve a longer 7- to 14-day topical therapy regimen or a dose of fluconazole orally every three days for a total of three doses. If this does not work, then consider oral fluconazole once weekly for six months. If this treatment is not feasible, one can also use topical clotrimazole (200 mg twice a week) or once-weekly clotrimazole (500 mg) vaginal suppositories for six months.

Emergence of azole-resistant candidiasis is increasing. For non-albicans candidiasis, the recurrence treatment recommendation is 600 mg of boric acid in a gelatin capsule vaginally once daily for two weeks following the original oral or vaginal treatment. Sometimes adding oral *Lactobacillus acidophilus*, especially for women who are using oral contraceptives, daily or every other day helps to reduce recurrences. This is discussed in more detail in the alternative medicine section of this chapter. Instruction in proper hygiene (in terms of always wiping from front to back) is also helpful. There is no need to treat the sexual partner.

Trichomoniasis

The treatment of trichomoniasis has not changed very much over time; it calls for treating the patient

	callient of reast ragintio					
Intravaginal Drug	Regimen					
Butoconazole 2% cream	5 g single intravaginal application					
Clotrimazole 1% cream (OTC)	5 g intravaginally for 7–14 days					
Clotrimazole 100-mg vaginal tablet	2 per day for 3 days					
Miconazole 2% cream (OTC)	5 g intravaginally for 7 days					
Miconazole 100-mg vaginal suppository (OTC)	1 per day for 7 days					
Miconazole 200-mg vaginal suppository (OTC)	1 per day for 3 days					
Miconazole 1200-mg vaginal suppository (OTC)	1 in a single dose					
Nystatin 100,000-unit vaginal tablet	1 per day for 14 days					
Tioconazole 6.5% ointment (OTC)	5 g intravaginally in a single application					
Terconazole 0.4% cream	5 g intravaginally for 7 days					
Terconazole 0.8% cream	5 g intravaginally for 3 days					
Terconazole 80-mg vaginal suppository	1 per day for 3 days					
Oral Drug	Regimen					
Fluconazole 150-mg oral tablet	1 in a single dose					

 Table 20.1
 CDC Guidelines for Intravaginal Treatment of Yeast Vaginitis

and her partner with oral metronidazole. Recommended medications are metronidazole 2 g orally in a single dose; the new Tindamax (tinidazole) 2 g orally in a single dose; or metronidazole 500 mg orally twice daily for seven days. For pregnant women, metronidazole is the safe treatment of choice with 2 g metronidazole in a single oral dose during pregnancy. Nursing women should withhold breast-feeding for 12 to 24 hours after the dose of metronidazole. If you are taking Tindamax, practitioners recommend that you interrupt breastfeeding for three days after the dose.

SEEING A LICENSED PRIMARY HEALTH-CARE PRACTITIONER (N.D., M.D., D.O., N.P., P.A.)

The most appropriate way to assure an accurate diagnosis is to see a licensed health-care practitioner (naturopathic doctor; medical doctor; osteopathic doctor; nurse-practitioner, or physician's assistant) who is familiar with the clinical picture of various forms of vaginitis, can perform a physical exam, knows what to test for, and can collect those samples during your exam. Accurate diagnosis is the most important key to efficient and appropriate treatment, whether the therapies are natural or pharmaceutical. If you know what kind of infection you currently have and choose self-treatment, it is essential to recognize when and if self-treatment isn't working and to seek professional care at that time. It is most important to seek professional care when infections recur more than three times per year, if you have a chronic infection that doesn't fully resolve, or when you are pregnant. Specific testing can be done, but, more important, a licensed practitioner can help determine if underlying disorders are contributing to the vaginal infection. All the alternative therapies discussed in this chapter are generally safe for home use, except for pregnant women.

GENERAL EXERCISE PROGRAM

There is strong and rapidly accumulating evidence that muscular exertion reduces cancer risk. The following recommendations are based on a review of recent scientific literature on physical exercise and cancer risk reduction:

- 1. To prevent injuries, begin each exercise session with Joint Warming Exercises and end each exercise session with Basic Stretches (see the following pages).
- 2. Exercise six days a week. Walk or do moderate hiking on your day off.
- 3. Alternate aerobic (cardiovascular) with strength (weight lifting) exercises.
- 4. Take one day off each week:
 - Forget about your work, your bills, your problems. Seek peace in the woods or mountains.
 - Refresh your being with pure air, pure water, simple food, and communion with nature.
 - Hike moderately, read a good book, lie down and look at the sky or the birds, or take a nap.
 - This is your day of recreation. Let nothing interfere with it.
- 5. Calculate your training heart rate (THR) for aerobic exercise. THR is defined as the range of heart rates that is safe for your heart and will strengthen it. To do this, first calculate your maximum heart rate (MHR):

MHR = 220 - your age (in years)

Next calculate your training heart rate (THR) as a percentage of MHR. If you are just beginning, multiply MHR by 60 percent and 70 percent to get the bottom and top of the range:

Bottom THR = $MHR \times .60$

Top THR = $MHR \times .70$

Otherwise, multiply MHR by 70 percent and 85 percent:

Bottom THR = $MHR \times .70$

Top THR = $MHR \times .85$

Divide the results by 6 to calculate THR per 10 seconds.

As an example, let us calculate THR for a 50-year-old woman who is beginning to exercise.

MHR = 220 - 50 = 170 beats per minute

Bottom THR = $170 \times .60 = 102$ beats per minute

Top THR = $170 \times .70 = 119$ beats per minute

To calculate THR per 10 seconds:

 $102 \div 6 = 17$ $119 \div 6 = 20$

THR range = 17-20 beats per 10 seconds

For this example, the recommendation would be, after three minutes of aerobic exercise, check your pulse for 10 seconds. If it is less than 17, increase your pace. If more than 20, reduce your pace. Repeat this procedure every three minutes or so throughout your exercise session.

JOINT WARMING EXERCISES

The following exercises are designed to protect the joints against injury from weight-bearing exercise. These exercises should be performed before any cardiovascular or strength workout.

1. Neck

Rotate neck gently to left 5 times, then to right 5 times.

2. Shoulders

Rotate shoulders forward 10 times, then backward 10 times.

3. Elbows, Wrists, and Fingers

Begin with arms bent, elbows against the sides of body, hands forming a fist against shoulders. Then extend arms fully, directly in front of you, while opening hands and extending fingers. Return to initial position. Repeat 10 times.

Repeat motion, but this time raise your hands above your head. Don't forget to open your hands and your extend fingers as you extend your arms above your head. Repeat 10 times.

4. Trunk and Waist

Bend your trunk at the waist from right to left and from left to right. Avoid stiffening your muscles or applying force as you do this exercise. Perform the exercise as a gentle rocking movement from side to side. Alternate right to left for 20 counts.

5. Hips

"Hula-hoop" exercise. Perform full circles with your hips rotating clockwise 10 times. Repeat rotating counterclockwise 10 times.

6. Hips and Knees

Bring right knee close to chest by using both hands around knee and gently pulling with your arms. Count to 20. Repeat with left knee.

7. Knees

Standing on left leg, gently bend and extend the right leg 20 times. Repeat exercise with the left leg, 20 times while standing on right leg.

8. Ankles

Standing on left foot, rotate right ankle inward 10 times and then outward 10 times. Repeat exercise with left ankle while standing on right foot.

BASIC STRETCHES

Here are some general guidelines for stretching:

- Stretch at the end of the exercise session, when muscles are warm.
- Hold stretch steadily—do not bounce.
- Accept a bit of discomfort but avoid pain do not push.

1. Calves, Hamstrings, Back, Neck

- Stand, feet apart about shoulder width, toes pointing forward, knees straight.
- Let head and trunk fall forward and down. Let arms hang down. Allow gravity to push down your trunk so that your fingertips will get closer and closer to your toes, without forcing.
- Relax in this position for 30 seconds (over several weeks, increase gradually to 60 seconds).

2. Inner Thigh, Low Back

- Standing, separate feet as much as possible, knees straight.
- Bend trunk forward at the hips, let arms and head hang down comfortably.
- Relax in this position for 20 seconds.

3. Inner Thigh, Right Side of the Body, Left Hamstrings

- Same position as in stretch 2. Rotate trunk over left leg and let your trunk and arms hang along the left leg with hands trying to reach the left foot.
- Relax in this position for 20 seconds.
- Repeat with trunk and arms hanging along the right leg.
- Relax in this position for 20 seconds.

- 4. Tibialis, Quadriceps, Abdominals, Chest, Front of Neck
 - Kneel on hands and knees, with thighs and arms perpendicular to the floor.
 - Keeping hands and knees in place and arms extended, move trunk forward until your abdomen touches the floor. Then raise your head up and back so that you can see the ceiling.
 - Hold this position for about 20 seconds.
 - Keeping hands and knees in place and arms extended, move trunk backward until your buttocks touch your heels. Let head down, forehead against the floor.
 - Relax in this position for 20 seconds.

PREVENTING EXERCISE INJURIES

Prevention of exercise injuries revolves around several guidelines:

1. Stretching. Stretching exercises should be engaged in *after* every exercise session, especially concentrating on the muscle groups that have been utilized during the exercise session. For walkers and runners, this means concentrating on posterior leg muscles, the lower back, and the front of the chest. For cyclers, this means the quadriceps, posterior leg muscles, and upper back. For swimmers, the shoulder joints especially should be stretched as well as the lower back and calves.

2. Strengthening. Often muscle imbalances can create injury problems. For knee problems in runners, for example, often the hamstrings are too strong and the quadriceps are too weak, so progressive resistance exercises for the knee (extension) can be performed, both for prevention and treatment. If the shin area is giving problems or might potentially be a future problem, the anterior leg muscles can be strengthened through toeraising resistive exercises (with stretching of the calf muscle, which is often too strong).

3. Warming up and down. Slow aerobic exercises should always precede and follow hard aer-

obic exertion. Five- to ten-minute transition periods between rest and exercise and then rest are important to help the metabolic, circulatory, and neuromuscular systems adapt without injury or trauma. A recommended warm-up is Joint Warming Exercises (see instructions).

4. Proper equipment. Safety equipment and quality footwear are important for all sports. For the runner this may mean reflective tape and \$50 to \$100 shoes; for the cycler, this means a hard helmet; for the racquetball player, goggles, etc.

5. Gradual progression. The number-one cause of musculoskeletal problems is overuse—too much, too fast, too soon. A conservative beginning, with gradual progression, is the most important injury-prevention practice and is readily available. Many beginner exercisers are overzealous initially and soon acquire injuries that thwart future exercise.

6. Moderation. Avoid too much of any one activity. Engaging in several different activities can help prevent overspecialization and resulting muscle imbalances and overcompulsion.

7. Responsibility of the individual. The individual's responsibility is to stay within the tolerance of her or his own musculoskeletal system. Individual judgment and common sense should be utilized to "listen" to one's body, making adjustments when necessary. This can mean avoiding that extra three miles of running or that extra set of squats, being regular in training, obtaining adequate rest and optimal nutrition, and seeking a balanced approach.

8. Be willing to rest. An important equation in exercise is "Exercise plus rest equals fitness." In other words, it takes both exercise and adequate rest to build fitness. Either alone will not do it. Often beginner exercisers will sacrifice sleep time to get up and exercise. Chronic fatigue may result, and the whole purpose of exercise—to feel better—is negated. It's important to get both rest and exercise. **9. Exercise technique.** Various aerobic activities require special techniques to avoid injury. Flexibility exercises demand stretching below the pain threshold. Regarding aerobic activities such as running or jogging, it is important to keep the body in an upright posture and the arms at a 90-degree angle, swinging from the shoulder. The feet should land almost flatfooted with the weight well back toward the heel. Only sprinters should run on their toes. Breathing should be through the mouth and nose in a regular fashion. Overall, the body should be loose, natural, and poised. Each sport should be studied to ensure adequate technique.

ABBREVIATED GENERAL EXERCISE PROGRAM

Aerobic Exercise

Beginner

- Allow at least 6 weeks for conditioning of your heart: exercise very moderately.
- Exercise at a training heart rate (THR) that is 60–70 percent of your maximum heart rate (MHR).
- Walk for 15 minutes. Increase time of exercise gradually to 30 minutes over the 6-week period.

More Advanced

- For 10 weeks, increase THR to 65–75 percent of MHR.
- Walk for 30–45 minutes.

Advanced

- Increase THR to 70-85 percent of MRH.
- Walk for 45–60 minutes.
- Introduce variations in program. For example, do interval training: walk fast for 5 minutes and then jog for 30 seconds. Repeat combination three times during workout.

Strength Exercise

Beginner

- Follow program of exercise planned for you by an exercise specialist.
- Allow at least 8 weeks for conditioning of your muscles and joints: exercise very moderately and increase weight gradually every week as you get stronger.

More Advanced

- For 6 weeks, do 10 reps, 2 sets.
- Keep increasing weight every week, gradually.

Advanced

- Divide workout into upper body exercises on alternate days.
- Do 10 reps, 3 sets of each exercise.

Preventing Injury from Strength Training

- Work with an exercise specialist who can show you the safe way to use weights.
- Do not compete with anyone but yourself.
- Begin with very light weight, so that you can perform 12–15 repetitions of the exercise easily. Increase weight very gradually.
- Avoid holding your breath while lifting. Breathe in during relaxing part of exercise and breathe out during effort part of exercise.
- Rest and take a mouthful of pure water between exercises.
- Warm up for 3–5 minutes before weight lifting exercises and stretch the muscles used during the exercise session after the workout.

SPEAK PREGNANCY EXERCISES

These exercises for pregnant women are adapted from *Health* magazine (December 1993: 28–30).

1. Cobbler's Pose. This exercise helps the pelvic organs by promoting circulation of blood in this

area. It also helps to assure the correct position of the pelvis. This exercise can be done as often as you like and can be used in general as a sitting position. When sitting in this position, you should be able to feel a stretch on the inside of your thighs, vagina, and hip joints. You may also feel stretching in your knees and ankles.

- Sit on the floor with your back straight and legs stretched out in front. You can sit against a wall to support the lower back.
- Bend your knees and let your knees relax away from each other to each side, bringing the bottom of your feet together. The soles of your feet should now be touching with the outside ankle region resting on the floor.
- Pull your pressed-together feet as close to the opening of your vagina as possible. Open out your thighs and let your knees lower toward the floor. Breathe deeply.

2. Kneeling with Knees Apart. This position helps to alleviate low back pain and decrease tension in the pelvis and pelvic joints. The pelvic joints open and the muscles are able to relax and lengthen in the low back and pelvis. Stretch only as far as you can without bending your back, and then hold this position while breathing deeply. You should be able to feel the stretch in the vaginal region and in the knees and ankles.

- Kneel on the floor with knees as wide apart as possible, the top of your feet on the floor, and your toes pointing in toward each other. Try to sit between your feet with your buttocks on the floor or sit on top of your heels.
- Move slowly forward from the hips, keeping your buttocks down as much as possible and then lean forward and place your palms on the floor in front of you with both arms straight. Try resting on your arms, keeping your back straight. You should feel a stretch in the vagina.

- Try a gently rocking movement, shifting your weight from your arms to your legs.
- Breathe deeply while trying to stay in this position for a minute or longer, and then come up and resume a normal sitting position.

3. Pelvic Floor Exercises. This exercise will help your pelvic floor muscles relax if you do it often enough. This will prove to be helpful in the second stage of labor, and it may prevent a tear when giving birth. This exercise should be done daily, especially in the third trimester.

- Stand with your feet about two feet apart. Squat down and end up squatting on the balls of your feet. Lean forward onto your hands, keeping your arms and back straight, and open your knees wide apart, pointing them to the outside.
- Tighten your pelvic floor muscles, pulling them in as if you are trying to stop yourself from urinating. Hold for several seconds, and then slowly let go. Repeat three to five times.
- Repeat the exercise again, but this time let go in four stages, a little at a time.
- Repeat the exercise again, and this time picture your baby's head passing through your pelvis during the second stage of labor. Each time you breathe out, imagine that your baby is continuing to pass through your vagina as you release your pelvic muscles.

4. Pelvic Tuck-In. One of the health problems during pregnancy can be strain on the lower back due to the extra weight. This exercise strengthens the buttocks muscles, increases support to the lower back, and stabilizes the pelvis, which can help prevent back pain. A gentle rocking movement added to the exercise can be good practice for labor and lessen pain and ease the passage of the baby through the birth canal.

• Position yourself on the floor on your hands and knees. Your knees should be about one foot apart. 364 APPENDIX A

- Pull in and tighten your buttocks, pulling your pelvis so that your back arches like a cat's back when it's afraid or angry. Hold this for 10 to 15 seconds, and then let go.
- Repeat this at least six times, and then do the exercise a little bit faster, rocking your pelvis gently up and down along with your back motion.

Sample Conditioning Exercise Program: 8 Weeks

Aerobic (Sunday, Tuesday, and Thursday)

- Joint Warming Exercises (see instructions).
- Walk briskly for 15 minutes. Gradually increase to 30, 45, or 60 minutes over a period of 4 to 6 weeks. (Other possibilities: Jog, run, swim, cycle, row, play a sport such as tennis, skate, ski, or water exercise.)
- Basic Stretches (see instructions).
- Friction entire body, from feet up (30 seconds), with dry washcloth.
- Shower.

Strength (Monday, Wednesday, and Friday)

- Joint Warming Exercises (see instructions).
- Walk briskly for 15 minutes.
- Dumbbell exercises:

Week 1: begin with a weight that allows you to do 10–12 repetitions (reps) of each exercise easily.

Week 2: increase weight, 10 reps. Week 3: 10 reps, 2 sets per exercise. Week 4: increase weight, 10 reps, 2 sets. Week 5: increase weight, 10 reps, 2 sets. Week 6: increase reps to 12, 2 sets. Week 7: increase weight, 12 reps, 2 sets. Week 8: increase weight, 12 reps, 2 sets.

- Basic Stretches (see instructions).
- Friction entire body, from feet up (30 seconds), with dry washcloth.
- Shower.

Rest (Saturday)

• See item 4 on page 359.

More Advanced Strength Training: Weeks 9–16

To continue with strength training, it is probably best to join a health club, fitness club, gymnasium, or a similar organization.

Divide your workouts into body parts and do two sets per exercise. Begin each workout by warming up for 5 to 10 minutes and end each workout with 5 to 10 minutes of Basic Stretches.

Day	Part	Exercise (2 sets each)	Reps
Day 1	Chest	Bench press	8-10
	Biceps	Arm curl	8-10
	Abdominals	Easy crunches	8-10
Day 2	Back	Pull-down to chest	8-10
	Triceps	Arm extension	8-10
	Abdominals	Easy crunches	8-10
Day 3	Legs	Squat or leg press	8-10
	Calves	Heel raise	8-10
	Shoulders	Press behind neck	8-10

Weight Lifting Guidelines

- 1. Work out on alternate days.
- 2. Take a mouthful of water between sets.
- 3. For each repetition, breathe out during the effort phase of the repetition, breathe in during the relaxation phase.
- 4. If, after a workout, the exercised muscles are sore for more than 48 hours, reduce the weight and/or the number of repetitions.
- 5. Most injuries from exercise result from doing "too much, too fast, too soon."
- 6. Warm up for 5 to 10 minutes before the workout. Joint mobility exercises are excellent for this purpose.
- 7. From week to week increase weight slightly so that you can continue to perform the same number of repetitions per exercise as in the previous week.
- 8. After 16 weeks of this conditioning program, you may

Increase the number of sets per exercise Modify your routine to include other exercises Concentrate on body areas that need extra work

BODY MASS INDEX

					1			
А	Ρ	Ρ	Е	N	D	I	Х	К

Healthy Weight					Overweight				Obese									
BMI	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36
Ht (i	n)							Bod	y weigh	t (lb)								
58	91	95	100	105	110	114	119	124	129	133	138	143	148	152	157	162	167	172
59	94	99	104	109	114	119	124	129	134	139	144	149	154	159	164	169	174	179
60	97	102	107	112	117	122	127	132	138	143	148	153	158	163	168	173	178	183
61	101	106	111	117	122	127	132	138	143	148	154	159	164	169	175	180	185	191
62	103	109	114	120	125	130	136	141	147	152	158	163	168	174	179	185	190	196
63	107	113	119	124	130	135	141	147	152	158	164	169	175	181	186	192	198	203
64	111	117	123	129	135	141	146	152	158	164	170	176	182	187	193	199	205	211
65	114	120	126	132	138	144	150	156	162	168	174	180	186	192	198	204	210	216
66	118	124	131	137	143	149	156	162	168	174	180	187	193	199	205	212	218	224
67	121	127	134	140	147	153	159	166	172	178	185	191	198	204	210	217	223	229
68	125	132	139	145	152	158	165	172	178	185	191	198	205	211	218	224	231	238
69	128	135	142	149	155	162	169	176	182	189	196	203	209	216	223	230	236	243
70	133	140	147	154	161	168	175	182	189	196	203	210	217	224	231	237	237	244
71	136	143	150	157	164	171	179	186	193	200	207	214	221	229	236	243	250	257
72	140	148	155	162	170	177	185	192	199	207	214	221	229	236	244	251	258	266
73	143	151	158	166	174	181	189	196	204	211	219	226	234	241	249	257	264	272
74	148	156	164	171	179	187	195	203	210	218	226	234	242	249	257	265	273	281
75	151	159	167	175	183	191	199	207	215	223	231	239	247	255	263	271	279	287
76	156	164	172	181	189	197	205	214	222	230	238	246	255	263	271	279	287	296

This page intentionally left blank

HORMONE REPLACEMENT THERAPY PRESCRIPTIONS

The following has been adapted from *The 2004 Guide to Hormone Therapy Products* by Nayahmka McGriff-Lee, Pharm.D., GlaxoSmithKline; and Karim Anton Calis, Pharm.D., M.P.H., Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health (*Ob/Gyn* Special Edition Spring 2004: North American Menopause Society).

ORAL ESTROGENS

Cenestin	9 synthetic plant-derived conjugated
	estrogens; slow-release tablet
	0.3 mg, 0.45 mg, 0.625 mg, 0.9
	mg, 1.25 mg
Enjuvia	Synthetic conjugated estrogens
	0.3 mg, 0.45 mg, 0.625 mg, 1.25
	mg
Estratab	Esterified estrogens
	0.3 mg, 0.625 mg, 1.25 mg, 2.5
	mg
Estrace	17 beta-estradiol; most active form
	of endogenous estrogen; up to 90%
	of the oral dose is converted to
	estrogen by the gut and liver
	0.5 mg, 1.0 mg, 2.0 mg
Femtrace	Estradiol acetate
	0.45 mg, 0.9 mg, 1.8 mg
Gynediol	17 beta-estradiol; micronized for-
	mulation; 2 mg tablet contains tar-
	trazine (dye) that may cause allergy
	in patients with a sensitivity to
	aspirin
	0.5 mg, 1.0 mg, 1.5 mg; 2.0 mg
Menest	Esterified estrogens (synthetic
	plant-derived)
	0.3 mg, 0.625 mg, 1.25 mg, 2.5 mg
Ogen	Estropipate; 0.625 mg tablet con-
-	tains 0.75 mg estropipate; 1.25 mg

tablet contains 1.5 mg estropipate; 2.5 mg tablet contains 3 mg estropipate

APPENDIX

0.625 mg, 1.25 mg, 2.5 mg

- Ortho-Est Estropipate; 0.625 mg tablet contains 0.75 mg estropipate; 1.25 mg tablet contains 1.5 mg estropipate 0.625 mg, 1.25 mg
- PremarinConjugated equine estrogens;
50–60% estrone sodium sulfate;
20–35% equilin sodium sulfate and
17 beta-dihydroequilin; small
amounts of 17 beta-estradiol and
equilenin; contains over 200 compounds, including androgenic compounds
0.3 mg, 0.45 mg, 0.625 mg, 0.9
mg, 1.25 mg

Indications

Moderate to severe vasomotor symptoms Vulvar and vaginal atrophy Osteoporosis prevention

Note: Cenestin and Menest are not FDAapproved for the prevention of osteoporosis; Cenestin 0.3 mg is indicated only for vasomotor symptoms; Menest is indicated for atrophic vaginitis.

Adverse Effects

Common: breakthrough bleeding, breast tenderness, nausea, bloating, abdominal cramps, vomiting, headache, dizziness, depression, peripheral edema, weight changes, rash, intolerance to contact lenses, migraine, libido changes **Rare:** thromboembolism, stroke, endometrial cancer, breast cancer (when used with a progestogen), hepatic adenoma, gallbladder disease, increased blood pressure, myocardial infarction

Dosing

Continuous or cyclic (21 days on, 7 days off) Add a progestogen 10–14 days of month for women with uterus.

Drug Interactions

Drugs affected by oral estrogens: corticosteroids (increased), levothyroxine (decrease), theophylline (increase), warfarin (decrease), antibiotics (decrease), androgens (decrease), nicotine (eliminates more rapidly) **Drugs that affect oral estrogens:** barbiturates (decrease), rifampin (decrease)

TRANSDERMAL ESTROGENS

17 beta-estradiol (2x/week); 0.05
mg/24-hour patch
0.025 mg, 0.05 mg, 0.075 mg,
0.1 mg
17 beta-estradiol (1x/week); 0.05
mg/24-hour patch
0.025 mg, 0.0375 mg, 0.05 mg,
0.06 mg, 0.075, 0.1 mg
17 beta-estradiol (2x/week); 0.05
mg/24-hour patch
0.025 mg, 0.0375 mg, 0.05 mg,
0.075 mg, 0.1 mg
17 beta-estradiol (2x/week);0.05
mg/24-hour patch
Includes a drug reservoir of
estradiol and alcohol and a copoly-
mer membrane that controls the
rate of drug diffusion
0.05 mg, 0.1 mg
Topical emulsion of estradiol
hemihydrate
1 g emulsion = 2.5 mg estradiol;
each foil-laminated pouch contains
1.74 g (4.35 mg estradiol hemihy-
drate); nominal estradiol delivery
rate of 0.05 mg/day

Estrogel	17 beta-estradiol; nonaerosol,
	metered-dose pump; gel dries in
	as little as 2–5 minutes
	1.25 g (0.75 mg estradiol)
	1x/day; 1 pump = 0.05 patch
FemPatch	17 beta-estradiol
	0.025 mg (2x/week)
Menostar	17 beta-estradiol
	One patch provides 14 mcg
	of estradiol per day (1x/week)
Vivelle or	17 beta-estradiol (2x/week); 0.05
Vivelle-Dot	mg/24-hour patch
	0.025 mg, 0.0375, 0.05 mg,
	0.075 mg, 0.1 mg

Indications

Moderate to severe vasomotor symptoms Vulvar and vaginal atrophy

Note: Alora and Vivelle-Dot are also indicated for the prevention of osteoporosis; Estrasorb is indicated only for moderate to severe vasomotor symptoms.

Adverse Effects

Common: Erythema and skin irritation occurs in 10–17% of patients using reservoir-type patches compared to approximately 5% with newer matrix-type patches, breakthrough bleeding, breast tenderness, nausea, abdominal cramps, headache, peripheral edema, migraine **Rare:** rash, thromboembolism, stroke, endometrial cancer, breast cancer (when used with a progestogen), increased blood pressure

Dosing and Administration

Discontinue oral therapy for 1 week before initiating transdermal estrogen. Patch should be applied to the trunk of the body. Avoid application on the breasts. Rotate application site weekly to minimize irritation. Patch may be worn while showering or swimming.

Drug Interactions

See oral estrogens (except antibiotics and nicotine).

VAGINAL ESTROGENS

Estrace	17 beta-estradiol; 0.01% cream;
cream	1 g 1–3x/week 0.1 mg per g
	Consider starting with 2–4 g every
	day intravaginally for 2–4 weeks,
	and then 1–2 g for 1–2 weeks;
	maintenance dose usually 1 g
	1–3x/week
Estring	Alpha estradiol; biologically inert
U	liquid polymer matrix with pure
	crystalline estradiol; releases 7.5
	mcg/24 hours over 90 days
	2 mg delivered over 90 days:
	replace ring every 90 days
Femring	Estradiol acetate: device contains
8	12.4 mg or 24.8 mg estradiol ac-
	etate, which releases 0.05 mg/24
	hours or 0.1 mg/24 hours: replace
	every 3 months
Ogen cream	Estropipate: 2–4 g 1–3x/ week
- -	1.5 mg per g of cream
Premarin	Conjugated equine estrogens
cream	(CEE)
	0.625 mg per g of cream: $0.5-2$ g
	1-3x/week: applicator marked in
	0.5 g intervals: absorbed slower
	than other estrogen preparations
	and therefore a longer duration of
	action
Vagifem	Estradiol hemihydrate yaginal
, agricini	tablets: a gel forms when the
	tablet comes in contact with the
	vagina: initial dose of 1 tablet
	1x/day for 2 weeks and then
	maintenance of 2x/week
	25 mgg in single uss applicator 1
	2) meg in single use applicator; 1

Indications

Vulvar and vaginal atrophy

Note: Premarin and Vagifem are indicated for atrophic vaginitis; Femring is also indicated for moderate to severe vasomotor symptoms.

Adverse Effects

Common: headache, nausea, vaginal discomfort, vaginal candidiasis **Rare:** vaginal trauma from the applicator if patient has severe atrophy

Dosing and Administration

Daily dosing will achieve systemic concentrations. Low dose, 1–3x/week, will achieve predominantly local effects.

Drug Interactions

See oral estrogens (except antibiotics and nicotine); interactions are based on extent of systemic absorption.

ORAL ESTROGEN-PROGESTIN COMBINATIONS

Activella	1 mg 17 beta-estradiol/0.5 mg
	norethindrone acetate
	Continuous combined regimen, 1
	pill daily
Angeliq	1 mg 17 beta-estradiol + 0.5 mg
	drospirenone
Femhrt	5 mcg ethinyl estradiol/1 mg
	norethindrone acetate
	Continuous combined regimen, 1
	pill daily
Prefest	1 mg 17 beta-estradiol + 1 mg 17
	beta-estradiol/.09 mg norgestimate
	3 days estradiol tablet, and then 3
	days norgestimate tablet, alternat-
	ing continuously; packaged as 2
	separate tablets

- Premphase 0.625 conjugated equine estrogen (CEE) days 1–14 days and a combo tablet of 0.625 mg CEE/5.0 mg medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA) days 15–28 Packaged as 2 separate tablets
- Prempro 0.625 mg CEE/2.5 mg MPA; or 0.625 mg CEE/5.0 mg MPA; or 0.3 mg CEE/1.5 mg MPA; or 0.45 mg CEE/1.5 mg MPA A single tablet contains one of the four dosing options; continuous combined regimen

Indications

Combination therapy is indicated for women with an intact uterus

Adverse Effects

See oral estrogens and oral progestins.

Dosing and Administration

Addition of a progestin for at least 10–12 days per month protects against the increased risk of endometrial hyperplasia that occurs with unopposed estrogen use.

Continuous combined therapy is an alternative regimen that reduces and often eliminates withdrawal bleeding when compared to a cyclic regimen.

Potential Drug Interactions

See oral estrogens (except antibiotics and nicotine) and oral progestins.

TRANSDERMAL ESTROGEN-PROGESTIN COMBINATIONS

CombiPatch .05 mg 17 beta-estradiol/0.14 mg norethindrone acetate; 2 patches/ week .05 mg 17 beta-estradio/0.25 mg norethindrone acetate; 2 patches/week ClimaraPro 0.045 estradio/0.015 mg levonorgestrel; 1 patch/week

Indications

Moderate to severe vasomotor symptoms

Note: CombiPatch is also indicated for vulvar and vaginal atrophy.

Adverse Effects

See transdermal estrogens and oral progestins.

Dosing and Administration

Complete the current cycle of therapy before initiating combination transdermal therapy. Apply to lower abdomen.

Potential Drug Interactions

See oral estrogens (except antibiotics and nicotine) and oral progestins.

ORAL PROGESTINS

Amen	Medroxyprogesterone acetate
	5.0 mg, 10 mg
Aygestin	Norethindrone acetate
	5 mg
Cycrin	Medroxyprogesterone acetate
	2.5 mg, 5 mg, 10 mg
Megace	Megestrol acetate
-	20 mg, 40 mg
Micronor	Norethindrone acetate
	5 mg
Nor-QD	Norethindrone
	.35 mg
Ovrette	Norgestrel 0.075 mg; 19-nor deriv-
	ative of testosterone with progesto-
	genic, estrogenic, androgenic, and
	antiestrogenic effects
Provera	Medroxyprogesterone acetate
	2.5 mg, 5 mg, 10 mg; usual main-
	tenance dose of 5–10 mg daily for
	12–14 days per month

Indications

To reduce the incidence of endometrial hyperplasia in nonhysterectomized women receiving estrogen

Adverse Effects

Common: breast tenderness, nausea, irritability, weight change, fluid retention, sleep disturbance **Rare:** thromboembolism, edema, rash; increased risk of breast cancer when used with estrogens

Dosing and Administration

Use for 12–14 consecutive days. Start on day 16 or 21 of cycle when used in combination with estrogen.

Potential Drug Interactions

Drugs affected by oral progestins: warfarin (decrease), digoxin (decrease) **Drugs that affect oral progestins:** rifampin (decrease)

PROGESTERONE

PrometriumOral micronized progesterone
100 mg, 200 mg; 200 mg daily
for 12–14 days, or 100 mg
dailyProchieve4% vaginal progesterone

Note: Progesterone is generally associated with less nuisance effects than progestins. It is unclear if progesterone has a better safety profile for more serious side effects. Natural progesterone may be used as a sleep aid.

INTRAUTERINE PROGESTINS

Mirena 20 mcg/day approximate release rate 52 mg IU has 5-year use

VAGINAL PROGESTERONE GEL

Prochieve 4% progesterone; 45-mg applicator

ESTROGEN/TESTOSTERONE

Estratest h.s.	0.625 esterified estrones/1.25
	methyltestosterone
Estratest	1.25 esterified estrones/2.5
	methyltestosterone

TESTOSTERONE

Androgel	10 mg/g (formulated for men)
1% gel	
Testoderm	1 patch delivers 4 mg over 24
	hours (formulated for men)
	1 patch delivers 6 mg over 24
	hours
Androderm	1 patch delivers 2.5 mg over 24
	hours (formulated for men)
	1 patch delivers 5 mg over 24
	hours
Female	300 mcg patch (not commer-
testosterone	cially available yet)
patch	

Indications

Treatment of vasomotor symptoms in patients who do not respond to estrogen alone Androgens may improve libido, energy, and overall well-being

Adverse Effects

Common: virilization, changes in libido (increased or decreased), nausea, abdominal cramps, headache, breakthrough bleeding, breast tenderness, edema **Rare:** increased liver function tests, polycythemia, cholestatic hepatitis, jaundice, hypercalcemia, thromboembolism, stroke, endometrial cancer, breast cancer, hepatic adenoma, gallbladder disease, increased blood pressure

Dosing and Administration

Cycle 21 days on, 7 off Can be used continuously

372 APPENDIX C

Potential Drug Interactions

Drugs affected by oral estrogens-androgens: warfarin (increase), cyclosporine (increase) **Drugs that affect oral estrogens-androgens:** barbiturates, phenytoin
PROCEDURES AND PRACTICES

APPENDIX

BREAST SELF-EXAM

The breast self-exam should be done in three steps:*

1. The first step is a visual exam in front of a mirror: Look at your breasts with your arms at your sides, then hold your arms overhead, clasping your hands behind your head. Next place your hands on your hips, roll your shoulders forward, and bow forward slightly as you pull your shoulders and elbows forward. Inspect both breasts for swelling, changes in skin (dimpling, puckering, discoloration, or scaling of skin), or changes in your nipples, including retraction or discharge.

2. The second step is to lie down and place a small pillow or folded towel under your right shoulder and your right arm behind your head. Press firmly with the pads of your fingers and move your left hand over all parts of your right breast in an up-and-down motion as if you are tracking vertical lines in rows next to each other. Pay extra attention to the area between the breast and the armpit, including the armpit itself. Gently squeeze the nipple to check for discharge. Check the left breast with your right hand in the same way.

3. The third step is standing. With your left arm behind your head, use your right hand to examine your left breast. Move your fingers up and down in vertical rows pressing firmly with the pads of your fingers. Repeat this on the right breast.

ALTERNATING SITZ BATHS

Obtain two large tubs that you are able to sit in. Fill one half full with hot water (bath water temperature). Fill the other one half full with ice cold water. Sit in the hot water for three minutes and then quickly sit in the cold for 30 seconds. Repeat this three times in succession. Quickly get dressed or put on a robe or blankets so as not to become chilled. The room where you are doing the treatment should be comfortable and warm.

CASTOR OIL PACK

Materials needed:

- 1. Wool flannel cloth
- 2. Plastic sheet (medium thickness)
- 3. Bath towel
- 4. Two safety pins
- 5. Bowl
- 6. Castor oil
- 7. Plastic wrap
- 8. Baking soda
- 9. Large resealable plastic bag

Instructions

Fold a piece of wool or cotton flannel to make a pack three layers thick and approximately 12 inches square. This size is recommended for abdominal and pelvic applications. Pour castor oil into the bowl. Place the cloth in the bowl to saturate the flannel; wring it out so it is not dripping. Place the plastic sheet on the bed where you will be lying down. Apply the cloth to the designated bodily area and cover it with a piece of plastic wrap. Wrap a towel around the entire area and fasten it with safety pins. Lie down and avoid becoming chilled. The pack should stay in place for a minimum of one hour but may be worn longer. After removing the castor oil pack, clean the skin with soda water (two teaspoons of baking soda added to a quart of warm water).

^{*}Adapted from the American Cancer Society, September 2006, cancer.org.

The castor oil pack may be saved in a resealable plastic bag or container for future use. It can be used repeatedly for a number of treatments.

INFUSIONS

An infusion is a simple tea made with one or more herbs steeped in boiled water. To make an infusion, weigh out one ounce of dry herbs. Add one pint (two cups) of boiling water to the herbs. Some herbs will taste better if you use more than two cups of water. Steep the herbs for ten to twenty minutes. Herbs that are steeped longer will become stronger. Strain the tea through a metal-wire or bamboo tea strainer. Drink throughout the day.

RECOMMENDED SCREENING TESTS AND IMMUNIZATIONS



The following charts list recommended screenings and immunizations for women at average risk for most diseases and for women with various risk factors. These are guidelines only. Your health-care provider will personalize the timing of each test and immunization to best meet your health-care needs. The charts are based on the recommendations of the National Women's Health Information Center, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office on Women's Health as of October 2006.

	3		2	
Screening Tests	Ages 18–39	Ages 40–49	Ages 50-64	Ages 65 and Older
Full checkup, including weight and height	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.
Thyroid test (TSH)	Start at age 35, and then every 5 years	Every 5 years	Every 5 years	Every 5 years
Blood pressure test	At least every 2 years	At least every 2 years	At least every 2 years	At least every 2 years
Cholesterol test	Start at age 20; discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.
Bone mineral density test	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	At least once; talk to your doctor or nurse about repeat testing.	
Blood glucose test	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Start at age 45, and then every 3 years	Every 3 years	Every 3 years
Mammogram		Every 1–2 years; discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Every 1–2 years; discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Every 1–2 years; discuss with your doctor or nurse.
Pap test and pelvic exam	Get this test if you have been sexually active or are older than 21.	Every 1–3 years	Every 1–3 years	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.
Chlamydia test	Yearly until age 25 if sexually active; older than age 25, get this test if you have new or multiple partner. All pregnant women should have this test.	Get this test if you have new or multiple partners. All pregnant women should have this test.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse. (continued)

Recommended Screening Tests and Immunizations for Women at Average Risk

Screening Tests	Ages 18–39	Ages 40–49	Ages 50–64	Ages 65 and Older
Sexually transmitted infection (STI) tests	Both partners should get tested for STIs, including HIV, before initiating sexual intercourse.	Both partners should get tested for STIs, including HIV, before initiating sexual intercourse.	Both partners should get tested for STIs, including HIV, before initiating sexual intercourse	Both partners should get tested for STIs, including HIV, before initiating sexual intercourse.
Fecal occult blood test			Yearly	Yearly
Flexible sigmoidoscopy (with fecal occult blood test)			Every 5 years (if not having a colonoscopy)	Every 5 years (if not having a colonoscopy)
Double contrast barium enema (DCBE)			Every 5–10 years (if not having a colonoscopy or sigmoidoscopy)	Every 5–10 years (if not having a colonoscopy or sigmoidoscopy)
Colonoscopy			Every 10 years	Every 10 years
Rectal exam	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Every 5–10 years (with sigmoidoscopy, colonoscopy, or DCBE)	Every 5–10 years (with sigmoidoscopy, colonoscopy, or DCBE)
Eye exam	Get your eyes checked if you have problems or visual changes.	Every 2–4 years	Every 2–4 years	Every 1–2 years
Hearing test	Starting at age 18, and then every 10 years	Every 10 years	Every 3 years	Every 3 years
Mole exam	Monthly mole self-exam; by a doctor every 3 years, starting at age 20	Monthly mole self-exam; by a doctor every year	Monthly mole self-exam; by a doctor every year	Monthly mole self-exam; by a doctor every year
Dental exam	One to two times every year	One to two times every year	One to two times every year	One to two times every year
Mental health screening	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.

Recommended Screening Tests and Immunizations for Women at Average Risk (continued)

RECOMMENDED SCREENING TESTS AND IMMUNIZATIONS 377

Immunizations	Ages 18-39	Ages 40-49	Ages 50–64	Ages 65 and Older
Influenza vaccine	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Yearly	Yearly
Pneumococcal vaccine				One time only
Human papillomavirus vaccine (HPV)	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	Discuss with your doctor or nurse.	
Meningococcal vaccine	Discuss with your doctor or nurse if attending college.			
Tetanus-diphtheria booster vaccine	Every 10 years	Every 10 years	Every 10 years	Every 10 years

The following chart lists screenings or tests you might need more often or earlier due to having high-risk factors or things in your life that increase your chances of developing a condition or disease.

Recommended Screening Tests and Immunizations for Women with High-Risk Factors		
Does your family history include?	You may need these tests more often or at a younger age	
High blood pressure	Blood pressure test	
High cholesterol	Cholesterol test	
Heart disease, premature heart disease, or heart attack	Blood pressure test, cholesterol test, exercise stress test	
Diabetes	Blood glucose test	
Breast cancer	Mammogram, ovarian cancer tests	
Cervical, uterine, or vaginal cancer	Pap test, pelvic exam, ovarian cancer tests, colon screening	
Ovarian cancer	Pelvic exam, ovarian cancer tests, colon screening, clinical breast exam	
Osteoporosis, bone fracture in adulthood	Bone mineral density test	
Thyroid disease or thyroid cancer	Thyroid test and/or genetic counseling	
Gum (periodontal) disease	Oral exam	
Are you?	You may need these tests or vaccines more often or at a younger age	
African-American	Blood pressure test, cholesterol test, blood glucose test, vision exam, colonoscopy, genetic counseling for sickle cell anemia	
Alaska Native or Pacific Islander	Blood glucose test	
Ashkenazi Jewish descent	Genetic counseling for Tay-Sachs disease if you want to become pregnant	

(continued)

5	
Are you?	You may need these tests or vaccines more often or at a younger age
Ashkenazi Jewish with family history of breast or ovarian cancer	Genetic counseling for possible BRCA1/2 mutation
Asian-American	Blood glucose test
Hispanic American	Blood pressure test, cholesterol test, blood glucose test, colonoscopy
Native American	Blood glucose test
Age 65 or older	Bone mineral density test, flu vaccine, pneumococcal vaccine
Between the ages of 60 and 64, weigh less than 154 lbs., and not taking estrogen	Bone mineral density test
College age	MMR vaccine, varicella vaccine, human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine, meningococcal vaccine
Postmenopausal	Bone mineral density test
Pregnant	Blood pressure test, blood glucose test, urine test, HIV test, STI tests, MMR vaccine, hepatitis B antigen test
A nonpregnant woman of childbearing age	MMR vaccine, varicella vaccine
A smoker	Blood pressure test, cholesterol test, bone mineral density test, oral exam, vision exam
Overweight	Blood pressure test, blood glucose test, weight checked
Living in prison	Tuberculosis (TB) test, HIV test, STI tests, hepatitis A and B vaccines
Living in long-term care	TB test, influenza vaccine, pneumococcal vaccine
A health-care worker	TB test, influenza vaccine, pneumococcal vaccine, MMR vaccine, varicella vaccine, hepatitis B vaccine with post-vaccination testing, HIV test, hepatitis test, hepatitis B vaccine if exposed to blood
Do you have or have you had?	You may need these tests or vaccines more often or at a younger age
High blood pressure	Blood pressure test, cholesterol test, blood glucose test
High cholesterol	Blood pressure test, cholesterol test, blood glucose test
Heart disease	Blood pressure test, cholesterol test, blood glucose test, influenza vaccine, pneumococcal vaccine
Diabetes	Blood pressure test, cholesterol test, blood glucose test, vision exam, urine sugar test
Gestational diabetes	Blood glucose test
A baby weighing more than 9 lbs.	Blood glucose test

Recommended Screening Tests and Immunizations for Women with High-Risk Factors (continued)

(continued)

Do you have or have you had?	You may need these tests or vaccines more often or at a younger age
Breast cancer	Mammogram, ovarian cancer tests
Dense breasts	Mammogram, clinical breast exam
Cervical, uterine, vaginal cancer	Pap test, pelvic exam, ovarian cancer tests, colon screening
Ovarian cancer	Pelvic exam, ovarian cancer tests, mammogram, colon screening
Previous abnormal Pap tests	Pap test, pelvic exam, human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine
Early menopause (natural or surgical), absent or infrequent menstrual periods, bone fracture in adulthood, low calcium intake, little physical activity, low body weight (under 154 lbs.), an eating disorder such as anorexia nervosa	Bone mineral density test
An autoimmune disease (lupus, rheumatoid arthritis, scleroderma, multiple sclerosis, psoriasis)	Thyroid test, TB test, influenza vaccine, MMR vaccine, pneumococcal vaccine, autoimmune screening test, bone mineral density test
Chronic lung disease	Influenza vaccine, pneumococcal vaccine
Chronic liver disease	Hepatitis A and B vaccines
Thyroid disease (if hyperthyroid)	Thyroid test, influenza vaccine, pneumococcal vaccine, bone mineral density test
Gum (periodontal) disease	Oral exam
Colon polyps or inflammatory bowel disease	Colonoscopy
A developmental delay	Vision exam, hearing test
Eye injury or disease	Vision exam
Ear injury or prolonged exposure to loud noise	Hearing test
HIV/AIDS	Oral exam, vision exam, Pap test, pelvic exam, TB test, thyroid test, STI tests, influenza vaccine, pneumococcal vaccine, hepatitis screening, hepatitis A and B vaccines
A blood transfusion or organ transplant before 1992 or received clotting factor concentrates made before 1987	Hepatitis C test
A blood transfusion before 1985	HIV test
Multiple sex partners or a partner who has or has had multiple sex partners	STI tests, HIV test, hepatitis B vaccine, Pap test, pelvic exam, human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine
Alcoholism	Pneumococcal vaccine, TB test, psychological screening, liver tests
Injection drug use (IDU) or addiction	Hepatitis A and B vaccines, hepatitis C test, TB test, STI tests, HIV test, psychological screening

(continued)

Do you have or have you had?	You may need these tests or vaccines more often or at a younger age
A sexually transmitted infection (STI)	STI tests, HIV test, Pap test, pelvic exam, hepatitis B vaccine, human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine
Lived or worked with someone exposed to tuberculosis (TB)	TB test
A serious injury (cut or laceration)	Tetanus-diphtheria booster vaccine
A baby within the last few months	Postpartum depression screening

Recommended Screening Tests and Immunizations for Women with High-Risk Factors (continued)

RESOURCES

Horse Chestnut

HRT Companion

Immune Symmetry

IC Blend

Varicose veins,

Companion to HRT

Interstitial cystitis

Infections, immune

lymphedema

HERBAL AND NUTRITIONAL PRODUCTS

Vitanica Formulations Developed by Dr. Tori Hudson

Product	Purpose	Iron Extra	support Iron deficient anemia
Adrenal Assist	Adrenal support	Ingifamono	Bono support
Autonal Assist	fatione	Iprinavone Loctation Bland	Broost fooding support
Black Cohosh	Menopause symptoms	LactationDiend	Lain alin naile
Breastblend	Breast cancer		
Dieastoiena	prevention	Lysine Extra	Herpes infections
D	Misusius has deshes	Maternal Symmetry	Prenatal multivitamin
Cond' L Sent		Mindblend	Memory, focus,
CandidaStat	Systemic candida		concentration
0 11 11 1	syndrome	Nausea Ease	Nausea—pregnancy
Cardioblend	Heart disease		and other
	prevention	OC Companion	Companion to oral
Chaste Tree Berry	Abnormal uterine		contraceptives
	bleeding	Opti-Recovery	Surgery support
Cholestblend	High cholesterol	Osteoblend	Osteoporosis
CoQ10	Heart disease		prevention
Cramp Bark Extra	Menstrual cramps	OsteoDrink	Osteoporosis
CranStat Extra	Urinary tract		prevention
	infections	PCOS Blend	Polycystic ovarian
Fem Rebalance	Irregular menses,		syndrome
	hormonal balance	PhytoEstrogen	Phytoestrogen powder
Fibroblend	Fibrocystic breasts	Herbal	
GABA Ease	Anxiety	Pregnancy Prep	Fertility enhancement
Ginger Extract Plus	Nausea, high choles-	Red Clover	Hot flashes
0	terol, cramping	Rhodiola	Fatigue, memory.
Gingko Extract Plus	Memory	1010 #101#	stress
Green Tea	Breast health, immune	Senior Symmetry	Multiple vitamin-
	support	Senior Symmetry	mineral 65+
HBP Blend	High blood pressure	Sleephlend	Insomnia
HenaFem	Liver support, liver	Slow Flow	Menstrual flow
r	detox	SIUW L'IUW	raduction
Herbal Symmetry	Multiherh daily	Say Chaice	Hot flooben alarated
Hernhland	Hernes simpley	Soy Choice	- 1 of masnes, elevated
repoiena	r terpes simplex		cnolesterol

St. John's Wort	Depression
Thyro Fem	Hypothyroid
Uplift	Depression
Veinoblend	Varicose veins
Woman's Passage	Menopause symptoms
C	support
Women's Phase I	Premenstrual
	syndrome
Women's Phase II	Menopause symptoms
	support
Women's Symmetry	Multiple vitamin-
	mineral
Yeast Arrest	Yeast vaginitis

Companion Products to Conventional Cancer Treatments. The following Vitanica products are available only through licensed practitioners:

AC Blend TX Blend R Blend Base Blend

Environmental Products. The following Vitanica products are available only through licensed practitioners:

Endocrine Disruptor Relief Neuro Disruptor Relief Women's Detox Co-Factors

Vaginal Suppositories. The following Vitanica products are available only through licensed practitioners, except Yeast Arrest:

Green Tea Herbal-C Papillo Vag Pak Vita-A Yeast Arrest

CLINICAL GUIDE TO VITANICA PRODUCT USAGE

Abnormal Uterine Bleeding: Heavy Bleeding

Slow Flow	Acute: 3 caps every 3 hours
	during heavy flow
	Chronic recurring: 2 caps
	daily (up to 6 caps daily
	for 3 months, and then 1
	cap daily and/or Chaste
	Tree Berry 1–2 caps/daily)

Abnormal Uterine Bleeding: Irregular Bleeding

Chaste Tree Berry 1-2 caps daily

Amenorrhea

Rhodiola	100 mg 2 to 3 times daily
Chaste Tree Berry	1 cap daily
Osteoblend	2 caps twice daily to
	prevent osteoporosis
Ipriflavone	1 cap 3 times daily to
	prevent osteoporosis

Anemia (Iron Deficiency)

Iron Extra	1–4 caps daily
Anxiety	
GABA Ease	2 caps twice daily
Bladder Infections	

Bladder Infections

CranStat Extra	Acute: 2 caps every 2 hours
	for the first 2 days, and
	then 2 caps 3–4 times
	daily for 7–14 days or
	until resolution; for best
	results, add 1,000 mg
	vitamin C to each dose
	Chronic recurring: 2 caps
	daily

Breast-feeding			Chronic health problem:
LactationBlend	1 to 2 caps twice daily		3–4 caps daily Serious chronic health
Breast Cancer Preve	ntion		problem, high stress, or
Breastblend Green Tea PhytoEstrogen Herbal Soy Choice	2 caps twice daily 1–3 caps daily 1 tbs 1–2 times daily 1–4 caps daily	Senior Symmetry Herbal Symmetry	heavy exerciser: 2 caps 3 times daily Same regimen as with Women's Symmetry 2 caps daily
	I cap daily	Hair, Skin, Naiis	2 (1 1
Cholesterol		Luminous	2–6 caps daily
Cardioblend	2 caps twice daily 1 cap 3 times daily 1 cap daily	Heart Disease	
CoQ101 cap 5 times dailyGinger Extract Plus1–2 caps dailyPhytoEstrogen1 tbs 1–2 times dailyHerbal1		Cardioblend	2 caps twice daily for
	1–2 caps daily 1 tbs 1–2 times daily	CoQ10 Ginger Extract Plus Soy Choice	1 cap daily 1 cap twice daily 1–4 caps daily
Soy Choice 1–4 caps daily		Hemorrhoids	
Depression		Horse Chestnut	1 cap twice daily
Rhodiola	100 mg 1 to 3 times	Herpes (Oral or Genital)	
St. John's Wort Uplift	1 cap 3 times daily 1 cap 3 times daily	Lysine Extra	<i>Acute:</i> 2 caps 2–3 times daily for up to 10 days
Detoxification			Chronic: 2 caps per day
Women's Detox	4 caps twice daily	High Blood Pressure	
Co-factors Endocrine 2 caps twice Disruptor Relief	2 caps twice daily	HBP Blend CoQ10	1 cap 1–3 times daily 1 cap daily
Neuro	2 caps twice daily	Hormonal Balance	
Disruptor Relief		Fem Rebalance	2 caps daily
Fibrocystic Breasts		Infections	
Fibroblend	2–4 caps daily through- out cycle; or 2 caps twice daily from day 15 until onset of menstrual flow	Immune Symmetry	Acute infections: 2 caps every 2 hours for 2 days, and then 2 caps 3 times daily for 1–2 weeks
General Health			<i>Chronic immune prob-</i> <i>lems:</i> 2 caps 1–3 times
Women's Symmetry	General: 1-2 caps daily		daily as needed

384 RESOURCES

Infertility

Menstrual Cramps

Pregnancy Prep Chaste Tree Berry Rhodiola	2 caps daily 1–2 caps daily 100–300 mg daily	Cramp Bark Extra	Acute: 1–3 caps every 3 hours up to 4 times daily during menses
Insomnia			To prevent recurring
Sleepblend	1–2 caps 30–60 minutes before bed		<i>cramps: 2</i> caps daily; increase to 2 caps twice daily the week before
Interstitial Cystitis		Ginger Extract Plus	menses 1–3 caps daily for acute
IC Blend	3 caps 3 times daily	Ginger Extract Thus	or for prevention
Liver Support		Nausea	
HepaFem	2 caps daily	Nausea Ease	1–2 caps daily
Lymphedema		Ginger Extract Plus	1–4 caps as needed
Horse Chestnut	1 cap twice daily	Osteoarthritis	unoughout the day
Migraines		Ginger Extract Plus	1 / caps as needed
Butterbur Extra	2 caps twice daily for 1–2 months, and then 2 caps	Ginger Extract This	throughout the day
		Osteoporosis	
Memory		Ipriflavone Osteoblend	1 cap 3 times daily 2 caps twice daily
Mindblend	2 caps daily	OsteoDrink	1 scoop daily
Ginkgo Extract Plus	1 cap 3 times daily	PhytoEstrogen	1 tbs 1–2 times daily
Knodiola	daily	Soy Choice	1–2 caps daily
Menopause Sympton	ms	PMS	
Black Cohosh PhytoEstrogen Herbal	1–2 caps 1–2 times daily 1 tbs 1–2 times daily	Ginkgo Extract Plus St. John's Wort Uplift	1 cap 2–3 times daily 1 cap 3 times daily 1 cap 3 times daily
Red Clover	1 cap daily	Chaste Tree Berry	1–2 caps daily
Soy Choice	1–4 caps daily	Women's Phase I	Mild symptoms: 2 caps
Woman's Passage	1 cap daily		daily throughout cycle
Women's Phase II	2–6 caps daily		Moderate to severe symp- toms: 2 caps twice daily
Also see Abnormal U	terine Bleeding, Depres-		throughout cycle

Also see Abnormal Uterine Bleeding, Depression, Insomnia, and Memory.

taxane family

Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome

Cancer Support for

AC Blend

TX Blend

Cancer Adjunctive Care

4 caps twice daily with

5 caps twice daily with

adriamycin/cytoxin

Green Tea PCOS Blend PhytoEstrogen	1–3 caps daily 3–6 caps daily 1–2 ths daily	Base Blend	4 caps twice daily with any chemotherapeutic regimen
Herbal	1 2 tos daily	R Blend	3 caps twice daily with radiotherapy
Pregnancy		Environmontal M	dicina
Maternal Symmetry	2-6 caps daily	and Women's Health	
Stress		Women's Detox	4 caps twice daily
Rhodiola	100 mg 1–3 times daily	Co-Factors Endocrine	2 caps twice daily
Surgery Recovery		Disruptor Relief	1
Opti-Recovery	1 cap twice daily	Neuro Disruptor Relief	2 caps twice daily
Thyroid (Hypo)			
ThyroFem	2 caps daily	Suppositories for Infections, ASCUS, Cervical Dysplasias, HPV	
Vaginitis (Yeast)		All suppositories are	to be inserted vaginally. For
Yeast Arrest CandidaStat	Acute: 1 suppository in vagina morning and evening for 3–14 days <i>Chronic:</i> 1 cap twice daily for 2–4 weeks, and then 1 cap daily during menses for 4 months 2 caps 1–2 times daily	use in escharotic treatments, insert two supposito- ries after each treatment. Can also be used for vaginal infections and as part of an overall treat- ment plan for abnormal Pap smears. See clinical indications listed for each suppository in "Product Knowledge" manual for infections, condyloma, cervical dysplasia, and ACUS; also see <i>Encyclope- dia of Natural Medicine</i> by Tori Hudson, N.D. Suppositories may require use of panty liner due to leakage when suppository dissolves.	
Varicose Veins			
Veinoblend Horse Chestnut	1 cap 3 times daily 1 cap twice daily	Green Tea Herbal-C	
Weight Loss		Papillo V D I	
Green Tea	2 caps with breakfast, 2 caps with lunch	vag Pack Vita-A Yeast Arrest	
VITANICA SPEC	CIALTY LINES Onals only	MORE PRODUC	CT SOURCES

Bio-Identical Hormone Creams Company Progest Emerita/Transitions for Health Proganol Bezwecken (available

386 RESOURCES

Ostaderm	
Ostaderm V	

Compounded hormones

Fish Oils

Nordic Naturals

Greens Drink

Wellness Naturals

Homeopathic Medicines

Boiron

Standardized Herbal Extracts by Vitanica

Black Cohosh Chaste Tree Berry Ginger Extract Plus Gingko Extract Plus Green Tea Horse Chestnut Red Clover Rhodiola St. John's Wort

Other Reputable Suppliers of Standardized Herbal Extracts

Enzymatic Therapies (Retail) Integrative Therapeutics (Professionals)

Herbal Tinctures

Eclectic Institute Herb Pharm Wise Woman Herbals

Probiotics Formulations

Pharmax

through professionals) Bezwecken (available through professionals) Bezwecken (available through professionals) Women's International Pharmacy

Uterine Fibroid Herbal Formulations from Gaia Herbs

Scudder's Alterative Echinacea/Red Root Compound Fraxinus/Ceonothus Compound Gelsemium/Phytolacca Compound (Turska Formula)

NUTRITIONAL AND HERBAL COMPANIES

Vitanica (Dr. Tori Hudson's women's health product line) P.O. Box 1285 Sherwood, OR 97140 800-572-4712 vitanica.com

Bezwecken

15495 SW Millikan Way Beaverton, OR 97006 800-743-2256

Boiron USA

98c West Cochran Street Simi Valley, CA 93065 805-582-9091

Eclectic Institute

14385 SE Lusted Road Sandy, OR 97055 800-332-4372

Emerita/Transitions for Health

621 SW Alder Portland, OR 97205 800-888-6814 emerita.com

Emerson Ecologics (distributor of professional products)

7 Commerce Drive Bedford, NH 03110 603-656-9778 emersonecologics.com

Enzymatic Therapies

825 Challenger Drive Greenbay, WI 54311 800-783-2286 enzymatictherapy.com

Gaia Herbs

108 Island Ford Road Brevard, NC 28712 800-831-7780

Herb Pharm

P.O. Box 116 Williams, OR 97544 800-599-2392 herb-pharm.com

Natural Factors

1550 United Boulevard Coquitlam, BC V3K 6Y7 Canada 604-415-4155

Natural Partners (distributor of professional

products) 7949 E. Acoma, Suite 103 Scottsdale, AZ 85260 888-633-7620 naturalpartners.com

Nordic Naturals

94 Hangar Way Watsonville, CA 95076 800-662-2544 nordicnaturals.com

Pharmax (for professionals) 1233 120th Avenue NE Bellevue, WA 98005 800-538-8274 pharmaxllc.com Vital Nutrients (for professionals) 45 Kenneth Dooley Drive Middletown, CT 06457 888-328-9992 vitalnutrients.com

Wise Woman

P.O. Box 279 Creswell, OR 97426 800-532-5219

COMPOUNDING PHARMACIES

International Academy of Compounding Pharmacists P.O. Box 1365 Sugarland, TX 77487 713-933-8400 900-927-4227

Women's International Pharmacy

12012 N. 111th Avenue Youngtown, AZ 85363 800-699-8143

Lloyd Center Pharmacy

1302 Lloyd Center Portland, OR 97232 800-358-8974

LABORATORY TESTING

Metametrix Clinical Laboratory

4855 Peachtree Industrial Boulevard Norcross, GA 30092 800-221-4640, ext. 373 Fax: 770-441-2237 metametrix.com

SKIN CARE PRODUCTS FOR WOMEN

Emerita/Transitions for Health 621 SW Alder Portland, OR 97205 800-888-6814 emerita.com

SPECIALTY FOODS

Hemp Seeds, Hemp Protein, Hemp Oil

Living Harvest

P.O. Box 4407 Portland, OR 97208 503-274-0755 livingharvest.com

Organic Dairy Foods and Meats

Organic Valley One Organic Way La Rarge, WI 54639 608-625-2666 organicvalley.coop

Whole-Grain Breads

French Meadow Bakery

2610 Lyndale Avenue South Minneapolis, MN 55408 612-870-4740

CLINICS, NATUROPATHIC COLLEGES, AND ORGANIZATIONS

A Woman's Time, P.C.

Tori Hudson, N.D. 2067 NW Lovejoy Portland, OR 97209 503-222-2322 awomanstime.com E-mail: womanstime@aol.com Blog: torihudson.com

Institute of Women's Health and Integrative

Medicine (postgraduate training in women's health and natural therapies) Dr. Tori Hudson 2067 NW Lovejoy Portland, OR 97209 503-222-2322 instituteofwomenshealth.com

National College of Naturopathic Medicine 049 SW Porter Portland, OR 97201 503-499-4343

Bastyr University

14500 Juanita Drive NE Bothell, WA 98011 425-602-3100

Southwest College of Naturopathic Medicine and Health Sciences 2140 East Broadway

Tempe, AZ 85282 602-990-7424

Bridgeport University

126 Park Avenue Bridgeport, CT 06601 203-576-4552

Canadian College of Naturopathic Medicine

2300 Yonge Street P.O. Box 2431 Toronto, ON M4P1E4 416-486-8584

American Association of Naturopathic Physicians

4435 Wisconsin Avenue NW, Suite 403 Washington, DC 20016 202-895-1392

American Holistic Medical Association

6728 Old McLean Village Road McLean, VA 22101 703-556-9728

American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Resource Center

Kesource Center 409 12th Street SW Washington, DC 20024 202-863-2518 **The American Herbalists Guild** P.O. Box 746555 Arvada, CO 80006 303-423-8800

American Botanical Council P.O. Box 12006 Austin, TX 78711 512-331-8868

American Herb Association P.O. Box 1673 Nevada City, CA 95959 530-265-9552

Herb Research Foundation 1007 Pearl Street Boulder, CO 80302 303-449-2265

ADDITIONAL PUBLICATIONS, ARTICLES, AND TAPES BY DR. TORI HUDSON

Dr. Tori Hudson's blog torihudson.com

Women's Health Update, The Complete Collection of Townsend Letter Columns 1992–2005, Volumes I, II, and III Tori Hudson, N.D. TK Publications 2067 NW Lovejoy Portland, OR 97209 503-222-2322

Institute of Women's Health and Integrative

Medicine (audiotapes and lecture series of postgraduate seminars for licensed health-care practitioners) 2067 NW Lovejoy Portland, OR 97209 instituteofwomenshealth.com 503-222-2322

Emerson Ecologics

800-654-4432 emersonecologics.com

Holistic Primary Care

P.O. Box 953 Peck Slip Station New York, NY 212-406-8957

Townsend Letter for Doctors and Patients 360-385-6021

Herbal Educational Services (tapes) P.O. Box 3427 Ashland, OR 97520 800-252-0688

Tree Farm Communications (tapes) 800-468-0464

This page intentionally left blank

REFERENCES

CHAPTER 1: ABNORMAL Uterine bleeding

- Phipps W, Martini M, Lampe J, Slavin J, Kurzer M. "Effect of flaxseed ingestion on the menstrual cycle." *J Clin Endocrin Metab* 1993; 77 (5): 1215–19.
- Cassidy A, Bingham S, Setchell K. "Biological effects of a diet of soy protein rich in isoflavones on the menstrual cycle of premenopausal women." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1994; 60:333–40.
- Olsson H, Landin-Olsson M, Gullberg B. "Retrospective assessment of menstrual cycle length in patients with breast cancer, in patients with benign breast disease, and in women without breast disease." J Natl Canc Inst 1983; 70:17–20.
- Juneja H, Murthy S, Ganguly J. "The effect of vitamin A deficiency on the biosynthesis of steroid hormones in rats." *J Biochem* 1966; 99 (1): 138–45.
- Lithgow D, Politzer W. "Vitamin A in the treatment of menorrhagia." *SAMJ* 1977; 51:191–93.
- Biskind M. "Nutritional deficiency in the etiology of menorrhagia, metrorrhagia, cystic mastitis and premenstrual tension: treatment with vitamin B complex." J Clin Endocrin Metab 1943; 3:227–34.
- Lusher JM. "Systemic causes of excessive uterine bleeding." *Semin Hematol* 1999 Jul; 36 (3 Suppl 4): 10–20.
- Cohen J, Rubin H. "Functional menorrhagia: treatment with bioflavonoids and vitamin C." *Curr Therap Res* 1960; 2 (11): 539.
- Weiss RF, Fintelmann, V. *Herbal Medicine*, 2nd ed. New York: Thieme, 2000.

- Amann W. "Removing an obstipation using Agnolyt." *Ther Gegenew* 1965; 104 (9): 1263–65.
- 11. Sliutz G, Speiser P, et al. "Agnus castus extracts inhibit prolactin secretion of rat pituitary cells." Horm Metab Res 1993; 25:253–55.
- Probst V, Roth O. "On a plant extract with a hormonelike effect." *Dtsch Me Wschr* 1954; 79 (35): 1271–74.
- Bleier W. "Phytotherapy in irregular menstrual cycles or bleeding periods and other gynecological disorders of endocrine origin." *Zentralblatt Gynakol* 1959; 81 (18): 701–9.
- 14. Milewica A, Gejdel E, et al. "*Vitex agnus castus* extract in the treatment of luteal phase defects due to hyperprolactinemia: results of a randomized placebo-controlled double-blind study." *Arzneim-Forsch Drug Res* 1993; 43:752–56.
- Wuttke W, Jarry H, Christoffel V, Spengler B, Seidlova-Wuttke D. "Chaste tree (*Vitex agnus-castus*)—pharmacology and clinical indications." *Phytomedicine* 2003 May; 10 (4): 348–57.
- Daniele C, Thompson Coon J, Pittler MH, Ernst E. "*Vitex agnus castus*: a systematic review of adverse events." *Drug Saf* 2005; 28 (4): 319–32.
- Macalo N, Jain R, Jain S, et al.
 "Ethnopharmacologic investigations of ginger (*Zingiber officinale*)." *J Ethnopharm* 1989; 27:129–40.
- Kim SO, Chun KS, Kundu JK, Surh YJ. "Inhibitory effects of [6]-gingerol on PMA-induced COX-2 expression and

activation of NF-kappaB and p38 MAPK in mouse skin." *Biofactors* 2004; 21 (1–4): 27–31; Surh YJ. "Anti-tumor promoting potential of selected spice ingredients with antioxidative and antiinflammatory activities: a short review." *Food Chem Toxicol* 2002 Aug; 40 (8): 1091–97; Tjendraputra E, Tran VH, Liu-Brennan D, Roufogalis BD, Duke CC. "Effect of ginger constituents and synthetic analogues on cyclooxygenase-2 enzyme in intact cells." *Bioorg Chem* 2001 Jun; 29 (3): 156–63.

- Kelly R, Lumsden M, et al. "The relationship between menstrual blood loss and prostaglandin production in the human: evidence for increased availability of arachidonic acid in women suffering from menorrhagia." *Prostaglandins and Leukotrienes in Medicine* 1984; 16:69–77.
- 20. Skibola CF. "The effect of *Fucus vesiculosus*, an edible brown seaweed, upon menstrual cycle length and hormonal status in three pre-menopausal women: a case report." *BMC Complement Altern Med* 2004 Aug 4; 4 (1): 10.
- 21. Mowrey D. *The Scientific Validation of Herbal Medicine*. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1986; 188.
- 22. Kuroda K, Takagi K. "Physiologically active substances in *Capsella bursapastoris*." *Nature* 1968; 220 (5168): 707–8.
- 23. Yang T, Jia M, Mei Q, Shang P. "Effects of Angelica polysaccharide on blood coagulation and platelet aggregation." *Zhong Yao Cai* 2002 May; 25 (5): 344–45.
- Saarikoski S, Yliskoski M, Penttila I.
 "Sequential use of norethisterone and natural progesterone in pre-menopausal bleeding disorders." *Maturitas* 1990 Jun; 12 (2): 89–97.

CHAPTER 2: AMENORRHEA

- Wabisch M, Hauner H, et al. "Body fat distribution and steroid hormone concentrations in obese adolescent girls before and after weight reduction." *J Clin Endocrin Metab* 1995; 80 (12): 3469–75.
- Castillo-Martinez L, Lopez-Alvarenga JC, Villa AR, Gonzalez-Barranco J. "Menstrual cycle length disorders in 18- to 40year-old obese women." *Nutrition* 2003 Apr; 19 (4): 317–20.
- Butzow TL, Lehtovirta M, Siegberg R, et al. "The decrease in luteinizing hormone secretion in response to weight reduction is inversely related to the severity of insulin resistance in overweight women." *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2000 Sep; 85 (9): 3271–75.
- Crosignani PG, Colombo M, Vegetti W, Somigliana E, Gessati A, Ragni G. "Overweight and obese anovulatory patients with polycystic ovaries: parallel improvements in anthropometric indices, ovarian physiology and fertility rate induced by diet." *Hum Reprod* 2003 Sep; 18 (9): 1928–32.
- 5. Jeghers H. "Skin changes of nutritional origin." *N Engl J Med* 1943; 228:678–86.
- 6. Almond S, Logan R. "Carotenemia." *N Engl J Med* 1942; 2:239–41.
- Robboy M, Sato A, Schwabe A. "The hypercarotenemia in anorexia nervosa: a comparison of vitamin A and carotene levels in various forms of menstrual dysfunction and cachexia." *Amer J Clin Nutr* 1974; 27:362–67.
- Pops M, Schwabe A. "Hypercarotenemia in anorexia nervosa." *JAMA* 1968; 205:533–34.
- 9. Frumar A, Medrum D, Judd H. "Hypercarotenemia in hypothalamic amenorrhea." *Fertil Steril* 1979; 32:261–64.

- Page S. "Golden ovaries." Aust NZJ Obstet Gynaecol 1971; 11:32–36.
- 11. Richards S, Chang F, et al. "Serum carotene levels in female long-distance runners." *Fertil Steril* 1985; 43 (1): 79–81.
- Heaney R. "Nutritional factors and estrogen in age-related bone loss." *Clin Invest Med* 1982; 5:147–55.
- 13. Weiss RF, Fintelmann, V. *Herbal Medicine*, 2nd ed. New York: Thieme, 2000.
- Amann W. "Removing an obstipation using Agnolyt." *Ther Gegenew* 1965; 104 (9): 1263–65.
- Probst V, Roth O. "On a plant extract with hormonelike effect." *Dtsch Me Wschr* 1954; 79 (35): 1271–74.
- Losh E, Kayser E. "Diagnosis and treatment of dyshormonal menstrual periods in the general practice." *Gynakol Praxis* 1990; 14 (3): 489–95.
- Sliutz G, Speiser P, et al. "Agnus castus extracts inhibit prolactin secretion of rat pituitary cells." Horm Metab Res 1993; 25 (5): 253–55.
- Jarry H, Leonhardt S, Wuttke W. "Agnus castus as dopaminergous effective principle in mastodynon N." Zeitschrift Phytother 1991; 12:77–82.
- Milewica A, Gejdel E, et al. "Vitex agnus castus extract in the treatment of luteal phase defects due to hyperprolactinemia. Results of a randomized placebocontrolled double-blind study." Arzneim-Forsch Drug Res 1993; 43:752–56.
- 20. Liske E, Duker E. "*Cimicifuga racemosa* in clinical practice and research." *Ars Medici* 1993; 7:1–8.
- Liske E, Hanggi W, Henneicke-von Zepelin H, Boblitz N, et al. "Physiologic investigation of a unique extract of black cohosh (*Cimicifugae racemosae rhizome*): a 6-month clinical study demonstrates no systemic estrogenic effect." J Women's

Health Gend Based Med 2002; 11: 163–74.

- 22. Nesselhut T, Liske E. "Pharmacological measures in postmenopausal women with an isopropanolic aqueous extract of *cimicifugae racemosae rhimoza*." Abstract. Presented at 10th Annual Meeting, The North American Menopause Society, New York, 1999.
- 23. Jacobson J, Troxel A, Evans J, et al. "Randomized trial of black cohosh for the treatment of hot flashes among women with a history of breast cancer." *J Clin Oncol* 2001; 19:2739–45.
- Duker E, Kopanski L, Jarry H, Wuttke W. "Effects of extracts from *Cimicifuga racemosa* on gonadotropin release in menopausal women and ovariectomized rats." *Planta Medica* 1991; 57:420–24.
- 25. Nisslein T, Freudenstein J. "Effects of an isopropanolic extract of *Cimicifuga racemosa* on urinary crosslinks and other parameters of bone quality in an ovariectomized rat model of osteoporosis." *J Bone Miner Metab* 2003; 21 (6): 370–76.
- Wuttke W, Seidlova-Wuttke D, Gorkow C. "The Cimicifuga preparation BNO 1055 vs. conjugated estrogens in a double-blind placebo-controlled study: effects on menopause symptoms and bone markers." *Maturitas* 2003 Mar 14; 44 (Suppl 1): S67–77.
- Seidlova-Wuttke D, Jarry H, Becker T, Christoffel V, Wuttke W. "Pharmacology of *Cimicifuga racemosa* extract BNO 1055 in rats: bone, fat and uterus." *Maturitas* 2003 Mar 14; 44 (Suppl 1): S39–50.
- Gerasimova H. "Effect of *Rhodiola rosea* extract on ovarian functional activity." *Proc* of *Scientific Conference on Endocrinology and Gynecology*. Sverdlovsk, Russia: Siberian Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences, 1970 Sept 15–16; 46–48.

- Meissner H, Kapczynski W, Mscisz A, Lutomski J. "Use of gelatinized maca (*Lepidium peruvianum*) in early postmenopausal women—a pilot study." *Int J Biomedical Science* 2005; 1 (1): 17–19.
- Gifford R. "Historical note on the treatment of amenorrhea with water pepper." *J Reprod Med* 1972; 9 (3): 143–45.
- Ogier T. "Amenorrhea treated successfully with the water pepper." *Charleston Med J* 1846; 1:298–300.
- 32. Cann C, Martin M, Jaffe R. "Duration of amenorrhea affects rate of bone loss in women runners: implications of therapy." *Med Sci Sports Ex* 1985; 17:214.
- De Souza MJ, Williams NI. "Physiological aspects and clinical sequelae of energy deficiency and hypoestrogenism in exercising women." *Hum Reprod* Update 2004 Sep–Oct; 10 (5): 433–48. Epub 2004 Jul 1.
- 34. Boyden T, et al. "Sex steroids and endurance running in women." *Fertil Steril* 1983; 39:629.
- 35. Bullen B, et al. "Induction of menstrual disorders by strenuous exercise in untrained women." *N Engl J Med* 1985; 312:1349.
- 36. DeSouza, M, et al. "Adrenal activation and the prolactin response to exercise in eumenorrheic and amenorrheic runners." *J Appl Physiol* 1991; 70:2378.
- Prior J, Vigna Y. "Ovulation disturbances and exercise training." *Clin Obstet Gynecol* 1991; 34:180.
- Bonen A. "Recreational exercise does not impair menstrual cycles: a prospective study." *Int J Sports Med* 1992; 13:110.
- Hetland M, et al. "Running induces menstrual disturbances but bone mass is unaffected, except in amenorrheic women." *Am J Med* 1993; 95:53.
- 40. Walberg J, Johnston C. "Menstrual function and eating behavior in female recreational weight lifters and competitive body builders." *Med Sci Sports Ex* 1991; 23:30.

- 41. Walberg-Rankin J, Edmonds C, Dwazdauskas F. "Diet and weight changes of female bodybuilders before and after competition." *Int J Sport Nutr* 1993; 3:87.
- Bonen A. "Exercise-induced menstrual cycle change." Sports Med 1994; 17:392.
- 43. Rogol A, et al. "Durability of the reproductive axis in eumenorrheic women during one year endurance training." *J Appl Physiol* 1992; 72:1571.
- 44. Sandoval W, Weyward V, Lyons T. "Comparison of body composition, exercise and nutritional profiles of female and male body builders at competition." J Sports Med Phys Fitness 1989; 29:63.
- 45. Kleiner S, Bazzarre T, Litchford M. "Metabolic profiles, diet, and health practices of championship male and female bodybuilders." *J Am Diet Assoc* 1990; 90:962.
- Lamar-Hildebrand N, Saldanha L, Endres J. "Dietary and exercise practices of college-aged female bodybuilders." J Am Diet Assoc 1989; 89:1308.
- 47. Greene J. "Exercise-induced menstrual irregularities." *Comp Ther* 1993; 19:116.
- Ramos R, Warren M. "The interrelationships of body fat, exercise, and hormonal status and their impact on reproduction and bone health." *Sem Perinatol* 1995; 19:163.
- 49. Williams N, et al. "Strenuous exercise with caloric restriction: effect on luteinizing hormone secretion." *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1995; 27:1390.
- De Souza MJ, Williams NI. "Physiological aspects and clinical sequelae of energy deficiency and hypoestrogenism in exercising women." *Hum Reprod* Update 2004 Sep–Oct; 10 (5): 433–48. Epub 2004 Jul 1.
- 51. Wolman R, et al. "Menstrual state and exercise as determinants of spinal trabecular density in female athletes." *Br Med J* 1990; 301:516.

- 52. De Souza MI, Williams NI. "Beyond hypoestrogenism in amenorrheic athletes: energy deficiency as a contributing factor for bone loss." *Curr Sports Med Rep* 2005 Feb; 4 (1): 38–44.
- 53. Warren MP, Brooks-Gunn J, Fox RP, Holderness CC, Hyle EP, Hamilton WG, Hamilton L. "Persistent osteopenia in ballet dancers with amenorrhea and delayed menarche despite hormone therapy: a longitudinal study." *Fertil Steril* 2003 Aug; 80 (2): 398–404.
- O'Donnell E, De Souza MJ. "The cardiovascular effects of chronic hypoestrogenism in amenorrhoeic athletes: a critical review." *Sports Med* 2004; 34 (9): 601–27.
- 55. Friday KE, Drinkwater BL, Bruemmer B, Chesnut C 3rd, Chait A. "Elevated plasma low-density lipoprotein and highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol levels in amenorrheic athletes: effects of endogenous hormone status and nutrient intake." *Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1993 Dec; 77 (6): 1605–9.
- 56. Ronkainen H, et al. "Physical exerciseinduced changes and season-associated differences in the pituitary-ovarian function of runners and joggers." J Clin Endocrin Metab 1985; 60:416.
- Kleiner S, Bazzarre T, Ainsworth B. "Nutritional status of nationally ranked elite bodybuilders." *Int J Sport Nutr* 1994; 4:54.

CHAPTER 3: CERVICAL DYSPLASIA

- American Cancer Society. *Cancer Facts* and Figures. Atlanta: American Cancer Society, 2006; 4.
- Bonnez W, Reichman R. "Papillomaviruses." In Mandell G, Bennett J, Dolin R, eds., *Principles and Practice of Infectious Disease*, 5th ed. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone, Inc., 2000.

- Koutsky L, for the Atypical Squamous Cells of Undetermined Significant/Low-Grade Squamous Intraepithelial Lesions Triage Study (ALTS) Group. "HPV triage as a management strategy for women with low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions." J Natl Cancer Inst 2000; 92:397–402.
- Schlecht NF, Platt RW, Duarte-Franco E. "Human papillomavirus infection and time to progression and regression of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia." *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2003 Sep 3; 95 (17): 1336–43.
- Arora R, Kumar A, Prusty BK, et al. "Prevalence of high-risk human papillomavirus (HR-HPV) types 16 and 18 in healthy women with cytologically negative Pap smear." *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2005 Jun 8. Epub ahead of print.
- Syrjanen K. "Spontaneous evolution of intraepithelial lesions according to the grade and type of the implicated human papillomavirus (HPV)." *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 1996; 65:45.
- Ostor A. "Natural history of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: a critical review." *Int J Gynecological Pathology* 1993; 12:186–92.
- Holowaty P, Miller AB, Rohan T, To T. "Natural history of dysplasia of the uterine cervix." *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1999 Feb 3; 91 (3): 252–58.
- Chan JK, Monk BJ, Brewer C, et al. "HPV infection and number of lifetime sexual partners are strong predictors for 'natural' regression of CIN 2 and 3." *Br J Cancer* 2003 Sep 15; 89 (6): 1062–66.
- Holmes KK, Levine R, Weaver M. "Effectiveness of condoms in preventing sexually transmitted infections." *Bull World Health Organ* 2004 Jun; 82 (6): 454–61. Review.
- 11. Hogewoning CJ, Bleeker MC, van den Brule AJ, et al. "Condom use promotes

regression of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and clearance of human papillomavirus: a randomized clinical trial." *Int J Cancer* 2003 Dec 10; 107 (5): 811–16.

- Manhart LE, Koutsky LA. "Do condoms prevent genital HPV infection, external genital warts, or cervical neoplasia? A meta-analysis." *Sex Transm Dis* 2002 Nov; 29 (11): 725–35.
- Herrero R, Potischman N, Brinton L, et al. "A case-control study of nutrient status and invasive cervical cancer." *Am J Epidemiol* 1991; 134 (11): 1335–46.
- 14. Slattery M, Abbott T, Overall J Jr, et al. "Dietary vitamins A, C, and E and selenium as risk factors for cervical cancer." *Epid* 1990; 1:8–15.
- Basu J, Palan P, Vermund S, et al.
 "Plasma ascorbic acid and beta-carotene levels in women evaluated for HPV infection, smoking, and cervix dysplasia." *Canc Detect Prev* 1991; 15:165–70.
- Brock K, Berry G, et al. "Nutrients in diet and plasma and risk of in situ cervical cancer." *J Natl Canc Inst* 1988; 80 (8): 580–85.
- 17. Schneider A, Shah K. "The role of vitamins in the etiology of cervical neoplasia: an epidemiological review." *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 1989; 246:1–13.
- Sedjo RL, Roe DJ, Abrahamsen M, et al. "Vitamin A, carotenoids, and risk of persistent oncogenic human papillomavirus infection." *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2002 Sep; 11 (9): 876–84.
- Giuliano AR, Siegel EM, Roe DJ, et al. "Dietary intake and risk of persistent human papillomavirus (HPV) infection: the Ludwig-McGill HPV Natural History Study." *J Infect Dis* 2003 Nov 15; 188 (10): 1508–16. Epub 2003 Nov 3.
- 20. Guo W, Hsing A, et al. "Correlation of cervical cancer mortality with reproductive and dietary factors, and serum mark-

ers in China." *Intl J Epidemiol* 1994; 23 (6): 1127–31.

- 21. Ziegler R, Brinton L, Hamman R, et al.
 "Diet and the risk of invasive cervical cancer among white women in the United States." *Am J Epidemiol* 1990; 132 (3): 32–45.
- 22. Hernandez BY, McDuffie K, Franke AA, et al. "Reports: plasma and dietary phytoestrogens and risk of premalignant lesions of the cervix." *Nutr Cancer* 2004; 49 (2): 109–24.
- 23. Newfield L, Goldsmith A, Bradlow H, Auborn K. "Estrogen metabolism and human papillomavirus-induced tumors of the larynx: chemo-prophylaxis with indole-3-carbinol." *Anticancer Res* 1993; 13:337–41.
- Palan P, Mikhail M, Basu J, Romeny S. "Beta-carotene levels in exfoliated cervicovaginal epithelial cells in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and cervical cancer." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1992 Dec; 167 (6): 1899–1903.
- 25. Van Enwik J, Davis F, Bowen P. "Dietary and serum carotenoids and cervical intraepithelial neoplasia." *Int J Canc* 1991; 48:34–38.
- Palan P, Romney S, Mikhail M, Basu J. "Decreased plasma beta-carotene levels in women with uterine cervical dysplasias and cancer." *J Nat Canc Inst* 1988; 80 (6): 454–55.
- Nagata C, Shimizu H, Yoshikawa H, et al. "Serum carotenoids and vitamins and risk of cervical dysplasia from a casecontrol study in Japan." *Br J Cancer* 1999 Dec; 81 (7): 1234–37.
- Sedjo RL, Papenfuss MR, Craft NE, Giuliano AR. "Effect of plasma micronutrients on clearance of oncogenic human papillomavirus (HPV) infection (United States)." *Cancer Causes Control* 2003 May; 14 (4): 319–26.

- Sedjo RL, Roe DJ, Abrahamsen M, et al. "Vitamin A, carotenoids, and risk of persistent oncogenic human papillomavirus infection." *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2002 Sep; 11 (9): 876–84.
- Hudson T. "Consecutive case study research of carcinoma in situ of cervix employing local escharotic treatment combined with nutritional therapy." *J Nat Med* 1991; 2:6–10, 19.
- Hudson T. "Escharotic treatment for cervical dysplasia and carcinoma in situ." J Nat Med 1993; 4 (1): 23.
- Wylie-Rosett J, Seymour L, Romney N, et al. "Influence of vitamin A on cervical dysplasia and carcinoma in situ." *Nutr* and Canc 1984; 6 (1): 49–57.
- Shannon J, Thomas DB, Ray RM, et al. "Dietary risk factors for invasive and in-situ cervical carcinomas in Bangkok, Thailand." *Cancer Causes Control* 2002 Oct; 13 (8): 691–99.
- 34. Yeo AS, Schiff MA, Montoya G, Masuk M, van Asselt-King L, Becker TM. "Serum micronutrients and cervical dysplasia in Southwestern American Indian women." *Nutr Cancer* 2000; 38 (2): 141–50.
- Nagata C, Shimizu H, Higashiiwai H, et al. "Serum retinol level and risk of subsequent cervical cancer in cases with cervical dysplasia." *Cancer Invest* 1999; 17 (4): 253–58.
- 36. Shannon J, Thomas DB, Ray RM, et al. "Dietary risk factors for invasive and in-situ cervical carcinomas in Bangkok, Thailand." *Cancer Causes Control* 2002 Oct; 13 (8): 691–99.
- Gasowska-Giszczak U, Darmochwal-Kolarz D, Kwasniewska A, et al. "Apoptosis of HeLa cell lines incubated with retinol." *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2005 Mar 1; 119 (1): 119–22.
- Ding Z, Green AG, Yang X, et al.
 "Retinoic acid inhibits telomerase activity

and downregulates expression but does not affect splicing of hTERT: correlation with cell growth rate inhibition in an in vitro cervical carcinogenesis/multidrugresistance model." *Exp Cell Res* 2002 Jan 15; 272 (2): 185–91.

- Yokoyama M, Nakao Y, Iwasaka T, Pater A, Sugimori H. "Retinoic acid and interferon-alpha effects on cell growth and differentiation in cervical carcinoma cell lines." *Obstet Gynecol* 2001 Aug; 98 (2): 332–40.
- Meyskens F, Surwit E, et al. "Enhancement of regression of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia II (moderate dysplasia) with topically applied all-trans-retinoic acid: a randomized trial." *J Natl Canc Inst* 1994; 86 (7): 539–43.
- Graham W, Surwite E, Weiner S, Meyskens F. "Phase II trial of beta-all-trans-retinoic acid for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia delivered via a collagen sponge and cervical cap." *West J Med* 1986; 145:192–95.
- Ruffin M, Bailey J, Normolle D, et al. "Low-dose topical delivery of all-transretinoic acid for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia II and III." *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2004 Dec; 13 (12): 2148–52.
- Palan PR, Woodall AL, Anderson PS, Mikhail MS. "Alpha-tocopherol and alpha-tocopheryl quinone levels in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and cervical cancer." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2004 May; 190 (5): 1407–10.
- Kazbariene B, Prasmickiene G, Krikstaponiene A, et al. "Changes in the parameters of immune and antioxidant systems in patients with cervical cancer." *Medicina (Kaunas)* 2004; 40 (12): 1158–64. Lithuanian.
- 45. Yeo AS, Schiff MA, Montoya G, et al. "Serum micronutrients and cervical dysplasia in Southwestern American Indian

women." Nutr Cancer 2000; 38 (2): 141–50.

- 46. Ho GY, Palan PR, Basu J, et al. "Viral characteristics of human papillomavirus infection and antioxidant levels as risk factors for cervical dysplasia." *Int J Cancer* 1998 Nov 23; 78 (5): 594–99.
- 47. Lehtinen M, Luostarinen T, Youngman LD, Anttila T, Dillner J, Hakulinen T, Koskela P, Lenner P, Hallmans G. "Low levels of serum vitamins A and E in blood and subsequent risk for cervical cancer: interaction with HPV seropositivity." Nutr Cancer 1999; 34 (2): 229–34.
- Mason B, Ghanee N, Haigh WG, et al.
 "Effect of vitamins A, C and E on normal and HPV-immortalized human oral epithelial cells in culture." *Anticancer Res* 1999 Nov–Dec; 19 (6B): 5469–74.
- Palan PR, Woodall AL, Anderson PS, Mikhail MS. "Alpha-tocopherol and alpha-tocopheryl quinone levels in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and cervical cancer." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2004 May; 190 (5): 1407–10.
- 50. Ibid.
- Manju V, Kalaivani Sailaja J, Nalini N. "Circulating lipid peroxidation and antioxidant status in cervical cancer patients: a case-control study." *Clin Biochem* 2002 Nov; 35 (8): 621–25.
- Ahmed MI, Fayed ST, Hossein H, Tash FM. "Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant status in human cervical carcinoma." *Dis Markers* 1999 Dec; 15 (4): 283–91.
- 53. Kumar B, Jha MN, Cole WC, Bedford JS, Prasad KN. "D-alpha-tocopheryl succinate (vitamin E) enhances radiationinduced chromosomal damage levels in human cancer cells, but reduces it in normal cells." J Am Coll Nutr 2002 Aug; 21 (4): 339–43.
- 54. Wassertheil-Smoller S, Romney S, Wylie-Rosett J, et al. "Dietary vitamin C and

uterine cervical dysplasia." Am J Epidemiol 1981; 114 (5): 714–24.

- 55. Romney S, Duttagupta C, Basu J, et al. "Plasma vitamin C and uterine cervical dysplasia." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1985 April 1; 151 (7): 976–80.
- Butterworth C, Hatch K, Gore H, et al. "Improvement in cervical dysplasia associated with folic acid therapy in users of oral contraceptives." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1982; 35:73–82.
- 57. Weinstein SJ, Ziegler RG, Frongillo EA Jr, et al. "Low serum and red blood cell folate are moderately, but nonsignificantly associated with increased risk of invasive cervical cancer in U.S. women." *J Nutr* 2001 Jul; 131 (7): 2040–48.
- 58. Piyathilake CJ, Henao OL, Macaluso M, et al. "Folate is associated with the natural history of high-risk human papillomaviruses." *Cancer Res* 2004 Dec 1; 64 (23): 8788–93.
- 59. Whitehead N, Reyner F, Lindenbaum J. "Megaloblastic changes in the cervical epithelium: association with oral contraceptive therapy and reversal with folic acid." *JAMA* 1973; 226:1421–24.
- 60. Streiff R. "Folate deficiency and oral contraceptives." *JAMA* 1970; 214: 105–8.
- Weinstein SJ, Ziegler RG, Selhub J, et al. "Elevated serum homocysteine levels and increased risk of invasive cervical cancer in US women." *Cancer Causes Control* 2001 May; 12 (4): 317–24.
- 62. Thomson SW, Heimburger DC, Cornwell PE, et al. "Effect of total plasma homocysteine on cervical dysplasia risk." *Nutr Cancer* 2000; 37 (2): 128–33.
- 63. Shikany JM, Heimburger DC, Piyathilake CJ, Desmond RA, Greene PG.
 "Effect of folic acid fortification of foods on folate intake in female smokers with cervical dysplasia." *Nutrition* 2004 May; 20 (5): 409–14.

- 64. Hernandez BY, McDuffie K, Wilkens LR, et al. "Diet and premalignant lesions of the cervix: evidence of a protective role for folate, riboflavin, thiamin, and vitamin B₁₂." *Cancer Causes Control* 2003 Nov; 14 (9): 859–70.
- 65. Sedjo RL, Inserra P, Abrahamsen M, et al. "Human papillomavirus persistence and nutrients involved in the methylation pathway among a cohort of young women." *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2002 Apr; 11 (4): 353–59.
- 66. Weinstein SJ, Ziegler RG, Selhub J, et al. "Elevated serum homocysteine levels and increased risk of invasive cervical cancer in US women." *Cancer Causes Control* 2001; 12 (4): 317–24.
- Thomson SW, Heimburger DC, Cornwell PE, Turner ME, Sauberlich HE, Fox LM, Butterworth CE. "Effect of total plasma homocysteine on cervical dysplasia risk." *Nutr Cancer* 2000; 37 (2): 128–33.
- 68. Ahn WS, Huh SW, Bae SM, et al. "A major constituent of green tea, EGCG, inhibits the growth of a human cervical cancer cell line, CaSki cells, through apoptosis, G (1) arrest, and regulation of gene expression." DNA Cell Biol 2003 Mar; 22 (3): 217–24.
- Sah JF, Balasubramanian S, Eckert RL, Rorke EA. "Epigallocatechin-3-gallate inhibits epidermal growth factor receptor signaling pathway. Evidence for direct inhibition of ERK1/2 and AKT kinases." *J Biol Chem* 2004 Mar 26; 279 (13): 12755–62.
- 70. Ahn WS, Yoo J, Huh SW, Kim CK, Lee JM, Namkoong SE, Bae SM, Lee IP.
 "Protective effects of green tea extracts (polyphenon E and EGCG) on human cervical lesions." *Eur J Cancer Prev* 2003 Oct; 12 (5): 383–90.
- 71. Grubbs C, Steele V, Casebolt T, et al. "Chemoprevention of chemically-induced

mammary carcinogenesis by indole-3carbinol." Anticancer Res 1995;15:709–16.

- 72. Telang N, Suto A, Wong G, et al. "Induction by estrogen metabolite 16 alphahydroxyestrone of genotoxic damage and aberrant proliferation in mouse mammary epithelial cells." *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1992; 84:634–38.
- Stoewsand G, Anderson J, Munson L. "Protective effect of dietary brussels sprouts against mammary carcinogenesis in Sprague-Dawley rats." *Cancer Lett* 1988; 39:199–207.
- 74. Zeligs M. "Diet and estrogen status: the cruciferous connection." *J Med Food* 1998; 1:67–81.
- 75. Newfield L, Goldsmith A, Bradlow H, Auborn K. "Estrogen metabolism and human papillomavirus-induced tumors of the larynx: chemo-prophylaxis with indole-3-carbinol." *Anticancer Res* 1993; 13:337–41.
- Bell M, Crowley-Nowick P, Bradlow H, et al. "Placebo-controlled trial of indole-3-carbinol in the treatment of CIN." *Gynecol Oncol* 2000; 78:123–29.
- 77. Chen D, Qi M, Auborn K, Carter T.
 "Indole-3-carbinol and diindolylmethane induce apoptosis of human cervical cancer cells and in murine HPV 16-transgenic preneoplastic cervical epithelium." *J Nutr* 2001; 131:3294–302.
- 78. Prusty BK, Das BC. "Constitutive activation of transcription factor AP-1 in cervical cancer and suppression of human papillomavirus (HPV) transcription and AP-1 activity in HeLa cells by curcumin." *Int J Cancer* 2005 Mar 1; 113 (6): 951–60.
- 79. Gagandeep, DS, Mendiz E, Rao AR, Kale RK. "Chemopreventive effects of Cuminum cyminum in chemically induced forestomach and uterine cervix tumors in murine model systems." *Nutr Cancer* 2003; 47 (2): 171–80.

- Cheng AL, Hsu CH, Lin JK, et al. "Phase I clinical trial of curcumin, a chemopreventive agent, in patients with high-risk or pre-malignant lesions." *Anticancer Res* 2001 Jul–Aug; 21 (4B): 2895–2900.
- Lyon J, Gardner J, West D, et al. "Smoking and carcinoma in situ of the uterine cervix." *Am J Public Health* 1983; 73:558–62.
- Basu J et al. "Smoking and the antioxidant ascorbic acid: plasma, leukocyte, and cervicovaginal cell concentrations in normal healthy women." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1990 Dec; 163 (6 Pt 1): 1948–52.
- Vessey M, Villard-Mackintosh L, McPherson K, et al. "Mortality among oral contraceptive users: 20-year follow up of women in a cohort study." *Br Med J* 1989; 299:1487.
- 84. Coker AL, Sanders LC, Bond SM, Gerasimova T, Pirisi L. "Hormonal and barrier methods of contraception, oncogenic human papillomaviruses, and cervical squamous intraepithelial lesion development." J Womens Health Gend Based Med 2001 Jun; 10 (5): 441–49.
- Parazzini F, la Vecchia C, Negri E, et al. "Oral contraceptive use and invasive cervical cancer." *Int J Epidemiol* 1990; 19 (2): 259.
- 86. Brinton L. "Oral contraceptives and cervical neoplasia." *Contr* 1991; 43:581.
- Kjaer S, Engholm G, Dahl C, et al.
 "Case-control study of risk factors for cervical squamous-cell neoplasia in Denmark. III. Role of oral contraceptive use." *Cancer Causes Control* 1993; 4 (6): 513.
- Coker A, McCann M, Hulka B, et al. "Oral contraceptive use and cervical intraepithelial neoplasia." *J Clin Epidemiol* 1992; 45 (10): 1111.
- 89. Schiffman M, Bauer H, Hooever R, et al. "Epidemiologic evidence showing that

human papillomavirus infection causes most cervical intraepithelial neoplasia." *J Natl Canc Inst* 1993; 85:958.

- Ursin G, Peters R, Henderson B, et al. "Oral contraceptive use and adenocarcinoma of the cervix." *Lancet* 1994; 344:1390.
- 91. Goodkin K, Antoni M, Blaney P. "Stress and hopelessness in the promotion of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia to invasive squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix." *J Psychosom Res* 1986; 30:67–76.
- 92. Antoni M, Goodkin K, Helder L. "Psychosocial stressors, coping, and cervical neoplasia in 3 sample studies from 1981–1990." In 12th Annual Scientific Sessions of the Society of Behavioral Medicine. Rockville, MD: Society of Behavioral Medicine, 1991; 128.
- Koutsky L, Ault K, Wheeler C, et al. "A controlled trial of a human papillomavirus type 16 vaccine." *New Engl J Med* 2002; 347 (21): 1645–51.
- 94. Harper D, Franco E, Wheeler C, et al.
 "Efficacy of a bivalent L1 virus-like particle vaccine in prevention of infection with human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 in young women: a randomised controlled trial." *Lancet* 2004 Nov 13–19; 364 (9447): 1757–65.
- 95. Villa L, Costa R, Petta C, et al. "Prophylactic quadrivalent human papillomavirus (types 6, 11, 16, and 18) L1 virus-like particle vaccine in young women: a randomised double-blind placebo-controlled multicentre phase II efficacy trial." *Lancet Oncol* 2005 May; 6 (5): 271–78.

CHAPTER 4: CONTRACEPTION

- 1. Lader L. *The Margaret Sanger Story and the Fight for Birth Control*, 1st ed. Garden City, NY: Country Life Press, 1955.
- 2. Brown S, Eisenberg L, eds. Committee on Unintended Pregnancy, Division of

Health Promotion and Disease Prevention, Institute of Medicine. *The Best Intentions: Unintended Pregnancy and the Well-Being of Children and Families.* Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 1995.

- Sperhoff L, Glass R, Kase N. Clinical Gynecologic Endocrinology and Infertility, 7th ed. Baltimore: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 2004.
- Hatcher R, et al. *Contraceptive Technology*, 18th revised ed. New York: Argent Media, Inc., 2007.
- Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. "Breast cancer and hormonal contraceptives: collaborative reanalysis of individual data on 53,297 women with breast cancer and 100,239 women without breast cancer from 54 epidemiologic studies." *Lancet* 1996; 347:1713H.
- Speroff L, Carolyn L, Westhoff C. "Breast disease and hormonal contraception: resolution of a lasting controversy." *Dialog in Contracep* 1997; 5 (3): 1–4.
- Kahlenborn C, Modugno F, Potter D, Severs W. "Oral Contraceptive Use Increases Risk of Premenopausal Breast Cancer." *Mayo Clinic Proc* 2006; 81:1287, 1290–1302.
- Shojania A, Hornady G. "The effect of oral contraceptives on folate metabolism." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1971; 111 (6): 782–91.
- Webb J. "Nutritional effects of oral contraceptive use: a review." J Reprod Med 1980 Oct; 25 (4): 150–56.
- Alan P, Mikhail M, Basu J, Romeny S. "Beta-carotene levels in exfoliated cervicovaginal epithelial cells in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and cervical cancer." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1992; 167 (6): 1899–1903.
- 11. Palan P, Romney S, Mikhail M, Basu J. "Decreased beta-carotene levels in women

with uterine cervical dysplasias and cancer." *J Nat Canc Inst* 1988; 80 (6): 454–55.

- 12. Seligman B. "Oral bromelain as adjunct in the treatment of acute thrombophlebitis." *Angiology* 1969; 20:22–26.
- Chutani S, Bordia A. "The effect of fried versus raw garlic on fibrinolytic activity in man." *Atherosclerosis* 1981; 38:417–21.
- Legnani C, et al. "Effects of dried garlic preparation on fibrinolysis and platelet aggregation in healthy subjects." *Arzneimittel-Forsch* 1993; 43:119–21.
- 15. Kiesewetter H, et al. "Effect of garlic on thrombocyte aggregation, microcirculation, and other risk factors." *Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther Toxicol* 1991; 119–21.
- Jobst KA, McIntyre M, St. George D, et al. "Safety of St John's wort (*Hypericum perfo-ratum*)." *Lancet* 2000; 355 (9203): 575.
- Gorski JC, Hamman MA, Wang Z, et al. "The effect of St. John's Wort on the efficacy of oral contraception." American Society for Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics Annual Meeting, Atlanta, GA, March 24–27, 2002. Abstract MPI-80.
- Pfrunder A, Schiesser M, Gerber S, et al. "Interaction of St John's wort with lowdose oral contraceptive therapy: a randomized controlled trial." *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 2003; 56:683–90.
- Morre K, ed. "Public Health Policy Implications of Abortion." A Government Relations Handbook for Health Professionals. Washington, DC: ACOG, 1990.

CHAPTER 5: CYSTITIS

- 1. Marrie T, Swantee C, Hartlen M. "Aerobic and anaerobic urethral flora of healthy females in various physiological age groups and of females with urinary tract infections." *J Clin Microbiol* 1980; 11:654–59.
- 2. Reid G, Sobel J. "Bacterial adherence in the pathogenesis of urinary tract infection: a review." *Rev Infect Dis* 1987; 9:470–87.

- 3. Stapleton A. "Novel approaches to prevention of urinary tract infections." *Infect Dis Clin North Am* 2003; 17 (2): 457–71.
- Kontiokari T, Laitinen J, Jarvi L, et al. "Dietary factors protecting women from urinary tract infection." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2003; 77:600–604.
- Adetumbi M, Lau B. "Allium sativum (garlic)—a natural antibiotic." Med Hypotheses 1983; 12:227–37.
- Sharma V, Sethi M, Kumar V, et al. "Antibacterial property of *Allium sativum* Linn. In vivo and in vitro studies." *Indian J Exp Biol* 1977; 15:466–68.
- Elnima E, Ahmed S, Mekkawi A, Mossa J. "The antimicrobial activity of garlic and onion extracts." *Pharmazie* 1983; 38: 747–48.
- 8. Sternlief P. "Cranberry juice in renal disease." *N Engl J Med* 1963; 268:57.
- 9. Moen D. "Observations on the effectiveness of cranberry juice in urinary infections." *Wisconsin Med J* 1962; 61:282.
- Avorn J, Monane M, Burwitz J, et al. "Reduction of bacteriuria and pyuria after ingestion of cranberry juice." *JAMA* 1994; 271:751–54.
- Papas P, Brusch C, Ceresia G. "Cranberry juice in the treatment of urinary tract infections." *Southwest Med* 1966; 47: 17–20.
- Ofek I, Goldhar J, et al. "Anti-*Escherichia coli* adhesion activity of cranberry and blueberry juices." *N Engl J Med* 1991; 324:1599.
- 13. Zafiri D, Ofek I, et al. "Inhibitory activity of cranberry juice on adherence of type 1 and type P fimbriated *Escherichia coli* to eucaryotic cells." *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1989; 33:92–98.
- Sobota A. "Inhibition of bacterial adherence by cranberry juice: potential use for the treatment of urinary tract infections." *J Urology* 1984; 131:1013–16.

- Ofek I, et al. "Anti-escherichia activity of cranberry and blueberry juices." N Engl J Med 1991; 324:1599.
- 16. Stothers L. "A randomized trial to evaluate effectiveness and cost effectiveness of naturopathic cranberry products as prophylaxis against urinary tract infection in women." *Can J Urol* 2002; 9:1558–62.
- Falagas M, Betsi G, Tokas T, Athanasiou S. "Probiotics for prevention of recurrent urinary tract infections in women: a review of the evidence from microbiological and clinic studies." *Drugs* 2006; 66 (9): 1253–61.
- Bruce A, Reid G. "Intravaginal instillation of lactobacilli for prevention of recurrent urinary tract infections." *Can J Microbiology* 1988; 34:339–43.
- Murphy F, Zelman S, Mau W. "Ascorbic acid as a urinary acidifying agent: 2. Its adjunctive role in chronic urinary infection." *J Urology* 1965 Sept; 94:300–303.
- Carlsson S, Wiklund N, Engstrand L. "Effects of pH, nitrite, and ascorbic acid on nonenzymatic nitric oxide generation and bacterial growth in urine." *Nitric Oxide* 2001; 5 (6): 580–86.
- Hagberg L, Hodal U, Korhonen T, et al. "Adhesion, hemagglutination, and virulence of *E. coli* causing urinary tract infections." *Infect Immun* 1981 Feb; 31 (2): 564–70.
- 22. Larsson B, Jonasson A, Fianu S. "Prophylactic effect of UVA-E in women with recurrent cystitis: a preliminary report." *Curr Ther Res* 1993; 53:441–43.
- Amin A, Subbaiah T, Abbasi K. "Berberine sulfate: antimicrobial activity, bioassay, and mode of action." *Can J Microbiology* 1969; 15:1067–76.
- 24. Johnson C, Johnson G, Poe C. "Toxicity of alkaloids to certain bacteria." *Acta Pharmacol Toxicol* 1952; 8:71–78.

- 25. Hahn F, Ciak J. "Berberine." *Antibiotics* 1976; 3:577–88.
- Raz R, Stamm WE. "A controlled trial of intravaginal estriol in postmenopausal women with recurrent urinary tract infections." *N Engl J Med* 1993; 329 (11): 753–56.

CHAPTER 6: ENDOMETRIOSIS

- Mishell D, Stenchever M, et al. Comprehensive Gynecology. St. Louis: Mosby, 1997.
- Koninckx P, Ide P, Vandenbroucke W, Brosens I. "New aspects of the pathophysiology of endometriosis and associated infertility." *J Repro Med* 1980; (6): 257–60.
- Simpson J, Elias S, Malinak L, Buttram V. "Heritable aspects of endometriosis." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1980 June; 137:327–31.
- Cramer D, Wilson E, et al. "The relation of endometriosis to menstrual characteristics, smoking, and exercise." *JAMA* 1986; 255 (14): 1904–8.
- Woodworth S, Singh M, et al. "A prospective study on the association between red hair color and endometriosis in infertile patients." *Fertil Steril* 1995 Sept; 64 (3): 651–52.
- D'Hooghe T, Bambra C, et al. "The prevalence of spontaneous endometriosis in the baboon (*Papio anubis, Papio cynocephalus*) increases with the duration of captivity." *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 1996 Feb; 75 (2): 98–101.
- Harrop-Griffiths J, Katon W, et al. "The association between chronic pelvic pain, psychiatric diagnoses, and childhood sexual abuse." *Obstet Gynecol* 1988 Apr; 71:589–94.
- Koninckx P, Oosterlynck D, et al.
 "Deeply infiltrating endometriosis is a disease whereas mild endometriosis could

be considered a non-disease." Ann NY Acad Sci 1994 Sept; 333–41.

- Lanzone A, Marana R. "Serum CA-125 levels in the diagnosis and management of endometriosis." *J Repro Med* 1991 Aug; 36:603–7.
- 10. Gould S, Shannon J, Cunha G. "Nuclear estrogen binding sites in human endometriosis." *Fertil Steril* 1983:520–24.
- 11. Sampson J. "Peritoneal endometriosis due to the menstrual dissemination of endometrial tissue into the peritoneal cavity." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1927 Oct; 14:422–69.
- Dmowski W, Steele R, et al. "Deficient cellular immunity in endometriosis." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1981 Oct; 141:377–83.
- 13. Noble L, Simpson E, et al. "Aromatase expression in endometriosis." *J Clin Endo Metab* 1996; 81:174–79.
- Dmowski W, Steele R, et al. "Deficient cellular immunity in endometriosis." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1981 Oct; 141:377–83.
- Peterson N, Hasselbring B. "Endometriosis reconsidered." *Med Self Care* 1987 May–June; 52–55.
- Rier S, Martin D, et al. "Immunoresponsiveness in endometriosis: implications of estrogenic toxicants." *Envir Health Perspect* 1995; 103 (Suppl 7): 151–56.
- Koninckx P, Meuleman C, et al. "Suggestive evidence that pelvic endometriosis is a progressive disease, whereas deeply infiltrating endometriosis is associated with pelvic pain." *Fertil Steril* 1991 Apr; 55 (4): 759–65.
- 18. Koninckx P, Martin D. "Treatment of deeply infiltrating endometriosis." *Curr Opin Obstet & Gynec* 1994 June; 6 (3): 231–41.
- 19. Kennedy S, Mardon H, Barlow D. "Familial endometriosis." J Assist Reprod Genet 1995; 12:32–34.
- 20. Stefansson H, Geirsson R, Steinthorsdottir V, et al. "Genetic factors contribute to

the risk of developing endometriosis." *Hum Reprod* 2002; 17:555–59.

- Moen M. "Endometriosis in monozygotic twins." Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1994; 73:59–62.
- 22. Hadfield R, Mardon H, Barlow D, Kennedy S. "Endometriosis in monozygotic twins." *Fertil Steril* 1997; 68:941–42.
- Treloar S, O'Connor D, O'Connor V, Martin N. "Genetic influences on endometriosis in an Australian twin sample." *Fertil Steril* 1997; 71:701–10.
- Wang Y, Guo S. "Statistical methods for detecting genomic alterations through array-based comparative genomic hybridization (CGH)." *Front Biosci* 2004; 9:540–549.
- 25. Ranton J, Golden J. "Radiation-induced endometriosis in Maccaca mulatta." *Radiat Res* 1991; 126:141–46.
- Rier S, Martin D, Bowman R, et al. "Endometriosis in rhesus monkeys (Maccaca mulatta) following chronic exposure to 2,3,7,8 tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin." *Fundam Appl Toxicol* 1993; 21:431–41.
- Koninckx P, Braet P, Kennedy S, et al.
 "Dioxin pollution and endometrisis in Belgium." *Hum Reprod* 1994; 9:1001–2.
- Pauwels A, Schepens P, D'Hooghe T, et al. "The risks of endometriosis and exposure to dioxons and polychlorinated biphenyls: a case-controlled study of infertile women." *Hum Reprod* 2001; 16:2050–55.
- Eskenazi B, Mocarelli P, Warner M, et al. "Serum dioxin concentrations and endometriosis: a cohort sudy in Seveso, Italy." *Environ Health Perspect* 2002; 110:629–34.
- 30. Myers J, Guillette L Jr, Palanza P, et al. "The emerging science of endocrine disruption." Science and Culture Series, International Seminar on Nuclear War and Planetary Emergencies, 28th Session, Erice, Italy, 2003.

- Davis D, Bradlow H. "Can environmental estrogen cause breast cancer?" *Sci Am* 1995 Oct: 166–72.
- 32. Sotkstad E. "Pollution gets personal." *Science* 2004; 304:1892–94.
- Leibovic D, Mueller M, Taylor R. "Immunobiology of endometriosis." *Fertil Steril* 2001; 75:1–10.
- D'Hooghe T, Bambra C, et al. "The effects of immunosuppression on development and progression of endometriosis in baboons (*Papio anubis*)." *Fertil Steril* 1995 Jul; 64 (1): 172–78.
- 35. Nomiyama M, Hachisuga T, et al. "Local immune response in infertile patients with minimal endometriosis." *Gynecol and Obstet Invest* 1997; 44:32–37.
- Halme J, Becker S. "Increased activation of pelvic macrophages in infertile women with mild endometriosis." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1983 Feb; 145:333–37.
- Muscato J, Haney A, et al. "Sperm phagocytosis by human peritoneal macrophages: a possible cause of infertility in endometriosis." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1982; 144:503–10.
- Wilson T, Hertzog P, et al. "Decreased natural killer cell activity in endometriosis patients: relationship to disease pathogenesis." *Fertil Steril* 1994 Nov; 62 (5): 1086–88.
- Oosterlynick D, Meuleman C, et al. "Immunosuppressive activity of peritoneal fluid in women with endometriosis." *Obstet Gynecol* 1993 Aug; 82 (2): 206–11.
- Garzetti G, Ciavattini A, et al. "Natural killer cell activity in endometriosis: correlation between serum estradiol levels and cytotoxicity." *Obstet Gynecol* 1993 May; 81 (5): 665–68.
- 41. Gleicher, N, El-Roeiy A, et al. "Is endometriosis an autoimmune disease?" *Obstet Gynecol* 1987 July; 70:115–22.

- Gleicher N, Pratt D. "Abnormal (auto)immunity and endometriosis." *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 1993; 40 (Suppl): S21–27.
- Mathur S, Peress M, et al. "Autoimmunity to endometrium and ovary in endometriosis." *Clin Exp Immunol* 1982; 50:259–66.
- 44. Oosterlynck D, Cornillie F, Waer M, et al. "Women with endometriosis show a defect in natural killer activity resulting in a decreased cytotoxicity to autologous endometrium." *Fertil Steril* 1991; 56:45–51.
- 45. Chegini N. "Peritoneal molecular environment, adhesion formation, and clinical implication." *Front Biosci* 2002; 1:e91–115.
- 46. Bazvani R, Templeton A. "Peritoneal environment, cytokines and angiogenesis in the pathophysiology of endometriosis." *Reproduction* 2002; 123:217–26.
- 47. Galle P. "Clinical presentation and diagnosis of endometriosis." *Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am* 1989 Mar; 16 (1): 29–42.
- Baron J. "Beneficial effects of nicotine and cigarette smoking: the real, the possible and the spurious." *Br Med Bull* 1996 Jan; 52 (1): 58–73.
- 49. McCann S, Freudenheim J, et al. "Endometriosis and body fat distribution." *Obstet Gynecol* 1993 Oct; 82:545–49.
- 50. Malinak R. "ACOG technical bulletin." Endomet 1993 Sept: 1–6.
- 51. Pauci A, Braunwald E, et al. *Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine*. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1998.
- 52. Hill M, Goddard P, et al. "Gut bacteria and etiology of cancer of the breast." *Lancet* 1971 Aug; 472–73.
- 53. Portz D, Elkins T. "Oxygen free radicals and pelvic adhesion formation: I. blocking oxygen free radical toxicity to prevent adhesion formation in an endometriosis model." *Int J Fertil* 1991; 36 (1): 39–42.

- Goldin B, Adlercreutz H, et al. "Effect of diet on excretion of estrogens in pre- and postmenopausal women." *Canc Res* 1981 Sept; 41:3771–73.
- Parazzini F, Chiaffarino F, Surace M, et al. "Selected food intake and risk of endometriosis." *Hum Reprod* 2004 Aug; 19 (8): 1755–59. Epub 2004 Jul 14.
- Murray M, Pizzorno J. "Digestion and elimination." In *Encyclopedia of Natural Medicine*, rev. 2nd ed. Roseville, CA: Prima Publishing, 1998.
- Kappas A, Anderson K, et al. "Nutritionendocrine interactions: induction of reciprocal changes in the delta-5alphareduction of testosterone and the cytochrome P-450-dependent oxidation of estradiol by dietary macronutrients in man." *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 1983 Dec; 80:7646–49.
- Nagata C, Takatsuka N, Kawakami N, Shimizu H. "Soy product intake and premenopausal hysterectomy in a follow-up study of Japanese women." *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2001 Sep; 55 (9): 773–77.
- 59. Mathias JR, Franklin R, Quast DC, Fraga N, Loftin CA, Yates L, Harrison V. "Relation of endometriosis and neuromuscular disease of the gastrointestinal tract: new insights." *Fertil Steril* 1998 Jul; 70 (1): 81–88.
- 60. Michnovicz J, Bradlow H. "Altered estrogen metabolism and excretion in humans following consumption of indol-3carbinol." *Nutr & Cancer* 1991; 16: 59–66.
- 61. Leibovitz B, Mueller J. "Bioflavonoids and polyphenols: medical applications." *Ins for the Study of Opt Nutr* 1993; 2 (1): 17–35.
- 62. Leung A. Encyclopedia of Common Natural Ingredients Used in Food, Drugs and Cosmetics. New York: Wiley & Sons, 1980; 17.

406 REFERENCES

- 63. Yudkin J, Elisa O. "Dietary sucrose and oestradiol concentration in young men." *Ann Nutr Metab* 1988; 32:53–55.
- Grodstein F, Goldman M. "Relation of female infertility to consumption of caffeinated beverages." *Am J Epidemiol* 1993; 137:1353–60.
- Tremblay L. "Reproductive Toxins Conference—Pollution Prevention Network." *Endomet Assoc Newsletter* 1996; 17 (5–6): 13–15.
- 66. Anderson R. "The immunostimulatory, anti-inflammatory and anti-allergic properties of ascorbate." *Adv Nut Res* 1984; 6:19–45.
- 67. Leibovitz B, Siegel B. "Ascorbic acid and the immune response." *Adv Exp Med Biol* 1981; 135:1–25.
- Sawatsri S, Desai N, Rock JA, Sidell N. "Retinoic acid suppresses interleukin-6 production in human endometrial cells." *Fertil Steril* 2000 May; 73 (5): 1012–19.
- 69. Alexander M, et al. "Oral beta-carotene can increase the number of OKT4 cells in human blood." *Immunol Lett* 1985; 9: 221–24.
- Gerster H. "Anticarcinogenic effect of common carotenoids." *Internat J Vit Nutr Res* 1993; 63:93–121.
- Ongsakul M, et al. "Impaired blood clearance of bacteria and phagocytic activity in vitamin A deficient rats." *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 1985; 178 (2): 204–8.
- Watson R. "Effect of b-carotene on lymphocyte subpopulations in elderly humans; evidence for a dose-response relationship." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1991; 53:90–94.
- 73. Foyouzi N, Berkkanoglu M, Arici A, Kwintkiewicz J, Izquierdo D, Duleba AJ.
 "Effects of oxidants and antioxidants on proliferation of endometrial stromal cells." *Fertil Steril* 2004 Oct; 82 (Suppl 3): 1019–22.

- 74. Murphy AA, Santanam N, Parthasarathy
 S. "Endometriosis: a disease of oxidative stress?" *Semin Reprod Endocrinol* 1998; 16 (4): 263–73. Review.
- London R, Sundaram G, et al. "Endocrine parameters and alpha-tocopherol therapy of patients with mammary dysplasia." *Canc Res* 1981 Sept; 41:3811–13.
- Butler E, McKnight E. "Vitamin E in the treatment of primary dysmenorrhea." *Lancet* 1955; 1:844–47.
- 77. Moncada S, et al. "Leucocytes and tissue injury; the use of eicosapentaenoic acid in the control of white cell activation." Wien Klin Wochenschr 1986; 98 (4): 104–6.
- 78. Gazvani MR, Smith L, Haggarty P, Fowler PA, Templeton A. "High omega-3:omega-6 fatty acid ratios in culture medium reduce endometrial-cell survival in combined endometrial gland and stromal cell cultures from women with and without endometriosis." *Fertil Steril* 2001 Oct; 76 (4): 717–22.
- 79. Covens AL, Christopher P, Casper RF. "The effect of dietary supplementation with fish oil fatty acids on surgically induced endometriosis in the rabbit." *Fertil Steril* 1988 Apr; 49 (4): 698–703.
- Biskind M, Biskind G. "Effect of vitamin B complex deficiency on inactivation of estrone in the liver." *Endocr* 1942; 31: 109–14.
- Kiremidjian-Schumacher, Stotsky G. "Selenium and immune responses." *Environ Res* 1987; 42:277–303.
- Spallholtz, et al. "Immune response of mice fed diets supplemented with selenium." *Proc Soc Exper Biology & Med* 143:685–869.
- Murray M, Pizzorno J. "Immune Support." In *Encyclopedia of Natural Medicine*, rev. 2nd ed. Roseville, CA: Prima Publishing, 1998.

- Tanaka T. "A novel anti-dysmenorrhea therapy with cyclic administration of two Japanese herbal medicines." *Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol* 2003; 30 (2–3): 95–98.
- Xiao YH, Chen DP, Yan JH, Yokoyama Y. "Mechanism of action of Tripterygium Wilfordii polyglycoside on experimental endometriosis." *Eur J Gynaecol Oncol* 2002; 23 (1): 63–67.
- Decapite L. "Histology, anatomy and antibiotic properties of *vitex agnus castus.*" *Ann Fac Agr Univ Studi Perugi* 1967; 22:109–26.
- Baba K, Abe S, et al. "Antitumor activity of hot water extract of dandelion, *Taraxacum officinale*—correlation between antitumor activity and timing of administration." *Yakugaku Zasshi* 1981 June; 101 (6): 538–643.
- Chevallier A. "Leonurus cardiaca." Encyclopedia of Medicinal Plants. New York: Dorling Kindersley Limited, 1996.

CHAPTER 7: FIBROCYSTIC BREASTS

- Love S, et al. "Fibrocystic 'disease' of the breast: a nondisease." N Engl J Med 1982; 307:1010.
- Page D, Dupont W. "Indicators of increased breast cancer risk in humans." *J Cell Biochem Suppl* 1992; 16G:175.
- Devitt J, et al. "Risk of breast cancer in women with breast cysts." *Can Med Assoc J* 1992; 147:45.
- 4. Sterns E. "The natural history of macroscopic cysts in the breast." *Surg Gyn Obstet* 1992; 174:36.
- Hentes D. "Does diet influence human fecal microflora composition?" *Nutr Rev* 1980; 38:329–36.
- Wu C, Ray RM, Lin MG, et al. "A casecontrol study of risk factors for fibrocystic breast conditions: Shanghai Nutrition and Breast Disease Study, China,

1995–2000." *Am J Epidemiol* 2004 Nov 15; 160 (10): 945–60.

- Fleming RM. "What effect, if any, does soy protein have on breast tissue?" *Integr Cancer Ther* 2003 Sep; 2 (3): 225–28.
- Rohan TE, Jain M, Miller AB. "Alcohol consumption and risk of benign proliferative epithelial disorders of the breast: a case-cohort study." *Public Health Nutr* 1998 Sep; 1 (3): 139–45.
- 9. Minton J, Foeking M, Webster D, Matthews R. "Caffeine, cyclic nucleotides, and breast disease." *Surg* 1979; 86:105.
- Ernster V, Mason L, Goodson W, et al. "Effects of caffeine-free diet on benign breast disease: a randomized trial." *Surg* 1982; 912:263–67.
- 11. Lubin F et al. "A case-control study of caffeine and methylxanthine in benign breast disease." *JAMA* 1985; 253 (16): 2388–92.
- Shawer C, Brinton L, Hoover R. "Methylxanthine and benign breast disease." *Am J Epidemiol* 1986; 124 (4): 603–11.
- Marshall J, Graham S, Swanson M. "Caffeine consumption and benign breast disease: a case-control comparison." *Amer J Public Health* 1982; 72 (6): 610–12.
- La Vecchia C, et al. "Benign breast disease and consumption of beverages containing methylxanthines." *JNCI* 1985; 74 (5): 995–1000.
- Boyle C, et al. "Caffeine consumption and fibrocystic breast disease: a casecontrol epidemiologic study." *JNCI* 1984; 72 (5): 1015–19.
- Boyd N, McGuire V, Shannon P, et al. "Effect of a low-fat high-carbohydrate diet on symptoms of cyclical mastopathy." *Lancet* 1988 July 16; 2 (8603): 128–32.
- 17. Rose D, et al. "Effect of a low-fat diet on hormone levels in women with cystic

breast disease. I. Serum steroids and gonadotropins." *J JCK* 1987; 78 (4): 623–26.

- Abrams A. "Use of vitamin E in chronic cystic mastitis." N Engl J Med 1965; 272:1080.
- 19. Solomon D, Strummer D, Nair P. "Relationship between vitamin E and urinary excretion of ketosteroid fractions in cystic mastitis." *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1972; 203:103.
- 20. London R, et al. "Clinical response and urinary excretion of 11-desoxy-17 ketosteroids and pregnanediol following alphatocopherol therapy." *Breast* 1978; 4:19.
- 21. London R, et al. "Mammary dysplasia: endocrine parameters and tocopherol therapy." *Nutr Res* 1982; 7:243.
- 22. Meyer E, et al. "Vitamin E and benign breast disease." *Surg* 1990; 107 (5): 549–51.
- 23. London R, et al. "The effect of vitamin E on mammary dysplasia: a double-blind study." *Obstet Gynecol* 1985; 65 (1): 104–6.
- 24. London R, et al. "Endocrine parameters and alphatocopherol therapy of patients with mammary dysplasia." *Canc Res* 1981; 41:3811–13.
- Pye J, et al. "Clinical experience of drug treatment for mastalgia." *Lancet* 1985; 2:373–77.
- Pashby N, et al. "A clinical trial of evening primrose oil in mastalgia." Br J Surg 1981; 68:801–24.
- Pasquali D, Bellastella A, Valente A, et al. "Retinoic acid receptors alpha, beta and gamma, and cellular retinol binding protein-I expression in breast fibrocystic disease and cancer." *Eur J Endocrinol* 1997 Oct; 137 (4): 410–14.
- Band P, et al. "Treatment of benign breast disease with vitamin A." *Prev Med* 1984; 13:549.
- 29. Estes N. "Mastodynia due to fibrocystic disease of the breast controlled with thyroid hormone." *Amer J Surg* 1981; 142:102.

- Eskin B, Bartushka D, Dunn M, et al. "Mammary gland dysplasia in iodine deficiency." *JAMA* 1967; 200:691–95.
- Ghent W, et al. "Iodine replacement in fibrocystic disease of the breast." *Can J Surg* 1993 Oct; 35 (5): 453–60.
- Lee, J. What Your Doctor May Not Tell You about Menopause. New York: Warner Books, 1996.

CHAPTER 8: GENITAL HERPES

- 1. American Medical Association. *Genital Herpes: A Clinician's Guide to Diagnosis and Treatment*. Chicago: American Medical Association, 2001.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. "Tracking the Hidden Epidemics. Trends in STDs in the United States 2000."cdc.gov/nchstp/dstd/stats_trends/ trends2000.pdf. Corrected April 6, 2001.
- 3. Handsfield HH. *Genital Herpes*. New York: McGraw-Hill Medical Publishing Division, 2001.
- Fleming D, et al. "Herpes simplex virus type 2 in the United States, 1976–1994." *N Engl J Med* 1997; 337:1105–11.
- Wild D, Patrick D, Johnson E, Berzon R, Wald A. "Measuring health-related quality of life in persons with genital herpes." *Qual Life Res* 1995; 4:532–39.
- 6. Langenberg A, et al. "A prospective study of new infections with herpes simplex virus type 1 and type 2." *N Engl J Med* 1999; 341:1432–38.
- Griffith R, DeLong D, Nelson J. "Relation of arginine-lysine antagonism to herpes simplex growth in tissue culture." *Chemo* 1981; 27 (3): 209–13.
- 8. Ibid.
- Algert S, Stubblefield N, Grasse B, et al. "Assessment of dietary intake of lysine and arginine in patients with herpes simplex." *J Am Diet Assoc* 1987 Nov; 87 (11): 1560–61.
- Griffith R, et al. "Success of L-lysine therapy in frequently recurrent herpes simplex infection." *Derma* 1987; 175:183–90.
- McCune M, Perry H, Muller S, O'Fallan M. "Treatment of recurrent herpes simplex infections with L-lysine monohydrochloride." *Cutis* 1984; 34:366–73.
- Terezhalmy G, Bottomley W, Pelleu G. "The use of water-soluble bioflavonoidascorbic acid complex in the treatment of recurrent herpes labialis." *Oral Surg* 1978; 45 (1): 56–62.
- Betanzos-Cabrera G, Ramirez F, Munoz J, et al. "Inactivation of HSV-2 by ascorbate-Cu (II) and its protecting evaluation in CF-1 mice against encephalitis." *Virol Methods* 2004 Sep 15; 120 (2): 161–65.
- Hovi T, Hirvimies A, Stenvik M, et al. "Topical treatment of recurrent mucocutaneous herpes with ascorbic acidcontaining solution." *Antiviral Res* 1995 Jun; 27 (3): 263–70.
- 15. Starasoler S, Haber G. "Use of vitamin E oil in primary herpes gingivostomatitis in an adult." *NYS Dent J* 1978; 11:384–85.
- Sheridan J, Kern E, Martin A, Booth A. "Evaluation of antioxidant healing formulations in topical therapy of experimental cutaneous and genital herpes simplex virus infections." *Antiviral Res* 1997 Dec; 36 (3): 157.
- 17. Arens M, Travis S. "Zinc salts inactivate clinical isolates of herpes simplex virus in vitro." *J Clin Microbiol* 2000; 38:1758–62.
- Tennican PO, Carl GZ, Chvapil M. "The diverse effects of topical and systemic administration of zinc on the virulence of herpes simplex genitalis." *Life Sci* 1979; 24:1877–84.
- 19. Bourne N, Stegall R, Montano R, Meador M, Stanberry LR, Milligan GN. "Efficacy on toxicity of zinc salts as candidate topical microbicides against vaginal herpes

simplex virus type 2 infection." *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2005; 49: 1181–83.

- Tennican P, Carl G, Frey J, Thies C, Chvapil M. "Topical zinc in the treatment of herpes genitalis virus." *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 1980; 164:593–97.
- 21. Fitzherbert J. "Genital herpes and zinc." *Med J Austr* 1979; 1:399.
- 22. Allahverdiyev A, Duran N, Ozguven M, Koltas S. "Antiviral activity of the volatile oils of *Melissa officinalis L*. against *Herpes simplex virus* type-2." *Phytomed* 2004 Nov; 11 (7–8): 657–61.
- Dimitrova Z, Dimov B, Manolova N, et al. "Antiherpes effect of *Melissa officinalis L.* extracts." *Acta Microbiol Bulg* 1993; 29:65–72.
- Wolbling R, Leonhardt K. "Local therapy of herpes simplex with dried extract from *Melissa officinalis.*" *Phytomed* 1994; 1:25–31.
- Koytchev R, Alken RG, Dundarov S. "Balm mint extract (Lo-701) for topical treatment of recurring herpes labialis." *Phytomed* 1999 Oct; 6 (4): 225–30.
- Pompei R, Flore O, Marccialis M, et al. "Glycyrrhizic acid inhibits virus growth and inactivates virus particles." *Nature* 1979 Oct 25; 281 (5733): 689–90.
- 27. Williams M. "Immunoprotection against herpes simplex type II infection by *eleutherococcus* root extract." *Int J Alt Comp Med* 1995; 13:9–12.
- Amoros M, Sauvager F, Girre L, Cormier M. "In vitro antiviral activity of propolis." *Apidologie* 1992; 23:231–40.
- 29. Amoros M, Lurton E, Boustie J, Girre L, Sauvager F, Cormier M. "Comparison of the anti-herpes simplex virus activities of propolis and 3-methyl-but-2-enylcaffeata." *J Nat Prod* 1994; 57:644–47.
- 30. Debiaggi M, Tateo F, Pagani L, Luini M, Romero E. "Effects of propolis flavonoids

on virus infectivity and replication." *Microbiologica* 1990; 13:207–13.

- Al-Waili N. "Topical honey application vs acyclovir for the treatment of recurrent herpes simplex lesions." *Med Sci Monit* 2004; 10:MT94–MT98.
- Vynograd N, Vynograd I, Sosnowski Z.
 "A comparative multi-centre study of the efficacy of propolis, acyclovir and placebo in the treatment of genital herpes (HSV)." *Phytomed* 2000; 7:1–6.
- Sydiskis R, Owen D, Lohr L, Rosler K-HA, Blomster RN. "Inactivation of enveloped viruses by anthraquinones extracted from plants." *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1991; 35:2463–66.
- 34. Kahlon JB, Kemp MC, Yawei N, Carpenter RH, Shannon WM, McAnalley BH. "In vitro evaluation of the synergistic effects of acemannan in combination with azidothymidine and acyclovir." *Mol Biother* 1991; 3:214–23.
- 35. Syed T, Cheema K, Ashfaq A, Holt A. "Aloe vera extract 0.5% in a hydrophilic cream versus Aloe vera gel for the management of genital herpes in males." A placebo-controlled, double-blind, comparative study [letter]." J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 1996; 7:294–95.
- 36. Syed T, Afzal M, Ashfaq A, et al. "Management of genital herpes in men with 0.5% Aloe vera extract in a hydrophilic cream: a placebo-controlled double-blind study." *J Dermatol Treat* 1997; 8:99–102.
- 37. Muldner V, Zoller M. "Antidepressive wirkung eines auf den wirkstoffkomplex hypericin standardisierten hypericumextrakes." *Arzneim Forsch* 1984; 34:918.
- Bourinbaiar AS, Lee-Huang S. "The activity of plant-derived antiretroviral proteins MAP30 and GAP31 against herpes simplex virus in vitro." *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1996 Feb 27; 219 (3): 923–29.

- Zhang M, Cheung P, Ooi V, Zhang L. "Evaluation of sulfated fungal betaglucans from the sclerotium of *Pleurotus tuber-regium* as a potential water-soluble anti-viral agent." *Carbohydr Res* 2004 Sep 13; 339 (13): 2297–301.
- Binns S, Hudson J, Merali S, Arnason J. "Antiviral activity of characterized extracts from *echinacea* spp. (*Heliantheae: Asteraceae*) against herpes simplex virus (HSV-I)." *Planta Med* 2002 Sep; 68 (9): 780–83.
- Vonau B, Chard S, Mandalia S, et al.
 "Does the extract of the plant *Echinacea purpurea* influence the clinical course of recurrent genital herpes?" *Int J STD AIDS* 2001 Mar; 12 (3): 154–58.
- 42. Thompson KD. "Antiviral activity of *Viracea* against acyclovir susceptible and acyclovir resistant strains of herpes simplex virus." *Antiviral Res* 1998 Jul; 39 (1): 55–61.
- 43. Piret J, Lamontagne J, Bestman-Smith J, et al. "In vitro and in vivo evaluations of sodium lauryl sulfate and d-sulfate as microbicides against herpes simplex and human immunodeficiency viruses." J Clin Microbiol 2000; 38 (1): 110–19.

CHAPTER 9: HEART DISEASE

- American Heart Association. *Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics*—2003 Update. Dallas, TX: American Heart Association, 2002.
- U.S. Dept Health and Human Services, National Center for Health Statistics.
 "U.S. mortality data tapes, 1968 to 1983." Washington, DC: U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services, 1984.
- Wenger N, Speroff L, Packard B. "Cardiovascular health and disease in women." N Engl J Med 1993; 329:247.
- 4. Vaccarino V, Parsons L, Every N, et al. "Sex-based differences in early mortality

after myocardial infarction. National Registry of Myocardial Infarction 2 Participants." *N Engl J Med* 1999; 341:217–25.

- Vaccarino V, Krumholz H, Yarzebski J, et al. "Sex differences in 2-year mortality after hospital discharge for myocardial infarction." *Ann Intern Med* 2001; 134:173–81.
- Havlik R, Feinleib M, eds. "Proceedings of the conference on decline in coronary heart disease mortality." NIH publication no. 79. Bethesda, MD: *Nat Inst of Health*, 1979; 1610.
- Matthews K, Meilahn E, Kuller L, et al. "Menopause and risk factors for coronary heart disease." N Engl J Med 1989; 321:641.
- Lerner D, Kannel W. "Patterns of coronary heart disease morbidity and mortality in the sexes: a 26-year follow-up of the Framingham population." *Am Heart J* 1986; 111:383–90.
- Rich-Edwards J, Manson J, Hennekens C, Buring J. "The primary prevention of coronary heart disease in women." *N Engl J Med* 1995; 332:1758–65.
- Manson J, Colditz G, Stampfer M, et al. "A prospective study of obesity and risk of coronary heart disease in women." *N Engl J Med* 1990; 322:882–89.
- 11. Freeman R. "Hormones and heart disease." *Meno Mgmt* 1996; 5 (2): 10–15.
- 12. Wilson P, Garrison R, Castelli W, et al. "Prevalence of coronary heart disease in the Framingham offspring study: role of lipoprotein cholesterols." *Am J Cardiol* 1980; 46:649.
- Wuerst J Jr., Dry T, Edwards J. "The degree of coronary atherosclerosis in bilaterally oophorectomized women." *Circ* 1953; 7:801.
- 14. Higgins M, Thom T. "Cardiovascular disease in women as a public health problem." In Wenger N, Speroff L, Packard B, eds., *Cardiovas Health and Dis in Women*.

Greenwich, CT: Lelacq Communications, 1993.

- Hu F, Grodstein F. "Postmenopausal hormone therapy and the risk of cardiovascular disease: the epidemiologic evidence." *Am J Cardiol* 2002; 90:26F.
- Hulley S, Grady D, et al. "Randomized trial of estrogen plus progestin for secondary prevention of coronary heart disease in postmenopausal women." *JAMA* 1998; 280 (7): 605–13.
- Writing Group for the WHI investigators. "Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women. Principal results from the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial." JAMA 2002; 288 (3): 321–33.
- Anderson G, Limacher M, Assaf A, et al. "Effects of conjugated equine estrogen in postmenopausal women with hysterectomy: the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial." *JAMA* 2004; 291:1701–12.
- 19. Cherry N, Gilmour K, Hannaford P, et al. "Oestrogen therapy for prevention of reinfarction in postmenopausal women: a randomised placebo controlled trial." *Lancet* 2002; 360 (9350): 2001–8.
- Clarke S, Kelleher J, Lloyd-Jones H, et al. "A study of hormone replacement therapy in postmenopausal women with ischaemic heart disease: the Papworth HRT atherosclerosis study. *BJOG* 2002; 109 (9): 1056–62.
- Grodstein F, Manson J, Stampfer M. "Hormone therapy and coronary heart disease: the role of time since menopause and age at hormone initiation." *J Women's Health* 2006; 15 (1): 35–44.
- 22. Rossouw J, Prentice R, Manson J, et al. "Postmenopausal hormone therapy and risk of cardiovascular disease by age and years since menopause." *JAMA* 2007; 297:1465–77.

- 23. Hsia J, Langer R, Manson J, et al. "Conjugated equine estrogens and coronary heart disease: the Women's Health Initiative." *Arch Intern Med* 2006; 166 (3): 357–65.
- 24. Bass K, Newschaffer C, Klag M, et al. "Plasma lipoprotein levels as predictors of cardiovascular death in women." *Arch Intern Med* 1993; 153:2209–16.
- 25. Manson J. "A prospective study of maturityonset diabetes mellitus and risk of coronary heart disease and stroke in women." *Arch Intern Med* 1991; 151 (6): 1141.
- Barrett-Connor E, Bush T. "Estrogen and coronary heart disease in women." *JAMA* 1991; 265:1861.
- 27. Kemp H Jr., Elliott W, Gorlin R. "The anginal syndrome with normal coronary arteriography." *Trans Assoc Am Phys* 1967; 80:59.
- Walton C, Goldsland I, Proudler A, et al. "The effects of the menopause on insulin sensitivity, secretion, and elimination in non-obese, healthy women." *Eur J Clin Invest* 1993; 23:466.
- 29. Reaven G. "Pathophysiology of insulin resistance in human disease." *Physiol Rev* 1995; 75 (3): 473–85.
- Zavaroni I, Mazza E, Dall'aglio P, et al. "Prevalence of hyperinsulinaemia in patients with high blood pressure." *J Intern Med* 1992; 231(3):235–40.
- Bogardu C, Lillioja S, et al. "Relationship between degree of obesity and in vivo insulin action in man." *Am J Phys* 1985; 248 (S): E286–E291.
- Califf R. Armstrong P, Carver J, et al.
 "27th Bethesda Conference: matching the intensity of risk factor management with the hazard for coronary disease events. Task Force 5. Stratification of patients into high, medium and low risk subgroups for purposes of risk factor management." J Am Coll Cardiol 1996; 27:1007–19.

- 33. USPSTF. "Summaries for patients. Screening for coronary heart disease: recommendations from the United States Preventive Services Task Force." Ann Intern Med 2004 Apr 6; 140 (7): 195.
- Geleijnse J, Grobbee D, Kok F. "Impact of dietary and lifestyle factors on the prevalence of hypertension in Western populations." *J Hum Hypertens* 2005 Dec; 19 (Suppl 3): S1–S4.
- Ornish D, Brown S, Scherwitz L, et al. "Lifestyle changes and heart disease." *Lancet* 1990; 336:129–33.
- Aldana S, Greenlaw R, Thomas D, et al. "The influence of an intense cardiovascular disease risk factor modification program." *Prev Cardiol* 2004 Winter; 7 (1): 19–25.
- Aldana S, Whitmer W, Greenlaw R, et al. "Cardiovascular risk reductions associated with aggressive lifestyle modification and cardiac rehabilitation." *Heart Lung* 2003; 32 (6): 374–82.
- Koertge J, Weidner G, Elliott-Eller M, et al. "Improvement in medical risk factors and quality of life in women and men with coronary artery disease in the Multicenter Lifestyle Demonstration Project." *Am J Cardiol* 2003 Jun 1; 91 (11): 1316–22.
- Wenger N. "Hypertension and other cardiovascular risk factors in women." Am J Hypertens 1995; 8:94S–99S.
- 40. American Heart Association. Online Heart and Stroke A-Z Guide. 1997. americanheart.org.
- Rich-Edwards J, Manson J, Hennekens C, Buring J. "The primary prevention of coronary heart disease in women." *N Engl J Med* 1995; 332:1758–65.
- 42. Wild R, Taylor L, Knehans A. "The gynecologist and the prevention of cardiovascular disease." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1995; 172:1–13.

- 43. Kaplan N. "Non-drug treatment of hypertension." *Ann Intern Med* 1985; 102:359–73.
- 44. Castillo-Richmond A, Schneider R, Alexander C, et al. "Effects of stress reduction on carotid atherosclerosis in hypertensive African Americans." *Stroke* 2000 Mar; 31 (3): 568–73.
- Barnes V, Treiber F, Johnson M. "Impact of transcendental meditation on ambulatory blood pressure in African-American adolescents." *Am J Hypertens* 2004 Apr; 17 (4): 366–69.
- 46. Schneider R, Alexander C, Staggers F, et al. "A randomized controlled trial of stress reduction in African Americans treated for hypertension for over one year." *Am J Hypertens* 2005 Jan; 18 (1): 88–98.
- 47. Bijlani R, Vempati R, Yadav R, et al. "A brief but comprehensive lifestyle education program based on yoga reduces risk factors for cardiovascular disease and diabetes mellitus." *J Altern Complement Med* 2005 Spring; 11 (2): 267–74.
- Yadav R, Ray R, Vempati R, Bijlani R.
 "Effect of a comprehensive yoga-based lifestyle modification program on lipid peroxidation." *Indian J Physiol Pharmacol* 2005 Jul–Sep; 49 (3): 358–62.
- 49. Schneider R, Alexander C, Staggers F, et al. "Long-term effects of stress reduction on mortality in persons > or = 55 years of age with systemic hypertension." *Am J Cardiol* 2005 May 1; 95 (9): 1060–64.
- 50. Varady K, Jones P. "Combination diet and exercise interventions for the treatment of dyslipidemia: an effective preliminary strategy to lower cholesterol levels?" *J Nutr* 2005 Aug; 135 (8): 1829–35.
- Jenkins D, Kendall C, Faulkner D, et al. "Assessment of the longer-term effects of a dietary portfolio of cholesterol-lowering foods in hypercholesterolemia." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2006 Mar; 83 (3): 582–91.

- 52. Das U. "Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids interact with nitric oxide, superoxide anion, and transforming growth factor-beta to prevent human essential hypertension." *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2004 Feb; 58 (2): 195–203.
- Mata P, et al. "Effect of dietary monounsaturated fatty acids on plasma lipoproteins and apolipoproteins in women." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1992; 56:77–83.
- 54. Sankar D, Rao M, Sambandam G, Pugalendi K. "A pilot study of open label sesame oil in hypertensive diabetics." *J Med Food* 2006 Fall; 9 (3): 408–12.
- 55. Sankar D, Sambandam G, Ramakrishna Rao M, Pugalendi K. "Modulation of blood pressure, lipid profiles and redox status in hypertensive patients taking different edible oils." *Clin Chim Acta* 2005 May; 355 (1–2): 97–104.
- 56. Owen R, Mier W, Giacosa A, et al. "Phenolic compounds and squalene in olive oils: the concentration and antioxidant potential of total phenols, simple phenols, secoiridoids, lignans and squalene." *Food Chem Toxicol* 2000; 38:647–59.
- 57. Djousse L, Hunt S, Arnett D, et al. "Dietary linolenic acid is inversely associated with plasma triacylglycerol: the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Family Heart Study." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2003; 78:1098–1102.
- Jiang R, Jacobs D Jr, Mayer-Davis E, et al. "Nut and seed consumption and inflammatory markers in the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis." *Am J Epidemiol* 2006; 163 (3): 222–31.
- 59. Murray M, Beutler J. Understanding Fats and Oils. Encinitas, CA: Progressive Health Publishing, 1996.
- 60. Djousse L, Arnett D, Carr J, et al., investigators of the NHLBI FHS Dietary. "Linolenic acid is inversely associated with calcified atherosclerotic plaque in

the coronary arteries: the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Family Heart Study." *Circulation* 2005 Jun 7; 111 (22): 2921–26.

- Djousse L, Arnett D, Pankow J, et al.
 "Dietary linolenic acid is associated with a lower prevalence of hypertension in the NHLBI Family Heart Study." *Hypertension* 2005 Mar; 45 (3): 368–73.
- Djousse L, Folsom A, Province M, et al. "Dietary linolenic acid and carotid atherosclerosis: the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Family Heart Study." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2003 Apr; 77 (4): 819–25.
- 63. Hongtong K, Boonnim D, Pakpeankitwatana R, et al. "Platelet fatty acids in coronary heart disease, dyslipidemia, hypertension and healthy controls." *Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health* 2003 Sep; 34 (3): 675–81.
- 64. Yehuda S, Carasso R. "Modulation of learning, pain thresholds, and thermoregulation in the rat by preparations of free purified alpha-linolenic and linoleic acids: determination of the optimal omega 3-toomega 6 ratio." *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 1993 Nov 1; 90 (21): 10345–49.
- Djousse L, Folsom AR, Province M, et al. "Dietary linolenic acid and carotid atherosclerosis: the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Family Heart Study." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2003 Apr; 77 (4): 819–25.
- 66. Harrison R, Sagara M, Rajpura A, et al. "Can foods with added soya-protein or fish-oil reduce risk factors for coronary disease? A factorial randomised controlled trial." *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* 2004 Dec; 14 (6): 344–50.
- Nyby M, Matsumoto K, Yamamoto K, et al. "Dietary fish oil prevents vascular dys-function and oxidative stress in hyperin-sulinemic rats." *Am J Hypertens* 2005 Feb; 18 (2 Pt 1): 213–19.

- Linder M. Nutritional Biochemistry and Metabolism with Clinical Applications, 2nd ed. Norwalk, CT: Appleton and Lange, 1991.
- 69. Adler A, Holub B. "Effect of garlic and fish-oil supplementation on serum lipid and lipoprotein concentrations in hypercholesterolemic men." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1997; 65:445–50.
- Wohl D, Tien H, Busby M, et al. "Randomized study of the safety and efficacy of fish oil (omega-3 fatty acid) supplementation with dietary and exercise counseling for the treatment of antiretroviral therapy-associated hypertriglyceridemia." *Clin Infect Dis* 2005; 41 (10): 1498–1504.
- Putadechakum S, Tanphaichitr V, Leelahagul P, et al. "Long-term treatment of N-3 PUFAS on plasma lipoprotein levels and fatty acid composition of total serum and erythrocyte lipids in hypertriglyceridemic patients." *J Med Assoc Thai* 2005 Feb; 88 (2): 181–86.
- 72. Jeyaraj S, Shivaji G, Jeyaraj SD, Vengatesan A. "Effect of combined supplementation of fish oil with garlic pearls on the serum lipid profile in hypercholesterolemic subjects." *Indian Heart J* 2005; 57 (4): 327–31.
- Albert C, et al. "Fish consumption and risk of sudden cardiac death." *JAMA* 1998; 279:23–38.
- 74. Liepa G, Basu H. "C-reactive proteins and chronic disease: what role does nutrition play?" *Nutr Clin Pract* 2003 Jun; 18 (3): 227–33.
- 75. Zhao G, Etherton T, Martin K, et al. "Dietary alpha-linolenic acid reduces inflammatory and lipid cardiovascular risk factors in hypercholesterolemic men and women." *J Nutr* 2004 Nov; 134 (11): 2991–97.
- 76. Markovic O, O'Reilly G, Fussell H, et al. "Role of single nucleotide polymorphisms

of pro-inflammatory cytokine genes in the relationship between serum lipids and inflammatory parameters, and the lipidlowering effect of fish oil in healthy males." *Clin Nutr* 2004 Oct; 23 (5): 1084–95.

- 77. Lopez-Garcia E, Schulze M, et al. "Consumption of (n-3) fatty acids is related to plasma biomarkers of inflammation and endothelial activation in women." *J Nutr* 2004 Jul; 134 (7): 1806–11.
- Ciubotaru I, Lee Y, Wander R. "Dietary fish oil decreases C-reactive protein, interleukin-6, and triacylglycerol to HDL-cholesterol ratio in postmenopausal women on HRT." *J Nutr Biochem* 2003 Sep; 14 (9): 513–21.
- Madsen T, Skou H, Hansen V, Fog L, et al. "C-reactive protein, dietary n-3 fatty acids, and the extent of coronary artery disease." *Am J Cardiol* 2001 Nov 15; 88 (10): 1139–42.
- Nordoy A. "Is there a rational use for n-3 fatty acids (fish oils) in clinical medicine?" *Drugs* 1991; 42 (3): 331–42.
- Buckley MS, Goff A, Knapp WE. "Fish oil interaction with warfarin." *Ann Pharmacother* 2004 Jan; 38 (1): 50–52.
- 82. de Lorgeril M, Salen P, Guiraud A, et al. "Lipid-lowering drugs and essential omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids in patients with coronary heart disease." *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* 2005 Feb; 15 (1): 36–41.
- 83. Erkkila A, Lichtenstein A, Mozaffarian D, Herrington D. "Fish intake is associated with a reduced progression of coronary artery atherosclerosis in postmenopausal women with coronary artery disease." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2004 Sep; 80 (3): 626–32.
- 84. Vahouny G, Kritchevsky D. *Dietary Fiber in Health and Disease*. New York: Plenum Press, 1982.
- 85. Kris-Etherton P, Krummel D. "Role of nutrition in the prevention and treatment

of coronary heart disease in women." *J Am Diet Assoc* 1993; 93:987–93.

- Ripsin C, Keenan J, Jacobs D, et al. "Oat products and lipid lowering: a metaanalysis." *JAMA* 1992; 267 (24): 3317–25.
- Lairon D, Arnault N, Bertrais S, et al. "Dietary fiber intake and risk factors for cardiovascular disease in French adults." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2005 Dec; 82 (6): 1185–94.
- Van Bennekum A, Nguyen D, Schulthess G, et al. "Mechanisms of cholesterollowering effects of dietary insoluble fibres: relationships with intestinal and hepatic cholesterol parameters." *Br J Nutr* 2005 Sep; 94 (3): 331–37.
- Nizami F, Farooqui M, Munir S, Rizvi T. "Effect of fiber bread on the management of diabetes mellitus." *J Coll Physicians Surg Pak* 2004 Nov; 14 (11): 673–76.
- 90. Van Bennekum A, Nguyen D, Schulthess G, Hauser H, Phillips M. "Mechanisms of cholesterol-lowering effects of dietary insoluble fibres: relationships with intestinal and hepatic cholesterol parameters." *Br J Nutr* 2005 Sep; 94 (3): 331–37.
- Pereira M, O'Reilly E, Augustsson K, et al. "Dietary fiber and risk of coronary heart disease: a pooled analysis of cohort studies." *Arch Intern Med* 2004 Feb 23; 164 (4): 370–76.
- 92. Bazzano L, He J, Ogden L, et al. "Dietary fiber intake and reduced risk of coronary heart disease in US men and women: the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey I Epidemiologic Follow-up Study." Arch Intern Med 2003 Sep 8; 163 (16): 1897–1904.
- Wolk A, Manson J, Stampfer M, et al. "Long-term intake of dietary fiber and decreased risk of coronary heart disease among women." *JAMA* 1999; 281: 1998–2004.

- 94. Joshipura K, Hu F, Manson J, et al. "The effect of fruit and vegetable intake on risk for coronary heart disease." *Ann Intern Med* 2001 Jun 19; 134 (12): 1106–14.
- 95. Moreyra A, Wilson A, Koraym A. "Effect of combining psyllium fiber with simvastatin in lowering cholesterol." *Arch Intern Med* 2005 May 23; 165 (10): 1161–66.
- 96. Jenkins D, Kendall C, Marchie A. "Direct comparison of a dietary portfolio of cholesterol-lowering foods with a statin in hypercholesterolemic participants." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2005 Feb; 81 (2): 380–87.
- 97. Mozaffarian D, Kumanyika S, Lemaitre R, et al. "Cereal, fruit, and vegetable fiber intake and the risk of cardiovascular disease in elderly individuals." *JAMA* 2003 Apr 2; 289 (13): 1659–66.
- Slyper A, Jurva J, Pleuss J, et al. "Influence of glycemic load on HDL cholesterol in youth." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2005 Feb; 81 (2): 376–79.
- 99. Resnicow K, Barone J, Engle A. "Diet and serum lipids in vegan vegetarians: a model for risk reduction." *J Am Diet Assoc* 1991; 91:447–53.
- Robertson J, Brydon W, Tadesse K. "The effect of raw carrot on serum lipids and colon function." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1979; 32:1889–92.
- Block G. "Fruit, vegetables, and cancer prevention: a review of the epidemiological evidence." *Nutr Cancer* 1992; 18:1–29.
- Kohlmeier L, Hastings S. "Epidemiologic evidence of a role of carotenoids in cardiovascular disease prevention." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1995; 62 (Suppl): 1370S–76S.
- Stringer M, et al. "Lipid peroxides and atherosclerosis." *Br Med J* 1989; 298: 281–84.
- Beaglehole R. "International trends in coronary artery disease mortality, morbidity, and risk factors." *Epidemiological Review* 1990; 12:1–15.

- 105. Anderson J, Johnstone B, Cook-Newell M. "Meta-analysis of the effects of soy protein intake on serum lipids." N Engl J Med 1995 Aug 3; 333 (5): 276–82.
- 106. Reynolds K, Chin A, Lees KA, et al. "A meta-analysis of the effect of soy protein supplementation on serum lipids." *Am J Cardiol* 2006 Sep 1; 98 (5): 633–40.
- 107. Rosell M, Appleby P, Spencer E, Key T. "Soy intake and blood cholesterol concentrations: a cross-sectional study of 1033 pre- and postmenopausal women in the Oxford arm of the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2004; 80:1391–96.
- 108. Maesta N, Nahas E, Nahas-Neto J, et al. "Effects of soy protein and resistance exercise on body composition and blood lipids in postmenopausal women." *Maturitas* 2006; 56 (4): 350–58.
- 109. Ristic Medic D, Ristic V, Arsic A, et al. "Effects of soybean D-LeciVita product on serum lipids." *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* 2006 Sep; 16 (6): 395–404.
- Pereira I, Faludi A, Aldrighi J, et al.
 "Effects of soy germ isoflavones and hormone therapy on nitric oxide derivatives, low-density lipoprotein oxidation, and vascular reactivity in hypercholesterolemic postmenopausal women." *Menopause* 2006 Nov–Dec; 13 (6): 942–50.
- 111. Garrido A, De la Maza M, Hirsch S, Valladares L. "Soy isoflavones affect platelet thromboxane A2 receptor density but not plasma lipids in menopausal women." *Maturitas* 2006 Jun 20; 54 (3): 270–76.
- 112. Hanson L, Engelman H, Alekel D, et al. "Effects of soy isoflavones and phytate on homocysteine, C-reactive protein, and iron status in postmenopausal women." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2006 Oct; 84 (4): 774–80.
- 113. Goldberg A, Ostlund R Jr, Bateman J, et al. "Effect of plant stanol tablets on low-

density lipoprotein cholesterol lowering in patients on statin drugs." *Am J Cardiol* 2006 Feb 1; 97 (3): 376–79.

- 114. Harrison R, Sagara M, Rajpura A, et al. "Can foods with added soya-protein or fish-oil reduce risk factors for coronary disease? A factorial randomised controlled trial." *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* 2004 Dec; 14 (6): 344–50.
- 115. Hall W, Vafeiadou K, Hallund J, et al. "Soy-isoflavone-enriched foods and markers of lipid and glucose metabolism in postmenopausal women: interactions with genotype and equol production." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2006 Mar; 83 (3): 592–600.
- 116. Kreijkamp-Kaspers S, Kok L, Grobbe D, et al. "Effect of soy protein containing isoflavones on cognitive function, bone mineral density, and plasma lipids in postmenopausal women." *JAMA* 2004; 292:65–74.
- 117. Dewell A, Piper L, Hollenbeck W, Hollenbeck C. "Clinical review: a critical evaluation of the role of soy protein and isoflavone supplementation in the control of plasma cholesterol concentrations." *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2006; 912: 772–80.
- 118. Lukaczer D, Liska D, Lerman R, et al. "Effect of a low glycemic index diet with soy protein and phytosterols on CVD risk factors in postmenopausal women." *Nutrition* 2006 Feb; 22 (2): 104–13.
- 119. Erkkila A, Lichtenstein A, Mozaffarian D, Herrington D. "Fish intake is associated with a reduced progression of coronary artery atherosclerosis in postmenopausal women with coronary artery disease." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2004 Sep; 80 (3): 626–32.
- 120. Bazzano L, He J, Ogden L, et al. "Legume consumption and risk of coronary heart disease in US men and women: NHANES I Epidemiologic

Follow-up Study." *Arch Intern Med* 2001 Nov 26; 161 (21): 2573–78.

- 121. "Consensus opinion. The role of isoflavones in menopausal health: consensus opinion of the North American Menopause Society." *Menopause* 2000; 7 (4): 215–29.
- 122. Yang G, Shu XO, Jin F, Zhang X, Li HL, Li Q, Gao YT, Zheng W. "Longitudinal study of soy food intake and blood pressure among middle-aged and elderly Chinese women." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2005 May; 81 (5): 1012–17.
- 123. Rivas M, Garay R, Escanero J, et al. "Soy milk lowers blood pressure in men and women with mild to moderate essential hypertension." *J Nutr* 2002 Jul; 132 (7): 1900–1902.
- 124. Burke V, Hodgson JM, Beilin L, et al.
 "Dietary protein and soluble fiber reduce ambulatory blood pressure in treated hypertensives." *Hypertension* 2001 Oct; 38 (4): 821–26.
- 125. Trowell H, Burkitt D, Heaton K. *Dietary Fibre, Fibre Depleted Foods and Disease.* New York: Academic Press, 1985.
- 126. Lofgren I, Zern T, Herron K, et al. "Weight loss associated with reduced intake of carbohydrate reduces the atherogenicity of LDL in premenopausal women." *Metabolism* 2005 Sep; 54 (9): 1133–41.
- 127. Skrabal F, Aubock J, Hortnagl H. "Low sodium/high potassium diet for prevention of hypertension: probable mechanisms of action." *Lancet* 1981 Oct 24; 2 (8252): 895–900.
- 128. Langford H. "Dietary potassium and hypertension: epidemiological data." Ann Intern Med 1990; 98:770–72.
- 129. Sacks F, Svetkey L, Vollmer W, et al., DASH-Sodium Collaborative Research Group. "Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension

(DASH) diet." *N Engl J Med* 2001; 344:3–10.

- Puccio E, McPhillips J, Barrett-Connor E, Ganiats T. "Clustering of atherogenic behaviors in coffee drinkers." *Am J Public Health* 1990; 80 (11): 1310–13.
- 131. Werbach M. Nutritional Influences on Illness, 2nd ed. Tarzana, CA: Third Line Press, 1996.
- 132. Winkelmayer W, Stampfer M, Willett W, Curhan G. "Habitual caffeine intake and the risk of hypertension in women." *JAMA* 2005; 294:2330–35.
- Kark J, Friedlander Y, Kaufmann N, Stein Y. "Coffee, tea and plasma cholesterol: the Jerusalem lipid research clinic prevalence study." *Br Med J* 1985; 291 (6497): 699–704.
- 134. Williams P, Wood P, Vranizan K, et al. "Coffee intake and elevated cholesterol and apolipoprotein B levels in men." *JAMA* 1985; 253 (10): 1407–11.
- 135. Forde O, et al. "The Tromso heart study: coffee consumption and serum lipid concentrations in men with hypercholesterolaemia: a randomized intervention study." *Br Med J* 1985; 290:893–95.
- 136. Garland M, Barrett-Connor E, Wingard D. "Coffee, plasma cholesterol, and lipoproteins. A population study in an adult community." *Am J Epidemiol* 1985; 121 (6): 896–905.
- 137. Lindahl B, et al. "Coffee drinking and blood cholesterol—effects of brewing method, food intake and lifestyle." J Intern Med 1991; 230 (4): 299–305.
- Klag M, et al. "Coffee intake and coronary heart disease." *Am J Epidemiol* 1994; 4:425–33.
- Raloff J. "New heart risk from too much coffee?" *Science News* 1997 Jan 11; 151:22.
- 140. Tverdal A, et al. "Coffee consumption and death from coronary heart disease in

middle aged Norwegian men and women." Br Med J 1990; 300:566–69.

- Rich-Edwards J, Manson J, Hennekens C, Buring J. "The primary prevention of coronary heart disease in women." *N Engl J Med* 1995; 332:1758–65.
- Stampfer M, Colditz G, Willett W, et al. "A prospective study of moderate alcohol consumption and the risk of coronary disease and stroke in women." N Engl J Med 1988; 319:267–73.
- 143. Thun M, Peto R, Lopez A, et al. "Alcohol consumption and mortality among middle-aged and elderly U.S. adults." *N Engl J Med* 1997; 337: 1705–14.
- 144. Baer D, Judd J, Clevidence B, et al. "Moderate alcohol consumption lowers risk factors for cardiovascular disease in postmenopausal women fed a controlled diet." Am J Clin Nut 2002; 75:593–99.
- 145. Ginsburg E, et al. "Effects of alcohol ingestion on estrogens in postmenopausal women." *JAMA* 1996; 4 (276): 1747–51.
- 146. Longnecker M, Berlin J, Orza M, Chalmers T. "A meta-analysis of alcohol consumption in relation to risk of breast cancer." *JAMA* 1988; 260:652–56.
- 147. Willett W, Stampfer M, Colditz G, et al. "Moderate alcohol consumption and the risk of breast cancer." *N Engl J Med* 1987; 316:1174–80.
- 148. Longnecker M, Newcomb P, Mittendorf R, et al. "Risk of breast cancer in relation to lifetime alcohol consumption." *J Natl Canc Inst* 1995; 87:923–29.
- 149. Spencer H, et al. "Alcohol—osteoporosis." Am J Clin Nutr 1985; 41:847.
- Hyman S, Casseman N. "Alcoholism." In Rubenstein E, Federman D, eds., *Scientific American Textbook of Medicine*. New York: Scientific American Inc., 1997; 13 (III): 1–14.
- 151. Murphy G, Lawrence W, Lenhard R. American Cancer Society Textbook of Clini-

cal Oncology, 2nd ed. Atlanta: American Cancer Society, 1995.

- 152. Ding E, Hutfless S, Ding X, Saket G. "Chocolate and prevention of cardiovascular disease: a systematic review." *Nutrition and Metabolism* 2006; 3 (2): 1–12.
- 153. Franco O, Bonneus L, de Laet C, et al. "The Polymeal: a more natural, safer, and probably tastier strategy to reduce cardiovascular disease by more than 75%." *Br Med J* 2004; 329 (7480): 1447–50.
- 154. Kannel W, Wilson P. "Risk factors that attenuate the female coronary disease advantage." *Arch Intern Med* 1995; 155:57–61.
- 155. Howard B, Horn V, Hsia J, et al. "Low-fat dietary pattern and risk of cardiovascular disease: The Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled dietary modification trial." *JAMA* 2006; 295:655–66.
- 156. Martinez-Gonzalez M, Fernandez-Jarne E, Serrano-Martinez M, et al. "Mediterranean diet and reduction in the risk of a first acute myocardial infarction: an operational healthy dietary score." *Eur J Nutr* 2002 Aug; 41 (4): 153–60.
- 157. Estruch R, Martinez-Gonzalez M, Corella D, et al. "Effects of a Mediterranean-style diet on cardiovascular risk factors." *Ann Intern Med* 2006; 145:1–11.
- 158. Losonczy K, Harris T, Havlik R. "Vitamin E and vitamin C supplement use and risk of all-cause and coronary heart disease mortality in older persons: the Established Populations for Epidemiologic Studies of the Elderly." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1996; 64:190–96.
- 159. Klipstein-Grobusch K, Geleijnse J, den Breeijen J, et al. "Dietary antioxidants and risk of myocardial infarction in the elderly: the Rotterdam Study." Am J Clin Nutr 1999; 69:261–66.
- 160. Watkins M, Erickson J, Thun M, et al. "Multivitamin use and mortality in a

large prospective study." *Am J Epidemiol* 2000; 152:149–62.

- 161. Knekt P, Reunanen A, Jarvinen R, et al. "Antioxidant vitamin intake and coronary mortality in a longitudinal population study." *Am J Epidemiol* 1994; 139:1180–89.
- 162. "MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of antioxidant vitamin supplementation in 20,3536 high-risk individuals: a randomised placebo-controlled trial." *Lancet* 2002; 360:23–33.
- 163. Tardif J, Cote G, Lesperance J, et al., Multivitamins and Probucol Study Group. "Probucol and multivitamins in the prevention of restenosis after coronary angioplasty." N Engl J Med 1997; 337:365–72.
- 164. Rodes J, Cote G, Lesperance J, et al. "Prevention of restenosis after angioplasty in small coronary arteries with probucol." *Circulation* 1998; 97:429–36.
- 165. Brown B, Zhao X, Chait A, et al. "Simvastatin and niacin, antioxidant vitamins, or the combination for the prevention of coronary disease." N Engl J Med 2001; 345:1583–92.
- 166. Princen H, van Poppel G, Vogelezang C, et al. "Supplementation with vitamin E but not beta-carotene in vivo protects low density lipoprotein from lipid peroxidation in vitro. Effect of cigarette smoking." *Arterioscler Thromb* 1992 May; 12 (5): 554–62.
- 167. Rodriguez J, Grau A, Eguinoa E, et al. "Dietary supplementation with vitamins C and E prevents downregulation of endothelial NOS expression in hypercholesterolemia in vivo and in vitro." *Atherosclerosis* 2002 Nov; 165 (1): 33–40.
- 168. Kaikkonen J, Porkkala-Sarataho E, Morrow J, et al. "Supplementation with vitamin E but not with vitamin C lowers lipid peroxidation in vivo in mildly hypercholesterolemic men." *Free Radic Res* 2001 Dec; 35 (6): 967–78.

- 169. Simons L, Von Konigsmark M, Balasubramaniam S. "What dose of vitamin E is required to reduce susceptibility of LDL to oxidation?" *Aust N Z J Med* 1996; 26 (4): 496–503.
- 170. Watanabe H, Kakihana M, Ohtsuka S, Sugishita Y. "Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of vitamin E on attenuation of the development of nitrate tolerance." *Circulation* 1997; 96:2545–50.
- 171. Mishra G, Malik N, Paul A, et al. "Childhood and adult dietary vitamin E intake and cardiovascular risk factors in mid-life in the 1946 British Birth Cohort." *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2003 Nov; 57 (11): 1418–25.
- 172. Stampfer M, Hennekins C, Manson J, et al. "Vitamin E consumption and the risk of coronary disease in women." *N Engl J Med* 1993; 328:1444–49.
- 173. Stephens N, Parsons A, Schoefield P, et al. "Randomised controlled trial of vitamin E in patients with coronary disease: Cambridge Heart Antioxidant Study (CHAOS)." *Lancet* 1996; 347:781–86.
- 174. Belizzi M, et al. "Vitamin E and CHD: the European paradox." *Eur J Clin Nutr* 1994; 48:822–31.
- 175. Vasdev S, Gill V, Parai S, Gadag V.
 "Dietary vitamin E supplementation attenuates hypertension in Dahl saltsensitive rats." *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther* 2005 Jun; 10 (2): 103–11.
- 176. Vieira da Costa VA, Vianna LM. "Effect of alpha-tocopherol supplementation on blood pressure and lipidic profile in streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus in spontaneously hypertensive rats." *Clin Chim Acta* 2005 Jan; 351 (1–2): 101–4.
- 177. Ward N, Wu J, Clarke M, et al. "The effect of vitamin E on blood pressure in individuals with type 2 diabetes: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial." *J Hypertension* 2007; 215 (1): 227–34.

- 178. The Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study Investigators. "Vitamin E supplementation and cardiovascular events in high-risk patients." N Engl J Med 2000; 342:154–60.
- 179. The HOPE and HOPE-TOO Trial Investigators. "Effects of long-term vitamin E supplementation on cardiovascular events and cancer. A randomized controlled trial." *JAMA* 2005; 293:1338–47.
- 180. Miller E, Pastor-Barriuso R, Dalal D, et al. "Meta-analysis: high-dosage vitamin E supplementation may increase all-cause mortality." *Ann Intern Med* 2005; 142:37–46.
- 181. Chiplonkar S, Agte V, Tarwadi K, et al. "Micronutrient deficiencies as predisposing factors for hypertension in lacto-vegetarian Indian adults." *J Am Coll Nutr* 2004 Jun; 23 (3): 239–47.
- Frei B. "Ascorbic acid protects lipids in human plasma and low-density lipoprotein against oxidative damage." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1991; 54:1113S–18S.
- 183. Hallfrisch J, et al. "Ascorbic acid and plasma lipids." *Epid* 1994; 5:19–26.73. Simon A. "Vitamin C and cardiovascular disease: a review." *J Am Coll Nutr* 1992; 11:107–25.
- 184. Shidfar F, Keshavarz A, Jallali M, et al. "Comparison of the effects of simultaneous administration of vitamin C and omega-3 fatty acids on lipoproteins, apo A-I, apo B, and malondialdehyde in hyperlipidemic patients." *Int J Vitam Nutr Res* 2003 May; 73 (3): 163–70.
- 185. Loots D, Oosthuizen W, Pieters M, et al. "Foodstate vitamin C complex may beneficially affect haemostasis and fibrin network structure in hyperlipidaemic patients." *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 2004; 15 (8): 677–85.
- 186. Salonen R, Nyyssonen K, Kaikkonen J, et al. "Antioxidant Supplementation in Atherosclerosis Prevention Study. Six-year effect of combined vitamin C and E supplemen-

tation on atherosclerotic progression: the Antioxidant Supplementation in Atherosclerosis Prevention (ASAP) Study." *Circulation* 2003 Feb 25; 107 (7): 947–53.

- 187. Kim M, Sasaki S, Sasazuki S, et al. "Long-term vitamin C supplementation has no markedly favorable effect on serum lipids in middle-aged Japanese subjects." *Br J Nutr* 2004 Jan; 91 (1): 81–90.
- 188. Nam C, Oh K, Lee K, et al. "Vitamin C intake and risk of ischemic heart disease in a population with a high prevalence of smoking." *J Am Coll Nutr* 2003 Oct; 22 (5): 372–78.
- 189. Osganian S, Stampfer M, Rimm E, et al. "Vitamin C and risk of coronary heart disease in women." *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2003 Jul 16; 42 (2): 246–52.
- 190. Kim MK, Sasaki S, Sasazuki S, Okubo S, Hayashi M, Tsugane S. "Lack of longterm effect of vitamin C supplementation on blood pressure." *Hypertension* 2002 Dec; 40 (6): 797–803.
- 191. Cicero A, Derosa G, Miconi A, Laghi L, et al. "Treatment of massive hypertriglyceridemia resistant to PUFA and fibrates: a possible role for the coenzyme Q10?" *Biofactors* 2005; 23 (1): 7–14.
- 192. Rosenfeldt F, Hilton D, Pepe S, Krum H.
 "Systematic review of effect of coenzyme Q10 in physical exercise, hypertension and heart failure." *Biofactors* 2003; 18 (1–4): 91–100.
- 193. Burke B, Neuenschwander R, Olson R. "Randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of coenzyme Q10 in isolated systolic hypertension." *South Med J* 2001 Nov; 94 (11): 1112–17.
- 194. Singh R, Niaz M, Rastogi S, et al. "Effects of hydrosoluble coenzyme Q10 on blood pressures and insulin resistance in hypertensive patients with coronary artery disease." *J Hum Hypertens* 1999 Mar; 13 (3): 203–8.

- 195. Danysz A, Oledzka K, Bukowska-Kiliszek M. "Influence of coenzyme Q-10 on the hypotensive effects of enalapril and nitrendipine in spontaneously hypertensive rats." *J Pharmacol* 1994 Sep–Oct; 46 (5): 457–61.
- 196. Langsjoen P, Langsjoen P, Willis R, Folkers K. "Treatment of essential hypertension with coenzyme Q10." *Mol Aspects Med* 1994; 15 (Suppl): S265–72.
- 197. Langsjoen H, Langsjoen P, Langsjoen P, et al. "Usefulness of coenzyme Q10 in clinical cardiology: a long-term study." *Mol Aspects Med* 1994; 15 (Suppl): S165–75.
- 198. Singh R, Neki N, Kartikey K, et al.
 "Effect of coenzyme Q10 on risk of atherosclerosis in patients with recent myocardial infarction." *Mol Cell Biochem* 2003 Apr; 246 (1–2): 75–82.
- 199. Alleva R, et al. "The roles of coenzyme Q10 and vitamin E on the peroxidation of human low density lipoprotein subfractions." *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA* 1995; 92:9388–91.
- 200. "Effects of menopause and hormone replacement therapy on serum levels of coenzyme Q10 and other lipid-soluble antioxidants." *Biofactors* 2005; 25 (1–4): 61–66.
- 201. Lamperti C, Naini AB, Lucchini V, et al. "Muscle coenzyme Q10 level in statinrelated myopathy." *S Arch Neurol* 2005 Nov; 62 (11): 1709–12.
- 202. Mabuchi H, Higashikata T, Kawashiri M, Katsuda S, Mizuno M, Nohara A, Inazu A, Koizumi J, Kobayashi J. "Reduction of serum ubiquinol-10 and ubiquinone-10 levels by atorvastatin in hypercholesterolemic patients." *J Atheroscler Thromb* 2005; 12 (2): 111–19.
- 203. Colquhoun D, Jackson R, Walters M, et al. "Effects of simvastatin on blood lipids, vitamin E, coenzyme Q10 levels and left

ventricular function in humans." *Eur J Clin Invest* 2005 Apr; 35 (4): 251–58.

- 204. Rundek T, Naini A, Sacco R, et al. "Atorvastatin decreases the coenzyme Q10 level in the blood of patients at risk for cardiovascular disease and stroke." *Arch Neurol* 2004 Jun; 61 (6): 889–92.
- 205. Djousse L, Pankow JS, Hunt SC, Heiss G, Province MA, Kabagambe EK, Ellison RC. "Influence of saturated fat and linolenic acid on the association between intake of dairy products and blood pressure." *Hypertension* 2006 Aug; 48 (2): 335–41.
- 206. Pfeuffer M, Schrezenmeir J. "Bioactive substances in milk with properties decreasing risk of cardiovascular diseases." *Br J Nutr* 2000 Nov; 84 (Suppl 1): S155–59.
- 207. Van Mierlo L, Arends L, Streppel M, et al. "Blood pressure response to calcium supplementation: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials." *J Hum Hypertens* 2006 Aug; 20 (8): 571–80.
- 208. Hofmeyr G, Atallah A, Duley L. "Calcium supplementation during pregnancy for preventing hypertensive disorders and related problems." *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006 Jul 19; 3:CD001059.
- 209. Herrera J, Arevalo-Herrera M, Shahabuddin A, et al. "Calcium and conjugated linoleic acid reduces pregnancy-induced hypertension and decreases intracellular calcium in lymphocytes." *Am J Hypertens* 2006 Apr; 19 (4): 381–87.
- Herrera J, Shahabuddin A, Ersheng G, et al. "Calcium plus linoleic acid therapy for pregnancy-induced hypertension." *Int J Gynecol Obstet* 2005 Dec; 91 (3): 221–27.
- 211. Beyer F, Dickinson H, Nicolson D, et al. "Combined calcium, magnesium and potassium supplementation for the management of primary hypertension in adults." *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006 Jul 19; 3:CD004805.

- 212. Ditscheid B, Keller S, Jahreis G. "Cholesterol metabolism is affected by calcium phosphate supplementation in humans." *J Nutr* 2005 Jul; 135 (7): 1678–82.
- 213. Reid I, Mason B, Horne A, et al. "Effects of calcium supplementation on serum lipid concentrations in normal older women: a randomized controlled trial." *Am J Med* 2002 Apr 1; 112 (5): 343–47.
- 214. Bell L, Halstenson CE, Halstenson CJ, et al. "Cholesterol-lowering effects of calcium carbonate in patients with mild to moderate hypercholesterolemia." *Arch Intern Med* 1992; 152:2441–44.
- 215. Altura B. "New perspectives on the role of magnesium in the pathophysiology of the cardiovascular system." *Magn* 1985; 4:226–44.
- 216. Davis W, Leary W, Reyes A, Olhaberry J. "Monotherapy with magnesium increases abnormally low high density lipoprotein cholesterol: a clinical assay." *Curr Ther Res* 1984; 36:341–45.
- Gawaz M. "Antithrombocytic effectiveness of magnesium." *Fortschr Med* 1996 Sept 20; 114 (26): 329–32.
- 218. Ravn H, Vissinger H, Kristensen S, Husted S. "Magnesium inhibits platelet activity—an in vitro study." *Thromb Haemost* 1996 July; 76 (1): 88–93.
- 219. Ravn H, Vissinger H, Kristensen S, et al.
 "Magnesium inhibits platelet activity—an infusion study in healthy volunteers." *Thromb Haemost* 1996 June; 75 (6): 939–44.
- 220. Altura B, Altura B. "Magnesium in cardiovascular biology." *Scientific American, Science and Medicine* 1995 May/June: 28–37.
- 221. Jee S, Miller E 3rd, Guallar E, et al. "The effect of magnesium supplementation on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of ran-domized clinical trials." *Am J Hypertens* 2002 Aug; 15 (8): 691–96.

- 222. Patki P, et al. "Efficacy of potassium and magnesium in essential hypertension: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover study." *Br J Med* 1990; 301:521–23.
- 223. Wu G, Tian H, Han K, et al. "Potassium magnesium supplementation for four weeks improves small distal artery compliance and reduces blood pressure in patients with essential hypertension." *Clin Exp Hypertens* 2006 Jul; 28 (5): 489–97.
- 224. Lal J, Vasudev K, Kela A, Jain S. "Effect of oral magnesium supplementation on the lipid profile and blood glucose of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus." *J Assoc Physicians India* 2003 Jan; 51:37–42.
- 225. Lal J, Vasudev K, Kela A, Jain S. "Effect of oral magnesium supplementation on the lipid profile and blood glucose of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus." *J Assoc Physicians India* 2003 Jan; 51:37–42.
- 226. National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). "Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report." *Circulation* 2002; 106 (25): 3143–3421.
- 227. Piepho R. "The pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of agents proven to raise high-density lipoprotein cholesterol." *Am J Cardiol* 2000; 86 (12A): 35L–40L.
- The Coronary Drug Project. "Clofibrate and niacin in coronary heart disease." *JAMA*. 1975; 231 (4): 360–81.
- 229. Canner P, Berge K, Wenger N, et al. "Fifteen year mortality in Coronary Drug

Project patients: long-term benefit with niacin." *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1986; 8 (6): 1245–55.

- 230. Willett W, Hennekens C, Castelli W, et al. "Effects of cigarette smoking on fasting triglyceride, total cholesterol, and HDL-cholesterol in women." *Am Heart J* 1983; 105 (3): 417–21.
- 231. Carlson L, Hamsten A, Asplund A.
 "Pronounced lowering of serum levels of lipoprotein Lp(a) in hyperlipidemic subjects treated with nicotinic acid." *J Intern Med* 1989; 226 (4): 271–76.
- 232. Newman W, Middaugh J, Propst M, Rogers D. "Atherosclerosis in Alaska natives and non-natives." *Lancet* 1993; 341 (8852): 1056–57.
- 233. Illingworth D, Stein E, Mitchell Y, et al. "Comparative effects of lovastatin and niacin in primary hypercholesterolemia." *Arch Intern Med* 1994; 154:1586–95.
- 234. Forrester J, Shah P. "Emerging strategies for increasing high-density lipoprotein." *Am J Cardiol* 2006 Dec 1; 98 (11): 1542–49.
- 235. Kuvin J, Dave D, Sliney K, et al. "Effects of extended-release niacin on lipoprotein particle size, distribution, and inflammatory markers in patients with coronary artery disease." *Am J Cardiol* 2006 Sep 15; 98 (6): 743–45.
- Westphal S, Borucki K, Taneva E, et al. "Adipokines and treatment with niacin." *Metabolism* 2006 Oct; 55 (10): 1283–85.
- 237. Westphal S, Borucki K, Taneva E, Makarova R, Luley C. "Extended-release niacin raises adiponectin and leptin." *Atherosclerosis* 2006 Aug 1; Epub ahead of print.
- 238. Canner P, Furberg C, McGovern M. "Benefits of niacin in patients with versus without the metabolic syndrome and healed myocardial infarction (from the Coronary Drug Project)." *Am J Cardiol* 2006 Feb 15; 97 (4): 477–79.

- 239. Brown W. "Niacin for lipid disorders." Ostgrad Med 1995; 98:185-93.
- Chrysant S, Ibrahim M. "Niacin-ER/statin combination for the treatment of dyslipidemia: focus on low highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol." *J Clin Hypertens* 2006 Jul; 8 (7): 493–99.
- 241. Lin T, Voon W, Yen H, et al. "Randomized comparative study of the effects of treatment with once-daily, niacin extended-release/lovastatin and with simvastatin on lipid profile and fibrinolytic parameters in Taiwan." *Kaohsiung J Med Sci* 2006 Jun; 22 (6): 257–65.
- 242. Bays H, McGovern M. "Time as a variable with niacin extended-release/lovastatin vs. atorvastatin and simvastatin." *Prev Cardiol* 2005 Fall; 8 (4): 226–33.
- 243. Arsenio L, Bodria P, Magnati G, et al. "Effectiveness of long-term treatment with pantethine in patients with dyslipidemias." *Clin Ther* 1986; 8:537–45.
- 244. Maggi G, Donati C, Criscuoli G. "Pantethine: a physiological lipomodulating agent, in the treatment of hyperlipidemias." *Curr Ther Res* 1982; 32:380–86.
- 245. Lekakis J, Papathanasieu S, Papamicheel C, et al. "Oral L-arginine improves endothelial dysfunction in patients with essential hypertension." *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2001; 260A.
- 246. Boger G, Maas R, Schwedhelm E, et al. "Improvement of endothelium-dependent vasodilation by simvastatin is potentiated by combination with L-arginine in patients with elevated asymmetric dimethylarginine levels." *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2004; 43 (Suppl): 525A.
- 247. Rector T, Bank A, Mullen K, et al.
 "Randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled study of supplemental oral L-arginine in patients with heart failure." *Circulation* 1996; 93:2135–41.
- 248. Yousufuddin M, Flather M, Shamim W, et al. "A short course of L-arginine

improves exercise capacity and endothelial function in chronic heart failure: a prospective, randomised, double blind trial." *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2001; 258A.

- 249. Maxwell A, Zapein M, Pearce G, et al.
 "Randomized trial of a medical food for the dietary management of chronic, stable angina." *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2002; 39:37–45.
- 250. Ceremuzynski L, Chamiec T, Herbaczynska-Cedro K. "Effect of supplemental oral L-arginine on exercise capacity in patients with stable angina pectoris." *Am J Cardiol* 1997; 80:331–33.
- 251. Stefanutti C, Vivenzio A, Lucani G, et al. "Effect of L-carnitine on plasma lipoprotein fatty acids pattern in patients with primary hyperlipoproteinemia." *Clin Ter* 1998; 149:115–19.
- 252. Digiesi V, Cantini F, Bisi G, et al. "Lcarnitine adjuvant therapy in essential hypertension." *Clin Ter* 1994; 144:391–95.
- 253. Sirtori C, Calabresi L, Ferrara S, et al.
 "L-carnitine reduces plasma lipoprotein (a) levels in patients with hyper Lp(a)." *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* 2000; 10: 247–51.
- 254. Arduini A, Peschechera A, Giannessi F, Carminati P. "Improvement of statinassociated myotoxicity by L-carnitine." *J Thromb Haemost* 2004 Dec; 2 (12): 2270–71.
- 255. Hopkins P, Wu L, Wu J, et al. "Higher plasma homocysteine and increased susceptibility to adverse effects of low folate in early familial coronary artery disease." *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 1995; 15:1314–20.
- 256. Boushey C, Beresford S, Omenn G, Motulsky A. "A quantitative assessment of plasma homocysteine as a risk factor for vascular disease. Probable benefits of increasing folic acid intakes." *JAMA* 1995; 274:1049–57.

- 257. Lee B, Lin P, Liaw Y, et al. "Homocysteine and risk of coronary artery disease: Folate is the important determinant of plasma homocysteine concentration." *Nutrition* 2003 Jul–Aug; 19 (7–8): 577–83.
- 258. Landgren F, Israelsson B, Lindgren A, et al. "Plasma homocysteine in acute myocardial infarction: homocysteinelowering effect of folic acid." *J Intern Med* 1995; 237:381–88.
- 259. Verhoef P, Stampler MJ, Buring JE, et al. "Homocysteine metabolism and risk of myocardial infarction." *Circulation* 1995 Nov. 15; 2825–30.
- 260. Selhub J, Jacques P, Bostom A, et al. "Association between plasma homocysteine concentrations and extracranial carotid-artery stenosis." *N Engl J Med* 1995; 332:286–91.
- 261. Franken D, Boers G, Blom H, et al. "Treatment of mild hyperhomocysteinaemia in vascular disease patients." *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 1994; 14:465–70.
- 262. Seshadri S, Beiser A, Selhub J, et al.
 "Plasma homocysteine as a risk factor for dementia and Alzheimer's disease." *N Engl J Med* 2002 Feb 14; 346 (7): 476–83.
- 263. Verhoef P. "Hyperhomocysteinemia and risk of vascular disease in women." *Semin Thromb Haemost* 2000; 26:325–34.
- 264. The Homocysteine Studies Collaboration. "Homocysteine and risk of ischemic heart disease and stroke. A meta-analysis." *JAMA* 2002; 288:2015–22.
- 265. Homocysteine Lowering Trialists' Collaboration. "Lowering blood homocysteine with folic acid based supplements: metaanalysis of randomized trials." *Br Med J* 1998; 316:894–98.
- 266. Homocysteine Lowering Trialists' Collaboration. "Dose-dependent effects of folic acid on blood concentrations of homo-

cysteine: a meta-analysis of the randomized trials." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2005; 82:806–12.

- 267. Chasan-Taber L, Selhub J, Rosenberg I, et al. "A prospective study of folate and vitamin B6 and risk of myocardial infarction in US physicians." *J Am Coll Nutr* 1996; 15:136–43.
- 268. Tavani A, Pelucchi C, Parpinel M, Negri E, La Vecchia C. "Folate and vitamin B (6) intake and risk of acute myocardial infarction in Italy." *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2004 Sep; 58 (9): 1266–72.
- 269. Rimm E, et al. "Folate and vitamin B₆ from diet and supplements in relation to risk of coronary heart disease among women." *JAMA* 1998; 279 (5): 359–64.
- Geleijnse J, Kok F, Grobbee D. "Impact of dietary and lifestyle factors on the prevalence of hypertension in Western populations." *Eur J Public Health* 2004; 14 (3): 235–39.
- 271. Appel L, et al. "Does supplementation of diet with 'fish oil' reduce blood pressure?" *Arch Intern Med* 1993; 153:1429–38.
- Geleijnse J, Giltay E, Grobbee D, et al.
 "Blood pressure response to fish oil supplementation: metaregression analysis of randomized trials." *J Hypertension* 2002; 20:1493–99.
- 273. Morris M, Sacks F, Rosner B. "Does fish oil lower blood pressure? A meta-analysis of controlled trials." *Circulation* 1993; 88:523–33.
- Harris W. "N-3 fatty acids and serum lipoproteins: human studies." Am J Clin Nutr 1997; 65 (5 Suppl): 1645S–1654S.
- 275. Stark K, Park E, Maines V, et al. "Effect of a fish-oil concentrate on serum lipids in postmenopausal women receiving and not receiving hormone replacement therapy in a placebo-controlled, double-blind trial." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2000; 72:389–94.
- 276. Bhatnagar D, Mackness M, Durrington P. "Treatment of mixed hyperlipidaemia

using a combination of omega-3 fatty acids and HMG CoA reductase inhibitor." *Eur Heart J* 2001; 3 (Suppl D): D53–D58.

- 277. Nordoy A, Bonaa K, Nilsen H, et al. "Effects of Simvastatin and omega-3 fatty acids on plasma lipoproteins and lipid peroxidation in patients with combined hyperlipidaemia." *J Intern Med* 1998 Feb; 243 (2): 163–70.
- 278. Saldeen T, Mehta J. "Fish oil: A potential therapy for inflammatory atherosclerosis." In *Inflammatory and Infectious Basis of Atherosclerosis*. Basel, Switzerland: Birkhauser Verlag Basel, 2001; 243–57.
- 279. GISSI-Prevenzione Investigators. "Dietary supplementation with omega-3 polyun-saturated fatty acids and vitamin E after myocardial infarction: results of the GISS-Prevenzione trial." *Lancet* 1999; 354:447–55.
- 280. Allman M, Pena M, Pang D. "Supplementation with flaxseed oil versus sunflowerseed oil in healthy young men consuming a low fat diet: effects on platelet composition and function." *Eur J Clin Nutr* 1995; 49:169–78.
- 281. Lucas E, Wild R, Hammond L, et al. "Flaxseed improves lipid profile without altering biomarkers of bone metabolism in postmenopausal women." *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2002 Apr; 87 (4): 1527–32.
- 282. Tahvonen R, Schwab U, Linderborg K, et al. "Black currant seed oil and fish oil supplements differ in their effects on fatty acid profiles of plasma lipids, and concentrations of serum total and lipoprotein lipids, plasma glucose and insulin." *J Nutr Biochem* 2005 Jun; 16 (6): 353–59.
- 283. Toshitsugu I, et al. "Effects of gammalinolenic acid on plasma lipoproteins and apolipoproteins." *Athero* 1989; 75:95–104.
- 284. Van Acker S, Berg D, Tromp M, et al. "Structural aspects of antioxidant activity

of flavonoids." *Free Rad Biol Med* 1996; 20:331–42.

- 285. Hertog M, Hollman P. "Potential health effects of the dietary flavonol quercetin." *Eur J Clin Nutr* 1996; 50:63–71.
- 286. Hertog M, et al. "Dietary antioxidant flavonoids and risk of coronary heart disease. The Zutphen elderly study." *Lancet* 1993; 342:1007–11.
- 287. Hertog M, Kromhout D, Aravanis C, et al. "Flavonoid intake and long-term risk of coronary heart disease and cancer in the Seven Countries Study." *Arch Intern Med* 1995; 155:381–86.
- 288. Zaveri N. "Green tea and its polyphenolic catechins: medicinal uses in cancer and noncancer applications." *Life Sci* 2006; 78:2073–80.
- 289. Cooper R, Morre DJ, Morre DM.
 "Medicinal benefits of green tea; Part I: Review of noncancer health benefits." *J Altern Complement Med* 2005; 11: 521–28.
- 290. Cooper R, Morre D, Morre DM. "Medicinal benefits of green tea, II: review of anticancer properties." *J Altern Complement Med* 2005; 11:639–52.
- 291. Maron D, Lu G, Cai N, et al. "Cholesterol-lowering effect of a theaflavin-enriched green tea extract." *Arch Intern Med* 2003; 163:1448–53.
- 292. Kuriyama S, Shimazu T, Ohmori K, et al. "Green tea consumption, and mortality due to cardiovascular disease, cancer, and all causes in Japan: the Ohsaki study." *JAMA* 2006 Sept 13; 296 (10): 1255–65.
- 293. Hodgson J, Devine A, Puddey I, et al. "Tea intake is inversely related to blood pressure in older women." *J Nutrition* 2003; 133:2883–86.
- 294. Yang Y, Lu F, Wu J-Shang, et al. "The protective effect of habitual tea consumption on hypertension." *Arch Intern Med* 2004; 164:1534–40.

- 295. Geleijnse J, Launer L, van der Kuip D, et al. "Inverse association of tea and flavonoid intakes with incident myocardial infarction: the Rotterdam Study." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2002; 75:880–86.
- 296. Warshafsky S, Kamer R, Sivak S. "Effect of garlic on total serum cholesterol. A meta-analysis." *Ann Intern Med* 1993; 119 (7 Pt 1): 599–605.
- 297. Stevinson C, Pittler M, Ernst E. "Garlic for treating hypercholesterolemia. A metaanalysis of randomized clinical trials." *Ann Intern Med* 2000; 133 (6): 420–29.
- 298. Gordon D. "Factors affecting high density lipoproteins." *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am* 1998; 27 (3): 699–709.
- 299. Lawson L. "Bioactive organosulfur compounds of garlic and garlic products." In Kinghorn A, Balandrin M, eds., *Human Medicinal Agents from Plants*. Washington, DC: American Chemical Society, 1993; 306–30.
- 300. Silagy C, Neil A. "Garlic as a lipid lowering agent, a meta-analysis." J Roy Coll Phys London 1994; 28:39–45.
- 301. Warshafsky S, Kramer R, Sivak S. "Effect of garlic on total serum cholesterol." *Ann Intern Med* 1993; 119:599–605.
- 302. Mahmoodi M, Islami M, Asadi Karam G, et al. "Study of the effects of raw garlic consumption on the level of lipids and other blood biochemical factors in hyperlipidemic individuals." *Pak J Pharm Sci* 2006 Oct; 19 (4): 295–98.
- 303. Silagy CA, Neil HA. "A meta-analysis of the effect of garlic on blood pressure." *J Hypertens* 1994; 12 (4): 463–68.
- 304. Kiesewetter H, Jung F, Pindur G, Jung EM, Mrowietz C, Wenzel E. "Effect of garlic on thrombocyte aggregation, microcirculation." *Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther Toxicol* 1991; 29 (4): 151–55.
- 305. Siegel G, Walter A, Schnalke F, et al. "Potassium channel activation, hyperpo-

larization, and vascular relaxation." *Z Kardiol* 1991; 80 (Suppl 7): 9–24.

- 306. Siegel G, Emden J, Wenzel K, Mironneau J, Stock G. "Potassium channel activation in vascular smooth muscle." *Adv Exp Med Biol* 1992; 311:53–72.
- 307. Ziaei S, Hantoshzadeh S, Rezasoltani P, Lamyian M. "The effect of garlic tablet on plasma lipids and platelet aggregation in nulliparous pregnants at high risk of preeclampsia." *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2001 Dec 1; 99 (2): 201–6.
- 308. Srivastava K. "Effects of aqueous extracts of onion, garlic and ginger on platelet aggregation and metabolism of arachidonic acid in the blood vascular system: in vitro study." *Prostagl Med* 1984; 13:227–35.
- 309. Gujaral S, Bhumra H, Swaroop M. "Effect of ginger oleoresin on serum and hepatic cholesterol levels in cholesterol fed rats." *Nutr Rep Int* 1978; 17:183–89.
- 310. Al-Amin Z, Thomson M, Al-Qattan K, et al. "Anti-diabetic and hypolipidaemic properties of ginger (*Zingiber officinale*) in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats." *Br J Nutr* 2006 Oct; 96 (4): 660–66.
- 311. Kadnur S, Goyal R. "Beneficial effects of Zingiber officinale Roscoe on fructose induced hyperlipidemia and hyperinsulinemia in rats." Indian J Exp Biol 2005 Dec; 43 (12): 1161–64.
- 312. Bhandari U, Kanojia R, Pillai K. "Effect of ethanolic extract of *Zingiber officinale* on dyslipidaemia in diabetic rats." *J Ethnopharmacol* 2005 Feb 28; 97 (2): 227–30.
- 313. Verma SK, Singh M, Jain P, Bordia A. "Protective effect of ginger, *Zingiber offici-nale Roscoe* on experimental atherosclerosis in rabbits." *Indian J Exp Biol* 2004 Jul; 42 (7): 736–38.
- 314. Ghayur M, Gilani A. "Ginger lowers blood pressure through blockade of voltagedependent calcium channels." *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 2005 Jan; 45 (1): 74–80.

- 315. Englisch W, Beckers C, Unkauf M, Ruepp M, Zinserling V. "Efficacy of artichoke dry extract in patients with hyperlipoproteinemia." *Arzneimittelforschung* 2000; 50 (3): 260–65.
- 316. Facino R, et al. "Free radicals scavenging action and anti-enzyme activities of procyanidines from *Vitis vinifera*: a mechanism for their capillary protective action." *Arzneim Forsch* 1994; 44:592–601.
- 317. Hertog M, et al. "Dietary antioxidant flavonoids and risk of coronary heart disease. The Zutphen elderly study." *Lancet* 1993; 342:1007–11.
- 318. Vigna G, Costantini F, Aldini G, et al. "Effect of a standardized grape seed extract on low-density lipoprotein susceptibility to oxidation in heavy smokers." *Metabolism* 2003 Oct; 52 (10): 1250–57.
- 319. Preuss H, Wallerstedt D, Talpur N, et al. "Effects of niacin-bound chromium and grape seed proanthocyanidin extract on the lipid profile of hypercholesterolemic subjects: a pilot study." *J Med* 2000; 31 (5–6): 227–46.
- 320. Singh RB, Niaz MA, Ghosh S. "Hypolipidemic and antioxidant effects of *Commiphora mukul* as an adjunct to dietary therapy in patients with hypercholesterolemia." *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 1994; 8 (4): 659–64.
- Dog T, Riley D. "Management of hyperlipidemia." *Altern Ther Health Med* 2003; 9 (3): 28–40.
- 322. Ulbricht C, Basch E, Szapary P, et al., Natural Standard Research Collaboration.
 "Guggul for hyperlipidemia: a review by the Natural Standard Research Collaboration." *Complement Ther Med* 2005 Dec; 13 (4): 279–90.
- Petkov V. "Plants with hypotensive, antiatheromatous and coronary dilating action." *Am J Chin Med* 1979; 7:197–236.

- 324. Wegrowski J, Robert A, Moczar M. "The effect of procyanidolic oligomers on the composition of normal and hypercholes-terolemic rabbit aortas." *Biochem Pharm* 1984; 33:3491–97.
- 325. Walker A, Marakis G, Simpson E, et al.
 "Hypotensive effects of hawthorn for patients with diabetes taking prescription drugs: a randomised controlled trial." *Br J Gen Pract* 2006 Jun; 56 (527): 437–43.
- 326. Asgary S, Naderi G, Sadeghi M, et al. "Antihypertensive effect of Iranian Crataegus curvisepala Lind.: a randomized, double-blind study." Drugs Exp Clin Res 2004; 30 (5–6): 221–25.
- 327. Walker A, Marakis G, Morris A, Robinson P. "Promising hypotensive effect of hawthorn extract: a randomized double-blind pilot study of mild, essential hypertension." *Phytother Res* 2002 Feb; 16 (1): 48–54.
- Ostlund R Jr., "Phytosterols in human nutrition." *Annu Rev Nutr* 2002; 22: 533–49.
- 329. Katan M, Grundy S, Jones P, et al.
 "Efficacy and safety of plant stanols and sterols in the management of blood cholesterol levels." *Mayo Clin Proc* 2003; 78:965–78.
- 330. Jenkins D, Kendall C, Marchie A, et al.
 "Effects of a dietary portfolio of cholesterol-lowering foods, vs lovastatin on serum lipids and C-reactive protein." JAMA 2003; 290:502–10.
- 331. Davidson M, Maki K, Umporowicz D, et al. "Safety and tolerability of esterified phytosterols administered in reduced-fat spread and salad dressing to healthy adult men and women." *J Am Coll Nutr* 2001; 20:307–19.
- 332. Judd J, Baer D, Chen S, et al. "Plant sterol esters lower plasma lipids and most carotenoids in mildly hypercholesterolemic adults." *Lipids* 2002; 37:33–42.

- 333. Maki K, Davidson M, Umporowicz D, et al. "Lipid responses to plant-sterolenriched reduced-fat spreads incorporated into a National Cholesterol Education Program Step I diet." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2001; 74:33–43.
- 334. Chen J, Wesley R, Shamburek R, et al. "Meta-analysis of natural therapies for hyperlipidemia: plant sterols and stanols versus policosanol." *Pharmacotherapy* 2005; 25:171–83.
- 335. Berthold H, Unverdorben S, Degenhardt R, et al. "Effect of policosanol on lipid levels among patients with hypercholesterolemia or combine hyperlipidemia." *JAMA* 2006; 295 (19): 2262–69.
- 336. Castano G, Fernandez L, Mas R, et al. "Effects of addition of policosanol to omega-3 fatty acid therapy on the lipid profile of patients with type II hypercholesterolaemia." *Drugs R D* 2005; 6 (4): 207–19.
- 337. Gamez R, Maz R, Arruzazabala M, et al. "Effects of concurrent therapy with policosanol and omega-3 fatty acids on lipid profile and platelet aggregation in rabbits." *Drugs R D* 2005; 6 (1): 11–19.
- Endo A. Monacolin K. "A new hypocholesterolemic agent produced by a *Monascus* species." *J Antiobiot* (Tokyo) 1979; 32 (8): 852–54.
- 339. Heber D, Yip I, Ashley J, et al.
 "Cholesterol-lowering effects of a propriety Chinese red yeast rice dietary supplement." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1999; 69 (2): 231–36.
- 340. Dunn A, et al. "Comparison of lifestyle and structured interventions to increase physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness. A randomized trial." *JAMA* 1999; 281:327–34.
- 341. Thompson P, et al. "Exercise and physical activity in the prevention and treatment of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: A

statement from the Council on Clinical Cardiology (Subcommittee on Exercise, Rehabilitation, and Prevention) and the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism (Subcommittee on Physical Activity)." *Circulation* 2003; 107: 3109–16.

- 342. Franco O, Laet C, Peeters A, et al. "Effects of physical activity on life expectancy with cardiovascular disease." *Arch Intern Med* 2005; 165:2355–60.
- 343. Pate R, et al. "Physical activity and public health: a recommendation from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American College of Sports Medicine." JAMA 1995; 273:402–7.
- 344. Nomura H, Kimura Y, Okamoto O, Shiraishi G. "Effects of antihyperlipidemic drugs and diet plus exercise therapy in the treatment of patients with moderate hypercholesterolemia." *Clin Ther* 1996 May–Jun; 18 (3): 477–82.
- 345. Sacco R, et al. "Leisure-time physical activity and ischemic stroke risk: the Northern Manhattan Stroke Study." *Stroke* 1998; 29:380.
- 346. Jennings G. "Mechanisms for reduction of cardiovascular risk factors by regular exercise." *Clin Exper Pharma Physiol* 1995; 22:209.
- 347. Fraser G, Phillips R, Harris R. "Physical fitness and blood pressure in school children." *Circ* 1983; 67:405.
- Roman O, et al. "Physical training program in arterial hypertension: a long-term prospective follow-up." *Cardiol* 1981; 67:230.
- 349. Fielding R. "The role of progressive resistance training and nutrition in the preservation of lean body mass in the elderly." *J Am Coll Nutr* 1995; 14:587.
- 350. Gordon J, et al. "The Singapore youth coronary risk and physical activity study." *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1998; 30:105.

- 351. Abe T, et al. "Relationship between training frequency and subcutaneous and visceral fat in women." *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1997; 29:1549.
- 352. Snyder K, et al. "The effects of longterm, moderate intensity, intermittent exercise on aerobic capacity, body composition, blood lipids, insulin and glucose in overweight females." *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 1997; 21:1180.
- 353. Ward D, et al. "Physical activity and physical fitness in African-American girls with and without obesity." *Obes Res* 1997; 5:572.
- 354. Tanaka H, DeSouza C, Seals D. "Absence of age-related increase in central arterial stiffness in physically active women." *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 1998; 18:127.
- 355. Williams P. "High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and other risk factors for coronary artery disease in female runners." *N Engl J Med* 1996; 334:1298.
- 356. Thune I, Njolstad I, Lochen M, Forde O. "Physical activity improves the metabolic risk profiles in men and women: the Tromso Study." *Arch Intern Med* 1998; 158:1633–40.
- 357. Niaura R, et al. "Exercise, smoking cessation, and short-term changes in serum lipids in women: a preliminary investigation." *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1998; 30:1414–18.
- 358. Gibbons L, Mitchell T. "HDL cholesterol and exercise." *Your Patient and Fitness* 1995; 9:68e.
- 359. Shephard R. "What is the optimal type of physical activity to enhance health?" *Br J Sports Med* 1997; 31:277.
- 360. Ferrauti A, Weber K, Struder H. "Effects of tennis training on lipid metabolism in recreational players." Br J Sports Med 1997; 31:322.
- 361. Code R, et al. "Effects of aerobic exercise training on patients with systemic arterial hypertension." *Am J Med* 1984; 77:785.

- 362. UT Lifetime Health Letter, April 1993.
- 363. Hagberg J, et al. "Effect of weight training on blood pressure and hemodynamics in hypertensive adolescents." *J Pediatr* 1984; 104:147.
- 364. Leddy J, et al. "Effect of a high or low fat diet on cardiovascular risk factors in male and female runners." *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1997; 29:17.
- Coats A, et al. "Effects of physical training in chronic heart failure." *Lancet* 1990; 335:63.
- Coats A. "Exercise rehabilitation in chronic heart failure." J Am Coll Cardiol 1993; 22:172A.
- 367. Madsen B, et al. "Prognostic value of plasma catecholamines, plasma renin activity, and plasma atrial natriuretic peptide at rest and during exercise in congestive heart failure: comparison with clinical evaluation, ejection fraction, and exercise capacity." *J Card Fail* 1995; 1:207.
- 368. Nishiyama Y, et al. "Oxidative stress is related to exercise intolerance in patients with heart failure." *Am Heart J* 1998; 135:115.
- 369. Blair S, et al. "Physical fitness and allcause mortality: a prospective study of healthy men and women." *JAMA* 1989; 262:2395.
- 370. Lavie C, Milani R. "Effects of cardiac rehabilitation and exercise training in obese patients with coronary artery disease." *Chest* 1996; 109:52.
- 371. Ades P, et al. "Skeletal muscle and cardiovascular adaptations to exercise conditioning in older patients." *Circ* 1996; 94:323.
- 372. Thompson P. "The cardiovascular complications of vigorous physical activity." *Arch Intern Med* 1996; 156:2297.
- 373. School of Pub Health & Inst of Human Nutr, Columbia University. "Is exercise worth the risk of a heart attack?" *Health and Nutrition Newsletter* 1 (1): 2.

- 374. Cox, M. "Exercise for mild coronary artery disease." *Phys Sports Med* 1997; 25:35.
- 375. Arnold E. "The stress connection. Women and coronary artery disease." *Crit Care Nurs Clin North Amer* 1997; 9:565.
- 376. Blumenthal J, et al. "Stress management and exercise training in cardiac patients with myocardial ischemia." *Arch Intern Med* 1997; 157:2213.
- Kaplan N. "Non-drug treatment of hypertension." *Ann Intern Med* 1985; 102:359–73.
- The Writing Group for the PEPI Trial.
 "Effects of estrogen or estrogen/progestin regimens on heart disease risk factors in postmenopausal women." *JAMA* 1995; 273 (3): 199–208.
- 379. Chen F, Lee N, Soong Y. "Changes in the lipoprotein profile in postmenopausal women receiving hormone replacement therapy." *J Reprod Med* 1998; 43:568–74.
- Rylance P, Brincat M, Lafferty K, et al. "Natural progesterone and antihypertensive action." *Br Med J* 1985; 290:13–14.
- 381. Miyagaw K, Rosch J, Stanczyk F, Hermsmeyer K. "Medroxyprogesterone interferes with ovarian steroid protection against coronary vasospasm." *Nat Med* 1997; 3:324–27.
- 382. Miyagaw K, Vidgoff J, Hermsmeyer K. "Ca release mechanism of primary druginduced vasospasm." *Am J Physiol* 1997; 272:H2645–54.
- 383. The Women's Health Initiative Steering Committee. "Effects of conjugated equine estrogen in postmenopausal women with hysterectomy. The Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial." JAMA 2004; 291:1701–12.
- 384. Hargrove J, Maxson W, Wentz A, Burnett L. "Menopausal hormone replacement therapy with continuous daily oral micronized estradiol and progesterone." *Obstet Gynecol* 1989; 73 (4): 606–12.

- 385. Staland B. "Continuous treatment with natural oestrogens and progestogens. A method to avoid endometrial stimulation." *Maturitas* 1981; 3:145–56.
- 386. Nishibe A, Morimoto S, Hirota K, et al. "Effect of estriol and bone mineral density of lumbar vertebrae in elderly and postmenopausal women." *Nippon Ronen Igakkai Zasshi* 1996; 33:353–59.
- 387. Walter E, Raz S, Raz R. "A controlled trial of intravaginal estriol in postmenopausal women with recurrent urinary tract infections." N Engl J Med 1993; 329 (11): 753–56.
- 388. North American Menopause Society. "Estrogen and progestogen use in periand postmenopausal women: September 2003 position statement of the North American Menopause Society." *Menopause* 2003 Nov/Dec: 20–28.
- 389. Antiplatelet Trialists' Collaboration. "Collaborative overview of randomized trials of antiplatelet therapy, I: prevention of death, myocardial infarction, and stroke by prolonged antiplatelet therapy in various categories of patients. *Br Med J* 1994; 308:81–106.
- 390. Sanmuganathan P, Ghahramani P, Jackson P, et al. "Aspirin for primary prevention of coronary heart disease: safety and absolute benefit related to coronary risk derived from meta-analysis of randomized trials." *Heart* 2001; 85:265–71.
- 391. Ridker P, Cook N, Lee I, et al. "A randomized trial of low-dose aspirin in the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease in women." N Engl J Med 2005; 352:1293–1304.

CHAPTER 10: INFERTILITY

1. "2000 assisted reproductive technology success rates." *National Summary and Fertility Clinic Reports.* Atlanta, GA: Department of Health and Human Services—Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, December 2002.

- Saleh A, Khalil H. "Review of nonsurgical and surgical treatment and the role of insulin-sensitizing agents in the management of infertile women with polycystic ovary syndrome." *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2004 Jul; 83 (7): 614–21.
- Norman R, Noakes M, Wu R, et al. "Improving reproductive performance in overweight/obese women with effective weight management." *Hum Reprod* Update 2004 May–Jun; 10 (3): 267–80.
- Moran L, Norman R. "The obese patient with infertility: a practical approach to diagnosis and treatment." *Nutr Clin Care* 2002 Nov–Dec; 5 (6): 290–97.
- Morris S, Missmer S, et al. "Effects of lifetime exercise on the outcome of in vitro fertilization." *Obstet Gynecol* 2006 Oct; 108 (4): 938–45.
- Cannavo S, Curto L, Trimarchi F. "Exercise-related female reproductive dysfunction." *J Endocrinol Invest* 2001; 24 (10): 823–32.
- Warren MP, Perlroth NE. "The effects of intense exercise on the female reproductive system." *J Endocrinol* 2001; 170 (1): 3–11.
- 8. Zenzes M. "Cigarette smoking as a cause of delay in conception." *Reprod Med Rev* 1995; 4:189–205.
- Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine.
 "Smoking and infertility." *Fertil Steril* 2004; 81 (4): 1181–86.
- Baird D, Wilcox A. "Cigarette smoking associated with delayed conception." *JAMA* 1985; 253 (20): 2979–83.
- Hughes E, Young Lai E, Ward S. "Cigarette smoking and outcomes of in-vitro fertilization and embryo transfer: a prospective cohort study." *Hum Reprod* 1992 Mar; 7 (3): 358–61.

- El-Nemr A, Al-Shawaf T, Sabatini L, et al. "Effect of smoking on ovarian reserve and ovarian stimulation in in-vitro fertilization and embryo transfer." *Hum Reprod* 1998; 12 (8): 2192–98.
- Zenzes M. "Smoking and reproduction: gene damage to human gametes and embryos." *Hum Reprod* Update 2000; 6 (2): 122–131.
- Paszkowski T, Clarke R, Hornstein M. "Smoking induces oxidative stress inside the graafian follicle." *Hum Reprod* 2002; 17 (4): 921–25.
- Domar A, Clapp D, Slawsby E, Dusek J, Kessel B, Freizinger M. "Impact of group psychological interventions on pregnancy rates in infertile women." *Fertil Steril* 2000; 73 (4): 805–811.
- 16. Jensen T, Hjollund N, Henriksen T, et al.
 "Does moderate alcohol consumption affect fertility? Follow up study among couples planning first pregnancy." *Br Med J* 1998; 317 (7157): 505–10.
- 17. Hakim R, Gray R, Zacur H. "Alcohol and caffeine consumption and decreased fertility." *Fertil Steril* 1998; 70 (4): 632–37.
- Fernandes O, Sabharwal M, et al. "Moderate to heavy caffeine consumption during pregnancy and relationship to spontaneous abortion and abnormal fetal growth: a meta-analysis." *Reprod Toxicol* 1998; 12 (4): 435–44.
- Barbieri R. "The initial fertility consultation in couples planning pregnancy: lifestyle factors." Available at uptodateon line.com. Accessed May 7, 2004.
- 20. Peaslee M, Einhellig F. "Reduced fecundity in mice on tannic acid diet." *Comp Gen Pharmacol* 1973; 4 (16): 393–97.
- Blakeslee J, Wilson H. "Response of hens to various levels of tannic acid." *Poultry Sci* 1979; 58 (1): 255–56.
- 22. Cassidy A, Bingham S, Setchell K. "Biological effects of a diet of soy protein rich

in isoflavones on the menstrual cycle of premenopausal women." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1994; 60:333–40.

- Phipps W, Martini M, Lampe J, et al. "Effect of flax seed ingestion on the menstrual cycle." *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1993; 77:1215–19.
- Stamets K, Taylor DS, et al. "A randomized trial of the effects of two types of short-term hypocaloric diets on weight loss in women with polycystic ovary syndrome." *Fertil Steril* 2004 Mar; 81 (3): 630–37.
- 25. Katsuki A, Sumida Y, Ito K, et al. "A case of obesity, diabetes and hypertension treated with very low calorie diet (VLCD) followed by successful pregnancy with intrauterine insemination (IUI)." *Endocr J* 2000 Dec; 47 (6): 787–91.
- Choy C, Lam C, et al. "Infertility, blood mercury concentrations and dietary seafood consumption: a case-control study." *BJOG* 2002 Oct; 109 (10): 1121–25.
- 27. McGuinness B, Buck G, et al. "Infecundity and consumption of polychlorinated biphenyl-contaminated fish." *Arch Environ Health* 2001 May–Jun; 56 (3): 250–53.
- Rice R. "Fish and healthy pregnancy: more than just a red herring!" *Prof Care Mother Child* 1996; 6 (6): 171–73.
- 29. Bayer R. "Treatment of infertility with vitamin E." *Int J Fertil* 1960; 70–78.
- Tarin J, et al. "Effects of maternal aging and dietary anti-oxidant supplementation on ovulation, fertilization and embryo development in vitro in the mouse." *Reproduction, Nutrition, Development* 1998; 38 (5): 499–508.
- 31. Hurley L. "Teratogenic aspects of manganese, zinc and copper." *Nutrition Physiological Reviews* 1991; 61:249–95.
- 32. Battaglia C, Salvatori M, Maxia N, et al. "Adjuvant L-arginine treatment for in-vitro

fertilization in poor responder patients." *Hum Reprod* 1999; 14:1690–97.

- 33. Sieve B. "The clinical effects of a new B complex factor, para-aminobenzoic acid, on pigmentation and fertility." *South Med Surg* 1942; 104:135–39.
- 34. Czeizel A, Metneki J, Dudas I. "The effect of preconceptional multivitamin supplementation on fertility." *Int J Vitam Nutr Res* 1996; 66:55–58.
- Sanfilippo J, Liu Y. "Vitamin B₁₂ deficiency and infertility: report of a case." *J Int J Fertil* 1991; 36 (1): 36–38.
- Gulden K. "Pernicious anemia, vitiligo, and infertility." *Am Board Fam Pract* 1990; 3 (3): 217–20.
- Mackay G. "Pregnancy following treatment for pernicious anaemia." *Practitioner* 1972; 208 (246): 509–10.
- Howard J, Davies S, Hunnisett A. "Red cell magnesium and glutathione peroxidase in infertile women—effects of oral supplementation with magnesium and selenium." *Magnes Res* 1994 Mar; 7 (1): 49–57.
- Amann W. "Removing an ostipation using Agnolyt." *Ther Gegenew* 1965; 104 (9): 1263–65.
- 40. Milewicz A, Gehdel E, et al. "*Vitex agnus castus* extract in the treatment of luteal phase defects due to hyperprolactinemia: results of a randomized placebo-controlled double-blind study." *Arzneim-Forsch Drug Res* 1993; 43:752–56.
- 41. Jarry H, et al. "Studies on the endocrine effects of the contents of *Cimicifuga racemosa*, 1: in vitro binding of compounds to estrogen receptors." *Planta Med* 1985; 1:46–49.
- 42. Jarry H, et al. "Studies on the endocrine effects of the contents of *Cimicifuga racemosa*, 2: influence on the serum concentration of pituitary hormone in ovariectomized rats." *Planta Medica* 1985; 1:46–49.

- Gerasimova H. "Effect of *Rhodiola rosea* extract on ovarian functional activity." *Proc* of *Scientific Conference on Endocrinology* and Gynecology. Sverdlovsk, Russia: Siberian Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences, 1970 Sept 15–16; 46–48.
- Saratikov A, Krasnov E. "The influence of *Rhodiola* on endocrine glands and the liver." Chapter VI in Saratikov A, Krosnov E, eds, *Rhodiola Rosea Is a Valuable Medicinal Plant (Golden Root)*. Tomsk, Russia: Tomsk State University, 1987; 180–93.
- 45. Zhu D. "Dong Quai." *Am J Chinese Med* 1986; XV (3–4): 117–25.
- Zhiping H, et al. "Treating amenorrhea in vital energy-deficient patients with Angelica sinensis." *J Trad Chin Med* 1986; 6 (3): 187–90.
- 47. Darymov, LV. "On the gonadotrophic effect of *Eleutherococcus* glycosides." *Lek Srd Dalinego Vostioka* 1972; 11:939–44.
- Unfer V, Casini L, et al. "Phytoestrogens may improve the pregnancy rate in in vitro fertilization–embryo transfer cycles: a prospective, controlled, randomized trial." *Fertil Steril* 2004; 82 (6): 1509–13.
- Unfer V, Casini M, et al. "High dose of phytoestrogens can reverse the antiestrogenic effects of clomiphene citrate on the endometrium in patients undergoing intrauterine insemination: a randomized trial." *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 2004 Jul; 11 (5): 323–28.
- 50. Tabakova P, Dimitrov M, Ognyanov K, Popvassilev N. "Clinical study of Tribestan in females with endocrine sterility." Unpublished. tribestan.com.
- 51. Belinda F, Wurn P, et al. "Pregnancy rates with a manual physical therapy technique." medscape.com/viewarticle/ 480429_1. Accessed June 2004.
- Stazi A, Trinti B. "Reproductive aspects of celiac disease." *Ann Ital Med Int* 2005 Jul–Sep; 20 (3): 143–57.

- Stazi A, Mantovani A. "A risk factor for female fertility and pregnancy: celiac disease." *Gynecol Endocrinol* 2000 Dec; 14 (6): 454–63.
- Hin H, Ford F. "Celiac disease and infertility: making the connection and achieving a successful pregnancy." *J Fam Health Care* 2002; 12 (4): 94–97.
- Zaffaroni L, Costa P, Vinci G. "Topical progesterone as support for the luteal phase in induced cycles." *Minerva Ginecol* 1997 Jul–Aug; 49 (7–8): 361–64.
- 56. Palagiano A, Bulletti C, et al. "Effects of vaginal progesterone on pain and uterine contractility in patients with threatened abortion before twelve weeks of pregnancy." *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2004 Dec; 1034: 200–210.
- 57. Wong W, Zielhuis GA, et al. "New evidence of the influence of exogenous and endogenous factors on sperm count in man." *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2003 Sep 10; 110 (1): 49–54.
- Wong W, Merkus H, et al. "Effects of folic acid and zinc sulfate on male factor subfertility: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial." *Fertil Steril* 2002 Mar; 77 (3): 491–98.
- Geva E, Bartoov B, et al. "The effect of antioxidant treatment on human spermatozoa and fertilization rate in an in vitro fertilization program." *Fertil Steril* 1996 Sep; 66 (3): 430–34.
- 60. Dawson E, et al. "Effect of ascorbic acid on male fertility." *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1987; 498:812–28.
- 61. Geva E, et al. "The effect of anti-oxidant treatment on human spermatozoa and fertilization rate in an in vitro fertilization program." *Fertil Steril* 1996; 66 (3): 430–34.
- 62. Greco E, Iacobelli M, et al. "Reduction of the incidence of sperm DNA fragmenta-

tion by oral antioxidant treatment." J Androl 2005 May-Jun; 26 (3): 349–53.

- 63. Vitali G, et al. "Carnitine supplementation in human idiopathic asthenospermia. Clinical results." *Drugs Under Experimental and Clinical Research* 1995; 21: 157–59.
- 64. Sandler B, Faragher B. "Treatment of oligospermia with vitamin B₁₂." *Infertility* 1984; 7:133–38.
- Kumamoto Y, et al. "Clinical efficacy of mecobalamin in treatment of oligospermia: Results of a double-blind comparative clinical study." *Acta Urol Japan* 1988; 34:1109–32.

CHAPTER 11: INTERSTITIAL CYSTITIS

- Hanno P, Levin R, Monson F, et al. "Diagnosis of interstitial cystitis." *J Urol* 1990; 143:278–81.
- Whitmore K. "Self-care regimens for patients with interstitial cystitis." Urol Clin North Am 1994; 21:121–30.
- Parsons C, Stein P, Bidair M, Lebow D. "Abnormal sensitivity to intravesical potassium in interstitial cystitis and radiation cystitis." *Neurourol Urodynamics* 1994; 13:515.
- Parsons C, Greenberger M, Gabal L, Bidair M, Barme G. "The role of urinary potassium in the pathogenesis and diagnosis of interstitial cystitis." *J Urol* 1998; 159:1862.
- 5. Parsons C, Lilly J, Stein P. "Epithelial dysfunction in nonbacterial cystitis (interstitial cystitis)." *J Urol* 1991; 145:732.
- Chelsky M, Rosen S, Knight L, Maurer A, Hanno P, Ruggieri M. "Bladder permeability in interstitial cystitis is similar to that of healthy volunteers: direct measurement by transvesical absorption of technetium-diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid." J Urol 1994; 151:346.

- Hurst R, Roy J, Min K, et al. "A deficit of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans on the bladder uroepithelium in interstitial cystitis." *Urology* 1996; 48:817.
- Erickson D, Mast S, Ordille S, Bhavanandan V. "Urinary epitectin in the menstrual cycle and in interstitial cystitis." *J Urol* 1996; 156:938.
- Moskowitz M, Byrne D, Callahan H, et al. "Decreased expression of a glycoprotein component of bladder surface mucin in interstitial cystitis." *J Urol* 1994; 151:343.
- 10. Parsons C, Hurst R. "Decreased urinary uronic acid levels in individuals with interstitial cystitis." *J Urol* 1990; 143:690.
- 11. Hurst R, Parsons C, Roy J, Young J. "Urinary glycosaminoglycan excretion as a laboratory marker for interstitial cystitis." *J Urol* 1993; 149:31.
- 12. Erickson D, Ordille S, Martin A, Bhavanadan V. "Urinary chondroitin sulfates, heparan sulfate and total sulfated glycosaminoglycans in interstitial cystitis." *J Urol* 1997; 157:61.
- Parsons C, Schimdt J, Pollen J. "Successful treatment of interstitial cystitis with sodium pentosanpolysulfate." *J Urol* 1983; 130:51.
- Hanno P. "Analysis long-term Elmiron therapy for interstitial cystitis." *Urology* 1997; 49 (Suppl 5A): 93.
- Fritjofsson A, Fall M, Johlin R, Persson B, Ruutu M. "Treatment of ulcer and nonulcer interstitial cystitis with sodium pentosanpolysulfate: a multicenter trial." *J Urol* 1987; 138:508.
- 16. Parsons C, Mulholland S. "Successful therapy of interstitial cystitis with pentosanpolysulfate." *J Urol* 1987; 138:513.
- Mulholland S, Hanno P, Parsons C, et al. "Pentosanpolysulfate sodium for therapy of interstitial cystitis." *Urology* 1990; 35:552.

436 REFERENCES

- Parsons C, Benson G, Childs S, et al. "A quantitatively controlled method to study prospectively interstitial cystitis and demonstrate the efficacy of pentosanpolysulfate." J Urol 1993; 150:845.
- Holm-Bentzen M, Jacobsen F, Nerstrom B, et al. "A prospective double-blind clinically controlled multicenter trial of sodium pentosanpolysulfate in the treatment of interstitial cystitis and related painful bladder disease." J Urol 1987; 138:503.
- 20. Perez-Marrero R, Emerson L, et al. "Prolongation of response to DMSO by heparin maintenance." *Urology* 1993; 41 (Suppl): 64.
- 21. Morales A, Emerson L, Mickel J, Lundie M. "Intravesical hyaluronic acid in the treatment of refractory interstitial cystitis." *J Urol* 1996; 156:45.
- 22. Slobodov G, Feloney M, Gran C, Kyker K, Hurst R, Culkin D. "Abnormal expression of molecular markers for bladder impermeability and differentiation in the uroepithelium of patients with interstitial cystitis." *J Urol* 2004 Apr; 171 (4): 1554–58.
- Wiedermann U, Chen XJ, Enerback L, Hanson L, Kahu H, Dahlgren U. "Vitamin A deficiency increases inflammatory responses." *Scand J Immunol* 1996 Dec; 44 (6): 578–84.
- Alexandrakis M, Kyriakou D, Seretakis D, et al. "Inhibitory effect of retinoic acid on proliferation, maturation and tryptase level in human leukemic mast cells (HMC-1)." *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol* 2003; 16 (1): 43–47.
- Lesser R, Brodie S, Sugin S.
 "Mastocytosis-induced nyctalopia." J Neuroopthalmol 1996; 16 (2): 115–19.
- 26. Eichelberg D, Schmutzler W. "Synthetic retinoids inhibit histamine release from isolated human mast cells." *Arch Dermatol Res* 1988; 280 (3): 155–57.

- Reifen R. "Vitamin A as an antiinflammatory agent." *Proc Nutr Soc* 2002; 61 (3): 397–400.
- Reifen R, Nur T, Ghebermeskel K, et al. "Vitamin A deficiency exacerbates inflammation in a rat model of colitis through activation of nuclear factor-kappa B and collagen formation." *J Nutr* 2002; 132 (9): 2743–47.
- Myata Y, Nakatsuka T, Arai M, et al. "Inhibition by an aromatic retinoid of DNA damage induced by the bladder carcinogen N-butyl-N- (3-carboxypropyl) nitrosamine." *Gann* 1980; 71 (3): 341–48.
- 30. Chew B, Park J. "Carotenoid action on the immune response." J Nutr 2004; 134 (1): 257S–261S.
- MacKay D, Miller A. "Nutritional support for wound healing." *Altern Med Rev* 2003; 8 (4): 359–77.
- 32. Varani J, Inman D, Perone P, et al. "Retinoid toxicity for fibroblasts and epithelial cells is separable from growth promoting activity." *J Invest Dermatol* 1993; 101 (6): 839–42.
- Koussoulakos S, Sharma K, Anton H. "Effect of vitamin A on wound epidermis during forelimb regeneration in adult newts." *Int J Dev Biol* 1990; 34 (4): 433–39.
- 34. Albers R, Bol M, Bleumink R, et al.
 "Effects of supplementation with vitamins A, C, and E, selenium, and zinc on immune function in a murine sensitization model." *Nutrition* 2003; 19 (11–12): 940–46.
- 35. Schwartz E, Mezick J, Gendimenico G, Kilgman L. "In vivo prevention of corticosteroid-induced skin atrophy by tritinoin in the hairless mouse is accompanied by modulation of collagen, glycosaminoglycans, and fibronectin." *J Invest Dermatol* 1994; 102 (2): 241–46.

- Salvemini D, Misko T, Masferrer J, et al. "Nitric oxide activates cyclooxygenase enzymes." *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 1993; 90 (15): 7240–44.
- Fathian-Sabet B, Bloch W, Klotz T, et al. "Localization of constitutive nitric oxide synthase isoforms and the nitric oxide target enzyme soluble guanylyl cyclase in the human bladder." *J Urol* 2001; 165 (5): 1724–29.
- Wheeler M, Smith S, Saito N, et al. "Effect of long-term oral L-arginine on the nitric oxide synthase pathway in the urine from patients with interstitial cystitis." J Urol 1997; 158 (6): 2045–50.
- Ehren I, Hosseini A, Lundberg J, Wicklund N. "Nitric oxide: a useful gas in the detection of lower urinary tract inflammation." *J Urol* 1999; 162 (2): 327–29.
- Lundberg J, Ehren I, Jansson O, et al.
 "Elevated nitric oxide in the urinary bladder in infectious and noninfectious cystitis." Urology 1996; 48 (5): 700–702.
- Smith S, Wheeler M, Foster H Jr, Weiss R. "Improvement in interstitial cystitis symptom scores during treatment with oral L-arginine." *J Urol* 1997; 158 (3 Pt 1): 703–8.
- 42. Logadottir YR, Ehren I, Fall M, Wiklund NP, Peeker R, Hanno PM. "Intravesical nitric oxide production discriminates between classic and nonulcer interstitial cystitis." *J Urol* 2004 Mar; 171 (3): 1148–50.
- 43. Appleton J. "Arginine: clinical potential of a semi-essential amino." *Altern Med Rev* 2002 Dec; 7 (6): 512–22.
- 44. Erickson D. "Urine markers of interstitial cystitis." *Urology* 2001; 57 (6 Suppl 1): 15–21.
- 45. Cartledge J, Davies A, Eardley I. "A randomized double-blind placebo-controlled crossover trial of the efficacy of L-arginine

in the treatment of interstitial cystitis." *BJU Int* 2000; 85 (4): 421–26.

- 46. Korting G, Smith S, Wheeler M, et al.
 "A randomized double-blind trial of oral L-arginine for treatment of interstitial cystitis." *J Urol* 1999; 161 (2): 558–65.
- Parsons C, Greenberger M, Gabal L, et al. "The role of urinary potassium in the pathogenesis and diagnosis of interstitial cystitis." *J Urol* 1998; 159 (6): 1862–66; discussion 1866–67.
- Martin H, McCallum M, Stofer W, Eichinger M. "Kavain attenuates vascular contractility through inhibition of calcium channels." *Planta Med* 2002; 68 (9): 784–89.
- 49. Theoharides T, Cochrane D. "Critical role of mast cells in inflammatory diseases and the effect of acute stress." *J Neuroimmunol* 2004; 146 (1–2): 1–12.
- 50. Lutgendorf S, Latini J, Rothrock N, et al. "Autonomic response to stress in interstitial cystitis." *J Urol* 2004; 172 (1): 227–31.
- Weissman M, Gross R, Fyer A, et al. "Interstitial cystitis and panic disorder: a potential genetic syndrome." *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 2004; 61 (3): 273–79.
- Cairney S, Maruff P, Clough A. "The neurobehavioural effects of kava." *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* 2002; 36 (5): 657–62.
- 53. Bauer O, Razin E. "Mast cell-nerve interactions." *News Physiol Sci* 2000 Oct; 15:213–18.
- 54. Theoharides T, Kempuraj D, Sant G.
 "Mast cell involvement in interstitial cystitis: a review of human and experimental evidence." *Urology* 2001; 57 (6 Suppl 1): 47–55. Review.
- Penissi AB, Rudolph MI, Piezzi RS. "Role of mast cells in gastrointestinal mucosal defense." *Biocell* 2003 Aug; 27 (2): 163–72. Review.
- 56. Kimata M, Shichijo M, Miura T, Serizawa I, Inagaki N, Nagai H. "Effects of luteolin,

quercetin and baicalein on immunoglobulin E-mediated mediator release from human cultured mast cells." *Clin Exp Allergy* 2000 Apr; 30 (4): 501–8.

- 57. Lee E, Choi EJ, Cheong H, Kim YR, Ryu SY, Kim KM. "Anti-allergic actions of the leaves of *Castanea crenata* and isolation of an active component responsible for the inhibition of mast cell degranulation." *Arch Pharm Res* 1999 Jun; 22 (3): 320–23.
- Martin MW, O'Sullivan AJ, Gomperts BD. "Inhibition by cromoglycate and some flavonoids of nucleoside diphosphate kinase and of exocytosis from permeabilized mast cells." *Br J Pharmacol* 1995 Jul; 115 (6): 1080–86.
- Bronner C, Landry Y. "Kinetics of the inhibitory effect of flavonoids on histamine secretion from mast cells." *Agents Actions* 1985 Apr; 16 (3–4): 147–51.
- 60. Osiecki H. "The role of chronic inflammation in cardiovascular disease and its regulation by nutrients." *Altern Med Rev* 2004; 9 (1): 32–53.
- 61. Teixeira S. "Bioflavonoids: proanthocyanidins and quercetin and their potential roles in treating musculoskeletal conditions." *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther* 2002; 32 (7): 357–63.
- 62. Morikawa K, Nonaka M, Narahara M, Torii I, Kawaguchi K, Yoshikawa T, Kumazawa Y, Morikawa S. "Inhibitory effect of quercetin on carrageenaninduced inflammation in rats." *Life Sci* 2003 Dec 26; 74 (6): 709–21.
- 63. Kim TS, Kang BY, Cho D, Kim SH. "Induction of interleukin-12 production in mouse macrophages by berberine, a benzodioxoloquinolizine alkaloid, deviates CD4+ T cells from a Th2 to a Th1 response." *Immunology* 2003 Jul; 109 (3): 407–14.
- 64. Kang BY, Chung SW, Cho D, Kim TS. "Involvement of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in the induction of

interleukin-12 p40 production in mouse macrophages by berberine, a benzodioxoloquinolizine alkaloid." *Biochem Pharmacol* 2002 May 15; 63 (10): 1901–10.

- Huang CG, Chu ZL, Wei SJ, Jiang H, Jiao BH. "Effect of berberine on arachidonic acid metabolism in rabbit platelets and endothelial cells." *Thromb Res* 2002 May 15; 106 (4–5): 223–27.
- 66. Habtemariam S. "Extract of corn silk (stigma of *Zea mays*) inhibits the tumour necrosis factor-alpha- and bacterial lipopolysaccharide-induced cell adhesion and ICAM-1 expression." *Planta Med* 1998 May; 64 (4): 314–18.
- Foster S, Duke JA. A Field Guide to Medicinal Plants. Eastern and Central N. America. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin Co., 1990.

CHAPTER 12: MENOPAUSE

- McKinlay S, Brambilla D, Posner J. "The normal menopause transition." *Maturitas* 1992; 14:103–15.
- Coulam C, Adamson S, Annegers J. "Incidence of premature ovarian failure." *Obstet Gynecol* 1986; 67 (4): 604–6.
- Katz E, McClamrock H, Adashi E. "Ovarian failure including menopause, premature menopause, and resistant ovarian syndrome, and hormonal replacement." *Cur Opin Obstet Gynecol* 1990; 2 (3): 392–97.
- Keshavarz H, Hillis S, Kieke B, Marchbanks P. "Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report." *MMWR* 2002 July 12; 51 (SS05): 1–8.
- 5. Williamson M. "Sexual adjustment after hysterectomy." *JOGNN* 1991; 21 (1): 42.
- Nathorst-Boos J, von Schoultz B. "Psychological reactions and sexual life after hysterectomy with and without oophorectomy." *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 1992; 34:97.

- Cohen S, Hollingsworth A, Rubin M. "Another look at psychologic complications of hysterectomy." *IMAGE: J Nurs Schol* 1989; 21 (1): 51.
- McKinlay S, Brambilla D, Posner J. "The normal menopause transition." *Maturitas* 1992; 14:103–15.
- Kronenberg, F. "Hot flashes: epidemiology and physiology." *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1990; 592:52–86.
- Lock M. "Ambiguities of aging: Japanese experience and perceptions of menopause." *Cult Med Psychiatry* 1986; 10:23–46.
- 11. Beyene Y. "Cultural significance and physiological manifestations of menopause: a biocultural analysis." *Cult Med Psychiatry* 1986; 10:47–71.
- Kronenberg F, Downey J. "Thermoregulatory physiology of menopausal hot flashes: a review." *Canad J Physiol Pharmacol* 1987; 65:1312–24.
- Chakravarti S, Collins W, Thom M, Studd J. "Relation between plasma hormone profiles, symptoms, and responses to oestrogen treatment in women approaching the menopause." *Br Med J* 1979; 1:983–85.
- Shoupe D, Lobo R. "Endogenous opioids in the menopause." In Speroff L, Lobo R, eds., *Role of Opioid Peptides in Reproductive Endocrinology. Seminars in Reproductive Endocrinology.* New York: Thieme Medical Publishers, Inc., 1987; 5 (2): 199–206.
- McKinlay J, McKinlay S, Brambilla D. "The relative contributions of endocrine changes and social circumstances to depression in mid-aged women." *J Health* Soc Behav 1987; 28:345–63.
- Avis N, Brambilla D, McKinlay S, Vass K. "A longitudinal analysis of the association between menopause and depression: results from the Massachusetts Women's Health Study." *Ann Epidemiol* 1994; 4:214–20.

- Cagnacci A, Volpe A, et al. "Depression and anxiety in climacteric women: role of hormone replacement therapy." J North Amer Meno Soc 1997; 4 (4): 206–11.
- Sherwin B. "The impact of different doses of estrogen and progestin on mood and sexual behavior in postmenopausal women." *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1991; 72:336–43.
- Henderson V, Buckwalter J. "Cognitive deficits of men and women with Alzheimer's disease." *Neur* 1994; 44: 90–96.
- Samsioe G, Jansson I, Mellstrom D, Svanborg A. "The occurrence, nature and treatment of urinary incontinence in a 70-year-old population." *Maturitas* 1985; 7:335–442.
- Leiblum S. "Self-reported sexual complaints of US women across the lifespan." Presented at European Federation of Sexology Annual Meeting, Brighton, England, May 12–16, 2004.
- 22. Anastasiadis A, Salomon L, Ghafar M, et al. "Female sexual dysfunction: state of the art." *Curr Urol Rep* 2002; 3:484–91.
- Kingsberg S. "The impact of aging on sexual function in women and their partners." *Arch Sex Behav* 2002; 31 (5): 431–37.
- Gracia C, Sammel M, Freeman E, et al. "Predictors of decreased libido in women during the later reproductive years." *Menopause* 2004; 11 (2): 144–50.
- 25. McCoy N, Davidson J. "A longitudinal study of the effects of menopause on sexuality." *Maturitas* 1985; 7 (3): 203–10.
- Bachmann G, Leiblum S, Kemmann E, et al. "Sexual expression and its determinants in the post-menopausal women." *Maturitas* 1984; 6:19–29.
- Vermeulen A. "The hormonal activity of the postmenopausal ovary." J Clin Endocrin Metabl 1976; 42:247–53.

- Women's Health Initiative Writing Group. "Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results from the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial." *JAMA* 2002; 288 (3): 321–33.
- 29. Huntley A, Ernst E. "Soy for the treatment of perimenopausal symptoms—a systematic review." *Maturitas* 2004; 47:1–9.
- Krebs E, Ensrud K, MacDonald R, Wilt T. "Phytoestrogens for treatment of menopausal symptoms: a systematic review." *Obstet Gynecol* 2004; 104: 824–36.
- North American Menopause Society. "The role of isoflavones in menopausal health: consensus opinion of the North American Menopause Society." *Menopause* 2000; 7:215–29.
- Anderson J, Johnstone B, Cook-Nesell M. "Meta-analysis of the effects of soy protein intake on serum lipids." N Engl J Med 1995; 333 (5): 276–82.
- Messina M, Persky V, Setchell K, Barnes S. "Soy intake and cancer risk: a review of the in vitro and in vivo data." *Nutr Cancer* 1994; 21:113–31.
- Adlercreutz H, et al. "Dietary phytoestrogens and cancer: in vitro and in vivo studies." *J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol* 1992; 41 (3–8): 331–37.
- Barnes S, Peterson G, Grubbs C, Setchell K. "Potential role of dietary isoflavones in the prevention of cancer." In Jacobs MM, ed., *Diet and Cancer: Markers, Prevention, and Treatment.* New York: Plenum Press, 1994: 135–47.
- Messina M, Loprinzi C. "Soy for breast cancer survivors: a critical review of the literature." *J Nutrition* 2001; 131: 3095S–3108S.
- 37. Thompson L, Robb P, Serraino M, Cheung F. "Mammalian lignan production

from various foods." *Nutr and Canc* 1991; 16 (1): 43–52.

- Adlercreutz H. "Does fiber-rich food containing animal lignan precursors protect against both colon and breast cancer? An extension of the fiber hypothesis." *Gastroent* 1984; 86:761–66.
- Setchell K, Adlercreutz H. "Mammalian lignans and phytoestrogens: recent studies on their formation, metabolism and biological role in health and disease." In Rowland I, ed., *Role of the Gut Flora in Toxicity and Cancer*. London: Academic, 1988; 315–45.
- 40. Rao C. *The Chemistry of Lignans*. Waltair, India: Andhra Univ. Press, 1978.
- Hartwell J. "Types of anticancer agents isolated from plants." *Canc Treat Rep* 1976; 60:1031–67.
- 42. Macrae W, Towers G. "Biological activities of lignans." *Phytochem* 1984; 23:1207–20.
- 43. Adlercreutz H. "Lignans and phytoestrogens: possible preventive role in cancer." *Fron Gastrointest Res* 1988; 14:165–76.
- 44. Adlercreutz H, et al. "Diet and urinary excretion of lignans in female subjects." *Med Biol* 1981; 59:259–61.
- 45. Adlercreutz H, et al. "Determination of urinary lignan and phytoestrogen metabolite, potential antiestrogens and anticarcinogens in urine of women on various habitual diets." *J Steroid Biochem* 1986; 25:791–97.
- 46. Kris-Etherton P, Krummel D. "Role of nutrition in the prevention and treatment of coronary heart disease in women." *J Am Diet Assoc* 1993; 93:987–93.
- Robertson J, Brydon W, Tadesse K. "The effect of raw carrot on serum lipids and colon function." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1979; 32:1889–92.
- Block G. "Fruit, vegetables, and cancer prevention: a review of the epidemiological evidence." *Nutr Canc* 1992; 18:1–29.

- 49. Smith C. "Non-hormonal control of vaso-motor flushing in menopausal patients." *Chic Med* 1964; 67:193–95.
- Russ C, Hendricks T, et al. "Vitamin B₆ status of depressed and obsessivecompulsive patients." *Nutr Rep Intl* 1983; 27:867–73.
- 51. Wynn V, et al. "Tryptophan, depression and steroidal contraception." *J Steroid Biochem* 1975; 6:965–70.
- 52. Nobbs B. "Pyridoxal phosphate status in clinical depression." *Lancet* 1974; I:405.
- Chenoy R, et al. "Effect of oral gamma linolenic acid from evening primrose oil on menopausal flushing." *Br Med J* 1994; 308:503–6.
- Pye J, et al. "Clinical experience of drug treatments for mastalgia." *Lancet* 1985; II:373–77.
- 55. Gately C, et al. "Drug treatments for mastalgia: 17 years experience in the Cardiff mastalgia clinic." *J Roy Soc Med* 1992; 85:12–15.
- 56. Mansel, et al. "Effects of essential fatty acids on cyclical mastalgia and noncyclical breast disorders." In Horrobin D, ed., *Omega-6 Essential Fatty Acids: Pathophysiology and Roles in Clinical Medicine*. New York: Wiley-Liss, 1990; 557–66.
- Murase Y, Iishima H. "Clinical studies of oral administration of gamma-oryzanol on climacteric complaints and its syndrome." *Obstet Gynecol Prac* 1963; 12:147–49.
- 58. Ishihara M. "Effect of gamma-oryzanol on serum lipid peroxide levels and climacteric disturbances." *Asia Oceania J Obstet Gynecol* 1984; 10:317.
- 59. Shute E. [Title not available.] *Can Med Assoc J* 1937; 37:350.
- 60. Christy C. "Vitamin E in menopause; preliminary report of experimental and clinical study." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1945; 50:84–87.

- Finkler R. "The effect of vitamin E in the menopause." J Clin Endocrin Metab 1949; 9:89–94.
- 62. McLaren H. "Vitamin E in the menopause." *Br Med J* 1949 Dec 17; 1378–82.
- 63. Barton D, et al. "Prospective evaluation of vitamin E therapy for hot flashes in breast cancer survivors." *J Clin Oncol* 1998; 16:495–500.
- 64. Aldercreutz H, Mazur W. "Phytoestrogens and Western diseases." *Ann Med* 1997; 29:95–120.
- 65. Rose DP. "Dietary fiber, phytoestrogens, and breast cancer." *Nutrition* 1992; 8:47–51.
- 66. Kuiper GG, Carlsson B, Grandien K, et al. "Comparison of the ligand binding specific-y and transcript tissue distribution of estrogen receptors alpha and beta." *Endocrinology* 1997; 138:863–70.
- Harada M, Suzuki M, Ozaki Y. "Effect of Japanese angelica root and peony root on uterine contraction in the rabbit in situ." *J Pharm Dyn* 1984; 7:304–11.
- 68. Yoshiro K. "The physiological actions of Tang-Kuei and Cnidium." *Bull Oriental Healing Arts Inst USA* 1985; 10:269–78.
- 69. Hirata J, et al. "Does dong quai have estrogenic effects in postmenopausal women? A double-blind, placebocontrolled trial." *Fertil Steril* 1997; 68 (6): 981–86.
- 70. Braquet P, ed. *Ginkgolides: Chemistry, Biology, Pharmacology and Clinical Perspectives.* I, II. Barcelona: JR Prous Science Publishers, 1992.
- Kleijnen J, Knipschild P. "Drug profiles: Ginkgo biloba." Lancet 1993; 340: 1136–39.
- Rudofsky V. "The effect of ginkgo biloba extract in cases of arterial occlusive disease: a randomized placebo-controlled double-blind crossover study." Fortschr Med 1987; 105:397–400.

- Voberg G. "*Ginkgo biloba* extract (GBE): a long-term study of chronic cerebral insufficiency in geriatric patients." *Clin Trials J* 1985; 22:149–57.
- 74. Mancini M, Agozzino B, Bompani R. "Clinical and therapeutic effects of *Ginkgo biloba* extract (GBE) versus placebo in the treatment of psychoorganic senile dementia of arteriosclerotic origin." *Gax Med Ital* 1993; 152:69–80.
- Kleijnen J, Knipschild P. "Ginkgo biloba for cerebral insufficiency." Br J Clin Pharmacol 1992; 34:352–58.
- 76. Hofferberth B. "The efficacy of Egb761 in patients with senile dementia of the Alzheimer type—a double-blind, placebocontrolled study on different levels of investigation." *Human Psychopharm* 1994; 9:215–22.
- 77. Kanowski S, Herrmann W, Stephan K, et al. "Proof of efficacy of the *Ginkgo biloba* special extract EGb 761 in outpatients suffering from mild to moderate primary degenerative dementia of the Alzheimer type or multi-infarct dementia." *Pharmacopsychiatry* 1996; 29:47–56.
- Cohen A, Bartlik B. "Ginkgo biloba for antidepressant-induced sexual dysfunction." J Sex and Marital Therapy 1998; 24:139–43.
- 79. Wiklund I, Mattsson L, Lindgren R, Limoni C. "Effects of a standardized ginseng on the quality of life and physiological parameters in symptomatic postmenopausal women: a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial." *Int J Clin Pharm Res* 1999; XIX:89–99.
- Tode T, Kikuchi Y, Hirata J, et al. "Effect of Korean red ginseng on psychological functions in patients with severe climacteric syndromes." *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 1999; 67:169.
- 81. "Ginseng root." In Blumenthal M, ed., *The Complete German Commission E*

Monographs. Austin, TX: American Botanical Council, 1998.

- Hikino H. "Traditional remedies and modern assessment: the case of ginseng." In Wijeskera R, ed., *The Medicinal Plant Industry*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 1991; 149–66.
- Shibata S, et al. "Chemistry and pharmacology of *Panax*." *Econ Med Plant Res* 1985; 1:217–84.
- Hallstrom C, Fulder S, Carruthers M. "Effect of ginseng on the performance of nurses on night duty." *Comp Med East West* 1982; 6:277–82.
- D'Angelo L, et al. "A double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical study on the effect of a standardized ginseng extract on psychomotor performance in healthy volunteers." *J Ethnopharmacol* 1986; 16: 15–22.
- 86. Bombardelli E, Cirstoni A, Lietti A. "The effect of acute and chronic (*Panax*) ginseng saponins treatment on adrenal function; biochemical and pharmacological." *Proceedings 3rd International Ginseng Symposium 1980.* Korean Ginseng Research Institute; 9–16.
- Punnonen R, Lukola A. "Oestrogenlike effect of ginseng." *Br Med J* 1980; 281:1110.
- Zayed S, Hassan A, Elghamry M. "Estrogenic substances from Egyptian glycyrrhiza glabra. II Beta-sitosterol as an estrogenic principle." Zenralbi Veterinarmed 1964; 11 (5): 476–82.
- Davis E, Morris D. "Medicinal uses of licorice through the millennia: the good and plenty of it." *Molec and Cell Endocr* 1991; 78 (1–2): 1–6.
- Baber RJ, Templeman C, Morton T, et al. "Randomized placebo-controlled trial of an isoflavone supplement and menopausal symptoms in women." *Climacteric* 1999; 2:85–92.

- Knight D, Howes J, Eden J. "The effect of Promensil, an isoflavone extract, on menopausal symptoms." *Climacteric* 1999; 2:79–84.
- 92. Jeri A, deRomana C. "The effect of isoflavone phytoestrogens in relieving hot flushes in Peruvian post-menopausal women." In *Proceedings of the 9th International Menopause Society World Congress on Menopause*. Yokohama, Japan, 1999.
- 93. Nachtigall L, La Grega L, Lee W, Fenichel R. "The effects of isoflavones derived from red clover on vasomotor symptoms and endometrial thickness." In Proceedings of the 9th International Menopause Society World Congress on Menopause. Yokohama, Japan, 1999.
- 94. Van de Weijer P, Barentsen R. "Isoflavones from red clover (Promensil) significantly reduce menopausal hot flush symptoms compared with placebo." *Maturitas* 2002; 42:187–93.
- 95. Tice J, Ettinger B, Ensrud K, et al. "Phytoestrogen supplements for the treatment of hot flashes: the isoflavone clover extract (ICE) study." *JAMA* 2003; 290:207–14.
- 96. Nestel P, Pomeroy S, Kay S, et al. "Isoflavones from red clover improve systemic arterial compliance but not plasma lipids in menopausal women." J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1999; 84:895–98.
- 97. Atkinson C, Compston J, Day N, et al. "The effects of phytoestrogen isoflavones on bone density in women: a doubleblind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2004; 79 (2): 326–33.
- 98. Imhof M, Gocan A, Reithmayr F, et al. "Effects of a red clover extract (MF11RCE) on endometrium and sex hormones in postmenopausal women." *Maturitas* 2006; 55:76–81.
- 99. Zava D, Dollbaum C, Blen M. "Estrogen and progestin bioactivity of foods, herbs,

and spices." *Proc Soc Experi Biol Med* 1998; 217:369–78.

- Borrelli F, Ernst E. "Cimicifuga racemosa: a systematic review of its clinical efficacy." Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2002; 58:235–41.
- Huntley A, Ernst E. "A systematic review of herbal medicinal products for the treatment of menopausal symptoms." *Menopause* 2003; 10:465–76.
- 102. Liske E, Hanggi W, Henneicke-von Zepelin H, et al. "Physiological investigation of a unique extract of black cohosh (*Cimicifugae racemosae rhizoma*): a 6month clinical study demonstrates no systemic estrogenic effect." J Womens Health Gend Based Med 2002; 11:163–74.
- 103. Osmers R, Friede M, Liske E, Schnitker J, et al. "Efficacy and safety of isopropanolic black cohosh extract for climacteric symptoms." *Obstet Gynecol* 2005; 105:1074–83.
- 104. Frei-Kleiner S, Schaffner W, Rahlfs V, et al. "*Cimicifuga racemosa* dried ethanolic extract in menopausal disorders: a double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial." *Maturitas* 2005; 51 (4): 397–404.
- 105. Wuttke W, Seidlova-Wuttke D, Gorkow C. "The *Cimicifuga* preparation BNO 1055 vs. conjugated estrogens in a doubleblind placebo-controlled study: effects on menopause symptoms and bone markers." *Maturitas* 2003; 44:S67–77.
- 106. Jacobson J, Troxel A, et al. "Randomized trial of black cohosh for the treatment of hot flushes among women with a history of breast cancer." *J Clin Oncol* 2001; 19:2739–45.
- 107. Stolze H. "An alternative to treat menopausal symptoms with a phytotherapeutic agent." *Med Welt* 1985; 36:871–74.
- 108. Wuttke W, Gorkow C, Seidlova-Wuttke D. "Effects of black cohosh on bone turnover, vaginal mucosa, and various blood parameters in postmenopausal

women: a double-blind, placebocontrolled, and conjugated estrogenscontrolled study." *Menopause: The J of the North American Menopause Society* 2006; 13 (2): 185–96.

- 109. Pockaj B, et al. "Phase III double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled crossover trial of black cohosh in the management of hot flashes: NCCTG Trial NO1CC1." *J Clin Oncol* 2006; 24:2836–41.
- 110. Newton K, Reed S, LaCroix A, Grothaus L, Ehrlich K, Guiltinan J. "Treatment of vasomotor symptoms of menopause with black cohosh, multibotanicals, soy, hormone therapy, or placebo: a randomized trial." *Ann Intern Med* 2006; 145 (12): 869–79.
- Uebelhack R, Jens-Uwe Blohmer, et al. "Black cohosh and St. John's wort for climacteric complaints." *Obstet Gynecol* 2006; 107:247–55.
- 112. Duker E, Kopanski L, et al. "Effects of extracts from *Cimicifuga racemosa* on gonadotropin release in menopausal women and ovariectomized rats." *Planta Med* 1991; 57:420–24.
- 113. Liske E, Hanggi W, Henneicke-von Zepelin H, Boblitz N, et al. "Physiologic investigation of a unique extract of black cohosh (*Cimicifugae racemosae rhizoma*): a 6-month clinical study demonstrates no systemic estrogenic effect." J Women's Health Gend Based Med 2002; 11:163–74.
- 114. Nesselhut T, Liske E. "Pharmacological measures in postmenopausal women with an isopropanolic aqueous extract of *cimicifugae racemosae rhimoza*." Presented at 10th annual meeting, the North American Menopause Society, New York, 1999.
- 115. Rhyu M, Lu J, Webster D, et al. "Black cohosh (*Actaea racemosa*, *Cimicifuga racemosa*) behaves as a mixed competitive ligand and partial agonist at the human

mu-opiate receptor." *J Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. Epub Dec 2006.

- 116. Huntley A, Ernst E. "A systematic review of the safety of black cohosh." *Menopause: The J of the North American Menopause Society* 2003; 10 (1): 58–64.
- 117. Dog T, Powell K, Weisman S. "Critical evaluation of the safety of *Cimicifuga racemosa* in menopause symptom relief." *Menopause* 2003; 10 (4): 299–313.
- 118. Nesselhut T, Schellhase C, Dietrich R, Kuhn W. "Examination of the proliferative potential of phytopharmaceuticals with estrogen-mimicking acting in breast carcinoma." *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 1993; 254:817–18.
- 119. Nesselhut T, Borth S, Kuhn W. "Influence of *Cimicifuga racemosa* extracts on the in vitro proliferation of mammalian carcinoma cells." Submitted for publication.
- 120. Einbond L, Shimizu M, Xiao D, et al. "Growth inhibitory activity of extracts and purified components of black cohosh on human breast cancer cells." *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 2004; 83 (3): 221–31.
- 121. Raus K, et al. "First-time proof of endometrial safety of the special cohosh extract (*Actea* or *Cimicifuga racemosa* extract)." *Menopause* 2006; 13:678–91.
- Rockwell S, Liu Y, Higgins S. "Alteration of the effects of cancer therapy agents on breast cancer cells by the herbal medicine black cohosh." *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 2005; 90:233–39.
- 123. Haller J. "Testing the progesterones." *Therpaiewoche* 1959; 9:481–84.
- 124. Haller J. "The influence of plant extracts in the hormonal exchange between hypophysis and ovary. An experimental endocrinological animal study." *A Geburtsh Gynakol* 1961; 156:274–302.
- Loch E. "Diagnosis and therapy of hormonal bleeding disturbances." *TW Gynakol* 1989; 2:379–85.
- Probst V, Roth O. "On a plant extract with a hormonelike effect." *Dtsch Me Wschr* 1954; 79 (35): 1271–74.
- Bleier W. "Phytotherapy in irregular menstrual cycles or bleeding periods and other gynecological disorders of endocrine origin." *Zentralblatt Gynakol* 1959; 81 (18): 701–9.
- 128. Linde K, Ramirez G, Mulrow C, Pauls A, et al. "St John's wort for depression—an overview and meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials." *Br Med J* 1996; 313:253.
- 129. Linde K, Mulrow C, Berner M, Egger M.
 "St. John's for depression." *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2005 Apr 18; (2): CD000448.
- Grube B, Walper A, Whatley D. "St. John's wort extract: efficacy for menopasual symptoms of psychological origin." *Adv Ther* 1999; 16:177.
- 131. Pittler M, Ernst E. "Efficacy of kava extract for treating anxiety: a systematic review and meta-analysis." *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 2000; 20:84–89.
- 132. Warnecke G, Pfaender H, Gerster G, Gracza E. "Wirksamkeit von Kawa-Kawa-Extrakt beim klimakterischen Syndrom." *Zeitschrift Phytotherapie* 1990; 11:81–86.
- Warnecke G. "Psychosomatic dysfunction in the female climacteric. Clinical effectiveness and tolerance of kava extract WS 1490" (in German). *Fortschr Med* 1991; 109:119–22.
- 134. De Leo V, Marca A, Lanzetta D, et al. "Valutazione dell-associazione di estratto do Kava-Kava e terpie ormoale sostitutiva nel tratta mento d'ansia in postmenpausa." *Minerva Ginecol* 2000; 52:263–67.
- 135. Cagnacci A, Arangino S, Rensi A, et al. "Kava-kava administration reduces anxiety in perimenopausal women." *Maturitas* 2003; 44:103–9.
- 136. Hudson T, Standish L. "Clinical and endocrinological effects of a menopausal

botanical formula." *J Naturo Med* 1997; 7 (1): 73–77.

- "Hops." In Blumenthal M, ed., *The Complete German Commission E Monographs*. Austin, TX: American Botanical Council, 1998.
- 138. Heyerick A, Vervarcke S, Depypere H, et al. "A first prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study on the use of a standardized hop extract to alleviate menopausal discomforts." *Maturitas* 2006; 54:164–75.
- Balderer G, Borbely A. "Effect of valerian on human sleep." *Psychopharmacology* (Berl) 1985; 87:406.
- 140. Leathwood P, Chauffard F, Heck E, Munoz-Box R. "Aqueous extract of valerian root (*Valeriana officinalis L.*) improves sleep quality in man." *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 1982; 17:65.
- 141. Leathwood P, Chauffard F. "Aqueous extract of valerian reduces latency to fall asleep in man." *Planta Med* 1985 April; 144.
- 142. "Motherwort herb." In Blumenthal M, ed., *The Complete German Commission E Monographs*. Austin, TX: American Botanical Council, 1998.
- 143. North American Menopause Society.
 "Estrogen and progestogen use in peri- and postmenopausal women: March 2007 position statement of the North American Menopause Society." *Menopause* 2007; 14 (2): 1–17.
- 144. The Women's Health Initiative Steering Committee. "Effects of conjugated equine estrogen in postmenopausal women with hysterectomy." *JAMA* 2004; 291:1701–12.
- 145. Espeland M, Rapp S, Shumaker S, et al.
 "Conjugated equine estrogens and global cognitive function in postmenopausal women." Women's Health Initiative Memory Study. *JAMA* 2004; 291: 2959–68.

446 REFERENCES

- 146. Klein R. "The composition of Premarin." Int J Fertil 1998; 43 (4): 223.
- 147. Hargrove J, Osteen K. "An alternative method of hormone replacement therapy using the natural sex steroids." *Infertility* and Reproductive Medicine Clinics of North America 1995; 6 (4): 653–74.
- 148. Crandall C. "Vaginal estrogen preparations: a review of safety and efficacy for vaginal atrophy." *J Women's Health* 2002; 11 (10): 857–77.
- Raz R, Stamm W. "A controlled trial of intravaginal estriol in postmenopausal women with recurrent urinary tract infections." N Engl J Med 1993; 329:753.
- 150. Walter S, Jensen H. "The effect of treatment with oestradiol and oestriol on fasting serum cholesterol and triglyceride levels in postmenopausal women." *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1977; 84 (11): 869–72.
- 151. Follingstad A. "Estriol, the forgotten estrogen?" *JAMA* 1978; 239:29–30.
- 152. Lippman M, Monaco M, Bolan G. "Effects of estrone, estradiol, and estriol on hormone-responsive human breast cancer in long-term tissue culture." *Cancer Res* 1977; 37:1901–7.
- 153. Haspels A, Luisi M, Kicovic P. "Endocrinological and clinical investigations in postmenopausal women following administration of vaginal cream containing oestriol." *Maturitas* 1981; 3:321.
- 154. Kicovic P, Cortes-Prieto J, Milojefic S, et al. "The treatment of postmenopausal vaginal atrophy with Ovestin vaginal cream or suppositories: clinical, endocrinological and safety aspects." *Maturitas* 1980; 2:275.
- 155. Hirvonen E. "Progestins." *Maturitas* 1996; 23:S13.
- 156. Adams M, Register T, Golden D, et al. "Medroxyprogesterone acetate antagonizes inhibitory effects of conjugated equine estrogens on coronary artery atherosclero-

sis." Art Thrombo Vascu Biol 1997; 17:217.

- 157. Leonetti H, Longo S, Anasti J. "Transdermal progesterone cream for vasomotor symptoms and postmenopausal bone loss." *Obstet Gynecol* 1999; 97 (2): 225–28.
- 158. Wren B, Champion S, Manga R, Eden J. "Transdermal progesterone and its effect on vasomotor symptoms, blood lipid levels, bone metabolic markers, moods, and quality of life for postmenopausal women." *Menopause* 2003; 10 (1): 13–18.
- 159. The Writing Group for the PEPI Trial. "Effects of hormone replacement therapy on endometrial histology in postmenopausal women. The Postmenopausal Estrogen/Progestin Interventions (PEPI) Trial." JAMA 1996; 275 (5): 370–75.
- 160. The Writing Group for the PEPI Trial. "Effects of hormone therapy on bone mineral density. Results from the Postmenopausal Estrogen/Progestin Interventions (PEPI) Trial." JAMA 1996; 276 (17): 1389–96.
- 161. The Writing Group for the PEPI Trial. "Effects of estrogen or estrogen/progestin regimens on heart disease risk factors in postmenopausal women. The Postmenopausal Estrogen/Progestin Interventions (PEPI) Trial." *JAMA* 1995; 273 (3): 199–208.
- 162. "Prometrium (progesterone, USP) capsules." Package insert. Solvay Pharmaceuticals, 1998.
- Cicinelli E, Petruzzi D, Scorcia P, et al. "Effects of progesterone administered by nasal spray on the human postmenopausal endometrium." *Maturitas* 1993; 18:65.
- 164. Colditz G, Hankinson S, Hunter D, et al. "The use of estrogens and progestins and the risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women." N Engl J Med 1995; 332:1589–1993.

- 165. Colditz G, Rosner B. "Cumulative risk of breast cancer to age 70 years according to risk factor status: data from the Nurses' Health Study." *Am J Epidemiol* 2000; 152:950–64.
- Stanford J, Weiss N, Voight L, et al. "Combined estrogen and progestin hormone replacement therapy in relation to risk of breast cancer." *JAMA* 1995; 274:137–42.
- 167. Folsom A, Mink P, Sellers T, et al. "Hormonal replacement therapy and morbidity and mortality in a prospective study of postmenopausal women." *Am J Public Health* 1995; 85:1128–32.
- 168. Sellers T, Mink P, Cerhan J, et al. "The role of hormone replacement therapy in the risk for breast cancer and total mortality in women with a family history of breast cancer." *Ann Intern Med* 1997; 127:973–80.
- 169. Gapstur S, Morrow M, Sellers T. "Hormone replacement therapy and risk of breast cancer with a favorable histology. Results of the Iowa Women's Health Study." JAMA. 1999; 281:2091–97.
- 170. Moorman P, Kuwabara H, Millikan R, Newman B. "Menopausal hormones and breast cancer in a biracial population." *Am J Public Health* 2000; 90:966–71.
- Lando J, Heck K, Brett K. "Hormone replacement therapy and breast cancer risk in a nationally representative cohort." *Am J Prev Med* 1999; 17:176–80.
- Chang K, Fournier S, et al. "Influences of percutaneous administration of estradiol and progesterone on human breast epithelial cell cycle in vivo." *Fertil Steril* 1995; 63 (4): 785–91.
- 173. Fournier A, Berrino R, Riboli E, et al.
 "Breast cancer risk in relation to different types of hormone replacement therapy in the E3N-EPIC cohort." *Int J Cancer* 2005; 114 (3): 448–54.

- 174. Simon J, Klaiber E, Wiita B, et al. "Double-blind comparison of two doses of estrogen and estrogen-androgen therapy in naturally postmenopausal women: neuroendocrine, psychological and psychosomatic effects." *Fertil Steril* 1996; 66:S71.
- 175. Sarrel P, Dobay B, Wiita B. "Sexual behavior and neuroendocrine responses to estrogen and estrogen-androgen in postmenopausal women dissatisfied with estrogen-only therapy." *J Reprod Med.* In press.
- 176. Dobay B, Balos R, Willard N. "Improved menopausal symptom relief with estrogenandrogen therapy." Presented at the Annual Conference of the North American Menopause Society, Chicago, IL, Sept 1996.
- 177. Watts N, Notelovitz M, Timmons M, et al. "Comparison of oral estrogens and estrogens plus androgen on bone mineral density, menopausal symptoms, and lipidlipoprotein profiles in surgical menopause." *Obstet Gynecol* 1995; 85:529–37.
- Gambrell R Jr. "Androgen therapy." In Managing the Menopause: An Update. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1989; 11–16.
- 179. Rako S. *The Hormone of Desire*. New York: Harmony Books, 1996.
- 180. North American Menopause Society.
 "The role of testosterone therapy in postmenopausal women: position statement of the North American Menopause Society." *Menopause: The J of the North American Menopause Society* 2005; 12 (5): 497–511.
- 181. Yen S, Morales A, Khorram O. "Replacement of DHEA in aging men and women. Potential remedial effects." Ann N Y Acad Sci 1995; 774:128–42.
- 182. Casson P, Faquin L, Steutz F, et al. "Replacement of dehydroepiandrosterone enhances T-lymphocyte insulin binding in postmenopausal women." *Fertil Steril* 1995; 63:1027–31.

- Manson J, et al. "Walking compared with vigorous exercise for the prevention of cardiovascular events in women." N Engl J Med 2002; 347:716–25.
- 184. McTiernan A, et al. "Recreational physical activity and the risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women: the Women's Health Initiative Cohort Study." *JAMA* 2003; 290:1331–36.
- 185. Kemmler W, et al. "The Erlangen Fitness Osteoporosis Prevention Study: a controlled exercise trial in early postmenopausal women with low bond density—first year results." *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2003; 84:673–82.
- 186. Fitzpatrick L, Santen R. "Hot flashes: the old and the new, what is really true?" *Mayo Clinic Proc* 2002; 77:1155–58.
- Johnson J. "The use of music to promote sleep in older women." J Community Health Nurs 2003; 20 (1): 27–35.
- 188. Polo-Kantola P, Erkkola R, Helenius H, Irjala K, Polo O. "When does estrogen replacement therapy improve sleep quality?" *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1998; 178:1002–9.
- 189. Montplaisir J, Lorrain J, Denesle R, et al. "Sleep in menopause: differential effects of two forms of hormone replacement therapy." *Menopause* 2001; 8:10–16.
- 190. Hughes R, Sack R, Lewy A. "The role of melatonin and circadian phase in agerelated sleep-maintenance insomnia: assessment in a clinical trial of melatonin replacement." *Sleep* 1998; 21:52–68.
- 191. Garfinkel D, Laudon M, Nof D, Zisapel N. "Improvement of sleep quality in elderly people by controlled-release melatonin." *Lancet* 1995; 346:541–44.
- Zisapel N. "The use of melatonin for the treatment of insomnia." *Biol Signals Recept* 1999; 8:84–89.
- 193. Wyatt R. "The serotonin-catecholaminedream bicycle. A clinical study." *Biol Psychiatry* 1972; 5:33–64.

- 194. Guilleminault C, Cathala H, Castaigne P. "Effects of 5-HTP on sleep of a patient with brain stem lesion." *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* 1973; 34:177–84.
- 195. Wyatt R, Zarcone V, Engelman K. "Effects of 5-hydroxytroptophan on the sleep of normal human subjects." *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* 1971; 30:505–9.
- 196. Autret A, Minz M, Bussell B, et al. "Human sleep and 5-HTP. Effects of repeated high doses and of association with benserazide." *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* 1976; 41:408–13.
- 197. Leathwood P, Chauffard F, Heck E, Munoz-Box R. "Aqueous extract of valerian root improves sleep quality in man." *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 1982; 17:65–71.
- 198. Cerny A, Schmid K. "Tolerability and efficacy of valerian/lemon balm in healthy volunteers (a double-blind, placebocontrolled, multicentre study)." *Fitoterapia* 1999; 70:221–28.
- 199. Fahim W, et al. "Effect of *Panax ginseng* on testosterone level and prostate in male rats." *Arch Androl* 1982; 8:261–63.
- 200. Kim C, et al. "Influence of ginseng on mating behavior of male rats." Am J Chin Med 1976; 4:163–68.
- 201. Le Gal M, Cathebras P, Struby K. "Pharmaton capsules in the treatment of functional fatigue: a double-blind study versus placebo evaluated by a new methodology." *Phytother Res* 1996; 10:49–53.
- 202. Ito T, Trant A, Polan M. "A double-blind placebo-controlled study of ArginMax, a nutritional supplement for enhancement of female sexual function." *J Sex Marital Ther* 2001; 541–49.
- 203. Mishra L, Singh B, Dagenais S. "Scientific basis for the therapeutic use of *withania somnifera* (ashwagandha): a review." *Altern Med Rev* 2000; 5 (4): 334–46.
- 204. De Bock K, Eijnde B, Ramaekers M, Hespel P. "Acute *Rhodiola rosea* intake can

improve endurance exercise performance." *Int J Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism* 2004; 14:292–301.

- 205. Gerasimova H. "Effect of *Rhodiola rosea* extract on ovarian functional activity." *Proc* of *Scientific Conference on Endocrinology and Gynecology*. Sverdlovsk, Russia: Siberian Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences, 1970 Sep 15–16; 46–48.
- 206. Meissner H, Kapczynski W, Mscisz A, Lutomski J. "Use of gelatinized Maca in early postmenopausal women—a pilot study." *Int J of Biomedical Science* 2005; 1 (1): 17–19.
- 207. Ferguson D, Steidle C, Singh G, et al. "Randomized, placebo-controlled, double blind, crossover design trial of the efficacy and safety of Zestra for Women in women with and without female sexual arousal disorder." *J Sex Marital Ther* 2003; 29 (Suppl): 33–44.

CHAPTER 13: MENSTRUAL CRAMPS

- 1. Galeao R. "La dysmenorrhea, syndrome multiforme." *Gynecologie* 1974; 25:125.
- Chen C, Cho S, Damokosh A, et al. "Prospective study of exposure to environmental tobacco smoke and dysmenorrhea." *Environ Health Perspect* 2000 Nov; 108 (11): 1019–22.
- Harlow S, Park M. "A longitudinal study of risk factors for the occurrence, duration and severity of menstrual cramps in a cohort of college women." *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1996; 103:1134–42.
- Hirata M, Kumabe K, Inoue Y. "Relationship between the frequency of menstrual pain and bodyweight in female adolescents." *Nippon Koshu Eisei Zasshi* 2002 Jun; 49 (6): 516–24.
- Wang L, Wang X, Wang W, Chen C, Ronnennberg AG, Guang W, Huang A, Fang Z, Zang T, Wang L, Xu X. "Stress

and dysmenorrhoea: a population based prospective study." *Occup Environ Med* 2004 Dec; 61 (12): 1021–26.

- 6. Chesney M, Tasto D. "The effectiveness of behavior modification with spasmodic and congestive dysmenorrhea." *Behav Res Ther* 1975; 13:245–53.
- Balick L, Elfner L, May J, Moore D. "Biofeedback treatment of dysmenorrhea." *Biofeedback and Self-Regulation* 1982; 7 (4): 499–520.
- Fujiwara T. "Skipping breakfast is associated with dysmenorrhea in young women in Japan." *Int J Food Sci Nutr* 2003 Nov; 54 (6): 505–9.
- Balbi C, Musone R, Menditto A, Di Prisco L, Cassese E, D'Ajello M, Ambrosio D, Cardonel A. "Influence of menstrual factors and dietary habits on menstrual pain in adolescence age." *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2000 Aug; 91 (2): 143–48.
- Barnard ND, Scialli AR, Hurlock D, Bertron P. "Diet and sex-hormone binding globulin, dysmenorrhea, and premenstrual symptoms." *Obstet Gynecol* 2000 Feb; 95 (2): 245–50.
- Harel L, et al. "Supplementation with omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in the management of dysmenorrhea in adolescents." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1996; 174 (4): 1335–38.
- 12. Nagata C, Hirokawa K, Shimizu N, Shimizu H. "Associations of menstrual pain with intakes of soy, fat and dietary fiber in Japanese women." *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2005 Jan; 59 (1): 88–92.
- Gokhale LB. "Curative treatment of primary (spasmodic) dysmenorrhoea." *Indian J Med Res* 1996 Apr; 103:227–31.
- 14. Hudgins A. "Niacin for dysmenorrhea." Am Pract Digest Treat 1952; 3:892–93.
- 15. Hudgins A. "Vitamins P, C and niacin for dysmenorrhea therapy." *West J Surg Gynecol* 1954; 62:610–11.

- Butler E, McKnight E. "Vitamin E in the treatment of primary dysmenorrhea." *Lancet* 1955; 1:844–47.
- Ziaei S, Zakeri M, Kazemnejad A. "A randomised controlled trial of vitamin E in the treatment of primary dysmenorrhoea." *BJOG* 2005 Apr; 112 (4): 466–69.
- Penland J, Johnson P. "Dietary calcium and manganese effects on menstrual cycle symptoms." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1993; 168:1417–23.
- Sampalis F, Bunea R, Pelland MF, Kowalski O, Duguet N, Dupuis S. "Evaluation of the effects of Neptune Krill Oil on the management of premenstrual syndrome and dysmenorrhea." *Altern Med Rev* 2003 May; 8 (2): 171–79.
- Sardyle R. "Dysmenorrhea and the pineal gland." Letter to the editor. *Intern J Neurosc* 1992; 65:177–81.
- Wetterberg L, Arendt J, Paunier L, et al. "Human serum melatonin changes during the menstrual cycle." *J Clin Endocrin Metab* 1976; 42:185–88.
- 22. Hertz-Eshel M, Rahamimoff R. "Effect of melatonin on uterine contractility." *Life Sc* 1965; 4:1367–72.
- 23. Kavaliers M, Hirst M, Teskey G. "Aging, opioid analgesia and the pineal gland." *Life Sc* 1983; 32:2279–87.
- MacPhee A, Cole F, Rice F. "The effect of melatonin on steroidogenesis by the human ovary in vitro." *J Clin Endocrin Metab* 1975; 40:688–96.
- Gimeno M, Landa A, Speziale N, et al. "Melatonin blocks in vitro generation of prostaglandin by the uterus and hypothalamus." *Eur J Pharm* 1980; 62:309–17.
- Tseng Y, Chen C, Yang Y. "Rose tea for relief of primary dysmenorrhea in adolescents: a randomized controlled trial in Taiwan." *J Midwifery Womens Health* 2005 Sep–Oct; 50 (5): e51–e57.

- Han SH, Hur MH, Buckle J, Choi J, Lee MS. "Effect of aromatherapy on symptoms of dysmenorrhea in college students: a randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial." *J Altern Complement Med* 2006 Jul–Aug; 12 (6): 535–41.
- Mennini T, et al. "In vitro study on the interaction of extracts and pure compounds from *Valeriana officinalis* roots with GABA, benzodiazepine and barbiturate receptors in rat brain." *Fitoterapia* 1993; 54:291–300.
- Hazelhoff B, Malingre M, Meijer D. "Antispasmodic effects of *Valeriana* compounds: an in-vivo and in-vitro study on the guinea-pig ileum." *Arch Int Pharmacodyn* 1982; 257:274–87.
- Felter H. The Eclectic Materia Medica, Pharmacology and Therapeutics. Portland, OR: Eclectic Medical Publications, 1985; 694.
- Jarboe C, Schmidt C, Nicholson J, Zirvi K. "Uterine relaxant properties of *Vibernum.*" *Nat* 1966 Nov; 19:837.
- Evans W, Harne W, Krantz J. "A uterine principle from *Viburnum prunifolium*." (Journal unknown). Dept. of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, U. Maryland. 1942; 174–77.
- 33. Haman J. "Exercises in dysmenorrhea." Am J Obstet Gynecol 1945; 49:755.
- 34. Golub L, et al. "Therapeutic exercise for teen-age dysmenorrhea." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1958; 76:670.
- 35. Golub L, Menduke H, Lang W. "Exercise and dysmenorrhea in young teenagers: a 3-year study." *Obstet Gynecol* 1968; 32:508.
- Golub L. "A new exercise for dysmenorrhea." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1959; 78:152.
- Israel R, Sutton M, O'Brien K . "Effects of aerobic training on primary dysmenorrhea symptomatology in college females." *J Am Coll Health* 1985; 33:241.

- Metheny W, Smith R. "The relationship among exercise, stress, and primary dysmenorrhea." J Behav Med 1989; 12:569.
- 39. Choi P, Salmon P. "Symptom changes across the menstrual cycle in competitive sportswomen, exercisers and sedentary women." *Br J Clin Psychol* 1995; 34:447.

CHAPTER 14: OSTEOPOROSIS

- Gamble C. "Osteoporosis: making the diagnosis in patients at risk for fracture." *Geriatrics* 1995; 50:24–33.
- Barrett-Connor E, Wehren L, Siris E, et al. "Osteoporosis and fracture risk in women of different ethnic groups." *J Bone Miner Res* 2005; 20:185–94.
- Looker A, Orwoll E, Johnston C Jr, et al. "Prevalence of low femoral bone density in older U.S. adults from NHANES III." *J Bone Miner Res* 1997; 12:16–23.
- 4. "Consensus Development Conference: prophylaxis and treatment of osteoporosis." *Osteoporos Int* 1991:114–17.
- Melton L III, Thamer M, Ray N, et al. "Fractures attributable to osteoporosis: report from the National Osteoporosis Foundation." *J Bone Miner Res* 1997; 12:16–23.
- Kanis J, et al. "The diagnosis of osteoporosis." J Bone Miner Res 1994; 9:1137–41.
- Siris E, Chen Y, Abbott T, et al. "Bone mineral density thresholds for pharmacological intervention to prevent fractures." *Arch Intern Med* 2004; 164:1108–12.
- Cummings S, Black D, Nevitt M, et al. "Bone density at various sites is predictive of hip fractures." *Lancet* 1993; 341:72–75.
- Melton L III. "Epidemiology of fractures." In Riggs B, Melton L III, eds., Osteoporosis: Etiology, Diagnosis, and Management. New York: Raven Press, 1988; 133–54.
- Johnell O, Kanis J. "Epidemiology of osteoporotic fractures." Osteoporosis Int 2005; 16 (Suppl 2): S3–S7.

- National Osteoporosis Foundation. *The Older Person's Guide to Osteoporosis*. Washington, DC: National Osteoporosis Foundation, 1991.
- U.S. Congress Office of Technology Assessment. *Hip Fracture Outcomes in People Age 50 and Over—Background Paper*. Publication OTA-BP-H-120. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1994.
- Lindsay R, Silverman S, Cooper C, et al. "Risk of new vertebral fracture in the year following a fracture." *JAMA* 2001; 285:320–23.
- Klotzbuecher C, Ros P, Landsman P, et al. "Patients with prior fractures have an increased risk of future fractures: a summary of the literature and statistical synthesis." *J Bone Miner Res* 2000; 15:721–39.
- 15. Silverman S, Minshall M, Shen W, et al. for the Health-Related Quality of Life Subgroup of the Multiple Outcomes of Raloxifene Evaluation Study. "The relationship of health-related quality of life to prevalent and incident vertebral fractures in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis: results from the Multiple Outcomes of Raloxifene Evaluation Study." *Arthritis Rheum* 2001; 44: 2611–19.
- Gold D. "The nonskeletal consequences of osteoporotic fractures: physiologic and social outcomes." *Rheum Dis Clin North Am* 2001; 27:255–62.
- 17. Matkovic V, et al. "Osteoporosis and epidemiology fractures in Croatia. An international comparison." *Henry Ford Hosp Med J* 1980; 28:116–26.
- Matkovic V, Kilsovic D, Ilich J. "Epidemiology of fractures." In *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics of North America*. Philadelphia: Saunders Publishing Co., 1995; 6:415–39.
- 19. National Institutes of Health. "NIH Consensus Development Panel on Optimal

Calcium Intake. Optimal intake." *JAMA* 1994; 272:1942–48.

- Recker R, Lappe J, Davies K, Heaney R. "Characterization of perimenopausal bone loss: a prospective study." *J Bone Miner Res* 2000; 15:1965–73.
- Pouilles J, Tremollieres F, Bonneu M, Ribot C. "Influence of early age at menopause on vertebral bone mass." *J Bone Miner Res* 1994; 9:311–15.
- 22. Slemenda C, Christian J, Williams C, et al. "Genetic determinants of bone mass in adult women: a reevaluation of the twin model and the potential importance of gene interaction on heritability estimates." *J Bone Miner Res* 1991; 6:561–67.
- 23. Pocock N, Eisman J, Hopper J, et al. "Genetic determinants of bone mass in adults: a twin study." *J Clin Invest* 1987; 80:706–710.
- Bauer D, Browner W, Cauley J, et al. "Factors associated with appendicular bone mass in older women: the Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group." Ann Intern Med 1993; 118:657–665.
- 25. Seeman E, Hopper J, Bach L, et al. "Reduced bone mass in daughters of women with osteoporosis." *N Engl J Med* 1989; 320:554–58.
- Evans R, et al. "Bone mass is low in relatives of osteoporotic patients." Ann Intern Med 1988; 109:870–73.
- Rigoti N, Nussbaum S, Herzog D, Neer R. "Osteoporosis in women with anorexia nervosa." N Engl J Med 1984; 311:1601–6.
- Nieves J, Golden A, Siris E, Kelsey J, Lindsay R. "Teenage and current calcium intake are related to bone mineral density of the hip and forearm in women aged 30–39 years." *Am J Epidemiol* 1995; 141:342–51.
- 29. Slemenda S, et al. "Predictors of bone mass in perimenopausal women: a prospective study of clinical data using

photon absorptiometry." Ann Intern Med 1990; 112:96–101.

- Siminoski K, Jiang G, Adachi J, et al. "Accuracy of height loss during prospective monitoring for detection of incident vertebral fractures." *Osteoporos Int* 2005; 16:403–10.
- Lindsay R, Silverman S, Cooper C, et al. "Risk of new vertebral fracture in the year following a fracture." *JAMA* 2001; 285:320–23.
- 32. Van der Voort D, Geusens P, Dinant G. "Risk factors for osteoporosis related to their outcome: fractures." *Osteoporos Int* 2001; 12:630–38.
- 33. Pfeifer M, Pollaehne W, Minne H. "Ultrasound analyses of the calcaneus predict relative risk of the presence of at least one vertebral fracture and reflect different physical qualities of bone indifferent regions of the skeleton." *Horm Metab Res* 1997; 29:76–79.
- 34. Ensrud K, Eqing S, Stone K, et al. for the Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. "Intentional and unintentional weight loss increase bone loss and hip fracture risk in older women." J Am Geriatr Soc 2003; 51:1740–47.
- 35. Licata A, Bou E, Bartter F, West F. "Acute effects of dietary protein on calcium metabolism in patients with osteoporosis." *J Geron* 1981; 36:14–19.
- 36. Hannan M, Tucker K, Dawson-Hughes B, et al. "Effect of dietary protein on bone loss in elderly men and women: the Framingham Osteoporosis Study." J Bone Miner Res 2000; 15:2504–12.
- Rapuri P, Gallagher J, Haynatzka V. "Protein intake: effects on bone mineral density and the rate of bone loss in elderly women." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2003; 77:1517–25.
- 38. Tkatch L, Rapin C, Rizzoli R, et al. "Benefits of oral protein supplementation in eld-

erly patients with fracture of the proximal femur." *J Am Coll Nutr* 1992; 11:519–25.

- Ellis F, Holesh S, Ellis J. "Incidence of osteoporosis in vegetarians and omnivores." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1972; 25:55–58.
- 40. Marsh A, et al. "Cortical bone density of adult lacto-ovo-vegetarian and omnivorous women." *J Am Diet Assoc* 76:148–51.
- 41. Marsh A, et al. "Bone mineral mass in adult lacto-ovo-vegetarian and omnivo-rous males." *Am J Clin Nutr* 37:453–56.
- 42. Mazariegos-Ramos E, et al. "Consumption of soft drinks with phosphoric acid as a risk factor for the development of hypocalcemia in children: a case-control study." *J Pediatr* 1995; 126:940–42.
- 43. Thom J, et al. "The influence of refined carbohydrate on urinary calcium excretion." *Br J Urol* 1978; 50:459–64.
- 44. Silver J, et al. "Sodium-dependent idiopathic hypercalciuria in renal-stone formers." *Lancet* 1983; 2:484–86.
- Arjmandi B, Alekel L, Hollis B, Amin D, Stacwicz-Sapuntzakis M, Guo P, Kukreja S. "Dietary soybean protein prevents bone loss in an ovariectomized rat model of osteoporosis." *J Nutr* 1996; 126: 161–67.
- Blair H, Jordan S, Peterson T, Barnes S. "Variable effects of tyrosine kinase inhibitors on avian osteoclastic activity and reduction of bone loss in ovariectomized rats." *J Cell Biochem* 1996; 61: 629–37.
- 47. Erdman J, Stillman R, Lee K, Potter S. "Short-term effects of soybean isoflavones on bone in postmenopausal women." Program and Abstract Book, Second International Symposium on the Role of Soy in Preventing and Treating Chronic Disease. Brussels, Belgium, 1996.
- 48. Greendale G, FitzGerald G, Huang M, et al. "Dietary soy isoflavones and bone mineral density: results from the study of

women's health across the nation." *Am J Epidemiol* 2002; 155 (8): 746–54.

- 49. Somekawa Y, Chiguchi M, Ishibashi T, Takeshi A. "Soy intake related to menopausal symptoms, serum lipids, and bone mineral density in postmenopausal Japanese women." *Obstet Gynecol* 2001; 97: 109–15.
- Nieves J, Komar L, Cosman F, Lindsay R. "Calcium potentiates the effect of estrogen and calcitonin on bone mass: review and analysis." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1998; 67: 18–24.
- 51. Van Dokkum W, Cloughley F, Hulshof K, Oosterveen L. "Effect of variations in fat and linoleic acid intake on the calcium, magnesium and iron balance of young men." *Ann Nutr Metab* 1983; 27:361–69.
- 52. Buck A, Smellie W, Jenkins A, Meddings R, James A, Horrobin D. "The prevention of experimental nephrocalcinosis with eicosapentaenoic acid and evening primrose oil." In Ryall R, ed., *Urolithiasis 2*. New York: Plenum Press, 1994; 575–80.
- 53. Felson D, Kiel D, Anderson J, et al. "Alcohol consumption and hip fractures: the Framingham study." *Am J Epidemiol* 1988; 128:1102–10.
- 54. Kanis J, Johansson H, Johnell O, et al. "Alcohol intake as a risk factor for fracture." *Osteoporos Int* 2005; 16:737–42.
- 55. Rapuri P, Gallagher J, Balhorn K, Ryschon K. "Alcohol intake and bone metabolism in elderly women." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2000; 72:1206–13.
- Felson D, Kiel D, Anderson J, Kannel W. "Alcohol consumption and hip fractures: the Framingham Study." *Am J Epidemiol* 1988; 128:1102–10.
- 57. Slemenda C, Hui S, Longcope C, et al. "Cigarette smoking, obesity, and bone mass." *J Bone Miner Res* 1989; 4:737–41.
- 58. Baron J, Farahmand B, Weiderpass E, et al. "Cigarette smoking, alcohol consump-

tion, and risk for hip fracture in women." *Arch Intern Med* 2001; 161:983–88.

- Rapuri P, Gallagher J, Balhorn K, Ryschon K. "Smoking and bone metabolism in elderly women." *Bone* 2000; 27: 429–36.
- 60. Krall E, Dawson-Hughes B. "Smoking increases bone loss and decreases intestinal calcium absorption." *J Bone Miner Res* 1999; 14:215–20.
- Jensen J, Christiansen C, Rodbro P. "Cigarette smoking, serum estrogens and bone loss during hormone replacement therapy early after menopause." N Engl J Med 1985; 313:973–75
- 62. Slemenda C, Hui S, Longcope C, et al. "Cigarette smoking, obesity, and bone mass." *J Bone Miner Res* 1989; 4:737–41.
- Kato I, Toniolo P, Akhmedkhanov A, et al. "Prospective study of factors influencing the onset of natural menopause." *J Clin Epidemiol* 1998; 51:1271–76.
- Krall E, Dawson-Hughes B. "Smoking and bone loss among postmenopausal women." *J Bone Miner Res* 1991; 6:331–38.
- 65. Jackson R, LaCroix A, Gass M, et al., for the Women's Health Initiative Investigators. "Calcium plus vitamin D supplementation and the risk of fractures." *N Engl J Med* 2006; 354:669–83.
- 66. Chapuy M, Arlot M, Duboeuf F, et al.
 "Vitamin D₃ and calcium to prevent hip fractures in elderly women." *N Engl J Med* 1992; 327:1637–42.
- 67. Cumming R. "Calcium intake and bone mass: a quantitative review of the evidence." *Calcif Tissue Int* 1990; 47: 194–201.
- National Institutes of Health. "NIH Consensus Development Panel on Optimal Calcium Intake. Optimal calcium intake." JAMA 1994; 272:1942–48.
- 69. Standing Committee on the Scientific Evaluation of Dietary Reference Intakes,

Institute of Medicine. *Dietary Reference Intakes: Calcium, Phosphorus, Magnesium, Vitamin D, and Fluoride*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 1997.

- Bourgoin B, Evans D, Cornett J, et al. "Lead content in 70 brands of dietary calcium supplements." *Am J Public Health* 1993; 83:1155–60.
- Curhan G, Willett W, Speizer F, et al. "Comparison of dietary calcium with supplemental calcium and other nutrients as factors affecting the risk for kidney stones in women." *Ann Intern Med* 1997; 126:497–504.
- 72. Wood R, Zheng J. "High dietary calcium intakes reduce zinc absorption and balance in humans." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1997; 65:1803–9.
- Wood R, Zheng J. "The acute effect of calcium supplementation on zinc absorption." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1997; 65 (6): 1803.
- 74. Atik O. "Zinc and senile osteoporosis." J Am Geriatr Soc 1983; 31:790–91.
- Frithiof L, et al. "The relationship between marginal bone loss and serum zinc levels." *Acta Med Scand* 1980; 207: 67–70.
- 76. Grossman M, Kirsner J, Gillespie K. "Basal and histalog-stimulated gastric secretion in control subjects and in patients with peptic ulcer or gastric cancer." *Gastroent* 1963; 45:15–26.
- Recker R. "Calcium absorption and achlorhydria." N Engl J Med 1985; 313: 70–73.
- Porthouse J, Cockayne S, King C, et al. "Randomised controlled trial of calcium and supplementation with cholecalciferol (vitamin D₃) for prevention of fractures in primary care." *Br Med J* 2005; 330: 1003–9.
- 79. Gran A, Avenell A, Campbell M, et al., for the RECORD Trial group. "Oral vitamin D₃ and calcium for secondary

prevention of low-trauma fractures in elderly people (Randomised Evaluation of Calcium OR vitamin D, RECORD): a randomised placebo-controlled trial." *Lancet* 2005; 365:1621–28.

- Dawson-Hughes B, Harris S, Krall E, et al. "Effect of calcium and vitamin D supplementation on bone density in men and women 65 years of age or older." N Engl J Med 1997; 337 (10): 670–76.
- LeBoff M, Kohlmeier L, Hurwitz S, et al. "Occult vitamin D deficiency in postmenopausal US women with acute hip fracture." *JAMA* 1999; 281 (16): 1505–11.
- 82. Harwood R, Sahota O, Gaynor K, et al. "A randomized, controlled comparison of different calcium and vitamin D supplementation regimens in elderly women after hip fracture: the Nottingham Neck of Femur (NoNOF) Study." Age Ageing 2004; 33:45–51.
- Bischoff-Ferrari H, Willett W, Wong J, et al. "Fracture prevention with vitamin D supplementation: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials." *JAMA* 2005; 293:2257–64.
- 84. Chapuy M, Arlot M, Duboeuf F, et al. "Vitamin D_3 and calcium to prevent hip fractures in the elderly women." *N Engl J Med* 1992; 327:1637–42.
- Sorensen O, Lund B, Saltin B, et al. "Myopathy in bone loss of aging: improvement by treatment with 1 alphahydroxycholecalciferol and calcium." *Clin Sci (Colch)* 1979; 56:157–61.
- 86. Pfeifer M, Begerow B, Minne H, et al. "Effects of a short-term vitamin D and calcium supplementation on body sway and secondary hyperparathyroidism in elderly women." *J Bone Miner Res* 2000; 15:1113–18.
- 87. Bischoff H, Stahelin H, Dick W, et al. "Effects of vitamin D and calcium

supplementation on falls: a randomized controlled trial." *J Bone Miner Res* 2003; 18: 343–51.

- Bischoff-Ferrari H, Dawson-Hughes B, Willett W, et al. "Effect of vitamin D on falls." *JAMA* 2004; 291 (16): 1999–2006.
- Flicker L, et al. "Should older people in residential care receive vitamin D to prevent falls? Results of a randomized trial." *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2005 Nov; 53:1881–88.
- Blumenthal N, Betts F, Posner A. "Stabilization of amorphous calcium phosphate by Mg and ATP." *Calcif Tis Res* 1977; 23: 245–50.
- Cohen L, Kitzes R. "Infrared spectroscopy and magnesium content of bone mineral in osteoporotic women." *Isr J Med Sci* 1981; 17:1123–25.
- 92. Stendig-Lindberg G, Tepper R, Leichter I. "Trabecular bone density in a two-year controlled trial of peroral magnesium in osteoporosis." *Magnes Res* 1993; 6:155–63.
- 93. Abraham G, Grewal H. "A total dietary program emphasizing magnesium instead of calcium. Effect on the mineral density of calcaneous bone in postmenopausal women on hormone therapy." J Reprod Med 1990; 35:503–7.
- Spencer H, Fuller H, Norris C, Williams D. "Effect of magnesium on the intestinal absorption of calcium in man." *J Am Coll Nutr* 1994; 13:485–92.
- 95. Leach R Jr, Meunster A, Wien E. "I. Studies on the role of manganese in bone formation. II. Effect upon chondroitin sulfate synthesis in chick epiphyseal cartilage." Arch Biochem Biophy 1969; 133: 22–28.
- Nielsen F. "Boron—an overlooked element of potential nutritional importance." *Nutr Today* 1988 Jan/Feb: 4–7.
- 97. Calhoun N, Smith J Jr, Becker K. "The effects of zinc on ectopic bone formation." *Oral Surg* 1975; 39:698–706.

- Yamaguchi M, Sakashita T. "Enhancement of vitamin D₃ effect on bone metabolism in weaning rats orally administered zinc sulphate." *Acta Endocrinol* 1986; III:285–88.
- 99. Follis R Jr, et al. "Studies on copper metabolism XVIII. Skeletal changes associated with copper deficiency in swine." *Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp* 1955; 97:405–9.
- Brattstrom L, Hultbnerg B, Mardebo J. "Folic acid responsive postmenopausal homocysteinemia." *Metab* 1985; 34: 1073–77.
- 101. Van Meurs J, Dhonukshe-Rutten R, Pluijm S, et al. "Homocysteine levels and the risk of osteoporotic fractures." N Engl J Med 2004; 350:2042–90.
- 102. Barber G, Spaeth G. "Pyridoxine therapy in homocystinuria." *Lancet* 1967; 1:337.
- 103. Dodds R, et al. "Abnormalities in fracture healing induced by vitamin B₆-deficiency in rats." *Bone* 1986; 7:489–95.
- Silberberg R, Levy B. "Skeletal growth in pyridoxine deficient mice." *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 1948; 67:259–63.
- Benke P, Fleshood H, Pitot H. "Osteoporotic bone disease in the pyridoxinedeficient rat." *Biochem Med* 1972; 6: 526–35.
- Hyams D, Ross E. "Scurvy, megaloblastic anaemia and osteoporosis." Br J Clin Pract 1963; 17:334–40.
- 107. Kanai T, Takagi T, Masuhiro K, Nakamura M, Iwata M, Saji F. "Serum vitamin K level and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women." *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 1997; 56:25–30.
- 108. Kanai T, Takagi T, Masuhiro K, Nakamura M, Iwata M, Saji F. "Serum vitamin K level and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women." *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 1997; 56:25–30.
- 109. Cockayne S, Adamson J, Lanham-New S, Shearer MJ, Gilbody S, Torgerson DJ.

"Vitamin K and the prevention of fractures: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials." *Arch Intern Med* 2006; 166:1256–61.

- 110. Ibid.
- 111. Borland V, Jackson C. "Effects of a fat free diet on the structure of the kidney in rats." *Arch Pathol* 1931; 11:687–708.
- Ramalingaswami V, Sinclair H. "The relation of deficiencies of vitamin A and of essential fatty acids to follicular hyperkeratosis in the rat." *Br J Derm* 1953; 65: 1–22.
- 113. Alfin-Slater R, Bernick S. "Changes in tissue lipids and tissue histology resulting from essential fatty acid deficiency in rats." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1958; 6:613–24.
- 114. Biran L, Bartley W, Carter C, Renshaw A. "Studies on essential fatty acid deficiency. Effect of the deficiency on the lipids in various rat tissues and the influence of dietary supplementation with essential fatty acids on deficient rats." *Biochem J* 1964; 93:492–98.
- 115. Filipponi P, Mannarelli C, Pacifici R, et al. "Evidence for a prostaglandinmediated bone resorptive mechanism in subjects with fasting hypercalciuria." *Calcif Tissue Int* 1988; 43:61–66.
- Hirayama H, Ikegami K, Shimomura T, et al. "The possible role of prostaglandin E2 in urinary stone formation." *J Urol* 1988; 139:549–51.
- 117. Henriquez-la Roche, C, Rodriquez-Iturbe B, Herrera J, Parra G. "Increased urinary excretion of prostaglandin E2 in patients with idiopathic hypercalciuria is a primary phenomenon." *Clin Sci* 1988; 75: 581–87.
- 118. Claasen N, Potgieter M, Seppa M, et al. "Supplemented gamma-linolenic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid influence bone status in young male rats: effects on free urinary collagen cross-links, total urinary

hydroxyproline, and bone calcium content." *Bone* 1995; 16 (Suppl): 385S–392S.

- 119. Baber R, Bligh P, Fulcher G, et al. "The effect of an isoflavone dietary supplement (Rimostil) on serum lipids, forearm bone density and endometrial thickness in post-menopausal women." Presented at the 10th Annual Meeting of the North American Menopause Society, New York, September 23–25, 1999.
- Atkinson C, Compston J, Day N, et al. "The effects of phytoestrogen isoflavones on bone density in women: a doubleblind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial." *Am J Clin Nutr* 2004; 79 (2): 326–33.
- 121. Gennari C, et al. "Effect of chronic treatment with Ipriflavone in postmenopausal women with low bone mass." *Calcif Tissue Int* 1997; 61:519–22.
- Alexanderson P, Toussaint A, Christiansen C, et al. "Ipriflavone in the treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis." *JAMA* 2001; 285 (II): 1482–88.
- 123. Firooznia H, Golimbi C, Rafii M, Schwartz M. "Rate of spinal trabecular bone loss in normal perimenopausal women: CT measurement." *Radiol* 1986; 161:735–38.
- 124. Riggs B, Wahner H, Melton L, et al. "Rates of bone loss in the appendicular and axial skeleton of women: evidence of substantial vertebral bone loss before menopause." J Clin Invest 1986; 77: 1487–91.
- 125. Krohner B, Nielson S. "Bone mineral content of the lumbar spine in normal and osteoporotic women: cross-sectional and longitudinal studies." *Clin Sci* 1982; 62:329–36.
- 126. Marcus R, Kosek J, Plefferbaum A, Homing S. "Age-related loss of trabecular bone in premenopausal women: a biopsy study." *Calc Tiss Int* 1983; 35:406–9.

- 127. Baran D, Sorensen A, Grimes J, et al. "Dietary modification with dairy products for preventing vertebral bone loss in premenopausal women: a three-year prospective study." J Clin Endocr Metab 1990; 70:264–70.
- 128. Prior J, Vigna Y, Schechter M, Burgess A. "Spinal bone loss and ovulatory disturbances." *N Engl J Med* 1990; 323: 1221–27.
- Prior J. "Progesterone as a bone-trophic hormone." *Endocr Rev* 1990; 11 (2): 386–98.
- Adachi J, Anderson C, Murray T, Prior J.
 "Effect of progestins on bone." J Soc Obstet Gynecol of Can 1991; 13:7.
- 131. Prior J. "Trabecular bone loss is associated with abnormal luteal phase length: endogenous progesterone deficiency may be a risk factor for osteoporosis." *Int Proc J* 1989; 1:70–73.
- 132. Prior J, Vigna Y, Lentle B, et al. "Cyclic progestin and calcium increase spinal bone density in women athletes with menstrual cycle disturbances." *Endocrinol Soc Abst* 1991; 73:450.
- 133. Wren B, Champion S, Willetts K, et al. "Transdermal progesterone and its effect on vasomotor symptoms, blood lipid levels, bone metabolic markers, moods, and quality of life for postmenopausal." *Menopause* 2003; 10 (1): 13–18.
- 134. Burry K, Patton P, Hermsmayer K.
 "Percutaneous absorption of progesterone in postmenopausal women treated with transdermal oestrogen." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1999; 180:1504–11.
- 135. Carey B, Carey A, Patel S, Carter G, Studd J. "A study to evaluate serum and urinary hormone levels following short and long term administration of two regimens of progesterone cream in post menopausal women." *BJOG* 2000; 107: 722–26.

- 136. Leonetti H, Longo S, Anasti J. "Transdermal progesterone cream for vasomotor symptoms and post menopausal bone loss." *Obstet Gynecol* 1999; 94:225–28.
- Writing group for the PEPI Trial. "Effects of hormone therapy on bone mineral density. Results from the PEPI Trial." *JAMA* 1996; 276 (17): 1389–96.
- 138. Souza M, Prestwood K, et al. "A comparison of the effect of synthetic and micronized hormone replacement therapy on bone mineral density and biochemical markers of bone metabolism." *Menopause: The J North Amer Meno Soc* 1996; 3 (3): 140–48.
- Ettinger B, Genent H, Steiger P, Madvig P. "Low-dosage micronized 17 betaestradiol prevents bone loss in postmenopausal women." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1992; 166:479–88.
- 140. Minaguchi H, Usmura T, Shirasu K, et al. "Effect of estriol on bone loss in postmenopausal Japanese women: a multicenter prospective open study." J Obstet Gyn Res 1996; 22:259–65.
- Nozaki M, Hashimoto K, Inoue Y, et al. "Usefulness of estriol for the treatment of bone loss in postmenopausal women." *Nippon Sanka Fujinka Gakkai Zasshi* 1996; 48:83–88.
- 142. Nishibe A, Morimoto S, Hirota K, et al. "Effect of estriol and bone mineral density of lumbar vertebrae in elderly and postmenopausal women." *Nippon Ronen Igakkai Zasshi* 1996; 33:353–59.
- Lindsay R, Hart D, Maclean A, et al. "Bone loss during oestriol therapy in postmenopausal women." *Maturitas* 1979; 1:279–85.
- Heaney R. "Bone mass, nutrition, and other lifestyle factors." *Nutr Rev* 1996; 54:53.
- Bassey E. "Exercise in primary prevention of osteoporosis in women." *Ann Rheum Dis* 1995; 54:861.

- 146. "American College of Sports Medicine: ACSM position on osteoporosis and exercise." *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1995; 27:i–vii.
- 147. Suominen H. "Bone mineral density and long-term exercise: an overview of crosssectional athlete studies." Sports Med 1993; 16:316.
- 148. Chow R, Harrison J, Notarius C. "Effect of two randomised exercise programmes on bone mass in healthy postmenopausal women." *Br Med J* 1987; 295:1441.
- 149. Pruitt L, Taaffe D, Marcus D. "Effects of a one-year high-intensity versus lowintensity resistance training program on bone mineral density in older women." *J Bone Miner Res* 1995; 10:1788.
- 150. Dook J, et al. "Exercise and bone mineral density in mature female athletes." *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1997; 29:291.
- 151. Cassel C, Benedict M, Specker B. "Bone mineral density in elite 7 to 9 yr-old female gymnasts and swimmers." *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1996; 28:1243.
- 152. Dyson K, et al. "Gymnastic training and bone density in pre-adolescent females." *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1997; 29:443.
- 153. McCartney N, et al. "Long-term resistance training in the elderly: effects on dynamic strength, exercise capacity, muscle, and bone." *J Gerontol* 1995; 50A:B97.
- 154. Rockwell J, et al. "Weight training decreases vertebral bone density in premenopausal women: a prospective study." *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1990; 71:988.
- 155. Gunnes M, Lehmann E. "Physical activity and dietary constituents as predictors of forearm cortical and trabecular bone pain in healthy children and adolescents: a prospective study." *Acta Paediata* 1996; 85:19.
- 156. Hirota T, et al. "Effect of diet and lifestyle on bone mass in Asian young women." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1992; 55:1168.

- 157. Recker R, et al. "Bone gain in young adult women." *JAMA* 1992; 268:2403.
- 158. Prince R, et al. "The effects of calcium supplementation (milk powder or tablets) and exercise on bone density in postmenopausal women." *J Bone Miner Res* 1995; 10:1068.
- 159. Grove K, Londeree B. "Bone density in postmenopausal women: high impact vs low impact exercise." *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1992; 24:1190.
- Bloomfield S, et al. "Non-weightbearing exercise may increase lumbar spine bone mineral density in healthy postmenopausal women." *Am J Phys Med Rehab* 1993; 72:204.
- 161. Suleiman S, et al. "Effect of calcium intake and physical activity on bone mass and turnover in healthy, white, postmenopausal women." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1997; 66:937.
- 162. Campbell A, et al. "Randomised controlled trial of a general practice programme on home based exercise to prevent falls in elderly women." *Br Med J* 1997; 315:1065.
- Bouxsein M, Marcus R. "Overview of exercise and bone mass." *Rheum Dis Clinics North Am: Osteoporosis* 1994 Aug; 20 (3): 787–802.
- Erickson S, Sevier T, Christie D. "Osteoporosis in active women." *Phys Sports Med* 1997; 25:61.
- 165. Johnson T. "Age-related differences in isometric and dynamic strength and endurance." *Phys Ther* 1982; 62:985.
- Rutherford O, Jones D. "The relationship of muscle and bone loss and activity levels with age in women." *Age Ageing* 1992; 21:286.
- Lane N, et al. "Long-distance running, bone density, and osteoarthritis." *JAMA* 1986; 255:1147.
- Cooper C, et al. "Childhood growth, physical activity, and peak bone mass in women." J Bone Miner Res 1995; 10:940.

- 169. Jaglal S, Kreiger N, Carlington G. "Post and recent physical activity and risk of hip fractures." *Am J Epidemiol* 1993; 138:107.
- Vuori I. "Peak bone mass and physical activity: a short review." *Nutr Rev* 1996; 54: S11.
- 171. Snow-Harter C, Bouxsein M, Lewis B, et al. "Effects of resistance and endurance exercise on bone mineral status of young women: a randomized exercise intervention trial." *J Bone Miner Res* 1992; 18:761–69.
- 172. Kelley G, Kelley K, Tran Z. "Exercise and lumbar spine bone mineral density in postmenopausal women: a meta-analysis of individual patient data." *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2002; 57:599–604.
- 173. Notelovitz M, Martin D, Tesar R, et al. "Estrogen therapy and variable-resistance weight training increase bone mineral in surgically menopausal women." *J Bone Miner Res* 1991; 6:583–90.
- 174. Robertson M, Campbell A, Gardner M, Devlin N. "Preventing injuries in older people by preventing falls: a meta-analysis of individual-level data." *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2002; 50:905–11.

CHAPTER 15: PELVIC INFLAMMATORY DISEASE

- 1. Washington A, Aral S, Wolner-Hanssen P, et al. "Assessing risk for pelvic inflammatory disease and its sequelae." *JAMA* 1991; 266:2581.
- Grimes D. "Intrauterine devices and pelvic inflammatory disease: recent developments." *Contraception* 1987; 36:97.
- 3. Ness R, Keder L, Soper D, et al. "Oral contraception and the recognition of endometritis." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1997; 176:580.
- 4. Wolner-Hanseen P, Eschenback D, Paavonen J, et al. "Association between vaginal douching and acute pelvic inflammatory disease." *JAMA* 1990; 263:1936.

5. Bauer R, Wagner H. "Echinacea species as potential immunostimulatory drugs." *Econ Med Plant Res* 1991; 5:253–321.

CHAPTER 16: PREGNANCY

- Balaskas, J. Preparing for Birth with Yoga. Rockport, MA: Element, Inc., 1994; 37.
- Barnes B, Bradley SG. *Planning for a Healthy Baby*. London: Ebury Press, 1990.
- Price WA. Nutrition and Physical Degeneration, 50th anniv. ed. New Canaan, CT: Keats Publishing, Inc., 1989.
- Strohecker J. (exec. ed.). Alternative Medicine: The Definitive Guide. Tiburon, CA: Future Medicine Publishing, Inc., 1994; 795.
- Dostälovä L. "Correlation of the vitamin status between mother and newborn during delivery." *Dev Pharmacol Ther* 1982; 4 (Suppl): 45–57.
- Mulinare J, et al. "Periconceptional use of multivitamins and the occurrence of neural tube defects." *JAMA* 1988; 260 (21): 3141–45.
- Shojania A. "Folic acid and vitamin B₁₂ deficiency in pregnancy and in the neonatal period." *Clin Perinatol* 1984; 11: 433–59.
- Miller A, Kelly G. "Methionine and homocysteine metabolism and the nutritional prevention of certain birth defects and complications of pregnancy." *Altern Med Rev* 1996; 1 (4): 220–35.
- Truswell AS. "ABC of nutrition. Nutrition for pregnancy." *Br Med J* 1985; 291: 263–66.
- Ferris TF. "Pregnancy, preeclampsia, and the endothelial cell." Editorial. N Engl J Med 1991; 325 (20): 1439–40.
- Villar J, et al. "Epidemiologic observations on the relationship between calcium intake and eclampsia." *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 1983; 21 (4): 271–78.

- 12. Taufield P, et al. "Hypocalciuria in preeclampsia." *N Engl J Med* 1987; 316 (12): 715–18.
- Villar J, Repke J. "Calcium supplementation during pregnancy may reduce preterm delivery in high-risk populations." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1990; 163: 1124–31.
- Ward N, et al. "Elemental factors in human fetal development." *J Nutr Med* 1990; 1:19–26.
- 15. Riley DM, Walt DC. "Hypercalcemia in the etiology of puerperal psychosis." *Biol Psychiatry* 1985; 20:479.
- Spatling L, Spatling G. "Magnesium supplementation in pregnancy. A double blind study." *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1988; 95:120–25.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *The Health Benefits of Smoking Cessation: A Report of the Surgeon General.* DHHS publication no. (CDC)90-8416. Hattsville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1990; 371–423.
- Haworth J, Ellestad-Sayed J, King J, Dilling L. "Fetal growth retardation in cigarette-smoking mothers is not due to decreased maternal food intake." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1980; 137:719–23.
- 19. Naeye R. "Abruptio placentae and placenta previa: frequency, perinatal mortality, and cigarette smoking." *Obstet Gynecol* 1980; 10:345–58.
- Kramer M. "Intrauterine growth and gestational duration determinants." *Pediat* 1987; 80:502–11.
- Kleinman J. "Maternal weight gain during pregnancy: determinants and consequences." NCHS Working Paper Series No 33. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics, Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1990.

- 22. Brown J. "Weight gain during pregnancy: what is optimal?" *Clin Nutr* 1988; 7:181–90.
- 23. National Center for Health Statistics. Maternal Weight Gain and the Outcome of Pregnancy, U.S., 1980. An Analysis of Maternal Weight Gain During Pregnancy by Demographic Characteristics of Mothers and Its Association with Birth Weight and the Risk of Fetal Death. DHHS publication no. (PHS)86-1922. Hyattsville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1986.
- 24. Eisenberg A, Murkoff H, Hathaway S. What to Eat When You're Expecting. New York: Workman Pub., 1986.
- 25. MRC Vitamin Study Research Group. "Prevention of neural tube defects: results of the Medical Research Council Vitamin Study." *Lancet* 1991; 338:131–37.
- Tamura T, Goldenberg R, Freeberg L, et al. "Maternal serum folate and zinc concentrations and their relationships to pregnancy outcome." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1992; 56:365–70.
- Steegers-Theunissen R, et al. "Neural-tube defects and derangement of homocysteine metabolism." Letter. *N Engl J Med* 1991; 324 (3): 199–200.
- 28. Bower D, Stanley F. "Dietary folate as a risk factor for neural-tube defects: evidence from a case-control study in Western Australia." *Med J Aust* 1989; 150:613–19.
- 29. Mulinsky A, et al. "Multivitamin/folic acid supplementation in early pregnancy reduces the prevalence of neural tube defects." *JAMA* 1989; 262 (20): 2847–52.
- Laurence K, et al. "Double-blind randomized controlled trial of folate treatment before conception to prevent recurrence of neural-tube defects." *Br Med J* 1981; 282:1509.
- 31. Lucock M, Wild J, Schorah C, et al. "The methylfolate axis in neural tube

defects: in vitro characterisation and clinical investigation." *Biochem Med Metabol Biol* 1994; 52:101–14.

- Editorial staff. "Excessive folic acid." *Amer Fam Phys* 1985; 32 (4): 290–91.
- Simmer K, James C, and Thompson RP. "Are iron-folate supplements harmful?" *Amer J Clin Nutr* 1987; 45 (1):122–25.
- Doyle W, et al. "The association between maternal diet and birth dimensions." *J Nutr Med* 1990; 1:9–17.
- Heller S, et al. "Riboflavin status during pregnancy." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1974; 27: 1225–30.
- Heller S, et al. "Vitamin B₁ status in pregnancy." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1974; 27: 1221–24.
- Heller S, et al. "Vitamin B₆ status in pregnancy." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1973; 26 (12): 1339–48.
- Sahakian V, et al. "Vitamin B₆ is effective therapy for nausea and vomiting of pregnancy. A randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study." *Obstet Gynecol* 1991; 78:33–36.
- Anonymous. "Vitamin B₆ curbs severe nausea, emesis in gravida." *Fam Pract News* 1991; 21 (11): 10.
- 40. Baum G, et al. "Meclozine and pyridoxine in pregnancy." *Practitioner* 1963; 190:251.
- Marcus R. "Suppression of lactation with high doses of pyridoxine." S Afr Med J 1976 Dec 6: 2155–56.
- 42. Foukas M. "An antilactogenic effect of pyridoxine." *J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw* 1973 Aug: 718–20.
- 43. Temesvari P, et al. "Effects of an antenatal load of pyridoxine (vitamin B₆) on the blood oxygen affinity and prolactin levels in newborn infants and their mothers." *Acta Paediatrica Scand* 1983; 72 (4): 525–29.
- 44. Hillman R, Cabaud P, Schenone R. "The effects of pyridoxine supplements on the

dental caries experience of pregnant women." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1962; 10: 512–15.

- 45. Klieger JA, et al. "Abnormal pyridoxine metabolism in toxemia of pregnancy." *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1969; 166:288–96.
- Kirby PN, Molloy AM, Daly LE, et al.
 "Maternal plasma folate and vitamin B₁₂ are independent risk factors for neural tube defects." *Q J Med* 1993; 86:703–8.
- Martinez-Frias ML, Salvador J. "Megadose vitamin A and teratogenicity." Letter. *Lancet* 1988; 1:236.
- 48. Smithell RW. "Spina bifida and vitamins." Br Med J 1983; 286:388–89.
- Rothman KJ, Moore LL, Singer MR, et al. "Teratogenicity of high vitamin A intake." *N Engl J Med* 1995; 333:1369–73.
- Fell D, Steele RD. "Modification of hepatic folate metabolism in rats fed excess retinol." *Life Sci* 1986; 38:1959–65.
- Kubler W. "Nutritional deficiencies in pregnancy." *Bibl Nutr Dieta* 1981; 30:17–29.
- 52. Hustead V, et al. "Relationship of vitamin A (retinol) status to lung disease in the preterm infant." *J Pediat* 1984; 105 (4): 610–15.
- Jendryczko A, Drozdz M. "Plasma retinol, beta-carotene and vitamin E levels in relation to the future risk of preeclampsia." *Zent bl Gynakol* 1989; 111:1121–23.
- Czeizel AE, Dudas I. "Prevention of the first occurrence of neural-tube defects by periconceptional vitamin supplementation." N Engl J Med 1992; 327:1832–35.
- Kizer K, Fan A, Bankowska J, et al.
 "Vitamin A—a pregnancy hazard alert." West J Med 1990; 152:78–81.
- 56. Lark S. *Women's Health Companion*. Berkeley, CA: Celestial Arts, 1995.
- 57. Rhead W, Schrauzer G. "Risks of longterm ascorbic acid overdosage." *Nutr Rev* 1971; 29 (11): 262–63.

- Hammar M, et al. "Calcium and magnesium status in pregnant women: a comparison between treatment with calcium and vitamin C in pregnant women with leg cramps." *Int J Vit Nutr Res* 1987; 57 (2): 179–83.
- Mino M, Nagamatu M. "An evaluation of nutritional status of vitamin E in pregnant women with respect to red blood cell tocopherol level." *Int J Vit Nutr Res* 1986; 56:149–53.
- 60. Shah R, et al. "Vitamin E status of the newborn in relation to gestational age, birth weight, and maternal vitamin E status." *Br J Nutr* 1987; 58:191–98.
- 61. Marks J. "Critical appraisal of the therapeutic value of alpha-tocopherol." *Vit Horm* 1962; 20:573–98.
- Golding J, et al. "Childhood cancer, intramuscular vitamin K, and pethidine given during labour." *Br Med J* 1992 Aug; 305 (6849): 341–46.
- 63. Morales W, et al. "The use of antenatal vitamin K in the prevention of early neonatal intraventricular hemorrhage." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1988; 159:774–79.
- 64. Villar J, et al. "Epidemiologic observations on the relationship between calcium intake and eclampsia." *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 1983; 21 (4): 271–78.
- Taufield PA, et al. "Hypocalciuria in preeclampsia." N Engl J Med 1987; 316 (12): 715–18.
- 66. Villar J, Repke JT. "Calcium supplementation during pregnancy may reduce preterm delivery in high-risk populations." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1990; 163:1124–31.
- 67. Page EW, Page EP. "Leg cramps in pregnancy: etiology and treatment." *Obstet Gynecol* 1953; 1:94.
- 68. Ward NI, et al. "Elemental factors in human fetal development." *J Nutr Med* 1990; 1:19–26.

- Hemminkl E, Rimpelü U. "A randomized comparison of routine versus selective iron supplementation during pregnancy." *J Am Coll Nutr* 1991; 10 (1): 3–10.
- Franz KB. "Correlation of urinary magnesium excretion with blood pressure of pregnancy." *Magnesium Bull* 1983; 4:73–78.
- 71. Weaver K. *Magnesium in Health and Disease*. Jamaica, NY: Spectrum Publications, 1980; 833.
- 72. Kurzel R. "Serum magnesium levels in pregnancy and preterm labor." *Am J Perinatol* 1991; 8:119–27.
- Conradt A. "Pathophysiology and clinical aspects of pre-eclampsia." Z Geburtshilfe Perinatol 1985; 189 (4): 149–61.
- 74. Spatling L, Spatling G. "Magnesium supplementation in pregnancy. A doubleblind study." *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1988; 95:120–25.
- 75. Sjögren A, et al. "Reduced concentrations of magnesium, potassium and zinc in skeletal muscle from women during normal pregnancy or eclampsia." Abstract. *J Am Coll Nutr* 1988; 7 (5): 408.
- 76. Argemi J, et al. "Serum zinc binding capacity in pregnant women." *Ann Nutr Metab* 1988; 32:121–26.
- 77. Apgar J, Evertt G. "Low zinc intake affects maintenance of pregnancy in guinea pigs." *J Nutr* 1991; 121:192–200.
- Lazebnik N, et al. "Zinc status, pregnancy complications and labor abnormalities." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1988; 158 (1): 161–66.
- Mukherjee M, et al. "Maternal zinc, iron, folic acid, and protein nutriture and outcome of human pregnancy." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1984; 40 (3): 496–507.
- Buamah P, et al. "Maternal zinc status: a determinant of central nervous system malformation." *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1984; 91:788–90.

- Bergmann K, et al. "Abnormalities of hair zinc concentration in mothers of newborn infants with spina bifida." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1980; 33:2145.
- Malhotra A, et al. "Placental zinc in normal and intrauterine growth-retarded pregnancies." *Br J Nutr* 1990; 63:613–21.
- Higashi A, et al. "A prospective survey of serial serum zinc levels and pregnancy outcome." *J Ped Gastroenterol* 1988; 7:430–33.
- Singh P, et al. "Maternal hypozincemia and low-birthweight infants." *Clin Chem* 1987; 33:1950.
- Cherry F, et al. "Plasma zinc in hypertension/toxemia and other reproductive variables in adolescent pregnancy." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1981 Nov; 34 (11): 2367–75.
- Cherry F, et al. "Adolescent pregnancy: associations among body weight, zinc nutriture, and pregnancy outcome." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1989; 50:945–54.
- 87. Kynast G, Saling E. "Effect of oral zinc application during pregnancy." *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 1986; 21 (3): 117–22.
- Hunt I, et al. "Zinc supplementation during pregnancy: effects on selected blood constituents and on progress and outcome of pregnancy in low-income women of Mexican descent." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1984; 40 (3): 508–21.
- 89. Redman J. Letter. Med Trib 1980 April 16.
- 90. Jacobs WM. "The use of the bioflavonoid compounds in the prevention or reduction in severity of erythroblastosis fetalis." *Surg Gynecol Obstet* 1956; 103:233–36.
- 91. Colombo J, Kannass K, Shaddy D, et al. "Maternal DHA and the development of attention in infancy and toddlerhood." *Child Dev* 2004; 75:1254–67.
- 92. Helland I, Smith L, Saarem K, et al. "Maternal supplementation with very long chain n-3 fatty acids during preg-

nancy and lactation augments children's IQ at 4 years of age." *Pediatrics* 2003; 111 (1): e39.

- Hornstra G, Al MD, Van Houselingen AC, et al. "Essential fatty acids in pregnancy and early human development." *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 1995; 61:57–62.
- 94. Van Houwelingen A, Sorensen J. "Essential fatty acid status in neonates after fishoil supplementation during pregnancy." Br J Nutr 1995; 74 (5): 723–31.
- 95. Dunstan J, Mori T, Barden A, et al. "Effects of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation in pregnancy on maternal and fetal erythrocyte fatty acid composition." *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2004; 58 (3): 429–37.
- 96. Helland I, Saaren K, et al. "Fatty acid composition in maternal milk and plasma during supplementation with cod liver oil." *Eur J Clin Nutr* 1998; 52 (11): 839–45.
- 97. Allen K, Harris M. "The role of n-3 fatty acids in gestation and parturition." *Exp Biol Med* 2001; 226 (6): 498–506.
- Olsen S, Sorensen J, Secher N, et al. "Randomised controlled trial of effect of fish-oil supplementation on pregnancy duration." *Lancet* 1992; 339:1003–1007.
- Helland I, Saugstad O, Smith L, et al.
 "Similar effects on infants of n-3 and n-6 fatty acids supplementation in pregnant and lactating women." *Pediatrics* 2001; 108 (5): E82.
- 100. Olsen S, Secher N, Tabor A, et al. "Randomised clinical trials of fish oil supplementation in high risk pregnancies. Fish oil trials in pregnancy team." *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 2000; 107:382–95.
- 101. Olafsdottir A, Magnusardottir A, Thorgeirsdottir H, et al. "Relationship between dietary intake of cod liver oil in early pregnancy and birth weight." *BJOG* 2005; 111:424–29.

- 102. Birgisdottir B, Gunnarsdottir I, Thorsdottir I, et al. "Size at birth and glucose intolerance in a relatively genetically homogenous high birth weight population." Am J Clin Nutr 2002; 76:399–403.
- 103. Gunnarsdottir I, Birgisdottir B, Benediktsson R, et al. "Relationship between size at birth and hypertension in a genetically homogonous population of high birth weight." *J Hypertens* 2002; 20:623–28.
- 104. D'Almeida A, Carter J, Anatol A, Prost C. "Effects of a combination of evening primrose oil (gamma linolenic acid) and fish oil (eicosapentaenoic docahexaenoic acid) versus magnesium, and versus placebo in preventing pre-eclampsia." Women and Health 1992; 19 (2/3): 117–31.
- 105. O'Brien PMS, et al. "The effect of dietary supplementation with linoleic acid and linolenic acid on the pressor response to angiotension II: a possible role in pregnancy-induced hypertension?" *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 1985; 19 (3): 335–42.
- 106. McFarlin BL, Gibson MH, O'Rear J, Harman P. "A national survey of herbal preparation use by nurse-midwives for labor stimulation. Review of the literature and recommendations for practice." J Nurse-Midwifery 1999; 44 (3): 2095.
- 107. Dove D, Johnson P. "Oral evening primrose oil: its effect on length of pregnancy and selected intrapartum outcomes in low-risk nulliparous women." J Nurse Midwifery 1994; 44:320–24.
- 108. Melanson S, Lewandrowski E, Flood J, Lewandrowski K. "Measurement of organochlorines in commercial over-thecounter fish oil preparations: implications for dietary and therapeutic recommendations for omega-3 fatty acids and a review of the literature." *Arch Pathol Lab Med* 2005; 129 (1): 74–77.
- 109. Foran S, Flood J, Lewandrowski K. "Measurement of mercury levels in con-

centrated over-the-counter fish oil preparations: is fish oil healthier than fish?" *Arch Pathol Lab Med* 2003; 127 (12): 1603–5.

- 110. Noia G, Lippa S, Di Maio A, et al.
 "Blood levels of coenzyme Q10 in early phase of normal or complicated pregnancies." In Folkers K, Yamamura Y, *Biomedical and Clinical Aspects of Coenzyme Q*. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1991; 209–13.
- 111. Essien FB, Wannberg SL. "Methionine but not folinic acid or vitamin B-12 alters the frequency of neural tube defects in Axd mutant mice." J Nutr 1993; 123:973–74.
- 112. Potier de Courey G, Bujoli J. "Effects of diets with or without folic acid, with or without methionine, on fetus development, folate stores, and folic acid– dependent enzyme activities in the rat." *Biol Neonate* 1981; 39:132–40.
- 113. Zeisel SH. "Choline and human nutrition." *Annu Rev Nutr* 1994; 14:269–96.
- 114. Zeisel SH, Epstein MF, Wurtman RJ. "Elevated choline concentration in neonatal plasma." *Life Sci* 1980; 26:1827–31.
- 115. Garner SC, Mar MH, Zeisel SH.
 "Choline distribution and metabolism in pregnant rats and fetuses are influenced by the choline content of the maternal diet." J Nutr 1995; 125:2851–58.
- 116. Sturman JA. "Nutritional taurine and central nervous system development." Ann NY Acad Sci 1986; 477:196–213.
- 117. Gladstar R. *Herbal Healing for Women*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1993; 176.
- 118. Vutyavanich T, Kraisarin T, Ruangsri R. "Ginger for nausea and vomiting in pregnancy: randomized, double-masked, placebo-controlled trial." *Obstet Gynecol* 2001; 97 (4): 577–82.
- 119. Fischer-Rasmussen W, et al. "Ginger treatment of hyperemesis gravidarum."

Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 1990; 38:19–24.

- 120. Ripabelli G, Cimmino L, Grasso, G.
 "Alcohol consumption, pregnancy and fetal alcohol syndrome: implications in public health and preventive strategies." *An Ig* 2006; 18 (5): 391–406 (article in Italian).
- Gold S, Sherry L. "Hyperactivity, learning disabilities, and alcohol." *J Learn Disabil* 1984; 17 (1): 3–6.
- 122. Plant M. "Drinking in pregnancy and fetal harm: results from a Scottish prospective study." *Midwifery* 1986; 2 (2): 81–85.
- 123. Ernhart C, Sokol R, Martier S, et al.
 "Alcohol teratogenicity in the human: a detailed assessment of specificity, critical period, and threshold." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1987; 156 (1): 33–39.
- 124. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *The Health Consequences of Smoking: A Report of the Surgeon General* 2004. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Office on Smoking and Health, May 2004.
- 125. Peacock J, et al. "Cigarette smoking and birthweight: type of cigarette smoked and a possible threshold effect." *Int J Epidemiol* 1991; 20 (2): 405–12.
- 126. Northrup C. Women's Bodies, Women's Wisdom. New York: Bantam, 1994; 613.
- Haglund B, et al. "Cigarette smoking as a risk factor for sudden infant death syndrome." *Am J Public Health* 1990; 80:29–32.
- 128. Fenster L, et al. "Caffeine consumption during pregnancy and fetal growth." *Am J Public Health* 1991; 81:458–61.
- Berger A. "Effects of caffeine consumption on pregnancy outcome. A review." *J Reprod Med* 1988; 33 (12): 945–56.
- 130. Colburn T. *Our Stolen Future*. New York: Penguin Books USA, Inc., 1996.

- O'Leary L, Hicks A, Peters J, London S. "Parental occupational exposures and risk of childhood cancer: a review." *Am J Indust Med* 1991; 20 (12): 17–35.
- 132. Kardaun J, et al. "Testicular cancer in young men and parental occupational exposure." *Am J Indust Med* 1991; 20 (2): 219–27.
- "Miscarriages prompt study of lead levels at USA Today." Am Med News 1989 April 14; 6.
- 134. Dawson E, Kelly R. "Calcium, magnesium, and lead relationships in preeclampsia." Abstract. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1990; 51:512.
- 135. Park S, Johnson M. "Awareness of fish advisories and mercury exposure in women of childbearing age." *Nutr Rev* 2006 May; 64 (5 Pt 1): 250–56.
- 136. Editorial staff. "Aspirin-pregnancy link: lowered IQs." *Pregnancy and Childbirth: Brain/Mind Bull Coll* 1991; 13:9k.
- 137. Editorial staff. "Valium inhibits cell fusion in lab tests." *Pregnancy and Childbirth: Brain/Mind Bull Coll* 1991; 12: 13D.
- Wegner C, Nau H. "Alteration of embryonic folate metabolism by valproic acid during organogenesis: implications for mechanism of teratogenesis." *Neurol* 1992; 42:S17–S24.
- Biale Y, Lewenthal H. "Effect of folic acid supplementation on congenital malformations due to anticonvulsive drugs." *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 1984; 18:211–16.
- 140. Weed S. Wise Woman Herbal for the Childbearing Years. Woodstock, NY: Ashtree Publishing, 1986.
- 141. Strohecker J. op cit, 791, noting Barnes B, Bradley S, *Planning for a Healthy Baby* (London: Ebury Press, 1990).
- 142. Bracken M, et al. "Association of cocaine use with sperm concentration, motility,

and morphology." *Fertil Steril* 1990; 53 (2): 315–22.

- 143. Gabbe S, Niebyl J, Simpson J, eds. Obstetrics—Normal and Problem Pregnancies. 3rd ed. New York: Churchill Livingston, 1996.
- 144. Carlson K, Eisenstat S, Ziporyn T. *The Harvard Guide to Women's Health*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1996.
- Gladstar R. Herbal Healing for Women. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1993; 176.
- 146. Hagberg L, Hodal U, Korhonen T, et al.
 "Adhesion, hemagglutination, and virulence of *E. coli* causing urinary tract infections." *Infect Immun* 1981 February; 31 (2): 564–70.
- 147. Sibai B. "Hypertension in pregnancy." Obstet Gynecol Clin North Amer 1992; 19:615.

CHAPTER 17: PREMENSTRUAL SYNDROME

- Gurevich M. "Rethinking the label: who benefits from the PMS construct?" *Women and Health* 1995; 23 (2): 67–98.
- American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology (ACOG). Committee opinion. *Int J Gynecol Obstet* 1995; 50:80.
- 3. Mortola J. "Issues in the diagnosis and research of premenstrual syndrome." *Clin Obstet Gynecol* 1992; 35 (3): 587–98.
- Zucchi T, Mannucci E, Ricca V, Giardinelli L, Di Bernardo M, Pieroni V, Susini T, Cabras P, Rotella CM. "Eating attitudes and behavior throughout the menstrual cycle in obese women: a casecontrol study." *Eat Weight Disord* 2000 Mar; 5 (1): 31–37.
- Masho SW, Adera T, South-Paul J. "Obesity as a risk factor for premenstrual syndrome." *J Psychosom Obstet Gynecol* 2005 Mar; 26 (1): 33–39.

- DeJong R, et al. "Premenstrual mood disorder and psychiatric illness." *Amer J Psych* 1985; 142:1359.
- Nicolson P. "The menstrual cycle, science and femininity: assumptions underlying menstrual cycle research." *Soc Sci Med* 1995; 41:77.
- Chan A, et al. "Persistence of premenstrual syndrome during low-dose administration of the progesterone antagonist Ru 486." *Obstet Gynecol* 1994; 84 (6): 1001–5.
- Rapkin A. "The role of serotonin in premenstrual syndrome." *Clin Obstet Gynecol* 1992; 35 (3): 629–36.
- 10. Steiner M, Pearlstein T. "Premenstrual dysphoria and the serotonin system: pathophysiology and treatment." *J Clin Psychiatry* 2000; 61 (suppl 12): 17–21.
- 11. Kouri E, Halbreich U. "State and trait serotonergic abnormalities in women with dysphoric premenstrual syndromes." *Psy-chopharmacol Bull* 1997; 33 (4): 767–70.
- Abraham G. "Nutritional factors in the etiology of the premenstrual tension syndromes." J Reprod Med 1983; 28:446–64.
- 13. Goei G, Ralston J, Abraham G. "Dietary patterns of patients with premenstrual tension." *J Appl Nutr* 1982; 34:4.
- Abraham G. "Magnesium deficiency in premenstrual tension." *Magnes Bull* 1982; 4:68.
- Cross G, Marley J, Miles H, Willson K. "Changes in nutrient intake during the menstrual cycle of overweight women with premenstrual syndrome." *Br J Nutr* 2001 Apr; 5 (4): 475–82.
- Wurtman J. "Carbohydrate craving. Relationship between carbohydrate intake and disorders of mood." *Drugs* 1990; 39 (Suppl 3): 49–52.
- Moller SE. "Serotonin, carbohydrates, and atypical depression." *Pharmacol Toxicol* 1992; 71 (Suppl 1): 61–71.

- Boyd N, McGuire V, Shannon P, et al. "Effect of a low-fat high-carbohydrate diet on symptoms of cyclical mastopathy." *Lancet* 1988 Jul 16; 2 (8603): 128–32.
- Rossignol AM, Bonnlander H. "Prevalence and severity of the premenstrual syndrome. Effects of foods and beverages that are sweet or high in sugar content." *J Reprod Med* 1991 Feb; 36 (2): 131–36.
- 20. Puder JJ, Blum CA, Mueller B, De Geyter CH, Dye L, Keller U. "Menstrual cycle symptoms are associated with changes in low-grade inflammation." *Eur J Clin Invest* 2006 Jan; 36 (1): 58–64.
- Jakubowica D. "The significance of prostaglandins in the premenstrual syndrome." In Taylor R, ed., *Premenstrual Syndrome*. London: Medical New-Tribune, 1983; 16.
- 22. Danis R, Newton N, Keith L. "Pregnancy and alcohol." *Curr Prob Obstet Gynecol* 1981; 4:5.
- Belfer M, Shader R, Carroll M, et al. "Alcoholism in women." *Arch Gen Psych* 1971; 25:540.
- Rossignol AM, Bonnlander H. "Prevalence and severity of the premenstrual syndrome. Effects of foods and beverages that are sweet or high in sugar content." *J Reprod Med* 1991 Feb; 36 (2): 131–36.
- 25. Kim HW, Kwon MK, Kim NS, Reame NE. "Intake of dietary soy isoflavones in relation to perimenstrual symptoms of Korean women living in the USA." *Nurs Health Sci* 2006 Jun; 8 (2): 108–13.
- Bryant M, Cassidy A, Hill C, Powell J, Talbot D, Dye L. "Effect of consumption of soy isoflavones on behavioural, somatic and affective symptoms in women with premenstrual syndrome." *Br J Nutr* 2005 May; 93 (5): 731–39.
- 27. Stewart A. "Clinical and biochemical effects of nutritional supplementation on the premenstrual syndrome." *J Reprod Med* 1987; 32:435–40.

- 28. Mira M, Stewart P, Abraham S. "Vitamin and trace element status in premenstrual syndrome." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1988; 47: 636–41.
- Chuong C, Dawson E, Smith E. "Vitamin E levels in premenstrual syndrome." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1990; 163:1591–95.
- Chuong J, Dawson E. "Critical evaluation of nutritional factors in the pathophysiology and treatment of premenstrual syndrome." *Clin Obstet Gynecol* 1992; 35:3.
- 31. Chakmakjian Z, Higgins C, Abraham G. "The effect of a nutritional supplement, Optivite for women, on premenstrual tension syndrome: effect of symptomatology, using a double blind crossover design." *J Appl Nutr* 1985; 37:12.
- London R, Bradley L, Chiamori N. "Effect of a nutritional supplement on premenstrual symptomatology in women with premenstrual syndrome: a doubleblind longitudinal study." J Am Coll Nutr 1991; 10 (5): 494–99.
- Adams P, et al. "The effect of pyridoxine hydrochloride (vitamin B₆) upon depression associated with oral contraception." *Lancet* 1973; 1:897–904.
- Kleijnen J, ter Jtiet G, Knipschild P. "Vitamin B₆ in the treatment of the premenstrual syndrome—a review." *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1990; 97:847–52.
- Ebadi M, Govitrapong P. "Pyrodoxal phosphate and neurotransmitters in the brain." In Tryfiates G, ed., *Vitamin B₆ Metabolism and Role in Growth*. Westport, CT: Food and Nutrition Press, 1980; 223.
- 36. Taylor D, Mathew R, Bent T, et al. "Serotonin levels and platelet uptake during premenstrual tension." *Neuropsychobio* 1984; 12:16.
- 37. Doll H, Brown S, Thurston A, Vessey M."Pyridoxine (vitamin B₆) and the premenstrual syndrome: a randomized

crossover trial." *J R Coll Gen Pract* 1989 Sep; 39 (326): 364–68.

- 38. Souza M, Walker A, Robinson P, Bolland K. "A synergistic effect of a daily supplement for 1 month of 200 mg magnesium plus 50 mg vitamin B₆ for the relief of anxiety-related premenstrual symptoms: a randomized, double-blind, crossover study." *J Womens Health Gend Based Med* 2000 Mar; 9 (2): 131–39.
- Cohen M, Bendich A. "Safety of pyridoxine: a review of human and animal studies." *Toxicol Letters* 1986; 34:129–39.
- Bertone-Johnson E, Hankinson S, Bendich A, et al. "Calcium and vitamin D intake and risk of incident premenstrual syndrome." *Arch Intern Med* 2005 Jun 13; 165 (11): 1246–52.
- Thys-Jacobs S. "Vitamin D and calcium in menstrual migraine." *Headache* 1994 Oct; 34 (9): 544–46.
- London R, et al. "The effect of alphatocopherol on premenstrual symptomatology: a double-blind study. II. Endocrine correlates." *J Am Coll Nutr* 1984; 3:351–56.
- 43. Callender K, McGregor M, Kirk P, Thomas C. "A double-blind trial of evening primrose oil in the premenstrual syndrome: nervous symptom subgroup." *Hum Psychopharmacol* 1988; 3:57–61.
- Khoo S, Munro C, Battistutta D. "Evening primrose oil and treatment of premenstrual syndrome." *Med J Aust* 1990; 153:189–92.
- 45. Collins A, Cerin A, Coleman G, Landgren B. "Essential fatty acids in the treatment of premenstrual syndrome." *Obstet Gynecol* 1993; 81:93–98.
- Puolakka J, et al. "Biochemical and clinical effects of treating the premenstrual syndrome with prostaglandin synthesis precursors." *J Rep Med* 1985; 30 (3): 149–53.

- 47. Ockerman P, et al. "Evening primrose oil as a treatment of the premenstrual syndrome." *Rec Adv Clin Nutr* 1986; 2:404–5.
- 48. Massil H, et al. "A double blind trial of Efamol evening primrose oil in premenstrual syndrome." Second International Symposium on PMS, Kiawah Island, Sept 1987.
- 49. Casper R. "A double blind trial of evening primrose oil in premenstrual syndrome." Second International Symposium on PMS, Kiawah Island, Sept 1987.
- Sampalis F, Bunea R, Pelland MF, Kowalski O, Duguet N, Dupuis S. "Evaluation of the effects of Neptune Krill Oil on the management of premenstrual syndrome and dysmenorrhea." *Altern Med Rev* 2003 May; 8 (2): 171–79.
- 51. Li W, Zheng T, Altura BM, Altura BT. "Sex steroid hormones exert biphasic effects on cytosolic magnesium ions in cerebral vascular smooth muscle cells: possible relationships to migraine frequency in premenstrual syndromes and stroke incidence." *Brain Res Bull* 2001 Jan 1; 54 (1): 83–89.
- 52. Walker AF, De Souza MC, Vickers MF, Abeyasekera S, Collins ML, Trinca LA. "Magnesium supplementation alleviates premenstrual symptoms of fluid retention." *J Womens Health* 1998 Nov; 7 (9): 1157–65.
- 53. Facchinetti F, Borella P, Sances G, et al. "Oral magnesium successfully relieves premenstrual mood changes." *Obstet Gynecol* 1991 Aug; 78 (2): 177–81.
- Abraham GE, Lubran MM. "Serum and red cell magnesium levels in patients with premenstrual tension." *Am J Clin Nutr* 1981 Nov; 34 (11): 2364–66.
- 55. Muneyvirci-Delale O, Nacharaju VL, Altura BM, Altura BT. "Sex steroid hormones modulate serum ionized magne-

sium and calcium levels throughout the menstrual cycle in women." *Fertil Steril* 1998 May; 69 (5): 958–62.

- 56. Shamberger RJ. "Calcium, magnesium, and other elements in the red blood cells and hair of normals and patients with premenstrual syndrome." *Biol Trace Elem Res* 2003 Aug; 94 (2): 123–29.
- Thys-Jacobs S. "Micronutrients and the premenstrual syndrome: the case for calcium." *J Am Coll Nutr* 2000 Apr; 19 (2): 220–27.
- Muneyvirci-Delale O, Nacharaju VL, Altura BM, Altura BT. "Sex steroid hormones modulate serum ionized magnesium and calcium levels throughout the menstrual cycle in women." *Fertil Steril* 1998 May; 69 (5): 958–62.
- 59. Ward MW, Holimon TD. "Calcium treatment for premenstrual syndrome." *Ann Pharmacother* 1999 Dec; 33 (12): 1356–58.
- 60. Thys-Jacobs, et al. "Calcium carbonate and the premenstrual syndrome: effects on premenstrual and menstrual symptoms." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1998 Aug: 444–52.
- Eriksson O, Wall A, Marteinsdottir I, et al. "Mood changes correlate to changes in brain serotonin precursor trapping in women with premenstrual dysphoria." *Psychiatry Res* 2006 Mar 31; 146 (2): 107–16.
- Bond A, Wingrove J, Critchlow D. "Tryptophan depletion increases aggression in women during the premenstrual phase." *Psychopharmacology* (Berl) 2001 Aug; 156 (4): 477–80.
- Steinberg S, Annable L, Young SN, Liyanage N. "A placebo-controlled clinical trial of L-tryptophan in premenstrual dysphoria." *Biol Psychiatry* 1999 Feb 1; 45 (3): 313–20.
- 64. Steinberg S, Annable L, Young SN, Belanger MC. "Tryptophan in the treatment of late luteal phase dysphoric disor-

der: a pilot study." *J Psychiatry Neurosci* 1994 Mar; 19 (2): 114–19.

- 65. Haller J. "Testing the progesterones." *Therapiewoche* 1959; 9:481–84.
- 66. Haller J. "The influence of plant extracts in the hormonal exchange between hypophysis and ovary. An experimental endocrinological animal study." Z Geburtsh Gynakol 1961; 156:274–302.
- Loch E. "Diagnosis and therapy of hormonal bleeding disturbances." *TW Gynakol* 1989; 2:379–85.
- Wuttke W. "Cell biological investigations with Agnolyt preparations." HN 246, NH 247 Report 1992; 8:7.
- Wuttke W, Jarry H, Christoffel V, Spengler B, Seidlova-Wuttke D. "Chaste tree (*Vitex agnus-castus*)—pharmacology and clinical indications." *Phytomedicine* 2003 May; 10 (4): 348–57.
- Halaska M, Raus K, Beles P, Martan A, Paithner KG. "Treatment of cyclical mastodynia using an extract of *Vitex agnus castus*: results of a double-blind comparison with a placebo." *Ceska Gynekol* 1998 Oct; 63 (5): 388–92.
- 71. Webster DE, Lu J, Chen SN, Farnsworth NR, Wang ZJ. "Activation of the mu-opiate receptor by *Vitex agnus-castus* methanol extracts: implication for its use in PMS." *J Ethnopharmacol* 2006 Jun 30; 106 (2): 216–21.
- 72. Schellenberg R. "Treatment for the premenstrual syndrome with *agnus castus* fruit extract: prospective, randomised, placebo controlled study." *Br Med J* 2001 Jan 20; 322 (7279): 134–37.
- 73. Berger D, Schaffner W, Schrader E, Meier B, Brattstrom A. "Efficacy of *Vitex agnus castus L.* extract Ze 440 in patients with pre-menstrual syndrome (PMS)." *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 2000 Nov; 264 (3): 150–53.
- 74. Loch EG, Selle H, Boblitz N. "Treatment of premenstrual syndrome with a

hypopharmaceutical formulation containing Vitex agnus castus." J Womens Health Gend Based Med 2000 Apr; 9 (3): 315–20.

- Atmaca M, Kumru S, Tezcan E. "Fluoxetine versus *Vitex agnus castus* extract in the treatment of premenstrual dysphoric disorder." *Hum Psychopharmacol* 2003 Apr; 18 (3): 191–95.
- 76. Dittmar F. "Das pramenstruelle Spannungssyndrom." *Jiatros Gynakologie* 1989; 5 (6): 4–7.
- 77. Daniele C, Thompson Coon J, Pittler MH, Ernst E. "*Vitex agnus castus*: a systematic review of adverse events." *Drug Saf* 2005; 28 (4): 319–32.
- 78. Tamborini A, Taurelle R. "Value of standardized *Ginkgo biloba* extract in the management of congestive symptoms of premenstrual syndrome." *Rev Fr Gynecol Obstet* 1993; 88:447–57.
- 79. Hicks S, Walker A, Gallagher J, Middleton R, Wright J. "The significance of 'nonsignificance' in randomized controlled studies: a discussion inspired by a double-blinded study on St. John's wort (*Hypericum perforatum L.*) for premenstrual symptoms." J Altern Complement Med 2004 Dec; 10 (6): 925–32.
- Huang K, Tsai S. "St. John's wort (*Hypericum perforatum*) as a treatment for premenstrual dysphoric disorder: case report." *Int J Psychiatry Med* 2003; 33 (3): 295–97.
- Stevinson C, Ernst E. "A pilot study of *Hypericum perforatum* for the treatment of premenstrual syndrome." *BJOG* 2000 Jul; 107 (7): 870–76.
- Dittmar F, Bohnert K, Peeters M, et al. "Premenstrual syndrome treatment with a phytopharmaceutical." *TW Gynakol* 1992; 5:60–68.
- 83. Liao J, Jan Y, Huang S, et al. "Evaluation with receptor binding assay on the water extracts of ten CNS-active Chinese herbal

drugs." Proceedings of the National Science Council, Republic of China. *Life Sci* 1995; 19:151–58.

- Steege J, Blumenthal J. "The effects of aerobic exercise on premenstrual symptoms in middle-aged women: a preliminary study." *J Psychosom Res* 1993; 37:127.
- Johnson W, Carr-Nangle R, Bergeron K. "Macronutrient intake, eating habits, and exercise as moderators of menstrual distress in healthy women." *Psychosom Med* 1995; 57:324.
- 86. Prior J, et al. "Conditioning exercise decreases premenstrual symptoms: a prospective, controlled 6-month trial." *Fertil Steril* 1987; 47:402.
- 87. Aganoff J, Boyle G. "Aerobic exercise, mood states and menstrual cycle symptoms." *J Psychosom Res* 1994; 38:183.
- 88. Choi P, Salmon P. "Stress responsivity in exercisers and non-exercisers during different phases of the menstrual cycle." *Soc Sci Med* 1995; 41:769.
- 89. Gannon L. "The potential role of exercise in the alleviation of menstrual disorders and menopausal symptoms: a theoretical synthesis of recent research." *Women & Health* 1988; 14:105.
- 90. Sridevi K, Krishna R. "Yoga practice and menstrual distress." *J Indian Acad Applied Psychol* 1996; 22:47–54.
- 91. Goodale I, Domar A, Benson H. "Alleviation of premenstrual syndrome symptoms with the relaxation response." *Obstet Gynecol* 1990; 75:649–55.
- Keye W Jr. "Medical treatment of premenstrual syndrome." *Can J Psychiatry* 1985; 30:483–87.
- 93. Sampson G. "Premenstrual syndrome: a double-blind controlled trial of progesterone and placebo." *Br J Psychiatry* 1979; 135:209.
- 94. Freeman E, Rickels K, Sonheimer S, Polansky M. "Ineffectiveness of proges-

terone suppository treatment for premenstrual syndrome." *JAMA* 1990; 264: 349–53.

- 95. Dennerstein L, et al. "Progesterone and the premenstrual syndrome: a double blind crossover trial." *Br Med J* 1985; 290:1617–21.
- 96. Martorano J, Ahlgrimm M, Myers D. "Differentiating between natural progesterone and synthetic progestogens: clinical implications for premenstrual syndrome management." *Compr Ther* 1993; 19 (3): 96–98.
- Lee J. Natural Progesterone: The Multiple Roles of a Remarkable Hormone. Sebastopol, CA: BLL Publishing, 1995; 50–52.

CHAPTER 18: SEXUALLY TRANS-MITTED DISEASES

- Cates W Jr, American Social Health Association Panel. "Estimates of the incidence and prevalence of sexually transmitted diseases in the United States." *Sexually Transmitted Diseases* 1999; 26 (Suppl. 4): S2–S7.
- Majeroni B. "Chlamydial cervicitis: complications and new treatment options." *Am Fam Phys* 1994; 49:1825–29.
- Washington A, Johnson R, Sanders II Jr. *"Chlamydia trachomatis* infections in the United States: what are they costing us?" *JAMA* 1987; 257:2070.
- Stamm W, Holmes K. "Chlamydia trachomatis infections of the adult." In Holmes K, Mardh P, Sparling P, Wiesner P, Sexually Transmitted Diseases, 2nd ed. New York: McGraw Hill, 1990; 181–93.
- Stamm W. "Diagnosis of *Chlamydia trachomatis* genitourinary infections." *Ann Intern Med* 1988; 108:710.
- Quinn T, Gaydos C, Shepherd M, et al. "Epidemiologic and microbiologic correlates of *Chlamydia trachomatis* in sexual partnerships." *JAMA* 1996; 276:1737.

472 REFERENCES

- Division of STD/HIV Prevention, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. Sexually Transmitted Diseases Surveillance, 1992. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1993.
- Rice R, Roberts P, Handsfield H, et al. "Sociodemographic distribution of gonorrhea incidence: implications for prevention and behavioral research." *Am J Public Health* 1991; 81:1252.
- Dallabetta G, Hook E 3d. "Gonococcal infections." *Infect Dis Clin North Am* 1987; 1:25.
- Rein M. "Vulvovaginitis and cervicitis." In Mandell G, Bennett J, Dolin R, eds., *Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases*, 4th ed. New York: Churchill Livingstone, 1995; 1074–90.
- 11. Washington A, et al. "Oral contraceptives, *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection, and pelvic inflammatory disease: a word of caution." *JAMA* 1985; 253:2246.
- 12. Bauer R, Wagner H. "*Echinacea* species as potential immunostimulatory drugs." *Econ Med Plant Res* 1991; 5:253–321.
- 13. Marrazzo J, Wiesenfeld H, Murray P, et al. "Risk factors for cervicitis among women with bacterial vaginosis." *J Infect Dis* 2006 Mar 1; 193 (5): 617–24.
- St. Amant D, Valentin-Bon I, Jerse A. "Inhibition of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* by *Lactobacillus* species that are commonly isolated from the female genital tract." *Infect Immun* 2002 Dec; 70 (12): 7169–71.
- Zheng H, Cao J, Jin H, Wang J. "Preliminary examination of a LB-H2O2 substance that inhibit *Neisseria gonorrhea* growth." *Zhongguo Yi Xue Ke Xue Yuan Xue Bao* 1999 Oct; 21 (5): 379–83.
- 16. Saigh J, Sanders C, Sanders W Jr. "Inhibition of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* by aerobic and facultatively anaerobic components

of the endocervical flora: evidence for a protective effect against infection." *Infect Immun* 1978 Feb; 19 (2): 704–10.

17. Mittal A, Kapur S, Garg S, et al. "Clinical trial with Praneem polyherbal cream in patients with abnormal vaginal discharge due to microbial infections." *Austr N Z J Obstet Gyn* 1995; 35:190–91.

CHAPTER 19: UTERINE FIBROIDS

- Moore J. "Benign disease of the uterus." In Hacker N, Moore J, eds., *Essentials of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, Philadelphia: Saunders, 1986; 272–76.
- Wilcox L, Koonin L, Pokras R, et al. "Hysterectomy in the United States, 1988– 1990." Obstet Gynecol 1994; 83:549–55.
- Lacey C. "Benign disorders of the uterine corpus." In Pernoll M, ed., *Current Obstetric and Gynecologic Diagnosis and Treatment*, 7th ed. Norwalk, CT: Appleton and Lange, 1991; 732–38.
- Wallach E. "Myomectomy." In Thompson J, Rock J, eds., *Te Linde's Operative Gynecology*, 7th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott, 1992; 647–53.
- Cramer S, Robertson A, Ziats N, et al. "Growth potential of human uterine leiomyomata: some in vitro observations and their implications." *Obstet Gynecol* 1985; 66:36.
- 6. Wilson E, Yang F, Rees E. "Estradiol and progesterone binding in uterine leiomyomata and in normal uterine tissues." *Obstet Gynecol* 1980; 5:20.
- Puuka M, Kontula K, Kauppila A, Janne O, Vihdo R. "Estrogen receptor in human myoma tissue." *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 1976; 6:35.
- Pollow K, Geilfuss J, Boquoi E, Pollow B. "Estrogen and progesterone binding proteins in normal human myometrium and leiomyoma tissue." *J Clin Chem Clin Biochem* 1978; 16:503.

- 9. Buttram V Jr, Reiter R. "Uterine leiomyomata: etiology, symptomatology and management." *Fertil Steril* 1981; 36: 433–45.
- Rice J, Kay H, Mahony B. "The clinical significance of uterine leiomyomas in pregnancy." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1989; 160:1212–16.
- Haney A. "Clinical decision making regarding leiomyomata: what we need in the next millennium." *Environ Health Perspect* 2000; 108:835–39.
- 12. Stenchever M, Droegemueller W, Herbst A, Mishell D, eds. *Comprehensive Gynecology*, 4th ed. St. Louis: Mosby-Year Book Inc., 2001.
- Lumsden M, Wallace E. "Clinical presentation of uterine fibroids." *Baillieres Clin Obstet Gynaecol* 1998; 12:177–85.
- Vollenhoven B, Lawrence A, Healy D. "Uterine fibroids: a clinical review." *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1990; 97:285–98.
- 15. Stewart E. "Uterine fibroids." *Lancet* 2001; 357:293–98.
- 16. Carter J. "Combined hysteroscopic and laparoscopic findings in patients with chronic pelvic pain." *J Am Assoc Gynecol Laparosc* 1994; 2:43–47.
- Tay S, Bromwich N. "Outcome of hysterectomy for pelvic pain in premenopausal women." *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* 1998; 38:72–76.
- Kjerulff K, Langenberg P, Seidman J, et al. "Uterine leiomyomas: racial differences in severity, symptoms and age at diagnosis." *J Reprod Med* 1994; 41:483–90.
- Buttram V Jr, Reiter R. "Uterine leiomyomata: etiology, symptomatology, and management." *Fertil Steril* 1981; 36:433–45.
- 20. Lippman S, Warner M, Samuels S, et al. "Uterine fibroids and gynecologic pain symptoms in a population-based study." *Fertil Steril* 2003; 80:1488–94.

- 21. Exacoustos C, Rosati P. "Ultrasound diagnosis of uterine myomas and complications in pregnancy." *Obstet Gynecol* 1993; 82:97–101.
- Rice J, Kay H, Mahony B. "The clinical significance of uterine leiomyomas in pregnancy." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1989; 160:1212–16.
- Sahin K, Ozercan R, Onderci M, et al. "Lycopene supplementation prevents the development of spontaneous smooth muscle tumors of the oviduct in Japanese quail."*Nutr Cancer* 2004; 50 (2): 181–89.
- 24. Chiaffarino F, Parazzini F, La Vecchia C, Chatenoud L, Di Cintio E, Marsico S.
 "Diet and uterine myomas." *Obstet Gynecol* 1999 Sep; 94 (3): 395–98.
- 25. Golden B, et al. "Estrogen excretion patterns and plasma levels in vegetarian and omnivorous women." *N Engl J Med* 1982; 307:1542–47.
- 26. Goodman M, Wilkens L, et al. "Association of soy and fiber consumption with the risk of endometrial cancer." *Am J Epidemiol* 1997; 146 (4): 294–306.
- Xu WH, Zheng W, Xiang YB, Ruan ZX, et al. "Soya food intake and risk of endometrial cancer among Chinese women in Shanghai: population based case-control study." *Br Med J* 2004; 328:1285–88.
- Unfer V, Casini ML, Costabile L, Mignosa M, et al. "Endometrial effects of long-term treatment with phytoestrogens: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled study." *Fertil Steril* 2004; 82:145–48.
- 29. Lee TK, Lee DK, Kim DI, Lee YC, Chang YC, Kim CH. "Inhibitory effects of *Scutellaria barbata D. Don* on human uterine leiomyomal smooth muscle cell proliferation through cell cycle analysis." *Int Immunopharmacol* 2004 Mar; 4 (3): 447–54.

- Lee TK, Kim DI, Song YL, Lee YC, Kim HM, Kim CH. "Differential inhibition of *Scutellaria barbata D. Don (Lamiaceae)* on HCG-promoted proliferation of cultured uterine leiomyomal and myometrial smooth muscle cells." *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol* 2004 Aug; 26 (3): 329–42.
- Lee TK, Kim DI, Han JY, Kim CH. "Inhibitory effects of *Scutellaria barbata D. Don.* and *Euonymus alatus Sieb.* on aromatase activity of human leiomyomal cells." *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol* 2004 Aug; 26 (3): 315–27.
- Sang H. "Clinical and experimental research into treatment of hysteromyoma with promoting qi flow and blood circulation, softening and resolving hard lump." *J Tradit Chin Med* 2004 Dec; 24 (4): 274–79.
- Dean D, Exley D, Goodwin T. "Steroid oestrogens in plants: re-estimation of oestrone in pomegranate seeds." *Phytochem* 1971; 10:2215–16.
- Verdeal R, Ryan D. "Naturally-occurring oestrogens in plant foodstuffs—a review." *J Food Protec* 1979; 42:577–83.
- Price K, Fenwick G. "Naturally occurring oestrogens in foods—a review." *Food Addit Contam* 1985; 2:73–106.
- Miksicek R. "Estrogenic flavonoids: structural requirements for biological activity." *Proceed Soc Exper Biol Med* 1995; 208:44–50.
- 37. Bennetts H, Underwood E, Shier F. "A breeding problem of sheep in the southwest division of Western Australia." *J Dept Agric West Aust* 1946; 23:1–12.
- Saloniemi H, Wahala K, Nykanen-Kurki P, Saastamoinen I. "Phytoestrogen content and effect of legume fodder." *PSEBM* 1995; 208:13–17.
- 39. Kallela K, Heinonen K, Saloniemi H. "Plant oestrogens: the cause of decreased

fertility in cows. A case report." *Nord Vet Med* 1984; 36:124–28.

- 40. Adams N. "Cervical mucus and reproductive efficiency in ewes after exposure to oestrogenic pastures." *Aust J Agric Res* 1977; 28:481–89.
- Folman Y, Pope G. "Effect of norethisterone acetate, dimethylstilbestrol, genistein, and coumestrol on uptake of oestradiol by uterus, vagina, and skeletal muscle of immature mice." *J Endocrin* 1969; 44:213–18.
- Shutt D, Cox R. "Steroid and phytooestrogen binding to sheep uterine receptors in vitro." *J Endocrin* 1972; 52: 299–310.
- Medlock K, Branham W, Sheehan D. "Effects of coumestrol and equol on the developing reproductive tract of the rat." *PSEBM* 1995; 208:67–71.
- 44. Messina M, Persky V, Setchell K, Barnes S. "Soy intake and cancer risk: a review of the in vitro and in vivo data." *Nutr and Canc* 1994; 21 (2): 113–31.
- Parkin D, et al. *Cancer Incidence in Five Continents*. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer Scientific Publications No. 120, 1992; 6:301–431, 486–509.
- Somekawa Y, Chiguchi M, Ishibashi T, et al. "Efficacy of Ipriflavone in preventing adverse effects of leuprolide." *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2001 Jul; 86 (7): 3202–6.
- Gambacciani M, Cappagli B, Piaggesi L, et al. "Ipriflavone prevents the loss of bone mass in pharmacological menopause induced by GnRH-agonists." *Calcif Tissue Int* 1997; 61 (Suppl 1): S15–S18.
- 48. Lipschutz A. "Experimental fibroids and the antifibromatogenic action of steroid hormones." *JAMA* 1942; 120:71.
- 49. Goodman A. "Progesterone therapy in uterine fibromyoma." *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1946; 6:402.

- 50. Lee J. What Your Doctor May Not Tell You About Menopause. New York: Warner Books, 1996.
- Rein M, Barbieri R, Friedman A. "Progesterone: a critical role in the pathogenesis of uterine myomas." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1995; 172 (1): 14–18.

CHAPTER 20: VAGINITIS

- Ness RB, Hillier SL, Richter HE, Soper DE, Stamm C, McGregor J, Bass DC, Sweet RL, Rice P. "Douching in relation to bacterial vaginosis, lactobacilli, and facultative bacteria in the vagina." *Obstet Gynecol* 2002 Oct; 100 (4): 765.
- Olmsted S, Meyn L, Hillier S. "Production of mucin degrading enzymes by vaginal bacteria." Abstract. Annual Meeting, International Congress of Sexually Transmitted Infections. *International Journal of STD and AIDS* 2001; 12 (Suppl 2): 68–69.
- Amsel R, Totten P, Spiegel C, et al. "Nonspecific vaginitis: diagnostic criteria and microbial and epidemiologic associations." *Am J Med* 1983; 74:14.
- Hillier S, Holmes K. "Bacterial vaginosis." In Holmes K, Mardh P-A, Sparling P, et al., eds, *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 2nd ed. New York: McGraw-Hill Information Services Co., 1990; 547–59.
- Pybus V, Onderdonk A. "Evidence for a commensal, symbiotic relationship between *Gardnerella vaginalis* and *Prevotella bivia* involving ammonia: potential significance for bacterial vaginosis." *J Infect Dis* 1997; 175:406.
- Vallor A, Antonio M, Hawes S, Hillier S. "Factors associated with acquisition of, or persistent colonization by, vaginal lactobacilli: role of hydrogen peroxide production." J Infect Dis 2001; 184:1431–36.
- 7. Vejtorp M, Bollerup A, Vejtorp L, et al. "Bacterial vaginosis: a double-blind randomized trial of the effect of treatment of

the sexual partner." *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1988; 95:920.

- Vutyavanich T, Pongsuthirak P, Vannareumol P, et al. "A randomized double-blind trial of tinidazole treatment of the sexual partners of females with bacterial vaginosis." *Obstet Gynecol* 1993; 82:550.
- Barbone F, Austin H, Louv W, Alexander W. "A follow-up study of methods of contraception, sexual activity, and rates of trichomoniasis, candidiasis and bacterial vaginosis." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1990; 75:1028.
- Hammerschlag M, Cummings M, Doraiswamy B, et al. "Nonspecific vaginitis following sexual abuse in children." *Pediatrics* 1985; 75:1028.
- 11. Berger B, Kolton S, Zenilman J, et al. "Bacterial vaginosis in lesbians: a sexually transmitted disease." *Clin Infect Dis* 1995; 21:1402.
- 12. Goldenberg R, Klebanoff M, Nugent R, Krohn M, Hillier S, Andrews W. "Bacterial colonization of the vagina during pregnancy in four ethnic groups." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1996; 174:1618–24.
- Martin J, Richardson B, Nyange P, et al. "Vaginal lactobacilli, microbial flora, and risk of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and sexually transmitted disease acquisition." *J Infect Dis* 1999; 180:1863–68.
- Taha T, Hoover D, Dallabetta G, et al. "Bacterial vaginosis and disturbances of vaginal flora: association with an increased acquisition of HIV." *AIDS* 1998; 12:1699–1706.
- 15. Hillier S. "The vaginal microbial ecosystem and resistance to HIV." *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 1998; 14 (Suppl 1): S17–S21.
- 16. Cohen C, Duerr A, Pruithithada N, et al. "Bacterial vaginosis and HIV seropreva-

lence among female commercial sex workers in Chiang Mi, Thailand." *AIDS* 1995; 9:1093–97.

- Cu-Uvin S, Hogan J, Caliendo A, Harwell J, Mayer K, Carpenter C. "Association between bacterial vaginosis and expression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA in the female genital tract." *Clin Infect Dis* 2001; 33:894–96.
- 18. Biswas M. "Bacterial vaginosis." *Clin Ob Gyn* 1993; 36 (1): 166–76.
- Gravett M, Nelson H, DeRouen T, et al. "Independent associations of bacterial vaginosis and *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection with adverse pregnancy outcome." *JAMA* 1986; 256 (14): 1899–1903.
- 20. Watts D, Eschenbach D, Kenn G. "Early postpartum endometritis: the role of bacteria, genital mycoplasmas, and *chlamydia trachomatis.*" *Obstet Gynecol* 1989; 73:52.
- Blackwell A, Fox A, Phillips I, Barlow D. "Anaerobic vaginosis (nonspecific vaginitis): clinical, microbiological, and therapeutic findings." *Lancet* 1983; 2: 1279–1382.
- Foxman B, Barlow R, D'Arcy H, Gilespie B, Sobel J. "*Candida vaginitis*: self-reported incidence and associated costs." *Sex Transm Dis* 2000; 27 (4): 230–35.
- Spinillo A, Capuzzo E, Gulminetti R, et al. "Prevalence of and risk factors for fungal vaginitis caused by non-albicans species." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1997; 176:138–41.
- 24. Odds F. "Resistance of yeasts to azolederivative antifungals." *J Antimicrob Chemother* 1993; 31:463–71.
- 25. Ledger W, Monif G. "A growing concern: inability to diagnose vulvovaginal infections correctly." *Obstet Gynecol* 2004; 103: 782–84.
- 26. Odds F. "Candidosis of the genitalia." In Odds F, ed., *Candida and Candidosis*, 2nd ed. London: Balliere Tindall, 1988; 124.
- 27. Faro S. "Systemic vs. topical therapy for the treatment of vulvovaginal candidia-

sis." *Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol* 1994; 1: 202–8.

- Horowitz B. "The role on non-albicans Candida in vulvovaginal candidiasis." *J Clin Pract Sexuality* 1991; 7 (special issue): 16–20.
- O'Connor M, Sobel J. "Epidemiology of recurrent vulvovaginal candidiasis: identification and strain differentiation of *Candida albicans*." J Infect Dis 1986; 54: 358–63.
- Horowitz B, Edelson S, Lippman L. "Sexual transmission of Candida." *Obstet Gynecol* 1987; 69 (6): 883–86.
- Miles MR, Olsen L, Rogers A. "Recurrent vaginal candidiasis. Importance of an intestinal reservoir." *JAMA* 1977 Oct 24; 238 (17): 1836–37.
- Horowitz B, Giaquinta D, Ito S. "Evolving pathogens in vulvovaginal candidiasis: implications for patient care." *J Clin Pharmacol* 1992; 32 (3): 248–55.
- Donders GG, Prenen H, Verbeke G, Reybrouck R. "Impaired tolerance for glucose in women with recurrent vaginal candidiasis." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2002 Oct; 187 (4): 989–93.
- Elegbe I, Botu M. "A preliminary study of dressing patterns and incidence of candidiasis." *Am J Public Health* 1982; 72: 176–77.
- 35. Heidrich F, Berg A, Bergman J. "Clothing factors and vaginitis." *J Family Practice* 1984; 19 (4): 491–94.
- Gerbase A, Rowley J, Heymann D, et al.
 "Global prevalence and incidence estimates of curable STDs." *Sex Transm Infect Suppl* 1998; 74:512–17.
- 37. Cates W. "Estimates of the incidence and prevalence of sexually transmitted diseases in the United States." *Sex Transm Dis* 1999; 26 (Suppl): 52–57.
- 38. Lossick J. "Epidemiology of urogenital trichomoniasis." In Honinberg B, ed.,

Trichomonads Parasitic in Humans. New York: Springer Verlag, 1989; 311–23.

- Rein M, Muller M. "Trichomonas vaginalis and trichomiasis." In Holmes K, ed., Sexually Transmitted Diseases. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1990; 481–92.
- 40. Heine P, McGregor J. "*Trichomonas vagi*nalis: a reemerging pathogen." Clin Obstet Gynecol 1993; 36:137–44.
- 41. Levine G. "Sexually transmitted parasitic diseases." *Prim Care* 1991; 18:101–28.
- 42. Wolner-Hanssen P, et al. "Clinical manifestations of vaginal trichomonas." *JAMA* 1989; 264:571–76.
- 43. Ohlemeyer C, Hornberger L, Lynch D, Swierkosz E. "Diagnosis of *Trichomonas vaginalis* in adolescent females: InPouch TV culture versus wet-mount microscopy." *J Adolesc Health* 1998; 22:205–8.
- Doderlein A. "Die Scheidensekretuntersuchugen." Zentralbl Gynakol 1894; 18:10–14.
- 45. Ant M. "Diabetic vulvovaginitis treated with vitamin E suppositories." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1954; 67 (2): 407–9.
- Petersen EE, Magnani P. "Efficacy and safety of vitamin C vaginal tablets in the treatment of non-specific vaginitis. A randomised, double blind, placebo-controlled study." *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2004 Nov 10; 117 (1): 70–75.
- 47. Adetumbi M, Javor G, Lau B. "Allium sativum (garlic) inhibits lipid synthesis by *Candida albicans.*" *Antimicrob Agents and Chemother* 1986; 30 (3): 499–501.
- Hronek M, Vachtlova D, Kudlackova Z, Jilek P. "Antifungal effect in selected natural compounds and probiotics and their possible use in prophylaxis of vulvovaginitis." *Ceska Gynekol* 2005 Sep; 70 (5): 395–99.
- 49. Moore G, Atkins R. "The fungicidal and fungistatic effects of an aqueous garlic

extract on medically important yeastlike fungi." *Mycologia* 1977; 15:466–68.

- 50. Cavallito C, Bailey J. "Allicin, the antibacterial principle of *Allium sativum*. Isolation, physical properties and antibacterial action." *J Am Chem Soc* 1944; 66:1950–51.
- Amin AH, Subbaiah TV, Abbasi KM. "Berberine sulfate: antimicrobial activity, bioassay, and mode of action." *Can J Microbiology* 1969; 15:1067–76.
- Hronek M, Vachtlova D, Kudlackova Z, Jilek P. "Antifungal effect in selected natural compounds and probiotics and their possible use in prophylaxis of vulvovaginitis." *Ceska Gynekol* 2005 Sep; 70 (5): 395–99.
- Hammer KA, Carson CF, Riley TV. "Melaleuca alternifolia (tea tree) oil inhibits germ tube formation by Candida albicans." Med Mycol 2000 Oct; 38 (5): 355–62.
- 54. Hammer KA, Carson CF, Riley TV. "Invitro activity of essential oils, in particular *Melaleuca alternifolia* (tea tree) oil and tea tree oil products, against *Candida* spp." *J Antimicrob Chemother* 1998 Nov; 42 (5): 591–95.
- 55. Ergin A, Arikan S. "Comparison of microdilution and disc diffusion methods in assessing the in vitro activity of fluconazole and *Melaleuca alternifolia* (tea tree) oil against vaginal *Candida* isolates." *J Chemother* 2002 Oct; 14 (5): 465–72.
- 56. Mondello F, De Bernardis F, Girolamo A, Salvatore G, Cassone A. "In vitro and in vivo activity of tea tree oil against azolesusceptible and -resistant human pathogenic yeasts." *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2003 May; 51 (5): 1223–29.
- Pena E. "*Melaleuca alternifolia* oil: its use for trichomonal vaginitis and other vaginal infections." *Obstet Gynecol* 1962; 19 (6): 793–95.

- Williams L, Home V. "A comparative study of some essential oils for potential use in topical applications for the treatment of the yeast *Candida albicans*." *Aust J Med Herbal* 1995; 7 (3): 57–62.
- 59. Reid G. "Probiotics for urogenital health." *Nutr Clin Care* 2002; 5:3–8.
- 60. Chan R, Bruce A, Reid G. "Adherence of cervical, vaginal and distal urethral normal microbial flora to human uroepithelial cells and the inhibition of adherence of gram-negative uropathogens by competitive exclusion." *J Urol* 1984; 131:596–601.
- Andersson R, Daeschel M, Hassan H. "Antibacterial activity of plantaricin SIK-83, a bacteriocin produced by *Lactobacillus plantarum*." *Biochimie* 1988; 70:381–90.
- Hillier S, Krohn M, Klebanoff S, Eschenbach D. "The relationship of hydrogen peroxide–producing lactobacilli to bacterial vaginosis and genital microflora in pregnant women." *Obstet Gynecol* 1992; 79 (3): 369–72.
- Klebanoff S, Hillier S, Eschenbach D, Waltersdorph A. "Control of the microbial flora of the vagina by H₂O₂generating lactobacilli." *J Infec Dis* 1991; 164:94–100.
- Hilton E, Isenberg H, Alperstein P, France K, Borenstein M. "Ingestion of yogurt containing *Lactobacillus acidophilus* as prophylaxis for candidal vaginitis." *Ann Intern Med* 1992; 116:353–57.
- 65. Delia A, Morgante G, Rago G, et al.
 "Effectiveness of oral administration of *Lactobacillus paracasei* subsp. paracasei
 F19 in association with vaginal suppositories of *Lactobacillus acidofilus* in the treatment of vaginosis and in the prevention of recurrent vaginitis." *Minerva Ginecol* 2006 Jun; 58 (3): 227–31.

- 66. Williams AB, Yu C, Tashima K, Burgess J, Danvers K. "Evaluation of two self-care treatments for prevention of vaginal candidiasis in women with HIV." *J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care* 2001 Jul–Aug; 12 (4): 51–57.
- 67. Ozkinay E, Terek MC, Yayci M, Kaiser R, Grob P, Tuncay G. "The effectiveness of live lactobacilli in combination with low dose oestriol (Gynoflor) to restore the vaginal flora after treatment of vaginal infections." *BJOG* 2005 Feb; 112 (2): 234–40.
- Jeavons H. "Prevention and treatment of vulvovaginal candidiasis using exogenous *Lactobacillus*." J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2003; 32 (3): 287–96.
- 69. Hilton E, Rindos P, Isenberg H. "*Lacto-bacillus* GG vaginal suppositories and vaginitis." *J Clin Microbiol* 1995; 33 (5): 1433.
- Hughes V, Hillier S. "Microbiologic characteristics of *lactobacillus* products used for colonization of the vagina." *Obstet Gynecol* 1990; 75 (2): 244–48.
- Parent D, Bossens M, Bayot D, et al. "Therapy of bacterial vaginosis using exogenously applied *Lactobacilusi acidophilus* and a low dose of estriol: a placebo-controlled multicentric clinical trial." *Arneimittelforschung* 1996; 46:68–73.
- 72. Otero L, Fleites A, Mendez FJ, Palacio V, Vazquez F. "Susceptibility of *Candida* species isolated from female prostitutes with vulvovaginitis to antifungal agents and boric acid." *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* 1999 Jan; 18 (1): 59–61.
- Sobel JD, Chaim W, Nagappan V, Leaman D. "Treatment of vaginitis caused by *Candida glabrata*: use of topical boric acid and flucytosine." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2003 Nov; 189 (5): 1297–1300.
- 74. Keller Van Slyke K, Michel V, Rein M. "Treatment of vulvovaginal candidiasis

with boric acid powder." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1981; 141 (2): 145–48.

- 75. Jovanovic R, Congema E, Nguyen H.
 "Antifungal against versus boric acid for treating chronic mycotic vulvovaginitis." *Journal of Reproductive Medicine* 1991; 36 (8): 593–97.
- 76. Sobel J, Chaim W, Nagappan V, Leaman D. "Treatment of vaginitis caused by *Candida glabrata*: use of topical boric acid and fulcytosine." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2003; 189:1297–1300.
- Jovanovic R, Congema E, Nguyen H. "Antifungal agents vs. boric acid for treating chronic mycotic vulvovaginitis." *J Rep Med* 1991; 36 (8): 593–97.
- Van Slyke K, Michel V, Rein M. "Treatment of vulvovaginal candidiasis with boric acid powder." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1981; 141 (2): 145–48.
- Hronek M, Vachtlova D, Kudlackova Z, Jilek P. "Antifungal effect in selected natural compounds and probiotics and their possible use in prophylaxis of vulvovaginitis." *Ceska Gynekol* 2005 Sep; 70 (5): 395–99.
- 80. Romano L, Battaglia F, Masucci L, Sanguinetti M, Posteraro B, Plotti G, Zanetti S, Fadda G. "In vitro activity of bergamot natural essence and furocoumarin-free

and distilled extracts, and their associations with boric acid, against clinical yeast isolates." *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2005 Jan; 55 (1): 110–14.

- Waters E, Wager H. "Vaginal mycosis in pregnancy: an improved gentian violet treatment." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1950; 60 (4): 885–87.
- Wewalka G, Stary A, Bosse B, Duerr HE, Reimer K. "Efficacy of povidone-iodine vaginal suppositories in the treatment of bacterial vaginosis." *Dermatology* 2002; 204 (Suppl 1): 79–85.
- 83. Petersen E, Weissenbacher E, Hengst P, et al. "Local treatment of vaginal infections of varying etiology with dequalinium chloride or povidone iodine. A randomised, double-blind, active-controlled, multicentric clinical study." *Arzneimittelforschung* 2002; 52 (9): 706–15.
- Ratzan J. "Monilial and trichomonal vaginitis: topical treatment with povidone-iodine preparations." *Calif Med* 1969; 110:24–27.
- Yu H, Tak-Yin M. "The efficacy of povidone-iodine pessaries in a short, low-dose treatment regime on candidal, trichomonal and non-specific vaginitis." *Postgrad Med J* 1993; 69 (Suppl 3): S58–S61.

This page intentionally left blank
INDEX

Abortion, 61-62, 295 Abraham, Guy, 252 Acne, 184-85 Activella, 369. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Acupuncture, 162 Adrenal Assist, 381 Adrenal glands, 177 Age factors bone density, 243 cervical dysplasia, 33 menopause, 175-76 osteoporosis, 237, 238 screening tests for risk factors, 378 AIDS infection screening tests risk factors, 379 Alcohol, 126 infertility and, 158 osteoporosis and, 247 pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) and, 268 pregnancy and, 290 screening tests risk factors, 380 Alfalfa (Medicago sativa), 23 Allicin extract, 322 Aloe vera, 105–6 Alora, 368. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Alpha-linolenic acid (ALA), 120 Alternative treatments, 388–89 for amenorrhea, 18-27 for cervical dysplasia, 34-47 for cystitis, 67-72 definitions, xvii for endometriosis, 79-85 for fibrocystic breasts, 90-96 for genital herpes, 102-7 for heart disease, 114-48

for infertility, 157-64 for interstitial cystitis (IC), 168-72 for menopause, 187-219 for menstrual cramps, 226-34 for osteoporosis, 243-63 for pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), 269-71 for pregnancy, 275-90 for premenstrual syndrome (PMS), 304-13 for sexually transmitted infections (STIs), 321 - 23for uterine bleeding, 4–13 for uterine fibroids, 330 for vaginitis, 348–55 Amen, 370. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Amenorrhea, 15–30, 382 alternative treatments, 18-27 conventional treatment, 27-30 diagnosis, 17-18 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 30 physical exercise and, 25-27 prevention, 17 sample treatment plans, 27–28 American College of OB/GYN (ACOG), 219 American Heart Association recommendations. 128, 150-51 Amylases, 333 Androderm, 371. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Androgel, 371. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Androgens, 213-14 osteoporosis and, 265 Anemia, 382

Angeliq, 369. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Anorexia nervosa, 19 Anti-atherosclerosis, 143 Antibiotics for pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), 270 for sexually transmitted infections, 323 - 24Antihypertensives, 143 Antioxidant combinations for heart disease, 130 Antiviral herpes treatments, 107 Anxiety, 181-82, 382 Aqueous iodine, 95 Archer, David, 222 Arden's powder, 353-54 Aromatase inhibitors (AI), 164-65 Ashwagandha, 218 Astringent herbs, 10 Atherosclerosis, 123 Atypia, 33 Atypical glandular cells of undetermined significance (AGUS), 33-34, 385 Autoimmune disease, screening tests risk factors, 379 Autoimmune theories of interstitial cystitis (IC), 168 Aygestin, 370. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Backache, 296 Bacterial vaginosis (BV), 341-44, 356-57. See also Vaginitis Bastyr, John, xix Bee propolis, 105 Beta-carotene for endometriosis, 82 for fibrocystic breasts, 94

for vaginitis, 349 Bio-identical testosterone, 215 Biofeedback, 228

Bioflavonoids, 171, 193 for abnormal uterine bleeding, 8 for genital herpes, 103-4 for pregnancy, 285 Birth footling breech, 299 frank breech infant, 299 screening tests risk factors, 379, 380 vaginal, 299 Birth control pills (BCPs), 55-60, 62. See also Oral contraceptives **Bisphosphonates**, 266 Bitter melon (Momordica charantia), 24, 106 Black cohosh (Cimicifuga racemosa), 197–98, 232-33, 381, 384, 386 for amenorrhea, 21-22 for infertility, 161 Black haw (Viburnum prunifolium), 232 root, 295 Black tea, 139 Bladder epithelial permeability, 168, 169 Bladder infection, 66, 296-97, 382. See also Cystitis Bladderwrack (Fucus vesiculosus), 9-10 Blood clots, 202-3 Blood glucose test, 375 Blood pressure, 150. See also High blood pressure pregnancy and, 298-99 tests for, 375 Blood transfusion screening tests risk factors, 379 Bloodroot (Sanguinaria canadensis), 23 Blue cohosh (Caulophyllum thalictroides), 23, 233 for infertility, 161 Body weight, 242. See also Weight gain; Weight loss body mass index, 365 pregnancy and, 277, 294 screening tests for risk factors, 378 Boiron, 386

Bone density, 222 bone mineral density (BMD), 243, 375 estriol and, 207 osteoporosis, 237-66 peak ages, 243 Bone health, 192 bone remodeling, 238-39 osteoporosis, 237-66 Bone imaging, 242–43 Boniva, 264 Boric acid, 353 Boron, 252-53 Botanicals for amenorrhea, 21–24 for cervical dysplasia, 39-41 for cystitis, 70–72 for endometriosis, 83-85 for fibrocystic breasts, 95–96 for genital herpes, 104–7 for heart disease, 138-43 for infertiliy, 161–62 for interstitial cystitis (IC), 171-72 for menopause, 194-201 for menstrual cramps, 231-33 for osteoporosis, 256-60 for pregnancy, 288–90 for premenstrual syndrome (PMS), 310-11 for sexually transmitted infections (STIs), 322-23 for uterine bleeding, 8-11 for uterine fibroids, 334–37 for vaginitis, 350-56 Breast cancer birth control pills and, 56-57 estriol and, 207-8 hormone replacement therapy (HRT) and, 203, 211–13 prevention, 383 self-exam for, 373 Breast-feeding, 383 Breast nodularity, 89

Breasts, dense screening tests risk factors, 379 Breasts, painful. See Fibrocystic breasts; Mastalgia Bromocriptine, 97 C-reactive protein, 306 Caffeine, 91–92, 124–25 content in foods, 159 infertility and, 158, 159 pregnancy and, 291 premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and, 306 Calcitonin, 265 Calcium, 133, 192 for amenorrhea, 20 excretion in urine, 245 for menstrual cramps, 230 for osteoporosis, 241, 245, 248-50, 265 for pregnancy, 283 premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and, 309 recommendations of intake, 248 Calcium glycerophosphate (Prelief), 171 Canadian fleabane (Erigeron canadensis), 11 Cancer, 385. See also Specific types companion products, 382 screening tests risk factors, 379 Cancer Research Center (University of Hawaii), 331 Candida vaginitis, 344-46, 356-57. See also Vaginitis Canola oil, 117 Carbohydrates, 123 Cardiac imaging tests, 113 Cardiovascular disease (CVD). See Heart disease Carotenes, 20, 36-37, 121 Carotenoids, 322 Castor oil pack, 373–74 Celiac disease, 162 Cenestin, 367. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT)

Centers for Disease Control (CDC) guidelines for treatment of yeast vaginitis, 357 Ceonothus compound, 334 Cervical cancer, 2, 31 Cervical cap, 53-54, 63 Cervical dysplasia, 31-50, 385 alternative treatments, 34-47 conventional medical treatments, 47-50 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 50 preventative medicine, 34-35 psychological factors, 47 risk factors, 33 sample treatment plans, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 48 Chamomile, 217 Chapparal (Larrea tridentate), 106 Chaste tree (Vitex agnus castus), 23, 199, 310, 334, 384 for amenorrhea, 21 berry, 381, 382, 384, 386 for endometriosis, 83 for infertility, 161 for uterine bleeding, 8–9 Chlamydia trachomatis (CT), 269, 317–18, 322 cervical dysplasia and, 33 sample treatment plan, 322 test, 375 Chocolate, 126-27 Choice, xix Cholesterol, 118-19, 383. See also HDL cholesterol; LDL cholesterol caffeine and, 124 heart disease and, 111, 116 screening tests, 378 test, 375 Choline, 95 Chromium, 24, 283 Chronic anovulation, 29-30 Cinnamon (Cinnamomum verum), 11

Circulation aids, 142 Citrus bioflavonoids, 139 Cleavers (Galium aparine), 95 Climara, 368. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) ClimaraPro, 370. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Clinics, 388 Clomiphene citrate (CC), 164 Cobalamin, 281 Cobalt, 284 Coconut oil, 117 Coenzyme Q10, 132-33, 287 Cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT), 314 Cognitive decline, 203 Colon disease screening tests risk factors, 379 Colonoscopy, 376 Colposcopy, 40 CombiPatch, 370. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Comfrey (Symphytum officinale), 172 Computed tomography (CT), 113 Concentration, 182. See also Memory Condoms, 53-54, 63 Condyloma, 31 Conization, 41, 47, 49 Constipation, 296 Contraception. See also Oral contraceptives barrier methods, 53–54 basal body temperature, 53 birth control pills (BCPs), 55-60, 62 calendar methods, 52 cervical mucus, 52-53 emergency, 60 fertility awareness, 51-53 hormonal, 55-61 patches, 61 pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) and, 268 for premenstrual syndrome (PMS), 315

Conventional medical treatments, xxi-xxii for amenorrhea, 27-31 for cervical dysplasia, 47-50 for cystitis, 73 for endometriosis, 85-87 for fibrocystic breasts, 96-97 for genital herpes, 107-8 for heart disease, 148-51 for infertility, 164-65 for interstitial cystitis (IC), 172-73 for menopause, 219-23 for menstrual cramps, 234-36 for osteoporosis, 264-66 for pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), 271 - 72for pregnancy, 297–98 for premenstrual syndrome (PMS), 314-15 for sexually transmitted infections (STIs), 323 - 24for uterine bleeding, 13–14 for uterine fibroids, 337-40 for vaginitis, 356–58 Copper, 253, 284 Corn oil, 117 Corn silk (Zea mays), 172 Cortical bone, 238 Coumestrol, 335 Crampbark (Vibernum opulus), 172, 232 for infertility, 161 Cranberry, 68–69 Cryotherapy, 47, 49 Curcumin, 40 for pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), 270 Cuts screening tests risk factors, 380 Cycrin, 370. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Cystitis, 65–73 alternative treatments, 67-72 botanicals, 70-72 diagnosis, 66-67 diet, 68

licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 73 nutrition, 67-70 sample treatment plans, 71 Cytology methods, 34 D-mannose, 69-70 Dalton, Katharina, 312 Damiana, 218 Dandelion leaf, 95, 288-89 Dandelion root (Taraxacum officinale), 83, 288, 334 DASH diet, 124, 125 Deep vein thrombosis (DVT), 265 Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), 215 Dementia, 203 Dental issues changes with menopause, 185 exam, 376 Depo-Provera, 60-61, 86 Depression, 181-82, 383 sample treatment plan, 199 Detoxification, 383 Developmental delay screening tests risk factors, 379 Diabetes, 123 heart disease and, 111–12 screening tests, 378-79 Diabetes mellitus hormone replacement therapy (HRT) and, 203Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV), 303 Diaphragm, 53–54, 63 Diet for abnormal uterine bleeding, 6 cholesterol and, 119 for cystitis, 68 DASH diet, 124, 125 for endometriosis, 80-81 for fertility, 158, 159 fiber and, 120–22

for fibrocystic breasts, 91-92 genital herpes and, 102-3 heart and, 116-29 high-fiber, 331 for hypertension, 124 for interstitial cystitis (IC), 169 for menopause, 192 for menstrual cramps, 228-29 for premenstrual syndrome (PMS), 306 vegan, 92, 248 vegetarian, 245 Dietary fat, 92 Dilation and curettage (D&C), 14 Diuretics, 95, 142 Docahexaenoic acid (DHA), 120, 137, 285 - 86Dong quai (Angelica sinensis), 23, 194 infertility and, 161 Double contrast barium enema (DCBE), 376 Drug use, illegal pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) and, 268 pregnancy and, 292-93 screening tests risk factors, 380 Drugs, over-the-counter pregnancy and, 292 Drugs, prescription pregnancy and, 292 Dysfunctional uterine bleeding (DUB), 1, 3 - 14alternative treatments, 4-14 diagnosis, 3–4 prevention, 4 sample treatment plans, 12 Dysmenorrhea, 225, 226. See also Menstrual cramps Dysuria, 167

Ear injury screening tests risk factors, 379 Echinacea, 106, 334 sexually transmitted infections (STIs), 322 Eclampsia, 295–96

Ectopic pregnancy, 267 Eicosapentanoic acid (EPA), 119, 120 Electrocardiogram (ECG), 113 Embolization, 338 Endoctrine disorders osteoporosis and, 241 Endometrial ablation, 14 Endometrial cancer, 2-3, 330 estriol and, 207 Endometrial hyperplasia, 2–3 Endometrial polyps, 2 Endometriosis, 75-87 alternative treatments, 79-85 botanicals, 83-85 conventional medical treatments, 85-87 diet, 80-81 environmental factors, 77 genetic factors, 77 hormone metabolism, 78–79 immune connection, 77–78 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 87 nutrition, 80-83 preventative medicine, 79 research, 75-77 sample treatment plan, 84 stress and, 75 Endometritis, 267 Enjuvia, 367. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Environmental factors, 385 endometriosis and, 77 infertility and, 158-59 pregnancy and, 290–91, 292 Ernster, Virginia, 91 Escharotic treatment, 41, 48 Esclim, 368. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Essential fatty acids, 93-94 endometriosis and, 82-83 heart disease and, 116-17, 119-20, 137-38 osteoporosis and, 254–56

pregnancy and, 285-87 premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and, 308 Essure, 61 Estrace, 367. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Estrace cream, 369. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Estraderm, 368. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Estradiol, 13 Estrasorb, 368. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Estratab, 367. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Estratest, 371. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Estring. See Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Estriol, 206–7 Estrogel, 368. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Estrogen, 13, 86, 220-21, 302 bio-identical, 146-49, 206-8, 260-61 combination products, 221 conjugated equine estrogens (CEE), 213 natural, 146-49, 260-61 oral, 367-68 for osteoporosis, 260-61 selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM), 264, 265 transdermal, 368-69 vaginal, 221-22, 369 Estrogen dominance, 304 Estrogen-progestin oral combinations, 369-70 transdermal combinations, 370 Estrogen-progestogen therapy (EPT), 201 Estrogen/testosterone, 371 Estrogen therapy (ET), 201, 264. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT)

Ethnicity screening tests for risk factors, 377-78 Evening primrose oil, 94, 138, 193, 231, 287 premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and, 308 Exercise. See Physical exercise Eye issues changes with menopause, 185 exam, 376 screening tests risk factors for injury, 379 Facial hair, 184–85 Falling risks, 241 False unicorn, 288 infertility, 161 False unicorn root (Chamaelirium luteum), 233, 295 Family history. See also Genetic factors cervical dysplasia and, 33 screening tests for risk factors, 377 Fasting sexually transmitted infections (STIs), 322 Fats, 116-120. See also Essential fatty acids monounsaturated, 117 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), 117 saturated, 117 unsaturated, 117 Fatty acids. See Essential fatty acids Fecal occult blood test, 376 Female testosterone patch, 371. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) FemCap. See Cervical cap Femhrt, 369. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) FemPatch, 368. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Femring, 369. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Femtrace, 367. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Fenugreek (Trigonella foenumgraecum), 23, 24

Fertility. See also Infertility awareness, 51-53 diet, 159 male, 163 menopause and, 180-81 nutrition, 159-62 Feverfew (Tanacetum parthenium), 172 Fiber, 120-22 research and, 121 Fibrins, 338 Fibrocystic breasts, 89-97, 383 alternative treatments, 90-96 botanicals, 95-96 conventional medical treatments, 96-97 diet, 91–92 dominant masses, 90 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 97 nondominant masses, 90 nutrition, 91-95 research, 91 sample treatment plan, 96 Fish oil, 119, 120, 138, 159-60, 386. See also Essential fatty acids for menstrual cramps, 230-31 5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP), 217 Flavonoids, 121, 138-39, 335-36 Flax oil, 117 Flaxinus, 334 Flaxseed (Linum usitatissimum), 23, 24, 192 oil, 95, 138 powder, 6 Flexible sigmoidoscopy, 376 Folic acid cervical dysplasia and, 38 heart disease and, 136 osteoporosis and, 253 pregnancy and, 279 Follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), 176, 178, 181 tests, 186

Gamma-linolenic acid (GLA), 93-94, 120 premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and, 308 Gamma-oryzanol, 193 Garlic (Allium sativum), 139-40 for pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), 270 for vaginitis, 350 Gas. 296 Gastrointestinal disease osteoporosis and, 241 Genetic factors endometriosis, 77 infertility, 158 osteoporosis, 239-40, 241 Genital herpes, 99–108 alternative treatments, 102-7 botanicals, 104-7 conventional medical treatments, 107-8 diagnosis, 99, 100-102 diet, 102–3 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 108 nutrition, 102-4 preventative medicine, 102, 108 research, 99, 101, 104 sample treatment plan, 106 symptoms, 99-100 Genital warts, 31 Gentian violet, 355 German chamomile (Matricaria chamomilla), 233 Ghent, William, 95 Ginger (Zingiber officinale), 140, 232, 288-89, 381, 383, 386 abnormal uterine bleeding and, 9 root, 334 Ginkgo (Ginko biloba), 195, 310-11, 381, 384, 386 Ginseng (Panax ginseng), 23, 162, 195, 217 - 18Globe artichoke (Cynara scolymus), 140 Glucosamine sulfate, 170 Glucose tolerance, 111

Glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), 169-70 GnRH agonists, 86, 97 Golden root. See Rhodiola Goldenseal (Hydrastis canadensis), 70-71, 106, 334, 350 for pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), 270 root, 334 Gonorrhea. See Neisseria gonorrhoeae (GC) Gonzalez, Nicholas, 333 Green, Raymond, 312 Green leafy vegetables, 245 Green tea, 24, 39, 139, 385, 386 Greens drink, 386 Gugulipid (Commiphora mukul), 140-41 Gum disease screening tests risk factors, 379 Gurevich, Maria, 301 Gynediol, 367. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT)

Hair, 383 loss, 184–85 Hawthorn (Crataegus oxyacantha), 141 HDL cholesterol, 111, 116, 119, 142 fiber and, 120–21 niacin and, 134 soy and, 122 Headaches menopause, 185 Hearing test, 376 Heart disease, 109-53, 186, 192, 383 alternative treatments, 114-48 botanicals, 138-43 conventional medical treatments, 148 - 51definitions, 111 diagnosis, 112-13 estriol, 207 genetic factors, 111 hormone replacement therapy (HRT), 111-12, 138, 202

licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 151-53 lifestyle changes, 114–16 nutrition, 116-38 obesity, 109 physical exercise, 143-44 risk factors, 109, 111-14, 149-50 sample treatment plan, 147 screening, 113, 378 stress and, 144 women compared to men, 109 Heart palpitations menopause and, 185-86 Heart tonics, 142 Heartburn, 296 Helonias (Chamaelerium luteum), 161 Hemorrhoids, 383 Hepatitis B (HBV), 320-21 Herbs. See also Botanicals to avoid during pregnancy, 289 companies, 386-87 high mineral herbs, 257 for menstrual cramps, 233 nonphytoestrogen, 197-200 for pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), 270 for polycystic ovarian syndrome, 23-24 for premenstrual syndrome (PMS), 311 products, 380-87 progesterone precursors, 23 tinctures, 386 uterine stimulants, 23 for vaginitis, 354–55 Herpes simplex 2 (HSV-2), 99–108, 383 HERS study, 148 High blood pressure, 383 heart disease and, 111, 150-52 screening tests, 378 Hip fracture, 238 HIV infection, 346 cervical dysplasia and, 33 screening tests risk factors, 379 Homeopathic medicines, 386

Homocysteine levels, 125 Hops (Humulus lupulus), 23, 201, 217, 233 Hormonal changes, 275 Hormone creams, 385-86 Hormone metabolism, 78–79 Hormone replacement therapy (HRT), 144-48, 186, 187-88, 201-15, 219-20 benefits of, 204 blood clots from, 202-3 breast cancer and, 203, 211-13 diabetes mellitus and, 203 dosing of, 204 evaluation of, 202 friendly versus less-friendly, 213-15 heart disease and, 111-12, 138, 153, 202 hot flashes and, 202 non-oral hormones and, 204 prescriptions, 367-71 risks of, 204 stroke and, 203 studies of, 148 vaginal symptoms and, 202 Hormones, bio-identical, xx-xxi, 205-15 for abnormal uterine bleeding, 11–13 for amenorrhea, 24-25 Hormones, natural, 205–15 Horse chestnut, 386 Hot flashes, 179-80 hormone replacement therapy (HRT), 202 symptom relief, 215 Human papillomavirus (HPV), 31, 35, 385 vaccine, 50, 377 Hunner's ulcers, 167 Hydrogenated oils, 118 Hypergonadotropic hypogonadism, 17, 28 Hyperlipidemia, 147 Hyperparathyroidism, 237 Hyperprolactinemia, 17, 27, 28-29 Hypertension diet, 124 heart disease, 111 sample treatment plan, 148

Hypoestrogenic states, 27 Hypogonadotropic hypogonadism, 17-18, 29 Hypothalamic amenorrhea, 27–28 Hysterectomy, 14, 41, 176–77, 338 endometriosis and, 86 Ice packs, 321, 322 Immunity issues endometriosis and, 77-78 pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) and, 270 Immunizations, 375-80 high risk factors, 377-80 Implanon, 60-61 Incontinence, 167 Indole-3-carbinol/diindolylmethane (DIM), 39 Infections, 383 suppositories for, 385 Infertility, 155-65, 340, 384 alternative treatments, 157-64 botanicals, 161-62 causes, 156 conventional medical treatments, 164-65 definition, 155 diet, 158 laboratory testing, 156-57 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 165 lifestyle factors, 157-59 medical history, 155 preventative medicine, 157 resources, 165 sample treatment plan, 163 statistics, 155 uterine fibroids and, 329 Influenza vaccine, 377 Infusions, 374 Insomnia, 181, 222, 384 menopause and, 216–17 Insulin, 123 Interstitial cystitis (IC), 167-73, 384 alternative treatments, 168-72 botanicals, 171–72

causes, 168 diagnostic tests, 167 diet, 169 foods to avoid, 169 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 173 nutrition, 169-71 preventative medicine, 168 sample treatment plan, 172 Intestine, hormone metabolism and, 78-79 Intima-media thickness (IMT), 113 Intrauterine devices (IUDs), 2, 54-55, 63 Intrauterine insemination (IUI), 164 Intravaginal estriol, 71–72 Iodine, 355–56 fibrocystic breasts and, 94-95 Ipriflavones, 257, 382, 384 Iron for abnormal uterine bleeding, 6 deficiency, 382 for pregnancy, 283-84 Irritability, 199 Isoflavones, 332-33

Joint pain, 186

Kava (*Piper methysticum*), 171, 172, 200, 217 Kelley, William, 333 Keloids, 338 Kelp, dietary (*Fucus vesiculosus*), 9–10 Kemp, Harvey, 112 Krill oil, 309

L-arginine heart disease and, 135–36 infertility and, 160 interstitial cystitis (IC) and, 170 L-carnitine heart disease and, 136 infertility and, 163–64 L-lysine genital herpes and, 103 Laboratories, 387 Lactobacilli, 69 Lactobacillus acidophilus, 69, 270, 321, 322 sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and, 322 vaginitis and, 348, 350-53 Laparoscopic surgery, 86, 269, 330 LDL cholesterol, 111, 116, 119, 142 alcohol and, 126 fiber and, 120-21 niacin and, 134 soy and, 122 Lecithin, 287 Lee, John, 336 LEEP, 41, 47, 49 Lemon balm (Melissa officinalis), 104, 217 Leuprolide acetate, 337 Licensed primary health-care practitioners for abnormal uterine bleeding, 14 for amenorrhea, 30 for cervical dysplasia, 50 for cystitis, 73 for endometriosis, 87 for fibrocystic breasts, 97 for genital herpes, 108 for heart disease, 151–53 for infertility, 165 for interstitial cystitis (IC), 173 for menopause, 223 for menstrual cramps, 236 for osteoporosis, 266 for pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), 272-73 for pregnancy, 298–99 for premenstrual syndrome (PMS), 315 for sexually transmitted infections (STIs), 324-25 for uterine fibroids, 339-40 for vaginitis, 358 Licorice (Glycyrrhiza glabra), 23, 24, 104-5, 172, 195-96 Life root (Senecio aureus), 11

Lifestyle. See also Preventative medicine cervical dysplasia and, 42-47 heart-healthy diets, 127-29 infertility and, 157-59 osteoporosis and, 239-40 premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and, 314 Linoleic acid (LA), 120 Lipases, 333 Lipids, 123. See also Cholesterol; HDL cholesterol; LDL cholesterol Lipotropics, 333 endometriosis and, 83 Liver, 331, 384 detoxification, 304 estrogen clearance, 91 hormone metabolism, 78–79 screening tests risk factors for disease, 379 Love, Susan, 177 Lung disease screening tests risk factors, 379 Lupron, 337-38 Lymphedema, 384 Maca (Lepidium peruvianum), 218 amenorrhea and, 22-23 Magnesium heart disease and, 133-34 osteoporosis and, 250-52 pregnancy and, 284 premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and, 309 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 113 Mammogram, 375 Manganese, 252 Manual soft-tissue therapy, 162 Marshmallow (Althea officinalis), 172 Mast cell activation, 168 Mastalgia, 89 Meditation, 228 Mediterranean diet, 129 Megace, 370. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT)

Melatonin, 217, 231 Memory, 182, 384 Menest, 367. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Meningococcal vaccine, 377 Menometrorrhagia, 1 Menopause, 175–223 alternative treatments, 187-219 botanicals, 194-201 conventional medical treatments. 219 - 23diet, 192 evaluation, 186-87 induced, 176-77 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 223 naturopathic approach, 188-89 nutrition, 189-94 osteoporosis and, 239 sample treatment plans, 199, 215, 216 screening tests risk factors, 379 stages, 175-76 statistics, 175-76 symptoms, 178-86, 384 temporary, 176 transition, 177-78 Menorrhagia, 1, 12 Menostar, 368. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Menstrual cramps, 225-36, 384 alternative treatments, 226-34 botanicals, 231-33 conventional medical treatments, 234-36 diet, 228–29 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 236 nutrition, 228-31 physical exercise, 233-34, 235 preventative medicine, 227-28 sample treatment plan, 234 stress and, 228

Menstruation absence of menstrual bleeding (amenorrhea), 15 - 30benign abnormal bleeding, 1 normal cycle, 15-16 Mental health screening, 376 Methionine (SAM), 95, 287 Methylxanthines, 91 Metrorrhagia, 1, 328 Micronor, 370. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Migraines, 384 Minerals amenorrhea and, 20-21 high mineral herbs, 257 infertility and, 161 Minton, John, 91 Mirena IUD, 220, 371. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Miscarriage, 295 Mojzisova method therapy, 162 Mole exam, 376 Molimina, 302 Monoglycerides, 116 Monounsaturated fats, 117 Mood swings, 181 sample treatment plan, 199 Morning sickness, 294–95 Motherwort (Leonurus cardiaca), 83-84, 201 Mugwort (Artemisia vulgaris), 23 Mushrooms, 106 Myomas, 2 Myomectomies, 338 Myrrh, 106

Nails, 383 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), 212 Nature, healing power of, xvii–xviii Naturopathic colleges, 388–89

Naturopathic medicine. See also Alternative treatments college, xvii eclectic traditions of, xx history of, xvii principles of, xvii-xviii roots of, xvii Naturopathic organizations, 388-89 Nausea, 384 Neisseria gonorrhoeae (GC), 269, 318–20, 322 quinolone-resistant gonorrhea, 324 Nervines, 143 Nettle (Urtica dioica), 289, 334 root, 24 Niacin, 134, 280 for menstrual cramps, 229 Nicotinic acid, 280 Nielsen, Forrest, 252 Night sweats, 179-80 Nitric oxide (NO), 170 Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), 234-36 abnormal uterine bleeding and, 13-14 Normogonadotropic anovulation, 18 Nor-QD, 370. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) North American Menopause Society (NAMS), 201, 214, 219 Nurses' Health Study, 212 Nutrition amenorrhea and, 18-21 birth control pill users and, 58–59 cervical dysplasia and, 33, 36-39 cystitis and, 67-70 endometriosis and, 80-83 fertility and, 159-62 fibrocystic breasts and, 91-95 genital herpes and, 102-4 heart disease and, 116-38 interstitial cystitis (IC) and, 169-71 menopause and, 189-94 menstrual cramps and, 228-31

osteoporosis and, 239-40, 241, 243-56 pregnancy and, 276-88 premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and, 305-10 sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and, 322 supplements, 129-38 uterine bleeding, abnormal, and, 5-8 uterine fibroids and, 330-33 vaginitis and, 349-50 Nuts, 118 Oat (Avena sativa), 172 Oat straw, 217 Obesity amenorrhea and, 18 cervical dysplasia and, 33 heart disease and, 109 infertility and, 157 Obstetrics, 298 Ogen, 367. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Ogen cream, 369. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Oleic acid, 117 Oligomenorrhea, 1, 12 Olive oil, 117, 118 Omega-3 fatty acids, 120, 254–56 menstrual cramps and, 230-31 pregnancy and, 285-87 Omega-6 fatty acids, 93–94, 120, 254–56 Omega-9 oil, 117 Oophorectomy, 176 Oral contraceptives, 55-60, 234. See also Contraception birth control pills (BCPs), 55-60, 62 cervical dysplasia and, 33, 45-47 for premenstrual syndrome (PMS), 315 Oral micronized progesterone (OMP), 211 Oregon grape root (Berberis aquifolium), 70–71, 171, 334, 350 for pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), 270

Organ transplant screening tests risk factors, 379 Organic foods, 388 Ornish, Dean, 114, 129 Ornish Lifestyle Modification Program, 129 Ortho-Est, 367. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Osteoarthritis, 384 Osteopenia definition, 243 Osteoporosis, 186, 237-66, 384 alternative treatments, 243-63 assessing risk, 240-43 bone effects, 238-39 botanicals, 256-60 conventional medical treatments, 264-66 definition, 237, 243 diagnosing, 240-43 fracture sites, 238 heredity and, 239-40 hormone replacement therapy, 203 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 266 lifestyle and, 239-40 menopause and, 239 nutrition and, 239-40, 243-56 preventative medicine, 244, 263 sample treatment plan, 263 severe, 243 statistics, 237 Ovarian abscess, 272 Ovrette, 370. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT)

Pancreatic enzymes, 333 Pantehine heart disease and, 135 Pap smears, 31, 33, 375 new technologies, 34 recommendations, 35 reporting, 34 screening tests risk factors, 379 Para-aminobenzoic acid (PABA) infertility and, 160-61 Partridgeberry (Mitchella repens), 289 Passionflower (Passiflora incarnata), 233 Pelvic exam, 375 Pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), 267-73, 321, 346 alternative medicine, 269-71 conventional medical treatments, 271-72 diagnosis, 268-69, 273 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 272–73 preventative medicine, 269 risk factors, 267-68 statistics, 267 types, 267 vaginitis and, 341 Pelvic peritonitis, 267 Pennyroyal (Mentha pulegium), 23 Perimenopause, 178 Periwinkle, greater (Vinca major), 11 Pesticides pregnancy and, 291-92 Pharmacies, 387 Phosphatidylcholine (PC), 287 Physical exercise, 359-64 amenorrhea and, 25-26 basic stretches, 360-61 conditioning, 364 endometriosis and, 80 heart disease and, 115, 143-44 infertility and, 158 joint warming exercises, 360 menopause and, 215-16 menstrual cramps and, 233-34, 235 osteoporosis and, 261-63 pregnancy and, 293–94, 362–64 premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and, 311–12 preventing injuries, 361-62 strength exercises, 362, 364 Phytoestrogens, 23, 162, 189-92, 194 herbal, 335-36

Phytosterols, 141–42 Placenta abruption, 299 Placenta previa, 299 Plant stanols, 141–42 Plant sterols, 141-42 Pneumococcal vaccine, 377 Poke root (Phytolacca americana), 95 Policosanol, 142 Polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS), 23-24, 28, 29–30, 162, 385 chronic anovulation and, 28 Polymenorrhea, 1, 12 Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), 117 Postmenopause urinary discomfort, 66 Potassium, 123–24 heart disease and, 135 pregnancy and, 284 Preeclampsia, 295–96, 299 Prefest, 369. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Pregnancy, 275-99, 385 abnormal uterine bleeding and, 1 alternative medicine, 275-90 bleeding and, 298-99 botanicals, 288-90 common complaints, 293–97 conventional medical treatments, 297-98 ectopic, 267, 272, 291 genital herpes and, 108 hormonal changes, 275 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 298–99 nutrition, 276-88 physical exercise, 293-94, 362-64 postnatal period, 279 preventative medicine for complications, 276 substances to avoid, 289, 290-93 urinary discomfort and, 66 with uterine fibroids, 340 weight gain, 277-78, 293 Premarin, 367. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT)

Premarin cream, 369. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Premature ovarian failure (POF), 27, 176, 203 - 4Premenstrual dysphoric disorder (PMDD), 303 Premenstrual syndrome (PMS), 301-15, 384 alternative treatments, 304-13 botanicals, 310-11 classifications systems, 303, 307 conventional medicine approach, 314-15 definition, 301 diet, 306 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 315 lifestyle, 314 liver and, 303 medications, 314-15 nutrition, 305-10 physical exercise, 311–12 preventative medicine, 303 sample treatment plan, 314 statistics, 301-2 symptoms, 301-2 Premphase, 370. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Prempro, 370. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Preventative medicine for cervical dysplasia, 34-35, 43-47 for endometriosis, 79 for fibrocystic breasts, 91 for genital herpes, 102, 108 for heart disease, 115 for infertility, 157 for interstitial cystitis (IC), 168 for menstrual cramps, 227-28 for osteoporosis, 244, 263 for pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), 269 for pregnancy complications, 276 for premenstrual syndrome (PMS), 303

for sexually transmitted infections (STIs), 320 for uterine fibroids, 329 for vaginitis, 343, 346, 347 Prickly ash (Xanthoxylum americanum), 83 Prochieve, 371. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Procyanidolic oligomers (PCO), 140 Progesterone, 24-25, 219-20, 371 for abnormal uterine bleeding, 11–13 bio-identical, 145-46, 208-13, 257-60, 312-13, 335-36 creams, 96, 209-10, 233, 313, 337 for endometriosis, 85 gel, 371 natural, 85, 95, 145-46, 208-13, 233, 257-60, 312-13, 335-36 oral, 210-11 oral micronized, 313 for osteoporosis, 257-60 for premenstrual syndrome (PMS), 312-13 precursors, 23 sublingual, 211 Progestins, 86 intrauterine, 371 oral, 370–71 therapy, 264 Progestogens, 202, 221 combination products, 221 Prometrium, 371. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Propolis, 105 Prostaglandin (PG) synthesis, 305-6 Proteases, 333 Protein, 245 Provera, 370. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Prozac, 302 Psychological factors cervical dysplasia and, 47 infertility and, 158 Pyridoxine, 280

Quercetin, 139, 171 Rapkin, Anita, 302 Reaven, Gerald, 112 Reaven's syndrome, 112 Rectal exam, 376 Red clover (Trifolium pratense), 23, 196, 381, 384, 386 for osteoporosis, 256-57 Red raspberry (Rubus idaeus), 290 Red root compound, 334 Red yeast rice, 142 Reflex sympathetic dystrophy, 168 Rein, Mitchell, 336 Relaxation techniques, 228 Rhodiola (Rhodiola rosea), 218, 383, 384, 385, 386 for amenorrhea, 22 for infertility, 161 Riboflavin, 280 Rose, 231 Rutin, 229-30 Safflower oil, 117 Saint John's wort (Hypericum perforatum), 106, 199–200, 311, 382, 383, 384, 386 Salpingitis, 267 Salt, 123-24 Sarsaparilla (Smilax officinalis), 23 Savin (Sabrina officinalis), 11 Saw palmetto, 24 Scalzo, Rick, 334 Screening tests, 375-80 high risk factors, 377-80 Scudder's Alterative, 334 Scutellaria barbata, 334 Selenium for endometriosis, 83 for infertility, 160 SERMS (selective estrogen receptor modulators), 332 osteoporosis and, 264, 265

Serotonin, 302 Sesame oil, 117 Sexual practices, 217–19, 222 cervical dysplasia and, 33, 42-44 female arousal, 218–19 genital herpes and, 108 lubrication, 218 menopause and, 183-84 screening tests risk factors, 379 trauma during intercourse, 2 Sexually transmitted infections (STIs), 66, 315-25 alternative medicine, 321-22 antibiotics, 323-24 botanicals, 322-23 cervical dysplasia and, 35 Chlamydia trachomatis (CT), 269, 317-18 conventional medical treatments, 323-24 genital herpes, 99-108 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 324–25 Neisseria gonorrhoeae (GC), 269, 318–20 nutrition, 322 pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) and, 267 preventative medicine, 320 sample treatment plan, 322 screening tests risk factors, 380 testing for, 319-20, 376 vaginitis and, 341–58 Shepherd's purse (Capsella bursa-pastoris), 11 Siberian ginseng (*Eleutherococcus senticosus*), 105 Sitz baths, 373 Skin, 383 changes during menopause, 185 products for, 387 Skullcap, 217 Sleep disturbance, 181 Slippery elm (Ulmus fulva), 172 Smoking, 24 cervical dysplasia and, 33, 44-45 heart disease and, 114–15

infertility and, 158 organizations to help quit, 292 osteoporosis and, 240, 247 pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) and, 268 pregnancy and, 291 screening tests for risk factors, 378 Socioeconomic status, cervical dysplasia and, 33 Sodium, 123-24 Soy foods, 24, 122–23, 189–92, 383 for abnormal uterine bleeding, 6-7 for osteoporosis, 246-47 for premenstrual syndrome (PMS), 306 research, 122–23 for uterine fibroids, 332 Soy oil, 117 Specialty food companies, 388 Spermicides, 53–54, 63–64 Squamous intraepithelial lesions (SIL), 31 Squaw vine (Mitchella repens), 23 for infertility, 161 Sterilization, 61 Stress, 385 endometriosis and, 75 heart disease and, 115, 144 infertility and, 158 menstrual cramps and, 228 uterine bleeding, abnormal, and, 4, 5 Stroke, hormone replacement therapy (HRT) and, 203 Sugar, 123, 245, 305 Surgery recovery, 385 Syndrome X, 112 Tamoxifen, 97 Tannins, 10 Taurine, 287-88

Tea, 139. See also Green tea
Tea tree (Melaleuca alternifolia), 350 oil, 350
Testoderm, 371. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT)

Testosterone, 371–72 Tetanus-diphtheria booster vaccine, 377 Thermal ablation treatment techniques, 338 Thiamine, 229, 280 ThyroFem, 385 Thyroid disease, 385 screening tests risk factors, 379 Thyroid hormone fibrocystic breasts and, 94-95 Thyroid test, 375 Tissue tonification uterine bleeding, abnormal, and, 5 TLC diet, 127-28 Toxemia, 295-96 Trabecular bone, 238 Trans fats, 118 Transvaginal ultrasound, 156 Tribulus (Tribulus terrestris), 162 Trichomonas vaginalis, 346–48, 357–58. See also Vaginitis Triglycerides, 111, 118 niacin and, 134 Tryptophan premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and, 309 - 10Tubal ligation, 61 Tuberculosis screening tests risk factors, 380 Tubo-ovarian abscess, 267 Turska's formula, 84-85, 334

Ultrasound, 338 Underweight issues infertility and, 157 Urinary problems, 183 urinary discomfort, 65, 267 urinary tract infection, 65–73 (*See also* Cystitis) Uterine bleeding, abnormal, 1–14, 339–40, 382 alternative treatments, 4–14 benign, 1–2, 3–4

in children, 1 irregular menses, 180 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 14 malignant, 2-3 menses and, 1 nutrition, 5-8 during pregnancy, 1 sample treatment plans, 12 during sexual intercourse, 2 Uterine fibroids, 2, 327-40 alternative medicine, 330 bleeding, 339-40 botanicals, 334-37, 337 diagnosis, 329-30 herbs for, 386 infertility and, 340 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 339-40 nutrition, 330-33 pregnancy and, 339-40 preventative medicine, 329 sample treatment plan, 337 statistics, 327 symptoms, 328-29 Uterine tonics for abnormal uterine bleeding, 10-11 Uva-ursi (Arctostaphylos uva-ursi), 70, 95

Vaccines. See Immunizations
Vagifem, 369. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT)
Vaginal cancer, 2
Vaginal dryness, 182–83
Vaginal estrogen treatments, 66
Vaginal flora, 341, 348
Vaginal suppositories, 382
Vaginal symptoms hormone replacement therapy (HRT) for, 202
Vaginal thinning, 182–83

Vaginitis, 341–58, 385 alternative medicine, 348-56 botanicals, 350-56 Centers for Disease Control (CDC) guidelines, 357 diagnosis, 341-48 herbs for, 354-55 licensed primary health-care practitioners and, 358 nutrition, 349-50 preventative medicine, 343, 346, 347 sample treatment plans, 353, 354, 355 symptoms, 341 Vaginosis organisms, 267 Valerian (Valeriana officinalis), 172, 201, 217, 231 - 32Varicose veins, 296, 385 Vasectomy, 61 Vasomotor symptoms, 222 Venous thromboembolism, 202–3 Vertebral fracture, 238, 242 Viracea, 106 Visualization, 228 Vitamin A abnormal uterine bleeding and, 7 amenorrhea and, 20 cervical dysplasia and, 37 fibrocystic breasts and, 94 interstitial cystitis (IC) and, 170 pregnancy and, 281 sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and, 322 vaginitis and, 349 Vitamin B complex abnormal uterine bleeding and, 7-8 fibrocystic breasts and, 95 Vitamin Bs, 193 cervical dysplasia and, 38-39 endometriosis and, 83 heart disease and, 136-37 menstrual cramps and, 229 osteoporosis and, 253

pregnancy and, 280-81 premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and, 307 - 8Vitamin C, 24 abnormal uterine bleeding and, 8 cervical dysplasia and, 38 cystitis and, 69-70 endometriosis and, 81-82 genital herpes and, 103-4 heart disease and, 129, 132 infertility and, 163 menstrual cramps and, 229-30 osteoporosis and, 253 pregnancy and, 282 sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and, 322 vaginitis and, 349 Vitamin D, 192 osteoporosis and, 237, 239, 241, 250-51, 265 pregnancy and, 282 premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and, 308 Vitamin E, 193–94 abnormal uterine bleeding and, 7 cervical dysplasia and, 37-38 endometriosis and, 82 fibrocystic breasts and, 92-93 genital herpes and, 104 heart disease and, 130-32 infertility and, 160, 163 menstrual cramps and, 230 pregnancy and, 282 premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and, 308 vaginitis and, 349 Vitamin K, 253–54 abnormal uterine bleeding and, 8 pregnancy and, 282-83

Vitamins. See also Specific types infertility and, 161 Vivelle, 368. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Vivelle-Dot, 368. See also Hormone replacement therapy (HRT) Von Willebrand's disease, 1 Vulvovaginal candidiasis (VVC), 344–46, 356–57. See also Vaginitis Water pepper (Polygonnum hydropiper), 23 Weight gain, 185. See also Body weight pregnancy and, 277, 294 Weight loss, 159, 385. See also Body weight amenorrhea and, 18–19 WIC (supplemental food program), 277 Wild yam (Dioscorea villosa), 23, 172, 233, 290 root, 295 Women, modern, xx choice, xix as consumers of health care, xxi participation in health care, xxi Women's Health Initiative (WHI), 148, 201, 213, 219 World Health Organization, 243 Yarrow (Achillea millefolium), 11, 23, 95

Yarrow (*Achillea millefolium*), 11, 23, 95 Yeast infection, 385. *See also* Vaginitis Yucca (*Yucca spp*), 23

Zinc

genital herpes and, 104 infertility and, 160 osteoporosis and, 253 pregnancy and, 284–85 sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and, 322